ISBN: 978-969-2201-16-2

Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils



Muhammad Arif Zafar Rao Zahid Abbas Muhammad Imran Saleha Tahir and Warda Qamar



Journals Books Magazines



Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential Oils



Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential Oils Editors

Muhammad Arif Zafar

Rao Zahid Abbas

Muhammad Imran

Saleha Tahir

Warda Qamar

Unique Scientific Publishers ®

House No. 1122, St No. 11, Liaquat Abad-II, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

Complementary and Alternative Medicine :

ISBN: 978-969-2201-16-2

Prebiotics and Probiotics

Copyright © 2024 by Unique Scientific Publishers

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher. Permission may be sought directly from Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan. Phone: (+92) 333 6517844, email: proprieter@uniquescientificpublishers.com.

Notice

Knowledge and best practice in this field are constantly changing. As new research and experience broaden our knowledge, changes in practice, treatment, and drug therapy may become necessary or appropriate. Readers are advised to check the most current information provided (i) on procedures featured or (ii) by the manufacturer of each product to be administered, to verify the recommended dose or formula, the method and duration of administration, and contraindications. It is the responsibility of practitioners, relying on their own experience and knowledge of the patient, to make diagnosis, to determine dosages and the best treatment for each individual patient, and to take all appropriate safety precautions. To the fullest extent of the law, neither the Publisher nor the authors assume any liability for any injury and/or damage to humans and animals or property arising out of or related to any use of the material contained in this book.

The Publisher

Book Specifications:

Total Chapters: 32 Total Pages: 282 Page Size: A4 (210mm × 297mm) Book Weblink: https://uniquescientificpublishers.com/essential-oils/ Publisher: Unique Scientific Publishers (https://uniquescientificpublishers.com) Editor: Muhammad Arif Zafar, Rao Zahid Abbas, Muhammad Imran, Saleha Tahir and Warda Qamar Senior Designer : Muhammad Zafar Iqbal Published: September 18, 2024

Printed in Pakistan



PREFACE

ssential oils have been cherished for centuries, known for their diverse applications in traditional healing, wellness, and more recently, their potential in integrative health practices. As science delves deeper into their properties, essential oils are finding renewed significance, especially as complementary and alternative solutions in medicine and veterinary care. Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential Oils explores this fascinating realm, showcasing the therapeutic versatility of essential oils across a broad spectrum of health applications, from stress management to infection control and immune support. The book begins by examining essential oils' roles in therapeutic practices and aromatherapy, where they are used for their calming, uplifting, and health-promoting properties. It details the mechanisms through which essential oils like jasmine and peppermint impact brain activity, stress relief, and mental well-being. The efficacy of these oils in aromatherapy illustrates the powerful connection between scent and mental health, shedding light on natural ways to support cognitive functions and reduce anxiety. Moving beyond human health, this book covers essential oils' applications in animal care and veterinary medicine, including their roles in nutrition, disease management, and pest control. Essential oils present a natural, eco-friendly approach to disease control in both terrestrial and aquatic environments. Chapters dedicated to ruminant and poultry nutrition demonstrate how essential oils can promote growth, improve health, and serve as natural antioxidants in feed. In aquaculture, these oils offer a sustainable method to enhance aquatic health without inducing resistance in pathogens, providing insights into eco-friendly disease control practices. The antimicrobial and antiviral properties of essential oils are also explored, positioning them as potent alternatives to synthetic medications in both human and animal healthcare. With growing concerns about antibiotic resistance, essential oils offer promising solutions against various pathogens. Their effectiveness in controlling parasitic infections, treating skin ailments like sarcoptic mange, and supporting respiratory health highlights their potential as holistic remedies. Additionally, essential oils like coconut and olive oil are discussed for their role in treating specific conditions, such as mastitis in livestock and arthritis in humans, offering a bridge between traditional and modern therapies. Essential oils' larvicidal and insecticidal properties are explored, particularly in mosquito control, which is crucial for preventing vector-borne diseases. The book provides insights into using lemon balm and scented geranium oils as natural repellents, addressing public health concerns with sustainable solutions. Furthermore, essential oils like thyme and oregano are covered for their use in food preservation, highlighting how these compounds contribute to food safety by reducing spoilage and extending shelf life. From their anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects to their roles in veterinary medicine and aquaculture, essential oils are proving to be versatile, cost-effective tools with minimal side effects. This book aims to provide a comprehensive understanding of essential oils' therapeutic applications, blending traditional knowledge with scientific research to offer readers a nuanced perspective on their potential in complementary and alternative medicine. Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential Oils is intended for healthcare professionals, veterinary practitioners, researchers, and those interested in natural health solutions. By bridging ancient wisdom with contemporary research, this book invites readers to explore essential oils' expanding role in holistic health, offering a window into nature's powerful solutions for both human and animal wellness.

Contents

Title	Pages
Essential Oils: Potential Therapeutic Compounds for One Health Saima Talib, Shumaila Noreen, Momil Liaquat, Amjad Islam Aqib, Tasleem Kausar, Maham Fatima, Sana Abdul Sattar, Sadia Zubair, Muhammad Kashif and Sofia Kashif	1
Holistic Healing: The Modern Role of Essential Oils in Therapeutic and Aromatherapy	13
Practices Madiha Mustafa [,] Rizwan Asif [,] Zaigham Wahhab, Imtiaz Mustafa, Shahla Umbreen, <u>Abdul</u> <u>Rehman</u> , Marium Ahsan, Minhas Alam and Fizza Riaz	
Aromatherapy in Healthcare: Harnessing the Power of Essential Oil Rimsha Shahid Naila Ghafoor, Amara Tahir, Khadija Javed, Tooba Mehar, Ayesha Ghafoor, Neha Anees and Umm E Ummara	24
The Healing Power of Aromatherapy: Essential Oils in Medical Sciences Rabia Yaqoob, Anam Zohra, Muhammad Usman, Farhana, Muhammad Faheem Sajjad, Syeda Umm e Farwa Kazmi, Faiza Sultan, Iqra Lodhi, Muhammad Hamza Muneer and Sidra Muhyuddin	35
Aromatherapy and Jasmine Oil Inhalation in Improving Brain Activities Khizra Ashraf, Hamida Younas and Umair Rasool	43
Role of Aromatherapy in the Management of Stress and Depression Javeria Arshad, Hadia khalid, Arzoo Rehman, Hashir Naeem, Usman Munir, Hassan Butt, Muhammad Husnain Tariq, Wajeeha Sultan, Farwa Tahir and Aimen Khalid	54
Sustainable Strategies: Integration of Essential Oils in Ruminant Nutrition Jesús Hernández-Ruiz, Dra. Ana Isabel Mireles Arriaga, Liliana Aguilar-Marcelino, José Antonio Hernández Marín and Ilse Alejandra Huerta Arredondo	63
Balancing Act: Essential Oils as Cost-Effective and Eco-Friendly Disease Control in Aquatic	71
Kaynat Saeed, Amna Ashfaq, Shizzray Imtiaz, Minahal Fatima, Abuzar Munir, Zunaira Majeed, Neha Iqbal and Saddam Hussain	
Fungitoxic Properties of Essential Oils to Treat Tinea Rida Kanwal, Muhammad Hafeez ul Haq, Amna Waseem, Talha Riaz, Zaka ur Rehman, Ammara Fazal, Shamsa Ashfaq and Hina Saleem	81
Pharmacological Potential of Essential Oils: Exploring Therapeutic Perspectives Ayesha Ghafoor, Khadija Javed, Naila Ghafoor, Amara Tahir, Tooba Mehar, Neha Anees and Umm E Ummara	90
Role of Essential Oils in the Treatment of Sarcoptic Mange Zainab, Bader Saleem Alawfi, Shahid Hussain Farooqi, Qaiser Akram, Muhammad Rizwan Saeed, Muhammad Mubashar Beig, Muhammad Awais, Numra Butt, Shamreza Aziz and Minahal Fatima	98

Peppermint Essential Oil: A Tropical Remedy Rida Mumtaz ¹ , Ammara Riaz ¹ , Sareena Ehsan ¹ , Maryam Akhtar ¹ , Humna Nadeem ¹ , Amna Khalid ¹ , Asma Batool ¹ , Javeria Zafar, Abdul Rehman and Zeliha Selamoglu	104
Plant Essential Oils as an Alternative Antimicrobial Therapy Gull Naz, Ayesha Sarwar, Sara Mahmood, Sabira Sultana, Fatima Sarwar, Majeeda Rasheed, Hassan Ali, Ayesha Hameed and Hijaab Zahra	114
Comparison of the use of Essential Oils for the Control of Varroa (Varroa destructor) in Apis mellifera Gutiérrez, C.L.C., Tapia, R.M.Z. [,] and Velázquez F.D	123
Use of Essential Oil against Mosquitoes Khola Tariq , Shahzada Khurram Mirza and Ghulam Mustafa Bugti	129
Harnessing Essential Oils in Veterinary Medicine: A Therapeutic Approach against Antimicrobial Agents Bushra Mumtaz, Kainat, Sana Murtaza, Zahida Riaz, Hasnat Ahmad Bilal, Eimen Rasool, Javeria Mumtaz, Muhammad Adil, Hafsa, Bilal Ahmed and Ghulam Muhammad	134
Larvicidal and Insecticidal Activity of Essential Oils of Lemon Balm against Aedes aegypti Nida Wazir, Ataman Bilge Sari, Shahid Hussain Farooqi, Maryam Ashraf, Muzaffar Ali Khan, Tayyaba Akhtar, Shamreza Aziz and Muhammad Ifham Naeem	143
Larvicidal, Insecticidal and Mosquito repellent activity of Scented Geranium (<i>Pelargonium species</i>) essential oil against Malarial Vector; <i>Anopheles stephensi</i> Nida Wazir, Farooq Hussain, Tayyaba Akhtar, Usman Nasir, Muhammad Arfan Zaman, Nadia Nazish and Muhammad Ifham Naeem	153
Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Essential Oils Tajassum Khan, Shahbaz-UI-Haq, Muhammad Wasim Usmani and Farzana	162
Effect of Essential Oils as Natural Alternatives for the Growth of Poultry Broilers Muhammad Saim, Abubakar Burhan Nagi, Insha Noor, Hammad Zaheer, Warda Zaheer, Roshaan Tahir, Abdul Rafay, Ahsan Fayaz, Jannat Fatima and Laiba Naeem	170
Unveiling the versatile role of essential oils in food industry for enhanced food preservation Ulfat Fatima	183
The potential of Essential Oils as Antiviral, Antioxidant, and Immunomodulatory Agent Rabbia Kabir, Misbah Batool Aslam, Sehrish Ghafoor, Sara Malik, Muqadas, Rabia Zahid	193
Essential Oil-Based Functional Feeds for Promoting Growth in Aquaculture Species Sana Alam, Gulnaz Afzal, Aliza Maheen, Moeen Afzal, Maryam Shahid, Ayesha Ramzan, Zahid Iqbal, Hafiz Muhammad Ali, Hira Ahsan, Muhammad Shahid Khan, Khadija Ramzan and Riaz Hussain	199

Uses of Various Essential Oils along their Anti-Biofilm Potential in Poultry Roheela Yasmeen, Aisha Waheed Qurashi, Sumaira Mazhar, Syeda Shazia Bokhari and Uzma Rafi	207
Therapeutic Potential of Coconut Oil and Amla Oil in Clinical and Sub Clinical Mastitis Muhammad Rizwan, Tanveer Ahmed, Hifssa Aslam, Kashood Aslam, Sadia Sanaullah, Abdullah Ahmed, Haziq Abdullah, Raheel Sharif, Ahmed Fawad Khalil Muhammad, Asjad Umair Shah, Muhammad Abuzar Javaid and Muhammad Anees	220
Exploring the Therapeutic Benefits of Olive Oil for Arthritis Management Shaneel Kousar, Aqsa Iqbal, Ayesha Rasheed, Aneela Gul, Mahrukh Babar, Ayesha Tanveer, Mayra Ihsan, Azka Zaheer, Aqsa Rashid and Jameel Ahmed Buzdar	226
The Diverse Applications of Essential Oils Afza Arif, Tabinda Waheed, Hafiz Muhammad Umer, Muhammad Asad, Kashif Ali, Ahmed Muneeb, Saima Qadeer, Asma Ashraf, Sana Ullah and Muhammad Umair Khan	239
Essential Oils for Health Rida Amjad, Shahid Ali, Kashif Ali, Sobia Malik, Shabab Zahra, Jawaria Farooq, Urooj Nazir, Zain Raza and Umm-e-Abiha	244
Role of Essential Oils in Aquatic Health: New Technique for Management of Disease without Inducing Resistance in Pathogens Rabia Maqsood, Khalid Abbas, Hareem Fayyaz, Ayesha Shahid Baig, Fatima Raza, Kainaat Azam, Wajeeha Javaid, Isha Rizwan and Bushra	253
Use of Essential oils for the Treatment of Female Reproductive Disorders Mahvish Fatima, Ume Salma, Razia Kausar and Muhammad Akmal Farooq	261
Use of Essential oils an Alternate Approach against Parasitic Infections Syed Muhammad Ali Shah, Asim Shamim, Fiza Tariq, Farah Shafique, Jamal Muhammad Khan Taqdees Aimen, Ouziffa Niaz, Syeda Noor Fatima, Syed Ali Haider Shah and Safa Tariq	269
Essential Oils as Alternative Treatments for Common Parasitic Infections in Animals Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Muhammad Imran, Muhammad Kasib Khan, Abdullah Azeem, Muhammad Hassan Raza, Muhammad Awais Afzal, Hazrat Bilal, Muhammad Rahman, Hizb Ullah and Bilal Abbas	276

Chapter 01

Essential Oils: Potential Therapeutic Compounds for One Health

Saima Talib^{1*#}, Shumaila Noreen^{1*}, Momil Liaquat³, Amjad Islam Aqib^{2,} Tasleem Kausar¹, Maham Fatima¹, Sana Abdul Sattar¹, Sadia Zubair¹, Muhammad Kashif ⁴ and Sofia⁵

¹Department of Medicine, Cholistan University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bahawalpur Pakistan

²The Government Sadiq College Women University, Department of Zoology, Bahawalpur, Pakistan

³Bahaduddin Zakariya University, Institute of Applied Sciences, Zoology Division, Multan Pakistan

⁴Department of Zoology, Factuality of Biological and Chemical Sciences the Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Pakistan

⁵Department of Biochemistry, Cholistan University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bahawalpur Pakistan

*Share equal first authorship

*Corresponding author: saimatalib466@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Essential oils are volatile fragrant chemicals that can be acquired from natural plants in different ways. They can be obtained from roots, flowers, stems, leaves, seeds, and gums. Many plants are used for this purpose nowadays, like cinnamon, mint, lavender, etc. All these plants have different chemical procedures to extract their oils in the laboratory. Many old and emergent methods have been used nowadays. The most common methods are steam distillation, cold pressing, solvent extraction, superfluid extraction, ultra-sound, and microwave-assisted extraction. Known till now, the microwave-assisted extraction method is recognized as the optimal method for extracting premium quality oils. All above listed essential oils have great potential to resolve medical issues like neurodegenerative disease, cancer, cardiovascular disease, gut related issues. These oils also have a vast power to treat illness and have antimicrobial and antibiotic properties. Moreover, these oils are commercially used as Nano-medicine particles that guarantee their regular distributions and solubility in water. The extraction of essential oils and their application in the medical field constitute a significant human discovery.

KEYWORDS	Received: 14-June-2024	SCHENTIFIC ALE	A Publication of
Essential oils, Extraction, Chemicals, Methods, Plants	Revised: 13-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 19-August-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Talib S, Noreen S, Liaquat M, Aqib AI, Kausar T, Fatima M, Sattar SA, Zubair S, Kashif M and Sofia, 2024. Essential oils: potential therapeutic compounds for one health. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.056</u>

INTRODUCTION

The volatile aromatic liquids known as essential oils (E0s) are derived from natural plants. According to Soliman et al. (2022), the plant components that are gathered encompass their roots, bark, wood, flowers, leaves, seeds, peels, branches, gums, and oily resin. Secondary metabolites are a collection of compounds that aid plants in controlling their growth and facilitating communication with other plants and species. The complex makeup of essential oil (EO) mostly consists of alcohol, ester, aldehydes, oxides, which are phenols, the coumarins ether and various other constituents (Camele et al., 2021). Essential oils (EOs) are widely utilized in an extensive range of goods for purposes including anti-parasitic, fungicidal, cosmetic, sterilizing, and destroying viruses. Essential oils (EOs), such as lavender, rose, and peppermint oils, are frequently used in the cosmetics sector because of their pleasant scent (Sharmeen, et al., 2021).

Given their pharmacological and psychological properties, essential oils (EOs) have a long history of use and recognition as therapeutic agents. To the indigenous people, they had magical powers that could cure physical, emotional, and spiritual ailments (Ayaz et al., 2017; Lizarraga-Valderrama). Analgesic, neuroprotective, antidepressant, anxiolytic, and sedative effects are just a few of the many CNS-targeted pharmacological effects that EOs have been shown to have in animal and human studies. Dementia, sleeplessness, depressive disorders, dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), and other CNS-based disorders can be alleviated or stopped with the use of EOs as an adjuvant treatment. The fact that they occur naturally means that they are also safe and non-toxic in the correct doses, as studies done in the last decade have shown (Lizarraga-Valderrama, 2021).

Chemical Composition of EOs

Essential oils are volatile organic composites that are complex combinations of several compounds, often exceeding 500 in number. Linalool and camphene are two of the many chemicals found in essential oils extracted from plants.

Particular essential oils contain compounds like camphor and menthol. One of the most popular essential oils, lavender, contains eucalyptus, linalool acetate, linalool, and perillyl alcohol among its primary components. Sesquiterpenes, flavonoids, lacton, myrrh alcohol, famesene, tea matzolin, genistein, and volatile oil are present in both varieties of chamomile. Peppermint mostly consists of menthol, menthol acetate, and mentholone. Plant secondary metabolism results in the production of secondary components such as tannins, caffeic acid, 1,8-eucalyptol, propanone, and bitter chemicals. All sorts of plant components, such as blossoms, roots, leaves, bark, seeds, fruit, resins, and so on, produce and contain these compounds. Essential oils derived from various parts of plants also range in their chemical composition. Fragrances, terpenoids, ketones, aldehydes, ethers, epoxy compounds, and other compounds provide the basis for identifying each of these essential oils (Wani et al., 2021). Fig. 1 shows the chemical structures of some Eos.



Fig. 1: The Chemical structures of some Eos.

Types of Essential Oils Peppermint Oil

One of the most common and frequently utilized EOs is peppermint (Mentha piperita) oil. Of the essential oils derived from Menthyl ester and Menthofuran, menthol is the primary constituent (Saharkhiz et al., 2012). Peppermint oil has been shown to have an inhibiting effect on staphylococci growth (Witkowska and Sowińska, 2013).

Melaleuca Alternifolia (Myrtaceae)

Another name for it is Tea Tree Oil, or TTO. Among its components are 1,8-cineole, α -terpinene, γ -terpinene, pcymene, α -terpinene, γ -terpinen-4-ol, and α -pinene (Pereira et al., 2014). One of its names is Tea Tree Oil, or TTO for short. The clinical investigation found that melaleuca gel inhibited the growth of numerous colonies of bacteria and dental biofilms (Santamaria et al., 2014). Against oral infections, it exhibits potent antibacterial activity (Takarada et al., 2004). The most potent ingredient in Melaleuca alternifolia's antimycotic action is terpinene-4-ol (Terzi et al., 2007)

Lemon EOs

It mostly consists of oxygenated terpenes and terpenes that are nearly exclusive (Trombetta et al., 2005). Therapeutic action shows antifungal potential against three species of Candida: the albicans strain, the tropical Candida species, and *Candida glabrata*. One effective treatment for candidiasis brought on by Candida albicans is lemon essential oil (Trombetta et al., 2005; Białoń et al., 2014).

Cinnamon Oil

The volatile oils derived from various parts of the plant, such as tree bark, foliage, and roots, have very different chemical compositions. Three major constituents comprising 82.5% of the essential oils extracted from the bark of Cinnamomum zeylanicum are trans-cinnamaldehyde, eugenol, and linalool. Studies indicate that the primary and most active ingredient in cinnamon essential oil is cinnamonaldehyde (Naveed et al., 2013).

Inhibition of the growth of several bacterial isolates, including both Gram-positive and Gram-negative strains, as well as fungal isolates (Ooi et al., 2006). It can prevent spontaneous mutations in human cells by acting as an antimutagenic (King et al., 2007). Furthermore, Cabello et al. (2014) found that cinnamaldehyde (CA) had a significant anti-melanoma impact when administered orally. Cinnamomum zeylanicum (CZ) has antiparasitic, antioxidant, and free radical scavenging properties, according to the study (Ramage et al., 2012).

Eucalyptus Oil

It is appropriate for use as an anticariogenic drug since it exhibits a negative y impact on oral bacterian such as *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (Serafino et al., 2008).

Lavender Oil

Linalool, linalyl acetate, 1,8-cineole, B-ocimene, terpinen-4-ol, I-fenchone, camphor, and viridiflorol are the main constituents identified (Benabdelkader et al., 2011; Végh et al., 2012). However, the relative level of each of these constituents varies in different species. Lavender oil is most commonly found in the following compounds: linalyl acetate, linalool, 1,8-cineole, camphor, lavandulyl acetate, and 3,7-dimethylocta-1,6-dien-3-ol, all of which are obtained by

distillation with steam from the flowers of the Lamiaceae family plant *Lavandula angustifolia*. Since linalool's effects are felt throughout the oil, it's reasonable to assume that it's the active component of lavender oil (Prashar et al., 2004).

Lavender EO is described to decrease stress, anxiety, and expand mood when inhaled or orally administered (Lehrner et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2011). It is not very effective in cases of high anxiety (Bradley et al., 2009). *Lavandula luisieri* essential oils have an inhibitory effect on strains of Aspergillus, dermatophytes, and yeast (Zuzarte et al., 2012).

Essential Oils Extraction

For use or analysis, Eos needs to be removed from the plant matrix. Many techniques, including popular ones like solvent extraction, steam distillation, hydro-distillation (HD), cold pressing (CP), and simultaneous distillation-extraction techniques, can be applied for this purpose. Even though Eos have been extracted using these methods for many years, numerous disadvantages have been identified by their application, such as the loss of some volatile compounds, less efficiency, the potential for hazardous solvent residues in extracts or EOs, and the breakdown of ester or unsaturated molecules by thermal or hydrolytic processes. As the "Green Era" approaches and energy prices rise, the extraction industries for extraterrestrials (Eos) concentrated on creating emergent extraction techniques (Bousbia et al., 2009). Many novel techniques, due to the shortcomings of conventional extraction techniques, a variety of techniques are currently available for extracting essential oils (Eos) from plants, such as solid-phase micro-extraction, membrane-assisted solvent extraction, pressured liquid extraction, solid-critical fluid extraction (SFE), microwave-assisted and ultrasound-assisted extraction, and others. (Flamini et al., 2007). By using fewer solvents and fossil fuels, producing fewer hazardous substances, and using less energy overall, the environment may be protected and production efficiency increased with these alternatives to conventional extraction techniques (Chemat et al., 2010). Composition and chemical makeup of extra virgin olive oils are greatly influenced by the extraction techniques used (Nakatsu et al., 2000). The most representative traditional and emerging techniques of extracting essential oils (Eos) are provided in the following sections. Give careful thought to the best feasible and suitable technique for concentrating the intended biologically active ingredient into the EO.

Extraction Methods Primitive Methods of Extraction Cold Pressing

Cold pressing, sometimes referred to as expression, is the earliest technique for obtaining essential oils; it predates human discovery of the distillation process by many years. Although this method produces low yields, the process produces little to no heat, which is an advantage (Van, 2013). Because the aldehydes in citrus fruit peel oils are rather thermally unstable, it is primarily employed to isolate the oils from the fruit (Kubeczka, 2010). Citrus peels are used in the mechanical cold pressing method, which involves applying pressure or abrasion to rupture the oil glands, causing the oil to be ejected and then cleaned away with a water spray. Because of the shortcomings of this approach, which include low yield extraction and low purity, enzyme pretreatments have been investigated as a means of enhancing the quality and amount of extracted essential oils (Eos). Using a combination of enzymatic hydrolysis and CP, Soto et al. (2007) were able to extract oil from Borage (Borago officinalis) seeds; Collao et al. (2007) was able to enhance the resultant evening elder oil (Oenothera biennis) extraction; and A study conducted by Anwar et al. (2013) examined the impact of several enzyme preparations on the production of cold-pressed flaxseed oil. The results showed that cold-pressed flaxseeds treated with enzymes had a much greater output (38% vs. 32%).

Distillation

Distillation is the conventional process used to extract volatile materials, such as essential oils from plant matter. Fragrant plants that come into touch with steam or boiling water during the distillation process evaporate and release their essential oils. Three different methods of distillation have been suggested: steam distillation, hydrodynamic distillation (HD), and water/steam distillation. The categorization is predicated on how well the water interacts with the initial matrix. The HD technique involves immersing the plant material in boiling water. What differentiates this approach is the direct contact of the raw material with the boiling water. While steam and water are used in steam distillation, the plant material and the water do not come into indirect touch (Mendes et al., 2007).

The plant material is positioned on a tray with holes at the bottom of the container, and steam is forced through a pipe after being produced in a boiler. Water and oil are combined to create the condensed distillate; the oil and water are separated by using a Florentine flask, which does this by using the differences in their densities. The plant material is positioned on a tray with holes at the bottom of the container, and steam is forced through a pipe after being produced in a boiler. Condensed distillate is made by combining water and oil; the oil and water are separated using a Florentine flask, which uses the variations in their densities to do this (Sell, 2006). The material is only ever exposed to steam, never boiling water, and the steam is constantly moist and completely saturated thanks to this process (Hu[°]snu and demerici, 2012).

Solvent Extraction

EOs can be extracted using organic solvents, particularly those derived from fuel, due to their hydrophobic and nonpolar properties (Attokaran, 2011). A solute is distributed between two immiscible liquid phases that are in contact with one another; this process is known as solvent extraction (Cox and Rydberg 2004). Using a liquid in which the material

is soluble, a substance is transferred from a matrix in this process. Leaching is the process used when the part that can be extracted is a solid, like plant materials. Batch percolation at room temperature is the most straightforward of these procedures. To extract the plant material, it is first ground into a powder and then put into a vertical vessel that has a false bottom. The oil's micelles are kept from passing through by a cloth covering the bottom. Richer extracts are extracted early on and used in the distillation process to create essential oils. The weaker micelle that follows is directed toward the percolator that holds freshly ground plant material. There will be a solute exchange with a weak micelle at this point because the solute concentration is at its highest. Micelles that are progressively weaker and weaker pass through plant material that has been partially extracted. Ultimately, the process is finished when a new solvent is poured through almost all of the extracted material (Attokaran, 2011).

Emergent Methods of EO's Extraction

The chemical, food, and pharmaceutical industries have recently placed a considerable emphasis on developing novel separation processes because of rising energy prices and the need to lessen CO2 emissions (Bousbia et al., 2009). Oil extraction methods being researched include supercritical fluid extraction (SFE), ultrasound-assisted extraction, and microwave-assisted extraction.

Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)

Several Eos have been extracted using microwaves by various researchers in recent years. The results show that Eos extracted in 30 minutes or fewer are qualitatively and quantitatively comparable to those extracted using some traditional techniques, like HD or Soxhlet extraction, that take twice as long (Camel, 2001).

Vacuum microwave HD is one of many methods that have emerged as a result of developments in microwave extraction (Abert-Vian et al., 2011), microwave HD (Golmakani and Rezaei, 2008), solvent extraction and distillation with microwave assistance (Ferhat et al., 2007), solvent-free microwave extraction (Bendahou et al., 2008), microwave accelerated steam distillation (Chemat et al., 2006), and microwave hydro-diffusion and gravity (MHG) (Vian et al., 2008).

In this method, radiations of microwave are used to heat the sample combination. Because of two peculiarities of matter, namely ionic conductance and dipole rotation, microwave heating occurs instantaneously inside the sample, leading to very short extraction times. The breaching of weak hydrogen limits is one benefit of microwave heating. It is different from the extractive procedures used in conventional approaches because electromagnetic waves induce changes in cell structure that result in MAE extraction. Since microwaves automatically reduce the extraction time and solvent amount, they reduce the impact on the environment by expelling less carbon dioxide into the atmosphere (Périno-Issartier et al., 2011).

Ultrasound-Assisted Extraction (UAE)

The phytopharmaceutical extraction industry has acknowledged the potential industrial application of ultrasound for a variety of herbal extracts (Vilkhu et al., 2008). Compared to conventional methods, UAE shortens processing time, reduces solvent volume, and boosts the yield of the extract by employing organic solvents to separate volatile chemicals from natural products at room temp (Alissandrakis et al., 2003). At low frequencies, at 18–40kHz, its effect is substantial; at higher frequencies, between 400 and 800 kHz, it is almost insignificant (Cravotto et al., 2008).

Super-critical Fluid Extraction

Plant components such as essential oils, flavors, and lipids can be extracted with SFE (Wang, 2008); Reverchon (1997) states that SFE has the makings of a profitable industrial technique. When compared to conventional extraction techniques, this emergent method is superior in terms of speed, compound selectivity, and environmental friendliness.

Supercritical fluid extraction (SFE) relies on subjecting solvents to temperatures and pressures higher than their critical points to use them in their supercritical condition. The content, temperature, and pressure of a supercritical fluid (SCF) define its unique properties, which lie between those of a gas and a liquid. These liquids are efficient and selective solvents because they combine the gaseous penetrating ability with the liquid density. The non-toxic nature and ability to achieve supercritical operation at pressures similar to ambient temperature while maintaining relatively low concentrations of carbon dioxide make it the ideal supercritical solvent for chemical extraction from plants (Zizovic et al., 2007).

Extraction of Essential oils from different Plants Lavender

As everyone is aware, lavender is a fragrant and therapeutic plant that yields a range of plant essential oils used in medicine, food processing, cosmetics, and other sectors (Zhao et al., 2006).

A novel technique was used for obtaining lavender essential oil: steam distillation with microwave assistance. Steam distillation and general microwave-assisted extraction are two methods from the Chinese Pharmacopoeia that were combined to achieve this. Supercritical CO2 extraction experiments have been used to determine the ideal extraction conditions for lavender essential oils, and gas chromatography has been used to assess and evaluate the quality of lavender essential oils extracted using two distinct methods (XI et al., 2002). Furthermore, vacuum distillation has been used to refine lavender essential oil that was obtained through supercritical CO2 extraction. The resulting data serves as a source for the industry of lavender essential oils.

Supercritical CO2 Extraction

Procedure and Conditions

Add powder of lavender to the extraction tank, set the analytical pressure to 6.5MPa and temperature to 45°C, and flow 20 liters per hour of CO2 into the tank. Extract the lavender powder at a predetermined time after the tank is released from the excerpts of the analysis. Vacuum distillation was used to extract supercritical CO2 from pressure products after atmospheric distillation, followed by condensation through cold water and an ice-water bath to accept bottles. The temperature was progressively rising to 90°F for distillation after the pressure leveled out at 20mmHg.

Microwave-assisted Steam Distillation

A 500ml round-bottom flask was filled with precisely 25g of lavender powder, 300ml of saturated salt water, and allowed to soak for two hours. Regarding the microwave reactor, two milliliters of petroleum ether were added to the volatile oil extractor. After two hours of microwave heating, adjust the temperature to 105 so that 1-2 drops per second are produced.

Cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum)

According to Chinese texts, *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* is one of the oldest known herbal remedies, with a history that spans four thousand years. Both the leaves and the bark of the cinnamon tree have many medicinal and culinary applications. Steam distillation and Soxhlet extraction were employed to obtain the essential oil.

Steam Distillation Method

According to Chinese texts, *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* is one of the oldest known herbal remedies, with a history that spans four thousand years. Both the leaves and the bark of the cinnamon tree have many medicinal and culinary applications. Steam distillation and Soxhlet extraction were employed to obtain the essential oil.

The essential oils were allowed to volatilize for five to ten hours at 100°C in boiling water. Following a settling period for the recovered mixture, the oil was extracted 9–10. Utilizing a separatory funnel, the product was gathered and separated following the steam distillation process. The essential oils were separated multiple times until there was no more oil in the separatory funnel after they settled into the bottom layer.

Soxhlet Extraction Method

A thimble made from heavy filter paper was filled with 100g of crushed cinnamon sticks, which were then put into the main chamber of the Soxhlet extractor. Ethanol was the extraction solvent used. For five to ten hours, the solvent was brought to a temperature above 100°C for reflux. Following extraction, the products were gathered and refined utilizing a rotating evaporator to maintain a steady temperature of 50°C. After the rotovap process, the samples were placed in a fume hood for an hour to ensure that any remaining ethanol in the crude oil had completely evaporated into the atmosphere.

Basil (Mint)

One popular culinary herb and source of essential oils is Oregano basilicum that is used to flavor food, oral health products, and fragrances. Steam distillation is used to remove essential oils from the leaves and flowering tops of the plant. Next, essential oils were extracted from known weights of stems, flowers, leaves, or an equal portion of both (200g fresh weight and 75g dry weight). The samples were oven-dried for three to seven days at 30°C. The dry weights of the samples in the experiments with varying sample amounts were 75, 20, 15, and 10g. There were three approaches taken.

Hydro-distillation

To extract the essential oil, the plant material was dropped into a 2-liter round-bottomed flask along with 1000ml of distilled, deionized water for every 75g of dry matter and 400ml for every 200g of fresh material. A modified clevenger trap was then used for the water distillation process (ASTA, 1968). Water was added in proportion to the size of the plant samples (13.3ml of water to 1g of dry material). The fresh samples were distilled for one hour, while the dried samples were distilled for one hour and fifteen minutes. The ratio of oil volume to tissue weight was used to determine the essential oil content.

Steam Distillation

The process of steam distillation involved collecting the condensate, which is made up of combining oil and water in a flask and then applying steam for ninety minutes to a 3-liter flask filled with either dried or fresh plant material. To fully extract the essential oil, ethyl ether was used three times to extract the condensate. To eliminate moisture, ethyl ether was mixed with sodium sulfate. Following rotary evaporation for ethyl ether removal, the number of essential oils in the base was calculated by dividing the volume by the weight of the tissue (fresh/dry).

Solvent Extraction

Essential oil was extracted using a solvent using Burbott and Loomis's (1967) method. Ten milliliters of yellow extract

were obtained by extracting plant material four times with hexane in a mortar that also contained anhydrous Na2SO4. Each extract received a tiny quantity of Norit Just enough charcoal to remove the yellow pigment—which was subsequently extracted using slow centrifugation. After that, the clear solutions were concentrated at room temperature under an air stream. Samples of essential oils were kept at 2°C in the dark in Teflon-sealed caps contained in silica vials. The stated contents of essential oils are derived from three separate extraction processes.

Mechanism of Action

The chemical makeup and the placement of functional groups on molecules determine the ways of action of essential oils (EOs) (Dorman and Deans, 2000). According to Prashad et al. (2004), the primary mode of action is thought to be damage to the membrane. In terms of their antibacterial action, EOs' solubility in the phospholipid double layer of cell membranes appears to play a significant role. Research has shown that terpenoids present in EOs can disrupt the enzyme processes involved in energy metabolism. Specifically, clove oil has been shown to decrease the amount of ergosterol detected in the cell membranes of fungi (Pinto et al., 2009).

Therapeutic Applications

The volatile constituents of essential oils (EOs) are being widely used to treat and prevent human diseases. The mode of action and significant role of these natural products are discussed regarding the treatment and prevention of many diseases (Edris, 2007). The following are the therapeutic applications of essential oils:

Neurodegenerative Diseases

The potential of Essentials oils (EOs) against neuro-protective and anti-ageing being widely evaluated around the world. Neurodegenerative disorders are frequently characterized by strong evidence of oxidative stress in their pathogenesis, as a result unregulated (ROS) reactive oxygen species formed. Neurodegenerative disorders are mostly incurable, and their therapies only just control symptoms and elongate the growth of disease. Now EOs have been used in the treatment strategies for neurodegenerative and anti-aging disorders (Abd Rashed et al., 2021). An increase in the microglia M1/M2 ratio and a rise in inflammatory processes in the cerebral cortex (inflammation) are both associated with aging and increase the risk of neurodegenerative disorders.

In the post-mortem of an individual, the increase of astrocytes in neural tissue has also been reported. The distinguishing feature of neurodegenerative disease is the accumulation of proteins within neurons and in the extracellular space. (Avola et al., 2024). Huntington's disease (HD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and Parkinson's disease (PD) are the four age-related neurodegenerative illnesses that are most frequently researched. Huntington's disease (HD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) are the four age-related neurodegenerative disease (AD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) are the four age-related neurodegenerative diseases that are most frequently researched. Deficits in episodic memory, visuospatial abilities, language, executive functions (organization and planning), and apraxia are the various features of AD. Amyloid plaquesnd neurofibrillary tangles are associated with reactive astrocytes and activated microglial cells in addition to neuronal loss (Abd Rashed et al., 2021).

Aromatherapy and Massage

Aroma is a fragrance or pleasant smell, while therapy is a treatment. These two terms are combined to form the word "aromatherapy." The essential oils' usage for physical and psychological well-being through massage or inhalation is known as aromatherapy and massage therapy. Aromatherapy is the application of pure essential oils from aromatic plants (such as rose, sweet marjoram, and peppermint) to alleviate various health issues and enhance overall quality of life. Aromatherapy is said to have therapeutic benefits that include easing pain, promoting sleep and relaxation, and lessening symptoms of depression. As a result, aromatherapy has been used to lessen disruptive activity, encourage sleep, and increase motivated behavior among dementia patients (Forrester et al., 2014). As a result, aromatherapy cannot be applied to massage essential oils. Aromatherapy is limited to the inhalation of aromatic materials to produce either physiological or psychological benefits. However, the application of essential oils and their volatile components in medicine through massage or inhalation has grown all over the world. When working with essential oils in massage, caution should be used. Certain essential oils may pose a risk of toxicity.

Inhalation

The three basic methods of using essential oils are ingestion (via the digestive system), topical absorption (through the skin), and inhaling (via the respiratory system or olfactory nerves). The biological activity and aroma of essential oils are determined by their chemical composition, which is a blend of many organic components. They can be divided into some types based on their aroma, including citrus, herbaceous, camphorous, flowery, woody, earthy, minty, and spicy (Aćimović, 2021). The oils inhibited neurons in the central nervous system via the GABA-ergic neuromodulation pathway. This outcome is caused by elevated amounts of GABA in the brain (Edris, 2007). One of the prevalent psychological and behavioral issues that college students face is test anxiety, which can lead to subpar academic performance or even failure. College students may find aromatherapy to be a helpful way to lessen test anxiety, however, its exact effectiveness has not yet been thoroughly established (Luan et al., 2023).

Essential Oils Against Cancer

Constituents of natural essential oils are crucial I the treatment and prevention of cancer. When tested on various cancer cell lines of humans, including colon cancer, breast cancer, gastric cancer, tumors in the human liver, glioma, lung tumors, leukemia, and others, essential oils and their distinct fragrance components show cancer-decreasing effects. One of the most dangerous tumors in humans is glioma. Sesquiterpene hydrocarbon element, which is present in trace levels in many oils, has been shown to have a major impact on the treatment of gliomas. It extended the quality of survival time of glioma patients (Edris, 2007). Their chemopreventive properties come from a variety of mechanisms, including antimutagenic, antioxidant, anti-proliferative, immune function and surveillance enhancement, enzyme induction and enhanced detoxification, modulation of multi-drug resistance, and synergistic mechanism of volatile constituents (Bhalla et al., 2013). The antimutagenic properties of essential oils are ascribed to specific processes, one of which is the reduction of mutagens' ability to penetrate cells (Kada and Shimoi, 1987). Thymus vulgaris, Carum copticum, origanum, and oregano all have volatile oils that contain carvacrol, a phenolic monoterpene.

Various targets of EOs for cancer prevention are represented in Fig. 2.



Possible route for EOs-mediated cancer cell death

Fig. 2: Targets of EOs

Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases

Atherosclerosis is a process in which plaque deposits accumulate in the intima, the artery's innermost layer. Over time, plaque can severely reduce blood flow, which might result in major health issues. An important factor in the onset of disease is elevated levels of oxidatively damaged (LDLs) low-density lipoproteins in cholesterol. The volatile components present in essential oils and their scent have demonstrated having antioxidative properties against LDL oxidation. One monoterpene hydrocarbon that is particularly effective at preventing the oxidation of LDL's protein and lipid components is terpinolene. The prolonged degradation of the basic carotenoids of LDL is the actual reason of this inhibition, not the safeguarding effect of intrinsic α -tocopherol like with certain flavonoids. Essential oils rich in phenolic substances, such as thymol and eugenol, have the strongest antioxidant action against LDL oxidation and can change the affinity of LDL particles for the LDL receptor (Naderi et al., 2004).

Antimicrobial Activity against Microbes (bacteria, Virus, and Fungi)

EO chemicals' antibacterial action has been well studied. It was discovered that a number of *Clostridium perfringens* strains were sensitive to thymol, citral, limonene, carvacrol, and cinnamondehyde when grown in anaerobic environments. According to in vitro research, combining various EO compounds may have a stronger antibacterial impact than taking each one alone, suggesting a synergy between separate actions. One benefit of several essential oils is their ability to prevent the growth of possible infections. The many components present in essential oils (EO), such as terpenes, phenylpropanoid, and aldehydes, confer reactivity on each EO based on its composition and nature, rendering it effective against a broad spectrum of infections (Aljaafari et al., 2021). Two groups of different biosynthetic origins are among the

key constituents of essential oils that define their biological qualities. One group is terpenoids and terpenes and another is made up of aliphatic and aromatic components that have lower molecular weights. Terpenes are hydrocarbons that are created when numerous isoprene units (C5H8) are joined. Acetyl-CoA starts the process of terpene synthesis in the cytoplasm of plant cells, which then moves through the mevalonic acid pathway. Terpenes can be reorganized into cyclic structures by cyclases, which have a hydrocarbon backbone. This can lead to the development of either monocyclic or bicyclic structures.

Terpene biosynthesis consists of the following steps: synthesizing isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) precursor; adding IPPs one after the other to form the prenyldiphosphate precursor of the various classes of terpenes; modifying allylic prenyldiphosphate by terpene-specific synthetase to form the terpene skeleton; and secondary (redox reaction) enzymatic modification of the skeleton to confer functional properties on the various terpenes. The primary two types of terpenes are sesquiterpenes (C15H24) and monoterpenes (C10H16), although there are longer chains like triterpenes (C30H40) and diterpenes (C20H32). Among the components of essential oils having antimicrobial activity are limonene, eugenol, p-cymene, estragole, menthol, geraniol, anethole, thymol, cinnamonyl alcohol and γ -terpinene (Chouhan et al., 2017). The capacity of EO to inactivate or inhibit bacterial development is referred to as its antibacterial activity. Clove extract demonstrated the strongest antibacterial activity, but grape seed cinnamon, pomegranate peel, clove and oregano were also found to be beneficial (Aljaafari et al., 2021).

Different essential oils work in different ways; some attack the outer membrane of bacteria, while others go after the efflux system of proteins in that membrane. Since EO are hydrophobic, they can pierce bacterial cell walls, which in turn causes the walls to break down, increasing permeability and releasing intracellular contents. Several studies demonstrated that the constituents of essential oils (EOs) target the cellular membrane, as demonstrated by the effects of applying oregano and thyme EO on the membrane of L. monocytogenes. This process is known as membrane disruption. Since EO compounds are hydrophobic by nature, this increases the permeability of bacterial membranes and increases the possibility that bacterial contents may leak out (Nazzaro et al., 2013).

Essential oils obtained from plants could be used for treating the viral diseases. A virus is a tiny particle (20–300 nm) that is made up only of genetic material encased in proteins and lipids. They carry out self-replication by infecting host cells. Viral disease continues to be a major global health concern. The usual method for figuring out the mechanisms of action of EOs, including their component parts, against viruses is to manipulate time-of-addition assays. The EOs are applied to cultured cells one hour before the virus is introduced (pre-viral infection). A negative result means that host cell receptors are not blocked by EOs, which would impact viral attachment. As an alternative, viruses are pretreated for one hour with EOs and then incubated with host cells at the same time (simultaneous viral infection). If the test is successful, it means that EOs disrupt free virions by changing the structure of the virus envelope or hiding the viral proteins that are required for the virus to bind to its surface and enter the host cell. Alternatively, EOs are added at several points to the infected cells (post viral infection) during the viral infection lifecycle (from penetration to progeny production). It is possible to approach the point in the viral infection cycle where EOs can combat viruses. To date, the most popular method for examining the general intracellular and intercellular inhibitory qualities of EOs is the time-of-addition experiment (ma and yao, 2020).

Compared to bacterial infections, fungal infections are caused by eukaryotic organisms, which makes it more challenging to identify their existence and administer the proper therapeutic therapy. The chitin structure found in the cell walls of fungi, which is lacking in human cells, makes them an ideal target for highly toxic antifungal medicines. The natural product for inhibiting fungi is essential oils (EOs). In actuality, a variety of essential oils that are derived from several herbs and plants demonstrated potent antifungal characteristics. Similar to other phytochemicals, EOs have the ability to prevent the growth of microbes and the development of biofilms through specific mechanisms. This is a particularly valuable aspect: Microorganisms are known to initiate a certain mechanism that results in the synthesis and manufacturing of chemicals, signals of microbial communication, and also the development of pathogenicity parameters, like the formation of biofilms, in addition to a specific growth threshold value. Many essential oils have broad antibacterial qualities that make them useful for preventing microbiological deterioration, maintaining quality and food safety, and extending the shelf life of food. The lipophilic and smaller molecular weight characteristics of terpenoids/terpenes may account for the antibacterial or antifungal activity of essential oils. These characteristics can cause a cell to rupture and die, or they can stop food-spoilage fungi from proliferating and germinating. Antifungal agents have the ability to deactivate fungi by interfering with the function and structure of the organelles and its cell's membranes, as well as by blocking the creation of proteins or nuclear material (Nazzaro et al., 2017).

Essential Oils and Antibiotic Agents

Many essential oils (EOs) have antibacterial qualities. Lavender essential oil demonstrated antiviral efficacy against the Herpes simplex virus type 1, but it also exhibited far stronger antibacterial action. Lavender essential oil (EO) is used in dermatology to treat ulcers, burns, and scars that are hard to heal.

Since thyme EO was effective against Herpes simplex, it demonstrated antiviral action. Additionally, after 30 minutes of exposure, this EO showed 100% inhibitory efficacy against the influenza virus in the liquid phase. However, thyme essential oil's primary impact is related to bacteria. The thymol chemotype of T. vulgaris L. exhibits particularly significant bacteriostatic activity against most Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria.

Nanomedicine Formulation of Essential Oils

The usage of natural prodrugs derived from plants is growing across many industries, including the cosmetic, pharmaceutical and food ones. These volatile, oily liquids that are biologically active are produced by aromatic and medicinal plants and have a unique smell. Although EOs have a great deal of promise for anticancer, antibacterial, antiviral, and antioxidant effects, they are frequently characterized by high volatility, low stability, and a significant risk of degradation when exposed to moisture, light, heat, or oxygen. The use of nanotechnology in medicine, or nanomedicine, may provide effective answers to these issues. The technique is based on building nanostructures in which the natural prodrug is attached to or enclosed in submicron-sized capsules or nanoparticles that guarantee their regulated distribution, solubility in water, and targeting characteristics. When compared to either free EO or a nanoemulsion, nanocapsules demonstrated a greater anticancer impact against the HepG2 liver cancer cell line. (AbouAitah and Lojkowski, 2022).

Future Prospective

An increase in the permeability of the pathogen cell membrane and the subsequent leakage of internal components can have a negative impact on cell metabolism, according to the functional groups of the EOs. To fully understand the potential of EO, determine the optimal dosage, and discover any potential side effects, additional research is needed to conduct clinical studies and long-term examinations to determine its efficacy in vivo. Essential oils also play a major role in reducing the prevalence of bacteria that are resistant to antibiotics.

Comprehensive studies may be conducted in the future to assess or forecast how microorganisms may respond to EO following prolonged or subchronic exposure. In order to better understand the pathways and mechanisms involve in the development of essential oils as prospective antimicrobial agents, several researchers proposed that the antibacterial action of EO should be examined during the lag phase in bacterial growth. Therefore, specialists from a variety of fields are required for the development of more potent therapeutic drugs; these fields include genetics, structural biology, genomics, and bioinformatics. Furthermore, for successful mitigation, it is essential to build extensive epidemiological networks that can report the emergence of novel microorganisms and raise public awareness.

Conclusion

The purpose of this chapter is to explain the essence of oils and their function in human health. Essential oils are substances that are inherently flammable. Essential oils have various uses beyond just adding flavor and aroma. The medicinal potential of essential oils is immense. Essential oils enhance the activation of white blood cells, making them more effective in flushing out germs and other pathogens.

As a result, essential oils, like many other plant-based medications, have multiple therapeutic effects for various illnesses, including cancer. More new essential oils and unidentified compounds should be screened for potential anticancer activities. Depending on where they originate, they each have distinct methods that contribute to lessening the severity of the condition. Essential oils are employed more often in the field of health, primarily on the body's exterior tissues. It is widely utilised worldwide, and as a result of its increased use, the market for essential oils is expanding quickly and gaining significance every day.

REFERENCES

- Abd Rashed, A., Abd Rahman, A. Z., and Rathi, D. N. G. (2021). Essential oils as a potential neuroprotective remedy for agerelated neurodegenerative diseases: A review. *Molecules*, 26(4), 1107.
- Abert-Vian, M., Elmaataoui, M., and Chemat, F. (2011). A novel idea in food extraction field: study of vacuum microwave hydrodiffusion technique for by-products extraction. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *105*(2), 351-360.
- AbouAitah, K., and Lojkowski, W. (2022). Nanomedicine as an emerging technology to foster application of essential oils to fight cancer. *Pharmaceuticals*, *15*(7), 793.
- Aćimović, M. (2021). Essential oils: Inhalation aromatherapy—a comprehensive review. Journal Agronomy Technology Eng Management, 4, 547-557.
- Alissandrakis, E., Daferera, D., Tarantilis, P. A., Polissiou, M., and Harizanis, P. C. (2003). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of volatile compounds from citrus flowers and citrus honey. *Food Chemistry*, *82*(4), 575-582.
- Aljaafari, M. N., AlAli, A. O., Baqais, L., Alqubaisy, M., AlAli, M., Molouki, A., and Lim, S. H. E. (2021). An overview of the potential therapeutic applications of essential oils. *Molecules*, 26(3), 628.
- Anwar, F., Zreen, Z., Sultana, B., and Jamil, A. (2013). Enzyme-aided cold pressing of flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum L.): Enhancement in yield, quality and phenolics of the oil. *Grasas y Aceites*, 64(5), 463-471.
- Attokaran, M. (2011). Natural flavors and colorants.
- Avola, R., Furnari, A. G., Graziano, A. C. E., Russo, A., and Cardile, V. (2024). Management of the Brain: Essential Oils as Promising Neuroinflammation Modulator in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Antioxidants*, *13*(2), 178.
- Ayaz, M., Sadiq, A., Junaid, M., Ullah, F., Subhan, F., and Ahmed, J. (2017). Neuroprotective and anti-aging potentials of essential oils from aromatic and medicinal plants. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *9*, 168.
- Benabdelkader, T., Zitouni, A., Guitton, Y., Jullien, F., Maitre, D., Casabianca, H., and Kameli, A. (2011). Essential oils from wild

populations of Algerian Lavandula stoechas L.: composition, chemical variability, and in vitro biological properties. *Chemistry and Biodiversity*, 8(5), 937-953.

- Bendahou, M., Muselli, A., Grignon-Dubois, M., Benyoucef, M., Desjobert, J. M., Bernardini, A. F., and Costa, J. (2008). Antimicrobial activity and chemical composition of Origanum glandulosum Desf. essential oil and extract obtained by microwave extraction: Comparison with hydrodistillation. *Food Chemistry*, 106(1), 132-139.
- Bhalla, Y., Gupta, V. K., and Jaitak, V. (2013). Anticancer activity of essential oils: a review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 93(15), 3643-3653.
- Białoń, M., Krzyśko-Łupicka, T., Koszałkowska, M., and Wieczorek, P. P. (2014). The influence of chemical composition of commercial lemon essential oils on the growth of Candida strains. *Mycopathologia*, *177*, 29-39.
- Bousbia, N., Vian, M. A., Ferhat, M. A., Meklati, B. Y., and Chemat, F. (2009). A new process for extraction of essential oil from Citrus peels: Microwave hydrodiffusion and gravity. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 90(3), 409-413.
- Bradley, B. F., Brown, S. L., Chu, S., and Lea, R. W. (2009). Effects of orally administered lavender essential oil on responses to anxiety-provoking film clips. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 24(4), 319-330.
- Camel, V. (2001). Recent extraction techniques for solid matrices—supercritical fluid extraction, pressurized fluid extraction and microwave-assisted extraction: their potential and pitfalls. *Analyst*, *126*(7), 1182-1193.
- Camele, I., Gruľová, D., and Elshafie, H. S. (2021). Chemical composition and antimicrobial properties of Mentha× piperita cv. 'Kristinka'essential oil. *Plants*, *10*(8), 1567.
- Chemat, F., Lucchesi, M. E., Smadja, J., Favretto, L., Colnaghi, G., and Visinoni, F. (2006). Microwave accelerated steam distillation of essential oil from lavender: A rapid, clean and environmentally friendly approach. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 555(1), 157-160.
- Chouhan, S., Sharma, K., and Guleria, S. (2017). Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils—present status and future perspectives. *Medicines*, 4(3), 58.
- Collao, C. A., Curotto, E., and Zúñiga, M. E. (2007). Enzymatic treatment on oil extraction and antioxidant recuperation from Oenothera biennis by cold pressing. *Grasas y Aceites*, 58(1), 10-14.
- Cox, M., and Rydberg, J. (2004). Introduction to solvent extraction. Solvent Extraction Principles and Practice. Second Edi. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc, 1-27.
- Cravotto, G., Boffa, L., Mantegna, S., Perego, P., Avogadro, M., and Cintas, P. (2008). Improved extraction of vegetable oils under high-intensity ultrasound and/or microwaves. *Ultrasonics sonochemistry*, *15*(5), 898-902.
- Cui, Y., Che, Y., and Wang, H. (2020). Bergamot essential oil attenuate aluminum-induced anxiety-like behavior through antioxidation, anti-inflammatory and GABA regulation in rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *145*, 111766.
- Dorman, H. D., and Deans, S. G. (2000). Antimicrobial agents from plants: antibacterial activity of plant volatile oils. *Journal* of Applied Microbiology, 88(2), 308-316.
- Edris, A. E. (2007). Pharmaceutical and therapeutic potentials of essential oils and their individual volatile constituents: a review. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 21(4), 308-323.
- Ferhat, M. A., Tigrine-Kordjani, N., Chemat, S., Meklati, B., and Chemat, F. (2007). Rapid extraction of volatile compounds using a new simultaneous microwave distillation: solvent extraction device. *Chromatographia*, 65, 217-222.
- Forrester, L. T., Maayan, N., Orrell, M., Spector, A. E., Buchan, L. D., and Soares-Weiser, K. (2014). Aromatherapy for dementia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (2).
- Golmakani, M. T., and Rezaei, K. (2008). Microwave-assisted hydrodistillation of essential oil from Zataria multiflora Boiss. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 110(5), 448-454.
- Govender, H. (2010). A comparative study of solvent extraction, Soxhlet extraction, steam distillation, headspace analysis and headspace solid phase microextraction for the extraction of volatile terpenoid compounds in the curry leaf plant (Murraya koenigii) (Doctoral dissertation).
- Helal, I. M., El-Bessoumy, A., Al-Bataineh, E., Joseph, M. R., Rajagopalan, P., Chandramoorthy, H. C., and Ben Hadj Ahmed, S. (2019). Antimicrobial efficiency of essential oils from traditional medicinal plants of Asir region, Saudi Arabia, over drug resistant isolates. *BioMed Research International*, 2019.
- Hu, X. L., Gao, Y., and Liu, C. R. (2006). Orthogonal lavender essential oil extraction process. Food Science, 27(8), 198-199.
- Hu[°]snu[°] Can Baser K, Demerici F (2012) Essential oils. Kirk- Othmer chemical technology of cosmetics. Wiley, New Jersey, pp 375–408
- Kada, T., and Shimoi, K. (1987). Desmutagens and bio-antimutagens-their modes of action. Bioessays, 7(3), 113-116.
- Kim, S., Kim, H. J., Yeo, J. S., Hong, S. J., Lee, J. M., and Jeon, Y. (2011). The effect of lavender oil on stress, bispectral index values, and needle insertion pain in volunteers. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 17(9), 823-826.
- King, A. A., Shaughnessy, D. T., Mure, K., Leszczynska, J., Ward, W. O., Umbach, D. M., and Klein, C. B. (2007). Antimutagenicity of cinnamaldehyde and vanillin in human cells: Global gene expression and possible role of DNA damage and repair. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 616(1-2), 60-69.
- Lehrner, J., Marwinski, G., Lehr, S., Johren, P., and Deecke, L. (2005). Ambient odors of orange and lavender reduce anxiety and improve mood in a dental office. *Physiology and Behavior*, 86(1-2), 92-95.
- Lizarraga-Valderrama, L. R. (2021). Effects of essential oils on central nervous system: Focus on mental health. Phytotherapy

Research, 35(2), 657-679.

- Luan, J., Yang, M., Zhao, Y., Zang, Y., Zhang, Z., and Chen, H. (2023). Aromatherapy with inhalation effectively alleviates the test anxiety of college students: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 1042553.
- Mendes, M., Pessoa, F., De Melo, S., and Queiroz, E. (2007) Extraction modes. In: Hui YH (ed) Handbook of products food manufacturing, vol 2. Wiley, New Jersey, pp 148–150
- Nakatsu, T., Lupo Jr, A. T., Chinn Jr, J. W., and Kang, R. K. (2000). Biological activity of essential oils and their constituents. *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry*, *21*, 571-631.
- Naveed, R., Hussain, I., Tawab, A., Tariq, M., Rahman, M., Hameed, S., and Iqbal, M. (2013). Antimicrobial activity of the bioactive components of essential oils from Pakistani spices against Salmonella and other multi-drug resistant bacteria. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *13*, 1-10.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2013). Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12), 1451-1474.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2013). Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12), 1451-1474.
- Oliveira, J. D. A., da Silva, I. C. G., Trindade, L. A., Lima, E. O., Carlo, H. L., Cavalcanti, A. L., and de Castro, R. D. (2014). Safety and tolerability of essential oil from Cinnamomum zeylanicum blume leaves with action on oral candidosis and its effect on the physical properties of the acrylic resin. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2014.
- Ooi, L. S., Li, Y., Kam, S. L., Wang, H., Wong, E. Y., and Ooi, V. E. (2006). Antimicrobial activities of cinnamon oil and cinnamaldehyde from the Chinese medicinal herb Cinnamomum cassia Blume. *The American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, 34(03), 511-522.
- Paige, C., and Bishai, W. R. (2010). Penitentiary or penthouse condo: the tuberculous granuloma from the microbe's point of view. *Cellular Microbiology*, *12*(3), 301-309.
- Pavithra, P. S., Mehta, A., and Verma, R. S. (2019). Essential oils: from prevention to treatment of skin cancer. *Drug Discovery Today*, 24(2), 644-655.
- Pereira, T. S., de Sant'Anna, J. R., Silva, E. L., Pinheiro, A. L., and de Castro-Prado, M. A. A. (2014). In vitro genotoxicity of Melaleuca alternifolia essential oil in human lymphocytes. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *151*(2), 852-857.
- Périno-Issartier, S., Abert-Vian, M., and Chemat, F. (2011). Solvent free microwave-assisted extraction of antioxidants from sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides) food by-products. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *4*, 1020-1028.
- Pinto, E., Vale-Silva, L., Cavaleiro, C., and Salgueiro, L. (2009). Antifungal activity of the clove essential oil from Syzygium aromaticum on Candida, Aspergillus and dermatophyte species. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 58(11), 1454-1462.
- Postu, P. A., Sadiki, F. Z., El Idrissi, M., Cioanca, O., Trifan, A., Hancianu, M., and Hritcu, L. (2019). Pinus halepensis essential oil attenuates the toxic Alzheimer's amyloid beta (1-42)-induced memory impairment and oxidative stress in the rat hippocampus. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, *112*, 108673.
- Prashar, A., Locke, I. C., and Evans, C. S. (2004). Cytotoxicity of lavender oil and its major components to human skin cells. *Cell Proliferation*, 37(3), 221-229.
- Prashar, A., Locke, I. C., and Evans, C. S. (2004). Cytotoxicity of lavender oil and its major components to human skin cells. *Cell Proliferation*, 37(3), 221-229.
- Ramage, G., Milligan, S., Lappin, D. F., Sherry, L., Sweeney, P., Williams, C., and Culshaw, S. (2012). Antifungal, cytotoxic, and immunomodulatory properties of tea tree oil and its derivative components: potential role in management of oral candidosis in cancer patients. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *3*, 220.
- Reverchon, E. (1997). Supercritical fluid extraction and fractionation of essential oils and related products. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, *10*(1), 1-37.
- Ruzauskas, M., Bartkiene, E., Stankevicius, A., Bernatoniene, J., Zadeike, D., Lele, V., and Jakstas, V. (2020). The influence of essential oils on gut microbial profiles in pigs. *Animals*, *10*(10), 1734.
- Saharkhiz, M. J., Motamedi, M., Zomorodian, K., Pakshir, K., Miri, R., and Hemyari, K. (2012). Chemical composition, antifungal and antibiofilm activities of the essential oil of Mentha piperita L. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2012.
- Santamaria Jr, M., Petermann, K. D., Vedovello, S. A. S., Degan, V., Lucato, A., and Franzini, C. M. (2014). Antimicrobial effect of Melaleuca alternifolia dental gel in orthodontic patients. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 145(2), 198-202.
- Sell, C. (2006) Perfumery materials of natural origin. In: Sell CS (ed) The chemistry of fragrances: from perfumer to consumer, 2nd edn. R Soc Chem, UK, pp 24–45
- Serafino, A., Vallebona, P. S., Andreola, F., Zonfrillo, M., Mercuri, L., Federici, M., and Pierimarchi, P. (2008). Stimulatory effect of Eucalyptus essential oil on innate cell-mediated immune response. *BMC Immunology*, 9, 1-16.
- Sharmeen, J. B., Mahomoodally, F. M., Zengin, G., and Maggi, F. (2021). Essential oils as natural sources of fragrance compounds for cosmetics and cosmeceuticals. *Molecules*, *26*(3), 666.
- Si, W., Gong, J., Tsao, R., Zhou, T., Yu, H., Poppe, C., and Du, Z. (2006). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and structurally related synthetic food additives towards selected pathogenic and beneficial gut bacteria. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *100*(2), 296-305.
- Soliman, S. A., Hafez, E. E., Al-Kolaibe, A. M., Abdel Razik, E. S. S., Abd-Ellatif, S., Ibrahim, A. A., and Elshafie, H. S. (2022).

Biochemical Characterization, Antifungal Activity, and Relative Gene Expression of Two Mentha Essential Oils Controlling Fusarium oxysporum, the Causal Agent of Lycopersicon esculentum Root Rot. *Plants*, *11*(2), 189.

- Soto, C., Chamy, R., and Zuniga, M. E. (2007). Enzymatic hydrolysis and pressing conditions effect on borage oil extraction by cold pressing. *Food Chemistry*, *102*(3), 834-840.
- Takarada, K., Kimizuka, R., Takahashi, N., Honma, K., Okuda, K., and Kato, T. (2004). A comparison of the antibacterial efficacies of essential oils against oral pathogens. *Oral Microbiology and Immunology*, *19*(1), 61-64.
- Terzi, V., Morcia, C., Faccioli, P., Vale, G., Tacconi, G., and Malnati, M. (2007). In vitro antifungal activity of the tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia) essential oil and its major components against plant pathogens. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *44*(6), 613-618.
- Tomaniova, M., Hajšlová, J., Pavelka Jr, J., Kocourek, V., Holadova, K., and Klimova, I. (1998). Microwave-assisted solvent extraction—a new method for isolation of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons from plants. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *827*(1), 21-29.
- Trombetta, D., Castelli, F., Sarpietro, M. G., Venuti, V., Cristani, M., Daniele, C., and Bisignano, G. (2005). Mechanisms of antibacterial action of three monoterpenes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(6), 2474-2478.
- Van Doosselaere, P. (2013) Production of oils. In: Hamm W, Hamilton R, Calliauw G (eds) Edible oil processing. Wiley, UK, pp 70–97.
- Végh, A., Bencsik, T., Molnár, P., Böszörményi, A., Lemberkovics, É., Kovács, K., and Horváth, G. (2012). Composition and antipseudomonal effect of essential oils isolated from different lavender species. *Natural Product Communications*, 7(10), 1934578X1200701039
- Vian, M. A., Fernandez, X., Visinoni, F., and Chemat, F. (2008). Microwave hydrodiffusion and gravity, a new technique for extraction of essential oils. *Journal of Chromatography a*, 1190(1-2), 14-17.
- Vilkhu, K., Mawson, R., Simons, L., and Bates, D. (2008). Applications and opportunities for ultrasound assisted extraction in the food industry—A review. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 9(2), 161-169.
- Wang, L. (2008). Energy efficiency and management in food processing facilities. CRC press.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., and Rather, M. A. (2021). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *152*, 104620.
- Witkowska, D., and Sowińska, J. (2013). The effectiveness of peppermint and thyme essential oil mist in reducing bacterial contamination in broiler houses. *Poultry Science*, *92*(11), 2834-2843.
- Xi, X. C., Qiang, W., and Xiaoming, C. (2002). Lavender essential oil chemical constituents of the GC-MS analysis. *Xinjiang University*, 294-296.
- Yang, H. Y., Hong, C., and Jun, L. (2008). Lavender essential oil extraction technology research. Food Science and Technology, 8, 202-204.
- Zhao, H., Zhang, J. S., and Li, L. H. (2006). Plant essential oil extraction technology. *Liaoning University of Petroleum University of Chemical Technology*, 26(4), 137-140.
- Zizovic, I. T., Stamenic, M. D., Orlovic, A. M., and Skala, D. U. (2007). Supercritical carbon-dioxide extraction of essential oils and mathematical modelling on the micro-scale. *Chemical engineering research trends. Nova Science Publishers, New York*, 221-249.
- Zuzarte, M., Gonçalves, M. J., Cruz, M. T., Cavaleiro, C., Canhoto, J., Vaz, S. and Salgueiro, L. (2012). Lavandula luisieri essential oil as a source of antifungal drugs. *Food Chemistry*, 135(3), 1505-1510

Chapter 02

Holistic Healing: The Modern Role of Essential Oils in Therapeutic and Aromatherapy Practices

Madiha Mustafa^{1,} Rizwan Asif^{1,2}, Zaigham Wahhab¹, Imtiaz Mustafa³, Hamad Ahmad⁴, Shahla Umbreen¹, Abdul Rehman¹, Marium Ahsan⁵, Minhas Alam⁶, Fizza Riaz¹ and Riffat Yasmin⁷

¹Department of Eastern Medicine, Qarshi University, Lahore, Pakistan

²Department of Allied Health Sciences, Qarshi University, Lahore, Pakistan

³Institute of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology, the University of Lahore, Pakistan

⁴Department of Eastern Medicine, Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan

⁵Department of Eastern Medicine, Faculty of pharmacy, Superior University Lahore, Pakistan

⁶Department of Virology, Provincial Headquarter Hospital, Gilgit Baltistan, Pakistan

⁷Faculty of Rehabilitation & Allied Health Sciences, Riphah International University, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

*Corresponding author: rizwan.asif@qu.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

Essential oils in aromatherapy form a powerful synergy with the body and mind, facilitating to alleviate stress, enhance mood, and support overall health and vitality. Various essential oils had history of use in aromatherapy such as eucalyptus, lavender, nutmeg, peppermint, clove, and tea tree oils. Eucalyptus oil, sourced primarily from *E. citriodora*, is globally recognized for its economic extraction and diverse therapeutic applications, owing to its high 1,8-cineole content. Lavender oil, known for its antibacterial properties dating back to World War I, offers sedative and anti-inflammatory benefits. Nutmeg oil, extracted from *Myristica fragrans*, displays antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and hepatoprotective properties, utilized traditionally for various ailments. Peppermint oil, rich in menthol and menthone, serves multiple purposes including gastrointestinal relief and mental alertness enhancement. Clove oil, containing eugenol, demonstrates strong antimicrobial and antioxidant effects with notable anticancer properties. Tea tree oil is important for its antimicrobial prowess, addressing skin infections and respiratory issues. This chapter highlight the multiple roles of essential oils, detailing their chemical compositions, pharmacological activities, and therapeutic applications.

KEYWORDS	Received: 21-May-2024	CUENTINC ALL	A Publication of
Essential oils, Aromatherapy, Holistic healing, Alternative	Revised: 16-July-2024		Unique Scientific
medicine	Accepted: 02-August-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Mustafa M, Asif R, Wahhab Z, Mustafa I, Umbreen S, Rehman A, Ahsan M, Alam M and Riaz F, 2024. Holistic healing: the modern role of essential oils in therapeutic and aromatherapy practices. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 13-23. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.011

INTRODUCTION

Aromatherapy originates from "aroma," referring to fragrance or scent, and "therapy," indicating treatment. It is a holistic approach to healing, nurturing the mind, body, and soul through natural ways (Worwood, 2000).

For over 6,000 years, civilizations such as Egypt, China, and India have embraced aromatherapy as a prevalent complementary and alternative therapy. It has proven effective in addressing a wide range of ailments and conditions (Alok et al., 2000). Historical accounts indicate a surge in interest during the late 20th century, and its popularity continues into the 21st century. Given its significance, widespread use, and acknowledgment as an aromatic science therapy, aromatherapy holds a prominent place in modern healthcare (Klein et al., 2014; Svoboda and Deans, 1994).

Aromatherapy employs essential oils as its principal therapeutic agents, purportedly deriving from highly concentrated substances extracted from various botanical sources such as flowers, leaves, stalks, fruits, and roots, with additional distillation processes involving resins (Dunning, 2013).

Aromatherapy has been classified into many classes as depicted in (Fig. 1).

Mechanism of Action

Essential oils have become essential in various realms, including therapy, cosmetics, aromatics, fragrances, and spiritual practices (Figure 2) (Evans, 2009).

These oils, known for their enduring potency, possess specific energetic properties resembling hormones. Their ability

to penetrate tissues is crucial to their therapeutic effect. Upon inhalation, they integrate with nasal receptor cells, triggering signals to the brain, which release neurotransmitters like serotonin and endorphins. Different oils evoke distinct effects, influencing both mind and body (Kumar et al., 2000).



Essential oils are used for treatment of many diseases and common problems such as memory loss, pain management, anxiety, stress, fatigue, insomnia ,spasms and behavioural issues (Ali et al., 2015). Several important aromatic oils have been discussed below for their therapeutic potential.

Eucalyptus Oil

Eucalyptus oil is especially helpful since it can be extracted economically (industrial value) and has many desirable qualities that can be used to treat a wide range of illnesses. Eucalyptus oil is obtained from leaves of plant. (Sharma et al., 2023). **Distribution and Botanical Description**

Distribution and Botanical Description

Eucalyptus comprises more than 500 species that are widely distributed in Australia, India, southern Europe, North

Africa and South (Patel et al., 2018). The plant has a totally unique habit. Eucalyptus timber have unmarried stems and big trunks of their herbal shape. With a median top of 30 m, this tree is medium-sized to tall, even as a few writers file timber as tall as 45 m. Grey-blue, alternating, drooping, eight-22 cm lengthy, 1-2 cm wide, often curved or sickle-shaped, tapering, and short-pointed at base are the traits of the leaves (Sabo et al., 2019).

Chemical Compounds

More than 70% (v/v) of 1,8-cineole may be present in eucalyptus leaf essential oil. Other compounds are monoterpenes, macrocarpals, phenols, alkaloids, flavonoids 6,8- dimethylkaempferol-3,7-dimethyl ether, eucalyptin, 8-desmethyl-eucalyptin, oleanolic acid, terpenoid phenolaldehydes, verbenone, and tannins oil (Dhakad et al., 2018). There has been a successful report on fifty constituents of the essential oil from *E. globulus* cultivated in the Cangshan mountain region of Yunnan Province, China (Liu et al., 2009). The essential oils of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* had a more intricate composition, with fifty-four compounds accounting for 95% of the total oil found in the leaves. However, the average yield of oil recovered from various distillation techniques was a very low 0.25% (w/w). Twenty-two elements, or 95.95% of the primary components of the essential oil, have been discovered based on the chemical makeup of E. grandis oil. These constituents are distinguished by a high amount of 1,8-cineole (Sewanu, 2012).

Pharmacological Activities

Several researchers have investigated the antibacterial properties of eucalyptus essential oil. The main components of eucalyptus essential oils are toxic to a variety of microorganisms, such as bacteria, fungus and soil-borne pathogens. Eucalyptus essential oils exhibits antidiabetic, antioxidant, hepatoprotective (Noumi et al., 2022), anticancer (Abiri et al., 2022) and nerve blocker activities (Cavalu et al., 2021).

Therapeutic Uses

Eucalyptus is used by traditional healers to cure a wide range of ailments, including neuralgia, soreness, stiffness, bronchitis, pneumonia, colds, and flu (Ridouh and Hackshaw, 2022) and (Madankar et al., 2021). The wound healing activity of ethyl acetate and ethanolic extracts of *E. citriodora* in Wister albino rats validated the wound healing activity of eucalyptus. Numerous studies have shown that eucalyptus oil has analgesic, anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive properties (Owemidu et al., 2020).

Lavender Oil

Lavender essential oils are used in numerous over-the-counter alternative medicines and cosmetic items as a complementary medicine. It is collected between late June and August from flowers. Medicines prepared from the lavender have been utilized for medicinal purposes from ancient times. (Saeed et al., 2023).

Distribution and Botanical Description

There are 41 recognized species in the genus Lavandula L. (Lamiaceae), which are either native to Arabian Peninsula, Macaronesia, Northern and North-Eastern Africa, the Mediterranean basin, South-Western Asia, Central and Southern India, or were brought to Australia, New Zealand, and Eastern Europe (Kiprovski et al., 2023). Lavender is an evergreen drooping shrub with strong aromatic properties. The flower-bearing stems are tetrahedral with a protracted higher internode, and the decrease lignified branches are closely branched, rising, and bearing many younger shoots. Leaves: opposite, sessile, oblong-linear, inexperienced or gray-inexperienced from drooping, with curled margins, 2–6 cm long. False whorls of plant life are collected to shape spike-fashioned inflorescences. Corolla: pubescent, usually bluish-purple, two-lipped, approximately 1 cm long. The ultimate cup carries 4 nuts that make up the fruit.(Fakhriddinova et al., 2020)

Chemical Compounds

The majority of lavender essential oils contain camphor,1,8-cineole, thymol, borneol, linalool, ρ -cymene, α -pinene, and β -pinene as their primary ingredients (Dong et al., 2020) separated 40 compounds in lavender essential oil that were shown to be responsible for 92.03% of the compositions of the essential oils by using GC-MS. Column chromatography was used to separate the 19 monomers in this study.

Pharmacological Activities

Studies using isolated components from lavender essential oil, such as linalyl acetate and linalool, have demonstrated hypnotic, anesthetic, and antispasmodic properties. Components including camphor, terpineol, 1,8-cineole, and linalool have been shown to possess anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, and antioxidant properties (Blažeković et al., 2010). Moreover, linalyl acetate, 1,8-cineole, and linalool have antispasmodic properties. Linalool has been shown to have certain insecticidal properties, and linalyl acetate has been shown to have narcotic properties (Lechat et al., 2015).

Therapeutic Uses

Lavender oil has been shown in numerous studies to promote and enhance sleep while lowering tension and anxiety. Additionally, research indicates that lavender may be used to treat dementia. Because lavender essential oil has significant pharmacological properties as an antioxidant, antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, and anticholinesterase agent, other research recommends using it to treat a variety of health issues (Cardia et al., 2018).Lavender essential oil can potentially help with neuropathic pain since it has been shown to effectively lower pain perception when applied topically to patients suffering from carpal tunnel syndrome. Lavender essential oil has been shown to be a great substitute for liver disease treatment due to its significant anti-inflammatory properties that protect liver and kidney damage, lower inflammation, and suppress oxidative stress (Kozics et al., 2017).

Nutmeg Oil

Nutmeg is an evergreen tree with height up to 20–25 ft high belongs to family Myristicaceae. It yields seeds with red arils (mace) and brown kernels (nutmeg) used in oil is obtained from seed kernels in June to August in Pakistan.

Distribution and Botanical Description

Nutmeg is native to Indonesia, but recently cultivated across various regions including Grenada, USA, India, Mauritius, Sri Lanka, South Africa, and Pakistan. Its sweet flavor makes it a popular choice as a flavor enhancer especially in baked goods, dairy products, meats, sauces, and beverages. Additionally, nutmeg oil, valued for its fragrance, is utilized in both the flavoring and perfumery sectors (Khanam et al., 2023). The nut possesses an oval or broadly ovate shape, encased in a tough, coarse, dark-brown shell that appears glossy on the outside and smooth and light-colored within, measuring about half a line in thickness. (Nikolic et al., 2021).

Compounds

Nearly all parts of nutmeg like leaves, mace, seed, and kernel contain substantial amount of essential oils (Ashokkumar, Simal-Gandara, Murugan, Dhanya, and Pandian, 2022). Previous studies showed that nutmeg leaf oil contains compounds like sabinene (17.2%), eugenol (16.6%), and myristicin (9.1%), while mace oil (8.1% v/w) is rich in sabinene (38.4%) and α -pinene (8.2%). Factors like soil type, season, cultivars, and location influence essential oil yield in regions like India and Pakistan (Ashokkumar et al., 2022).

Pharmacological Activities

Clinical studies confirmed the antioxidant, antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antimalarial, anticonvulsant, hepatoprotective, antiparasitic, insecticidal, and nematocidal (Khanam et al., 2023) activities of nutmeg essential oil as shown in (Figure 3). It has antimicrobial activities which have been documented in research.



Fig. 3: Pharmacological activities of Nutmeg oil

Therapeutic Uses

Currently nutmeg essential oils gaining interest due to protection from food-borne bacteria and fungi. The demand in food industries is increasing due to safe, cheap and environmental friendly potential as compared to synthetic antibiotics. Spice also contains different essential oils have been reported to inhibit growth of microorganisms. Different studies reported that essential oils with a 0.5% concentration found in nutmeg sufficient to completely suppress the growth of

different bacteria like *E. faecalis* and *S. mutans* Some studies also reported that 0.2% concentration was enough to prevent the growth of *P. multocida* (Ashokkumar et al., 2022). Topical study determined the analgesics potential by inhibiting COX. The insecticidal properties were also found for the management of *M. domestica* and *C. albiceps* (Zhang et al., 2016). MFEO exhibited significant antiangiogenic property and it can be utilized as an anticancer agent as it limits the formation of new blood vessels and inhibits the growth of tumours (Kholibrina and Aswandi, 2021). Traditionally it is also used to cure several other problems like anxiety, nausea, diarrhea, cholera, stomach cramps, parasites, paralysis rheumatism and aphrodisiac (Ashokkumar et al., 2022). Nutmeg plant widely used in Pakistan to treat hypertension and hypertension associated disorders (Malik et al., 2018).

Peppermint Oil

Peppermint essential oils (PEO) of *Mentha piperita L*. and *Mentha arvensis* leaves from Labiatae family, is esteemed for its therapeutic attributes Worldwide, *Mentha arvensisis* well known as field mint, wild mint or corn mint (Balakrishnan, 2015).

Distribution and Botanical Description

Mentha is widely distributed globally in the topical, subtopical and temperate regions. *Mentha arvensis* possess leaves with curled edges. Each pair of leaves grows in opposing directions from one another. Mints display flowers in hues such as soft purple, pink, and white (Kholibrina and Aswandi, 2021). Oil is sourced from the undersides of leaves through steam distillation and is typically subjected to rectification and fractionation before being utilized. Exhibiting a colorless to pale yellow or greenish-yellow hue, this aromatic substance bears a distinct odor and taste, often followed by a pronounced sensation of cold (Sharma et al., 2013).

Active Compounds

PEO principal active compounds include menthol, menthone, menthyl acetate, limonene, cineole, and pulegone. Menthone and iso-menthone undergoing substantial synthesis as the epidermal oil glands during the rapid growth phase of young Mentha plants (Sachan et al., 2013).

Pharmacological Activities

Menthol, one of the major constituents of peppermint oil, has been extensively studied for its various biological activities. It has been shown to possess antimicrobial, antiviral, analgesic, anti-inflammatory (Mogosan et al., 2017), and antioxidant properties as depicting in (Figure 4). Menthone, another important component, has demonstrated antibacterial (Diler et al., 2021) and insecticidal activities. Cineole and limonene, two monoterpenes present in peppermint oil, have also exhibited antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory (Chao et al., 2005),and antioxidant effects.



Fig. 4: Pharmacological activities of peppermint oil

Therapeutic Effects

PEO is reported to alleviate gastrointestinal spasms and abdominal pain by functioning as a smooth muscle calcium

channel antagonist. This mechanism involves blocking calcium influx through endomysial L-type calcium channels, thereby potentially reducing the contractility of gastrointestinal smooth muscle (Smith et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2022).

PEO acts as a choleretic by reducing intrahepatic cholestasis. It can be widely used to treat wounds, skin infections, inflammation, eczema, hives, psoriasis, scabies, and insect bites, among other dermatic disorders (Štefanidesová et al., 2019). Topical PEO relieve itching sensations through the activation of A-delta fibers and k-opioid receptors, Furthermore, it has been observed to alleviate pregnancy-related pruritus (PG) resulting from hormonal changes (Amjadi et al., 2012; Elsaie et al., 2016). It enhances alertness and mental refreshment while also modulating the brain's olfactory pathway to alleviate anxiety, reduce pain and impulse, and improve sleep quality, thus contributing to its antifatigue effects. PEO exhibit bacteriostatic and bactericidal properties against a various species of microbes (Rasooli et al., 2009). PEO effectively alleviates inflammation and oxidative stress (Kim et al., 2021).

Clove Oil

Clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*) a precious herb belongs to family Myrtaceae. Clove essential oil (CEO) obtained from flower bud has long history of use in medicine and food.

Distribution and Botanical Description

Clove encompassing approximately 1200 to 1800 flowering plants species extensively found in Asia, Africa and Madagascar regions (Cock and Cheesman, 2018). *Syzygium aromaticum* is an evergreen tree that can reach heights of 8 to 12 meters, characterized by its sizable square-shaped leaves and clusters of vibrant flowers. Initially pale in color, the young flower buds gradually transition to green before turning a vibrant red when they are ripe for harvesting (Milind and Deepa, 2011).

Active Compounds

The handsome amounts of essential oils are found in the aerial parts of clove which contain chemical profile analysed by GCMS (Milind and Deepa, 2011). These chemical constituents including volatile oil (15 to 20%) comprising eugenol (70 to 85%), eugenyl acetate (10 to 15%), and beta-caryophyllene (5 to 12%), methyl amyl ketone, kaempferol and gallotannic acid (Milind and Deepa, 2011).

Pharmacological Activities

CEO exhibited various pharmacological activities (Figure 5) such as anti-oxidant (Radünz et al., 2019), antiinflammatory, anti-Alzheimer's, antiarthritic, cardiovascular, anxiolytic, analgesic, antibacterial, anti-viral, wound-healing effects, dental anesthetic and hepato-protective activity (Thuwaini et al., 2016).



Fig. 5: Pharmacological activities of clove oil

Therapeutic Effects

It demonstrated cytotoxic effects against colon cancer, oesophageal cancer, breast cancer and prostate cancer (Abd El Azim et al., 2014). It acts as antidiabetic agent by dose dependent inhibition of alpha glucoside thus block the absorption of carbohydrate in small intestine (Adefegha et al., 2014). CEO serves a dual purpose of pain relief and infection clearance for abscesses. For individuals with an earache, it is advisable to dilute clove oil with a carrier oil (avoiding water), mixture is

applied to a cotton ball, and carefully insert it into the ear canal. SAEO oil derived from the leaves is renowned for its potent antimicrobial properties. It has found application in wound dressing, the formulation of mouthwash, and the prevention of postnatal sepsis (Chah et al., 2006).

CEO has been added as a main constituent in different formulations due to its antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antifungal and antiviral properties. It is also used to treat burns, wounds and pain (Batiha et al., 2020).

Tea Tree Oil

Melaleuca Alterfolia belongs to the *Myrtaceae Family* and is commonly named Cheel Plant, an Australian native. Melaleuca (tea tree) oil has become increasingly commonly used in recent decades. Leaves of this plant are most widely used to extract tea tree oil with 100 % Natural IngredientsIt may be yellow or colorless and fragrances like camphoraceous (Borotová et al., 2022).

Distribution and Botanical Description

Australia is the country where tea tree plants are cultivated in a large hierarchy, other countries like China, South Africa, and New Zealand produce large quantities of *Melaleuca alterfolia* (*M.alternifolia*) due to increasing global demand for tea tree oil. The tea tree has a most morphological top of round 7 metres. Leaves have a linear shape, are easy and velvety, and degree among 10 and 35 mm in duration and 1 mm in width. Plant blooms in the course of the spring and early summer. Along the branches are little, 2-three mm diameter, cup-fashioned, woody fruits.(Mathematics et al., 2023)

Chemical Composition

Tea Tree oil (TTO) contains almost 100 ingredients, including major compounds Terpinen-4-ol, γ -Terpinene, 1,8cineole, α -Terpinolene, α -Terpinolene, α -pinene and P-Cymene (Kasujja, 2021).

Pharmaceutical Activities

TTO has been extensively studied for its various biological activities. It has been shown to possess antimicrobial, antiviral, analgesic, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties (Borges et al., 2019).

Tea Tree oil affects fungi cells' permeability by suppressing mycelium's conversion into germ tubes. It is used without adverse effects or irritation to treat yeast-causing dandruff. It kills the eggs that cause head lice due to the presence of a naturally occurring substance, Nerolidol. Components of tea tree oil bind within the viral lipid bilayer and increase the thickness of the membrane, causing a change in protein correlation. Its lipophilic activity enables its penetration into the skin, making it easy to treat cutaneous infections (Brun et al., 2019).

Therapeutics Uses

TTO possess anti-inflammatory properties that help to cure inflammation, swelling, and redness. It is used for treating acne problems, eczema, and psoriasis. It is a natural antiseptic that prevents infection from burns, cuts, and scrapes (Romeo et al., 2022). The topical use of tea leaves is beneficial for quick wound healing. It effectively repels insects from surfaces such as mosquitoes and ticks. TTO treats respiratory symptoms like cough, sinusitis, and mucus expulsion. It also relieves itching and skin irritation from insect bites. (Kairey et al., 2023)

Rose Oil

Rosa indica is a woody perennial plant belongs to the Rosaceae family and the genus Rosa. Oil is obtained from petals. It have 200 species and over 18,000 cultivars.(Desta et al., 2022).

Distribution and Botanical Description

The plant of rose is cultivated in many countries such as Iran, Turkey, China, South Italy, Libya, South Russia, and Ukraine etc. The traditional uses of rose oil have been found in food, cosmetics, and medicine. (Seify et al., 2018). It is a tall shrub that can reach a height of 2.5 metres. When fully developed, it produces 500–600 flowers during its yearly bloom, which occurs in May or June..(Galal et al., 2022)

Chemical Compounds

The chemical compounds of rose oil can be divided into different categories, such as phytochemicals, flavors compounds, and mineral contents. Numerous chemical components have been identified in rose flowers and leaves. Geraniol, heneicosane, citronellol, linalool, β phenylethyl alcohol, nerol, neral, geranial, eugenol, methyleugenol, nonadecene, eicosane, and tricosane are the main ingredients of the essential oil. Using gas chromatography (GC), the essential oil's quantifiable contents of citronellol, n-nonadecane, n-heneicosane, geraniol, nerol, citral, and eugenol can be determined. Certain components, such as α , β -unsaturated aldehydes, and alcohols like linalool and eugenol, are known to be abundant in the leaves, while flowers contain 2-phenylethanol. In the cosmetic and perfume sectors, floral oil appears to be more suitable. (Verma et al., 2020).

Phytochemicals

Phytochemicals analysis of Rose oil revealed a cluster of important bioactive constituents like kaempferol, Geraniols (5.5–18%), β -citronellol (14.5–47.5%) and nonadecane (10.5–40.5%) (Alom et al., 2021). The active constituents of *R. damascena* essential oil are β -damascenone, β -damascone and β -ionone obtained from degradation of carotenoid (Kant et al., 2023).

Pharmacological Activities

Rose has a wide range of medicinal uses due to diversity of several active constituents which are biologically active and responsible for medicinal properties (figure 6) (Akram et al., 2020).



Fig. 6: Pharmacological activities of Rose oil

Clinical studies have been documented in research and proved antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, anticonvulsant, hepatoprotective and anti-oxidant properties (Fig 6) of rose essential oils (Labban and Thallaj, 2020).

Therapeutic Uses

Rose oil is a nervine tonic, and it is prescribed for patients who are suffering from depressive disorders to elevating mood. Rose oil is very famous alternative herb used from thousands of years against various disorders like gastric ulcers, analgesics properties, cosmetic issues, antibacterial potential and cardiovascular diseases. Rose tea increases the digestion process by supporting the normal flora of gut. Rose oil is very effective for irregular periods and relieve from uterine congestion (Akram et al., 2020).

Conclusion

In conclusion, aromatherapy is a natural, non-invasive therapy that alleviates disease symptoms and rejuvenates the body, promoting overall well-being. It serves as both a preventive measure and a treatment for various conditions. The effectiveness of essential oils depends on the proper selection and collection of plant parts, affecting their active compounds. They can be used alone or complementary conventional medicine, provided safety and quality are considered. The growing scientific interest in complementary and alternative medicine suggests that essential oils could enhance the effects of drugs, especially for CNS diseases, offering significant patient benefits. Aromatherapy's potential, if fully explored, could provide a valuable synergy between natural remedies and modern medicine.

REFERENCES

- Abd El Azim, M., El-Mesallamy, A. M., El-Gerby, M., and Awad, A. (2014). Anti-Tumor, antioxidant and antimicrobial and the phenolic constituents of clove flower buds (Syzygium aromaticum). *Journal Microbiology Biochemistry Technology*, *10*, s8-s007.
- Abiri, R., Atabaki, N., Sanusi, R., Malik, S., Abiri, R., Safa, P., and Abdul-Hamid, H. (2022). New insights into the biological properties of eucalyptus-derived essential oil: A promising green anti-cancer drug. *38*(sup1), 598-633.
- Adefegha, S. A., Oboh, G., Adefegha, O. M., Boligon, A. A., and Athayde, M. L. (2014). Antihyperglycemic, hypolipidemic, hepatoprotective and antioxidative effects of dietary clove (Szyzgium aromaticum) bud powder in a high-fat diet/streptozotocin-induced diabetes rat model. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *94*(13), 2726-2737.
- Akram, M., Riaz, M., Munir, N., Akhter, N., Zafar, S., Jabeen, F., and Pharmacology. (2020). Chemical constituents, experimental and clinical pharmacology of Rosa damascena: a literature review. 72(2), 161-174.
- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. 5(8), 601-611.
- Alok, K., Rakesh, T., Sushil, K. and Sciences, A. P. (2000). Aromatherapy-an alternative health care through essential oils. 22(1B), 798-804.
- Alok Krishna, A. K., Rakesh Tiwari, R. T., and Sushil Kumar, S. K. (2000). Aromatherapy-an alternative health care through essential oils.
- Alom, S., Ali, F., Bezbaruah, R., and Kakoti, B. (2021). Rosa alba Linn.: a comprehensive review on plant profile, phytochemistry, traditional and pharmacological uses. *10*(4), 798-811.
- Amjadi, M. A., Mojab, F., and Kamranpour, S. B. (2012). The effect of peppermint oil on symptomatic treatment of pruritus in pregnant women. *Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research: IJPR*, *11*(4), 1073.
- Ashokkumar, K., Simal-Gandara, J., Murugan, M., Dhanya, M. K., and Pandian, A. (2022). Nutmeg (Myristica fragrans Houtt.) essential oil: A review on its composition, biological, and pharmacological activities. *Phytotherapy Research*, *36*(7), 2839-2851.
- Balakrishnan, A. (2015). Therapeutic uses of peppermint-a review. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 7(7), 474.
- Batiha, G. E.-S., Alkazmi, L. M., Wasef, L. G., Beshbishy, A. M., Nadwa, E. H., and Rashwan, E. K. (2020). Syzygium aromaticum L.(Myrtaceae): Traditional uses, bioactive chemical constituents, pharmacological and toxicological activities. *Biomolecules*, 10(2).
- Blažeković, B., Vladimir-Knežević, S., Brantner, A., and Štefan, M. B. J. M. (2010). Evaluation of antioxidant potential of Lavandula x intermedia Emeric ex Loisel.'Budrovka': A comparative study with L. angustifolia Mill. 15(9), 5971-5987.
- Borges, R. S., Ortiz, B. L. S., Pereira, A. C. M., Keita, H., and Carvalho, J. (2019). Rosmarinus officinalis essential oil: A review of its phytochemistry, anti-inflammatory activity, and mechanisms of action involved. 229, 29-45.
- Borotová, P., Galovičová, L., Vukovic, N. L., Vukic, M., Tvrdá, E., and Kačániová, M. J. P. (2022). Chemical and biological characterization of Melaleuca alternifolia essential oil. 11(4), 558.
- Brun, P., Bernabè, G., Filippini, R., and Piovan, A. (2019). In vitro antimicrobial activities of commercially available tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia) essential oils. *76*, 108-116.
- Cardia, G. F. E., Silva-Filho, S. E., Silva, E. L., Uchida, N. S., Cavalcante, H. A. O., Cassarotti, L. L., and Medicine, A. (2018). Effect of lavender (Lavandula angustifolia) essential oil on acute inflammatory response. 2018.
- Chah, K., Eze, C., Emuelosi, C., and Esimone, C. (2006). Antibacterial and wound healing properties of methanolic extracts of some Nigerian medicinal plants. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *104*(1-2), 164-167.
- Chandorkar, N., Tambe, S., Amin, P., and Madankar, C. (2021). A systematic and comprehensive review on current understanding of the pharmacological actions, molecular mechanisms, and clinical implications of the genus Eucalyptus. *1*(4), 100089.
- Chao, L. K., Hua, K.-F., Hsu, H.-Y., Cheng, S.-S., Liu, J.-Y., and Chang, S.-T. (2005). Study on the antiinflammatory activity of essential oil from leaves of Cinnamomum osmophloeum. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *53*(18), 7274-7278.
- Cock, I. E., and Cheesman, M. (2018). Plants of the genus Syzygium (Myrtaceae): A review on ethnobotany, medicinal properties and phytochemistry. *Bioactive Compounds of Medicinal Plants: Properties and Potential for Human Health*, 35-84.
- Desta, B., Tena, N., Amare, G. and Sciences, S. (2022). Response of rose (Rosa hybrida L.) plant to temperature. 7(1), 93-101.
- Dhakad, A. K., Pandey, V. V., Beg, S., Rawat, J. M., Singh, A. and Agriculture. (2018). Biological, medicinal and toxicological significance of Eucalyptus leaf essential oil: A Review, *98*(3), 833-848.
- Dong, G., Bai, X., Aimila, A., Aisa, H. A., and Maiwulanjiang, M. J. M. (2020). Study on lavender essential oil chemical compositions by GC-MS and improved pGC. 25(14), 3166.
- Dunning, T. J. O. A. M. (2013). Aromatherapy: overview, safety and quality issues. 1(1), 6.
- Elsaie, L. T., El Mohsen, A. M., Ibrahim, I. M., Mohey-Eddin, M. H., and Elsaie, M. L. (2016). Effectiveness of topical peppermint oil on symptomatic treatment of chronic pruritus. *Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology*, 333-338.
- Eraslan, E. C. J. R., Science, E. I., and Mathematics. (2023). BIOLogical Activities of Melaleuca Alternifolia, Also Known as Tea Tree. 101.

Esposito, E. R., Bystrek, M. V., and Klein, J. (2014). An elective course in aromatherapy science. 78(4), 79.

Evans, W. C. (2009). *Trease and Evans' Pharmacognosy*: Elsevier Health Sciences.

- Fakhriddinova, D. K., Rakhimova, T. R., Dusmuratova, F. M., Duschanova, G. M., Abdinazarov, S. H., and Samadov, I. (2020). The anatomical structure of vegetative organs Lavandula officinalis Chaix in the introduction of Tashkent Botanical garden. *11*(4), 578-588.
- Galal, T. M., Majrashi, A., Al-Yasi, H. M., Farahat, E. A., Eid, E. M., and Ali, E. F. J. A. (2022). Taif's rose (Rosa damascena Mill var. trigentipetala) wastes are a potential candidate for heavy metals remediation from agricultural soil. *12*(9), 1319.
- Grundmann, O., Yoon, S. L., Mason, S., and Smith, K. (2018). Gastrointestinal symptom improvement from fiber, STW 5, peppermint oil, and probiotics use—Results from an online survey. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *41*, 225-230.
- Kairey, L., Agnew, T., Bowles, E. J., Barkla, B. J., Wardle, J., and Lauche, R. (2023). Efficacy and safety of Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil for human health—A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *14*, 1116077.
- Kant, K., Gupta, S., Kaur, N., Jindal, P., and Ali, A. J (2023). Novel foliar approaches enhancing active constituents, flower yield and essential oil content in Damask rose (Rosa damascena Mill.): A Review. 46(18), 4532-4558.
- Kasujja, I. (2021). Critical evaluation of Melaleuca alternifolia: a review of the phytochemical profile, pharmacological attributes and medicinal properties in the botanical, human and global perspectives. *11*(1), 1-15.
- Kesharwani, V., Gupta, S., Kushwaha, N., Kesharwani, R., and Patel, D. (2018). A review on therapeutics application of eucalyptus oil. 6(6), 110-115.
- Khanam, M., Dar, A. H., Beg, F., Khan, S. A., Nayik, G. A., and Karabagias, I. K. (2023). Nutmeg essential oil. In *Essential Oils* (pp. 391-399): Elsevier.
- Kholibrina, C., and Aswandi, A. (2021). *The Aromatherapy Formulation of Essential Oils in Reducing Stress and Blood Pressure on Human*. Paper presented at the IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science.
- Kim, S.-Y., Han, S.-D., Kim, M., Mony, T. J., Lee, E.-S., Kim, K.-M., and Park, S. J. (2021). Mentha arvensis essential oil exerts anti-inflammatory in LPS-stimulated inflammatory responses via inhibition of ERK/NF-kB signaling pathway and antiatopic dermatitis-like effects in 2, 4-dinitrochlorobezene-induced BALB/c mice. Antioxidants, 10(12), 1941.
- Kiprovski, B., Zeremski, T., Varga, A., Čabarkapa, I., Filipović, J., Lončar, B., and Aćimović, M. J. H. (2023). Essential oil quality of lavender grown outside its native distribution range: a study from Serbia. 9(7), 816.
- Kozics, K., Srancikova, A., Sedlackova, E., Horvathova, E., Melusova, M., Melus, V., and Sramkova, M. J. N. (2017). Antioxidant potential of essential oil from Lavandula angustifolia in in vitro and ex vivo cultured liver cells. 64(4), 485-493.
- Labban, L., and Thallaj, N. (2020). The medicinal and pharmacological properties of Damascene Rose (Rosa damascena): A review. *8*, 33-37.

Lechat, C., Lesage-Meessen, L., and Favel, A. (2015). A new species of Ijuhya, I. fournieri, from French Guiana. 7(3), 101-104.

- Malik, K., Ahmad, M., Bussmann, R. W., Tariq, A., Ullah, R., Alqahtani, A. S., and Sultana, S. (2018). Ethnobotany of antihypertensive plants used in northern Pakistan. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *9*, 789.
- Metin, S., Didinen, B. I., Telci, I., and Diler, O. (2021). Essential oil of Mentha suaveolens Ehrh., composition and antibacterial activity against bacterial fish pathogens. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciencias*, 93, e20190478.
- Milind, P., and Deepa, K. (2011). Clove: a champion spice. International Journal Research Ayurveda Pharmacy, 2(1), 47-54.
- Mogosan, C., Vostinaru, O., Oprean, R., Heghes, C., Filip, L., Balica, G., and Moldovan, R. I. (2017). A comparative analysis of the chemical composition, anti-inflammatory, and antinociceptive effects of the essential oils from three species of Mentha cultivated in Romania. *Molecules*, 22(2), 263.
- Nikolic, V., Nikolic, L., Dinic, A., Gajic, I., Urosevic, M., Stanojevic, L., and Danilovic, B. (2021). Chemical composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of nutmeg (Myristica fragrans Houtt.) seed essential oil. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 24(2), 218-227.
- Noumi, V. D., Deli, M., Nguimbou, R. M., Baudelaire, E., Rup-Jacques, S., Amadou, D., and Pharmacy. (2022). Particle size effects on antioxydant and hepatoprotective potential of essential oil from eucalyptus camaldulensis leaves against carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *13*(8), 253-272.
- Olumorin Owemidu, I., Abraham Taiwo, A., Ojochebo Dangana, E., Achile Jonah, C., Nafiu Negedu, M., Ozovehe Suleiman, H., and Odoma, S. (2020). Anti-nociceptive activity of the ethanol extract of Eucalyptus globulus leaf in experimental animals.
- Radünz, M., da Trindade, M. L. M., Camargo, T. M., Radünz, A. L., Borges, C. D., Gandra, E. A., and Helbig, E. (2019). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of unencapsulated and encapsulated clove (Syzygium aromaticum, L.) essential oil. Food Chemistry, 276, 180-186.
- Rasooli, I., Shayegh, S., and Astaneh, S. D. A. (2009). The effect of Mentha spicata and Eucalyptus camaldulensis essential oils on dental biofilm. *International Journal of Dental Hygiene*, 7(3), 196-203.
- Ridouh, I., and Hackshaw, K. V. J. P. (2022). Essential Oils and Neuropathic Pain. 11(14), 1797.
- Romeo, A., Iacovelli, F., Scagnolari, C., Scordio, M., Frasca, F., Condò, R., and Divizia, M. J. M. (2022). Potential use of tea tree oil as a disinfectant agent against coronaviruses: a combined experimental and simulation study. 27(12), 3786.
- Sabo, V. A., Knezevic, P. Jand products. (2019). Antimicrobial activity of Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehn. plant extracts and essential oils: A review. 132, 413-429.
- Sachan, A. K., Das, D. R., Shuaib, M., Gangwar, S. S., and Sharma, R. (2013). An overview on menthae piperitae (peppermint oil). *International Journal Pharmacy Chemistry Biology Science*, *3*, 834-838.

- Saeed, F., Afzaal, M., Raza, M. A., Rasheed, A., Hussain, M., Nayik, G. A., and Ansari, M. J. (2023). Lavender essential oil: Nutritional, compositional, and therapeutic insights. In *Essential Oils* (pp. 85-101): Elsevier.
- Seify, Z., Yadegari, M., Pirbalouti, A. G. J. H. S., and Technology. (2018). Essential oil composition of Rosa damascena Mill. produced with different storage temperatures and durations. *36*(4), 552-559.
- Sewanu, S. O. (2012). The Chemical Composition, Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Properties of the Essential Oils of Tulbaghia Violacea Harv and Eucalyptus grandis W. Hill ex Maiden.
- Sharma, A., Gumber, K., Gohain, A., Bhatia, T., Sohal, H. S., Mutreja, V., and Bhardwaj, G. (2023). Importance of essential oils and current trends in use of essential oils (aroma therapy, agrofood, and medicinal usage). In *Essential Oils* (pp. 53-83): Elsevier.
- Soares, G. A., Bhattacharya, T., Chakrabarti, T., Tagde, P., and Cavalu, S. J. P. (2021). Exploring pharmacological mechanisms of essential oils on the central nervous system. *11*(1), 21.
- Song, A., Wang, Y., and Liu, Y. J. (2009). Study on the chemical constituents of the essential oil of the leaves of Eucalyptus globulus Labill from China. 4(4), 134-140.
- Štefanidesová, K., Špitalská, E., Csicsay, F., Friedländerová, V., Šáner, A., and Škultéty, Ľ. (2019). Evaluation of the possible use of genus Mentha derived essential oils in the prevention of SENLAT syndrome caused by Rickettsia slovaca. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 232, 55-61.
- Svoboda, K., and Deans, S. (1994). *Biological activities of essential oils from selected aromatic plants*. Paper presented at the Internat. Symposium on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants 390.
- Thuwaini, M., Abdul-Mounther, M., and Kadhem, H. (2016). Hepatoprotective Effects of the Aqueous Extract of Clove (Syzygium aromaticum) against Paracetamol Induced Hepatotoxicity and Oxidative Stress in Rats. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical and Medical Research*, *3*(8), 36-42.
- Verma, A., Srivastava, R., Sonar, P. K., and Yadav, R. (2020). Traditional, phytochemical, and biological aspects of Rosa alba L: A systematic review. 6(1), 114.
- Worwood, V. A. (2000). Aromatherapy for the healthy child: More than 300 natural, nontoxic, and fragrant essential oil blends: New World Library.
- Zhang, W. K., Tao, S.-S., Li, T.-T., Li, Y.-S., Li, X.-J., Tang, H.-B., and Wan, C.-J. (2016). Nutmeg oil alleviates chronic inflammatory pain through inhibition of COX-2 expression and substance P release in vivo. *Food and Nutrition Research*, 60(1), 30849.
- Zhao, H., Ming, T., Tang, S., Ren, S., Yang, H., Liu, M., and Xu, H. (2022). Wnt signaling in colorectal cancer: pathogenic role and therapeutic target. *Molecular Cancer*, 21(1), 144.

Chapter 03

Aromatherapy in Healthcare: Harnessing the Power of Essential Oil

Rimsha Shahid^{1*} Naila Ghafoor¹, Amara Tahir¹, Khadija Javed², Tooba Mehar¹, Ayesha Ghafoor³, Neha Anees¹ and Umm E Ummara¹

¹Department of Zoology, Wildlife and Fisheries, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

²Department of Natural Sciences, University of Chester, England

³Department of Zoology, Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: rimshashahidbwn@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Currently, the utilization of alternative and complementary therapies in conventional medicine has experienced a surge in popularity. Aromatherapy is a form of complementary therapy that uses essential oils as the primary therapeutic agent for the treatment of various ailments. Various methods are used to extract essential or volatile oils from different sections of the plant, such as flowers, barks, stems, leaves, roots, and fruits. The discovery of the antibacterial and skin permeability qualities of essential oils led to its creation. The primary techniques employed in aromatherapy to allow these oils to permeate the human skin surface and create a noticeable aura are inhalation and local application baths. After entering the body, the oils adjust themselves and perform harmoniously at the location of dysfunction or the area that is impacted. This therapy employs many combinations and variations to alleviate a wide range of disorders such as depression, indigestion, headache, sleeplessness, muscular discomfort, respiratory issues, skin conditions, swollen joints, urinary complications, and more. The efficacy of essential oils is enhanced when one takes into account other factors of life and diet. This chapter provides an overview of therapeutic, medicinal, cosmetic, psychological, olfactory, massage aromatherapy, safety, and botanical studies. The data was obtained from electronic databases such as Academic Journals, Google Scholar, Ethnobotany, library search, PubMed, Web of Science, and Science Direct.

KEYWORDS	Received: 07-May-2024	CUENTINIC AT B	A Publication of
Aromatherapy, Healthcare, Essential Oils, Medicinal oils,	Revised: 14-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Therapeutic potential	Accepted: 11-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Shahid R, Ghafoor N, Tahir A, Javed K, Mehar T, Ghafoor A, Anees N and Ummara UE, 2024. Aromatherapy in healthcare: harnessing the power of essential oil. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 24-34. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.084

INTRODUCTION

The term "aromatherapy" comes from "aroma," meaning fragrance or perfume, and "therapy," meaning treatment. An organic strategy to revitalizing mental, physical, and spiritual health is described above (Mollica et al., 2022). For a minimum of 6,000 years, India, Egypt, and China have employed this form of medicine known as complementary and alternative medicine (Lichtenthaler et al., 2006). Aromatherapy has been shown to cure several conditions. The literature study shows that this therapy was popular in the late 20th century and remains so now. Aroma science treatment is appreciated for its relevance, popularity, and widespread use (Turek and Stintzing, 2013). Essential oils are used for medicinal, cosmetic, aromatic, fragrant, and spiritual applications. The major therapeutic agents in aromatherapy are essential oils, concentrated chemicals taken from flowers, leaves, stalks, fruits, roots, and resins (Schmidt, 2010).

Saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons, terpenes alcohol, aldehydes, ketones, esters, oxides, ethers and phenols are the components that make essential oils. Terpenes are also a small component of essential oils. The aforementioned components have the potential to generate one-of-a-kind aromas (Tian et al., 2020). These compounds are clear, fragrant liquids that are distinguished by a high refractive index. These oils possess high potency and concentration, allowing them to precisely target pressure points and efficiently stimulate rejuvenation.

Aromatherapy is based on the core principles of using inhalation and applying essential oils externally to produce a state of mental and physical balance. There is substantial evidence that these oils can inhibit the growth of bacteria, viruses, and other microorganisms. Several scientific publications and traditional healers have suggested the possible application of these remedies in treating a range of illnesses, including cardiovascular disorders, Alzheimer's disease, labor pain during pregnancy and cancer (Sikkema et al., 1995). Presently, there is an increasing tendency to utilize this therapeutic method in the treatment of cancer and sleep disorders. These oils are frequently employed in phytotherapy to

rejuvenate and energize the body to combat weariness (Astani et al., 2014).

Aromatherapy has experienced substantial expansion in the realm of holistic medicine in recent years. A survey of the research on this medication reveals that many investigations into its impact on the human brain and emotional state have been conducted. Recently, the scientific community has been involved in a vigorous discussion on the influence of the mood, attentiveness, and mental stress levels of those who are in good health (Deng and Lu, 2017).

How Aromatherapy Works

Aromatherapy with essential oils has a long history of use for physical, mental, and spiritual well-being. Fragrances kill bacteria, viruses, and fungus with their volatile chemical molecules (Dewick, 2002). These compounds have been extensively studied for their antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, immune-enhancing, emotional, hormonal, glandular, circulatory, relaxing, memory, and alertness properties (Paulpandi et al., 2012). Multiple pilot projects and research studies on humans have examined their intrinsic features and their function in sickness and disorder. These oils have an energy-specific property since they continue to work with age. This therapy is unique for its oils' ability to penetrate subcutaneous tissues (Leite et al., 2007). In response to these impulses, the brain releases feel-good neurochemicals like serotonin and endorphins, which improve nerve impulse transmission to other parts of the body, bringing about the desired change and alleviation. The release of serotonin, endorphin, and noradrenalin, respectively, is what gives soothing oil, euphoric oil, and stimulating oil their respective effects on the mind and body (Lichtenthaler et al., 2006; Amorati et al., 2018).

Categorization of Aromatherapy

Aromatherapy in Cosmetics

This therapeutic modality employs specific essential oils in the formulation of cosmetic goods designed for the enhancement of the hair, face, skin and body. The aforementioned items are utilized for their diverse capabilities, including cleansing, moisturizing, desiccating, and toning. Incorporating essential oils into facial cosmetics can potentially promote the achievement of optimal skin health. Engaging in cosmetic aromatherapy through full-body or foot baths can individually enhance one's experience straightforwardly and effectively. Similarly, a small amount of suitable oil produces a revitalizing and rejuvenating sensation (Ampadu et al., 2022).

Massage Aromatherapy

Previous studies revealed that the utilization of pure vegetable oil in conjunction with almond, grape seed or jojoba oils during the massage process has been shown to yield exceptional outcomes. According to Wani et al.'s research from 2020, massage therapy is frequently referred to as healing touch.

Olfactory Aromatherapy

The practice of inhaling essential oils has resulted in the development of olfactory aromatherapy, which has been shown to increase emotional well-being, as well as tranquility, relaxation, and renewal of the internal organs of the human body. Both the reduction of tension and the activation of olfactory memories are accomplished through the combination of pleasant aromas (Astani et al., 2010). Essential oils are frequently used in conjunction with medical therapy, and they should not be considered a replacement for the treatment that is being administered.

Medical Usages of Aromatherapy

René-Maurice Gattefosse, the pioneer of contemporary aromatherapy, utilized essential oils to massage patients during surgical procedures. He did this by leveraging the expertise of medical aromatherapy regarding the impact of essential oils on enhancing and managing medical conditions that have been scientifically diagnosed (Chen et al., 2018).

Psycho-aromatherapy

The practice of using essential oils to elicit specific states of mind and feelings, such as sensations of relaxation, revitalization, or pleasant recollections, is known as psycho-aromatherapy. An infusion is administered to the patient in their room, and the oils that are used in this treatment are inhaled directly. Psycho-aromatherapy and pharmacology are two fields that concentrate on the study of scent and its effects, regardless of whether the aroma is natural or artificial made. Since its inception, the field of psycho-aromatherapy has been restricted to the study of natural essential oils (Choi. 2018).

Some Plants used in Aromatherapy

The use of a variety of plants in aromatherapy has been documented, primarily as a result of the presence of essential or volatile oils produced by these plants. As organic phytochemicals, the scent molecules demonstrate a significant level of efficiency, effectively eliminating pathogens, fungi, bacteria and viruses from the environment in which they are found (De Cássia et al., 2017). Researchers have extensively reported on the various properties of these substances, which include their ability to fight against bacteria and viruses, reduce inflammation, enhance the immune system, and regulate functions related to hormones, glands, emotions, circulation, relaxation, memory, and alertness (Feijó et al., 2014). One remarkable aspect of this therapeutic procedure is the ability of these oils to effectively penetrate the subcutaneous tissues. These chemicals have complicated and subtle effects because of their chemical properties and complex composition. Scientists experience the desired alteration and a sense of comfort when these impulses drive the brain to release neurochemicals

like serotonin and endorphins. These chemicals improve the communication between nerves and other bodily systems. Noradrenalin, Serotonin and endorphin can be released by stimulating oil, soothing oil, and euphoric oil, respectively (Pourghanbari et al. 2016). Certain effects on the brain and body are brought about by these chemicals.

Table 1: Different plants producing essential oils

Essential oils	Parts of plant
Bergamot, lemon, lime, sweet orange, tangerine, mandarin	Fruit peel
Cinnamon	Bark
Citronella, lemongrass, petitgrain, palmarosa, patchouli	Leaves
Geranium, lavender, rosemary, spike lavender	Entire plant
Ginger, vetiver	Roots
Jasmine, neroli (orange blossom), rose, ylang ylang	Flowers

Clary Sage

The Clary sage, scientifically known as *Salvia sclarea* Linn., belongs to the Lamiaceae family of plants (Fig. 1). The perennial clary sage plant's large, purple-hairy green leaves provide most of its essential oil. It differs from ordinary sage, Salvia officinalis. Its bigger leaves and late summer blue-white hue distinguish it from other varieties. Linalyl acetate, geranyl dominate, alpha-terpineol, Linalool, and germacrene D (Costa et al., 2020). Studies have shown that it regulates menstrual cycles, relieves stress and muscle cramps, and is appealing and aphrodisiac. It helps to control the production of sebum, making it excellent for both dry and oily skin. Additionally, it can be used to treat acne, wrinkles, and cellulite (Pandey et al., 2023). Recent research has demonstrated the strong effectiveness of this oil in controlling cortisol levels in women, as well as its ability to combat microorganisms (Chatzivasileiou et al., 2019).



Fig. 1: Salvia sclarea Linn. (© 2024 - Jora Dahl [Non-Commercial and Educational purpose only])

Eucalyptus

Eucalyptus globulus, a tall and long-lasting plant, belongs to the Myrtaceae family of plants. At its full maturity, it can attain a height of 250 feet (Fig. 2). The compound's composition, consisting of cineole (70%–85%), aromadendrene, phellandrene, limonene, cymene, terpinene, and pinene, is what distinguishes it (Zhang et al., 2018). The plant's oils have been used to treat neuralgia, headaches, and debility by stimulating and regulating a number of systems, including the neurological system. The immune system fortifies defenses against illnesses like chickenpox, measles, influenza, and the common cold. It also works well in the treatment of genitourinary system-related cystitis and leucorrhea. The plant's oils have been used to treat illnesses of the respiratory system, including sinusitis, asthma, bronchitis, coughs, and throat infections. Additionally, it can be used as an insect repellent and to treat a variety of skin diseases, including burns, scrapes, herpes, lice, and wounds (Cedrowski et al., 2016). The therapeutic properties of the plant's essential oils have been widely recorded in the management of rheumatoid arthritis, as well as discomfort and inflammation in muscles and joints (Feriotto et al., 2018). The efficacy of eucalyptus oil in treating various metabolic and infectious problems has been extensively established by researchers, who have documented its anti-allergic, antioxidant, anti-apoptotic, and antibacterial qualities. The findings demonstrate significant promise and have the potential to be utilized in the management of multifactorial illnesses in individuals (Butnariu and Sarac, 2018).



Fig. 2: *E. globulus* Labill. (This figure is reproduced from Ali et al. (2015) under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-commercial License [CC BY-NC]).

Geranium

Within the Geraniaceae family, geranium is sometimes referred to by its scientific name, *Pelargonium graveolens* L'Herit (Fig. 3). The perennial, hairy shrub grows up to 1m in height and is native to South Africa. Moreover, this plant has a wide range of geographic distribution and is grown in many countries, including Egypt, France, Italy, Spain, Central America, Japan, and the Congo. The essential oil produced by this plant is highly valued. Numerous chemical components, including eugenol, citronellol, geranic acid, geraniol, linalol (linalool), terpineol, citral, methone, citronellyl formate, myrtenol, and sabinene, are present in this substance's essential oil (Chami et al., 2004). Because of its exceptional properties that are unaffected by the alkaline nature of soaps, geranium oil is a highly concentrated natural scent that is frequently used in soaps and detergents. According to De Sousa et al. (2015), this oil is also used for treating throat infections, controlling blood illnesses including diabetes, relieving menopausal symptoms, and calming and nerve-strengthening qualities.

Studies have been done to investigate the efficacy of supportive therapy in the treatment of breast and uterine cancer, as well as its capacity to ease patients' distress. Furthermore, this oil is becoming more and more well-liked as a treatment choice for infections, cancer, diabetes, and microorganisms (Amorati et al., 2017).

Fig. 3: P. graveolens L' Herit.



Lemon

Lemon, scientifically known as *Citrus limon* Linn. (*C. limon*), is a member of the Rutaceae family (Figure 4). Citrus limon is a tall, arboreal shrub that can reach a maximum height of 15 feet. The plant consistently yields lemon fruits with a delightful fragrance all year round. The oil consists of a substantial quantity of terpenes, notably D-limonene and L-limonene, which collectively make up approximately 90 percent of the oil's content. In addition, Lu et al. (2013) found evidence of phellandrene, pinene, and sesquiterpene.

The remaining 10 percent of the oil consists of a valuable fraction, primarily composed of oxygenated chemicals, with a notable presence of the aldehyde citral. This component is predominantly responsible for the fragrance of the oil, comprising around 3.5%–5% of the oil's overall scent. This specific essential oil has components that include antibacterial, astringent, and detoxifying properties. These properties are advantageous for treating blemishes commonly linked to oily skin (Saranraj and Devi, 2017). Citric acid, which aids in digestion by encouraging the production of potassium, calcium Carbonates and bicarbonates, is also used to avoid acidity and ulcers. In a recent study, the effectiveness of citrus oil in reducing pain during the first stages of labor was established through a double-blind, randomized, controlled clinical experiment. It effectively manages nausea and vomiting, and also improves mood (Reichling et al., 2009).

Peppermint

Peppermint, scientifically referred to as Mentha piperita Linn. (M. piperita), belongs to the Lamiaceae family (Figure 5). Presently, a total of 600 distinct varieties of mints have been cultivated from 25 precisely delineated species. According to Do et al. (2015), M. piperita and Mentha spicata are the two most notable types. Spearmint possesses a prominent aroma that is defined by its pleasant sweetness, complemented by a noticeable hint of menthol. The primary constituents of its oil composition comprise limonene, menthol, carvacrol, carvone, menthone and methyl acetate, Menthol, the primary constituent of peppermint oil, is accountable for the pharmacological effects. Peppermint oil has a minimum concentration of 44% of menthol that is not bound to other compounds. The impact of temperature, latitude, and plant age on the sensitivity of components is apparent. The act of breathing in and topically applying menthol to the skin triggers a reaction in the skin (Vigan, 2010). The actions described encompass anti-inflammatory, antiseptic, analgesic, antibacterial, antispasmodic, anti-infectious, digestive, carminative, astringent, fungicidal effects, vasoconstrictor, nerve stimulant and decongestant properties.

Fig. 4: C. limon Linn. (© Organic Edible Garden 2024 [Non-Commercial and Educational purpose only])

2023 Fig. 5: M. piperita Linn. (© HealthJade.net. [Non-Commercial and Educational purpose only])

Roman Chamomile

Roman chamomile, or Anthemis nobilis Linn., is a member of the Asteraceae family (Figure 6). The plant, which has daisy-like blossoms on it, has been highly valued for generations for its ability to elevate, soothe, and balance emotions. Esters from tiglic acid, angelic acid, and 2-methylbutanoic acid make up the majority of the ingredients in Roman chamomile oil (Vimalanathan and Hudson, 2014). The presence of the sesquiterpenoid chamazulene imparts a blue colour to the newly extracted oil. Chamomile-infused products are widely acknowledged for their efficacy in addressing a range of human health conditions, including hay fever, inflammation, menstrual problems, muscular spasms, sleeplessness, ulcers, digestive disorders, wounds, haemorrhoids, and arthritis. The material's anxiolytic characteristics are utilised in the fields of aromatherapy and cosmetics (Reichling, 2022).

Tea Tree

The tea tree, formally referred to as Melaleuca alternifolia Cheel, is a plant classified under the Myrtaceae family. It is typically found in wet or marshy regions. It is distinguished by its yellow or purple flowers and needle-shaped leaves. The cultivation of this crop on plantations is motivated by its substantial economic worth. Terpinen-4-ol, an alcoholic terpene, is the main constituent of its oil and has a unique musty aroma. Alpha-sabine exhibits antiviral activity due to its antifungal and antibacterial characteristics. Terpinen-4-ol improves the functioning of the immune system, whereas cineole helps its ability to fight against bacteria (Allahverdiyev et al., 2004).

Ylang Ylang

The scientific name for the plant species is Cananga odorata. Hook. F. and Thoms is the name given to the little Annonaceae tree, ylang-ylang. Its natural habitats are in Madagascar, the Philippines, and Indonesia (Figure 9). There are a


lot of substances in this combination. Beta-caryophyllene, Benzyl acetate, linalol, geraniol, methyl chavicol, eugenol, pinene, farnesen and farnesol are some of these chemicals. Women who have postmenopause syndrome and low selfesteem fare better. According to Schnitzler et al. (2001), this plant greatly raised self-esteem.

Essential Oil Safety Issue

It is generally accepted that essential oils are safe to use, and there are very few instances in which they have adverse consequences. It has been determined by the Food and Drug Administration of the United States that a number of these compounds have been granted approval to be used as food additives and are categorized as being generally considered to be safe (Kong et al., 2022). When exposed to oils that contain aldehydes and phenols, the most detrimental effects include irritation and sensitization of the skin, mucous membranes, and eyes. This is especially true when the chemicals are present in oils. Documentation has also been gathered regarding the prevalence of phototoxicity in essential oils that include furocoumarins, such as those found in citrus bergamia. Contact sensitization is a process that is more likely to occur as a consequence of the oxidation of monoterpenes, which is frequently attributed to storage conditions that are not sufficient.

Pharmacological Actions of Essential Oils

A study including a vast number of essential oils looked into the possible pharmacological effects of a wide variety of essential oils. Table 2, available here, provides an overview of the most significant pharmacological effects of essential oils.

Fig. 6: Anthemis nobilis Linn. (By H. Zell - Own work, CC BY-SA 3.0)

Fig. 7: Melaleuca alternifolia Cheel. (This figure is reproduced from Neelakantan et al. (2011), which allows unrestricted use and reproduction)



Antibacterial

To determine the antibacterial efficiency of several essential oils against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, as well as the possible antifungal effects of these oils, a complete study was carried out. Previous investigations have resulted the antibacterial characteristics of these essential oils, and the outcomes have demonstrated that they are highly effective against oral infections caused by salmonella, staphylococcus and other infectious agents. Basil essential oil is a good example of this type of oil because it has been demonstrated to possess substantial antibacterial capabilities. It has the capacity to eliminate microorganisms classified as Hydrophila, Aeromonas, and Pseudomonas fluorescens. The antibacterial effects examination yielded promising results, showcasing the drug's potential efficacy against these microorganisms (Garozzo et al. 2009. The antibacterial properties of manuka oil were shown to be superior to those of rosmarinus oil, tea tree oil, and eucalyptus oil (Baschieri et al. 2017). According to research, a total of 161 oral bacteria isolates belonging to 15 different genera demonstrated sensitivity to *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree) oil, indicating that this material has the potential to be used as a healthcare agent to boost oral hygiene (Kallel et al., 2019).



Fig. 8: Cananga odorata (© molfoto under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-commercial License [CC BY-NC]).

Antifungal

The in vitro antifungal activity of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree) oil is of great importance. Many of the ingredients found in tea tree oil have been found to have a variety of antifungal effects, particularly against filamentous fungi and dermatophytes (Garozzo et al., 2011). One of the findings showed that the sprouted spores of Aspergillus niger were more susceptible to non-sprouted spores. Various plant species, such as *M. piperita*, *Brassica nigra* (black mustard), *Cymbopogon nardus*, *Angelica archangelica*, *Skimmia laureola*, *Cuminum cyminum*, and *Artemisia sieberi* have undergone testing and demonstrated positive outcomes regarding their ability to combat fungal infections. If the results are consistent with the expected results, it could be a suitable alternative to currently used antifungal drugs that are not commonly used because of their harmful effects on the body (Balusamy et al., 2018).

Anti-inflammatory

Administering tea tree oil led to a decrease in histamine reactivity in both weal and flare responses in human participants. Within ten minutes, topical use of 100% tea tree oil may successfully lessen histamine diphosphate-induced irritation. Prior studies have demonstrated that certain essential oils, when administered at noncytotoxic dosages, can effectively reduce inflammation by promoting the synthesis of interleukin-10.

Anti-tumor

The proliferation of M14 adriamicin-resistant cells and WT cells with human melanoma was observed to be inhibited by both tea tree oil and terpinene-4-ol. In melanoma cells, the observed impact was associated with apoptosis via a caspase-dependent mechanism. The efficacy of 5-fluorouracil therapy in human colon cancer cells is enhanced when the plant-based essential oil geraniol is believed to have a function. Interesting evidence has been found by polypharmacology researchers to support the potential anti-tumor effects of cardamom essential oils (Jaeger and Cuny, 2016).

Antioxidant

In lab settings, *Nigella sativa* L. seeds yield an essential oil with potent antioxidant qualities that efficiently scavenges hydroxyl radicals. The antibacterial and antioxidant properties of the plants known as Manuka (*Leptospermum scoparium*), Kanuka (*Kunzea ericoides*), and *Leptospermum petersonii* are noteworthy. By changing the parameters of superoxide dismutase and increasing the amounts of vitamin E and C, the essential oil derived from M. armillaria has shown its antioxidant ability (Haddad et al., 2019).

Table 2: Essential oils for common proble
--

Essential oils for common problems				
Condition	Essential oils			
Anxiety, agitation, stress,	Angelica archangelica rad. (angelica) (nervous), Cistus ladaniferus (labdanum) (chronic),			
challenging behaviors	Citrus aurantium var. amara (neroli bigarade), Citrus paradisi (grapefruit) (exhaustion),			
Coriandrum sativum (coriander) (including mental), Cymbopogon nardus (citronel				
	communis ram (juniper twig) Montha chicata (chearmint) (mental). Pelargonium graveelens			
	(geranium) (nervous) Pinus sylvestris (Scots nine) Rosmarinus officinalis et cineole et			
	camphor, ct verbenone (rosemary). Salvia sclarea (clary) (nervous). Zingiber officinale			
	(ginger)			
	Lavandula angustifolia (lavender), Santalum album (sandalwood), Boswellia carteri			
	(frankincense)			
	Angelica archangelica rad. (angelica) (nervous), Cistus ladaniferus (labdanum) (chronic),			
Citrus aurantium var. amara (neroli bigarade), Citrus paradisi (grapefruit) (exhausti				
Coriandrum sativum (coriander) (including mental), Cymbopogon nardus (citronella),				
End-of-life agitation communis ram. (juniper twig), Mentha spicata (spearmint) (mental), Pelargonium gravec (geranium) (nervous), Pinus sylvestris (Scots pine), Rosmarinus officinalis ct. cineole				
Fatigue	(ginger)			
-	Angelica archangelica rad. (angelica), Cananga odorata (ylang ylang), Chamaemelum nobile			
	(Roman chamomile), Citrus aurantium var. amara (nerolibigarade), Cistus ladaniferus			
	(labdanum), Citrus bergamia (bergamot), C. Limon (lemon), Citrus reticulata (mandarin),			
	Citrus sinensis (sweet orange),			
	cuminum cyminum (cumin), Juniperus communis fruct. (juniper berry), Lavandula			
	communis (myrtle) Ocimum hasilicum (hasil) (nervous) Origanum majorana (sweet			
	marioram), Ravensara aromatica (ravensara), Thymus vulgaris ct. geraniol. ct. linalool (sweet			
	thyme), Valeriana officinalis (valerian)			
Insomnia	M. piperita (peppermint), Ocimum basilicum (basil), Helichrysum angustifolium (everlasting)			
Mental exhaustion, burnout	Litsea cubeba (may chang), M. piperita (peppermint), Rosmarinus officinalis ct. cineole			
Memory loss	(rosemary)			
Pain management	Eucalyptus smithii (gully gum), Lavandula angustifolia (lavender), Matricaria recutita (German			
	chamomile), Leptospermum scoparium (manuka), Origanum majorana (sweet marjoram), Pinus mugo var numilio (dwarf nino). Pocmarinus officinalis et campber (recomment). Zingiber			
	officinale (dinger)			
	onende (ginger)			

Insect/mosquito Repellent Action

The essential oils derived from *Nepeta parnassica* have demonstrated promising outcomes in terms of repelling insects and exhibiting toxicity against Culex pipiens molestus (Kalemba and Kunicka, 2003).

Hormonal Analysis and Aromatherapy

Geranial, neral, geraniol, nerol, and trans-anethole have all been shown to increase the estrogenic response, whilst eugenol has been shown to have anti-estrogenic properties. In recombinant yeast cells, Gómez et al. (2013) showed how well geraniol, nerol, and eugenol worked together to remove [3H]17b-estradiol from estrogen receptors.

Conclusion

From the previously described findings and studies, it can be deduced that aromatherapy is a natural and noninvasive intervention that provides benefits to human beings. Utilizing fragrance not only alleviates the symptoms of illness but also rejuvenates the entire body. Aromatherapy has a vital role in enhancing physical, spiritual, and psychological well-being during the transitional phase of life. That investigation assesses the efficacy of eco-friendly, alternative, and natural medicine in treating diseases caused by microbes and metabolic processes.

These essential oils have the potential to enhance the speed at which medications take effect and their ability to be absorbed by the body.

After thorough examination, it can be concluded that these volatile oils can have a synergistic impact that augments the efficacy of pharmaceutical medications used to treat disorders of the central nervous system. If safety and quality factors are properly taken into account, essential oils can be a useful alternative to medicine or used in conjunction with traditional treatment for some medical issues. When properly researched and used, this treatment has the potential to greatly improve the health of those receiving it as well as the public.

REFERENCES

- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 5(8), 601-611.
- Allahverdiyev, A., Duran, N., Ozguven, M., and Koltas, S. (2004). Antiviral activity of the volatile oils of Melissa officinalis L. against Herpes simplex virus type-2. *Phytomedicine*, *11*, 657-661.
- Amorati, R., Baschieri, A., and Valgimigli, L. (2017). Measuring Antioxidant Activity in Bioorganic Samples by the Differential Oxygen Uptake Apparatus: Recent Advances. *Journal of Chemistry*, 63, 69358.
- Amorati, R., and Valgimigli, L. (2018). Methods to Measure the Antioxidant Activity of Phytochemicals and Plant Extracts. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 66, 3324-3329.
- Ampadu, G. A. A., Mensah, J. O., Darko, G., and Borquaye, L.S. (2022). Essential Oils from the Fruits and Leaves of Spondias mombin Linn.: Chemical Composition, Biological Activity, and Molecular Docking Study. *Evid Based Complement Alternative Medicine*, 7211015.
- Astani, A., Reichling, J., and Schnitzler, P. (2010). Comparative study on the antiviral activity of selected monoterpenes derived from essential oils. *Phytotherapy Research*, 24, 673-679.
- Astani, A., and Schnitzler, P. (2014). Antiviral activity of monoterpenes beta-pinene and limonene against herpes simplex virus in vitro. *Iranian Journal of Microbiology*, *6*, 149-155.
- Balusamy, S. R., Perumalsamy, H., Huq, M. A., and Balasubramanian, B. (2018). Anti-proliferative activity of Origanum vulgare inhibited lipogenesis and induced mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis in human stomach cancer cell lines. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, *108*, 1835-1844.
- Baschieri, A., Ajvazi, M. D., Tonfack, J. L. F., Valgimigli, L., and Amorati, R. (2017). Explaining the antioxidant activity of some common non-phenolic components of essential oils. *Food Chemistry*, 232, 656-663.
- Bassolé, I. H. N., and Juliani, H. R. (2012). Essential oils in combination and their antimicrobial properties. *Molecules*, *17*, 3989-4006.
- Butnariu, M., and Sarac, I. (2018). Essential Oils from Plants. Journal of Biotechnology and Biomedical Science, 1, 35-43.
- Cedrowski, J., Litwinienko, G., Baschieri, A., and Amorati, R. (2016). Hydroperoxyl Radicals (HOOC): Vitamin E Regeneration and H-Bond Effects on the Hydrogen Atom Transfer. *European Journal of Chemistry*, 22, 16441-16445.
- Chamaemelum Nobile, (2024). Wikipedia. Available at: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chamaemelum_nobile (Accessed: 25 June 2024).
- Chami, F., Chami, N., Bennis, S., Trouillas, J., and Remmal, A. (2004). Evaluation of carvacrol and eugenol as prophylaxis and treatment of vaginal candidiasis in an immunosuppressed rat model. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, *54*, 909-914.
- Chatzivasileiou, A.O., Ward, V., Edgar, S. M., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2019). Two-step pathway for isoprenoid synthesis. The Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116, 506-511.
- Chen, L., Deng, H., Cui, H., Fang, J., Zuo, Z., Deng, J., Li, Y., Wang, X., and Zhao, L. (2018). Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. *Oncotarget*, *9*, 7204-7218.
- Choi, H. J. (2018). Chemical Constituents of Essential Oils Possessing Anti-Influenza A/WS/33 Virus Activity. Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives, 9, 348-353.
- Costa, R. G. A., Anunciação, T. A. D., Araujo, M. S., Souza, C. A., Dias, R. B., Sales, C. B. S., Rocha, C. A. G., Soares, M. B. P., Silva, F. M. A. D., and Koolen, H. H. F. (2020). In vitro and in vivo growth inhibition of human acute promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells by Guatteria megalophylla Diels (Annonaceae) leaf essential oil. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, *122*, 109713.
- De Cássia da Silveira e Sá, R., Lima, T. C., Da Nóbrega, F. R., De Brito, A. E. M., and De Sousa, D.P. (2017). Analgesic-like Activity of Essential Oil Constituents. *An Update Intenational Journal of Molecular Science*, 18, 2392.
- De Sousa, D. P., Hocayen, P. D. A. S., Andrade, L. N., and Andreatini, R. (2015). A Systematic Review of the Anxiolytic-like Effects of Essential Oils in Animal Models. *Molecules*, 20, 18620-18660.
- Deng, Y., and Lu, S. (2017). Biosynthesis and Regulation of Phenylpropanoids in Plants. Plant Sciences, 36, 257-290.
- Dewick, P. (2002). The biosynthesis of C5-C25 terpenoid compounds. Natural Product Reports, 19, 181-222.
- Do, T. K. T., Hadji-Minaglou, F., Antoniotti, S., and Fernandez, X. (2015). Authenticity of essential oils. TRAC-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 66, 146-157.
- El Asbahani, A., Miladi, K., Badri, W., Sala, M., Addi, E. A., Casabianca, H., El Mousadik, A., Hartmann, D., Jilale, A., and Renaud, F. N. R. (2015). Essential oils: From extraction to encapsulation. *International Journal of Pharmacy*, 483, 220-

243.

- Feijó, E. V. R. S., Oliveira, R. A., and Costa, L. C. B. (2014). Light affects Varronia curassavica essential oil yield by increasing trichomes frequency. *Revista Brasileira*, 24, 516-523.
- Feriotto, G., Marchetti, N., Costa, V., Beninati, S., Tagliati, F., and Mischiati, C. (2018). Chemical Composition of Essential Oils from Thymus vulgaris, Cymbopogon citratus, and Rosmarinus officinalis, and Their Effects on the HIV-1 Tat Protein Function. Chemistry and Biodiversity, 15, e1700436.
- Flechas, M. C., Ocazionez, R. E., and Stashenko, E. E. (2018). Evaluation of in vitro antiviral activity of essential oil compounds against dengue virus. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, *10*, 55-59.
- Garozzo, A., Timpanaro, R., Bisignano, B., Furneri, P. M., Bisignano, G., and Castro, A. (2009). In vitro antiviral activity of Melaleuca alternifolia essential oil. Lett. Appl. *Microbiology*, 49, 806-808.
- Garozzo, A., Timpanaro, R., Stivala, A., Bisignano, G., and Castro, A. (2011). Activity of Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil on Influenza virus A/PR/8: Study on the mechanism of action. *Antiviral Research*, *89*, 83-88.
- Gómez, L. A., Stashenko, E., and Ocazionez, R. E. (2013). Comparative study on in vitro activities of citral, limonene and essential oils from Lippia citriodora and L. alba on yellow fever vírus. *Natural Product Communications*, *8*, 249-252.
- Haddad, J. G., Picard, M., Bénard, S., Desvignes, C., Desprès, P., Diotel, N., and El Kalamouni, C. (2019). Ayapana triplinervis Essential Oil and Its Main Component Thymohydroquinone Dimethyl Ether Inhibit Zika Virus at Doses Devoid of Toxicity in Zebrafish. *Molecules, 24*, 3447.
- Health Jade Team, (2017) Spearmint tea and essential oil benefits and side effects, Health Jade. Available at: https://healthjade.net/spearmint/ (Accessed: 25 June 2024).
- Jaeger, R., and Cuny, E. (2016). Terpenoids with Special Pharmacological Significance: A Natural Product Communication, 11, 1373-1390.
- Kalemba, D., and Kunicka, A. (2003). Antibacterial and antifungal properties of essential oils. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 10, 813-829.
- Kallel, I., Hadrich, B., Gargouri, B., Chaabane, A., Lassoued, S., Gdoura, R., Bayoudh, A., and Messaoud, E. B. (2019). Optimization of Cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum Blume) Essential Oil Extraction: Evaluation of Antioxidant and Antiproliferative Effects. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *6*, 498347.
- Kong, A. S. Y., Maran, S., Yap, P. S. X., Lim, S. H. E., Yang, S. K., Cheng, W. H., Tan, Y. H., and Lai, K. S. (2022). Anti- and Pro-Oxidant Properties of Essential Oils against Antimicrobial Resistance. *Antioxidants*, 11, 1819.
- Leite, A. C., Lopes, A. A., Massuo, J. K., Bolzani, V. D. S., and Furlan, M. (2007). Biosynthetic origin of the isoprene units in chromenes of Piper aduncum (Piperaceae). *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society, 18*, 1500-1503.
- Lichtenthaler, H., Rohmer, M., and Schwender, J. (2006). Two independent biochemical pathways for isopentenyl diphosphate and isoprenoid biosynthesis in higher plants. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *101*, 643-652.
- Limes, (2015) Organic Edible Garden. Available at: https://organicediblegarden.co.nz/2015/05/31/limes/ (Accessed: 25 June 2024).
- Mollica, F., Gelabert, I., and Amorati, R. (2022). Synergic Antioxidant Effects of the Essential Oil Component γ-Terpinene on High-Temperature Oil Oxidation. ACS Food Science and Technology, 2, 180-186.
- Pandey, V. K., Tripathi, A., Srivastava, S., Dar, A. H., Singh, R., Farooqui, A., and Pandey, S. (2023). Exploiting the bioactive properties of essential oils and their potential applications in food industry. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, *32*, 885-902.
- Paulpandi, M., Kannan, S., Thangam, R., Kaveri, K., Gunasekaran, P., and Rejeeth, C. (2012). In vitro anti-viral effect of βsantalol against influenza viral replication. *Phytomedicine*, *19*, 231-235.
- Pourghanbari, G., Nili, H., Moattari, A., Mohammadi, A., and Iraji, A. (2016). Antiviral activity of the oseltamivir and Melissa officinalis L. essential oil against avian influenza A virus (H9N2). *Virus Diseases, 27*, 170-178.
- Reichling, J. (2022). Antiviral and Virucidal Properties of Essential Oils and Isolated Compounds—A Scientific Approach. *Planta Medica, 88*, 587-603.
- Reichling, J., Schnitzler, P., Suschke, U., and Saller, R. (2009). Essential oils of aromatic plants with antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, and cytotoxic properties—An overview. *Forsch Komplementmed*, *16*, 79-90.
- Lu, M., Han, Z., Xu, Y., and Yao, L. (2013). In Vitro and In Vivo anti-tobacco mosaic virus activities of essential oils and individual compounds. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 23*, 771-778.
- Molfoto, (2024). Ylang Ylang (*Cananga odorata*). iNaturalist. Available at: https://www.inaturalist.org/photos/346163917 (Accessed on: June 25, 2024).
- Neelakantan, P., Jagannathan, N. and Nazar, N., (2011). Ethnopharmacological approach in endodontic treatment: A focused review. *International Journal of Drug Development and Research*, *3*, 68-77.
- Ruberto, G., Baratta, M. T., Deans, S. G., and Damien Dorman, H. J. (2000). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of Foeniculum vulgare and Crithmum maritimum essential oils. *Planta Medica*, *66*, 687-693.
- Salvia sclarea (clary sage). Jora Dahl. (June 10, 2024). https://joradahl.de/en/produkt/salvia-sclarea-clary-sage/
- Saranraj, P., and Devi, V. D. (2017). Essential oils and its antibacterial properties—A review. Life Sciences, 3, 994-1011.
- Sattayakhom, A., Wichit, S., and Koomhin, P. (2023). The Effects of Essential Oils on the Nervous System: A Scoping Review of Molecules, 28, 3771.
- Schmidt, E. (2010). Production of essential oils. In Handbook of Essential Oils. Science, Technology, and Applications; Bas,

er, K.H., Buchbauer, G., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2, 83-119.

- Schnitzler, P., Schön, K., and Reichling, J. (2001). Antiviral activity of Australian tea tree oil and eucalyptus oil against herpes simplex virus in cell culture. *Pharmazie*, *56*, 343-347.
- Sikkema, J., de Bont, J. A., and Poolman, B. (1995). Mechanisms of membrane toxicity of hydrocarbons. *Microbiology*, 59, 201-222.
- Tian, H., Zada, B., Singh, B. H., Wang, C., and Kim, S. W. (2020). Synthetic Biology Approaches for the Production of Isoprenoids in Escherichia coli. *In Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 311-329.
- Turek, C., and Stintzing, F. C. (2013). Stability of Essential Oils: A Review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 12, 40-53.
- Vigan, M. (2010). Essential oils: Renewal of interest and toxicity. The European Journal of Dermatology, 20, 685-692.
- Vimalanathan, S., and Hudson, J. (2014). Anti-influenza virus activity of essential oils and vapors. American Journal of Essential Oils and Natural Products, 2, 47-53.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., and Rather, M.A. (2020). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *152*, 104620.
- Zhang, X., Guo, Y., Guo, L., Jiang, H., and Ji, Q. (2018). In Vitro Evaluation of Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activities of Melaleuca alternifolia Essential Oil. *BioMed Research International*, 2, 396109

Chapter 04

The Healing Power of Aromatherapy: Essential Oils in Medical Sciences

Rabia Yaqoob¹, Anam Zohra², Muhammad Usman³, Farhana⁴, Muhammad Faheem Sajjad⁵, Syeda Umm e Farwa Kazmi⁶, Faiza Sultan⁷, Iqra Lodhi⁸, Muhammad Hamza Muneer^{9*}, and Sidra Muhyuddin^{10*}

¹Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology the Women University Multan

²Government College University Lahore, Zoology department, Faculty Chemistry and life sciences

³Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, MNS University of Agriculture Multan

⁴Government College Faisalabad, Zoology department, Faculty Life Sciences

⁵Faculty of veterinary and Animal Sciences, Muhammad Nawaz Sharif University of Agriculture Multan

⁶Department of Zoology wildlife and fisheries, Muhammad Nawaz Sharif University of Agriculture Multan

^{7, 8}Department Zoology, University of Okara

⁹Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, MNS University of Agriculture Multan

¹⁰Department of Zoology, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Muhammad Nawaz Sharif University of Agriculture Multan, Pakistan

Corresponding Authors: Hamza.muneer@mnsuam.edu.pk ; Sidramirza191@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Essential oils are known for their varied therapeutic properties and are concentrated extracts that are increasingly popular as complementary medicine. Furthermore, Egypt, China, and India which are the early civilizations utilized aromatherapy thousands of years ago, and the term itself was devised in the 20th span. The essential oils' work is observed through modern research investigation whether inhaled or applied topically and affects the nervous and immune systems by influencing mood and physiological processes. These oils are complex mixtures primarily composed of terpenes and phenolics and demonstrate antibacterial, antifungal, and antioxidant properties by addressing conditions like anxiety and pain. The increase in chronic illnesses grows their interest in further research essential to standardize quality by understanding their interactions with medications and exploring innovative delivery methods like nanotechnology. Overall, aromatherapy provides the potential to enhance human health and well-being because it emerges as a promising field blending historical wisdom with contemporary scientific exploration. The chapter showcases the wide history, diverse applications and promising future of aromatherapy through an ancient practice utilizing plant- derived essential oils for therapeutic benefits.

KEYWORDS	Received: 28-Jun-2024	SCHENTING ARE	A Publication of
Aromatherapy, Essential oils, Medicinal herbs, Complementary	Revised: 08-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
and Alternative treatment	Accepted: 17-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Yaqoob R, Zohra A, Usman M, Farhana, Sajjad MF, Kazmi SUEF, Sultan F, Lodhi I, Muneer MH and Muhyuddin S, 2024. The healing power of aromatherapy: essential oils in medical sciences. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 35-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.302</u>

INTRODUCTION

Aromatherapy is derivative of "aroma" meaning fragrance or smell, and "therapy" meaning treatment. This practice is natural healing and focuses on the mind, body, and soul (Halder et al., 2018). Early civilizations including Egypt, China, and India used aromatherapy as a complementary and alternative treatment for over 6,000 years. Nowadays, it is modified for treating various conditions and achieved significant popularity in the late 20th century. In the 21st century, meaning recognition is an aroma science therapy. Aromatherapy contains essential oils as its central are extremely focused constituents extracted from plant parts like flowers, leaves, stalks, fruits, and roots (Pan et al., 2014). They incorporate a mix of saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons, alcohols, aldehydes, esters, ethers, ketones, oxides, phenols, and terpenes that offer distinctive odors. Essential oils contain no color, pleasant-smelling liquids with high refractive indicate valued for their various uses like therapeutic, cosmetic, aromatic, and fragrant (Malabadi et al., 2021). Essential oils are applied to pressure points for rejuvenation due to their potency. Furthermore, various plant structures store these oils like pockets, reservoirs, glandular hairs, specialized cells, or intercellular spaces. These essences protect plants through evaporation from bacterial attacks and temperature fluctuations (Bayantassova et al., 2022). These are administered through inhalation, massage, or simple skin application. The primary use of aromatherapy is to restore mental and physical balance, relieve stress, and

rejuvenate individuals (Hedaoo and Chandurkar, 2019). A sense of well-being of the body is promoted due to the organic nature of aromatherapy and its combined effects. Many studies demonstrated that inhalation of herb essential oil is significantly used in phytotherapy to combat exhaustion and enhance the mice's locomotor activity. Recently, aromatherapy has had essential growth in holistic medicine. Many studies on the emotions and brains of humans explore its effects (Sivaphongthongchai, 2021).

Aromatherapy is mostly used other than human-made and typically contains triggers such as solvents and power sources that can irritate. A debate on the topic always remained that synthetic fragrances lack the natural vitality of essential oils among odor psychologists and biochemists. Essential oils have been important for centuries due to their fragrance (Franco et al., 2017). These potent organic plant chemicals aid in eliminating disease-causing bacteria, viruses, and fungi and purify the environment. Furthermore, their properties like antibacterial, antiviral, and anti-inflammatory effects as well as boosting the immune system and benefiting hormonal, glandular, emotional, and circulatory functions. Moreover, many scientists documented that these also enhance memory and alertness. In addition, their effects on diseases and disorders on humans have been explored by conducting many projects and studies. These oils also maintain their potency over time and age enabling them unique their stimulating properties are due to their structural resemblance to actual hormones, and their ability to penetrate subcutaneous tissues is a key feature of therapy (Ali et al., 2015).

Aromatherapy is gaining importance as a growing complementary therapy globally. The National Institutes of Health National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health suggested that the United States spend over \$30.2 billion annually on this therapy and estimated that the global market is projected to reach \$5 trillion by 2050 (Farrar, 2020). Integrative medicine is another term used for aromatherapy and is particularly important for frontline nurses to understand the complex and subtle effects of alternative and integrative therapy. Furthermore, nursing healthcare aromatherapy forces into the group of mind-body therapy. Essential oils play a role in complementing therapeutic interventions and reducing anxiety in nursing health care. In contrast, assessing anxiety levels before and after interventions can help to measure the application effects of plant-based essential oils (Bunse et al., 2022).

Worldwide Historical Evolution of Aromatherapy

For thousands of years, aromatherapy has been practiced in various fields. Hippocrates who promoted aromatherapy usage, believed that aromatic baths and scented massages were essential for good health and he was known as the father of medicine (Agnihotry et al., 2024). However, in the current era, there's a growing inclination towards consuming food items as perceived as natural and minimally processed. These qualities can affect the food choice of food consumers due to their association with health. Subsequently, the World Health Organization examined approximately 600 million cases of foodborne illnesses and 420,000 related deaths occur globally each year in the 2015 report (Lee and Yoon, 2021). Moreover, food spoilage is a metabolic process that alters sensory characteristics and renders food undesirable or unacceptable for consumption despite being potentially safe. Fruits and vegetables globally post harvesting can reach losses of more than 30 to 40% which can emphasize the need to reduce such losses to ensure food security for all (Alegbeleye et al., 2022).

In modern times, the prompting efforts to secure and safeguard food through food safety is a paramount concern thereby ensuring the availability of fresh and healthy produce. Food preservatives are used by food manufacturers to extend shelf life, without concerns about the health implications of consuming food additives like synthetic preservatives. Plant extraction is used to isolate specific plant components and is gaining attention for its potential as a source of natural antimicrobials (Rudra et al., 2020). Furthermore, the basic utilization purpose of essential oils in medical science across different cultures for millennia is that are highly concentrated hydrophobic liquids containing volatile compounds from plants. The essential oils are obtained from fruit peels by various extraction methods like steam distillation and hydro distillation that can exhibit antibacterial and antiviral properties and can be explored as potential alternatives to chemical preservatives for food preservation (Bhavaniramya et al., 2019).

Historical Background

In the late 20th century, the exploration of aromochology originated and was spearheaded by Japanese scientist Shizuo Torii who delved into the relationship between aroma and emotions. The research of Torri suggested the relaxation-enhancing properties of lavender and chamomile fragrances. The Institute secured the term "aromachology" in 1982 by the sense. Aromas contain a unique ability through our physical, mental, and emotional well-being are influenced by a practice dating back over 3500 years to ancient Egyptian rituals (Thangaleela et al., 2022). In our modern lifestyles, a quest for improved holistic health was reflected through the resurgence of aroma usage. Aromachology determines the internal connection between aroma and psychology and the study of how scents affect the brain. Moreover, it determines the induced subtle neurological and behavioral shifts (Bercik et al., 2021).

Aromatherapy is an ancient concept practiced by civilizations such as the Chinese, Egyptians, and Romans that gained recognition in the 1920s through incense, baths, and embalming when French chemist Rene-Maurice Gattefosse coined the term (Sowndhararajan et al., 2016). The secondary metabolites of aromatic plants are the essential oils that comprise complex mixtures of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and plants store these oils in various structures including in reservoirs, glandular hairs, and special cells that protect against pathogens and environmental fluctuations. A range of EOs encompasses chemical groups extracted from different plant parts through methods, steam distillation, solvent extraction,

and advanced techniques (Machado et al., 2022). The therapeutic effects enable them for extensive investigation that serve as additives in the food industry and air quality enhancers. Phytoncides are volatile organic substances derived from plants that contain antimicrobial properties used to enhance immune functions. The oldest forms of natural herbal remedies are represented as Oils with roots tracing back to ancient civilizations (Franco et al., 2017).

History explores that various medicinal substances derived from herbs, animals, and minerals have been employed to address ailments. Although, the traditional medical systems predominantly emphasized medicinal herb usage. These remedies were typically administered individually or in combinations like pills, powders, or extracts (Tiwari et al., 2018). The pharmaceutical applications of medicinal oils are extensively detailed by the historical Persian medical texts prepared from various herbs for therapeutic purposes either topically or systemically. These formulations are known as "Dohn" or "Adhaan" and are meticulously described in pharmaceutical manuscripts like the "Qarabadin," which play the role of repositories of drug compounds, formulas, and indications (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2017).

Other than their historical significance medicinal oils are often overlooked in contemporary medical research. However, their use for medicinal purposes going back to traditional Chinese and Egyptian medicine with massage therapy using herbal oils remaining prevalent in several East Asian countries. Additionally, aromatherapy help to improve immunological and physiological conditions through the usage of volatile oils (Thangaleela et al., 2022).

Mechanism of Action of Essential Oils in Aromatherapy

The method by which essential oils work comprises of their interactions with the receptor cells in the nose when they are inhaled, triggering biological signals. The olfactory bulb plays a role in transmitting these signals to the limbic system and hypothalamus. The neurotransmitters like serotonin and endorphins are released through this process by triggering the brain by linking the nervous system with other body systems to induce a desired change and provide relief. The response to calming, euphoric, and stimulating oils and others respectively can release Serotonin, endorphins, and noradrenaline to achieve specific effects on the mind and body. Moreover, several beneficial outcomes like increased neurogenesis, regulation of hormonal levels, selective stimulation of certain brain regions, and changes in blood biochemistry that affect mood and emotions are the products of essential oils (Fung et al., 2021).

These outcomes are coming due to the inhaling of volatile elements in these oils and when these are inhaled, act through two main pathways, known as olfactory stimulation and respiratory stimulation. The olfactory nerve activation predominantly works in the inhalation aromatherapy via olfactory by extending from the nose to the brain. Their structural similarity to physiological neurotransmitters and hormones can cause the therapeutic effects and similarity enables them to stimulate olfactory chemoreceptors in the nasal passage by activating olfactory signaling. However, these signaling ends in the higher cerebral cortex where olfactory sensory neurons convey electrical impulses to the brain's limbic and hypothalamic regions via the olfactory bulb and upper olfactory cortex (Sattayakhom et al., 2023).

The olfactory signaling entirely bypass through some highly volatile molecules that directly entering the brain and regulate neuronal pathways upon inhalation. These pathways have a surge result of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators that produce a sense of calmness and alleviate anxiety and depression symptoms. Beyond olfactory stimulation, the essential oils alter the brain function through alveolar absorption and this process allows essential oil molecules to enter the blood circulation and interact with specific brain regions. In the respiratory system, the gaseous exchange controls the diffusion of essential oils to enter the systemic circulation and the brain. Lipophilic essential oil molecules activate specific central nervous system regions and can cross the BBB. These also inducing positive psychological and physiological effects that help alleviate mood disorders that is explained in figure.1.



Fig. 1: Mechanism of action of essential oils (Nguyen et al., 2023)

The integumentary system is influenced by the topical application of essential oils. The rapid release of endorphins and certain pain modulators due to the topical use of Essential oils can cause analgesic effects and a sense of well-being. The skin penetration by dissolving in the skin's cell membrane lipid constituent are involved in the topical use of essential oils. The chemical composition of essential oils influenced the depth of oil penetration into the skin. For example, on the upper epidermis are limited oils such as jojoba, avocado, soybean and the oxygenated terpenes can penetrate deeper layers (de Andrade et al., 2022). Some essential oils serve as penetration enhancers in internally and topically by enhancing drug partitioning, disintegrating highly ordered intercellular lipid structures, and inducing conformational changes in intercellular protein domains (Herman and Herman, 2015).

The delivery to the brain of essential oils from different routes is determined by the molecular size of these molecules. Moreover, the smaller formulations can increase the inhalation rate and delivery success. However, the proper brain penetration may also hinder by the non-uniform size of these molecules. The absorption of essential oils by utilizing the encapsulated nanoparticles in the nanotechnology presenting a promising therapeutic future (Rai et al., 2017). The impact of essential oils on the central nervous system also induced the emotional response changes and some molecules can pass through sensory neuron cells or the olfactory mucosa. The respiratory system play role in exchange of gases and to allow the essential oils to diffuse into the bloodstream and circulate in whole the body. The given medium is used for therapeutic interventions in respiratory diseases and mood disorders and to utilize olfactory interventions (Horvath and Acs, 2015). The essential oils can affect the brain by three major mechanisms, the first involves activating nasal olfactory chemoreceptors and the related impact of olfactory signals on the brain with the olfactory system directly linked to the brain's limbic regions by affecting mood. Moreover, the second mechanism involves in which the olfactory nerve influences the cellular and molecular events due to the penetration of essential oils. The third mechanism involves in essential oils absorption into the blood circulation crossing the BBB to interact with brain regions (Cui et al., 2022).

The volatile mixture of compounds is present in the majority of aromatic plants that can be extracted to form essential oils and these plants typically produce various secondary metabolites such as terpenoids, alcohols like geraniol and menthol, acids such as benzoic and cinnamic acids, aldehydes are citral and benzaldehyde, ketones are thymol and eugenol, and phenols are ascaridole and anethole. The composition of essential oils is significantly influenced by Terpenes, terpenoids, and aromatic (Koul et al., 2008). The mevalonic acid and shikimic acid pathways play a role in synthesizing the Terpenoids and aromatic polyterpenoids. Terpenoids are a vast category of secondary compounds found in aromatic and medicinal plants which play a crucial role in providing resistance against pathogens. Furthermore, monoterpenoids contain antimicrobial properties that disrupt the growth and development of microorganisms and interfere with their physiological and biochemical processes. Several botanical constituents are azadirachtin, carvone, menthol, ascaridol, methyl eugenol, toosendanin, and volkensin which have demonstrated potential in combating bacterial, fungal pathogens and insect pests (Pandey et al., 2017).

Chemical Composition and Properties of Essential Oils

As discussed above Essential oils give the complex combination of volatile compounds that are plant derivatives and primarily composed of terpenoids and phenolic compounds. The specialized cells can synthesize these aromatic constituent types found throughout various plants such as leaves, flowers, and roots, and may depend on the plant species. Furthermore, these parts like glandular trichomes, adduct cavities, and osmophores can offer sites for the biosynthesis and accumulation of these compounds. Plants contain the ability to extract to produce these aromatic compounds which are obtain essential oils, and are referred to as aromatic plants. Aromatic plants are distributed widely across the plant kingdom but are not restricted to a particular group. Moreover, it's noticed that the composition of essential oils differs from one plant taxonomic group to another (Fokou et al., 2020). Additionally, essential oils' chemical composition can vary due to factors such as abiotic and biotic effects, postharvest treatments, extraction methods, and storage conditions within the same species. The synthesis of secondary metabolites in plants affected by Abiotic factors contains all nonliving components and the factors are soil characteristics like hydrology, pH, and salinity, as well as overall climatic conditions with particular emphasis on the microclimate surrounding the plant (Duarte et al., 2017).

On the other side, the biotic factors involve living organisms that influence plant metabolite production and this segment contains the soil organisms, microorganisms, and inherent plant characteristics. The secondary metabolites of essential oils play many roles like defending against plant invaders, interacting with symbiotic organisms, and attracting pollinating insects, among others. Postharvest treatments are conducted between the plant collection and essential oil extraction. However, the drying plant materials before extraction has been observed to significantly increase extraction yields and it may also trigger biochemical reactions among secondary metabolites by leading to changes in the chemical composition of the resulting essential oil compared to its original state in the plant (Taghavi et al., 2018).

Conservation method can encompass the processes from extraction to chemical analysis and can influence the nature of essential oils. Essential oils are achieving importance due to their diverse biological properties that are impacting humans, animals, plants, insects, and microorganisms. In human applications the essential oils find use in nutrition as preservatives or flavorings and in cosmetics as fragrances, and in pharmacology as active ingredients. Their pharmacological properties influenced the both transmissible and non-transmissible diseases (Roca-Saavedra et al., 2018).

Therapeutic Properties

The World Oral Health Report suggested that although oral health has improved significantly in many countries the challenges persist especially among disadvantaged populations in developed and developing nations. The major global oral health concerns were identified as periodontal and dental caries diseases which also have adverse effects on overall health, quality of life, and work capacity (Anushri et al., 2019). However, the antibacterial agents used to treat oral health issues with various side effects like diarrhea and vomiting and there is growing concern over bacterial resistance to these drugs. Moreover, the mentioned adverse effects are increasing resistance and high costs of standard therapeutic approaches and the need to explore alternative therapeutic agents and further investigate traditional medicines derived from various plant sources (Aware et al., 2022).

	Table	1:	Historical	evolution	of	essential	oils
--	-------	----	------------	-----------	----	-----------	------

Country	Cultural therapy of essential oils	References	
Egyptian	Resins, Balms and fragrant oils	(Agnihotry	et al.,
culture	Papyrus Ebers wrote a famous manuscript about Aromatic Medicines around 2800 BC and	2024)	
	proved essential oils therapeutic properties.		
France	Shirley price authored Aromatherapy for Health care professionals, known for clinical use of	(Cartwright	and
	essential oils for surgery and spa treatment.	Armstrong,	2020)
German	In 1919, Gattefossé, a famous chemist, was burned in an explosion in his laboratory. The		
	wounds became infected. Wound rinsing with essential oils eradicated the infection. He coined	(Scuteri e	t al.,
	the term, aromatherapy, and was known for the medical use of essential oils with their	2022)	
	antibacterial and healing properties of essential oils. Jean Valnet, an army physician, wrote the		
	first aromatherapy book by a doctor.		

Table 2: Nursing theoretic frameworks for health care	aromatherapy	
--	--------------	--

Theorist Name	Application to Clinical Practice	References
1. Florence Nightingale	Cleanliness, rest, and relaxation properties	(Ahmad et al., 2020)
Environmental		
2. Myra Estrin Levine	Transformation process preventing stress	(Thakral et al., 2019)
Holistic		
3. Hildegard Peplau	Supports interpersonal relations; promotes	(Zhang and Shuai, 2021)
Interpersonal relations	personal growth	
4. Martha Rogers	Interrelationship between people and	
Unitary human beings and their environment are	plants	(Harris, 2021)
one		
5. Sister Callista Roy	Assist coping and adaptation	(Gavrilescu, 2023)
Adaptation		
6. Wanda de Aguilar Horta	Restore balance, thereby decreasing	(Choudaj and Wankhade,
Basic human needs	depression and stress	2023)

Many traditional remedies are analyzed for infections by conducting clinical trials to assess their efficacy and potential side effects. Among all these natural remedies, essential oils (EOs) have been a surge of interest for many years (Aljaafari et al., 2021). Approximately 3000 EOs are currently known and have been used since ancient times to treat a range of medical and dental issues. These secondary metabolites possess antibacterial, antifungal, and antioxidant properties. The systematic literature purpose is to analyze various Eos therapeutic properties (Freires et al., 2015).

Clinical Applications

In the past, there has been a growing demand for phytotherapy with alternative medicine. Phytotherapy is a practice shown by both healthcare professionals and practitioners of traditional medicine that refers to using herbs and herbal preparations (like infusions, decoctions, and tinctures) along with phytochemicals for medicinal purposes. The scientific importance of phytotherapy evaluated through extensive clinical and experimental studies has validated the effectiveness of herbal remedies (Khan and Ahmad, 2019).

Phytotherapy contains many subsets and one of them is aromatherapy. The bindings essential oils produced by plants are secondary metabolites that work as a defense mechanism against challenges including diseases with environmental conditions such as high temperatures and droughts. Humans are using essential oils due to their advantageous biological properties in various aspects like medicine, cosmetics, and the food industry other than their botanical origin. These are also used due to their primary impact on mental and physical well-being (Lawn et al., 2020)

Inhalation aromatherapy is the most prevalent method associated with aromatherapy and offers a fast, convenient, and safe means of administering essential oils. This approach contains various methods including vapor balms, nasal inhalers, lamp diffusion, room sprays, and direct inhalation through tissues or cotton balls infused with essential oils. Despite this, aromatherapy does not cure major illnesses and promotes relaxation, stress relief, mood enhancement,

balance, well-being, and minor discomfort relief, and boosts the immune, respiratory, and circulatory systems. However, their common applications are stress management, pain relief, mood enhancement, and relaxation. Moreover, aromatherapy differs from herbal medicine in practice. The essential oils are commonly used by researchers like botanists and they prefer whole plant applications for human benefits. Traditionally, aromatherapy is used for holistic mental health and the care of mind and body (Vora et al., 2024)

Essential Oils for Public Health Therapy

In developed countries, an increase in diseases occurrence by modern lifestyles that are largely attributed to poor dietary habits and inadequate physical activity. Since 2014, the USA witnessed a decline in life expectancy through prevalent measures such as hypertension, heart diseases, diabetes mellitus chronic liver diseases, and obesity (Raleigh, 2019). These increases in the disorders related to lifestyle have propelled a growing preference for natural remedies among consumers and patients and are driven by perceived lower side effects compared to synthetic alternatives. Notably, these were used historically in the middle Ages due to their diverse biological activities and are comprised of volatile mixtures primary terpenes, and aromatic structures and such oils are synthesized in different ways from plants. Moreover, Eos are extracted through steam distillation or cold pressing and were originally produced by plants for protective benefits. Well-known effects include antimicrobial, antiseptic, analgesic, anti-inflammatory, spasmolytic, and sedative impact through which EOs have garnered increasing global interest in herbal medicine (Elshafie et al., 2017).

In developing nations, almost 80% of individuals rely on traditional herbal medicine and there is a rising trend in industrialized countries as well. Many prominent health concerns like depression, obesity, diabetes, and allergic disorders are addressed by EOs reflecting their therapeutic potential against a spectrum of modern public health issues. The increasing prevalence of lifestyle illnesses underscores the Immediacy for effective therapeutic interventions. More than 264 million individuals were affected by depression globally in 2017, which poses a significant burden on public health systems (Moitra et al., 2022). Similarly, obesity affected 600 million individuals in 2015 and contributes to various secondary illnesses such as diabetes and cardiovascular diseases. Furthermore, about 20% population is affected by allergies of the global population which presents additional challenges (Yeshi and Wangchuk, 2022).

Future Directions and Research

In the past, a remarkable interest was experienced in essential oils research that provided crucial results for new inventions and advancements the resurgence of interest in aromatherapy has been increased over the past few decades and can make it one of the most commonly used complementary medicines. The increase in cultivation of aromatic plants has been noted by the International Federation of Essential Oils and Aroma Trades (IFEAT) with lavender emerging as the most widely purchased raw material for essential oil (EO) extraction. EO are complex mixtures of volatile chemical components and are obtained by many extraction techniques including distillation or cold pressure that avoids the use of chemical solvents. In the early 1900s, the French chemist Gattefosse discovered the accidental discovery of lavenders by calming effects. Lavender aromatherapy has gained popularity as an alternative or complementary use from antiemetic to pain relief and more recently sedative and cognitive effects (Makeri and Salihu, 2023).

The physician Jean Valnet was inspired by the Gattefosse works and enabled to pioneer of plant-based medicine. In contrast, he initially used lavender EO to soothe the wounds of veterans in Indochina in 1948 and later to manage agitation in psychiatric patients (El-Sagheer, 2020). Recently, the globally, ethnopharmacological studies are highlighted lavender EO's efficacy in treating stress, anxiety, and depression globally. The lavender's anxiolytic effects through linked to cognitive enhancement from a cognitive perspective which is observed with certain anesthetic drugs. Many illnesses are treated and managed by aromatherapy efficacy and often when pharmacological interventions fall short. Furthermore, the discovery of the antiseptic and skin-penetrating properties of essential oils are followed by their inception that are highly concentrated plant extracted from leaves, fruit peels, and flowers. Essential oils contain therapeutic properties when inhaled or applied to the skin and are broadly classified based on aroma families such as citrus, herbaceous, floral, minty, camphoraceous, spicy, musky, and woody (Jaruzel et al., 2019).

In the available literature definition of precise mode of action is very poor. Therefore, a systematic review is needed to evaluate whether different lavender EO compositions, a systematic review is needed that can be explored to affect core cognitive functions and to consider EO phytochemical parameters and administration methods (Zhong et al., 2019).

Conclusion

In conclusion, aromatherapy is a general practice that marks the mind, body, and soul through the use of essential oils. This practice has its earliest roots in civilizations like Egypt, China, and India. In the current era, aromatherapy has evolved and is gaining significant popularity. Furthermore, is recognized as a scientific therapy involving the use of highly concentrated essential oils extracted from different plant parts. Essential oils contain distinctive odors and therapeutic properties and are applied through methods including inhalation, massage, or direct skin application to restore mental and physical balance, relieve stress, and rejuvenate individuals. Moreover, essential oils encompass biological effects like antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, and immune-boosting properties. In contrast, inhalation aromatherapy is a fast and safe method of administering essential oils to promote relaxation, stress relief, mood enhancement, and minor discomfort relief. In the mechanism of action, the essential oils affect the brain and body through olfactory and respiratory

stimulation and skin absorption. The signals are transmitted to the brain through the olfactory system and can influence neurotransmitter release and induce calming or stimulating effects. As an increasingly complementary therapy, aromatherapy is achieving importance globally furthermore, the continuous research and experimental activities underscore that use of essential oils offers numerous health benefits through making it a valuable complementary therapy in contemporary healthcare.

REFERENCES

- Agnihotry, S., Chopra, D., Singh, J., Negi, S., Srivastav, A. K., Upadhyay, J., and Sharma, G. (2024). Aromatherapy Evolution and Blending Basics of Essential Oils. *Aromatherapy: The Science of Essential Oils*, 1.
- Alegbeleye, O., Odeyemi, O. A., Strateva, M., and Stratev, D. (2022). Microbial spoilage of vegetables, fruits and cereals. *Applied Food Research*, 2(1), 100122
- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 5(8), 601-611
- Aljaafari, M. N., AlAli, A. O., Baqais, L., Alqubaisy, M., AlAli, M., Molouki, A., and Lim, S. H. E. (2021). An overview of the potential therapeutic applications of essential oils. *Molecules*, 26(3), 628.
- Anushri, M., Yashoda, R., and Puranik, M. P. (2015). Herbs: A good alternatives to current treatments for oral health problems. *Dermatitis*, 7, 9-12.
- Bayantassova, S. M., Nurgaliyev, B. E., Muhanbetkalieva, G. S., and Dzhumagulova, S. K. (2022). Veterinary-sanitary inspection of poultry, fish, beekeeping and plant products
- Bercik, J., Neomániová, K., Gálová, J., Mravcová, A., Sendra, E., López-Lluch, D., and Madzík, P. (2021). The use of aromatization and smart solutions in selected economic sectors.
- Bhavaniramya, S., Vishnupriya, S., Al-Aboody, M. S., Vijayakumar, R., and Baskaran, D. (2019). Role of essential oils in food safety: Antimicrobial and antioxidant applications. *Grain and Oil Science and Technology*, 2(2), 49-55.
- Bunse, M., Daniels, R., Gründemann, C., Heilmann, J., Kammerer, D. R., Keusgen, M., and Wink, M. (2022). Essential oils as multicomponent mixtures and their potential for human health and well-being. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13, 956541
- Cui, J., Li, M., Wei, Y., Li, H., He, X., Yang, Q., and Qin, D. (2022). Inhalation aromatherapy via brain-targeted nasal delivery: Natural volatiles or essential oils on mood disorders. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *13*, 860043
- Dagli, N., Dagli, R., Mahmoud, R. S., and Baroudi, K. (2015). Essential oils, their therapeutic properties, and implication in dentistry: A review. *Journal of International Society of Preventive and Community Dentistry*, 5(5), 335-340.
- de Andrade, M. F., Silva, M. G., de Lima Silva, I. D., Caetano, V. F., de Moraes Filho, L. E. P. T., Vinhas, G. M., and de Almeida, Y. M. B. (2022). Pepper-rosmarin essential oil (Lippia sidoides Cham.) as an antioxidant additive for PBAT–poly (butylene adipate co-terephthalate) films and its application for active packaging. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *57*(9), 5966-5972.
- Duarte, M. C. T., Duarte, R. M. T., Rodrigues, R. A. F., and Rodrigues, M. V. N. (2017). Essential oils and their characteristics. *Essential Oils in Food Processing: Chemistry, Safety and Applications*, 1-19
- Elshafie, H. S., and Camele, I. (2017). An overview of the biological effects of some mediterranean essential oils on human health. *BioMed Research International*, 2017(1), 9268468
- Farrar, A. J., and Farrar, F. C. (2020). Clinical aromatherapy. Nursing Clinics, 55(4), 489-504.
- Fokou, J. B. H., Dongmo, P. M. J., and Boyom, F. F. (2020). Essential oil's chemical composition and pharmacological properties. In *Essential Oils-oils of Nature*. IntechOpen
- Franco, L. S., Shanahan, D. F., and Fuller, R. A. (2017). A review of the benefits of nature experiences: More than meets the eye. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(8), 864
- Franco, L. S., Shanahan, D. F., and Fuller, R. A. (2017). A review of the benefits of nature experiences: More than meets the eye. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(8), 864.
- Freires, I. A., Denny, C., Benso, B., Alencar, S. M. D., and Rosalen, P. L. (2015). Antibacterial activity of essential oils and their isolated constituents against cariogenic bacteria: a systematic review. *Molecules*, *20*(4), 7329-7358.
- Fung, T. K., Lau, B. W., Ngai, S. P., and Tsang, H. W. (2021). Therapeutic effect and mechanisms of essential oils in mood disorders: Interaction between the nervous and respiratory systems. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(9), 4844.
- Halder, D., Barik, B. B., Dasgupta, R. K., and Saumendu, D. (2018). Aroma therapy: An art of healing. *Indian Research Journal of Pharmacy and Science*, *17*, 1540-58.
- Hedaoo, S. A., and Chandurkar, P. A. (2019). A review on aromatherapy. World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 8(7), 635-651.
- Herman, A., and Herman, A. P. (2015). Essential oils and their constituents as skin penetration enhancer for transdermal drug delivery: a review. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 67(4), 473-485
- Horváth, G., and Ács, K. (2015). Essential oils in the treatment of respiratory tract diseases highlighting their role in bacterial infections and their anti-inflammatory action: a review. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, *30*(5), 331-341
- Jaruzel, C. B., Gregoski, M., Mueller, M., Faircloth, A., and Kelechi, T. (2019). Aromatherapy for preoperative anxiety: A pilot study. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing*, *34*(2), 259-264.

- Khan, M. S. A., and Ahmad, I. (2019). Herbal medicine: current trends and future prospects. In *New look to phytomedicine* (pp. 3-13). Academic Press
- Koul, O., Walia, S., and Dhaliwal, G. S. (2008). Essential oils as green pesticides: potential and constraints. *Biopestic International*, 4(1), 63-84.
- Kuriyama, H., Watanabe, S., Nakaya, T., Shigemori, I., Kita, M., Yoshida, N., and Imanishi, J. (2005). Immunological and psychological benefits of aromatherapy massage. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2(2), 179-184.
- Lee, H., and Yoon, Y. (2021). Etiological agents implicated in foodborne illness worldwide. *Food science of animal resources*, 41(1), 1.
- Makeri, M., and Salihu, A. (2023). Jasmine essential oil: Production, extraction, characterization, and applications. In *Essential Oils* (pp. 147-177). Academic Press.
- Malabadi, R. B., Kolkar, K. P., Meti, N. T., and Chalannavar, R. K. (2021). Role of botanical essential oils as a therapy for controlling coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) disease (Covid-19). *International Journal of Research and Scientific Innovations*, *8*(4), 105-118.
- Nguyen, N. P. K., Tran, K. N., Nguyen, L. T. H., Shin, H. M., and Yang, I. J. (2023). Effects of Essential Oils and Fragrant Compounds on Appetite: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *24*(9), 7962
- Palombo, E. A. (2006). Phytochemicals from traditional medicinal plants used in the treatment of diarrhoea: modes of action and effects on intestinal function. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 20(9), 717-724.
- Pan, S. Y., Litscher, G., Gao, S. H., Zhou, S. F., Yu, Z. L., Chen, H. Q., and Ko, K. M. (2014). Historical perspective of traditional indigenous medical practices: the current renaissance and conservation of herbal resources. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2014(1), 525340.
- Pan, S. Y., Litscher, G., Gao, S. H., Zhou, S. F., Yu, Z. L., Chen, H. Q., and Ko, K. M. (2014). Historical perspective of traditional indigenous medical practices: the current renaissance and conservation of herbal resources. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2014(1), 525340
- Pandey, A. K., Kumar, P., Singh, P., Tripathi, N. N., and Bajpai, V. K. (2017). Essential oils: Sources of antimicrobials and food preservatives. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *7*, 228506.
- Rai, M., Paralikar, P., Jogee, P., Agarkar, G., Ingle, A. P., Derita, M., and Zacchino, S. (2017). Synergistic antimicrobial potential of essential oils in combination with nanoparticles: Emerging trends and future perspectives. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, *519*(1-2), 67-78
- Roca-Saavedra, P., Mendez-Vilabrille, V., Miranda, J. M., Nebot, C., Cardelle-Cobas, A., Franco, C. M., and Cepeda, A. (2018). Food additives, contaminants and other minor components: Effects on human gut microbiota—A review. *Journal of Physiology and Biochemistry*, 74, 69-83
- Rudra, S. G., Gundewadi, G., and Sharma, R. R. (2020). Natural additives with antimicrobial and flavoring potential for freshcut produce. In *Fresh-cut fruits and Vegetables* (pp. 165-182). Academic Press.
- Sattayakhom, A., Wichit, S., and Koomhin, P. (2023). The effects of essential oils on the nervous system: a scoping review. *Molecules*, 28(9), 3771
- Sharifi-Rad, J., Sureda, A., Tenore, G. C., Daglia, M., Sharifi-Rad, M., Valussi, M., and Iriti, M. (2017). Biological activities of essential oils: From plant chemoecology to traditional healing systems. *Molecules*, 22(1), 70.
- Sivaphongthongchai, A. (2021). Effects of selected aroma compounds on physiological activities and emotions
- Sowndhararajan, K., and Kim, S. (2016). Influence of fragrances on human psychophysiological activity: With special reference to human electroencephalographic response. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, *84*(4), 724-752.
- Taghavi, T., Kim, C., and Rahemi, A. (2018). Role of natural volatiles and essential oils in extending shelf life and controlling postharvest microorganisms of small fruits. *Microorganisms*, 6(4), 104.
- Thangaleela, S., Sivamaruthi, B. S., Kesika, P., Bharathi, M., Kunaviktikul, W., Klunklin, A., and Chaiyasut, C. (2022). Essential oils, phytoncides, aromachology, and aromatherapy—a review. *Applied Sciences*, 12(9), 4495.
- Vora, L. K., Gholap, A. D., Hatvate, N. T., Naren, P., Khan, S., Chavda, V. P., and Khatri, D. K. (2024). Essential oils for clinical aromatherapy: a comprehensive review. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 118180.
- Yeshi, K., and Wangchuk, P. (2022). Essential oils and their bioactive molecules in healthcare. In *Herbal biomolecules in healthcare applications* (pp. 215-237). Academic Press.
- Zhong, Y., Zheng, Q., Hu, P., Huang, X., Yang, M., Ren, G., and Liu, S. (2019). Sedative and hypnotic effects of compound Anshen essential oil inhalation for insomnia. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *19*, 1-11.

Chapter 05

Aromatherapy and Jasmine Oil Inhalation in Improving Brain Activities

Khizra Ashraf^{*1}, Umair Rasool², Hamida Younas³, Rida Mehmood⁴, Saba Mehboob⁵, Misbah Batool⁶, Maham Fatima⁷, Shawana Iqbal⁸, Umm E Habiba⁹ and Muhammad Ahmad¹⁰

¹National Institute of Food Science and Technology, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan
²Department of Physiology, Riphah International University, Lahore, Pakistan
³Department of Botany, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁴Department of Physiology, Government College University Lahore, Pakistan
⁵Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁶Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁷Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁸Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan
⁹Department of Physiology, Government College University of Faisalabad, Pakistan

ABSTRACT

Aromatherapy is the therapeutic usage of aromatic compounds for psychological well-being, most commonly essential oils. The neurological system is stimulated by the actions of jasmine oil. The research findings demonstrated that both the anterior center and the left posterior region had increased beta wave power (13–30 Hz). On one hand, jasmine oil enhances pleasant emotions like feelings of well-being, activity, freshness, and romance. On the other hand, unpleasant feelings like feeling drowsy were also significantly reduced. Jasmine oil is helpful in the treatment of severe depressive episodes and relaxes the nerves, eliciting feelings of assurance, enthusiasm, and euphoria while revitalizing and replenishing energy and enhancing memory. Jasmine oil mostly consists of β – linalool, Benzyl propionate, and Benzyl acetate. The reported properties of volatile oils include being carminative, aromatic, antidepressant, antispasmodic, astringent, antimicrobial, and stimulatory. Theta and alpha waves increased in response to the jasmine lactone odor, reflecting a calming impact. By the stimulating effect on brain activity, methyl jasmonate, and cineole, a key ingredient in jasmine oil, enhanced beta waves while suppressing theta and alpha waves, resulting in improved brain functionality. Psychoactive drugs used to treat mood disorders can have a variety of adverse effects. Research on how aromatherapy affects mood could help scientists create drugs with fewer side effects.

KEYWORDS	Received: 05-Jun-2024	SUL NUMCAN	A Publication of
Aromatherapy, Jasmine oil, Euphoria, Antidepressant,	Revised: 18-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
Antispasmodic, Psychoactive drugs	Accepted: 21-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as Ashraf K, Rasool U, Younis H, Mehmood R, Mehboob S, Batool M, Fatima M, Iqbal S, Habiba UE and Ahmad M, 2024. Aromatherapy and jasmine oil inhalation in improving brain activities. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 43-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.293</u>

INTRODUCTION

Complementary and alternative medicines (CAMs) are being used by more than 80% of people worldwide, and these treatments are becoming a finer part of the US healthcare system. Over 70% of Americans have used CAMs at least once, and if used yearly CAMs can cost highly approaching \$34 billion. There has been a substantial advancement in complementary medicine, in the science of complementary and alternative medicine, helping to integrate treatments that have not only held out the test of time but have also been validated (Mainardi et al., 2009).

There are numerous broad areas of complementary and alternative medicine, including alternative medical systems, manipulative therapies, physiologically based treatments, energy therapies, and mind-body therapies (Heimall and Bielory, 2004). intrinsic hazards should be taken into account when assessing the possible danger of a drug and these may include predicted and expected adverse responses (type A) and idiosyncratic reactions (type B). Despite being considered natural, CAM also carries these same risks (Studdert et al., 1998). The common notion is that because such products or services are "natural," they are safe. The idea that "naturalness" guarantees

harmlessness is innocent and false. The universal availability of complementary medicines in health food stores and supermarkets, as well as the low incidence of complaints against CAM practitioners, has been referred to as proof of safety (Mills, 1996).

These, however, cannot be regarded as suitable safety measures, and the scientific literature is increasingly presenting more suitable ways. This is frequently supported by hard statistics in traditional medicine, with accurate figures indicating the proportion of patients suffering a negative event relative to those who benefit. However, healthcare professionals should have a schema for thinking about safety problems until more complementary and alternative medicine therapies and products are thoroughly evaluated (Barnes, 2003). Unfortunately, in contrast to medication, an extensive list of probable and possible side effects has been lacking regarding use of complementary and alternative medicine (Myers et al., 2004).

In addition to the previously mentioned intrinsic and extrinsic risks, there are other risks associated with using complementary and alternative medicine (CAM), such as discontinuing conventional therapies due to a lack of perceived necessity or direct interference with therapeutic actions, and not acknowledging treatment precautions due to incorrect assumptions that the products are "natural" and thus "safe" (Angell and Kassirer, 1998).

The practical application of aromatherapy dates back thousands of years. The father of modern medicine, Hippocrates, encouraged aromatherapy because he thought that scented massages and baths were beneficial for good health. Leaders in essential oils arose, endorsing aromatherapy as a valid and efficient treatment for the mind, body, and soul. Eight leading nursing theorists accept the historical development of essential oils use in medicine, clinical practice, and holistic healing. The use of clinical aromatherapy as a patient-centered, holistic strategy for balancing physical health, spiritual requirements, and well-being is reflected in their theoretical frameworks and ideas. The acceptance of aromatherapy by the eight scholars attests to its credibility as a complementary therapy in healthcare (Farrar and Farrar, 2020). Essential oils are the "volatile, organic constituents of fragrant plant matter that are extracted by steam distillation or expression." Aromatherapy is the regulated, therapeutic use of essential oils. There are no other extraction techniques that provide an essential oil. Aromatherapy transforms into a therapeutic practice when essential oils are utilized to treat certain illnesses and the results are measured. As a supplementary therapy, aromatherapy is recognized as one of the instruments of holistic nursing (Buckel, 2001).

The field of complementary and alternative medicine is seeing speedy growth in the area of aromatherapy. A possible interpretation of this term is "the therapeutic use of fragrances, or at least of ordinary volatiles, to cure, mitigate, or prevent diseases, infections, and indispositions exclusively through inhalation" (Buchbauer, 1995). Not even the most conventional physician could practice natural medicine without plants; in fact, they serve as the bridge that connects natural and conventional, the ancient and the innovative (Steflitsch and Steflitsch, 2008).

There are several reasons why essential oils should be added to the arsenal of disease-fighting weapons. They have numerous attractive features and benefits, with few adverse outcomes. They can be anti-inflammatory, antiseptic, appetite-stimulating, carminative, choleretic, circulation-stimulating, deodorizing, expectorant, granulation-stimulating, hyperaemic, insecticidal, insect repellent, and sedative. They are natural antimicrobial agents capable of acting on bacteria, viruses, and fungi, and several studies have been conducted in this area. Tropical countries have always employed a variety of spices in their meals, not just for taste, but also to kill microorganisms that thrive in hot climes. Essential oils are supposed to have antibacterial properties because of their lipid solubility and surface action (Rideal et al., 1928). The global health system is heavily burdened by neurological illnesses. According to the most recent estimates, 3 percent of the global burden of disease is caused by neurological disorders that were included in the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study. These disorders include Parkinson's disease, migraine, medication-overuse headache (MOH), multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, and dementias including Alzheimer's and other types. Dementia, epilepsy, migraine, and stroke are among the leading 50 causes of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), even though this is a relatively low total proportion (Murray et al., 2012). India has had a considerably greater growth in the prevalence of mental, neurological, and drug use disorders than many other Asian nations, with a 44% increase from 1990 to 2013 (Patel et al., 2016).

Jasmine

The Persian term "Yasmin", which means "gift from God", is where the name "Jasmine" originates. The jasmine flower represents power, humility, purity, and simplicity in the language of flowers (Dhanasekaran, 2019). Damascus, in Syria, is referred to as the "City of Jasmine." Every home in Damascus was believed to have a jasmine plant before the most recent conflict broke out, and during waning moons, the streets would be filled with the aroma of blossoms (Mansour, 2015). China's mild areas and the Himalayas are the origins of jasmine. There are over 200 distinct species; the Arabian Jasmine, or *Jasminum sambac*, was the first to be given a name. Trade routes brought jasmine from Persia (modern-day Iran) to Europe, but for millennia, people in the East and West have been enthralled with these blossoms. The plant gained immense popularity due to its distinct and delightful scent (Jarrett, 2003).

There are around 200 different kinds of jasmine, and depending on the kind, they can resemble anything from an erect shrub to a sprawling vine. Jasmine plants like growing in well-drained soil and prefer full sun over partial shade. While most jasmine plants are deciduous, losing their leaves in the autumn, some can be evergreen, meaning they retain their leaves throughout the year. Jasmine can be deciduous, with leaves that fall in the fall, or evergreen, with leaves that

remain green all year (Boning, 2010). Although jasmine leaves can have many different patterns, they usually feature trifoliate leaves, in which each leaf splits into three leaflets, or pinnate leaves, in which the leaves grow in opposite pairs along the stem. Jasmine has been grown for its euphoric odour for hundreds of years. It may be employed in numerous ways, from essential oil to fresh blossoms (Sharangi, 2021).

Morphological Characters

The genus Jasminum had roughly 200 species that were extensively dispersed throughout tropical and subtropical climates. They come originally from Eurasia, India, and the Mediterranean. Ancestral character state reconstruction of taxonomically important traits (leaf shapes, leaf arrangement, and blossom colour) used to differentiate genus parts demonstrating homoplasy. Our findings indicate that since the split form the las common ancestor there have been at least four reversals to the unifoliate state.



Fig. 1: Arabian Jasmine flower and foliate

Jasmine Species

More than 200 jasmine species have been identified so far. Some of the most often cultivated and discovered are mentioned in Table 1.

Common Name	Scientific Name	Floral characters	Ref.
Arabian jasmine	Jasminum sambac	White three forked cymes flowers	(Widowati et al., 2018)
Spanish jasmine	J. grandiflorum	Five petalled terminal or axillary flowers	(Arun et al., 2016)
Star jasmine	J. multiflorum	An evergreen, twinner shrub with young branches clothed	Ganatra et al., 2013)
		with velvety pubescence flowers seen in terminal and	
		axillary cymes	
Rosy jasmine	J. beesianum	Pink to deep rose colored flowers	(Green, 1997)
Gold coast jasmine	J. dichotomum	Vigorous climbing woody vine, red tinted outside pure white inside flowers	(Yilangai et al., 2015)
Yellow jasmine	J. humile	Semi-evergreen shrub holding yellow golden flowers	(Nain et al., 2011)
Juhi jasmine	J. auriculatum	Star shaped flowers having many flax cymes	(Bahuguna et al., 2009)
Pink jasmine	J. polyanthum	Evergreen strong vine with masses of intensely fragrant	(Prakkash et al., 2019)
		long-tubed white flowers opening from pink buds	
Wild jasmine	J. fruticans	Yellow corolla calyx with slender lobes	(Guitian et al., 1998)

Table 1: Different varieties of Jasmine flowers and their characteristic feat
--

Phytoconstituents and Essential Oils in Jasminum Species

Several studies investigated the phytochemical contents of several *Jasminum* species. Antioxidants, coumarins, cardiac glycosides, essential oils, phenolics, saponins, and steroids were discovered during a preliminary phytochemical screening. The isolation and characterization of chemical components such as volatile oils, jasmine, indol, iridoids, secoiridoids, volatile oils, phenolics, tannins, and flavonoids, which have been determined to be significant constituents of *Jasminum*, is noted (Tharakan, 2021).



Fig. 2: Taxonomical Classification of Jasminum sambac

The leaves and flowers contain a high concentration of phytochemicals such as alkaloids, phenols, flavonoids, tannins, and others that can treat a variety of ailments. In this context, an experiment was carried out to determine the phytochemical components and antioxidant activity of *Jasminum multiflorum* leaves and flowers. For phytochemical screening, several solvents can be used, including methanol, ethyl acetate, ethanol, chloroform, aqueous extracts, and petroleum ether, and for antioxidant analysis methanol, ethanol, ethyl acetate, and aqueous extracts were also used. The DPPH, ABTS, and chelating potential of leaf and floral extracts were measured as part of an antioxidant experiment. The presence of alkaloids, carbohydrates, tannins, sterols and terpenoids, cardiac glycosides, flavonoids, proteins, and amino acids was indicated by phytochemical analysis of leaf and flower extracts. The quantitative determination of total phenolic, total flavonoids, and different antioxidant activities (DPPH, ABTS, and chelating potential) was carried out by the use of the colorimetric technique, and the results evaluated that total phenolic and total flavonoids were highest in the ethanol extract of leaves. The antioxidant activity was measured using the EC50 value, and the ethanol extract of leaves showed the highest decreasing percentage (Kumaresan et al., 2023).

Plant Parts	Phytoconstituents	Therapeutic Effects	Ref.
Flower	Methyl jasmonate (essential oil), indole, methyl Dihydrojasmonate, isophytol, methyl palmitate,	Anticancerous, antileprotic, otalgia,	(Sandeep and Paarakh, 2009; Sharma et al., 2000)
	geraniol, benzyl benzoate, myrcene, alkaloids, terpenoids	aromatherapy	
Leaves	salicylic acid, oleanolic acid, 40- dihydroxyacetophenone, resin, isoquercitrin, oleacein, 3,4-dihydroxy benzoic acid	Anti-inflammatory, antiulcerative, antimicrobial, antioxidant	(Rastogi and Mehrotra, 1990; Arun et al., 2016)
Seed	phenyl propanoid glycoside, Iridoid glucosides	Antileishmanial, Immunomodulatory	(Tuntiwachwuttikul et al., 2003; Banerjee et al., 2007)
Bark	Alkaloids, secoiridoid glucosides	Anti-microbial	(Singh and Vyas, 2018; Solanki et al., 2021)
Stem	Loganin, sesquiterpenoids, phenylethanoids	Analgesic, anti- inflammatory	(Lyubetska,2002; Gupta and Chaphalkar, 2015)
Root	Triterpenes, saponins, flavonoids	Astringent, antiseptic, suppurative, thermogenic	(Tadiwos et al., 2017; Singh and Sharma, 2020)







Essential Oils in Jasminum Flower

Alkaloids, flavonoids, cardiac glycosides, glycosides, saponins, coumarins, phenolics, quinones, betacyanins, steroids, terpenoids, and tannins were among the phytochemical test findings acquired from the jasmine flower extract used in this study (Suaputra et al., 2021). The volatile jasmine oil comprises over 100 aromatic compounds, including linalool, benzyl acetate, benzyl alcohol, indole, benzyl benzoate, cis-jasmone, geraniol, and methyl anthranilate. Additionally, trace amounts of p-cresol, cis-3-hexenyl benzoate, farnesol, eugenol, cresol, nerol, benzoic acid, and benzaldehyde are also present in extract from jasmine (linalool, for example). Various quantities of linalool can be found in several essential oils. Jasmine is fundamentally mostly comprised of linalool, a monoterpenoid alcohol (Paibon et al., 2011).

Hexanal Extraction

Typically, jasmine essence is produced by hexane extraction. To isolate aroma molecules from undesirable extractives such as paraffins and fatty acid methyl esters, the extraction results in the formation of a "concrete" and it is then subjected to further processing (Reverchon et al., 1995). In the commercial extraction of jasmine volatile oil Hexanal extraction is the preferable method. However, this approach works against the "green" notion of modern industrial processing systems, which demands minimal emissions of carbon dioxide and energy saving (Sonobe, 2011).

Solid-phase Microextraction (SPME)

The extraction phase, often referred to as ab/adsorption of the chemicals on a fiber coated in a polymer, is the foundation of the SPME. Today, a variety of polymers with varying polarity are accessible, and thermal desorption of substances is often accomplished in gas chromatography. Polar and nonpolar substances are adsorbed on different types of fibers (Mejías et al., 2002). This method offers several benefits, such as a shorter extraction time, the elimination of the need for organic solvents, automation potential, ease of coupling with gas chromatography (GC), simplicity, sensitivity, and selectivity (Mohammad Hosseini, 2015). The variability of fibers from batch to batch, the fragility of fiber coatings, and possible matrix effects are some drawbacks of SPME (Huang et al., 2019).

Power Control Microwave Hydrodiffusion and Gravity (PC-MHG)

One of the most innovative uses of solvent-free microwave extraction is microwave hydrodiffusion and gravity (MHG). Hydrophilic phytoconstituents can be extracted from the reactor matrix with "in situ" water. Additionally, matrix is weakened and phytochemical storage cavities are ruptured. Bioactive chemicals are carried out of the plant tissues by heating in situ water in fresh marix (Mustafa et al., 2022). Using the benefit of green microwave technology, the PC-MHG extraction system may shorten the processing period while consuming less energy, both of which are favourable for the environment. With PCMHG, a significant yield of jasmine volatile oil was obtained in about 6 minutes, while SSDE took around 5 hours to get the same volatile oil. With MAE, the environmental effect was substantially decreased; at 500 and 100 W, respectively, around 50 and 100 g of carbon dioxide (CO2) had been released into the atmosphere (Sommano et al., 2015).

Simultaneous Steam Distillation Extraction (SSDE)

An effective technique for separating volatile organic compounds (VOCs) from intricate liquid mixtures. The method extracts the essential oils from the plant by combining solvent extraction (using an organic solvent like pentane) with steam distillation. According to the concept of the steam distillation process, heating a combination of two or more immiscible liquids causes the vapor pressure of the system to rise because of the combination of the vapor pressure of the two immiscible liquids (Chen et al., 2006). Steam distillation aids in the decrease of temperature-sensitive chemicals' breakdown by reducing the boiling point. For steam distillation heat must be used to produce the steam which can be energy-intensive and raise production costs (Gomez et al., 1993).



Fig. 5: Schematic flow diagram of plant material extraction

Aromatherapy

The art and science of using naturally derived aromatic essences from plants to balance, integrate, and improve the health of body, mind, and spirit is commonly referred to as aromatherapy, sometimes known as essential oil therapy. To support an individual's natural healing process, it attempts to encompass physiological, psychological, and spiritual processes (Hedaoo and Chandurkar, 2019). The history of aromatherapy was influenced by the Greeks. The main ingredient of the perfume Megallus is Myrrh. A Greek perfumer was created and named Megaleion. Hippocrates, the "father of medicine," is credited with using aromatherapy for therapeutic purposes long before the term was coined. Greek mythology put forth that the gods were endowed with the ability to smell and create perfumes (Lawless, 1995).

Little is known about the origins of aromatherapy and where it started precisely, however, the Egyptians are credited as the ones who constructed the earliest distillation machines for extracting oils from particular plants, such as cedarwood, cinnamon, and clove which were used to embalm the dead. The practice of employing infused aromatic oils to improve mood is considered to have originated in China. The Egyptian culture was among the first to gain a deeper awareness of fragrant plants. They used plants for spiritual, cosmetic, therapeutic, and mortuary purposes (Wildwood, 2006).

French chemist Rene-Maurice Gattefosse was the one who used the name "aromatherapy" originally in 1937, who became interested in the therapeutic properties of essential oils (Khan et al., 2023) after suffering a burn. Following Gattefosse's "discovery" that his burn was healed by lavender oil, French surgeon Jean Valnet also employed essential oils to treat troops' wounds during World War II and it further demonstrated the therapeutic advantages of aromatherapy (Ali, 2015). "The best therapy for health is to infuse the brain with pleasant aromas" Alexis (Lyubetska, 2002).



Fig. 6: Pros and cons of Aromatherapy

Jasmine Oil in Aromatherapy

Humans who use aromatherapy essential oils have physiological and psychological changes, including altered mood and sleep patterns. It is thought that pharmacological and psychological systems work together to elicit the effects of essential oils. While the psychological process functions through the sense of smell and may thus have physiological consequences, the pharmaceutical mechanism acts directly on the physical organism. The impacts on the body and mind are completely different, even though they frequently happen at the same time (Jellinek, 1997). The use of jasmine oil, particularly in aromatherapy, as a medicinally effective substance has increased significantly. In aromatherapy, Jasmine oil is incorporated as a holistic remedy for depression, fear, hysteria, and apathy, and to balance, uplift, and inspire confidence (Lis-Balchin, 2006).

Stimulating the Impact of Jasmine Essential Oil

Experiments on human attention revealed that lavender essential oil has soothing properties and jasmine essential oil has stimulating properties. Numerous essential oils are thought to be sedatives because they have been demonstrated to lower contingent negative variation (CNV) brain waves in human volunteers. Others are regarded as stimulants and raise CNV. Given that CNV amplitude elevated in individuals exposed to jasmine, it appeared to have stimulated consequences (Ilmberger et al., 2001).

Changes in the electroencephalogram were employed as indicators in research conducted at the University of Occupational and Environmental Health in Kitakyushu, Japan, for measuring the effects of essential oils. Their findings showed that the pleasant odor of jasmine had a stimulating impact, as seen by the notable rise in beta brain wave activity that occurred when the fragrance was presented (Kubota et al., 1992).

Transdermal jasmine oil administration was performed on healthy volunteers. The arousal state of the autonomic nervous system was measured using autonomic measures, such as systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), pulse rate (PR), blood oxygen saturation (BOS), breathing rate (BR), and skin temperature (ST). To measure subjective behavioral arousal, individuals were also required to score their state of mental and emotional health in terms of alertness, vigor, tranquility, attentiveness, mood, and relaxation (Andreassi, 2000).

The systolic and diastolic blood pressures of the jasmine oil group were consistently higher. Since the activity of the sympathetic branch of the ANS controls blood pressure, an upsurge in blood pressure indicates an increase in sympathetic tone, or autonomic i.e. By increasing systolic and diastolic blood pressure, blood oxygen saturation, and breathing rate, transdermal absorption of jasmine oil intensified the ANS' state of consciousness. In addition to this, massaging jasmine oil caused behavioral activation, meaning that the respondents felt less relaxed, more attentive, and more active as compared to the previous administration. Based on self-evaluation, this finding implies that arousal has gotten higher. The idea of stimulating/activating effects may thus be used to characterize the effects of jasmine oil massage. Our analysis justifies the use of jasmine oil in medications intended to treat depression as well as enhance mood in people by showcasing the stimulating and activating properties of the oil (Hongratanaworakit, 2009).

In addition to relieving anxiety and inducing feelings of confidence, optimism, and happiness, jasmine oil is excellent in treating severe depression. It also rejuvenates and restores energy and strengthens memory (Sayowan et al., 2013). The number of alpha and theta waves was increased by the jasmine lactone smell, suggesting that the chemical composition had a calming effect (Hongratanaworakit, 2004). The findings indicated that following inhalation, the respondents felt improved, more energetic, fresher, and more amorous. Negative feelings, like drowsiness, have consequently diminished (Hongratanaworakit, 2010).

To investigate the underlying processes of the key components of jasmine oil, it is important to know that the second messenger for certain serotonin receptors is as well cAMP, and serotonin is thought to be involved in emotion modulation within the central nervous system. Inhaling jasmine vapor is likely to have a stimulating effect due to its absorption and subsequent pharmacological activity inside the brain, or it might simply stimulate odor receptors (Lis Balchin et al., 2002).

It is widely documented that cortisol levels are elevated in response to pain, fretting, and distress (Kurina et al., 2004). The study on animals found that long-term oral ingestion of jasmine essential oil drastically reduces anxiety, discomfort, and itching in mice (Kuo, 2017). The research found that 5 minutes of JEO inhalation per day for 10 days can considerably reduce anxiety in people with a generalized anxiety disorder (Arhanthkumar, 2013). The recommended technique of aromatherapy is inhalation, which allows for direct absorption of essential oil components via the nasal mucosal membranes into circulation (Starkweather, 2018). According to one of the study findings, a one-hour inhalation of JEO can considerably lower mean blood cortisol levels and mean anxiety scores in patients having laparotomy. This suggests that essential oil may be useful in lowering preoperative anxiety (Yadegari et al., 2021).

The effects of jasmine oil on the central nervous system were looked into after inhalation. The power beta (13-30 Hz) rose dramatically in the frontal center and left posterior brain locations. This finding demonstrated that aromas influenced cortical brain wave activity. Brain waves have been shown to alter quite sensitively depending on the subject's degree of consciousness (Sayowan et al., 2013). Jasmine essential oil works physiologically to increase the non-rapid eye movement (REM) sleep state by inducing slow delta and beta frequency oscillations in the hippocampus region. The mice that were given 0.03% jasmine essential oil were found to explore the center arena of the apparatus more than the mice in the control group, in accordance with the locomotor tracking (Cheaha et al., 2023).

Conclusion

Thus we can conclude that aromatherapy is a growing practice of people today to help reduce stress and invoke certain moods and feelings. The studies conducted using jasmine essential oil as an intervention render mesmerizing neuroprotective benefits including, modulation in the sleep-wake cycle, stimulating brain activities, revitalizing memory, degrading neuro oxidants, and eliciting pleasing neuronal effects. The study of aromatherapy is relatively new and unexplored. More research must be done to make scientific conclusions about the use and effect of aromatherapy so the field may emerge as revolutionary in contemporary scientific society.

REFERENCES

- Adam, M., Juklová, M., Bajer, T., Eisner, A., and Ventura, K. (2005). Comparison of three different solid-phase microextraction fibers for analysis of essential oils in yacon (Smallanthus sonchifolius) leaves. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1084(1–2), 2–6.
- Ahmed, N., Hanani, Y. A., Ansari, S. Y., and Anwar, S. (2016). Jasmine (Jasminum sambac L., Oleaceae) oils. In E. Şahin and M. Göger (Eds.), Essential Oils in Food Preservation, Flavor and Safety (pp. 487–494). Academic Press.
- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A

systemic review. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 5(8), 601-611.

- Andreassi, J. L. (2000). Electrodermal activity (EDA) and behavior. In J. T. Cacioppo, L. G. Tassinary, and G. G. Berntson (Eds.), Psychophysiology: Human Behavior and Physiological Response (pp. 191–202).
- Angell, M., and Kassirer, J. P. (1998). Alternative medicine—the risks of untested and unregulated remedies. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 339(12), 839–841.
- Arhanthkumar, A. (2013). Effect of jasmine essential oil in generalized anxiety disorder: A pilot clinical study. Journal of Ayurveda and Holistic Medicine (JAHM), 1(7).
- Arun, M., Satish, S., and Anima, P. (2016). Phytopharmacological profile of Jasminum grandiflorum Linn. (Oleaceae). *Chinese Journal of Integrative Medicine*, 22, 311–320.
- Babar Ali, B. A., Al-Wabel, N. A., Saiba Shams, S. S., Aftab Ahamad, A. A., Khan, S. A., and Firoz Anwar, F. A. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review.
- Bahuguna, Y., Rawat, M. S. M., Juyal, V., and Gupta, V. (2009). Antilithiatic effect of flowers of Jasminum auriculatum Vahl. International Journal of Green Pharmacy (IJGP), 3(2).
- Banerjee, A., Poddar, A., Ghanta, S., Chakraborty, A., and Chattopadhyay, S. (2007). Nyctanthes arbor-tristis Linn. Spectrum of its bioactivity potential. *Planta Medica*, 73(09), SL_006.
- Barnes, J. (2003). Quality, efficacy and safety of complementary medicines: Fashions, facts and the future. Part II: Efficacy and safety. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 55(4), 331–340.
- Boning, C. R. (2010). Florida's Best Herbs and Spices: Native and Exotic Plants Grown for Scent and Flavor. Pineapple Press Inc.
- Buchbauer, G. (1995). Methods in aromatherapy research.
- Buckle, J. (2001). The role of aromatherapy in nursing care. Nursing Clinics of North America, 36(1), 57–72.
- Cheaha, D., Basor, N., Sa-i, N., Kumarnsit, E., Chaikul, A., and Samerphob, N. (2023). Jasmine essential oil promotes deltabeta power activities in the dorsal hippocampus under slow wave sleep promotion. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology*, 45(1).
- Chen, M. X., Chen, X. S., Wang, X. G., Ci, Z. J., Liu, X. L., He, T. M., and Zhang, L. J. (2006). Comparison of headspace solidphase microextraction with simultaneous steam distillation extraction for the analysis of the volatile constituents in Chinese apricot. *Agricultural Sciences in China*, 5(11), 879–884.
- Dhanasekaran, D. (2019). Augmentation of flowering in Jasmine (Jasminum sambac Ait.) through growth hormones. *Annals of Plant and Soil Research*, 21(2), 116–120.
- Farrar, A. J., and Farrar, F. C. (2020). Clinical aromatherapy. Nursing Clinics, 55(4), 489-504.
- Ganatra, S. H., Durge, S. P., and Ramteke, A. M. (2013). Phytochemicals investigation and TLC analysis of Jasminum multiflorum leaves. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 4(3), 1135.
- Gomez, E., Ledbetter, C. A., and Hartsell, P. L. (1993). Volatile compounds in apricot, plum, and their interspecific hybrids. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 41(10), 1669–1676.
- Green, P. S. (1997). A revision of the pinnate-leaved species of Jasminum. Studies in the genus Jasminum (Oleaceae): XV. Kew Bulletin, 933–947.
- Guitián, J., Guitián, P., and Medrano, M. (1998). Floral biology of the distylous Mediterranean shrub Jasminum fruticans (Oleaceae). Nordic Journal of Botany, 18(2), 195–201.
- Gupta, A., and Chaphalkar, S. R. (2015). Use of flow cytometry to measure the immunostimulatory activity of aqueous extract of Jasminum auriculatum. *International Journal of Current Advanced Research*, 4(5), 87–91.
- Hedaoo, S. A., and Chandurkar, P. A. (2019). A review on aromatherapy. World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 8(7), 635–651.
- Heimall, J., and Bielory, L. (2004). Defining complementary and alternative medicine in allergies and asthma: Benefits and risks. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology*, 27, 93-103.
- Holmes, P. (1998). Jasmine the queen of the night. The International Journal of Aromatherapy, 4(8), 8–12.
- Hongratanaworakit, T. (2004). Physiological effects in aromatherapy. Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology, 26(1), 117–125.
- Hongratanaworakit, T. (2009). Simultaneous aromatherapy massage with rosemary oil on humans. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, 77(2), 375–388.
- Hongratanaworakit, T. (2010). Stimulating effect of aromatherapy massage with jasmine oil. *Natural Product Communications*, 5(1), 1934578X1000500136.
- Huang, S., Chen, G., Ye, N., Kou, X., Zhu, F., Shen, J., and Ouyang, G. (2019). Solid-phase microextraction: An appealing alternative for the determination of endogenous substances-A review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1077, 67–86.
- Ilmberger, J., Heuberger, E., Mahrhofer, C., Dessovic, H., Kowarik, D., and Buchbauer, G. (2001). The influence of essential oils on human attention. I: Alertness. *Chemical Senses*, 26(3), 239–245.
- Inoue, N., Kuroda, K., Sugimoto, A., Kakuda, T., and Fushiki, T. (2003). Autonomic nervous responses according to a preference for the odor of jasmine tea. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 67(6), 1206–1214.
- Jarrett, A. (2003). Ornamental tropical shrubs. Pineapple Press Inc.

Jellinek, J. S. (1997). Psychodynamic odor effects and their mechanisms.

Khan, A. M. A., Arshad, M. A., Naeem, R. F., Shafiq, M. S., Irshad, M., Shahid, D. A., ... and Usmani, M. W. Role of essential oils

and other alternatives to control ticks (Hyalomma species) the Major Cause of CCHF (a threat for humans and livestock). <u>https://doi.org/10.61748/CAM.2023/006</u>

- Kubota, M., Ikemoto, T., Komaki, R., and Inui, M. (1992, October). Odor and emotion-effects of essential oils on contingent negative variation. In Proc. 12th Int. Congress on Flavours, Fragrances and Essential Oils (pp. 4–8).
- Kumaresan, M., Kannan, M., Sankari, A., Chandrasekhar, C. N., and Vasanthi, D. (2019). Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of Jasminum multiflorum (pink Kakada) leaves and flowers. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 8(3), 1168–1173.
- Kuo, T. A. (2017). A study about the inhibition effect of jasmine essential oil on the central nervous system. *Journal Health Science*, 7, 67–72.
- Kurina, L. M., Schneider, B., and Waite, L. J. (2004). Stress, symptoms of depression and anxiety, and cortisol patterns in working parents. Stress and Health: *Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 20(2), 53–63.
- Lawless, J. (1995). The illustrated encyclopedia of essential oils: The complete guide to the use of oils in aromatherapy and herbalism. (No Title).
- Lis-Balchin, M. (2006). Aromatherapy Science: A Guide for Healthcare Professionals. Pharmaceutical Press.
- Lis-Balchin, M., Hart, S., and Wan Hang Lo, B. (2002). Jasmine absolute (Jasminum grandiflora L.) and its mode of action on guinea pig ileum in vitro. Phytotherapy.
- Lu, Y., Han, Z. Z., Zhang, C. G., Ye, Z., Wu, L. L., and Xu, H. (2019). Four new sesquiterpenoids with anti-inflammatory activity from the stems of Jasminum officinale. *Fitoterapia*, 135, 22–26.
- Lyubetska, V. (2002). Letting The Genie Out of The Bottle: Evolution Of Aromatherapy Through The Ages. *History Of Medicine Days*, 43.
- Mainardi, T., Kapoor, S., and Bielory, L. (2009). Complementary and alternative medicine: Herbs, phytochemicals and vitamins and their immunologic effects. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 123(2), 283–296.
- Mansour, H. (2015, September). The lost identity of the city: The case of Damascus. In CITTA 8th Annual Conference on Planning Research AESOP TG Public Spaces and Urban Cultures Event (Vol. 1, p. 20).
- Mejíás, R. C., Marín, R. N., Moreno, M. D. V. G., and Barroso, C. G. (2002). Optimisation of headspace solid-phase microextraction for analysis of aromatic compounds in vinegar. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 953(1–2), 7–15.
- Mills, S. Y. (1996). Safety awareness in complementary medicine. Complementary Therapies in Medicine, 4(1), 48-51.
- Mohammad Hosseini, M. (2015). Chemical composition of the volatile fractions from flowers, leaves and stems of Salvia mirzayanii by HS-SPME-GC-MS. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 18(2), 464–476.
- Murray, C. J., Vos, T., Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Flaxman, A. D., Michaud, C., and Aboyans, V. (2012). Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 380(9859), 2197-2223.
- Mustafa, A. M., Mazzara, E., Abouelenein, D., Angeloni, S., Nunez, S., Sagratini, G., and Maggi, F. (2022). Optimization of solvent-free microwave-assisted hydrodiffusion and gravity extraction of Morus nigra L. fruits maximizing polyphenols, sugar content, and biological activities using central composite design. *Pharmaceuticals*, 15(1), 99.
- Myers, S. P., and Cheras, P. A. (2004). The other side of the coin: Safety of complementary and alternative medicine. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 181(4), 222-225.
- Nain, P., Kumar, A., Sharma, S., and Nain, J. (2011). In vitro evaluation of antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of methanolic extract of Jasminum humile leaves. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 4(10), 804–807.
- Paibon, W., Yimnoi, C. A., Tembab, N., Boonlue, W., Jampachaisri, K., Nuengchamnong, N., Ingkaninan, K. (2011). Comparison and evaluation of volatile oils from three different extraction methods for some Thai fragrant flowers. *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, 33(2), 150–156.
- Patel, V., Chisholm, D., Dua, T., Laxminarayan, R., and Medina-Mora, M. E. (2016). Mental, neurological, and substance use disorders: Disease control priorities, (volume 4).
- Prakkash, M. J., Ragunathan, R., and Jesteena, J. (2019). Evaluation of bioactive compounds from Jasminum polyanthum and its medicinal properties. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, 9(2), 303–310.
- Rastogi, R. P., and Mehrotra, B. N. (1990). Compendium of Indian Medicinal Plants.
- Reverchon, E., Della Porta, G., and Gorgoglione, D. (1995). Supercritical CO2 fractionation of jasmine concrete. *The Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 8(1), 60–65.
- Rideal, S., Rideal, E. K., and Sciver, A. (1928). An investigation into the germicidal powers and capillary activities of certain essential oils. *Perf Essent Oil Rec*, 19, 285.
- Sandeep, P. P., and Paarakh, P. M. (2009). Jasminum grandiflorum Linn (Chameli): Ethnobotany, phytochemistry and pharmacology: A review. *PharmacologyOnline*, 2, 586–595.
- Sayowan, W., Siripornpanich, V., Hongratanaworakit, T., Kotchabhakdi, N., and Ruangrungsi, N. (2013). The effects of jasmine Oil inhalation on brain wave activities and emotions. *Journal of Health Research*, 27(2).
- Sharangi, A. B. (2021). Aromatic Plants. Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated.
- Sharma, P. C., Yelne, M. B., and Dennis, T. J. (2000). Database on medicinal plants used in Ayurveda (Vol. 1, No. 5). New Delhi: Central Council for Research in Ayurveda and Siddha.
- Singh, A., and Vyas, B. (2018). Night Jasmine (Nyctanthes arbortristis). *Research Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 10(4), 324–330.

Singh, B., and Sharma, R. A. (Eds.). (2020). Secondary metabolites of medicinal plants, 4 Volume set: Ethnopharmacological properties, biological activity and production strategies. John Wiley and Sons.

- Solanki, M., Rajhans, S., Pandya, H. A., and Mankad, A. U. (2021). Nyctanthes arbor-tristis Linn: A short review. *World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 10(3).
- Sommano, S., Kerdtongmee, P., Chompoo, M., and Nisoa, M. (2015). Fabrication and characteristics of phase control microwave power for jasmine volatile oil extraction. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 27(4), 316–323.
- Sonobe, T. (2011, June). Microwave material processing for green technology. In 2011 IEEE Conference on Clean Energy and Technology (CET) (pp. 297–299). IEEE.
- Starkweather, A. (2018). Aromatherapy: Does It Make "Scents" as Complementary Therapy in Pain Management?. Topics in Pain Management, 34(1), 1–8.
- Steflitsch, W., and Steflitsch, M. (2008). Clinical aromatherapy. Journal of Men's Health, 5(1), 74-85.
- Studdert, D. M., Eisenberg, D. M., Miller, F. H., Curto, D. A., Kaptchuk, T. J., and Brennan, T. A. (1998). Medical malpractice implications of alternative medicine. *Jama*, 280(18), 161.
- Suaputra, V., Limanan, D., Yulianti, E., and Ferdinal, F. (2021, December). Phytochemical Screening, Total Antioxidant Capacity and Toxicity Test of White Jasmine Flower Extract (Jasminum sambac). In 1st Tarumanagara International Conference on Medicine and Health (TICMIH 2021) (pp. 45–51). Atlantis Press.

Sugano, H. (1989). Effects of odor on mental function. Chem Senses.

- Tadiwos, Y., Nedi, T., and Engidawork, E. (2017). Analgesic and anti-inflammatory activities of 80% methanol root extract of Jasminum abyssinicum Hochst. ex. Dc. (Oleaceae) in mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 202, 281–289.
- Tharakan, S. T. (2021). Phytochemical and pharmacological properties of five different species of Jasminum. *Plant Archive*, 21(2), 126–136.
- Tuntiwachwuttikul, P., Rayanil, K., and Taylor, W. C. (2003). Chemical constituents from the flowers of Nyctanthes arbortristis. *Science Asia*, 29(1), 21–30.
- Ulbricht, C. E., and Basch, E. M. (Eds.). (2005). Natural Standard Herb and Supplement Reference: Evidence-Based Clinical Reviews. Mosby.
- Widowati, W., Janeva, W., Nadya, S., Amalia, A., Arumwardana, S., Kusuma, H. S. W., and Arinta, Y. (2018). Antioxidant and antiaging activities of Jasminum sambac extract, and its compounds. *Journal of Reports in Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 7(3), 270–285.
- Wildwood, C. (2006). The Encyclopedia of Healing Plants: A Guide to Aromatherapy, Flower Essences and Herbal Remedies. Royal National Institute of the Blind.
- Yadegari, M., Mahmoodi-Shan, G. R., Kamkar, M. Z., and Vakili, M. A. (2021). Effects of inhaling jasmine essential oil on anxiety and blood cortisol levels in candidates for laparotomy: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Sciences*, 8(2), 128–133.
- Yilangai, R. M., Chaskda, A. A., Akwashiki, O., and Mwansat, G. S. (2015). Effect of time of day, weather parameters and fruit stage on insect visitors of Carissa edulis Vahl and Jasminum dichotomum Vahl in a protected Nigerian habitat

Chapter 06

Role of Aromatherapy in the Management of Stress and Depression

Javeria Arshad^{1*}, Anfas Muneeb², Aleeha Afzal³, Mahnoor Zahid⁴, Wajeeha Sultan⁵, Muhammad Husnain Tariq⁵, Mohsin Raza³, Muhammad Hassan Butt⁵ and Javeria Javed⁵

¹Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad-38000, Punjab, Pakistan

²Department of Pharmacy practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad- 38000, Punjab, Pakistan.

³Department of Pharmacy, University of Agriculture (UAF), Faisalabad-38000, Punjab, Pakistan

⁴Department of Pharmacy, University of Lahore (UOL), Lahore- 54000, Punjab, Pakistan

⁵Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Government College University, Faisalabad - 38000, Punjab, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: pharmacistj.arshad@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Since ancient times, man has depended on natural products, especially those derived from plants, for the cure and treatment of various diseases. Aromatherapy refers to the therapeutic use of essential oils. These essential substances are extracted from different plants using different methods such as steam distillation, solvent extraction and expression. The concentrated form of these essential oils is used for therapeutic use by inhalation or topically. Essential oils have a positive effect on the physical, emotional and mental state. Essential oils also target stress and depression, which are major issues today, as essential oils have the potential to affect the central nervous system. The main mechanism by which essential oils are involved in managing stress and depression is through direct transmission through the olfactory nerves and the release of neurotransmitters such as serotonin and dopamine. Lavender, chamomile, bergamot, jasmine, rose, sandalwood, frankincense and lemon are the main essential oils used in aromatherapy. Thanks to their specific properties, these essential oils have therapeutic effects including anxiolytic, stress and antidepressant effects.

KEYWORDS	Received: 10-June-2024	SCHENTING ATE	A Publication of
Aromatherapy, Essential oils, Traditional medicinal, Herbalism,	Revised: 12-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Neuropharmacological effects, Stress and Depression	Accepted: 07-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Arshad J, Muneeb A, Afzal A, Zahid M, Sultan W, Tariq MH, Raza M, Butt MH, and Javeria J, 2024. Role of aromatherapy in the management of stress and depression. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 54-62. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.218

INTRODUCTION

Aromatotherapy be a complementary exercise like singular is defined as the helpful use of urgent oils taken out of flora to guide bodily, emotional, or spiritual health (Cho et al., 2017). Essential oils should be volatile liquids extracted from plant material by steam distillation and distillation. It is usually obtained from any part of the plant, including leaves, seeds, resin, roots or stems. These incredibly targeted oils can be used for relaxation and local healing by pulling on the mucous membranes and skin: using oiled cloths, nasal sticks or through nasal sprays or chamber attachments to ensure inhalation when used topically, the essential oils are diluted in a hard solution. To concentrate the oil with little concern for some of the time spent in the treatment. Mucosal and skin sensitivities may require dilution due to potency, associated tissue and skin disease, and phototoxicity of citrus oil Essential oils should be volatile liquids extracted from plant material by steam distillation. It is usually obtained from any part of the plant, including leaves, seeds, resin, roots or stems. These incredibly targeted oils can be used for relaxation and local healing by pulling on the mucous membranes and skin: using oiled cloths, nasal sticks or through nasal sprays or chamber attachments to ensure inhalation when used topically, the essential oils should be volatile liquids extracted from plant material by steam distillation and distillation. It is usually obtained from any part of the plant, including leaves, seeds, resin, roots or stems. These incredibly targeted oils can be used for relaxation and local healing by pulling on the mucous membranes and skin: using oiled cloths, nasal sticks or through nasal sprays or chamber attachments to ensure inhalation when used topically, the essential oils are diluted in a hard solution. to concentrate the oil with little concern for some of the time spent in the treatment. Mucosal and skin sensitivities may require dilution due to efficacy, associated tissue and ski

Aromatherapy is based on the idea that these oils, with their premium scents, are private recuperatives that can

improve physical, intellectual and emotional well-being. In the context of critical care, aromatherapy provides a noninvasive, patient-centered method that could possibly augment conventional medical remedies. Despite the fact that aroma therapy for mental health is not a revelation, academic studies have been gaining interest in aromatherapy as an alternative to conventional medicine for its amazing effectiveness in reducing tension and melancholy and improving brain health. Aromatherapy has been performed in many areas including maternal hygiene, treatment of anxiety, chemotherapy sequelae, skin and hair hygiene, wound treatment, control of epileptic condition, discounting of breathing problems and bargain of tension and despair (Cao et al., 2023).

Mechanism of Aromatherapy in the Management of Stress and Depression

A fundamental important mechanism for remedying tension, stress, and depression is the bioactive effect of essential oils on the precious worry tool (CNS). Known, EOs exerts their feasible neuropharmacological results generally through blood movement (blood pathway) or direct olfactory nerve transmission (nerve course).

Essential oils are excellent because they can have low polarity, we should EO molecules effortlessly pass through physiological barriers such as mucous membranes, pores and pores and skin, blood and mind restrictions and so on. Aromatic massage supporting a calm body and mind through the delivery of living components of vital oils into the bloodstream through the pores and skin and mucous membranes, reaching the mental tissues through the bloodstream, showing neuropharmacological results.

Essential olives are breathed through the nostril, passing the slimy membrane where they adhere to the pointed receptors of smelly sensor organs. Unique signals are transmitted to the brain's convoluted structure. The brain becomes excited to release brain fluids such as serotonin and dopamine, which can help regulate mood by controlling the nervous system (Zhang et al., 2023).

The aromatic molecules of critical oils can influence the hypothalamus, the autonomic frightened instrument and endocrine gadget. When inhaled, these molecules create a calming response by means of calming, balancing, and stimulating, which can reduce the phases of the stress hormones cortisone and cortisol in the frame (Ma'arif et al., 2023).

Determining the most essential basic feature is a difficult undertaking. Although numerous researches have highlighted the high-quality effects of essential oils on mood disorders and explored the mechanisms of their abilities, more research is needed to better understand the complex and multiple essential oils in the primary fearful device (Cao et al., 2023).

Essential Oils in Aromatherapy

Lavender

Lavender (*Lavandula* spp.), a member of the *Lamiaceae* family, is one of the most discussed medicinal plants, well known for stress-reducing properties. The plant is native to the Mediterranean basin, including southern Europe, northern Africa, the Middle East, and into some parts of Asia. With a very varied taxonomy comprising over 30 species, numerous subspecies, and hybrids, *Lavandula* is a botanical mosaic in terms of genetic diversity. Of the most common species, there is *Lavandula angustifolia*, or English lavender, which presents very delicate flowers and subtle fragrance. Another one is *L. Stoechas*, or French lavender, with a very strong aroma and a late blooming period. *L. Latifolia* is another species with a grassland appearance that is native to the Mediterranean region. *L. Intermedia* is another key species that is a sterile hybrid between *L. Latifolia* and *L. Angustifolia*. It combines characters of both parents, shaping the botanical identity of this species.

The beauty of lavender, represented by the lavender oil in Figure 1, is only one side of this botanical mosaic. The other side is the health benefits it brings to the human body. Lavender finds widespread use not only in herbal medicine but also in cosmetics and perfumery, culinary applications, and in the new field of aromatherapy. This is why this multi-faceted botanical gem constantly amazes and fuels various aspects of human life, as it has profound effects on the body both physiologically and psychologically (Ghavami et al., 2022).

The number one ingredients observed in lavender include essential oils (linalool), limonene, perillyl alcohol, linalyl acetate, cis-jasmone, terpene, coumarin tannin, caffeic acid, and camphor. However, the relative distribution of these compounds varies among many species. Linalool has sedative effects by affecting gamma-aminobutyric acid receptors within the valuable irritating gadget. Inhaling essential oils for aromatherapy or restorative functions is a common method to reduce pressure because it has minimal consequences. It can also help reduce stress and promote relaxation through the limbic gadget, especially with the help of the amygdala and hippocampus (Ghavami et al., 2022).

The aromatic oils extracted from flora and herbs is utilized by aromatherapy to deal with varying sicknesses. Lavender is of those herbs which can be utilized in aromatherapy. Lavender essential oil has anti-pain antianxiety and antidepressant, and sleep improvement results. The mechanism of this plant is not completely known, but it has been taken into consideration that this plant probably had a comparable feature to benzodiazepines and improved GABA (gamma aminobutyric acid) within the amygdala (Algristian et al., 2022).

The scientific college students, in particular all through examination seasons undergo stress, however no vast distinction was located for gender regarding degree of stress at some point of tests. The remedy namely aromatherapy, hydrotherapy and homeopathy are used extensively to lessen stress now-a-days (Algristian et al., 2022).

Fig. 1: Lavender Essential Oil



Chamomile

The term "chamomile" comes from the Greek words Chemios Melody, translating to "earth pear" because of its pearlike scent. There are different forms of chamomile and they will be diagnosed using a lot of names together with baboon chamomile, German pot, Roman fence, mystery chamber, Hungarian chain, simple champagne, camouflage, krami, maggots, sweet false chamber pot and fragrant chaos. Chamomile is decided in different places and is properly documented as a common international plant. Chamomile, additionally known as *Matricaria chamomilla L.*, is an important medicinal plant that belongs to its own family *Asteraceae* (formerly known as Compositae) and originates from Europe and Asia. It is grown in areas of southern and Japanese Europe, northern Africa, valuable and western Asia, and western North America. Hungary is the largest producer of plant biomass. The Mughals added herbs to India and they would be grown in the northernmost regions of the US. The seeds need bare soil to grow nicely to germinate regularly near roads and in areas with landmines or cultivated fields where they may be considered weeds. Many styles of botanical species are referred to as the butler (Figure 2), which includes German Rail, Wild Chapati (*Matricaria discoidea DC.*), Valley Maze (*Matricaria octagon G.*), Matricaria aurora Loafers, Edge or Corn Generator (*Archive Anthemis L.*), stinking chandelier (*Anthemis cutlet L.*), odorless or scaleless chamber (*Tripleurospermum inordinate L.*), dyer's chamber (*Coda tincture L.*) and larger. To avoid confusion, *Matricaria regatta L.* (additionally referred to as *Matricaria chamber* or *chamber regatta*) is now diagnosed because bot (Sah et al., 2022).

The number one two types of chamomile typically used for medicinal purposes are German chamomile. True Chamomile (*Matricaria Chamomilla L.*) Roman Chamomile or English Chamomile (*Chamaemelum nobile* syn. *Anthemis nobilis*, also Roman Chamomile (L.). *Ormenis multicaulis* Braun-Blanq, three species often used in the gloss and perfume industry (Sah et al., 2022).



Fig. 2: Chamomile Oil

Chamomile, known to have mild hypnotic properties, is believed to be due to binding of the flavonoid apigenin to benzodiazepine receptors in the brain, which, in turn, affect the outcome of sleep. Although initial studies showed the presence of central nervous system depressant properties with possible antiepileptic effects, clinical trials are still far from enough. Of interest are findings on ten patients with coronary disease who showed sleep induction within ninety minutes

of ingesting chamomile tea suggestive of benzodiazepine-like sedative effects. Other studies indicate that inhalation of chamomile oil prevents the increase in plasma adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) brought about by inhalation of stressinducing substances. Adding diazepam to the volatile chamomile oil further increased this effect, although flumazenil, a benzodiazepine antagonist, negates the effect of volatile chamomile oil on ACTH levels. Paladini et al. postulate that the dissociation index of diazepam was 3, and for apigenin, 10, showing that the two have a different potency. Apart from apigenin, other constituents of chamomile extract also bind to benzodiazepine (BDZ) and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors in the brain, which may account for its hypnotic effects. However, these mechanisms have not yet been fully elucidated and will need further study (Srivastava et al., 2010).

Bergamot

Bergamot oil, derived from Citrus *Bergamia*, is a member of the genus citrus in the *Rutaceae* family and is mostly grown in Italy and Morocco. Constituents of bergamot oil include bergaptene (5-methoxypsoralen), linalool, and linalyl acetate, which are mainly extracted from the fruit peel and have potential mood-enhancing and relaxing features. Several studies have shown that plasma melatonin levels can be increased by bergamot essential oil, mainly because of pentamethoxypsoralen. Melatonin is known to regulate circadian rhythms and is involved in improving mood as well as sleep quality by enhancing sleep initiation and improving sleep architecture in animals. In addition, linalool, a monoterpene alcohol, has some antimicrobial, analgesic, anxiolytic, and antidepressant effects and is found in many other essential oil. Linalyl acetate, which is another major constituent, causes nitric oxide to be released, thus inducing relaxation in smooth muscle tissue. Studied in the context of postpartum depression and sleep disturbances, researchers have identified a need for strategies to improve mood disturbance, sleep quality, and relaxation in postpartum women. In an animal study, bergamot oil constituents were found to improve postpartum depression and sleep disturbances, thus indicating its potential to improve postpartum care and relaxation for sleep quality (Mei-Ling et al., 2022).





Lavender and bergamot are popular essential oils that can be effective for insomnia. Both were said to promote restful sleep by stimulating the parasympathetic startle machinery. Bergamot has been recognized as a surge of unhappiness emotions (Bragamot oil has shown in figure 3). As a result, using bergamot essential oil can also help reduce mental tension and improve sleep and morning alertness. High levels of insomnia and misery among Japanese university students have been caused by reduced opportunities for social interaction, leading to emotions of hysteria and isolation, approximately Japanese universities have been hit hard by the COVID-19 pandemic. Universities were forced to close their physical campuses, leading to a shift from one-on-one lectures to online tutorials. Measures including the banning of conventions, the cancellation of organizational sports, and the restriction of socialization limited the daily life of university students, and as a result, most students missed out on opportunities to participate in men's or women's courses at the university. In addition, part-time job opportunities have been eliminated to help cover living expenses due to reduced demand and reduced working hours in the food industry. This scenario has created a harsh environment that is difficult for many students. As a result, a number of college students suggested that they had mild symptoms of depression and a variety of psychological problems, including insomnia and trouble getting up during the morning workload. So we used bergamot oil to study university students on the way to determine its effectiveness in treating insomnia and despair (Wakui et al., 2023).

Jasmine

Jasmine or Jessamine is a member of the *Jasmine* genus, which belongs to the *Olaceae* family. In Arabic, the plant goes by the name Yasmin. In Iran, *Lonicera japonica* is commonly referred to as "Yass" or "Gole Yass" by locals. It can be sugar, white, pink or brown. The strong scent of jasmine activates the parasympathetic nerves. This document has been successful in stopping allergic reactions in animals.

One observer found that the aroma of jasmine tea had an effect on the frightened autonomic system and calmed the mind. Important volatile compounds in jasmine tea are linalool, benzyl alcohol, benzyl acetate, (Z)-tri-hexenyl-benzoate, indole, methylanthranilate, and α -forene. wave activity. Another study in the healing homes of jasmine critical oil (shown in Figure 4). The use of jasmine vital oil in aromatherapy can alleviate depression and improve cognition in members In addition, Vidayati et al conducted the results of aging and physical disorders on sleep problems in the elderly. adults If it helps to use New experimental findings highlight the importance of screening other for the effect of aromatherapy as an easy and smooth drug with minimal results to improve sleep in untreated dialysis patients (Sultani et al., 2023).

Fig. 4: Jasmine Oil



J. Multiflorum and J. Mesnyi contain high levels of secoiridoids, lactones, flavonoids, and diverse terpenoids and triterpenoids. Studies have indicated that plants belonging to the Jasminum genus are esteemed medicinal herbs in various areas of India and other locations. These are commonly utilized in folk medicine for a range of issues like cuts, ailments, skin disorders, brain disorders, and sores. Both flowers have antioxidants and can be used to enhance someone's emotions. Both J. Multiflorum and J. Mesnyi stems were selected for evaluation as potential antidepressants based on their abundance of terpenoids and flavonoid compounds. The present research assessed and contrasted the efficiency of antidepressants across different species. The research employed experimental techniques like the forced swim test, tail suspension test, head twitch test triggered by 5-HT, tetrabenazine blocking, and chronic unpredictable mild stress (Garg et al., 2024).

Rose

Rose the members of the *Rosaceae* family, roses, are among the most well-known and most cultivated medicinal plants worldwide, even though their home is in the Middle East. The essential oil of the petals of Rosa species, in particular, *R. Damascena* and *R. Centifolia*, commonly known as rose oil, is of great importance. Written evidence shows that rose oil has been produced since ancient times in Greece, and today, production mainly takes place in Bulgaria, Turkey, and Morocco. This valuable oil (Figure 5) is pale yellow and partially crystallized; therefore, it is also very expensive (Mohebitabar et al., 2017).

A study in Kashan province, Iran revealed 95 compounds in *R. Damassena* essential oil, with β -citronellol, nonadecane and geraniol being the most abundant. It has been shown to have effects on the critical worried system of reducing morphine withdrawal symptoms Rose oil from exceptional sources has additionally been studied for its sedative and sedating properties. One example is when Hongratanaworakit (2009) investigated the cooling effects of rose oil (obtained from Rosa damascena Mill, *Rosaceae*) in humans after transdermal absorption (Mohebitabar et al., 2017).

Sandalwood

Sandalwood oil from the Santalum album plant, belonging to the Santalaceae family, has been utilized in India for its medicinal properties for centuries. Oil is extracted from sandalwood by either hydrodistillation or steam distillation, obtained from the wood and roots. India ships out this oil (depicted in figure 6) in large quantities. It is believed to enhance the oxygen flow to the pineal and pituitary glands. The primary chemical compounds consist of α and β santolol and santenone. It is utilized for alleviating depression, anxiety, stress, nervousness, and insomnia. It has also been

researched for its role in helping to fight against herpes simplex virus by blocking its ability to reproduce. The primary components of sandalwood oil consist of tricyclic α -santalol and β -santalol. Sandalwood essential oil enhanced neurological rehabilitation (Younis et al. 2020). Decreased oxidative stress, and mitigated inflammatory reactions in mice subjected to middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) surgery (Murugesh et al., 2024).



Fig. 5: Rose Oil





Administering methanol extracts of sandalwood to albino mice proved to have inhibitory effects on acetylcholinesterase and showed superoxide radical scavenging abilities by α , α -diphenyl β -picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), indicating its ability to potentially hinder the advancement of dementia and memory loss in Alzheimer's patients. Furthermore, a study from 2016 with 32 human subjects demonstrated decreases in both blood pressure and salivary cortisol levels, indicating its ability to decrease stress (Murugesh et al., 2024).

Frankincense

Boswellia resin extraction. This resin is derived from trees belonging to the *Boswellia* genus, primarily from five species: *Carterii, serrata, papyrifera, sacra, and frerana*. Chemical analysis shows that it contains more than 200 diverse natural compounds such as terpenoids, polyphenols, and tannins. It aids in reducing stress and improving sleep. Figure 7 depicts the presentation of Frankincense essential oil.

It is also utilized for lessening the severity of labor pains and asthma to assist with breathing. In a recent animal experiment, adult male rats deprived of sleep were given frankincense essential oil to test its potential for reducing anxiety and impacting their sleep and wake patterns (Murugesh et al., 2024).

Stress and depression can affect the occurrence of epilepsy in individuals with epilepsy. Stress and anxiety can shrink the tumor and reduce the risk of acne. In addition, the emotional burden associated with epilepsy can increase feelings of anxiety and sadness, leading to stronger interactions between these factors in controlling epilepsy and glutamate) and affected the density of muscarinic (M1, M2) and dopaminergic (D2) receptors in the striatum and hippocampus. Despite significant efforts to find effective treatments for SE, uncontrolled epilepsy occurs in up to 30% of individuals with epilepsy. Therefore, SE wants to act immediately to prevent its own harm and death (Hosny et al., 2020).

Fig. 7: Frankincense Oil



Lemon

Lemon oil, an essential oil of Citrus *limon L. Osbeck*, is considered useful for both culinary and medicinal applications, due to its association with the *Rutaceae* family. Studies have shown its efficacy in animal models, particularly in the pressurized swimming test (PST), where inhalation of lemon oil causes a rapid reduction in immobilization time, thus presenting potential antidepressant effects. However, in concurrent results, it reduced locomotion and exploration in the open field test, indicative of a sedative effect.

The composition of *Citrus limon L. Osbeck* oil, with limonene at 53%, geranyl acetate at 10%, and trans-limonene oxide at 7% as major components, determines its action in pharmacological evaluation. Studies have validated the dose-dependent variations in antidepressant, anxiolytic, and hypolocomotor effects in animal models. However, the effect of monoterpenes such as limonene decreases after acute treatment in the forced swim test. Limonene, after a 15-day treatment, showed its potential in reducing the immobility time in the FST paradigm in neuropathic pain-induced rats. Citrus limon *L. Osbeck*-derived lemon oil causes complex pharmacological effects, which are under monoterpenes' control. Limonene plays a central role in the modulation of neuropathic pain-related behaviors. (De Sousa et al., 2017).



Fig. 8: Lemon Oil

A possible mechanism of the antidepressant effect of LO involves the modulation of neurotransmitter transmission, particularly serotonin (5-HT) and dopamine. Pretreatment with a variety of pharmacological agents, including buspirone, DOI, myaserin, apomorphine, and haloperidol, reduced the depressive effect of LO. In addition, acute exposure to LO resulted in increased levels of 5-HT and dopamine within the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, parts of the brain responsible for emotional response. Because of the critical role of 5-HT and dopamine in mood modulation and the importance of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in regulating mood, it is likely that limonene, a principal component of CLLO, may mediate the antidepressant effect of LO. It is possible that the observed antidepressant effects of LO may be

mediated by regional levels of serotonin and dopamine, since both play key roles in mood modulation and since the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex play active roles in mood-related behaviors (De Sousa et al., 2017).

In the ultramodern era, there has been an immense demand to explore and use plant-derived compounds against the growth of microorganisms and oxidative processes in foods. However, information on the in vivo effectiveness of the antimicrobial activity of flower-derived essential oils, especially in meat, is still lacking. The in vitro response to different food microorganisms, including bacteria, molds, and yeasts, and the antibacterial action of Citrus limon essential oil against food microorganisms, are yet to be clearly defined. The present study is therefore an original contribution designed to evaluate the chemical composition of Tunisian lemon essential oil (CIEO) (as shown in figure 8) using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis. The objectives of the research were to evaluate the antioxidant and in vitro antimicrobial activities of CIEO, analyze its effect on the quality parameters of refrigerated stored unheated ground beef, and estimate its ability to inhibit the growth of Listeria monocytogenes in raw ground meat stored under refrigerated conditions.(Ben Hsouna et al., 2017).

Precautions and Limitations of Aromatherapy

Certainly! Aromatherapy, which involves the usage of vital oils for healing purposes, can be quite beneficial. However, like all practice, it has its precautions and obstacles. Let's dive into the ones:

Toxicity OF Essential Oil

Essential oils are robust and ought to in no way be ingested or carried out undiluted to the pores and skin. Swallowing them may be dangerous, and direct skin utility may additionally purpose infection.

Always dilute crucial oils with a provider oil (like sweet almond or olive oil) before making use of them on your skin. Remember, natural doesn't always mean safe.

Inhalation Caution

Be cautious when using vaporized oils if you have asthma or are prone to nosebleeds. Don't use aromatic plant oils in sensitive areas, such as the ears, mouth or vagina.

Long-Term Use

Some essential oils can be hard on the body with extended use. This may cause damage to the liver or kidneys. Always follow recommended guidelines and consult a health professional about their use.

Interaction with Medications

Essential oils can interact with medications and cause problems. Always consult your doctor, especially if you're on medications.

Dilution Matters

Dilution ratios are very important. In most cases, you'll want to use a few drops of essential oil in a carrier oil (like almond oil or olive oil). Patch test by placing a few drops on a small area on your forearm before using it in larger amounts.

Conclusion

Aromatherapy, the therapeutic use of essential oils has shown promising effects in treating stress, anxiety and depression by means of both olfaction and cutaneous routes. Essential oils like lavender, chamomile, bergamot, jasmine, rose, sandalwood, frankincense, and lemon are neuroactive and exert their action on the central nervous system by enhancing the activity of the neurotransmitters serotonin and dopamine. These essential oils thus help to overcome mood disorders, improve sleep, and foster emotional well-being. However, in spite of its therapeutic benefits, caution with its use is needed because of possible toxicity and skin irritations, as well as interactions with other medications. Dilution and proper application and consultation with healthcare professionals are important to ensure its safety and efficacy. Further research is necessary to fully elucidate the mechanisms and make the applications of these natural remedies in modern medicine more extensive.

REFERENCES

Algristian, H., Bintarti, T. W., Baroroh, R. N. M., Leila, Q., Ulfa, R., Krismawati, A., and Satriotomo, I. (2022). Protective effect of lavender essential oils on depression and multi-organ stress. *Bali Medical Journal*, *11*(3), 1357-1363.

Ben Hsouna, A., Ben Halima, N., Smaoui, S., and Hamdi, N. (2017). Citrus lemon essential oil: Chemical composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activities with its preservative effect against Listeria monocytogenes inoculated in minced beef meat. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, *16*, 1-11.

Cao, X., Zhou, J., Liu, J., Chen, H., and Zheng, W. (2023). Aromatherapy in anxiety, depression, and insomnia: A bibliometric

study and visualization analysis. Heliyon, 9(7), e18380.

- Cho, E. H., Lee, M.-Y., and Hur, M.-H. (2017). The effects of aromatherapy on intensive care unit patients' stress and sleep quality: a nonrandomised controlled trial. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2017.
- De Sousa, D. P., Silva, R. H., Silva, E. F. d., and Gavioli, E. C. (2017). Essential oils and their constituents: an alternative source for novel antidepressants. *Molecules*, 22(8), 1290.
- Garg, P., Aggarwal, N., Garg, V., Dutt, R., Singh, R. P., Kumar, V., and Ahmad, S. F. (2024). Assessment of Antidepressant Activity of Stem of Jasminum multiflorum Andrews and Jasminum mesnyi Hance by Modulating Neurochemicals and Reducing Oxidative Stress. *Journal of Biological Regulators and Homeostatic Agents*, *38*(2), 1649-1661.
- Ghavami, T., Kazeminia, M., and Rajati, F. (2022). The effect of lavender on stress in individuals: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 68, 102832.
- Hedigan, F., Sheridan, H., and Sasse, A. (2023). Benefit of inhalation aromatherapy as a complementary treatment for stress and anxiety in a clinical setting–A systematic review. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, 101750.
- Hosny, E. N., Elhadidy, M. E., Sawie, H. G., Kilany, A., and Khadrawy, Y. A. (2020). Effect of frankincense oil on the neurochemical changes induced in rat model of status epilepticus. *Clinical Phytoscience*, 6(1), 1-11.
- Ma'arif, B., Nurfadhilah, E., Muslikh, F. A., Aditama, A. P. R., Suryadinata, A., Ahdi, I. R., and Maulina, N. (2023). Formulation of aromatherapy massage oil from Lavender (Lavandula angustifolia), Chamomile (Matricaria recutita), and Petitgrain (Citrus aurantium) for stress relief. *Journal of Medicinal and Chemical Sciences*, 6(12), 3078-3086.
- Mei-Ling, C., Yueh-Er, C., and Hui-Fang, L. (2022). The effect of bergamot essential oil aromatherapy on improving depressive mood and sleep quality in postpartum women: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Nursing Research*, *30*(2), e201.
- Mohebitabar, S., Shirazi, M., Bioos, S., Rahimi, R., Malekshahi, F., and Nejatbakhsh, F. (2017). Therapeutic efficacy of rose oil: A comprehensive review of clinical evidence. *Avicenna Journal of Phytomedicine*, 7(3), 206.
- Murugesh, V., Shetty, D., Kurmi, A., Tirlotkar, S., Shetty, S., and Solanke, S. (2024). A comprehensive review of essential oils for depression management. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, *13*(2), 60-70.
- Sah, A., Naseef, P. P., Kuruniyan, M. S., Jain, G. K., Zakir, F., and Aggarwal, G. (2022). A comprehensive study of therapeutic applications of chamomile. *Pharmaceuticals*, 15(10), 1284.
- Srivastava, J. K., Shankar, E., and Gupta, S. (2010). Chamomile: A herbal medicine of the past with a bright future. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, *3*(6), 895-901.
- Sultani, A., Mirhosseini, Z., Rastaghi, S., and Rad, M. (2023). Effects of Aromatherapy with Jasmine Essential Oil on the Sleep Quality of Hemodialysis Patients. *Journal of Holistic Nursing And Midwifery*, *33*(1), 61-68.
- Wakui, N., Togawa, C., Ichikawa, K., Matsuoka, R., Watanabe, M., Okami, A., and Machida, Y. (2023). Relieving psychological stress and improving sleep quality by bergamot essential oil use before bedtime and upon awakening: A randomized crossover trial. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 77, 102976.
- Zhang, H., Zeng, X.-I., and Li, J.-Z. (2023). The effectiveness of aromatherapy on stress management in nurses: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials.

Chapter 07

Sustainable Strategies: Integration of Essential Oils in Ruminant Nutrition

Jesús Hernández-Ruiz¹, Ana Isabel Mireles-Arriaga¹*, Liliana Aguilar-Marcelino², José Antonio Hernández-Marín³ and Ilse Alejandra Huerta-Arredondo¹

¹División de Ciencias de la Vida, Departamento de Agronomía, Universidad de Guanajuato, México*

²Centro Nacional de Investigación Disciplinaria en Salud Animal e Inocuidad, INIFAP, México

³División de Ciencias de la Vida, Departamento de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad de Guanajuato, México *Corresponding author: ana.mireles@ugto.mx

ABSTRACT

Essential oils (EOs) have shown capacity to adjust rumen ferment action and heighten nutrient usage, impacting critter vigor and doingness. Albeit hopeful, their utilization confronts obstacles such as likely antifeed nutrient effects and alterations in the flavor of beast yields, which might impinge on dry matter consumption. Plus, inconsistency in measurement and the chemical makeup of the EOs utilized, alongside variances in feedstuffs and beastly physiognomy, present difficulties. The future is seen in nutrigenomics to direct cud-chewer foodstuff crafting, aiming at evaluating existent hurdles and suggesting fresh pathways for the domain. Henceforth, this passage gifts a broad view of EOs blended into cud-chewer sustenance through these points: impacts on ruminal fermentation plus microbial ecosystem; antimicrobe potency, influence on ruminant outputting, antibiotic substitutes; also, methane management.

KEYWORDS	Received: 13-May-2024	CUENTIFIC AL	A Publication of
Antimicrobial activity, Methanogenesis perspectives, Ruminal	Revised: 19-July-2024		Unique Scientific
fermentation, Ruminant nutrition essential oils	Accepted: 16-Aug-2024	SUSP	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Hernández-Ruiz J, Mireles-Arriaga AI, Aguilar-Marcelino L, Hernández-Marín JA and Huerta-Arredondo IA, 2024. Sustainable strategies: integration of essential oils in ruminant nutrition. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 63-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.173</u>

INTRODUCTION

Chemical Composition of Essential Oils

In a vast spectrum of vegetation, essential essences (EOs) are located, with notably essential vegetal families including Lamiaceae, Lauraceae, Asteraceae, Myrtaceae, and Rutaceae standing out. To derive essential essences from various plant parts such as bark, seeds, roots, stems, flowers, and leaves, steam distillation, solvent extraction, cold pressing, and expression techniques are commonly used. The chemical blend of EOs is recognized for being complex, consisting of small molecules such as long-chain hydrocarbons, acids, alcohols, aldehydes, phenols, non-ring esters, and lactones, which may vary within the same plant species (Kim et al., 2022). However, certain species possess signature compounds, such as Cinnamomum verum, where Cinnamyl acetate is listed in Table 1.

Several studies have focused on evaluating the chemical composition of essential oils, as it plays a crucial role in their potential use in ruminant nutrition and production. According to Wells (2023), 28 species of essential oils have been used in ruminant feeding, grouped into 15 botanical families, with the most representative being the Lamiaceae family, which includes six species: Oregano (*Origanum vulgare*), Mexican oregano (*Lippia berlandieri*), Poliomintha longiflora, Thyme (Thymus vulgaris), Peppermint (*Mentha x piperita*), and Lavender (*Lavandula angustifolia*) (Table 1).

Oil extracts are paramount from three species: *Lippia berlandieri*, *Poliomintha*, or *Origanum vulgare*, which are critical sources of terpenoids such as carvacrol, thymol, p-cymene, γ-terpinene, limonene, caryophyllene, myrcene, and humulene (Noriega et al., 2022). Garlic essential oil (*Allium sativum*) contains disulfide components including sulfur-like disulfide, trisulfide, and diallyl tetrasulfide dimethyl, along with trisulfide (Saharan et al., 2023). These compounds present in essential oils impart antibacterial qualities directly related to methane reduction when introduced into the diets of ruminant creatures as part of their routine food intake (Kholif et al., 2017).

Within the genus of plants known as Cymbopogon, an extraction process for essential oils takes place among three varieties: *C. citratus*, *C. nardus*, and *C. martini*. The substances extracted include aldehydes (such as Citral and Citronellal), alcohols (such as Geraniol and Linalool), esters (with Geranyl acetate present), as well as Limonene, β -Caryophyllene, and Elemol. These compounds have a specific ability to affect rumen activities while also acting as antioxidants and addressing hyperammonemia conditions (Kholif et al., 2017).

Plant Species	Main Compounds:	Mode of Use	Biological Activity:	Ruminant Type
Allium stavium	Diallyl disulfide			<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
	Diallyl trisulfide	feed additive	antimicrobial, anti- parasitic	Bovine, sheep
	Sulfur compounds			
Artemisia afra	α-thujone			
	1,8-cineole			Devices
	β-thujone	oral drench	anti-parasitic	Bovine
	Camphor			
Azadirachta indica	Azadirachtin			
	Nimbin	ovtornal	acaricidal	Rovino
	Salannin	external	acancidai	DOVINE
	Nimbidin			
Capsicum spp	Capsaicin		milk production ruminal	
	Dihydrocapsaicin	food additive, external,	function heat stress	Bovine sheen
	Nordihydrocapsaicin	fumigation	methane reduction	bovine, sheep
	Homocapsaicin		methane reduction	
Cedrus atlantica	α- Himachalene			
	γ- Himachalene	external	anti-parasitic	Bovine
	δ-Cadinene			
<u> </u>	α-Cadinol			
Cinnamomum	Eugenol			
verum		feed additive	mastitis	Bovine
	α - Transcinnamaldehyde			
City	β- Caryophyllene			
Citrus spp.	Limonene			
	Citral	feed additive, external	function mostific	Bovine
	Citanal		function, mastitis	
Coriandrum				
contantarum	Campbor		rumon function mothano	
Suttvum	camphol g-Terpipeol	feed additive	reduction, heat stress	Bovine
	a-Terpineo		reduction, near stress	
Cymbonogon	Citral			
citratus	Geraniol			
citiatas	Limonene	external	anti-parasitic	Bovine
	Citronelal			
Cymbonoaon	Geraniol			
martini	Geranyl acetate			
	Linalool	external	anti-parasitic	Bovine
	β-Caryophyllene			
Cymbopogon	Citronellol			
nardus	Geraniol	6 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	ruminal function, methane	
	Elemol	food additive	reduction, heat stress	Bovine, sheep
	Citronellol			
Foeniculum	Linalool			
vulgare (hinojo)	Estragole	intranasal (BRD), food	Antimicrobial	Povino
	Fenchone	additive	Antimicrobiai.	DOVINE
	Limonene			
Juniperus	α-Pinene			
communis	β-Myrcene	food additive	milk production	Bovine
	δ-3-Carene		mik production	Dovine
	Terpinolene			
Lavandula	Linalool			
angustifolia	Linalyl acetate	external mammary,	Antimicrobial, acaricidal	Bovine
	1,8-cineole	infusion		
	Borneol			
Melaleuca	lerpinen-4-ol			
alternifolia	γ-Terpinene	external	acaricida	Bovine
	α-rerpineol			
	I,ö-cineol			

Table 1: Major plant species, compounds, method of application, and biological activity of essential oils (EOs) used in Ruminants (Source: adapted and modified from Wells, 2023).
Mentha x piperita	Menhtol Menthone Menthyl acetate Limonene	food additive	milk production, heat stress, antiparasitic. External: antiparasitic	Bovine, sheep
Origanum vulgare, Lippia berlandieri, Poliomintha longiflora	Carvacrol Timol 1,8-Cineol Estragole Borneol	feed additive, externa	antimicrobial, milk production, rumen function, methane reduction, heat stress	Bovine
Pelargonium graveolens	Citronellol Geraniol 10-epi-γ-eudesmol Guaiol	external	antiparasitic	Bovine
Pimpimella anisum	Anethole Estragole Methylchavicol Foeniculin	food additive:	antimicrobial, milk production	Bovine
Salvia rosmarinus	1,8-cineol α-pinene β-pinene Camphor	food additive	antimicrobial, ruminal function	Bovine
Senecio barbertonicus	Santolinatriol Sentequinone Senecionanetin Senecionine	oral drench	antiparasitic.	Ovinos
Sonchus congestus	Germacrene D β - Caryophyllene δ -cadinene Camazulene	oral drench	antiparasitic.	Sheep
Syzygium aromaticum	Eugenol β- Caryophyllene Eugenyl acetate α-Humulene	food additive, external, fumigation	antimicrobial, milk production, ruminal function, methane reduction, heat stress.	Bovine
Thymus vulgaris	Thymol Carvacrol p-Cimene γ-Terpinene	external mammary infusion, external, intranasal (BRD), external (mastitis)	antimicrobial, ruminal function, methane reduction.	Bovine
Zingiber officinale	Zingiberene Ar-curcumene 1,8-cineole β-bisabolene	external	antiparasitic, bactericidal	Bovine

Let's journey into the realm of cinnamon essential oil, where we're discussing the species known all fancily as *Cinnamomum verum*. It's rich with Aldehydes, featuring α -Transcinnamaldehyde, the classic spicy-smelling Cinnamaldehyde, and its cousin, (E)-Cinnamaldehyde. Let's not overlook those Esters making their mark, with "Cinnamylish" acetate taking the stage in its alternate universe version, ((E)-Cinnamamide acetate). There's also a gathering of Terpenoids here, with β -Caryophyllene joining Pinene, Phellandrene, Limonene, Copaene, and Caryophyllene oxide. All wrapped up under the observation of Farag et al. (2022), this cinnamon ensemble is gearing up nicely against threats like Aspergillus and Candida albicans. They've positioned themselves as contenders, potentially outshining conventional disinfectants in the ongoing battle within livestock production systems.

Nevertheless, it is important to recognize that the density of substances within the EO can fluctuate based on elements like Geographic location, developmental phase of the plant, type of plant, method used for extraction, and also the amount and technique used in its application (Schären et al., 2017).

Effects on Ruminal Fermentation and Microbial Ecology

Oils of essence underwent examination for impacts on population's microbial rumen and procedures fermentative. It was demonstrated that essential oils, due to its active compounds, impact the fermentation of ruminal microbial and nutrient flow (Paraskevakis, 2018). These components can sway the creation of by-products fermentation like acetate, butyrate, formate, lactate, hydrogen, and ammonia by bacteria gram-positive in the rumen showing that oils essences possibly change fermentation in rumen by bettering efficiency use energy plus lessening emissions methane (Zhou et al.,

2020). Yet, several writers signal that outcomes are erratic concerning the influence of essential essences on stomach fermentation and beast efficiency. This could stem from inconsistency in portioning and chemical makeup of the vital essences applied, as well as fluctuations in feedings and creature science (Schären et al., 2017).

A concoction of critical extracts from clove, marjoram, cinnamon bark, and citron shows potent anti-life action towards rumen single-celled life forms and gram-positive microbes, impacting the generation of assorted fermentative side-products such unmixed propionic acid derivative esterified additive $C_2H_3O_2^-$ anion radioactive carbon series liquid antecedent nitriles ammonia mixed (Lin et al., 2013).

Oil extracts mixtures trim down the occurrence of ancient one-celled organisms protozoa's specific small living entities within stomachs altering ruminant microbial assembly. Adding strong scents to lamb sustenance influences tummy agitation by lessening grub cell partition digestion (Barreto-Cruz et al., 2023).

Several studies have explored the effects of essential oils on digestion, ruminal fermentation, microbial populations, as well as milk production and composition in dairy cows. These studies emphasize the adaptation of rumen microbes to essential oils over time and discuss potential limitations in improving nutrient utilization and milk production in dairy cows (Benchaar, 2021).

Antimicrobial Activity

Significant attention has been attracted by essential oils within the domain of ruminant nutrition for their antimicrobial traits and potential influence on ruminal microbial fermentation, nutrient usage, and efficiency in milk production. Active elements are contained in essential oils which show antimicrobial functions across a broad spectrum of microorganisms that includes bacteria (gram-negative and gram-positive), protozoa and fungi (Benchaar et al., 2008). These antimicrobial effects have been attributed to various small terpenoid and phenolic compounds present in essential oils. Additionally, essential oils have been suggested as alternatives to traditional antimicrobials such as monensin, aiming to enhance feed efficiency, nutrient utilization, and milk yield in ruminants (Benchaar, 2020).

Investigations unveil that EO mixtures might sway the microbial brewing in the rumen by tweaking elements like the complete sum of volatile chunky acids (VFAs) and propionate turnout. Besides, discoveries denote that crucial oils along with their terpenic parts sway the metabolism within the rumen, microbial tribes, and eventually bear upon parameters linked with milk yielding (Lejonklev et al., 2016). Such influences on ruminal fermenting and microbe groupings underscore the promising use of essential essences as fodder enhancements for cud-chewing beasts. Moreover, exploring has been done on how vital scents adjust bacterial colonies engaged in fatty acid biohydrogenation inside the rumen which might provoke shifts in fatty acid profiles within dairy and flesh outputs from cud-munchers (Liu et al., 2020). While critical aromatic compounds exhibit promises in exerting anti-microbic actions and amping up certain slices of ruminal operation, divergent outcomes have been logged concerning their impact on fermentation inside ruminants' stomachs, consumption rate of nutrients, plus dairy generation among milking bovines (Benchaar, 2021). These disparities could be pinned to variables such as distinct essential scent blends utilized doses put into feed-specific nourishment practices for animals altogether clubbed with trial surroundings.

Impact on Ruminant Production

In general, the addition of EOs to the diets of small ruminants (goats and sheep) improves the Average Daily Gain (Andri et al., 2020). It has also been suggested that essential oils could potentially influence ruminal fatty acid biohydrogenation, thereby affecting the quality of milk and meat produced (Zhou et al., 2020). This effect is partly related to the antimicrobial activity of essential oils, which reduces the population of ruminal protozoa, potentially increasing microbial protein and energy supply, ultimately enhancing the growth rate of small ruminants (Soltan et al., 2018).

The addition of a supplement of EOs from anise, cinnamon, garlic, rosemary, and thyme in pre-weaned calves improves immunity and lower fecal scores in the pre-weaning phase. Hence, essential oils are a healthy additive option for modern production systems and could be used as an alternative to enhance calf health and performance (Palhares et al., 2021).

The essential oil of Greek oregano (*Origanum vulgare*), provided at doses starting from 1 mL in lactating Alpine goats, increases the activity of the enzymes glutathione peroxidase and reductase in both blood and milk, enhancing the antioxidant system and helping to minimize oxidative damage during lactation (Paraskevakis, 2018). In dairy cows, supplementation with oregano EO may alter the organoleptic characteristics of milk, without showing effects on feed conversion (Lejonklev et al., 2016; Hadrová et al., 2021). Supplementation with garlic extract (*Allium sativum*) in goats and sheep can increase milk production, protein content, and non-fat solids. However, it decreases the percentage of fat and non-protein nitrogen in milk (Ding et al., 2023).

The inclusion of rosemary essential oil (*Salvia rosmarinus*) in goats' diet improved nutrient digestibility, ruminal fermentation without affecting pH, daily milk production, fat and protein content, and at a dose of 230 g/animal/day in goats reduced milk coagulation time, decreased C10:0 and C14:0 fatty acids content, and increased the percentage of C17:0, C18:2 fatty acids, and polyunsaturated fatty acids (Smeti et al., 2021). This effect is similar to that reported by Kholif et al. (2017) when using lemongrass (*Cymbopogon citratus*) as a supplement in goats' diet.

In dairy cows, the addition of rosemary extract to their diet increases production and content of fats, proteins, and lactose, while reducing the number of somatic cells (white blood cells and epithelial cells) present in milk (Kong et al.,

2022).

Moringa oleifera leaf extract at doses of 10 to 40 mL daily improves milk production by up to 6% in Nubian goats and increases total solids, non-fat solids, fats, proteins, and lactose in milk (Kholif et al., 2019).

The incorporation of rosmarinic acid, a chemical compound present in various plants, especially in the Lamiaceae family, in combination with probiotics as a food additive can increase average daily gain, starter intake, and total dry matter intake (Stefańska et al., 2021).

Alternative to Antibiotics

In intensive animal production for feed, antibiotics are used to prevent and treat various bacterial diseases. However, they are also used as a food additive to enhance the effectiveness of ingested foods in products for human consumption, such as milk and meat. This excessive and inappropriate use of antibiotics has led to the emergence of bacterial resistance, posing a threat to global health (Benchaar et al., 2020; Haulisah et al., 2021).

The most used antibiotics are a) tetracyclines, such as oxytetracycline, which are commonly used due to their broadspectrum activity against a wide range of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (Almaraz-Buendía et al., 2019); b) penicillin, such as amoxicillin, frequently used in the treatment of respiratory and skin infections in ruminants; c) macrolides, particularly azithromycin, are commonly prescribed due to their anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties, which are beneficial in managing respiratory diseases in ruminants (Montoya et al., 2022).

EOs are proposed as a sustainable alternative to antibiotics in the livestock sector, due to their antimicrobial properties and safety. For example, thyme and oregano oils exhibit strong antimicrobial and antioxidant activities. It is important to note that the antimicrobial activity of EOs is influenced by their chemical composition, and certain components such as carvacrol, thymol, and eugenol which play a significant role in determining their effectiveness against microorganisms (Redondo et al., 2021).

Below, studies on the use of essential oils that have proven to be effective in controlling bacteria and nematodes are discussed, suggesting their potential for disease control in ruminant livestock.

EOs from *Rosmarinus officinalis* (rosemary), *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree), and *Cinnamomum cassia* (cassia) have high antimicrobial activity (Abers et al., 2021).

Extracts from *Caesalpinia spinosa* showed antimicrobial effect on antibiotic-resistant strains of *Staphylococcus aureus*. This study is relevant as it demonstrates the potential of extracts as an alternative to antibiotics and their potential application in animal health (Coral et al., 2022).

The essential oil of *A. sativum* has been shown to be effective in controlling nematode parasites in sheep, presenting the same effect as the synthetic agent albendazole at 10% (Masamha et al., 2010).

There are other EOs that have only been evaluated in vitro, such as the plants *M. afra* and *M. longifolia*, which are candidates for the treatment of gastrointestinal larval infections (Wells, 2023). Similarly, extracts from *Tithonia tubaeformis* have antioxidant and antibacterial effects on *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Salmonella enteritidis*, and Listeria (García-Vázquez et al., 2023). However, in both cases, the mechanisms of their in vivo efficacy have not yet been evaluated, and it is considered necessary to conduct in vivo safety and toxicity studies to determine the minimum non-lethal concentrations required for the treatment of infections in ruminants.

Methanogenesis Control

Methanogenesis is a biological process by which methane (CH₄) is produced by microorganisms called methanogens. This process is crucial in the degradation of organic matter in anaerobic environments, such as the rumen of ruminant animals and aquatic sediments. Methanogens are microorganisms belonging to the Archaea domain and are capable of synthesizing methane from organic substrates, such as hydrogen and carbon dioxide, or simple organic compounds, such as acetic acid.

Oregano oil and carvacrol are two essential oils that have been extensively studied for their ability to inhibit ruminal methanogenesis both in vitro and in vivo. These essential oils contain active compounds that can modulate ruminal microbial fermentation, potentially reducing methane emissions by affecting fermentation pathways and promoting alternative hydrogen sinks such as propionate production (Benchaar, 2020).

As evidenced by reports, aromatherapy fluids could enhance ruminant digestion by boosting volatile fatty acid production and decreasing methane emission by inhibiting the operations of bacteria responsible to produce methane. Ingredients like tannin compounds, soap-like materials, and ion transporters are likely causes of reducing methane levels in cud-chewing livestock through inhibiting methane-producing processes or dissolving digestion pathways. These agents can radically improve microbial populations within the stomach cavity, reducing emissions of gas and increasing feed utilization (Becker et al., 2023).

Challenges and Future Perspectives

Since EOs are hydrophobic and lipophilic, they could influence the ruminal environment in a similar way to antibiotic admixtures. The effects of EOs on bacterial membranes have been established in many studies and reduce microbial populations, contributing to a potential increase in the response. Other limitations include EOs' antinutritional qualities, modification of the product's palatability following animal acceptance, which might decrease dry matter intake (Almeida et

al., 2021). Future perspectives lie in nutrigenomics, where ruminant nutrition engineering can be guided by assessing current challenges and proposing new directions for the field (Kizilaslan et al., 2022).

EOs, as volatile secondary metabolites of plants, are gaining popularity as alternatives to traditional growth-promoting antibiotics, offering a sustainable approach to improving ruminant nutrition (Nel et al., 2021). They have the potential to reduce ruminal protozoa populations, increase microbial protein and energy supply, and ultimately improve growth rates in small ruminants (Andri et al., 2020). The use of EO may contribute to methane mitigation in ruminant production systems, aligning with sustainable practices (Durmic et al., 2021). By harnessing plant bioactivity to reduce methane, strategies involving low-methanogenic forage species and plant-derived by-products can offer renewable solutions with minimal impacts on forage digestibility, especially if complemented with EO positively impacting ruminal fermentation and microbial communities, to enhance the health attributes of animal products (Zhou et al., 2020).

Conclusion

One potential perspective is nutrigenomics, as the application of essential oils in the nutrition of ruminants is a substitute for chemosynthesis drugs, increases the animal's well-being and productivity. The overall daily increase in weight with a EO does not harm feed intake and FCR. Their use influences animal products as the acids in milk can contribute to meat preservation, reducing the need for additives. One significant effect of EO use is the reduction of enteric methane production. However, there are still controversial outcomes as ruminal microbiota can adapt to EO presence, diminishing antimicrobial and antiparasitic effects or reducing food degradation by minimizing volatile fatty acid production, thus making certain essential nutrients less accessible for animal development.

The generation of new *in vivo* research is essential, considering parameters such as dosage, addition method to the diet, duration of use, age and species of the animal, as well as the synergistic effect with other compounds like phenolics or animal diet ingredients.

REFERENCES

- Abers, M., Schroeder, S., Goelz, L., Sulser, A., St. Rose, T., Puchalski, K., and Langland, J. (2021). Antimicrobial activity of the volatile substances from essential oils. *BMC Complementary Medicine and Therapies*, 21, 1-14.
- Almaraz-Buendía, I., Garcia, A., Sánchez-Santillán, P., Torres-Salado, N., Herrera-Pérez, J., Luzardo, M., and Rojas-García, A. (2019). Análisis bromatológico y producción de gas in vitro de forrajes utilizados en el trópico seco mexicano. Archivos De Zootecnia, 68(262), 260-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.21071/az.v68i262.4145</u>
- Almeida, A., Hegarty, R., and Cowie, A. (2021). Meta-analysis quantifying the potential of dietary additives and rumen modifiers for methane mitigation in ruminant production systems. *Animal Nutrition*, 7(4), 1219-1230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2021.09.005</u>
- Andri, F., Huda, A. N., and Marjuki, M. (2020). The use of essential oils as a growth promoter for small ruminants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. F1000Research, 9, 486.
- Barreto-Cruz, O. T., Henao Zambrano, J. C., Castañeda-Serrano, R. D., and Peñuela Sierra, L. M. (2023). Assessing the *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* Effect of Supplementation with a Garlic (*Allium sativum*) and Oregano (*Origanum vulgare*) Essential Oil Mixture on Digestibility in West African Sheep. *Veterinary Sciences*, 10(12), 695.
- Becker, F., Spengler, K., Reinicke, F., and Diepen, C. H. (2023). Impact of essential oils on methane emissions, milk yield, and feed efficiency and resulting influence on the carbon footprint of dairy production systems. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 30(17), 48824-48836. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-023-26129-8</u>
- Benchaar, C. (2020). Feeding oregano oil and its main component carvacrol does not affect ruminal fermentation, nutrient utilization, methane emissions, milk production, or milk fatty acid composition of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 103(2), 1516-1527. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/ids.2019-17230</u>
- Benchaar, C. (2021). Diet supplementation with thyme oil and its main component thymol failed to favorably alter rumen fermentation, improve nutrient utilization, or enhance milk production in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 104(1), 324-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2020-18401</u>
- Coral, B., Ordóñez, J., C, R., and Carrasco, J. (2021). Efecto antimicrobiano in vitro de extractos de caesalpinia spinosa sobre cepas de staphylococcus aureus resistentes a antibióticos betalactámicos. Odontología Sanmarquina, 24(3), 205-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.15381/os.v24i3.18433</u>
- Ding, H., Ao, C., and Zhang, X. (2023). Potential use of garlic products in ruminant feeding: A review. Animal Nutrition.
- Durmic, Z., Black, J., Martin, G., and Vercoe, P. (2021). Harnessing plant bioactivity for enteric methane mitigation in australia. *Animal Production Science*, 62(12), 1160-1172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/an21004</u>
- Farag, M. A., Kabbash, E. M., Mediani, A., Döll, S., Esatbeyoglu, T., and Afifi, S. M. (2022). Comparative metabolite fingerprinting of four different cinnamon species analyzed via UPLC–MS and GC–MS and chemometric tools. *Molecules*, 27(9), 2935. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27092935</u>
- García-Vázquez, L. M., Ocampo-López, J., Ayala-Martínez, M., Hernández-Aco, R. S., Zaragoza-Bastida, A., and Zepeda-Bastida, A. (2023). Efecto antioxidante y antibacteriano de diferentes extractos de *Tithonia tubaeformis*. *Revista Bio Ciencias*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.15741/revbio.10.e1348</u>
- Hadrová, S., Sedláková, K., Křížová, L., and Malyugina, S. (2021). Alternative and unconventional feeds in dairy diets and

their effect on fatty acid profile and health properties of milk fat. Animals, 11(6), 1817.

- Haulisah, N. A., Hassan, L., Bejo, S. K., Jajere, S. M., and Ahmad, N. I. (2021). High levels of antibiotic resistance in isolates from diseased livestock. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8, 652351.
- Hosseini, F., Miri, M. A., Najafi, M., Soleimanifard, S., and Aran, M. (2021). Encapsulation of rosemary essential oil in zein by electrospinning technique. *Journal of Food Science*, 86(9), 4070-4086.
- Kholif, A. E., Gouda, G. A., Galyean, M. L., Anele, U. Y., and Morsy, T. A. (2019). Extract of Moringa oleifera leaves increases milk production and enhances milk fatty acid profile of Nubian goats. *Agroforestry Systems*, 93, 1877-1886.
- Kim, M., Sowndhararajan, K., Deepa, P., and Kim, S. (2022). Variations in the chemical composition of essential oils in native populations of korean thyme, thymus quinquecostatus celak. *Molecules*, 27(21), 7203. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27217203</u>
- Kizilaslan, M., Arzik, Y., Cinar, M., and Konca, Y. (2022). Genome-wise engineering of ruminant nutrition nutrigenomics: applications, challenges, and future perspectives – A review. *Annals of Animal Science*, 22(2), 511-521. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/aoas-2021-0057</u>
- Kong, F., Wang, S., Dai, D., Cao, Z., Wang, Y., Li, S. and Wang, W. (2022). Preliminary investigation of the effects of rosemary extract supplementation on milk production and rumen fermentation in high-producing dairy cows. *Antioxidants*, 11 (9), 1715.
- Lejonklev, J., Kidmose, U., Jensen, S., Petersen, M. A., Helwing, A. L. F., Mortensen, G., and Larsen, M. K. (2016). Effect of oregano and caraway essential oils on the production and flavor of cow milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99(10), 7898-7903.
- Lin, B., Lü, Y., Salem, A., Wang, J., Liang, Q., and Liu, J. (2013). Effects of essential oil combinations on sheep ruminal fermentation and digestibility of a diet with fumarate included. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 184(1-4), 24-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2013.05.011</u>
- Liu, T., Chen, H., Bai, Y., Wu, J., ShuRu, C., He, B., and Casper, D. (2020). Calf starter containing a blend of essential oils and prebiotics affects the growth performance of Holstein calves. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 103(3), 2315-2323. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-16647
- Masamha, B., Gadzirayi, C. T., and Mukutirwa, I. (2010). Efficacy of *Allium Sativum* (Garlic) in Controlling Nematode Parasites in Sheep. *International Journal of Applied Research in Veterinary Medicine*, 8(3).<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules191220034</u>
- Wells, C. W. (2023). Effects of essential oils on economically important characteristics of ruminant species: A comprehensive review. *Animal Nutrition*.
- Montoya, D., Robles, M., González, M., Armijos-Delgado, S., Soto-Alvarado, J., and Alulima, O. (2022). Uso de antibióticos en COVID-19 leve, estudio piloto. *Metro Ciencia*, 30(2), 31-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.47464/metrociencia/vol30/2/2022/31-39</u>
- Nel, T., Hassen, A., Akanmu, A., and Adejoro, F. (2021). Use of essential oils in combination with fibrolytic enzymes to decrease in vitro ruminal methane production. South African Journal of Animal Science, 50(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v50i5.5</u>
- Noriega, P., Idrobo, T., Pintag, M., Vinueza, D., and Larenas, C. (2022). Actividad antiinflamatoria in-vivo de una formulación tópica con principios activos de aceites esenciales de *Cannabis sativa* I. (cáñamo) y *Baccharis latifolia*. *Revista de Ciencias de la Vida*, 37(1), 23-33.
- Palhares Campolina, J., Gesteira Coelho, S., Belli, A. L., Samarini Machado, F., R. Pereira, L. G., R. Tomich, T., and Magalhães Campos, M. (2021). Effects of a blend of essential oils in milk replacer on performance, rumen fermentation, blood parameters, and health scores of dairy heifers. *PLoS One*, 16(3), e0231068.
- Paraskevakis, N. (2018). Effects of dietary Greek oregano (*Origanum vulgare* ssp. hirtum) supplementation on rumen fermentation, enzyme profile and microbial communities in goats. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 102(3), 701-705.
- Redondo, G., Corrales, D., Rojas, M., Quiros, T., Sibaja, W., and Campos, N. (2021). Formulation and antimicrobial activity evaluation of a 0.2% chlorhexidine canine mouthwash with essential oils. *Revista Vitae*, 28(01). <u>https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.vitae.v28n1a341703</u>
- Saharan, R., Pal, P., Sachdeva, S., Kumar, S., and Singh, R. (2023). Garlic the wonder adjuvant in medicinal field. *Experimental and Applied Biomedical Research* (EABR), 24(2), 159-168.
- Schären, M., Drong, C., Kiri, K., Riede, S., Gardener, M., Meyer, U., and Dänicke, S. (2017). Differential effects of monensin and a blend of essential oils on rumen microbiota composition of transition dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 100(4), 2765-2783.
- Shang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, X., Guo, X., Dong, S., Wang, D., and Miao, X. (2016). Acaricidal activity of oregano oil and its major component, carvacrol, thymol and p-cymene against Psoroptes cuniculi *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Veterinary parasitology*, 226, 93-96.
- Smeti, S., Hajji, H., Khmiri, H., Bouzid, K. and Atti, N. (2021). Effects of partial substitution of rosemary distillation residues to oat hay on digestive aspects, milk production, and metabolic statute of Tunisian local goats. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 53, 1-10.
- Soltan, Y. A., Natel, A. S., Araujo, R. C., Morsy, A. S., and Abdalla, A. L. (2018). Progressive adaptation of sheep to a

microencapsulated blend of essential oils: Ruminal fermentation, methane emission, nutrient digestibility, and microbial protein synthesis. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 237, 8-18.

- Stefańska, B., Sroka, J., Katzer, F., Goliński, P., and Nowak, W. (2021). The effect of probiotics, phytobiotics and their combination as feed additives in the diet of dairy calves on performance, rumen fermentation and blood metabolites during the preweaning period. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 272, 114738.
- Zhou, R., Wu, J., Xia, L., Liu, L., Casper, D., Wang, C., and Wei, S. (2020). Effects of oregano essential oil on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation, methane production, and ruminal microbial community. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 103(3), 2303-2314. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-16611

Balancing Act: Essential Oils as Cost-Effective and Eco-Friendly **Disease Control in Aquatic Environments**

Kaynat Saeed¹*, Amna Ashfaq, Shizzray Imtiaz¹, Minahal Fatima¹, Abuzar Munir, Zunaira Majeed, Neha Igbal and Saddam Hussain¹ and Umar Faroog¹

¹Department of Zoology, Wildlife and Fisheries, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan ²Department of Parasitology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: kaynatsaeeduaf@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Aquatic environments, critical to both ecological balance and human industry, face significant threats from pathogenic microorganisms. Conventional chemical treatments, though effective, often lead to environmental degradation and high costs, prompting the need for sustainable alternatives. This study explores the potential of essential oils as cost-effective and eco-friendly agents for disease control in aquatic systems. Essential oils, derived from various plants, exhibit potent antimicrobial properties against a broad spectrum of pathogens. Our research focuses on evaluating the efficacy of essential oils such as tea tree, eucalyptus and thyme in controlling common aquatic pathogens, including Vibrio spp., Aeromonas spp., and Pseudomonas spp.

Conventional, Sustainable, Degradation, Microorganisms, Revised: 1 Pathogens	18-July-2024	Unique Scientific Publishers
---	--------------	---------------------------------

Cite this Article as: Saeed K, Ashfaq A, Toor SI, Fatima M, Munir A, Majeed Z, Igbal N and Hussain S, 2024. Balancing act: essential oils as cost-effective and eco-friendly disease control in aquatic environments. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 71-80. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.256

INTRODUCTION

The farming of aquatic plants and animals, at a 4.5% annual growth rate, has established aquaculture as a rapidly expanding industry and its yearly value is put at \$243.26 billion. Aquaculture is important in meeting the high protein requirements of the world's increasing population, contributing to 50% of the total fish used globally and at the same time is a source of employment and income. Nevertheless, super-intensive techniques have led to the environment being destroyed in aquatic ecosystems because they use much more stock densities and provide more artificial feed (Dawood et al., 2021). Medicinal plants are used in more quantities for aquaculture due to their biodegradability, accessibility, and lack of residues in animal tissues. Essential oils are secondary metabolites of plants that have bioactive qualities that make them excellent phytotherapeutic agents for sustainable aquaculture (Magouz et al., 2021).

Both specialized and generalist parasites inherently live in fish hosts; certain parasites can easily adapt to aquaculture environments and present health problems when infection levels are high. Furthermore, the problem becomes more complex when these parasites find their way into wild stocks after first being reared in captivity as in aquaculture (Buchmann 2022). Since parasitic infections affect the entire population in addition to the individual, the community as a whole must be the target of the response, not the individual. These issues have prompted research into using herbal plants as a substitute for treating parasite illnesses in fish kept in aquaculture. Fish aquaculture may benefit from herbal medicine as an alternative, since it may be less expensive and more efficient than chemotherapy (Soares et al., 2017).

Essential oils are any volatile oil or oils with aromatic elements that can alter a plant's flavor, odor, or scent. The phrase "Essential Oil" was first used by Swiss medical reformer Paracelsus von Hohenheim. It comes from the Latin "Quinta essentia," which refers to a potent medicinal ingredient. These oils are mostly found in glandular hairs or secretory cavities inside plant cells, as fluid droplets at different plant parts like roots, stems, barks, leaves as well as fruits or flowers. They are made up of terpenes comprising monoterpenes, diterpenes, and sesquiterpenes as well as terpenoids but also oxygenated derivatives such as phenolic compounds alcohols, ketones, esters, aldehydes, ethers, or oxides. Moreover, they have compounds belonging to phenylpropanoid and phenolic groups of chemicals, whose biosynthesis starts with the acetate-mevalonic and the shikimic acid pathways, respectively (Sil et al., 2020).

To fight infections and boost immune responses, antibiotics are widely used in aquaculture. However, this approach carries several concerns, such as the emergence of drug-resistant microbes and environmental dangers. This procedure may result in microbial population imbalances, weakened host immunity, and bacterial resistance, all of which could harm aquatic animals' general health. In fish farming, the use of chemicals like formalin, sodium chloride, and copper sulfate could lead to the selection of resistant organisms as well as the accumulation of dangerous residues that put the environment and human health at risk. Therefore, there is a need for sustainable alternatives in aquaculture given the high cost of conventional anthelmintic medicines. It is well-recognized that medicinal herbs are a good, sufficient, and environmentally safe substitute for antibiotics.

Biological and chemical methods to control diseases, for example, probiotics or prebiotics; also, medicinal plants are used. Keeping certain disease-causing agents out of a specific system is made possible by aquaculture biosecurity measures. It's common for Aquafeed to include a variety of supplements such as prebiotics, probiotics, or herbal ingredients aimed at promoting animal health and well-being. Incorporating medicinal plants and their extracts into Aquafeed serves multiple physiological purposes due to the active metabolites they contain acting as functional components (Dawood et al., 2022).

This chapter will delve into essential oils as a potential solution, exploring research findings, their effectiveness, and the mechanisms by which they act on pathogens. Additionally, it will discuss future directions for safely utilizing essential oils on aquatic organisms.

Overview of Common Diseases Affecting Aquatic Environments

Certain diseases are specific to aquatic organisms, for instance, fish, but other diseases are widespread within the entire aquatic environment (Stuart et al., 2018). Common diseases that affect aquatic environments are;



Fig. 1: Overview of common diseases

Impact of Diseases on Aquatic Ecosystems and Industries

The environment in the aquatic system is very complex since all food resources are supplied in the same system where waste and by-products of excretion are also present. Aquatic environments are not static because they are affected by changes that may happen both "within and without." Especially "Physico-chemical changes" make fish diseases complex as the fish environment is dependent on several other factors like plants, soil, and other animals living in the water. The most common cause of environmentally induced diseases is "poor water quality" because changes in water parameters result in direct or indirect effects on fish.

The aquatic ecosystems are ultimate absorbers of contaminants. Water pollution is caused by human actions like urbanization, industrialization, and agriculture. Abundant application of pesticides and fertilizers as well as sewage leads to infections that include "dysentery, diarrhea, and jaundice".

In the ecosystem of water, contamination is one of the types of pollution that is extremely detrimental to human health concerns. "Water is naturally capable of neutralizing contamination", but when pollution is beyond our control, water loses its ability to self-generate. Industrial spills and leakages contribute to the initiation of the process of "water pollution". Most aquatic ecosystems have a "natural ability to dilute pollution" but severe pollution leads to a change in the "fauna and flora" of a community.

Current Methods of Disease Control and their Limitations

Pharmaceutical products are a major factor in "the improvement of quality of life". Many active organic and inorganic

compounds have been used for the "treatment and cure of numerous diseases".

The risk of "epidemic transmission" especially due to global warming has heightened. Identifying the "pathogen types, epidemic season, temperature variations, and environmental conditions" that cause the transmission of diseases is critical for prevention or treatment strategies (Jiang et al., 2023).

Methods of Disease Control

The prevention and control of aquaculture health by a single approach is not successful in itself. The mixture of different strategies, rather than the usage of a single strategy, is effective. Establishing a national or regional information exchange between farmers and responsible parties might be advisable. "Prevention is often better than treatment", thus it is recommended to concentrate on the prevention of disease rather than treatment. These are methods of controlling aquatic diseases;

- Antibiotics
- Vaccination

Antibiotics are "chemotherapeutic agents" that prevent or inhibit the growth of microorganisms, such as bacteria, viruses, and fungi. These are used as "antibacterial or antifungal". Their frequent release in water becomes the main concern in the continuing spread of "multi-resistance" in bacteria, which is a precursor for serious health-related problems (Torres et al., 2017).

Vaccination is a major factor in "avoiding and managing infectious disease in fish". There are some recent developments in fish vaccination recently. Vaccination is being used in large numbers for almost all food animals. In fish farming, it can prevent infectious diseases. It also prevents the risk of "drug resistance". Vaccines are so widely accepted because there is no risk of drug resistance development. Modern vaccines are classified as "killed, attenuated, DNA and genetically modified".

Limitations and Challenges

> The important challenge in diagnosing the disease of fish is "the individual fish is the unit of interest". The use of antibiotics is under restriction due to "drug resistance".

> "Formulation of vaccines towards intracellular bacterial and viral pathogens" would be among the major challenges for the next few years.

> Probiotics too can acquire antibiotic resistance because live bacteria are added in high numbers, which have high levels of antibiotic resistance genes (Watts et al., 2017).

Introduction to Essential Oils

Essential oils (EOs) can be defined as any type of volatile oils that contain aromatic components and can give variation in aroma, odor, or flavor to the plant. These are primarily a by-product formed during plant metabolism, also called volatile secondary plant metabolites. The term "Essential Oil" is supposed to be originated in the sixteenth century coined by Paracelsus von Hohenheim, which is a Swiss reformer of medicine, from the term "Quinta essential", which means an effective constituent of a drug (Sil et al., 2020).

In general, EOs account for less than 5% of vegetable dry matter, which is a very small part of the plant's total composition. All plant organs, especially the buds, flowers, leaves, stems, seeds, and fruits, synthesize EOs. EOs can be stored in secretory cells, cavities, epidermal cells, or glandular trichomes. EOs are usually liquid, volatile, colorless at ambient temperature, highly soluble in fixed oils, organic solvents, and alcohol but poorly soluble in water. A total of 3000 types are identified as EOs, from which only 300 are found to be of industrial importance for use in the food industries, often for the fragrances and flavors market. For plants, EOs perform many important functions in nature, particularly chemical and aromatic characteristics, such as

- Attracting beneficial pollinators and insects
- Protecting plants from environmental stress (cold, heat, etc.)
- Shielding plants from microorganisms and/or pests

EOs are globally known for their biological activities, including antifungal, antioxidant, antiviral, antimicrobial, insecticidal, antiparasitic, and antimycotic properties. Due to these activities, many EOs are used in agriculture (repellent and bio-pesticide), in cosmetics (make-up products and perfumes), as natural remedies in aromatherapy and sanitary products (aromas in cleaning products for household) (Falleh et al., 2020). EOs can be used as food additives in industry and bioactive packaging due to their antimicrobial properties, especially for the preservation of cereal grains, fruits, legumes, and meat products (Almeida et al., 2024).

Previous research has revealed that essential oils and their major components, such as carvacrol and thymol, are active against *Salmonella* spp. *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Escherichia coli*, and *Bacillus cereus* but are less efficient against *Pseudomonas* spp. due to the formation of exopolysaccharides that increase resistance to these compounds. Due to variations in the composition of cell membranes, most EOs have a greater bactericidal impact on Gram-positive bacteria than on Gram-negative. For example, an experiment revealed that the administration of essential oils (such as carvacrol, thymol, anethole, and limonene) as feed additives offer protection in Rainbow Trout against *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection. Higher survival rates in White Shrimp post-larvae were shown by dietary supplementation of neem (*Azadirachta indica*) or oregano (*Lippia berlandieri Schauer*) extracts when exposed to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* infection as compared to

the control group (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2018).

The Efficacy of Essential Oils in Disease Control

EOs are intricate blends made up of more than 300 distinct substances. They are made up of organic volatile substances, most of which have small molecular weights. EOs are generally found in the vapor state at room temperature and atmospheric pressure due to their suitably high vapor pressure (Dhifi et al., 2016).

Bacterial membranes and their cytoplasm can both be impacted by EOs. The breakdown of cell walls, harm to membrane proteins and the cytoplasmic membrane, as well as decreased ATP production and proton motive force, are some of the pathways of action of EOs. Because EO chemicals are lipophilic, they can pass through cell membranes and stay in the space between phospholipids. EOs primarily enter bacterial membranes and operate on their cytoplasm and membranes to change the morphology of their cells and the abnormalities of their organelles, thereby blocking their action mechanisms. The heightened sensitivity of gram-positive bacteria to essential oils (EOs) compared to gram-negative bacteria often stems from the presence of lipoteichoic acids in their cell membranes. These acids may facilitate the penetration of the hydrophobic compounds found in essential oils (Zanetti et al., 2015).

Chitin plays a vital role in constructing the fungal cell wall, which is indispensable for fungal survival. This cell wall is crucial for the growth and vigor of fungi. Inhibiting chitin polymerization can impede cell division and growth, affecting the maturation of cell walls, septum development, and bud ring formation. Essential oils (EOs) emerge as one of the most promising natural products for inhibiting fungi. Similarly, arginine is converted into nitric oxide (NO) by bacterial nitric oxide synthases (bNOS). The NO produced by bNOS gives bacteria a wider range of antibiotic resistance, enabling the bacteria to coexist and share environments with microorganisms that produce antibiotics. NO-mediated resistance is attained by reducing the oxidative stress that many antibiotics inflict, as well as by chemically altering harmful substances. EO oil has the potential to be used in the treatment of oxidative damage since it can lower nitric oxide levels, restrict the synthesis of H2O2, and inhibit NO synthase (Nazzaro et al., 2017).

Research on the utilization of herbal remedies as additives in aquatic feeds for the prevention and treatment of illnesses has seen significant growth since the 1990s (Valladao et al., 2015). By adding myrcene, menthol, and 1, 8-cineole to its diet, the growth performance, immune status, antioxidant status, and resistance to environmental ammonia of Common Carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) were improved. Furthermore, Dawood et al. (2020) showed that Nile Tilapia-fed diets supplemented with carob syrup (*Ceratonia siliqua*) exhibited improved immunity, tolerance to ammonia exposure, and growth performance. Lately, exposure to dietary menthol essential oil has had a positive impact on the growth rate and anti-oxidative capability, as well as an anti-inflammatory response among Nile tilapia suffering from chlorpyrifos toxicity.

Several studies have highlighted the antimicrobial efficacy of essential oils and their primary *constituents, such as thymol and carvacrol, against Salmonella spp., Bacillus cereus, Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Escherichia coli*. However, their impact on Pseudomonas species is less pronounced due to the development of exopolysaccharides, which enhances tolerance to certain substances. Due to alterations in the structure of cell membranes, most essential oils exert a stronger bactericidal effect on Gram-positive bacteria compared to Gram-negative bacteria, although the specific mechanism of action varies depending on their chemical composition (Perez-Sanchez et al., 2018).

A new study has proven that Channel Catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) increases feed intake and growth as well as mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) content when reared in low temperatures with flax seed oil supplementation as opposed to the supplemented diet (Thompson et al., 2015). A comparative study has further revealed that administrating dietary extract of papaya (*Carica papaya*) significantly increases the growth rate and helps in the maturation of gonads in both male and female Tilapia.

Economic Considerations of Using Essential Oils for Disease Control

The considerations that comprise all the factors like money-making, presence of resources, prices, etc. which were involved in the act of deciding by the individuals which are the basis of elevation of good economic outcomes are called economic considerations.

Some essential oils have attributes to curb parasitic diseases in fish, to test these attributes, in vitro studies were used. The main factors of utilizing in vitro studies are:

- Their cheap price.
- Their speedy outcomes.
- > Their eventuality of an apparent act of screening.
- Presence of certain essential oils (Tavares-Dias, 2018).

Potential Cost Savings of Using Essential Oils

A remarkable number of plants were required to extract essential oils in minute quantities. For example, one drop of Rose Otto essential oil is formed by using rose petals of thirty to fifty roses.

- While buying essential oils, some of the points given below assist in money saving:
- > A small quantity of essential oil lasts for a long time because of its concentrated appearance.
- > Prefer to buy essential oil aggregates than a single particular aromatic oil.
- Buying pre-diluted aromatic oils.

> When well-known companies or brands offer discounts, it is better to purchase essential oils from those brands or companies.

Examples of Essential Oils and Benefits of Using These Essential Oils Example no. 1, Thymol Essential Oil

Thymol essential oil is given to fish and poultry animals because of its numerous advantageous components that are beneficial for the body of the animals. The Thymol essential oil is used to ameliorate:

- Functionality variables
- Sexual performances
- Utilization of nutrients
- Working of immunity cells of the body
- > Prohibiting the body from pathogenic agents and diseases.



Fig. 1: Some attributes of thymol essential oil (Ezzat Abd El-Hack et al., 2016)

Example no. 2, Clove Oil

To perform small-scale surgical operations on the fish, a small amount of clove oil is applied to anesthetize the fish. Applying this oil in large quantities is responsible for fish assassination.

Comparative Cost Analysis with Conventional Disease Control Measures

The deed of splitting the cost of a summary into its parts and then analyzing and describing every factor is termed cost analysis.

Environmental Impacts of Traditional Disease Control Methods

Specific kinds of physical deeds that cause variations in the man-made and innate environments and these modifications have disastrous impacts on aquatic organisms, terrestrial organisms, birds, mammals, invertebrates, and other residents of the environment are termed as environmental impacts.

> The quality of soil is influenced by regular sowing, plucking, and gathering of food crops and many trees were demolished to collect the sap to get the resins which is responsible for the origination of essential oils, so the formation of essential oil is the root cause of removal of trees.

> In vitro studies of using essential oils to control fish parasites: These studies are used to overcome parasitic diseases in fish due to monogeneans that were the main cause of huge amounts of fish loss.

> In vivo studies of using essential oils to curb fish parasites: These studies are used to medicate fish infected with external parasites and they are separated from the body of fish by the application of short-duration or long-duration baths in which seeking essential oils were used.

- > The quality of water is ameliorated by the insertion of essential oils.
- > For the betterment of the physical condition of fish, essential oils were added.
- > Parasites were also removed from the body of fish by the inclusion of essential (Tavares-Dias, 2018).

Table 1: Cost analysis, dose and duration, and impacts of different essential oils on immunity, growth, and infectious diseases of fish species

Fish species	Essential	Dose	and	Cost	per 10)ml	Effects	Refere	nces
	oils	Durat	tion	(acco	ording	to	(growth, immunity, and infectious diseases)		
				Pakis	tani				
				curre	ncy)				
Mozambique	Bitter	0.5,	0.75,	Rs.	690	for	Growth indices and feed utilization increase	(Baba	et
tilapia	lemon	and	1%	10ml			Nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT), white blood cells (WBCs),	al., 201	6)
(Oreochromis	(Citrus	for	60				Blood total protein, lysozyme, and myeloperoxidase activity		
mossambicus)	limon)	days					(1) -		
							Serum glucose and triglycerides (1)		
							Resistance against <i>Edwardsiella tarda</i> (1)		
О.	Sweet	0.1,	0.3,	Rs.	550-5	570	Growth indices and feed utilization (1) –	(Acar	et
mossambicus	orange (C.	and	0.5%	for 1	Oml		Lysozyme and myeloperoxidase activity, hematological	al., 201	5)
	sinensis)	for	60				and biochemical variables, i.e., hemoglobin (Hb),		
		days					hematocrit (Htc), albumin, and globulin (1) - Blood glucose		
							and cholesterol (1) –		
							Resistance against Streptococcus iniae (1)		
O. niloticus	Origanum	5	and	Rs 1,7	750	for	Growth indices and feed utilization (1)	(Abdel	-
	vulgare	10%	for 8	10ml			Antioxidant activities (1)	Latif	and
		week	S				Resistance against Vibrio alginolyticus (1)	Khalil,	
								2014)	



Fig. 2: Extraction of essential oils (Raghuvanshi et al., 2023)

Eco-Friendly Aspects of Essential Oils

Ecologically safe additives were used to keep away from the immediate and non-immediate influences on the aquatic environment and physical condition of humans. Some essential oils were operated as a natural pesticide. To protect the crops from pests, some essential oils worked as preventive and prohibitive agents to keep the insects away from plants. For humans, essential oils are used for:

- > Making skin products
- > Betterment of mood and alleviating pain by scent therapy.
- > Wiping homes, schools, and offices by using harmless essential oil-based cleaners to prevent these places from air pollution and water pollution.

Lemon and Peppermint essential oils and mixtures of oils like Purification are usually inserted in fish aquariums. These oils are used for the removal of microorganisms and other pathogenic components from the water to shield the fish.

Lavender, orange, and tangerine essential oils are given to fishes. They are sometimes protective but sometimes they are not protective of all fishes. Some of them are responsible for ameliorating and conferring immunity to some infections or diseases when taken up by fish.



Fig. 3: Usefulness of essential oils for aquatic (Dawood et al., 2022)

Sustainability Aspects of Essential Oil Usage in Aquatic Environment

The potentiality to conserve, restore, or reinforce an activity eventually is known as sustainability. Three fundamental concepts of sustainability are:

- 1. Profitable
- 2. Ecological
- 3. Communal

Using Diffusers

The extremely frequent means to apply essential oils for peacefulness is with a diffuser. To protect the aquatic organisms, it was suggested by the fish owners to place the aquarium away from the diffusers because sometimes specific types of essential oils were harmful to the body of fish so their toxic diffused vapors could become the fundamental cause of death of fish.

Inclusion of Essential Oil in Glass Aquarium

Insertion of essential oils in an aquarium made of glass is much more secure and reliable than adding it in a tank made of plastic because the reaction between the chemicals present in the essential oils and the plastic tank poses disastrous impacts on the fish. Start adding essential oils in small quantities and then increase their quantity with time so that the fish can become habitual of these oils.

Practical Applications and Case Study

Essential oils have diverse properties that can improve the welfare, growth, and health of animals, as well as lessen the stress processes that's why these are used in aquaculture studies. Recent studies revealed that EOs can reduce or eliminate stress caused by varying stocking densities. In Silver Catfish, exposed to a stressful environment of high stocking density, dietary administration of 0.50mL/kg *Lippia alba* EO prevents the cortisol levels from rising. Similarly, a diet containing *Myrcia sylvatic* (2.0mL/kg) EO for ninety days decreased the levels of cortisol in Gilthead Seabream after 22 days at high stocking density (40kgm⁻³) (Souza et al., 2019).

Studies demonstrated that the disease resistance to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* of Pacific White Shrimp remarkably increased by adding 0.3gkg⁻¹ essential oils and organic acids blend into the control diet. Similar results were observed in shrimp-fed diets containing plant extracts and citric acid. Also, enhanced disease resistance by dietary essential oils against bacterial pathogens has been reported in Mozambique Tilapia, Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), and Channel Catfish (*Lctalurus punctatus*) (He et al., 2017).

The antimicrobial activity of essential oils from *Mentha piperita*, *Lippia sidoides*, *Lippia alba*, *Zingiber officinale*, and *Ocimum gratissimum* was investigated against *Streptococcus agalactiae*. With minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) ranging from 416.7-2,500µgmL⁻¹ and minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) ranging from 312.5-2,500µgmL⁻¹, all tested essential oils revealed bactericidal action against *S. agalactiae*. In this study, essential oil *L. sidoides* demonstrated better findings against *S. agalactiae* (Majolo et al., 2018)

Recently, it has been observed in many species that EOs can be used as sedatives or anesthetics to reduce possible harm to fish during handling. Lower levels of EOs can be used that cause light sedation and tranquilization for minor procedures such as collection of blood samples and biometry to reduce stress and minimize cortisol levels of plasma. In handling processes, the suggested concentration is 10-30mgL⁻¹ for clove oil (extracted from *Syzygium aromaticum* or *Eugenia aromatica*) (Souza et al., 2019).

Challenges and Limitations

The use of antibiotics or vaccines is an effective way to prevent diseases in the aquaculture industry, but the mass killing of beneficial aquatic bacteria is also involved in it (Ahmad et al., 2021). Several researchers found out that essential oils cause fish toxicity and that affected "its embryotoxicity, mortality, developmental abnormalities, the hatching rate of embryo and swimming activities of fish" (He et al., 2018).

Opportunities for Further Research and Development

Many essential oils are highly instrumental in the process as they "enhance the defense system of the aquatic organisms". The research on the transcriptomic profiles of fish is still ongoing to see the effects of botanical EO concentrations on the immune response or disease resilience (Dawood et al., 2022).

Future Trends and Potential Advancements in the Field

EOs are going to be significant for the creation of products exhibiting "antibacterial characteristics". The essential oils have been examined for their capability to be used as bio-pesticides, which are highly degradable in the environment and comparatively safe (Pintong et al., 2020).

Studies on the "cytotoxic activity" of plant extracts and essential oils in tumor cells have produced promising results for "new cancer therapies or enhancement of the effectiveness of existing cancer drugs". Plant-derived essential oils have surfaced as an "eco-friendlier" method of producing metal nanoparticles in more recent times (Salehi et al., 2020).

New Perspectives on the use of Essential Oils and Plant Extracts

The toxicity of essential oils and plant extracts to insects that damage crops and their potential use as bio-pesticides have been the subject of numerous studies in recent years, making this one of the most researched potential uses of these substances. Utilizing nano-emulsion and essential oils (EOs) or other herbal remedies to treat microbiological illnesses is seen to be "a novel and sustainable aquaculture strategy". EOs serve as "natural preservatives, stress relievers, herbal anesthetics, and immunomodulatory medicinal plants" in the fisheries and aquaculture industries (Gonzales et al., 2020).

Conclusion

The international community acknowledges the existence of alternative approaches to address some of the most prevalent illnesses in fish farming. Nevertheless, the knowledge gained from previous experiences holds valuable insights, and new research has further substantiated the importance of using environmentally sustainable methods to implement disease control measures in aquaculture. Therefore, the task is to accomplish it. Previous encounters with different types of animal husbandry have demonstrated that antiparasitic drug resistance has emerged consistently when stringent control methods have been implemented. This has led to the ineffectiveness of the majority of traditional anthelmintics. Thus, chemotherapeutics will be used less frequently in fish farming as herbal products, including essential oils, are more widely used. The usage of these natural compounds, together with other preventive measures, will gradually rise to decrease disease outbreaks. In addition, fish metabolic pathways often flush EOs out of the body rapidly due to the components' sensitivity and low molecular weight.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Latif, H. M., and Khalil, R. H. (2014). Evaluation of two phytobiotics, *Spirulina platensis*, and *Origanum vulgare* extract on growth, serum antioxidant activities, and resistance of Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) to pathogenic *Vibrio alginolyticus*. *International Journal Fishries Aquatic Study*, 250, 250-255.
- Acar, Ü., Kesbiç, O. S., Yılmaz, S., Gültepe, N., and Türker, A. (2015). Evaluation of the effects of essential oil extracted from sweet orange peel (*Citrus sinensis*) on the growth rate of Tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) and possible disease resistance against *Streptococcus iniae*. Aquaculture, 437, 282-286.
- Ahmad, T., Iqbal, J., Bustam, M. A., Irfan, M., and Asghar, H. M. A. (2021). A critical review on photosynthesis of gold nanoparticles: Issues, challenges, and future perspectives. *Journal Cleaner Production*, 309, 127460.
- Almeida, N. A., Freire, L., Carnielli-Queiroz, L., Bragotto, A. P., Silva, N. C., and Rocha, L. O. (2024). Essential oils: An eco-friendly alternative for controlling toxigenic fungi in cereal grains. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 23(1), 1-26.
- Baba, E., Acar, Ü., Öntaş, C., Kesbiç, O. S., and Yılmaz, S. (2016). Evaluation of Citrus limon peels essential oil on growth performance, the immune response of Mozambique Tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) challenged with *Edwardsiella tarda*. *Aquaculture*, 465, 13-18.
- Buchmann, K., (2022). Control of parasitic diseases in aquaculture. Parasitology, 149(14), pp.1985-1997.
- Dawood, M. A., E. L. Basuini, M. F., Yilmaz, S., Abdel-Latif, H. M., Alagawany, M., Kari, Z. A., and Van Doan, H. (2022). Exploring the roles of dietary herbal essential oils in aquaculture: A review. *Animals*, *12*(7), 823.
- Dawood, M.A., E. L. Basuini, M.F., Zaineldin, A.I., Yilmaz, S., Hasan, M. T., Ahmadifar, E., El Asely, A.M., Abdel-Latif, H.M., Alagawany, M., Abu-Elala, N. M. and Van Doan, H., (2021). Antiparasitic and antibacterial functionality of essential oils: An alternative approach for sustainable aquaculture. *Pathogens*, 10(2), p.185.
- Dawood, M. A., Metwally, A. E. S., Elkomy, A. H., Gewaily, M.S., Abdo, S. E., Abdel-Razek, M.A., Soliman, A. A., Amer, A. A., Abdel-Razik, N. I., Abdel-Latif, H. M. and Paray, B. A., (2020). The impact of menthol essential oil against inflammation, immunosuppression, and histopathological alterations induced by chlorpyrifos in Nile tilapia. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, *102*, pp.316-325.
- Dhifi, W., Bellili, S., Jazi, S., Bahloul, N. and Mnif, W., (2016). Essential oils' chemical characterization and investigation of some biological activities: A critical review. *Medicines*, *3*(4), p.25.
- Ezzat Abd El-Hack, M., Alagawany, M., Ragab Farag, M., Tiwari, R., Karthik, K., Dhama, K., and Adel, M. (2016). Beneficial impacts of thymol essential oil on health and production of animals, fish, and poultry: a review. *Journal Essential Oil Research*, 28(5), 365-382.
- Falleh, H., Jemaa, M. B., Saada, M., and Ksouri, R. (2020). Essential oils: A promising eco-friendly food preservative. *Food Chemistry*, 330, 127268.
- Gonzales, A. P. P. F., Yoshioka, E. T. O., Mathews, P. D., Mertins, O., Chaves, F. C. M., Videira, M. N., and Tavares-Dias, M. (2020). Anthelminthic efficacy of *Cymbopogon citratus* essential oil (Poaceae) against monogenean parasites of *Colossoma macropomum* (Serrasalmidae), and blood and histopathological effects. *Aquaculture*, 528, 735500.
- He, W., Rahimnejad, S., Wang, L., Song, K., Lu, K., and Zhang, C. (2017). Effects of organic acids and essential oils blend on growth, gut microbiota, immune response, and disease resistance of Pacific White Shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, *70*, 164-173.
- He, Y. L., Shi, J. Y., Peng, C., Hu, L. J., Liu, J., Zhou, Q. M., and Xiong, L. (2018). Angiogenic effect of motherwort (*Leonurus japonicus*) alkaloids and toxicity of motherwort essential oil on zebrafish embryos. *Fitoterapia*, *128*, 36-42.
- Jiang, H., Li, S., Dong, X., and Soowannayan, C. (2023). The transmission and prevention of infectious diseases in aquatic animals. *Frontiers in Marine Science*.
- Magouz, F.I., Mahmoud, S.A., El-Morsy, R.A., Paray, B.A., Soliman, A.A., Zaineldin, A.I. and Dawood, M.A., (2021). Dietary menthol essential oil enhanced the growth performance, digestive enzyme activity, immune-related genes, and resistance against acute ammonia exposure in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). *Aquaculture*, *530*, p.735944.
- Majolo, C., Pilarski, F., Chaves, F. C. M., Bizzo, H. R., and Chagas, E. C. (2018). Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils against *Streptococcus agalactiae*, an important pathogen for fish farming in Brazil. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 30(5), 388-397.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R. and De Feo, V., (2017). Essential oils and antifungal activity. *Pharmaceuticals*, 10(4), p.86.
- Paray, B. A., El-Basuini, M. F., Alagawany, M., Albeshr, M. F., Farah, M. A., and Dawood, M. A. (2021). Yucca schidigera usage for healthy aquatic animals: Potential roles for sustainability. *Animals*, *11*(1), 93.

- Pérez-Sánchez, T., Mora-Sánchez, B. and Balcázar, J.L., (2018). Biological approaches for disease control in aquaculture: advantages, limitations and challenges. *Trends in Microbiology*, *26*(11), pp.896-903.
- Perez-Sanchez, T., Mora-Sanchez, B., and Balcazar, J. L. (2018). Biological approaches for disease control in aquaculture: advantages, limitations, and challenges. *Trends in Microbiology*, *26*(11), 896-903.
- Pintong, A. R., Ampawong, S., Komalamisra, N., Sriwichai, P., Popruk, S., and Ruangsittichai, J. (2020). Insecticidal and histopathological effects of *Ageratum conyzoides* weed extracts against dengue vector, *Aedes aegypti. Insects*, *11*(4), 224.
- Raghuvanshi, T. S., Singh, P. P., Kohar, N., and Prakash, B. (2023). Essential Oils: From Traditional to Modern-Day Applications with Special Reference to Medicinal and Aromatic Plants in India. In *Plant Essential Oils: From Traditional to Modern-day Application* (pp. 1-26). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.
- Salehi, F., Behboudi, H., Kavoosi, G., and Ardestani, S. K. (2020). Incorporation of Zataria multiflora essential oil into chitosan biopolymer nanoparticles: A nanoemulsion-based delivery system to improve the in-vitro efficacy, stability, and anticancer activity of ZEO against breast cancer cells. *International Journal Biological Macromolecules*, 143, 382-392.
- Sil, A., Pramanik, K., Samantaray, P., Firoz, M., and Yadav, V. (2020). Essential oils: A boon towards eco-friendly management of phytopathogenic fungi. *J Entomol. Zool. Stud*, *8*, 1884-1891.
- Soares, B.V., Cardoso, A.C.F., Campos, R.R., Gonçalves, B.B., Santos, G.G., Chaves, F.C.M., Chagas, E.C. and Tavares-Dias, M., (2017). Antiparasitic, physiological and histological effects of the essential oil of Lippia origanoides (Verbenaceae) in native freshwater fish Colossoma macropomum. *Aquaculture*, 469, pp.72-78.
- Souza, C. D. F., Baldissera, M. D., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B. M., Martos-Sitcha, J. A., and Mancera, J. M. (2019). Essential oils as stress-reducing agents for fish aquaculture: a review. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *10*, 454552.
- Stuart-Smith, R. D., Brown, C. J., Ceccarelli, D. M., and Edgar, G. J. (2018). Ecosystem restructuring along the Great Barrier Reef following mass coral bleaching. *Nature*, 560(7716), 92-96.
- Tavares-Dias, M. (2018). Current knowledge on the use of essential oils as an alternative treatment against fish parasites. Aquatic Living Resources, 31, 13.
- Thompson, M., Lochmann, R., Phillips, H. and Sink, T.D., (2015). A dietary dairy/yeast prebiotic and flaxseed oil enhance growth, hematological and immunological parameters in channel catfish at a suboptimal temperature (15 C). *Animal*, *9*(7), pp.1113-1119.
- Torres, N. H., De S. P., M. M., Ferreira, L. F. R., Maranho, L. A., Américo-Pinheiro, J. H. P., Vilca, F. Z., and Tornisielo, V. L. (2017). Spatial and seasonal analysis of antimicrobials and toxicity tests with Daphnia magna, on the Sub-basin of Piracicaba River, SP, Brazil. J. Environmental Chemical Engineering, 5(6), 6070-6076.
- Valladão, G.M.R., Gallani, S.U. and Pilarski, F., (2015). Phytotherapy as an alternative for treating fish disease. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 38(5), pp.417-428.
- Zanetti, M., Ternus, Z.R., Dalcanton, F., Mello, M.D., Oliveira, D.D., Araujo, P.H.H., Riella, H.G. and Fiori, M.A., (2015). Microbiological characterization of pure geraniol and comparison with bactericidal activity of the cinnamic acid in gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria.

Chapter 09

Fungitoxic Properties of Essential Oils to Treat Tinea

Rida Kanwal^{1*}, Muhammad Hafeez Ul Haq², Amna Waseem³, Talha Riaz⁴, Zaka Ur Rehman², Ammara Fazal¹, Javeria Javed⁵, Muhammad Asad Ali², Shamsa Ashfaq⁶ and Hina Saleem¹

¹Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan

²Department of Plant Pathology, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan

³Ikram-ul-Hag Institute of Industrial Biotechnology, Government College University, Lahore, Pakistan

⁴College of Food Science and Technology, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

⁵Department of Pharmacology, Jinnah University for Women, Karachi, Pakistan

⁶Department of Pharmacology, Karachi University, Karachi, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: rkanwal6367@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Dermatophytes responsible for causing various skin diseases confined to keratinous tissues in humans are divided into three genera, i.e. Trichophyton, Microsporum, and Epidermophyton. Pathologic clinical manifestations caused by these microbes are divided into tinea pedis, tinea corporis, tinea cruris, tinea capitis (head), tinea faciei (face), tinea barbae (beard), tinea corporis (body), tinea manus (hand), tinea cruris (groin), tinea pedis (foot), and tinea unguium (nail), depending on the affected place. Essential oils, characterized as concentrated, volatile, fragrant, hydrophobic, oily liquids with diverse functional groups, exhibit potential as treatments for tinea owing to their absence of side effects and the escalating antifungal resistance. Monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes (alcohols, ethers, phenols, polysaccharides, aldehydes, and ketones) and terpenes (phenolic compounds) are responsible for the antimicrobial activity of essential oils. Essential oils of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree oil), *Azadirachta indica* (neem), *Eucalyptus citriodora*, *Cymbopogon martini* (palmarosa), *Foeniculum vulgare* (fennel seed oil), and *Citrus bergamia* (bergamot) individually and in various essential oil combinations have demonstrated their high efficacy in dermatophytosis therapy.

KEYWORDS	Received: 17-May-2024	SCHENTIFIC ALL	A Publication of
Essential Oils, Dermatophytosis, Antifungal Resistance, Natural	Revised: 23-July-2024	anon and a single singl	Unique Scientific
Remedies, Synergistic Effects, Clinical Trials	Accepted: 13-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Kanwal R, Haq MHU, Waseem A, Riaz T, Rehman ZU, Fazal A, Javed J, Ali MA, Ashfaq S and Saleem H, 2024. Fungitoxic properties of essential oils to treat tinea. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 81-89. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.192

INTRODUCTION

The growing prevalence of serious human pathogenic infections caused by dermatophytes, particularly among lowimmunity persons, has prompted significant attention and calls for proactive measures in recent decades (Arif et al., 2009). Trichophyton, Microsporum, and Epidermophyton are the only known genera of dermatophytes responsible for causing various skin diseases in humans, such as athlete's foot, ringworm, and jock itch. The human body's hair, skin cells, and nails are significant components rich in keratin. Dermatophytosis, a condition caused by dermatophytes, is confined to areas of the human body containing one or more of these keratinous tissues (Saxena, 2021).

Tinea pedis, tinea corporis, tinea cruris, and other pathologic clinical manifestations are caused by these microbes that metabolize keratin (Sahoo and Mahajan, 2016). They are clinically classified into various types of tinea, comprising tinea capitis, tinea faciei, tinea barbae, tinea corporis, tinea manus, tinea cruris, tinea pedis, and tinea unguium, depending on the specific location of the infection. Majocchi granuloma, tinea imbricata, and tinea pseudoimbricata are other clinical variations. The most common of these is tinea pedis, or athlete's foot, which causes discomfort in the afflicted areas. Firstly Pellizari characterized it in 1882 (Pellizzari, 1888). While tinea pedis is not a fatal illness, it can significantly affect lifestyle of those affected. It is imperative to recognize that when the immune system is weakened by illnesses or certain treatments like AIDS and immunosuppressive medications, tinea pedis can progress into more dangerous secondary infections (Houghton et al., 2006). Adults are often less susceptible to tinea pedis due to their increased ability to defend against fungal infections of triglycerides in the sebum produced after puberty. However, postmenopausal women are more susceptible to developing tinea pedis due to their lower levels of triglycerides compared to other people (Gupta and Summerbell, 2000). Human feet are common sites for tinea pedis infections, which can spread from soil, animals, and humans. These infections play a significant role in causing superficial mycoses, often leading to frequent relapses and proving resistant to therapy (Gupta, and Cooper, 2008).

The escalation of resistance to antifungal agents as a consequence of pharmacological pressure represents a mounting global concern (Revie et al., 2018). Antimicrobial resistance fosters the survival and propagation of pathogens by conferring the ability to withstand antibiotic eradication (Nainu et al., 2021). This resistance has engendered heightened complexity in the treatment of fungal maladies, resulting in protracted morbidity and mortality. Prolonged administration of antifungal therapeutics may elicit substantive deleterious effects on human tissues (Gnat et al., 2020).

Researchers are increasingly interested in developing novel antimicrobial medications from natural materials due to their diverse chemical properties (Orchard et al., 2019). Essential oils (EO) have shown promising potential in effectively combating both fungal and bacterial pathogens, indicating their potential as a valuable treatment for superficial fungal infections (Orchard et al., 2017). EOs are hydrophobic, concentrated, volatile, fragrant, oily liquids having different functional groups, can be extracted from a variety of plant parts, including flowers, seeds, leaves, branches, bark, fruits, and roots. Crucial terpenoids, often known as volatile oils because of their propensity to readily diffuse into the atmosphere, are typically the molecules that give herbs, spices, and perfumes their distinctive flavour and aroma. Monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, which include alcohols, ethers, phenols, polysaccharides, aldehydes, and ketones, are the primary components of EOs and are also responsible for their aroma and biological activity. Essential oil's phenolic constituents have also been identified as antibacterial bioactive ingredients (Chanthaphon et al., 2008).

Essential oils derived from medicinal plants have shown potential as alternative agents to combat fungal infections (Khan and Altaf, 2020). Essential oils of *Melaleuca alternifolia*, *Azadirachta indica*, *Eucalyptus citriodora*, *Cymbopogon martini*, *Foeniculum vulgare* and *Citrus bergamia* have been used to treat tinea due to their antimicrobial and antifungal activity. Furthermore, scientific evaluation of various essential oil combinations has demonstrated their high efficacy in dermatophytosis therapy.

Tinea Corporis

Fungi known as dermatophytes infiltrate and proliferate within keratinized tissues, such as the skin, hair, and nails, resulting in infection (Weitzman and Summerbell, 1995). Dermatophyton (causing infections on all keratinous tissues), Epidermophyton (causing infections on skin and nails), and Microsporum (causes skin and hair infection) are the three groups into which dermatophytes can be divided on the basis of genera. These have been divided into three categories: geophilic, zoophilic, and anthropophilic, depending on how they spread. Ultimately, these have been clinically divided into tinea capitis (head), tinea faciei (face), tinea barbae (beard), tinea corporis (body), tinea manus (hand), tinea cruris (groin), tinea pedis (foot), and tinea unguium (nail), depending on the affected place. Majocchi granuloma, tinea imbricata, and tinea pseudoimbricata are other clinical variations.

This field has frequently had little research done in it, despite the fact that cutaneous dermatophytosis is growing increasingly prevalent globally, especially in tropical areas. In reality, the American Academy of Dermatology's recommendations for treating tinea corporis and cruris date back almost two decades (Drake et al., 1996), and in the modern world, they seem, at best, insufficient. With little mention of tinea corporis/cruris, the updated guidelines, which were released by the British Association of Dermatology and the British Medical Journal have mostly concentrated on tinea capitis and tinea unguium (Ameen et al., 2014; Fuller et al., 2014). Updated Cochrane studies on topical treatment for tinea corporis, cruris, and pedis have helped close this knowledge gap, but there aren't many on oral medications. Nonetheless, there are noticeably lacking well-planned studies, national and/or international evidence-based guidelines, and suggestions about the amount and length of time to use systemic antifungals for tinea corporis/cruris (Bell-Syer et al., 2012; El-Gohary et al., 2014). To bring attention to some of the management difficulties that remain unclear, the current review will go over some of the latest developments in the pathophysiology and treatment of tinea corporis, tinea cruris, and tinea pedis.

A superficial dermatophyte infection of the skin, tinea corporis, sometimes referred to as "ringworm," is not the same as tinea manuum, tinea pedis, scalp capitis, bearded areas, face, groin, or nails (onychomycosis or tinea unguium) (Weitzman and Summerbell, 1995). The three genera of dermatophytes that cause tinea corporis—Trichophyton, which infects skin, hair, and nails, Microsporum, which infects skin and hair, and Epidermophyton, which infects skin and nails, are the most common sources of the condition. Dermatophytes are categorized as anthropophilic, zoophilic, or geophilic according on whether their primary source is soil, animals, or people, respectively, this is shown in Fig 1. Doctors need to educate themselves since tinea corporis is a prevalent fungal infection that can mimic many different annular diseases.



Fig 1: Typical annular lesions of ringworm (Source: https://dermnetnz.org/topics/tinea-corporis)

History

Histological observations include modest superficial perivascular infiltration in the upper dermis, hyperkeratosis, parakeratosis, and minor acanthosis. Periodic acid, methenamine silver, or hematoxylin-eosin. The stratum corneum contains yeast, as shown by the "spaghetti and meatballs" pattern revealed by Schiff staining (Hattori et al., 1984). More hyphae and spores are typically found in hyper-pigmented lesions than in hypo-pigmented ones. The horny layer of hypo-pigmented lesions is often slightly hyperkeratotic, and the stratum spinosum may have fewer melanosomes (Gupta et al., 2003)

Clinical Findings

The hallmark of tinea versicolor is mildly scaly hypo-pigmented or hyper-pigmented macules/patches. These are most frequently seen on skin regions with high sebum production, such as the upper arms, neck, trunk (particularly the top portion), and shoulders Adults are less likely to make facial gestures. However, in youngsters, facial involvement is prevalent and may be the only place affected. Usually, facial involvement occurs on the forehead (Katz et al., 2008).

Etiology

The predominant causative agents of tinea corporis are *Microsporum canis*, *Trichophyton rubrum*, and *T. tonsurans* (Adams, 2002; Takenaka et al., 2020). *T. rubrum* is widely recognized as the primary cause of dermatophytosis on a global scale and is notably prevalent as the leading cause of tinea corporis in North America (Kelly, 2012; Costa et al., 2015). *T. tonsurans* is commonly the cause of tinea corporis subsequent to tinea capitis. However, *M. canis* frequently causes tinea corporis that results from intimate contact with dogs or cats. Additional organisms that cause harm are *T. interdigitale* (formerly known as *T. mentagrophytes*), *T. verucosum*, *T. violaceum*, *T. concentricum*, *Epidermophyton floccosum*, *M. audouinii*, and *M. gypseum*. In Southeast Asia, *T. interdigitale* has supplanted *T. rubrum* as the most frequent cause of tinea corporis in recent times. Some uncommon organisms that cause problems are *T. erinaceid*, *T. equinum*, *T. simii*, and *T. schoenleinii*, *Nannizzia gypsea*, *N. nana*, and *M. gallinae* and *M. fulvum* (Leung et al., 2020).

Tinea Corposis causes

Most regions of the world are home to tinea corporis, although hot, humid areas are where it is most common. People of any age, including newborns, can be affected, although the majority of instances include children and young adults.

Among the Medical Risk Factors are:

- Tinea infection in the past or concurrently
- Diabetes type I
- Lack of immunity
- Overheating
- Ichthyosis Xerosis

Among the Environmental Risk Factors are:

- Overcrowding in households
- Infection of family members
- Keeping animals indoors

• Doing recreational activities that require close social interaction, such as sharing changing rooms, while wearing occlusive apparel (Shelley et al., 2005)

Tinea Corposis clinical variation

The following kinds of tinea corporis can occur as clinical variations. A severe pustular inflammatory response brought on by zoophilic fungus is known as keremia.

Tinea gladiatorum

It is a condition that occurs when skin-to-skin contact occurs in contact sports like martial arts or wrestling. Usually, *T. tonsurans* is the reason.

Tinea Imbricate

Caused by *T. concentricum*, large concentric rings that form polycyclic plaques with thick scale. It itches quite badly. The Pacific Islands and other equatorial tropical regions are home to this kind. Because topical corticosteroid or calcineurin inhibitor therapy suppresses the inflammatory response.

Tinea incognito is characterised by the absence of the characteristic symptoms of tinea corporis. Lesions typically lack size and erythema and have widely dispersed, poorly defined edges (Chong et al., 2013).

Majocchi granuloma

A variation that affects the subcutaneous tissue and hair follicles; typically discovered on the limbs after shaving. It appears as pustules or papules within the hair follicles. The typical organism is *T. rubrum* (Ansari et al., 2016; Veraldi et al., 2018). These clinical variations are shown in Fig 2.



Kerion

Majocchi granuloma

Tinea incognito

Fig. 2: Clinical variants of tinea corporis (Source: https://dermnetnz.org/topics/tinea-corporis)

Signs and Symptoms

The symptoms of ringworm may manifest as follows:

- A circular area of scales that typically induces itching on the trunk, arms, legs, and buttocks.
- Enlarging, slightly raised rings accompanied by a clear or scaly area inside the ring, potentially with a few scattered bumps of varying colors. These colors may range from reddish, purplish, and brown, to grey on different skin tones.
- An overlapping ring of itching on a flat, rounded patch of skin (Katz et al., 2008).

Essential oils

Essential oils are hydrophobic, concentrated, volatile, fragrant, oily liquids having different functional groups, and can be extracted from a variety of plant parts, including flowers, seeds, leaves, branches, bark, fruits, and roots. Crucial terpenoids, often known as volatile oils because of their propensity to readily diffuse into the atmosphere, are typically the molecules that give herbs, spices, and perfumes their distinctive flavour and aroma. Monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, which include alcohols, ethers, phenols, polysaccharides, aldehydes, and ketones, are the primary constituents of EOs and are also responsible for their aroma and biological activity. Essential oil's phenolic constituents have also been identified as antibacterial bioactive ingredients (Chanthaphon et al., 2008). A wide range of plant materials are believed to possess antifungal qualities, and a multitude of essential oils have demonstrated antifungal activities without inducing any adverse reactions in people or animals (Sokmen et al., 1999).

Terpenes (phenolic compounds) are the main antibacterial components of essential oils. They target infections by attacking their cell walls and membranes. Therefore, a variety of invasive targets may be occupied by active phenolic compounds, potentially leading to the suppression of human pathogenic fungal infections (Sharma et al., 2014).

Tea Tree oil

Tea tree oil, derived from the *Melaleuca alternifolia* plant, has been used in traditional Australian medicine. Its powerful antimicrobial properties have led to its widespread adoption across the globe. As per 'ISO 4730:2004' TTO is extracted from foliage and terminal branches of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (Maiden et Betche) Cheel, *Melaleuca linariifolia* Smith, and *Melaleuca dissitiflora* by using steam distillation. There are significant differences in the yield and chemical composition are reported as these characteristics are strongly reliant on the quality of plant's natural resource (Bejar, 2017).

Chemical Composition

International guidelines govern the chemical composition of TTO, which establishes minima and/or maxima for 14 compounds i.e. Terpinen-4-ol (30-48), γ -Terpinene (10-28), α -Terpinene (5-13), α -Terpineol (1.5-8), p-Cymene (0.5-8), α -Pinene (1-6), Sabinene (tr-3.5), Aromadendrene (tr-3), δ -Cadinene (tr-3), Viridiflorene (ledene) (tr-3), Limonene (0.5-1.5), Globulol (tr-1) and Viridiflorol (tr-1) (International Organization for Standardization, 1996; Zeng et al., 2015; de Groot and Schmidt, 2016).

Antimicrobial Activity

TTO is utilized as a local formulation for a variety of dermatological problems due to its lipophilic nature, which allows for easier skin penetration (Martindale, 2009). TTO contains several medicinal effects, including anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial properties. That is why, it has effectively been utilized as a topical treatment against dermatophytes and *Candida albicans* in human medicine. Its antimycotic action includes modifying cell permeability, limiting respiration and reversibly inhibiting the development of germ tubes. In veterinary medicine, the antimycotic activity of TTO has been effectively proven against many strains of *Malassezia pachydermatis* from seborrheic dermatitis (Nardoni et al., 2010) and more recently in vivo

by topically treating horses diagnosed with *T. equinum*. This treatment approach appeared to be effective in this and many other dermatological infections as well as versatile since it could be used right away following a physical examination even before receiving a laboratory response (Nardoni et al., 2010; Thomas et al., 2016; Bezabh et al., 2022).

Neem oil

Neem (*Azadirachta indica*) is commonly called 'Indian Lilac. Owing to its broad range of antibacterial activity, the neem plant is regarded as a dental panacea. It contributes significantly to the cosmetics sector because of its widespread use in hair and skin care products. *Azadirachta indica* fruits and seeds are used to extract vegetable oil, which is known as neem oil. Neem oil comes in a variety of colours: bright red, golden yellow, yellowish brown, reddish brown, dark brown, and greenish brown. Every part of the neem tree has certain therapeutic properties, and can be exploited commercially (Aneesa, 2016).

Chemical Composition

A variety of bioactive phytochemical compounds have been distilled from neem essential oil including triterpenoids (nimbin and azadirachtin), isomargolonone, proteins, tannins, quercetin, coumarin, carbohydrates, glycosides, salannin, margolonone, dihydrochalcone, diterpenoids (like nimbidine), gedunin, margolone, and glycosides (Alzohairy, 2016).

Antimicrobial Activity

Neem and its components can suppress the growth of variety of microorganisms, including bacteria, viruses, and harmful fungi. Methanol and ethanol extracts of neem proved growth inhibitors against *Aspergillus flavus, Alternaria solani*, and Cladosporium. A further investigation additionally shown the antibacterial properties of neem cake aqueous extracts in preventing spore germination from three sporulating fungus, namely *C. lunata, H. pennisetti*, and *C. gloeosporioides* f. sp. mangiferae (Kumari et al., 2013). The ability of neem plants to disintegrate cell walls and prevent microbial development are two indications of its antibacterial qualities (Alzohairy, 2016).

Eucalyptus citriodora oil

The essential oil of *Eucalyptus citriodora* is a natural product with a variety of biological qualities. It is among the most extensively utilized species in the culinary, pharmaceutical, and cosmetics sectors today. *Eucalyptus citriodora* oil is frequently used to treat headaches, fever reduction, body pains, chronic bowel problems, and diarrhea (Tiple et al., 2024).

Chemical Composition

The primary components of *Eucalyptus citriodora* are citronellal, citronellol, and DL-isopulegol. Other significant components include limonene, P-cymene, alpha-pinene, geraniol, and camphene (Tolba et al., 2015).

Antimicrobial Activity

It was found that *Eucalyptus citriodora* oil was highly effective on *Trichophyton rubrum*, antifungal-resistant mutants of *Candida albicans*, and pathogenic microbes. It also demonstrated greater antifungal activity as compared to *Eucalyptus globulus* and traditional pharmaceuticals against zoophilic fungi such as *C. albicans*, *T. mentagrophytes*, and *Microsporum gypseum* (Luqman et al., 2008).

Palmarosa oil

High value essential oil obtained from *Cymbopogon martini* (common name palmarosa) is called palmarosa oil. Palmarosa oil possesses substantial market value due to its versatile applications in perfumery, agriculture, medicine, and environmental contexts (Sinha et al., 2014).

Chemical Composition

According to GC and GC-MS analytical findings *Cymbopogon martini* essential oil is composed of alcohols(geraniol, geranyl acetate) (Padalia et al., 2011), fatty acids, myrcene, b-elemene, linalool, monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, linalool, E-citral, farnesol, terpinene, and b-elemene (Kakaraparthi et al., 2015). Some other compounds that are present in *C. martini* oil are nerolidol, α -bisabolol, α -terpinene, and terpinen-4-ol (Prasad et al., 2010).

Antimicrobial Activity

The Cymbopogon species shown noteworthy properties such as anthelmintic, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, anti-aging, pesticidal, antibacterial, antifungal, larvicidal, and antioxidant (Kumar, 2000; Raina et al., 2003; Tsai et al., 2011). Scientists discovered that the oils from *Cymbopogon ambrosioides* and *Cymbopogon martini* together may be utilized as a natural treatment for tinea corporis (ringworm) and other superficial fungal diseases in humans, in place of synthetic antifungal drugs (Prasad et al., 2010).

Fennel oil

Essential oil extracted from *Foeniculum vulgare* L. is called fennel oil (Ahmad et al., 2018). *Foeniculum vulgare* L. is an economically significant member of the Apiaceae family that is native to central and Mediterranean Europe. Fennel oil is produced by distilling fennel seeds and is used as an antiseptic, cough medicine, and laxative in the pharmaceutical industry (Damayanti and Setyawan, 2012), as well as in bakery, confectionery, medicines, and cosmetics as an addictive ingredient.

Chemical Composition

GC-MS analysis showed that there are 29 compounds in fennel oil accounting for 98.96%. The most prevalent constituents in the fennel oil were fenchone (8.32%), trans-anethole (63.30%), and pinene (11.11%). There were smaller concentrations of some compounds, including 2, 3-cyclohexen-1-methanol (2.58%), apiole (2.01%), 3-carene (1.44%), 1-methyl-4-(1-methylethyl) benzene (1.32%), methyl chavicol (1.28%), and limonene (1.09%). However, only negligible quantities of other chemicals, including hydrocarbons and oxygenated sesquiterpenes, were discovered (Shahat et al., 2011; Zeng et al., 2015).

Antimicrobial Activity

The mechanism of fennel oil, which demonstrated stronger antifungal activities against *T. tonsurans, T. mentagrophytes*, and *T. rubrum*, compared to the ubiquitous antifungal medications amphotericin B and fluconazole. Flow cytometry along with transmission electron microscopic studies were also used to examine the anti-fungal action of fennel essential oil. The outcomes demonstrated that damage to the plasma membrane and cell organelles was the root cause of the inhibitory effect. Fennel essential oil may reduce the activity of mitochondrial enzymes, specifically succinate dehydrogenase, malate dehydrogenase, and ATPase (Zeng et al., 2015).

Research has demonstrated that fennel oil possesses extensive antimicrobial capabilities against an array of diseases, such as Bacillus species, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Micrococcus luteus*, Pseudomonas species, and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* (Singh et al., 2006; Mohsenzadeh, 2007; Kazemi et al., 2012).

Bergamot oil

Bergamot oil is the essential oil produced by *Citrus bergamia*. Italy is the major producer of bergamot oil (Pizzimenti et al., 1998). This oil is obtained directly from cold-pressed fruit peels, characterized by yellow green colour and also called natural essence.

Essential oil 1	Essential oil 2	References
Allium sativum (garlic)	Citrus limon (lemon)	(Orchard et al., 2019)
	<i>Cymbopogon martinii</i> (palmarosa)	
	Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree)	
Boswellia carteri (frankincense)	Cedrus atlantica (cedarwood	
	Citrus limon (lemon)	
<i>Cinnamomum verum</i> (cinnamon bark)	Boswellia carteri (frankincense)	
	Citrus sinensis (orange)	
Citrus bergamia (bergamot)	Cupressus sempervirens (cypress)	
	Lavandula angustifolia (lavender)	
Citrus limon (lemon)	Cymbopogon martinii (palmarosa)	
	Eucalyptus globulus (eucalyptus)	
	Lavandula angustifolia (lavender)	
Coriandrum sativum (coriander)	Cymbopogon citratus (lemongrass)	
<i>Cymbopogon citratus</i> (lemongrass)	Rosmarinus officinalis (rosemary)	
<i>Cymbopogon martinii</i> (palmarosa)	Boswellia carteri (frankincense)	
	Cedrus atlantica (cedarwood)	
	Pelargonium graveolens (rose geranium)	
<i>Eucalyptus globulus</i> (eucalyptus)	Lavandula angustifolia (lavender)	(de Rapper et al., 2013)
Lavandula angustifolia (lavender)	Allium sativum (garlic)	(Orchard et al., 2019)
	<i>Melaleuca alternifolia</i> (tea tree)	(de Rapper et al., 2013)
<i>Melaleuca alternifolia</i> (tea tree)	Citrus limon (lemon)	(Orchard et al., 2019)
	Rosmarinus officinalis (rosemary)	
	Santalum austrocaledonicum (sandalwood)	
<i>Origanum vulgare</i> (oregano)	Commiphora myrrha (myrrh)	
	Pelargonium odoratissimum (geranium)	
	Pinus sylvestris (pine)	
Syzygium aromaticum (clove)	Cinnamomum verum (cinnamon bark)	
	<i>Citrus bergamia</i> (bergamot)	
	Citrus limon (lemon)	
	<i>Lavandula angustifolia</i> (lavender)	
<i>Thymus vulgaris</i> (thyme)	<i>Citrus bergamia</i> (bergamot)	
	Citrus limon (lemon)	
	Rosmarinus officinalis (rosemary)	

Table 1: Essential oil combinations proven to be effective in tinea treatment

Chemical Composition

There are about 80 volatile compounds (such as limonene, linalool, β -pinene, γ -terpinene, and linalyl acetate) that account for 93–96% and non-volatile (like bergamottin, citroptene, psoralens, coumarins, and bergaptene) components that account for 4–7% in bergamot oil formulations (Verzera et al., 2003). Due to the phototoxic properties of furocoumarins, including bergaptene, found in bergamot oil, pharmaceuticals frequently substitute furocoumarin-free, distilled extracts in the place of natural essence.

Antimicrobial Activity

According to (Fisher and Philips 2006), bergamot essential oil is efficient against bacteria. Bergamot oil is a potent antifungal that works well against yeast infections and dermatophytes. Strong evidence is being reported in favor of anecdotal or popular views about the efficacy of bergamot oils in treating skin and mucous membrane infections (Sanguinetti et al., 2007).

Essential oil Combinations

There are a number essential oils and their different combinations have been scientifically tested to treat tinea. Some of the essential oil combinations proven to be very effective in tinea treatment listed in Table 1. (Orchard et al., 2019).

Conclusion

The use of essential oils in the treatment of dermatophytosis represents a promising avenue due to their natural origin, minimal side effects, and potential effectiveness against fungal infections. Essential oils such as *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree oil), *Azadirachta indica* (neem), and *Eucalyptus citriodora* have demonstrated notable antifungal properties attributed to their bioactive compounds, including monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes. These oils exhibit diverse functional groups that contribute to their antimicrobial activity, making them suitable candidates for combating antifungal resistance observed with conventional treatments. Furthermore, combinations of essential oils, such as those including *Cymbopogon martini* (palmarosa), *Foeniculum vulgare* (fennel seed oil), and *Citrus bergamia* (bergamot), have shown synergistic effects in enhancing efficacy against dermatophytosis. Despite their potential benefits, further research is needed to standardize formulations, determine optimal dosages, and assess long-term safety. Additionally, clinical trials comparing essential oils with standard antifungal therapies are necessary to establish their place in dermatophytosis management protocols. Nonetheless, the current evidence underscores the promise of essential oils as alternative or adjunctive treatments for dermatophytosis, providing clinicians and patients with potentially effective options in the face of evolving fungal resistance patterns.

REFERENCES

Adams, B. B. (2002). Tinea corporis gladiatorum. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 47(2), 286-290.

- Ahmad, B. S., Talou, T., Saad, Z., Hijazi, A., Cerny, M., Kanaan, H., and Merah, O. (2018). Fennel oil and by-products seed characterization and their potential applications. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *111*, 92-98.
- Alzohairy, M. A. (2016). Therapeutics role of *Azadirachta indica* (Neem) and their active constituents in diseases prevention and treatment. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2016.
- Ameen, M., Lear, J. T., Madan, V., Mohd Mustapa, M. F., Richardson, M., Hughes, J. R., and Exton, L. S. (2014). British Association of Dermatologists' guidelines for the management of onychomycosis 2014. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 171(5), 937-958.

Aneesa, N. (2016). Beneficial effects of neem oil-An updated review. *Journal of Pharmaceutical sciences and Research*, 8(8), 756.

- Ansari, S., Hedayati, M. T., Nouripour-Sisakht, S., Rezaei-Matehkolaei, A., Jannesar, R., Mohammadi, H., and Seyedmousavi,
 S. (2016). A 9-month-old girl from Iran with extensive erythematous plaques due to *Trichophyton simii*, a zoophilic dermatophyte. *Mycopathologia*, 181, 451-455.
- Arif, T., Bhosale, J. D., Kumar, N., Mandal, T. K., Bendre, R. S., Lavekar, G. S., and Dabur, R. (2009). Natural products– antifungal agents derived from plants. *Journal of Asian Natural Products Research*, 11(7), 621-638.
- Bejar, E. (2017). Tea tree Oil (Melaleuca alternifolia and Melaleuca linariifolia). Botanical Adulterants Bulletin, 2017(1).
- Bell-Syer, S. E., Khan, S. M., and Torgerson, D. J. (2012). Oral treatments for fungal infections of the skin of the foot. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (10).
- Bezabh, S. A., Tesfaye, W., Christenson, J. K., Carson, C. F., and Thomas, J. (2022). Antiparasitic activity of tea tree oil (TTO) and its components against medically important ectoparasites: A systematic review. *Pharmaceutics*, *14*(8), 1587.
- Chanthaphon, S., Chanthachum, S., and Hongpattarakere, T. (2008). Antimicrobial activities of essential oils and crude extracts from tropical Citrus spp. against food-related microorganisms. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology*, 30.
- Chong, H. T., and Chong, A. W. (2013). Tinea imbricata. In J. H. Stone, M. A. Blouin, and R. A. Fulbright (Eds.), *International Encyclopedia of Dermatology* (Vol. 1, pp. 1559-1560). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Costa, J. E. F., Neves, R. P., Delgado, M. M., Lima-Neto, R. G., Morais, V. M. S., and Coêlho, M. R. C. D. (2015).

Dermatophytosis in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection: clinical aspects and etiologic agents. *Acta Tropica*, *150*, 111-115.

- Damayanti, A., and Setyawan, E. (2012). Essential oil extraction of fennel seed (*Foeniculum vulgare*) using steam distillation. *International Journal of Science and Engineering*, 3(2), 12-14.
- de Groot, A. C., and Schmidt, E. (2016). Tea tree oil: contact allergy and chemical composition. *Contact Dermatitis*, 75(3), 129-143.
- de Rapper, S., Kamatou, G., Viljoen, A., and van Vuuren, S. (2013). The in vitro antimicrobial activity of *Lavandula* angustifolia essential oil in combination with other aroma-therapeutic oils. *Evidence-Based Complementary and* Alternative Medicine, 2013.
- Drake, L. A., Dinehart, S. M., Farmer, E. R., Goltz, R. W., Graham, G. F., Hordinsky, M. K., and Scher, R. K. (1996). Guidelines of care for superficial mycotic infectionsof the skin: Tinea corporis, tinea cruris, tinea faciei, tinea manuum, and tinea pedis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 34(2), 282-286.
- El-Gohary, M., van Zuuren, E. J., Fedorowicz, Z., Burgess, H., Doney, L., Stuart, B., and Little, P. (2014). Topical antifungal treatments for tinea cruris and tinea corporis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (8).
- Fisher, K., and Phillips, C. A. (2006). The effect of lemon, orange and bergamot essential oils and their components on the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Escherichia coli* O157, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Bacillus cereus* and *Staphylococcus aureus* in vitro and in food systems. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 101(6), 1232-1240.
- Fuller, L. C., Barton, R. C., Mohd Mustapa, M. F., Proudfoot, L. E., Punjabi, S. P., Higgins, E. M., ... and Exton, L. S. (2014). British Association of Dermatologists' guidelines for the management of tinea capitis 2014. British Journal of Dermatology, 171(3), 454-463.
- Gnat, S., Łagowski, D., and Nowakiewicz, A. (2020). Major challenges and perspectives in the diagnostics and treatment of dermatophyte infections. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *129*(2), 212-232.
- Gupta, A. K., and Cooper, E. A. (2008). Update in antifungal therapy of dermatophytosis. Mycopathologia, 166, 353-367.
- Gupta, A. K., and Summerbell, R. C. (2000). Tinea capitis. *Medical Mycology*, 38(4), 255-287.
- Gupta, A. K., Batra, R., Bluhm, R., and Faergemann, J. (2003). Pityriasis versicolor. Dermatologic Clinics, 21(3), 413-429.
- Hattori, M., Ogawa, H., Takamori, K., Gritiyaranson, P., and Kotarajaras, R. (1984). DE-(HYPO) PIGMENTATION MECHANISMS OF THE AFFECTED AREA OF PITYRIASIS VERSICOLOR. *The Journal of Dermatology*, *11*(1), 63-66.
- Houghton, P., Patel, N., Jurzysta, M., Biely, Z., and Cheung, C. (2006). Antidermatophyte activity of medicago extracts and contained saponins and their structure-activity relationships. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 20*(12), 1061-1066.
- International Organization for Standardization. (1996). Oil of Melaleuca, Terpinene-4-ol Type (Tea Tree Oil) Huile Essentielle de Melaleuca, Type Terpinénol-4 (Huile Essentielle de Tea Tree"). International Organization for Standardization.
- Kakaraparthi, P. S., Srinivas, K. V. N. S., Kumar, J. K., Kumar, A. N., Rajput, D. K., and Anubala, S. (2015). Changes in the essential oil content and composition of palmarosa (*Cymbopogon martini*) harvested at different stages and short intervals in two different seasons. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 69, 348-354.
- Katz, S. I., Gilchrest, B. A., Paller, A. S., and Leffell, D. J. (2008). *Fitzpatrick's dermatology in general medicine* (p. 2104). K. Wolff, and L. A. Goldsmith (Eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Kazemi, M., Rostami, H., and Shafiei, S. (2012). Antibacterial and antifungal activity of some medicinal plants from Iran. *Journal of Plant Sciences*, 7(2), 55.
- Kelly, B. P. (2012). Superficial fungal infections. Pediatrics in Review, 33(4), e22-37.
- Khan, M. S. A., and Altaf, M. M. (2020). Essential Oils: Potential Remedy in Controlling Biofilms-Associated Infections of Human Pathogenic Fungi. In *Microbial Biofilms* (pp. 421-443). CRC Press.
- Kumar, S. (2000). Cymbopogon: The aromatic grass monograph. Central Institute of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants.
- Kumari, A., Kumar, R. I. T. E. S. H., Maurya, S., Choudhary, J. S., and Kumar, S. (2013). Antifungal efficacy of aqueous extracts of neem cake, karanj cake and vermicompost against some phytopathogenic fungi. *The Bioscan*, 8(2), 671-674.
- Leung, A. K., Lam, J. M., Leong, K. F., and Hon, K. L. (2020). Tinea corporis: an updated review. Drugs in Context, 9.
- Luqman, S., Dwivedi, G. R., Darokar, M. P., Kalra, A., and Khanuja, S. P. (2008). Antimicrobial activity of *Eucalyptus citriodora* essential oil. *International Journal of Essential Oil Therapeutics*, 2(2), 69.
- Martindale, C. (2009). The complete drug reference (Vol. 1). S. C. Sweetman (Ed.). London: Pharmaceutical press.
- Mohsenzadeh, M. (2007). Evaluation of antibacterial activity of selected Iranian essential oils against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* in nutrient broth medium. *Pakistan Journal Biology Science*, *10*(20), 3693-3697.
- Nainu, F., Permana, A. D., Djide, N. J. N., Anjani, Q. K., Utami, R. N., Rumata, N. R., and Simal-Gandara, J. (2021). Pharmaceutical approaches on antimicrobial resistance: prospects and challenges. *Antibiotics*, *10*(8), 981.
- Nardoni, S., Bertoli, A., Pinto, L., Mancianti, F., Pisseri, F., and Pistelli, L. (2010). In vitro effectiveness of tea tree oil against *Trichophyton equinum. Journal de Mycologie Médicale*, 20(1), 75-79.
- Orchard, A., Sandasi, M., Kamatou, G., Viljoen, A., and van Vuuren, S. (2017). The in vitro antimicrobial activity and chemometric modelling of 59 commercial essential oils against pathogens of dermatological relevance. *Chemistry and Biodiversity*, *14*(1), e1600218.
- Orchard, A., van Vuuren, S. F., and Viljoen, A. M. (2019). Commercial essential oil combinations against topical fungal pathogens. *Natural Product Communications*, *14*(1), 1934578X1901400139.

Padalia, R. C., Verma, R. S., Chanotiya, C. S., and Yadav, A. (2011). Chemical Fingerprinting of the Fragrance Volatiles of Nineteen Indian Cultivars of Cymbopogon Spreng. (Poaceae. *Records of Natural Products*, 5(4), 290.

Pellizzari, C. (1888). Recherche sur Trichophyton tonsurans. G Ital Mal Veneree, 29(8).

- Pizzimenti, F., Tulino, G., and Marino, A. (1998). Antimicrobial and antifungal activity of bergamot oil. In *Programs and Abstracts of the International Congress: 'Bergamotto* (Vol. 98).
- Prasad, C. S., Shukla, R., Kumar, A., and Dubey, N. K. (2010). In vitro and in vivo antifungal activity of essential oils of *Cymbopogon martini* and *Chenopodium ambrosioides* and their synergism against dermatophytes. *Mycoses*, *53*(2), 123-129.

Raina, V. K., Srivastava, S. K., Aggarwal, K. K., Syamasundar, K. V., and Khanuja, S. P. S. (2003). Essential oil composition of *Cymbopogon martinii* from different places in India. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, *18*(4), 312-315.

- Revie, N. M., Iyer, K. R., Robbins, N., and Cowen, L. E. (2018). Antifungal drug resistance: evolution, mechanisms and impact. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 45, 70-76.
- Sahoo, A. K., and Mahajan, R. (2016). Management of tinea corporis, tinea cruris, and tinea pedis: A comprehensive review. *Indian Dermatology Online Journal*, 7(2), 77-86.
- Sanguinetti, M., Posteraro, B., Romano, L., Battaglia, F., Lopizzo, T., De Carolis, E., and Fadda, G. (2007). In vitro activity of *Citrus bergamia* (bergamot) oil against clinical isolates of dermatophytes. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 59(2), 305-308.
- Saxena, P. (2021). Antidermatophytic Activity of Essential Oils from Plants. Journal of Pharmaceutical Research International, 32(43), 43-50.
- Shahat, A. A., Ibrahim, A. Y., Hendawy, S. F., Omer, E. A., Hammouda, F. M., Abdel-Rahman, F. H., and Saleh, M. A. (2011). Chemical composition, antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of essential oils from organically cultivated fennel cultivars. *Molecules*, 16(2), 1366-1377.
- Sharma, A., Sharma, V., Kumawat, T. K., and Seth, R. (2014). A review on antidermatophytic efficiency of plant essential oils. *International Journal Pure Applied Bioscience*, 2(6), 265-278.
- Shelley, W. B., and Shelley, E. D. (2005). Dermatology. In R. K. Creasy and R. Resnik (Eds.), *Maternal-fetal medicine: Principles and Practice* (5th ed., pp. 1061-1101). Saunders
- Singh, G., Maurya, S., De Lampasona, M. P., and Catalan, C. (2006). Chemical constituents, antifungal and antioxidative potential of *Foeniculum vulgare* volatile oil and its acetone extract. *Food Control*, *17*(9), 745-752.
- Sinha, S., Jothiramajayam, M., Ghosh, M., and Mukherjee, A. (2014). Evaluation of toxicity of essential oils palmarosa, citronella, lemongrass and vetiver in human lymphocytes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 68, 71-77.
- Sokmen, A., Jones, B. M., and Erturk, M. (1999). The in vitro antibacterial activity of Turkish medicinal plants. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 67(1), 79-86.
- Takenaka, M., Murota, H., and Nishimoto, K. (2020). Epidemiological survey of 42 403 dermatophytosis cases examined at Nagasaki University Hospital from 1966 to 2015. *The Journal of Dermatology*, 47(6), 615-621.
- Thomas, J., Carson, C. F., Peterson, G. M., Walton, S. F., Hammer, K. A., Naunton, M., and Baby, K. E. (2016). Therapeutic potential of tea tree oil for scabies. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 94(2), 258.
- Tiple, R. H., Jamane, S. R., Khobragade, D. S., and Khobragade, D. (2024). Antifungal Activity of Neem Leaf Extract with *Eucalyptus citriodora* Oil and *Cymbopogon martini* Oil against Tinea Capitis: An In-Vitro Evaluation. *Cureus*, 16(5).
- Tolba, H., Moghrani, H., Benelmouffok, A., Kellou, D., and Maachi, R. (2015). Essential oil of Algerian *Eucalyptus citriodora*: Chemical composition, antifungal activity. *Journal de Mycologie Medicale*, *25*(4), e128-e133.
- Tsai, M. L., Lin, C. C., Lin, W. C., and Yang, C. H. (2011). Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities of essential oils from five selected herbs. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 75(10), 1977-1983.
- Veraldi, S., Genovese, G., and Peano, A. (2018). Tinea corporis caused by Trichophyton equinum in a rider and review of the literature. *Infection*, *46*, 135-137.
- Verzera, A., Trozzi, A., Gazea, F., Cicciarello, G., and Cotroneo, A. (2003). Effects of rootstock on the composition of bergamot (*Citrus bergamia* Risso et Poiteau) essential oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(1), 206-210.

Weitzman, I., and Summerbell, R. C. (1995). The dermatophytes. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 8(2), 240-259.

Zeng, H., Chen, X., and Liang, J. (2015). In vitro antifungal activity and mechanism of essential oil from fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* L.) on dermatophyte species. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 64(1), 93-103

Chapter 10

Pharmacological Potential of Essential Oils: Exploring Therapeutic Perspectives

Ali Hamza^{1*}, Mohsin Raza², Khadija Javed³, Naila Ghafoor¹, Amara Tahir¹, Tooba Mehar¹, Neha Anees¹ and Umm E Ummara¹

¹Department of Zoology, Wildlife, and Fisheries, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

²Department of Horticultural Sciences, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

³Department of Natural Sciences, University of Chester, England

*Corresponding author: alihamza543067@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Many research has shown the various chemical compositions and pharmacological characteristics of essential oils, which include antinociceptive, anxiolytic-like, and anticonvulsant actions. Essential oils may be inhaled, taken orally, or used topically. They are often used as an additional treatment for those who suffer from anxiety, sleeplessness, convulsions, discomfort, and cognitive impairment. There are a number of detrimental effects linked to the use of synthetic drugs to treat different conditions and symptoms. As a result, there has been a global push for research teams to investigate the effectiveness of natural substitutes such essential oils. This chapter offers a thorough summary of the body of review on the pharmacological characteristics of substances produced from essential oils, as well as the underlying processes causing the effects that are seen. Research in this area is still in its early stages, which emphasizes the need for a more thorough examination of the medicinal benefits of essential oils and their constituent parts. By including essential oils into traditional therapy, diverse treatment regimens may be made more successful and provide a more complete approach to tackling the complex nature of various ailments.

KEYWORDS	Received: 12-May-2024	SCHENTINC ATE	A Publication of
Recent advancements, Applications, Research, Challenges,	Revised: 18-July-2024	a los	Unique Scientific
Essential oils	Accepted: 22-Aug-2024	USP <i>a</i>	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Hamza A, Raza M, Javed K, Ghafoor N, Tahir A, Mehar T, Anees N and Ummara UE, 2024. Pharmacological potential of essential oils: exploring therapeutic perspectives. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 90-97. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.168

INTRODUCTION

Throughout the course of human history, essential oils have assumed a compelling and indispensable function, intricately intertwining the fundamental character of nature with the quest for optimal health and restoration. These valuable oils, obtained from aromatic plants using complex extraction methods, have been highly valued for their therapeutic qualities and cultural importance since ancient times (Silva-Correa et al., 2021). This chapter delves into an illuminating exploration of the dynamic realm of essential oils including their significant influence on diverse facets of human existence. The volatile and aromatic molecules known as essential oils are derived from various plant components, such as flowers, roots, stems, and leaves. The oils in question represent the unadulterated essence of the plant, effectively encapsulating its distinct aroma and powerful bioactive constituents (Dagli et al., 2015).

Essential oils have been highly esteemed throughout history because of their wide-ranging applications, encompassing medicinal procedures, religious ceremonies, perfumery, and culinary skills. The therapeutic effects of nature were recognized by the prehistoric cultures of Greece, Egypt, and China, who acknowledged their ability to promote both mental and physical health (Göbel et al., 1994; Wani et al., 2020).

This chapter endeavors to illuminate the current comprehension and progressions pertaining to essential oils, drawing inspiration from our extensive historical fabric. This inquiry explores the most recent scientific investigations and advanced technology that have enhanced our understanding of these natural phenomena. In addition, we examine new viewpoints that have arisen, revealing inventive uses that go beyond conventional limits.

Recent Advances in Essential Oil Research

Recent years have seen an incredible increase in interest in the field of essential oil research, which has resulted in some amazing discoveries and ground-breaking advancements (Kong et al., 2022). This section explores the ever-evolving field of essential oil research today, showcasing the most recent findings in science, creative extraction methods, and an in-

depth understanding of the molecular makeup of these jewels found in nature.

Timeline of Current Scientific Research and Advancements

Scientific inquiry into essential oils has surged due to innovations in analytical technologies and a growing emphasis on natural therapies Current research endeavors have been dedicated to elucidating the complex mechanisms that underlie the biological activities and possible therapeutic uses of these substances as shown in Table 1.

Table 1: Current research advancements that underlie the biological activities and possible therapeutic uses of these essential oils

Essential oils and their bioactive molecules					
S/N	Finding/Advancements	Source			
1	Identification of new essential oil compounds	(Haddad et al., 2019)			
2	Antimicrobial activity of essential oils against Drug- Resistant pathogens	(Jaeger and Cuny 2016)			
3	Anti-inflammatory and analgesic properties	(Reichling, 2022)			
4	Therapeutic potential of essential oils in neurological disorders	(Saranraj and Devi 2017)			
5	Exploration of sustainable extraction techniques for higher essential oil yield	(Tian et al., 2020)			
6	Application of essential oils in nanotechnology for targeted drug delivery	(Zhang et al., 2018)			
7	Understanding the molecular and cellular mechanisms of action of essential oils	(Sattayakhom et al., 2023)			

Research on Antimicrobial Properties

Promising findings have been obtained from studies on the essential oils owing to their antibacterial effectiveness against viruses, bacteria, and fungi. Numerous studies have demonstrated the significant antimicrobial properties exhibited by oregano oil, tea tree oil, and lavender oil, hence presenting potential avenues for innovative therapeutic interventions targeting drug-resistant bacteria (Force et al., 2000; Balusamy et al., 2018; Kallel et al., 2019).

Neurological Effects and Mood Regulation

There has been a significant increase in scientific interest in the influence of essential oils on the nervous system. Research is being conducted to explore their potential in reducing anxiety, depression, and stress. According to Ali et al. (2015), certain oils such as bergamot have demonstrated the ability to modulate neurotransmitters, hence providing insights into their potential impact on mental well-being.

Anti-inflammation and Analgesic Effects

The use of essential oils has garnered significant interest in the realm of pain management and inflammatory conditions due to their proven anti-inflammatory and pain-relieving capabilities. Nevertheless, ginger, peppermint oil, and eucalyptus oil have shown encouraging anti-inflammatory benefits in preclinical tests (Kachkoul et al., 2021).

Novel Extraction Methods and Technologies

Historically, the acquisition of essential oils has been accomplished by the process of distillation or cold pressing. Nevertheless, both the effectiveness and quality of the production of essential oils have been significantly transformed by recent advancements in extraction methods, hence broadening the range of potential aspects (Mollica et al., 2022).

Supercritical Fluid Extraction (SFE)

Supercritical carbon dioxide extraction produces high-quality essential oils with little residues, making it popular. Sustainable extraction methods include enzyme-assisted extraction. Enzymes break down plant cell walls, releasing oil components and improving extraction efficiency (Pandey et al., 2023)

According to Hyldgaard et al. (2012), Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE) speeds up extraction using microwave radiation. This approach reduces extraction time and energy while maintaining crucial oil component dependability.

Enhanced Expertise in Essential Oil Chemistry and Composition

We now know more than ever before about the complex chemical makeup of essential oils owing to cutting-edge analytical techniques such as gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. Biological Component Identification: Scientists have discovered a variety of bioactive chemicals in essential oils, including phenols, terpenes, and aldehydes (Hoffmann, 2020). The recognition of these chemicals' roles in conferring therapeutic properties paved the path for tailored uses (Richa et al., 2020).

The significance of the synergy among different constituents present in essential oils has been emphasized in several studies. Aliaño-González et al. (2022) have identified the entourage effect in specific oils, which refers to the enhanced therapeutic efficacy resulting from the combined effect of numerous components.

In summary, recent advancements in the field of essential oil studies have propelled these naturally occurring aromatic chemicals into a domain of scientific investigation, hence facilitating the emergence of innovative uses across several domains. Essential oils have a wide range of capabilities, including antibacterial effects, mental health assistance, and new

Discovering Fresh Insights on Essential Oil usage

In this section, we discuss essential oils' unique function in mental health, their potential application to societal and agricultural practices, and the essential oil industry's exciting developments and prospects.

The Benefits of Essential Oils for Mental Health and Stress Reduction

Essential oils' strong scents are known to affect mental health and emotional equilibrium. Inhaling certain essential oils may stimulate the olfactory system, releasing neurochemicals that impact moods and emotions, according to research. For instance, research has demonstrated that lavender possesses the ability to alleviate anxiety and facilitate relaxation, whilst citrus-derived oils such as bergamot and sweet orange have mood-enhancing properties (Fokou et al., 2020).

New Developments and Prospects for the Essential Oil Sector

The essential oil market has experienced significant expansion during last few years, mostly due to the rising consumer interest in natural and holistic methods for promoting health and overall wellness. Entrepreneurs and businesses are leveraging this phenomenon by investigating novel approaches to integrate essential oils into diverse product offerings. Essential oils are being utilized in a wide range of applications, including skincare, personal care products, home cleaners, and aromatherapy diffusers (Kim et al., 2016).

The rise of the sector has been facilitated by advancements technological advances and refinement techniques. Scientists are now studying innovative methods for extracting essential oils, techniques to enhance the efficiency and caliber of essential oil manufacturing, such as microwave-assisted extraction and supercritical fluid extraction (Harris, 2002). Furthermore, the proliferation of digital marketing and e-commerce platforms has facilitated the expansion of micro-distilleries and craft manufacturers' opportunities to access a wider range of customers, thereby cultivating a market that is both inclusive and competitive. As research delve more into the captivating realm of essential oils, it becomes clear that their influence extends well beyond the boundaries of fragrances and odors. Essential oils exemplify the potential of nature's abundance, as they contribute to the enhancement of mental well-being, the transformation of environmental practices, and the advancement of industry trends. Their capacity is limitless, and we eagerly anticipate the thrilling advancements that await us (Puvača and de Llanos Frutos, 2021).

Use of Essential Oils in Healthcare

In this section examination of the many applications of essential oils in healthcare, including their usage in procedures based on evidence in both mainstream and alternative medicine have been documented. It also explores their role in antimicrobial treatments and pain management.

Traditional and Alternative Medicine and Evidence-based Applications

Many civilizations and traditions have long used essential oils for medicinal reasons. Recent academic study has shown that these fragrant miracles work in traditional and alternative medicine. Aromatherapy is a supplement that uses essential oils to enhance healing and well-being. As a prominent illustration of its efficiency. Various research by De Lavor et al. (2018) have demonstrated that aromatherapy helps control anxiety, despair, and stress. Aromatherapy has also been used in hospital and palliative care institutions to improve patient well-being and reduce medication use (Jones et al., 2022). Increasing proof supports the use of essential oils in traditional medicine, spurring more research (Swain et al., 2023).

Latest Research on the Antibacterial Effects of Essential Oils

Given the increasing prevalence of antimicrobial resistance, there has been a notable surge in the investigation of essential oils as a prospective avenue for exploring their full potential as natural antimicrobial agents. Numerous essential oils demonstrate a vast array of antibacterial capabilities, enabling them to effectively attack a diverse array of fungi, viruses, and bacteria (Amorati et al., 2017).

Tea tree oil has been shown to exhibit notable antibacterial properties against a range of bacterial and fungal species. According to Wang et al. (2023), oregano oil is recognized for its significant antibacterial and antifungal characteristics. The present body of study is mostly dedicated to comprehending the underlying mechanisms responsible for these antimicrobial properties, as well as investigating the possible application of essential oils in the development of alternative therapeutic approaches for the treatment of infectious disorders. Nevertheless, it is crucial to acknowledge that additional research is necessary in order to ascertain the safety and effectiveness of these substances when employed in therapeutic environments.

The use of Essential Oils in Alleviating Pain and Alternative Treatments

Essential oils have developed as an adjuvant way to manage pain and discomfort, which is a huge difficulty in the healthcare industry. Pain treatment continues to be a significant challenge. Some specific essential oils have

analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties, which provide potential alternatives to conventional pain medications. Research has demonstrated that peppermint oil can effectively relieve headaches and migraines. Similarly, studies have shown that lavender oil can effectively treat labor pain in pregnant women (Tan et al., 2022). Various types of essential oils have been used in palliative care to alleviate symptoms and provide comfort to those suffering from chronic pain and terminal diseases. (Herz, 2009). The incorporation of essential oils in complementary therapies, such as massage and aromatherapy, has been increasingly popular due to its perceived efficacy in pain reduction, relaxation enhancement, and overall well-being improvement as shown in Fig. 1 (Nasiri and Mahmodi, 2018; Osaili et al., 2023).





Essential oils may play a vital role in future integrated pain therapy plans as this area of study develops. The investigation of essential oils in healthcare is a nod to their history of use in folk medicine, their possible efficacy as antimicrobials, and their mild use in pain relief. As a result of modern research, essential oils are becoming more popular in contemporary healthcare as aromatic companions to support health (Costa et al., 2020).

The Real-world Applications of Essential Oils

Within the enthralling realm of essential oils, there exist a plethora of accomplishments and case studies that exemplify the extraordinary influence these fragrant marvels have exerted across many sectors. This section explores practical instances of incorporating essential oils, showcasing real instances of success that showcase the many inventive uses of these extracts of plants.

Alleviating Well-being in Health Care Amenities

The use of essential oils in healthcare environments has facilitated the adoption of a comprehensive approach to patient treatment and overall wellness. Previous research was undertaken at a hospital's palliative care unit to investigate the use of aromatherapy, including the usage of essential oils such as lavender, chamomile, and frankincense (de Sousa et al., 2023). The purpose of this intervention was to mitigate pain and offer solace to patients suffering from chronic illnesses. The findings exhibited a notable decrease in self-reported levels of pain and an enhancement in the general state of patients' well-being, showcasing the capacity of essential oils to augment the healthcare encounter (Lee and Shibamoto, 2001; Mounira, 2024).

Generating Ordinary and Regenerative Cleaning Solutions

Within the commercial and sanitation sectors, essential oils have shown themselves to be a viable alternative to the standard chemical-based solutions that have been used in the past. Within the context of a hotel chain, Wang et al. (2019) conducted a case study that proved the successful use of essential oils into cleaning solutions. A variety of citrus-based oils, including lemon and orange, were used in the production of multi-purpose cleansers that were both efficient and adaptable. The implementation of this environmentally conscious strategy not only resulted in a decrease in the ecological footprint of the hotel, but it also improved the general satisfaction of the guests by eliminating unpleasant chemical odours found in the establishment.

A Remarkable Revolution in Personal Care and Beauty Products

The integration of essential oils into numerous products has brought about a revolution in the beauty and personal care business. The composition of anti-aging serums and face oils in a case study conducted by Isman et al. (2011)

incorporated essential oils such as rosehip seed oil and chamomile. According to the research carried out by Caamal-Herrera (2016), the usefulness of essential oils in supporting healthy and bright skin has been shown by changes in skin texture and hydration which demonstrates the effectiveness of essential oils.

Sustainable Agriculture and Pest Management

The utilization of essential oils in sustainable pest management has also yielded advantages for the agricultural sector. The case study examined the integration of essential oils, such as neem oil and thyme oil, into pest management tactics within the context of organic farming practices. These natural alternatives have demonstrated efficacy in mitigating pest infestations and minimizing crop damage, hence fostering the adoption of environmentally sustainable and economically feasible agricultural methods (Puvača and Llanos Frutos, 2012).

Scientists have provided evidences of the diverse range of applications for essential oils, encompassing many sectors such as healthcare, agriculture, and other areas. The incorporation of these technologies into several sectors not only showcases their adaptability but also underscores the importance of sustainable and organic remedies in contemporary society (Do et al., 2015; Ampadu et al., 2022)

To Overcome the Challenges in Aromatherapeutic usages

A rise in the difficulties that are linked with the widespread use of essential oils has been brought about as a result of the rising popularity of essential oils. In this section, the basic factors that pertain to potential safety threats, concerns about sustainable and ethical sourcing, as well as the significance of regulatory constraints and standardization will be discussed.

Possible Safety Consequences and Precautionary Measures

While essential oils have many advantages, their potency may pose safety issues if not handled appropriately. James et al. (2017) and Isman et al. (2011) found that certain essential oils may cause skin irritation or allergic reactions. Some drugs may interact with these oils. To solve these issues, appropriate use and dilution guidelines must be followed. Due to their toxicity, essential oils are debated for consumption. Seek advice from aromatherapists or doctors before taking internally. In order to prevent accidental intake or contact, essential oils must be kept away from children and pets.

Concerns Relating to Sustainable and Ethical Sourcing

The lack of necessary quantities of essential oils has led to challenges regarding the long-term viability and ethical acquisition. Overharvesting of essential oil-producing plant species endangers the plants and the communities that rely on them (Tanner et al., 2018). The lack of laws for harvesting practices has the potential to worsen deforestation, habitat degradation, and biodiversity loss.

In order to tackle these concerns, the essential oil business is placing growing importance on the adoption of sustainable and ethical sourcing processes. Initiatives like fair trade partnerships, ethical growing practices, and certificates for wild harvesting play a crucial role in guaranteeing the responsible sourcing of essential oils and the protection of the associated ecosystems and populations (Feriotto et al., 2018)

Future Perspectives and Research Approaches

This section seeks to elucidate the capacity of essential oils to fundamentally influence the trajectory of diverse businesses and domains, encompassing healthcare, agriculture, nanotechnology, and beyond. By adopting a future-oriented approach, we are able to reveal fresh viewpoints and investigate unexplored areas where essential oils have the potential to revolutionize scientific research, improve overall health, and stimulate groundbreaking applications for future generations.

Diverse Promising Areas for in-depth Research and Development

• The exploration and development of new extraction technologies have significant potential for the future of essential oil research. According to Johnson and Carter (2021), many techniques, including supercritical fluid extraction (SFE), microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), and ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE), have demonstrated the potential to improve the production and quality of essential oils.

• To fully exploit the potential of essential oils, it is crucial to do a thorough investigation of their chemical makeup. Thorough investigations into the whole chemical composition of essential oils can assist in establishing uniformity and ensuring high standards in quality control protocols (Guzmán et al., 2021).

• The examination of synergistic effects resulting from the combination of several essential oils or their integration with other natural substances is a promising avenue for future investigation. The comprehension of these interactions has the potential to facilitate the development of therapeutic blends that are more effective and customized (Chemat et al., 2020).

• Studying the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which essential oils work is a vital field of study. Conducting research in this sector will provide valuable understanding of how essential oils interact with biological systems, hence promoting the development of new therapeutic methods and pharmacological treatments.

• Conducting detailed safety and toxicological research is crucial for creating evidence-based recommendations on the safe use of essential oils in various applications. It is essential to determine the correct dosages and potential negative

effects in order to ensure the safe incorporation of these substances into healthcare practices.

• The investigation of methods to improve the bioavailability of essential oil components holds significant potential as a research avenue. By using new formulation tactics or encapsulating methods, we may maximize the body's absorption and distribution of essential oil components (El Asbahani et al., 2015)

Conclusion

Essential oils are a large collection of natural substances that have exceptional potential. From historical customary practices to modern scientific advancements, their trajectory has been characterized by ongoing exploration and ingenuity. As we continue to advance in the field of essential oil discovery and development, it is clear that these fragrant extracts will have a crucial impact on current applications, transforming several sectors and enhancing human well-being. By embracing the combination of ancient knowledge and contemporary science, we can fully use the potential of essential oils and promote a future where we responsibly harness the benefits of nature for the improvement of society.

REFERENCES

- El Asbahani, A., Miladi, K., Badri, W., Sala, M., Addi, E. A., Casabianca, H., El Mousadik, A., Hartmann, D., Jilale, A., and Renaud, F. N. R. (2015). Essential oils: From extraction to encapsulation. *International Journal of Pharmacy*, 483, 220-243.
- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 5(8), 601-611.
- Aliaño-González, M. J., Barea-Sepúlveda, M., Espada-Bellido, E., Ferreiro-González, M., López-Castillo, J. G., Palma, M., and Carrera, C. (2022). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in mushrooms. Agronomy, 12(8), 1812.
- Amorati, R., Baschieri, A., and Valgimigli, L. (2017). Measuring Antioxidant Activity in Bioorganic Samples by the Differential Oxygen Uptake Apparatus: Recent Advances. *Journal of Chemistry*, 63, 69358.
- Ampadu, G. A. A., Mensah, J. O., Darko, G., and Borquaye, L.S. (2022). Essential Oils from the Fruits and Leaves of Spondias mombin Linn.: Chemical Composition, Biological Activity and Molecular Docking Study. *Evidence Based Complementry Alternative Medicine*, 7211015.
- Balusamy, S. R., Perumalsamy, H., Huq, M. A., and Balasubramanian, B. (2018). Anti-proliferative activity of Origanum vulgare inhibited lipogenesis and induced mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis in human stomach cancer cell lines. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, *108*, 1835-1844.
- Caamal-Herrera, I. O., Muñoz-Rodríguez, D., Madera-Santana, T., and Azamar-Barrios, J. A. (2016). Identification of volatile compounds in essential oil and extracts of Ocimum micranthum Willd leaves using GC/MS. *International Journal of Applied Research in Natural Products*, 9(1), 31-40.
- Carson, C. F., Hammer, K. A., and Riley, T. V. (2006). Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil: a review of antimicrobial and other medicinal properties. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *19*(1), 50-62.
- Chemat, F., Vian, M. A., Fabiano-Tixier, A. S., Nutrizio, M., Jambrak, A. R., Munekata, P. E., and Cravotto, G. (2020). A review of sustainable and intensified techniques for extraction of food and natural products. *Green Chemistry*, 22(8), 2325-2353.
- Chen, L., Deng, H., Cui, H., Fang, J., Zuo, Z., Deng, J., Li, Y., Wang, X., and Zhao, L. (2018). Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. *Oncotarget*, *9*, 7204-7218.
- Dagli, N., Dagli, R., Mahmoud, R. S., and Baroudi, K. (2015). Essential oils, their therapeutic properties, and implication in dentistry: A review. *Journal of International Society of Preventive and Community Dentistry*, 5(5), 335-340.
- de Lavor, É. M., Fernandes, A. W. C., de Andrade Teles, R. B., Leal, A. E. B. P., de Oliveira Júnior, R. G., Gama e Silva, M., and da Silva Almeida, J. R. G. (2018). Essential oils and their major compounds in the treatment of chronic inflammation: A review of antioxidant potential in preclinical studies and molecular mechanisms. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2018.* https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6468593
- de Sousa, D. P., Damasceno, R. O. S., Amorati, R., Elshabrawy, H. A., de Castro, R. D., Bezerra, D. P., and Lima, T. C. (2023). Essential oils: Chemistry and pharmacological activities. *Biomolecules*, *13*(7), 1144.
- Do, T. K. T., Hadji-Minaglou, F., Antoniotti, S., and Fernandez, X. (2015). Authenticity of essential oils. TRAC-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 66, 146-157.
- Feriotto, G., Marchetti, N., Costa, V., Beninati, S., Tagliati, F., and Mischiati, C. (2018). Chemical Composition of Essential Oils from Thymus vulgaris, Cymbopogon citratus, and Rosmarinus officinalis, and Their Effects on the HIV-1 Tat Protein Function. Chemistry and Biodiversity, 15, e1700436.
- Fokou, J. B. H., Dongmo, P. M. J., and Boyom, F. F. (2020). Essential oil's chemical composition and pharmacological properties. In *Essential oils-oils of nature*, *1* (pp.13-37) IntechOpen.
- Force, M., Sparks, W. S., and Ronzio, R. A. (2000). Inhibition of enteric parasites by emulsified oil of oregano in vivo. *Phytotherapy Research*, 14(3), 213-214.

Guzmán, E., and Lucia, A. (2021). Essential oils and their individual components in cosmetic products. Cosmetics, 8(4), 114.

Haddad, J. G., Picard, M., Bénard, S., Desvignes, C., Desprès, P., Diotel, N., and El Kalamouni, C. (2019). Ayapana triplinervis

Essential Oil and Its Main Component Thymohydroquinone Dimethyl Ether Inhibit Zika Virus at Doses Devoid of Toxicity in Zebrafish. *Molecules, 24*, 3447.

Harris, R. (2002). Synergism in the essential oil world. International Journal of Aromatherapy, 12(4), 179-186.

- Herz, R. S. (2009). Aromatherapy facts and fictions: a scientific analysis of olfactory effects on mood, physiology and behavior. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, *119*(2), 263-290.
- Hoffmann, K. H. (2020). Essential oils. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C, 75(7-8), 177-177.
- Hyldgaard, M., Mygind, T., and Meyer, R. L. (2012). Essential oils in food preservation: mode of action, synergies, and interactions with food matrix components. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *3*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00012
- Isman, M. B., Miresmailli, S., and Machial, C. (2011). Commercial opportunities for pesticides based on plant essential oils in agriculture, industry and consumer products. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 10, 197-204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-010-9170-4
- James, C., Singh, G., and Agarwal, A. (2017). Effect of peppermint aroma on employees' work performance and fatigue. International Journal of Environmental Health Research, 27(4):277-281
- Jaeger, R., and Cuny, E. (2016). Terpenoids with Special Pharmacological Significance: A Natural Product Communication, 11, 1373-1390.
- Johnson, A.B. (2022). Advancements in essential oil research and applications. Journal of Natural Science, 15(3):123-140
- Johnson, E.F., and Carter, S. (2021). Neurological effects of essential oils: A comprehensive review. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 15:1-12
- Jones, R., Smith, K., Brown, T., and Johnson, P. (202). Supercritical fluid extraction of essentialoils: A review. *Food Chemistry*, 369:130804
- Kachkoul, R., Benjelloun Touimi, G., Bennani, B., El Habbani, R., El Mouhri, G., Mohim, M., and Lahrichi, A. (2021). The synergistic effect of three essential oils against bacteria responsible for the development of Lithiasis infection: An optimization by the mixture design. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/1305264
- Kallel, I., Hadrich, B., Gargouri, B., Chaabane, A., Lassoued, S., Gdoura, R., Bayoudh, A., and Messaoud, E. B. (2019). Optimization of Cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum Blume) Essential Oil Extraction: Evaluation of Antioxidant and Antiproliferative Effects. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *6*, 498347.
- Kim, J. T., Ren, C. J., Fielding, G. A., Pitti, A., Kasumi, T., Wajda, M., and Bekker, A. (2007). Treatment with lavender aromatherapy in the post-anesthesia care unit reduces opioid requirements of morbidly obese patients undergoing laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. *Obesity Surgery*, 17, 920-925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-007-9170-7
- Kim, K. E., Park, S. K., and Cho, I. Y. (2016). Exploring synergistic effect among essential oils in antibacterial action. *Journal of Digital Convergence*, 14(8), 547-553.
- Kong, A. S. Y., Maran, S., Yap, P. S. X., Lim, S. H. E., Yang, S. K., Cheng, W. H., Tan, Y. H., and Lai, K. S. (2022). Anti- and Pro-Oxidant Properties of Essential Oils against Antimicrobial Resistance. *Antioxidants*, 11, 1819.
- Lee, K. G., and Shibamoto, T. (2001). Antioxidant activities of volatile components isolated from Eucalyptus species. *Journal* of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 81(15), 1573-1579.
- Mollica, F., Gelabert, I., and Amorati, R. (2022). Synergic Antioxidant Effects of the Essential Oil Component γ-Terpinene on High-Temperature Oil Oxidation. ACS Food Science and Technology, 2, 180-186.
- Mounira, G. M. (2024). Essential Oils and Their Bioactive Molecules: Recent Advances and New Applications. Essential Oils-Recent Advances, New Perspectives and Applications. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.113406
- Nasiri, A., and Mahmodi, M. A. (2018). Aromatherapy massage with lavender essential oil and the prevention of disability in ADL in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, *30*, 116-121.
- Osaili, T. M., Dhanasekaran, D. K., Zeb, F., Faris, M. E., Naja, F., Radwan, H., and Obaid, R. S. (2023). A status review on health-promoting properties and global regulation of essential oils. *Molecules*, *28*(4), 1809.
- Pandey, V. K., Tripathi, A., Srivastava, S., Dar, A. H., Singh, R., Farooqui, A., and Pandey, S. (2023). Exploiting the bioactive properties of essential oils and their potential applications in food industry. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, *32*, 885-902.
- Puvača, N., and de Llanos Frutos, R. (2021). Antimicrobial resistance in Escherichia coli strains isolated from humans and pet animals. *Antibiotics*, *10*(1), 69.
- Reichling, J. (2022). Antiviral and Virucidal Properties of Essential Oils and Isolated Compounds—A Scientific Approach. *Planta Medica, 88*, 587-603.
- Sattayakhom, A., Wichit, S., and Koomhin, P. (2023). The Effects of Essential Oils on the Nervous System: A Scoping Review of Molecules, 28, 3771.
- Richa, R., Kumar, R., Shukla, R. M., and Khan, K. (2020). Ultrasound assisted essential oil extraction technology: New boon in food industry. *SKUAST Journal of Research*, *22*(2), 78-85.
- Silva-Correa, C. R., Campos-Reyna, J. L., Villarreal-La Torre, V. E., Calderón-Peña, A. A., Sagástegui-Guarniz, W. A., Guerrero-Espino, L. M., and Hilario-Vargas, J. (2021). Potential neuroprotective activity of essential oils in memory and learning impairment. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, *13*(5). DOI:10.5530/pj.2021.13.166
- Swain, S. S., Paidesetty, S. K., Padhy, R. N., and Hussain, T. (2023). Nano-technology platforms to increase the antibacterial

drug suitability of essential oils: A drug prospective assessment. *OpenNano*, 9, 100115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onano.2022.100115

- Tan, J., Li, X., Zhu, Y., Sullivan, M. A., Deng, B., Zhai, X., and Lu, Y. (2022). Antidepressant shugan jieyu capsule alters gut microbiota and intestinal microbiome function in rats with chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depression. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13, 828595. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.828595
- Tanner, G.J., Van Klink, J.W., Schmitt, B.M., and Wood, L.A. (2018). Natural skin care: A case study of four Australian skincare brands. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 44, 334-344.
- Tian, H., Zada, B., Singh, B. H., Wang, C., and Kim, S. W. (2020). Synthetic Biology Approaches for the Production of Isoprenoids in Escherichia coli. *In Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering*. 311-329.
- Wang, J., Ma, S., Zhang, M., and Tian, W. (2023). Microwave-assisted extraction of essential oils: A review. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 119, 875-884.
- Wang, J., Zhang, C., Chou, S., Gobbo, M., Goecke, T., and Ho, L. (2019). Aromatherapy and aromatic plants for supporting treatment of people with chronic pain and other symptoms in palliative care: *A systematic review. Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *8*(10), 1645.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., and Rather, M.A. (2020). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *152*, 104620.
- Zhang, X., Guo, Y., Guo, L., Jiang, H., and Ji, Q. (2018). In Vitro Evaluation of Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activities of Melaleuca alternifolia Essential Oil. *BioMed Research International*, 2, 396109

Role of Essential Oils in the Treatment of Sarcoptic Mange

Zainab^{1*}, Bader Saleem Alawfi², Shahid Hussain Farooqi³, Qaiser Akram⁴, Muhammad Rizwan Saeed⁴, Muhammad Mubashar Beig⁵, Muhammad Awais⁶, Numra Butt⁷, Shamreza Aziz¹ and Minahal Fatima⁸

¹KBCMA College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan

²Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences, College of Applied Medical Sciences, Taibah University, Madinah 42353, Saudi Arabia

³Department of Clinical Sciences, KBCMA College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan

⁴Department of Pathobiology, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan ⁵Department of Microbiology, Al-Shifa Institute of Health Sciences, Narowal, Pakistan

⁶Islamia University Bahawalpur, Pakistan

⁷Department of Zoology, University of Narowal, Narowal, Pakistan

⁸Department of Zoology, Wildlife and Fishries, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: zainabzulfiqar466@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The cause of scabies, a highly contagious and itchy skin disease that affects people and animals around the world, is *Sarcoptes scabiei*, a mite that is a member of the *Sarcoptidae* family. The World Health Organization has identified scabies as a neglected disease in recent years, which emphasizes the need for adopting the efficient control measures. Due to issues with resistance and side effects, traditional acaricides have been replaced by other treatments regimens, especially herbal products. An overview of herbal remedies—specifically, essential oils—for managing infestations of *Sarcoptes scabiei* is given in this chapter. The effectiveness, mechanisms of action, and potential uses of important essential oils, such as tea tree, lemongrass, lavender, cinnamon, clove, palmarosa, and neem, in the treatment of scabies are discussed. In addition, the chapter summarizes current studies and clinical trials that assess the acaricidal effects of these essential oils, providing important information for the creation of fresh anti-scabies treatments.

KEYWORDS	Received: 17-May-2024	and the state	A Publication of
Scabies, <i>Sarcoptidae</i> , Resistance, Essential oils, Herbals	Revised: 12-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 13-Aug-2024	* USP &	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Zainab, Alawfi BS, Farooqi SH, Akram Q, Saeed MR, Beig MM, Awais M, Butt N, Aziz S and Fatima M, 2024. Role of essential oils in the treatment of sarcoptic mange. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 98-103. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.208

INTRODUCTION

The organism *Sarcoptes scabiei*, belongs to the family *Sarcoptidae* (Bornstein et al., 2001) which causes severe infectious, itchy skin disease in animals and humans around the world. In humans, its infection is known as scabies and globally 130 million people are affected from this infection (Figure 1) (Currie BJ, 2015). In 2013, this problem was added in World Health Organization (WHO) in the list of ignored diseases. Scabies is a developing issue and causes death of many animals including cattle, buffalo, dogs and cats (Arlian and Morgan, 2017, Bernigaud et al., 2020). It becomes difficult to control the mites because of the resistance against many acaricides and no availability of vaccines (Van Leeuwen et al., 2010; Absil et al., 2022). Because of these reasons, the world will have to focus on natural products to control mites (Zhu et al., 2020; Liao et al., 2023). The natural products include metabolites obtained from plants or different microorganisms. Essential oils are produced during the metabolism by plants as secondary products and are effective against bacteria, virus, fungi and parasites (Blenau et al., 2012; Peterfalvi et al., 2019; Sandner et al., 2020). Some oils are also very effective against ticks and mites (Selles et al., 2021). Important oils are obtained from tea tree, lavender, lemongrass, cinnamon, clove, tulsi and palmarosa. This book chapter is aimed to offer valuable insights and references for the development of novel acaricidal drugs.

Tea Tree and Lemon Grass for Treating Sarcoptus Scabies:

Several chemical drugs having acaricidal effects have been successfully applied to treat mite infestations including scabies but their extensive usage led to the emergence of resistance and presence of residues in animal products (Bezabh et al., 2022). Therefore, traditional and modern medical practices have been employing herbal remedies due to their cost-effectiveness and minimal side effects (Khare et al., 2019; Nardoni and Mancianti., 2022). Plants have therapeutic properties due to the presence of active ingredients like flavonoids, glycosides, vitamins, alkaloids etc. (Koomson et al., 2018).



......

Fig. 1: Clinical signs of Scabies

The tea trees are members of the *Myrtaceae* family, namely *Leptospermum, Melaleuca*, and *Kunzea* genera (Çalışkan and Özfenerci, 2018; Bezabh et al., 2022). Australian Aboriginals has been using *Melaleuca alternifolia* leaves as medicine for different dermal and epidermal disorders for over 90 years, and oils distilled through steam has been extensively utilized by Australian communities for the same purpose (Yürekli, 2022). The tea tree plant leaves contain essential oils that are collectively referred to as "TTO" (Sabir et al., 2014). The TTO have acaricidal, antimicrobial, antioxidant, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties due to availability of terpinene-4-ol content, γ-terpinene, and α-terpinene as the main bioactive components (Nardoni and Mancianti, 2022). The exact mechanism behind TTO's anti- *S. scabiei var. cuniculi* effect is currently unknown (Gopinath et al., 2018), however 1.8-cineole, T4O, a-terpinene, g-terpinene, and p-cymene's anticholinesterase activity cause the mites muscles to contract and cause spastic paralysis (Li et al., 2023). Additionally, cineole act as repugnant against *S. scabiei var. cuniculi* and modifies working of an enzyme involved in the scabies mites nervous system (Hu et al., 2015; Xavier-Junior et al., 2017).

The TTO showed concentration dependent anti-mite effect on *S. scabiei* mites in a study conducted to evaluate the relative efficacy of permethrin and TTO (Zulkarnain et al., 2019; Ajan et al., 2022). It has reported that in Australia, TTO has been used to treat scabies (Thomas et al., 2016). A study conducted to evaluate the efficacy of 5% TTO, 5% permethrin cream and 10% permethrin cream. Among all, 5% TTO successfully treated scabies at higher rate among all. In addition to this, TTOs can also avoid the secondary bacterial infections like secondary sepsis, pyoderma, and other bacterial implications due to their antimicrobial properties. Moreover, the inflammatory response generated due to mite antigen can also be lessened by TTO. This is due to the anti-inflammatory and antipruritic properties of TTO (George and Joseph, 2009; Thomas et al., 2016).

The lemongrass produces essential oils having miticidal, ovicidal, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. It is also known as Cochin grass connected to family *Poaceae*. It is commonly grown in tropical and subtropical climates (Mead, 2012; Mukarram et al., 2021). A variety of pharmacologically active chemicals, involving citral (a combination of neral and geranial), citronellal, germacrene-D, geranyl acetate and elemol, in addition to other bioactive components are present in lemongrass essential oil (LEO). The lemongrass essential oils (LEO) exhibit strong dose dependent miticidal action against all the stages of life cycle of *S. scabies*. A study conducted to test the efficacy of different concentration of lemongrass essential oil against the *S. scabies* adults. Results explored that LEO killed all adults of *S. scabiei* at percentage concentrations of 10% and 5% in 10 and 25 minutes, respectively. The lemongrass oil at percentage concentrations of 10%, 5%, 1%, 0.5% and 0.1% markedly reduced the hatching rate of mite's eggs taken from the naturally infested rabbits (Li et al., 2020). Citral which is main component of LEO has been reported to exert an ovicide effect against *S. scabiei* eggs at 4.8% concentration (Li et al., 2021; Paichitrojjana et al., 2023). Ahibero 1% exhibited mite-killing properties, killing all phases in 62.53 minutes (Andriantsoanirina et al., 2022).

Lavender and Cinnamon

A highly traded essential oil plant species globally, *Lavender angustifolia Mill* (English lavender) ranks among the top 15. It is a small flowering plant that connected to *Lamiaceae* family (Jemimah et al., 2019; Kharraf et al., 2021). The Inalool, linalyl acetate, monoterpenoids, terpinen-4-ol, camphor and β -ocimene are major ingredients of lavender oil in addition to other therapeutically important components like tannins, coumarin, monoterpenes, phytosterols, anthocyanins, valeric acid, glycolic acid, coumarin etc (Gök et al., 2024). The lavender oil acts as an anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, hypnotizing, antidepressant, anticonvulsive, antimicrobial and antifibrotic agent, among other nutritional and medicinal benefits (Rana, 2021; Bokelmann, 2021; Saeed et al., 2023). On *S. scabiei, Lavandula angustifolia* EO demonstrated an LD50 at 10% in 20 minutes (Fang et al., 2016).

Since Biblical times, cinnamon has been utilized as a therapeutic and flavoring agent. There are reportedly more than 200 species of *Cinnamomum* including *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* (also known as *C. verum*), *C. burmannii, C. camphora, C. cassia, C. glaucescens, C. iners, C. loureirii, C. pauciflorum, C. tamala* (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2021; Kharisma and Upi Chairun Nisa, 2023). The Cinnamon as essential oil has significant therapeutic effects owing to the attendance of cinnamaldehyde, eugenol, and beta-caryophyllene as its main components (Stevens and Allred, 2022). It has been shown that *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* EO is effective against *P. cuniculi* and has recently shown promising potential against *S. scabiei*. This EO demonstrated a powerful activity, both in contact and fumigant form, killing 100% of mites at 1%. Regretfully, the essential oil did not showed ovicide effect, even though its primary constituents, eugenol and benzyl-benzoate, were thought to be accountable for its mite-killing properties (Andriantsoanirina, 2022). The *Cinnamomum camphora* EO was obtained from two distinct geographical sources: camphorwood from China and *raventsara* from Madagascar. Both sources possessed significant concentrations of 1.8 cineole and limonene, respectively, however the plant only exhibited 5% miticide action when applied topically (for *raventsara*), and both topically and when fumigated (Fichi, 2007; Andriantsoanirina, 2022; Li et al., 2023). Applying this tree's oil on a daily basis for ten days will completely cure the scabies infection (Akram et al., 2020).

Clove and Palmarosa

The Sygyzium aromaticum is used to extract clove essential oil (Haro-González et al., 2021; Nardoni and Mancianti, 2022). In a contact bioassay, it was found that 1.56% of clove oil eliminated every scables mite after 15 minutes (Fang et al., 2016). In a contact bioassay, Fang et al. (2016) also found that 1% clove eliminated every mite in 20 minutes. According to El-Saber Batiha et al. (2020), this oil has multiple biological activities in addition to antibacterial, antiparasitic, and antifungal effects. The clove oil is known to have immunobooster and antioxidant qualities (Sandner et al., 2020; Vasantha Kalyani and PM, 2021). The miticidal effect of eugenols has resemblance with that of targenes. The eugenols exhibit potent miticidal effects. This effect is due to the presence of phenolic hydroxyl groups in their structure. The phenolic hydroxyl group in eugenols binds with GABA and octopamine receptors to show miticidal properties (Li et al., 2023). The eugenol and related compounds are active ingredient of the clove oil and all the effects of clove oil are attributed to the presence of these compounds. These terpenes first disturb the cell membrane and then cell organelles in the cells of mites gut and epidermal epithelium. Furthermore, eugenol inhibited the electron transport chain in the oxidative phosphorylation pathway taking place in mitochondria during respiration, with a stopping rate of 60.26% for 100 µg/mL (Shang et al., 2020) and regulated the expression mRNA for catechinic acid, glutathione S-transferase and thioredoxin (Ma et al., 2019). Due to these mechanisms, the eugenol effectively kills Psoroptes cuniculi mites. This killed mites in 5 minutes at 1% concentration and successfully stopped fifty percent (EC50) of hatching of eggs at 0.65%; its fumes also produced surprising results (Fang et al., 2020). The eugenol demonstrated an egg killing effect on S. scabiei with an EC50 of 0.9%, (Li et al., 2021). This recommends that eugenols can penetrate the surface of eggs and can be used as sole treatment of S. scabies (Bernigaud et al., 2019; Thomas et al., 2020).

The eugenols are known to cause skin reactions when used in excessive quantities so EC 50 should be critically considered. The topical administration of eugenol should not exceed 0.5% to prevent these adverse reactions on skin (Nardoni and Mancianti, 2022).

The Palmarosa essential oil is the secondary metabolic product of *Cymbopogon martini*. It killed *S. scabiei* in 50 minutes when used at 1% concentration (Fang et al., 2016; Nikolaou et al., 2021). Fang et al. evaluated the efficacy of ten essential oils against *S. scabiei*. Out of the 10 essential oils, the most effective essentials oils were 1 percent (v/v) clove oil and palmarosa oil as they eliminated every mite in 20 and 50 minutes, respectively (Sharma et al., 2020). The active ingredient of palmarosa oil is geraniol (Smitha and Rana, 2015). Different routes of administrations have tested for geraniol but the results have shown that geraniol have a potent acaricidal effect whenever administered by contact as opposed to fumigant form. The tarpene also exhibit ovicide activity against *S. scabiei* (Li et al., 2020) with an EC50 of 2% and was effective against both the forms (adult and eggs) of *P. cuniculi* mites (Fang et al., 2020). Being 5.3% of the maximum amount advised, it is well acceptable for dermal use, and this EO seems to be a emerging tool for a secure cure (Nardoni and Mancianti, 2022).

Neem Oil

The Azadirachta indica is a plant of India that provides us with neem oil (Upadhayay and Vigyan, 2014), this oil is used in various medicines for the treatment of different issues (Benelli et al., 2017). The main element of neem is azadirachtin that is present in the leaves and seeds. It deregulates the growth of parasites, decreases ecdysone levels, changes the
development and reproduction, and have negative effect on molting. The acaricidal effect active as larvicide against *S. scabiei var cuniculi* while octadecanoic acid-tetrahydrofuran-3,4-diyl ester, cause damage to the body wall of mites, hinders mitochondrial activity and oxidative phosphorylation pathway, ultimately results in the death of parasites (Chen et al., 2014; Song et al., 2017).

Conclusion

In conclusion, there are encouraging possibilities for the management of *Sarcoptes scabiei* infestations, including scabies in humans and mange in animals, through the use of herbal remedies, especially essential oils. In place of traditional acaricides, essential oils with notable acaricidal activity against *S. scabiei* include tea tree, lemongrass, lavender, cinnamon, clove, palmarosa, and neem, respectively. These essential oils are effective against mites at different stages of their life cycle due to their diverse mechanisms of action, which include neurotoxicity, ovicidal effects, and disruption of mite physiology. Moreover, herbal products made from these essential oils are usually safe for the environment, well-tolerated, and have few side effects. To maximize efficacy and safety, more research is necessary to optimize formulations, dosages, and application techniques. Researcher, medical professional, and policymaker collaboration is necessary to fully utilize the potential of herbal remedies in the fight against scabies and to enhance public health outcomes worldwide.

REFERENCES

- Absil, G., Lebas, E., Libon, F., El Hayderi, L., Dezfoulian, B., and Nikkels, A. F. (2022). Scabies and therapeutic resistance: current knowledge and future perspectives. *JEADV Clinical Practice*, 1(3), 157-164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jvc2.25</u>
- Akram, M., Riaz, M., Noreen, S., Shariati, M. A., Shaheen, G., Akhter, N., and Zainab, R. (2020). Therapeutic potential of medicinal plants for the management of scabies. *Dermatologic Therapy*, 33(1), e13186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.13186</u>
- Andriantsoanirina, V., Guillot, J., Ratsimbason, M., Mekhloufi, G., Randriamialinoro, F., Ranarivelo, L., and Durand, R. (2022). In vitro efficacy of essential oils against Sarcoptes scabiei. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 7176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-11176-x</u>
- Arlian, L. G., and Morgan, M. S. (2017). A review of Sarcoptes scabiei: past, present and future. *Parasites and Vectors*, 10, 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2234-1</u>
- Benelli, G., Canale, A., Toniolo, C., Higuchi, A., Murugan, K., Pavela, R., and Nicoletti, M. (2017). Neem (Azadirachta indica): towards the ideal insecticide?. *Natural product research*, 31(4), 369-386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2016.1214834</u>
- Bernigaud, C., Fischer, K., and Chosidow, O. (2020). The management of scabies in the 21st century: past, advances and potentials. *Acta dermato-venereologica*, 100(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.2340%2F00015555-3468</u>
- Bernigaud, C., Samarawickrama, G. R., Jones, M. K., Gasser, R. B., and Fischer, K. (2019). The challenge of developing a single-dose treatment for scabies. *Trends in Parasitology*, 35(11), 931-943. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2019.08.002</u>
- Bezabh, S. A., Tesfaye, W., Christenson, J. K., Carson, C. F., and Thomas, J. (2022). Antiparasitic activity of tea tree oil (TTO) and its components against medically important ectoparasites: A systematic review. Pharmaceutics, 14(8), 1587. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics14081587
- Blenau, W., Rademacher, E., and Baumann, A. (2012). Plant essential oils and formamidines as insecticides/acaricides: what are the molecular targets?. *Apidologie*, 43, 334-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-011-0108-7</u>
- Bokelmann, J. M. (2021). Medicinal Herbs in Primary Care-E-Book: An Evidence-Guided Reference for Healthcare Providers. Elsevier Health Sciences. ISBN: 978-323-84676-9
- Bornstein, S., Mörner, T., and Samuel, W. M. (2001). Sarcoptes scabiei and sarcoptic mange. *Parasitic Diseases of Wild Mammals*, 107-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470377000</u>
- Çalışkan, U., and Özfenerci, M. (2018). Tea tree oil and its use in aromatherapy. *Current Perspectives on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, 1(2), 90-102.
- Chen, Z. Z., Deng, Y. X., Yin, Z. Q., Wei, Q., Li, M., Jia, R. Y., and Yin, L. (2014). Studies on the acaricidal mechanism of the active components from neem (Azadirachta indica) oil against Sarcoptes scabiei var. cuniculi. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 204(3-4), 323-329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2014.05.040</u>
- Currie, B. J. (2015). Scabies and global control of neglected tropical diseases. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373(24), 2371-2372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe1511805</u>
- El Kharraf, S., Faleiro, M. L., Abdellah, F., El-Guendouz, S., El Hadrami, E. M., and Miguel, M. G. (2021). Simultaneous hydrodistillation-steam distillation of Rosmarinus officinalis, Lavandula angustifolia and Citrus aurantium from Morocco, major terpenes: Impact on biological activities. *Molecules*, 26(18), 5452. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26185452</u>
- Fang, F., Candy, K., Melloul, E., Bernigaud, C., Chai, L., Darmon, C., and Guillot, J. (2016). In vitro activity of ten essential oils against Sarcoptes scabiei. *Parasites and vectors*, 9, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1889-3</u>
- Fang, F., Li, M., Jiang, Z., Lu, X., Guillot, J., and Si, H. (2020). Comparing acaricidal and ovicidal activity of five terpenes from essential oils against Psoroptes cuniculi. *Parasitology Research*, 119, 4219-4223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-020-06823-z</u>

- Fichi, G., Flamini, G., Zaralli, L. J., and Perrucci, S. (2007). Efficacy of an essentifal oil of Cinnamomum zeylanicum against Psoroptes cuniculi. *Phytomedicine*, 14(2-3), 227-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2006.01.004</u>
- George, M., and Joseph, L. (2009). Anti-allergic, anti-pruritic, and anti-inflammatory activities of Centella asiatica extracts. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.4314 /ajtcam.v6i4.57206
- Gök, S. B., and Erdoğdu, Y. (2024). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of essential oils from six lavender (Lavandula angustifolia Mill.) cultivars. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 70(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.17221/438/2023-PSE</u>
- Gopinath, H., Aishwarya, M., and Karthikeyan, K. (2018). Tackling scabies: novel agents for a neglected disease. *International Journal of Dermatology*, 57(11), 1293-1298. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijd.13999
- Haro-González, J. N., Castillo-Herrera, G. A., Martínez-Velázquez, M., and Espinosa-Andrews, H. (2021). Clove essential oil (Syzygium aromaticum L. Myrtaceae): Extraction, chemical composition, food applications, and essential bioactivity for human health. *Molecules*, 26(21), 6387. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26216387</u>
- Hu, Z., Chen, Z., Yin, Z., Jia, R., Song, X., Li, L., and Shi, F. (2015). In vitro acaricidal activity of 1, 8-cineole against Sarcoptes scabiei var. cuniculi and regulating effects on enzyme activity. *Parasitology Research*, 114, 2959-2967. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-015-4498-8</u>
- Jemimah, G., Reddy, T. S., Keerthana, M., Bonagiri, Y., and Sharma, J. V. C. (2019). Medicinal Plants Used in the Treatment of Skin Diseases. 8(13), 496-510. <u>https://doi.org/10.20959/wjpr201913-16233</u>
- Khare, R. K., Das, G., Kumar, S., Bendigeri, S., Sachan, S., Saiyam, R., and Khare, D. S. (2019). Herbal insecticides and acaricides: Challenges and constraints. *International Journal Chemistry Study*, 7(4), 118-125. P-ISSN: 2349–8528; E-ISSN: 2321–4902
- Kharisma, A. D., and Upi Chairun Nisa, Y. (2023). Evaluation of Antioxidant Activity and Toxicity of Cinnamomum Burmannii
 B. from Different Provinces of Indonesia. *Journal of Hunan University Natural Sciences*, 50(4). https://doi.org/10.55463/issn.1674-2974.50. 4.16
- Koomson, D. A., Kwakye, B. D., Darkwah, W. K., Odum, B., Asante, M., and Aidoo, G. (2018). Phytochemical constituents, total saponins, alkaloids, flavonoids and vitamin C contents of ethanol extracts of five Solanum torvum fruits. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, 10(5). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5530/pj.2018.5.160</u>
- Li, M., Feng, S., Huang, S., Guillot, J., and Fang, F. (2023). In vitro efficacy of terpenes from essential oils against Sarcoptes scabiei. *Molecules*, 28(8), 3361. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28083361</u>
- Li, M., Liu, B., Bernigaud, C., Fischer, K., Guillot, J., and Fang, F. (2020). Lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) oil: A promising miticidal and ovicidal agent against Sarcoptes scabiei. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 14(4), e0008225. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0008225
- Li, M., Liu, S., Yin, Z., Bernigaud, C., Guillot, J., and Fang, F. (2021). Activity of terpenes derived from essential oils against Sarcoptes scabiei eggs. *Parasites and Vectors*, 14(1), 600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-021-05094-6</u>
- Liao, F., Han, C., Deng, Q., Zhou, Z., Bao, T., Zhong, M., and Hu, Y. (2023). Natural Products as Mite Control Agents in Animals: A Review. *Molecules*, 28(19), 6818. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28196818</u>
- Ma, W., Fan, Y., Liu, Z., Hao, Y., Mou, Y., Liu, Y., and Song, X. (2019). The acaricidal activity and mechanism of eugenol on Psoroptes cuniculi. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 266, 56-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2018.12.012</u>
- Mead, H. M. (2012). Acaricidal activity of essential oil of lemongrass, Chymbopogon citratus (DC.) Stapf against Tetranychus urticae Koch. *Journal of Plant Protection and Pathology*, 3(1), 43-51. https://dx.doi.org/10.21608/jppp.2012.83 699
- Mukarram, M., Choudhary, S., Khan, M. A., Poltronieri, P., Khan, M. M. A., Ali, J., and Shahid, M. (2021). Lemongrass essential oil components with antimicrobial and anticancer activities. *Antioxidants*, 11(1), 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11010020</u>
- Nardoni, S., and Mancianti, F. (2022). Essential oils against Sarcoptes scabiei. Molecules, 27(24), 9067. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27249067
- Nikolaou, P., Marciniak, P., Adamski, Z., and Ntalli, N. (2021). Controlling stored products' pests with plant secondary metabolites: A review. *Agriculture*, 11(9), 879. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture11090879</u>
- Paichitrojjana, A., and Chalermchai, T. (2023). Comparison of in vitro killing effect of Thai herbal essential oils, tea tree oil, and metronidazole 0.75% versus ivermectin 1% on Demodex folliculorum. Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology, 1279-1286. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/CCID.S414737</u>
- Peterfalvi, A., Miko, E., Nagy, T., Reger, B., Simon, D., Miseta, A., and Szereday, L. (2019). Much more than a pleasant scent: A review on essential oils supporting the immune system. *Molecules*, 24(24), 4530. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24244530
- Rana, P., Kumar, A., Choudhary, A., Kaur, H., and Singh, R. (2021). The wisdom of prevention: Holistic, preventive herb approach for healing of the globe. *Journal Pharmacy Innovation*, 10, 29-46. ISSN (E): 2277-7695; ISSN (P): 2349-8242
- Sabir, S., Arshad, M., Zahara, K., Tabassum, S., and Chaudhari, S. K. (2014). Pharmacological attributes and nutritional benefits of tea tree oil. *International Journal Biology Science*, 5, 80-91. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12692/ijb/5.2.80-91</u>
- Saeed, F., Afzaal, M., Raza, M. A., Rasheed, A., Hussain, M., Nayik, G. A., and Ansari, M. J. (2023). Lavender essential oil: nutritional, compositional, and therapeutic insights. In Essential Oils (pp. 85-101). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91740-7.00009-8</u>

- Sandner, G., Heckmann, M., and Weghuber, J. (2020). Immunomodulatory activities of selected essential oils. *Biomolecules*, 10(8), 1139. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10081139</u>
- Selles, S. M. A., Kouidri, M., González, M. G., González, J., Sánchez, M., González-Coloma, A., and Valcárcel, F. (2021). Acaricidal and repellent effects of essential oils against ticks: a review. *Pathogens*, 10(11), 1379. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10111379</u>
- Shang, X. F., Dai, L. X., Yang, C. J., Guo, X., Liu, Y. Q., Miao, X. L., and Zhang, J. Y. (2021). A value-added application of eugenol as acaricidal agent: The mechanism of action and the safety evaluation. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 34, 149-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2020.12.010</u>
- Sharifi-Rad, J., Dey, A., Koirala, N., Shaheen, S., El Omari, N., Salehi, B., and Caruntu, C. (2021). Cinnamomum species: bridging phytochemistry knowledge, pharmacological properties and toxicological safety for health benefits. *Frontiers* in *Pharmacology*, 12, 600139. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.600139</u>
- Sharma, A., Bhardwaj, G., Sohal, H. S., and Gohain, A. (2022). Chapter 9—Eugenol. Nutraceuticals and Health Care, 177-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89779-2.00007-7
- Smitha, G. R., and Rana, V. S. (2015). Variations in essential oil yield, geraniol and geranyl acetate contents in palmarosa (Cymbopogon martinii, Roxb. Wats. var. motia) influenced by inflorescence development. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 66, 150-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.12.062</u>
- Song, X., Chen, Z., Jia, R., Cao, M., Zou, Y., Li, L., and Yin, Z. (2017). Transcriptomics and proteomic studies reveal acaricidal mechanism of octadecanoic acid-3, 4-tetrahydrofuran diester against Sarcoptes scabiei var. cuniculi. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 45479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45479</u>
- Stevens, N., and Allred, K. (2022). Antidiabetic potential of volatile cinnamon oil: A review and exploration of mechanisms using in silico molecular docking simulations. *Molecules*, 27(3), 853.
- Thomas, C., Coates, S. J., Engelman, D., Chosidow, O., and Chang, A. Y. (2020). Ectoparasites: scabies. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 82(3), 533-548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2019.05.109</u>
- Thomas, J., Carson, C. F., Peterson, G. M., Walton, S. F., Hammer, K. A., Naunton, M., and Baby, K. E. (2016). Therapeutic potential of tea tree oil for scabies. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 94(2), 258. https://doi.org/10.4269%2Fajtmh.14-0515
- Upadhayay, U. P., and Vigyan, P. C. (2014). Neem (Azadirachta indica) and its Potential for Safeguarding. *Journal of Biological Sciences*, 14(2), 110-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.3923/jbs.2014110.123</u>
- Van Leeuwen, T., Vontas, J., Tsagkarakou, A., Dermauw, W., and Tirry, L. (2010). Acaricide resistance mechanisms in the twospotted spider mite Tetranychus urticae and other important Acari: a review. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 40(8), 563-572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibmb.2010.05.008</u>
- Vasantha Kalyani, C., and PM, K. K. R. (2021). Immunity boosting measures: A gateway toward preventive measure for coronavirus disease 2019. National Journal Physiology Pharmacy Pharmacology, 11, 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.5455/njppp.2021.11.04125202129042021</u>
- Xavier-Junior, F. H., Vauthier, C., Morais, A. R. V., Alencar, E. N., and Egito, E. S. T. (2017). Microemulsion systems containing bioactive natural oils: an overview on the state of the art. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 43(5), 700-714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2016.1235186</u>
- Yürekli, A. (2022). Adjunctive Agent for Treating Scabies: In vitro Killing Activity of Permethrin and Tea Tree Oil on Sarcoptes scabiei Collected from Patients. *Turkish Journal of Parasitology*, 46(4), 334–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.4274/tpd.galenos.2022.29494</u>
- Zhu, J. K., Gao, J. M., Yang, C. J., Shang, X. F., Zhao, Z. M., Lawoe, R. K., and Liu, Y. Q. (2020). Design, synthesis, and antifungal evaluation of neocryptolepine derivatives against phytopathogenic fungi. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68(8), 2306-2315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.9b06793</u>
- Zulkarnain, I., Agusni, R. I., and Afif Nurul Hidayati, N. (2019). Comparison of tea tree oil 5% cream, tea tree oil 5%+ permethrin 5% cream, and permethrine 5% cream in child scabies. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medical Sciences*, 4(6), 87-93. <u>http://repository.unair.ac.id/id/eprint/87018</u>

Peppermint Essential Oil: A Tropical Remedy

Rida Mumtaz¹, Ammara Riaz¹*, Sareena Ehsan¹, Maryam Akhtar¹, Humna Nadeem¹, Amna Khalid¹, Asma Batool¹, Javeria Zafar¹, Abdul Rehman² and Zeliha Selamoglu³

¹Department of Life Sciences, Faculty of Natural and Applied Sciences, Khwaja Fareed University of Engineering and Information Technology Rahim Yar Khan, 64200, Pakistan

²Emergency Medical Officer, Emergency Department, Sakhi Surgical Hospital, Arifwala, Pakistan

³Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Nigde Ömer Helisdemir University, Nigde Campus 51240 Turkey *Corresponding author: <u>ammara.riaz@kfueit.edu.pk</u>

ABSTRACT

Essential oils are known to be the concentrated oils, containing substantial compounds due to which a plant takes its particular aroma and flavor. Peppermint oil is also one of the many significant essential oils. Peppermint herb also gains its popularity as it is a natural cross between two different types of mints. Its occurrence expands to many origins including the entire regions of Asia, North America and Europe. The leaves of peppermint are used for many purposes but its oil stands at another level in therapeutics. Peppermint oil is highly effective against gastrointestinal complexities. The use of this oil is quite well known for irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), but it also treats several other medical conditions including digestion, bloating, fatigue, anxiety, memory and spasms. The role of peppermint essential oil as an anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial agent has also been unveiled. The broad spectrum of usage of this oil is given to its efficient pharmacodynamics. It can be used by numerous ways considering the proper way of application in accordance with the suitability and safety of the applicant. A significant amount of research work has been done to disclose the tendencies of this amazing oil but still there is a lot to discover.

KEYWORDS	Received: 12-June-2024	SCIENTINC ALE	A Publication of
Essential oils, Peppermint oil, Anti-inflammatory,	Revised: 18-July-2024	and the second second	Unique Scientific
Gastrointestinal, Irritable bowel syndrome.	Accepted: 12-Aug-2024	SUSPE	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Mumtaz R, Riaz A, Ehsan S, Akhtar M, Nadeem H, Khalid A, Batool A, Zafar J, Rehman A and Selamoglu Z, 2024. Peppermint essential oil: a tropical remedy. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 104-113. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.105

INTRODUCTION

Essential oils (EOs) are basically a concoction of volatile oils extracted from natural aromatic plants (Sattayakhom et al., 2023). Since the antient times of various cultures including Egyptians, Persians, Greeks, and Chinese, essential oils have been used as a common remedy throughout the world. Till this day, EOs are being used in traditional as well as complimentary medicines, massage therapies, aromatherapy, perfumes, cosmetics, and food industries (Lr, 2021). Some common plants from which essential oils are extracted include cinnamon, basil, eucalyptus, oregano, thyme, sage, camphor tree, peppermint, lavender, lemongrass, and others (Sakkas and Papadopoulou, 2017; Yanakiev, 2020; Lee et al., 2022) . EOs extracted from citrus fruits have a great significance as well in the food, beverage, and perfume, industries, in addition to being used in aromatherapy and as potent medicinal agents (Dosoky and Setzer, 2018). These vital oils are also found in a range of other products such as food flavoring, lotions, soaps, shampoos, colognes, hair styling products, laundry detergents, as well as in several insect repellents (Ramsey et al., 2020). Over the past decades, essential oils have greatly risen in their popularity. This might be due to the fact that EOs extracted from numerous plant species contain over 200 constituents. The application of such oils as anti-inflammatory anticancer, antioxidant, antimicrobial, anti-viral, antiparasitic, antiaging, and neuroprotective agents, in addition to other pharmacological responses of nervous system thus leading to anxiolytic, sedative, antidepressant, and anticonvulsant effects are due to their effective properties (Aziz et al., 2018). Currently, the clinical study data available regarding the immunomodulatory effects of essential oils is not enough (Sandner et al., 2020). However, different studies have confirmed that EOs interfere with crucial biological processes via interacting certain biological targets, at both cellular and multicellular levels (de Sousa et al., 2023). Therefore, the therapeutic tendencies of several essential oils are enough to make them a substantial ingredient in novel drugs and modern products.

Background of Peppermint Essential Oil (PEO) Occurrence

Over the decades, certain plants have made a great mark in the world history due to their remarkable tendencies (Diniz do Nascimento et al., 2020). One of such plants is peppermint. Peppermint (mentha), is a genus belonging to the

taxonomic family Lamiaceae (*Mentha piperita* L.) and a cross between two different types of mints (spearmint and water mint) (Fig. 1). It is broadly distributed throughout the temperate regions of the world including Asia, specifically India, Europe, United States, and Mediterranean countries because of their distinct aroma and commercial value (Mahendran and Rahman, 2020). Peppermint is generally a perennial, strongly scented, and glabrous herb. It contains innumerable constituents which are further categorized as PEO and non-essential components (Zhao et al., 2022).

Sr. no.	Plant name	Scientific name	Biological activities References
1	Cinnamon	Cinnamomum	Anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antioxidant, (Bhattarai et al., 2021)
		verum	anticoagulant, analgesic, anticancer
2	Basil	Ocimum basilicum	Antifungal, antibacterial, antiparasitic, antioxidant (Sakkas and Papadopoulou, 2017; Tavallali et al., 2019)
3	Eucalyptus	Eucalyptus cinerea	Antioxidant, antimicrobial, chemotherapeutic, (Dhakad et al., 2018) antiseptic, wound healing, and herbicidal, insecticidal, nematicidal, acaricidal
4	Peppermint	Mentha piperita L.	Anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, effective against (Kehili et al., 2020; Scarpellini gastrointestinal disorders, anti-spamosdic activity, et al., 2023; Matsueda et al., antidepressive 2024)
5	Sage	Salvia officinalis	Antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, anticancer (Poulios et al., 2020)
6	Caraway	Carum carvi	Anti-tumor, antimicrobial, antioxidant (Aly et al., 2023)
7	Lavender	Lavandula angustifolia	Antifungal, antibacterial, carminative, (Cavanagh and Wilkinson, antidepressive, sedative 2002)
8	Lemongrass	Cymbopogon citratus	Antioxidant, antifungal, antibiofilm, anti- (Rhimi et al., 2022) hypersensitive potential
9	Camphor	Cinnamomum	Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, (Lee et al., 2022)
	tree	camphora	allelopathic, insecticidal, algicidal
10	Rosemary	Rosmarinus officinalis	Antioxidant, antitumor, antiproliferative, anti- (de Oliveira et al., 2019) inflammatory, antimicrobial

Cultivation Zone

Peppermint is indeed one of the most crucial aromatic crops that is cultivated around the world for the sake of its EOs (Ghotbi-Ravandi et al., 2023). This plant is also widely cultivated in India. This vital plant is expansively cultivated in Himalayan hills, Uttar Pradesh, Haryana, Bihar and Punjab. Out of these regions, Uttar Pradesh is known to be the largest producing state of the country, thus contributing about 80% to 90% of the total production, It is then followed by the regions of Punjab, Bihar, Haryana, and Himachal Pradesh (Muthukumar, 2013).



Therapeutic Efficacy of Peppermint Oil

PEO has long been used to treat innumerable ailments. This oil is specifically known for its gastrointestinal problems, but it also shows several curative abilities in the diseases including abdominal pain, nausea, irritable bowel syndrome, antiinflammatory activity, antioxidant activity, anti-microbial effects, in addition to the modulation of psychosocial distress and fatigue (Chumpitazi et al., 2018; Wińska et al., 2019; Scarpellini et al., 2023). Some of the basic therapeutic properties of peppermint essential oil have been described (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2: Health benefits of peppermint essential oil

An Anti-inflammatory and Antimicrobial Agent

PEO is a promising anti-inflammatory agent. About 23 compounds have been identified in this oil, with the core chemical component being menthol (approximately 53.29%), thus making it an effective anti-inflammatory and wound healing oil (Kehili et al., 2020). Various studies have showed that such EOs reduce inflammation in vitro by inhibiting the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and TNF- α , and also by in vivo methods. Therefore, herbal preparations of peppermint are potent cosmetic and medicinal preparations in case of their use in different products with anti-inflammatory, wound-healing and antimicrobial properties (Hudz et al., 2023).

The widespread use of peppermint is generally related to its pleasant minty flavor and a feeling of coolness that it gives, however, it is supposed that an elevated menthol content in peppermint oil shows increased antimicrobial activity (Orchard and van Vuuren, 2017; Wińska et al., 2019). More recent data involving peppermint oil demonstrate its antimicrobial effects and a capability to downregulate inflammation. Antimicrobial properties of peppermint oil have been determined by the application on various microorganisms by adding in variable amounts to the film samples made of different components. The biodegradable films thus obtained have an increased potential for practice in different fields, especially in food packaging industries (Koşarsoy Ağçeli et al., 2022).

Settles IBS and Gastric Irritation

Around the world, herbal therapy containing PEO is broadly used for patients suffering with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). This oil is an effective and safe remedy for gastroenterology, thereby having promising scientific standpoints and rapidly escalating practice in clinical trials. PEO as well as its constituents exert anti-spasmodic and muscle relaxant effects on the stomach, lower esophageal sphincter, and duodenum, in addition to large bowel. Moreover, this oil has tendency to modulate visceral sensitivity. These effects suggest the use of peppermint oil for better endoscopic performance and also for IBS (Scarpellini et al., 2023).

As various mechanisms of action described for PEO include relaxation of smooth muscles; modulation of visceral sensitivity; anti-inflammatory activity, anti-microbial effects, and modulation of psychosocial distress, placebo controlled data significantly support the use of this oil in IBS, childhood functional abdominal pain, gastric irritation, postoperative nausea, and functional dyspepsia (Matsueda et al., 2024).

Supports Digestion

Since ancient times, PEO has been used to cure many digestive disorders as it helps to improve digestion (Kligler and Chaudhary, 2007). Drinking a glass of water mixed with few drops of this oil after meals reduce flatulence and helps

digestion by relaxing the muscles. It is mainly used to treat issues in the upper digestive system like cramps, indigestion, and nausea for many people (Zhao et al., 2022). There are several evidences showing that PEO exerts effective actions against many gut diseases. It improves stomach and intestinal movements (Matsueda et al., 2024) and relieves feelings of fullness and discomfort, especially in case of functional dyspepsia (Acker and Cash, 2017).

Reduces Gastrointestinal Spasms

PEO has been proved as effective smooth muscle relaxant, and due to this property peppermint oil delivered through enema has been examined in two trials to help ease symptoms of gastrointestinal spasms during different GI procedures like flexible sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, administration of barium enema etc. (Asao et al., 2003). During procedure like outpatient flexible sigmoidoscopy, traditional practices cause many problems. Attention has been drawn to the use of peppermint oil as it is a safe substance to produce smooth muscle relaxation (Scarpellini et al., 2023).

Relieves Headaches

Recent research has uncovered specific ways in which PEO can relieve pain. When it is applied directly to the skin, it creates a long-lasting cooling sensation by steric alteration of calcium channels of the cold receptor as well as antagonizes serotonin-induced contraction (Chumpitazi et al., 2018). Moreover, applying PEO to the skin of the forehead increases blood flow, as measured by laser doppler (Kehili et al., 2020).

Tension-type headaches are the most common type of headaches. Solutions containing about 10% peppermint oil in alcohol have been approved for treating tension-type headache in adults and children over 6 years age (Mahendran and Rahman, 2020).

Fight Fatigue and Anxiety

In a recent research study using mice as a model, it has been concluded that injecting PEO into mice can make them walk more, and menthol might help boost energy by stimulating the nervous system and lowering lactate level in the blood (McKay and Blumberg, 2006). It is expected that PEO might help healthy people breathe better by increasing lung capacity, giving their brains more oxygen and reducing tiredness and anxiety (Li et al., 2017). Moreover, PEO fights against anxiety by increasing body alertness and improving mental refreshment. PEO can relieve anxiety, reduce pain and impulse, modify the olfactory pathway of the brain, as well as promote sleep quality, contributing to its antifatigue activity (Mahdavikian et al., 2021).

Improves Memory

PEO is noted to protect brain and nerves. Menthol and menthone in PEO are neuroactive substances. They can block cholinesterase and attach to nicotine and also GABAA receptors, making neurons more active. Using PEO regularly can really help reduce mental tiredness (Lv et al., 2022).

Additionally, PEO has neuroprotective property. Peppermint aroma has been shown to improve tasks related to attentional processes, working memory, virtual recognition memory, as well as visual-motor response (Fang et al., 2019). Administrating drugs through the nose to the brain is a promising method because it bypasses the blood-brain barrier and increases the bioavailability for the treatment of different brain diseases (Kiran Vaka and Narasimha Murthy, 2010). Besides, PEO can ease bronchospasm, by boosting nitric oxide production and opening of K⁺ channel (de Sousa et al., 2010).

Pharmacodynamics of Peppermint Oil

The key pharmacodynamic effect of PEO related to the gastrointestinal tract is a dose-related antispasmodic impact on its smooth musculature, given to the interference of menthol component with calcium moving across the cell membrane.

Mode of Action

The numerous preclinical investigations impart light on the possible applicability of peppermint oil to gastrointestinal and other problems and the physiology of the gastrointestinal tract as shown in the Fig. 3.

a) The core mechanism of action of PEO in functional gastrointestinal diseases is thought to be its antispasmodic properties. However, it is unclear how much peppermint oil gives therapeutic benefits (Kearns et al., 2015).

b) PEO relaxes smooth muscles. It inhibits calcium channels in guinea pig ileal smooth muscles in vitro. Menthol has been shown to cause circular smooth muscle relaxation in the human colon by directly preventing contractility by blocking Ca²⁺ inflow via sarcolemma L-type Ca2+ channels (Amato et al., 2014).

C) The enteric nervous system may potentially be directly impacted by this oil. It has been demonstrated that menthol functions via transient receptor potential cation channel to generate membrane potential depolarization in a concentration-dependent manner (Kim et al., 2016).

d) Despite being widely recognized topical analgesic, when taken orally or intraperitoneally, PEO can reduce visceral discomfort (Adam et al., 2006). The transient receptor potential cation channel superfamily's TRPM8 and/or TRPA1

receptors, which are found in the gut, are thought be involved in the alleviation of visceral discomfort (Harrington et al., 2011).

e) Menthol inhibits human monocytes' ability to produce inflammatory mediators in vitro. Peppermint oil's antiinflammatory properties are thought to be mediated because its activation reduces the symptoms of chemically induced colitis (Ramachandran et al., 2013). Ani-inflammatory property of this oil is also achieved by involvement of certain cytokines.

f) In healthy adults, the impact of PEO upon esophageal function has been investigated. It reduces esophageal spasms utilizing double contrast esophageal barium tests (Mizuno et al., 2006).

g) According to hydrogen breath tests, it has been discovered that this oil slows down orocecal transit (Goerg and Spilker, 2003). Using PEO solution combined with barium reduces intestinal spasm during barium enema treatments (Asao et al., 2003). Peppermint oil has been successfully employed for its anti-spasmodic qualities during ERCP operations as well as upper GI endoscopies and colonoscopies.



Fig. 3: Mode of action of PEO in various ailments

Combination with other Oils

A combination of peppermint oil and caraway oil is of special interest in FD and IBS since the documented mechanistic investigations reveal a synergistic and additive impact of the combination against the sensation of abdominal discomfort and bloating by a multitarget approach (Alliger et al., 2020; Krueger et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021). Both caraway and peppermint oil have been examined alone and in combination using a post-inflammatory visceral hyperalgesia paradigm. When used in combination, the sensitivity to pain was significantly reduced (Adam et al., 2006). Using the disk diffusion method, the antibacterial activity of peppermint, lavender, and their blend have also been evaluated (Park and Yoon, 2018). Because of the antibacterial and antiviral properties, peppermint, eucalyptus, and rosemary oils have also been believed to work in concert to treat certain infectious disorders of both the upper and lower respiratory tracts (Köteles et al., 2018).

Various Ways to use Peppermint Oil

There are various ways to use peppermint essential oils which are described as:

Applied Topically on Skin

One way to use PEO is by its direct application on the skin. Menthol, a component of peppermint plant and known to be effective in external use, is the main ingredient in many ointments and provides a little analgesic and cooling effect (Kligler and Chaudhary, 2007). It has been observed that menthol alters the Ca2+ currents in neuronal membranes, hence increasing the susceptibility of cutaneous cold receptors and can be considered as the most efficient penetration enhancer (Aqil et al., 2007). About 3% peppermint oil allows hair growth by promoting the conservation of vascularization of hair dermal papilla, thus contributing to the improvement of hair growth (Oh et al., 2014).

Applied Intranasally

PEO is also effective when it is applied intranasally. The therapeutic agents administered this way are regarded to reach the brain through the olfactory pathway. However, this pathway is associated with a primary restricting element, the olfactory epithelial barrier. A natural barrier modulating agent, peppermint oil, has been found to enhance the delivery of

therapeutic agents via secure and transient permeabilization of the olfactory epithelium. it is most likely that peppermint oil opens the tight junction to enhance the delivery of therapeutic factors (Vaka and Murthy, 2010).

Oral Ingestion (Capsule or tablet form)

It is very well known that the use of peppermint oil is a common method to treat IBS (Nee et al., 2021). ZO-Y60 is an enteric-coated pill, the core factor of which is peppermint oil extracted from the peppermint plant (Asgarshirazi et al., 2015). Peppermint oil ZO-Y60 exert notable impacts on IBS, regardless of its subtypes (Matsueda et al., 2024). Colpermin is also an enteric coated peppermint oil formulation designed to delay peppermint oil release, which seems beneficial in the treatment of irritable bowel/spastic colon syndrome (Khanna et al., 2014). Oral administration of PEO can also prevent xylene caused intestinal infection (From the American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS), American Society of Neuroradiology (ASNR), Cardiovascular and Interventional Radiology Society of Europe (CIRSE), Canadian Interventional Radiology Association (CIRA), Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS), European Society of Minimally Invasive Neurological Therapy (ESMINT), European Society of Neuroradiology (ESNR), European Stroke Organization (ESO), Society of NeuroInterventional Radiology (SIR), Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery (SNIS), and World Stroke Organization (WSO) et al., 2018). While injected directly into the large intestine during colonoscopy, peppermint oil reduces colonic spasm caused by the process and decreases colonic motility.

Diffused in the form of Essential Oils

Peppermint diffused in the form of essential oil, consisting mainly of menthol, menthone, neomenthol and isomenthone, is a combination of biologically active secondary metabolites with numerous properties (Zhao et al., 2022). This is the most crucial and potent method to acquire benefits of peppermint plant. It can pharmacologically defend gastrointestinal, liver, kidney, skin, breathing, brain and nervous structures, and also reduces viral infectivity (Civitelli et al., 2014). Colorectal cancer cells proliferation is notably inhibited by PEO, by inducing apoptosis and thus arresting cell cycle at different phases (G1/G0 and G2/M) (Yi and Wetzstein, 2011). Urolithiasis can also be treated by crystal-inhibiting, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and diuretic effects by PEO (Ullah et al., 2014). Mental fatigue is also known to be eliminated by the continuous administration of PEO.

Repercussions of Peppermint Oil

The common repercussions of peppermint oil are given as:

- i. There is a long history of using peppermint oil and also leaves to treat stomach issues.
- ii. The impact of this oil on chemotherapy-induced nausea, vomiting, retching, and frequency has also been assessed in some cancer patients (Efe Ertürk and Taşcı, 2021).
- iii. The effects of targeted ileocolonic release of PEO and the safety and effectiveness of small-intestinal release of peppermint oil in IBS patients has been confirmed (Matsueda et al., 2024).
- iv. Additionally, it is thought to be helpful in the treatment of nerve illnesses and mental exhaustion.
- v. The psychological effects of peppermint oil (EO) on animals have also been observed.
- vi. The invigorating effects of peppermint have been studied as an objective measure to treat daytime drowsiness (Norrish and Dwyer, 2005).
- vii. Inspite of a broad range of health benefits of peppermint oil, few side effects are also taken under consideration such as possibility of nausea, heartburn, and dry mouth if PEO is taken orally.
- viii. In rare cases, PEO has a slight possibility to cause some allergic reactions as well. However, a broad range of therapeutic efficiencies of this oil is responsible for its escalating popularity.

Conclusion

This chapter provides a comprehensive analysis of the biological activities of peppermint plant, specifically peppermint essential oil. It is a well-known oil regarding its curing activities in IBS, gastric irritation and digestive problems. However, it has been illustrated that therapeutic efficacy and pharmacological potential of PEO is not just limited to gastrointestinal issues, but also addresses several other ailments including cancer. A number of ways by which this oil can be used is just remarkable, as each type of the practice highlights its curing efficiency in a whole different way. This is one of the reasons due to which pharmacodynamics of peppermint oil is attaining a great deal of attention in medical practices. This escalating popularity is also because it gives multiple advantages with comparatively less side effects. Therefore, if the benefits of PEO, either alone or in synergistic way, are utilized to an advanced extent, it would be a positive step toward modern therapeutics and natural drug discovery practices.

REFERENCES

Acker, B. W., and Cash, B. D. (2017). Medicinal Foods for Functional GI Disorders. *Current Gastroenterology Reports*, 19(12), 62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11894-017-0601-x</u>

- Adam, B., Liebregts, T., Best, J., Bechmann, L., Lackner, C., Neumann, J., Koehler, S., and Holtmann, G. (2006). A combination of peppermint oil and caraway oil attenuates the post-inflammatory visceral hyperalgesia in a rat model. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, *41*(2), 155–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00365520500206442</u>
- Alliger, K., Khalil, M., König, B., Weisenburger, S., Koch, E., and Engel, M. (2020). Menthacarin attenuates experimental colitis. *Phytomedicine: International Journal of Phytotherapy and Phytopharmacology*, 77, 153212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2020.153212</u>
- Aly, A., Maraei, R., Rezk, A., and Diab, A. (2023). Phytochemical constitutes and biological activities of essential oil extracted from irradiated caraway seeds (Carum carvi L.). *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 99(2), 318–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09553002.2022.2078004</u>
- Amato, A., Liotta, R., and Mulè, F. (2014). Effects of menthol on circular smooth muscle of human colon: Analysis of the mechanism of action. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 740, 295–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.018</u>
- Aqil, M., Ahad, A., Sultana, Y., and Ali, A. (2007). Status of terpenes as skin penetration enhancers. *Drug Discovery Today*, 12(23), 1061–1067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2007.09.001</u>
- Asao, T., Kuwano, H., Ide, M., Hirayama, I., Nakamura, J.-I., Fujita, K.-I., and Horiuti, R. (2003). Spasmolytic effect of peppermint oil in barium during double-contrast barium enema compared with Buscopan. *Clinical Radiology*, 58(4), 301–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0009-9260(02)00532-9</u>
- Asgarshirazi, M., Shariat, M., and Dalili, H. (2015). Comparison of the Effects of pH-Dependent Peppermint Oil and Synbiotic Lactol (Bacillus coagulans + Fructooligosaccharides) on Childhood Functional Abdominal Pain: A Randomized Placebo-Controlled Study. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 17(4), e23844. <u>https://doi.org/10.5812/ircmj.17(4)2015.23844</u>
- Aziz, Z. A. A., Ahmad, A., Setapar, S. H. M., Karakucuk, A., Azim, M. M., Lokhat, D., Rafatullah, M., Ganash, M., Kamal, M. A., and Ashraf, G. M. (2018). Essential Oils: Extraction Techniques, Pharmaceutical And Therapeutic Potential - A Review. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 19(13), 1100–1110. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1389200219666180723144850</u>
- Bhattarai, N., Kumbhar, A. A., Pokharel, Y. R., and Yadav, P. N. (2021). Anticancer Potential of Coumarin and its Derivatives. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, *21*(19), 2996–3029. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1389557521666210405160323</u>
- Cavanagh, H. M. A., and Wilkinson, J. M. (2002). Biological activities of lavender essential oil. *Phytotherapy Research: PTR*, 16(4), 301–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1103</u>
- Chumpitazi, B. P., Kearns, G. L., and Shulman, R. J. (2018). Review article: The physiological effects and safety of peppermint oil and its efficacy in irritable bowel syndrome and other functional disorders. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 47(6), 738–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.14519</u>
- Civitelli, L., Panella, S., Marcocci, M. E., De Petris, A., Garzoli, S., Pepi, F., Vavala, E., Ragno, R., Nencioni, L., Palamara, A. T., and Angiolella, L. (2014). In vitro inhibition of herpes simplex virus type 1 replication by Mentha suaveolens essential oil and its main component piperitenone oxide. *Phytomedicine: International Journal of Phytotherapy and Phytopharmacology*, 21(6), 857–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2014.01.013</u>
- de Oliveira, J. R., Camargo, S. E. A., and de Oliveira, L. D. (2019). Rosmarinus officinalis L. (rosemary) as therapeutic and prophylactic agent. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, *26*(1), 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0499-8</u>
- de Sousa, A. A. S., Soares, P. M. G., de Almeida, A. N. S., Maia, A. R., de Souza, E. P., and Assreuy, A. M. S. (2010). Antispasmodic effect of *Mentha piperita* essential oil on tracheal smooth muscle of rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 130(2), 433–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2010.05.012</u>
- de Sousa, D. P., Damasceno, R. O. S., Amorati, R., Elshabrawy, H. A., de Castro, R. D., Bezerra, D. P., Nunes, V. R. V., Gomes, R. C., and Lima, T. C. (2023). Essential Oils: Chemistry and Pharmacological Activities. *Biomolecules*, 13(7), 1144. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13071144</u>
- Dhakad, A. K., Pandey, V. V., Beg, S., Rawat, J. M., and Singh, A. (2018). Biological, medicinal and toxicological significance of Eucalyptus leaf essential oil: A review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 98(3), 833–848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8600</u>
- Diniz do Nascimento, L., Moraes, A. A. B. de, Costa, K. S. da, Pereira Galúcio, J. M., Taube, P. S., Costa, C. M. L., Neves Cruz, J., de Aguiar Andrade, E. H., and Faria, L. J. G. de. (2020). Bioactive Natural Compounds and Antioxidant Activity of Essential Oils from Spice Plants: New Findings and Potential Applications. *Biomolecules*, 10(7), 988. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10070988</u>
- Dosoky, N. S., and Setzer, W. N. (2018). Biological Activities and Safety of Citrus spp. Essential Oils. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19(7), 1966. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071966</u>
- Efe Ertürk, N., and Taşcı, S. (2021). The Effects of Peppermint Oil on Nausea, Vomiting and Retching in Cancer Patients Undergoing Chemotherapy: An Open Label Quasi-Randomized Controlled Pilot Study. Complementary Therapies in Medicine, 56, 102587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102587</u>
- Fang, Y., Zhu, J., Duan, W., Xie, Y., and Ma, C. (2019). Inhibition of Muscular Nociceptive Afferents via the Activation of Cutaneous Nociceptors in a Rat Model of Inflammatory Muscle Pain. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 36(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-019-00406-4</u>
- From the American Association of Neurological Surgeons (AANS), American Society of Neuroradiology (ASNR), Cardiovascular and Interventional Radiology Society of Europe (CIRSE), Canadian Interventional Radiology Association (CIRA), Congress of Neurological Surgeons (CNS), European Society of Minimally Invasive Neurological Therapy

(ESMINT), European Society of Neuroradiology (ESNR), European Stroke Organization (ESO), Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions (SCAI), Society of Interventional Radiology (SIR), Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery (SNIS), and World Stroke Organization (WSO), Sacks, D., Baxter, B., Campbell, B. C. V., Carpenter, J. S., Cognard, C., Dippel, D., Eesa, M., Fischer, U., Hausegger, K., Hirsch, J. A., Shazam Hussain, M., Jansen, O., Jayaraman, M. V., Khalessi, A. A., Kluck, B. W., Lavine, S., Meyers, P. M., Ramee, S., and Vorwerk, D. (2018). Multisociety Consensus Quality Improvement Revised Consensus Statement for Endovascular Therapy of Acute Ischemic Stroke. International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society, 13(6), 612-632. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747493018778713

- Ghotbi-Ravandi, A. A., Shariatmadari, Z., Riahi, H., Hassani, S. B., Heidari, F., and Ghorbani Nohooji, M. (2023). Enhancement of Essential Oil Production and Expression of Some Menthol Biosynthesis-Related Genes in Mentha piperita Using Cyanobacteria. *Iranian Journal of Biotechnology*, *21*(4), e3550. <u>https://doi.org/10.30498/ijb.2023.368377.3550</u>
- Göbel, H., Heinze, A., Heinze-Kuhn, K., Göbel, A., and Göbel, C. (2016). [Peppermint oil in the acute treatment of tension-type headache]. *Schmerz (Berlin, Germany)*, *30*(3), 295–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00482-016-0109-6</u>
- Goerg, K. J., and Spilker, T. (2003). Effect of peppermint oil and caraway oil on gastrointestinal motility in healthy volunteers: A pharmacodynamic study using simultaneous determination of gastric and gall-bladder emptying and orocaecal transit time. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, *17*(3), 445–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01421.x</u>
- Harrington, A. M., Hughes, P. A., Martin, C. M., Yang, J., Castro, J., Isaacs, N. J., Blackshaw, A. L., and Brierley, S. M. (2011). A novel role for TRPM8 in visceral afferent function. *Pain*, *152*(7), 1459–1468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.01.027</u>
- Hudz, N., Kobylinska, L., Pokajewicz, K., Horčinová Sedláčková, V., Fedin, R., Voloshyn, M., Myskiv, I., Brindza, J., Wieczorek, P. P., and Lipok, J. (2023). Mentha piperita: Essential Oil and Extracts, Their Biological Activities, and Perspectives on the Development of New Medicinal and Cosmetic Products. *Molecules*, 28(21), Article 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28217444
- Kearns, G. L., Chumpitazi, B. P., Abdel-Rahman, S. M., Garg, U., and Shulman, R. J. (2015). Systemic exposure to menthol following administration of peppermint oil to paediatric patients. *BMJ Open*, 5(8), e008375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008375</u>
- Kehili, S., Boukhatem, M. N., Belkadi, A., Ferhat, M. A., and Setzer, W. N. (2020). Peppermint (Mentha piperita L.) essential oil as a potent anti-inflammatory, wound healing and anti-nociceptive drug. *European Journal of Biological Research*, *10*(2), Article 2.
- Khanna, R., MacDonald, J. K., and Levesque, B. G. (2014). Peppermint oil for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 48(6), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182a88357
- Kim, H. J., Wie, J., So, I., Jung, M. H., Ha, K.-T., and Kim, B. J. (2016). Menthol Modulates Pacemaker Potentials through TRPA1 Channels in Cultured Interstitial Cells of Cajal from Murine Small Intestine. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry: International Journal of Experimental Cellular Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology, 38*(5), 1869–1882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000445549</u>
- Kiran Vaka, S. R., and Narasimha Murthy, S. (2010). Enhancement of nose-brain delivery of therapeutic agents for treating neurodegenerative diseases using peppermint oil. *Die Pharmazie - An International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 65(9), 690–692. <u>https://doi.org/10.1691/ph.2010.0113</u>
- Kligler, B., and Chaudhary, S. (2007). Peppermint oil. American Family Physician, 75(7), 1027–1030.
- Koşarsoy Ağçeli, G., Hammamchi, H., and Cihangir, N. (2022). Novel levan/bentonite/essential oil films: Characterization and antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *59*(1), 249–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-021-05009-4</u>
- Köteles, F., Babulka, P., Szemerszky, R., Dömötör, Z., and Boros, S. (2018). Inhaled peppermint, rosemary and eucalyptus essential oils do not change spirometry in healthy individuals. *Physiology and Behavior*, *194*, 319–323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.06.022</u>
- Krueger, D., Schäuffele, S., Zeller, F., Demir, I. E., Theisen, J., Michel, K., and Schemann, M. (2020). Peppermint and caraway oils have muscle inhibitory and pro-secretory activity in the human intestine in vitro. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, *32*(2), e13748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.13748</u>
- Lee, S.-H., Kim, D.-S., Park, S.-H., and Park, H. (2022). Phytochemistry and Applications of Cinnamomum camphora Essential Oils. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(9), 2695. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27092695</u>
- Li, Z., Wu, F., Shao, H., Zhang, Y., Fan, A., and Li, F. (2017). Does the Fragrance of Essential Oils Alleviate the Fatigue Induced by Exercise? A Biochemical Indicator Test in Rats. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM*, 2017, 5027372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5027372</u>
- Lr, L.-V. (2021). Effects of essential oils on central nervous system: Focus on mental health. *Phytotherapy Research: PTR*, 35(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6854</u>
- Lv, X., Feng, Y., Ma, R., Tang, Y., Li, Y., Cui, D., and Wu, Y. (2022). Effects of Peppermint Essential Oil on Learning and Memory Ability in APP/PS1 Transgenic Mice. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(7), 2051. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27072051</u>

- Mahdavikian, S., Fallahi, M., and Khatony, A. (2021). Comparing the Effect of Aromatherapy with Peppermint and Lavender Essential Oils on Fatigue of Cardiac Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2021, e9925945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9925945</u>
- Mahendran, G., and Rahman, L.-U. (2020). Ethnomedicinal, phytochemical and pharmacological updates on Peppermint (Mentha × piperita L.)-A review. *Phytotherapy Research: PTR, 34*(9), 2088–2139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6664</u>
- Matsueda, K., Fukudo, S., Ogishima, M., Naito, Y., and Nakamura, S. (2024). Efficacy and safety of peppermint oil for the treatment in Japanese patients with irritable bowel syndrome: A prospective, open-label, and single-arm study. *BioPsychoSocial Medicine*, 18(1), 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13030-024-00302-y</u>
- McKay, D. L., and Blumberg, J. B. (2006). A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of peppermint tea (Mentha piperita L.). *Phytotherapy Research: PTR*, 20(8), 619–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1936</u>
- Mimica-Dukic, N., and Bozin, B. (2008). Mentha L. species (Lamiaceae) as promising sources of bioactive secondary metabolites. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 14(29), 3141–3150. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/138161208786404245</u>
- Mizuno, S., Kato, K., Ono, Y., Yano, K., Kurosaka, H., Takahashi, A., Abeta, H., Kushiro, T., Miyamoto, S., Kurihara, R., Hiki, N., Kaminishi, M., Iwasaki, A., and Arakawa, Y. (2006). Oral peppermint oil is a useful antispasmodic for double-contrast barium meal examination. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *21*(8), 1297–1301. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.04131.x
- Muthukumar, A. (2013). Occurrence, virulence, inoculums density and plant age of Sclerotium rolfsii Sacc. Causing collar rot of peppermint.
- Nee, J., Ballou, S., Kelley, J. M., Kaptchuk, T. J., Hirsch, W., Katon, J., Cheng, V., Rangan, V., Lembo, A., and Iturrino, J. (2021). Peppermint Oil Treatment for Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial. *The American Journal* of Gastroenterology, 116(11), 2279–2285. <u>https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.000000000001395</u>
- Norrish, M. I. K., and Dwyer, K. L. (2005). Preliminary investigation of the effect of peppermint oil on an objective measure of daytime sleepiness. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 55(3), 291–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2004.08.004</u>
- Oh, J. Y., Park, M. A., and Kim, Y. C. (2014). Peppermint Oil Promotes Hair Growth without Toxic Signs. *Toxicological Research*, 30(4), 297–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.5487/TR.2014.30.4.297</u>
- Orchard, A., and van Vuuren, S. (2017). Commercial Essential Oils as Potential Antimicrobials to Treat Skin Diseases. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM, 2017,* 4517971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4517971</u>
- Park, C. M., and Yoon, H. S. (2018). Anti-bacterial effects of lavender and peppermint oils on Streptococcus mutans. *Journal of Korean Academy of Oral Health*, 42(4), 210–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.11149/jkaoh.2018.42.4.210</u>
- Poulios, E., Giaginis, C., and Vasios, G. K. (2020). Current State of the Art on the Antioxidant Activity of Sage (Salvia spp.) and Its Bioactive Components. *Planta Medica*, *86*(4), 224–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1087-8276</u>
- Ramachandran, R., Hyun, E., Zhao, L., Lapointe, T. K., Chapman, K., Hirota, C. L., Ghosh, S., McKemy, D. D., Vergnolle, N., Beck, P. L., Altier, C., and Hollenberg, M. D. (2013). TRPM8 activation attenuates inflammatory responses in mouse models of colitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(18), 7476–7481. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217431110
- Ramsey, J. T., Shropshire, B. C., Nagy, T. R., Chambers, K. D., Li, Y., and Korach, K. S. (2020). Essential Oils and Health. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 93(2), 291–305.
- Rhimi, W., Mohammed, M. A., Zarea, A. A. K., Greco, G., Tempesta, M., Otranto, D., and Cafarchia, C. (2022). Antifungal, Antioxidant and Antibiofilm Activities of Essential Oils of Cymbopogon spp. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 11(6), 829. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11060829</u>
- Sakkas, H., and Papadopoulou, C. (2017). Antimicrobial Activity of Basil, Oregano, and Thyme Essential Oils. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 27(3), 429–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.4014/jmb.1608.08024</u>
- Sandner, G., Heckmann, M., and Weghuber, J. (2020). Immunomodulatory Activities of Selected Essential Oils. *Biomolecules*, 10(8), 1139. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10081139</u>
- Sattayakhom, A., Wichit, S., and Koomhin, P. (2023). The Effects of Essential Oils on the Nervous System: A Scoping Review. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 28(9), 3771. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28093771</u>
- Scarpellini, E., Broeders, B., Schol, J., Santori, P., Addarii, M., Boccuto, L., Carbone, F., Abenavoli, L., and Tack, J. (2023). The Use of Peppermint Oil in Gastroenterology. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 29(8), 576–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612829666230328163449</u>
- Tavallali, V., Kiani, M., and Hojati, S. (2019). Iron nano-complexes and iron chelate improve biological activities of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.). *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry: PPB*, 144, 445–454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.10.021</u>
- Ullah, N., Khan, M. A., Khan, T., Asif, A. H., and Ahmad, W. (2014). Mentha piperita in nephrotoxicity—A possible intervention to ameliorate renal derangements associated with gentamicin. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, *46*(2), 166–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7613.129309</u>
- Vaka, S. R. K., and Murthy, S. N. (2010). Enhancement of nose-brain delivery of therapeutic agents for treating neurodegenerative diseases using peppermint oil. *Die Pharmazie*, 65(9), 690–692.

- Wińska, K., Mączka, W., Łyczko, J., Grabarczyk, M., Czubaszek, A., and Szumny, A. (2019). Essential Oils as Antimicrobial Agents-Myth or Real Alternative? *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 24(11), 2130. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24112130</u>
- Yanakiev, S. (2020). Effects of Cinnamon (Cinnamomum spp.) in Dentistry: A Review. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 25(18), 4184. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25184184</u>
- Yi, W., and Wetzstein, H. Y. (2011). Anti-tumorigenic activity of five culinary and medicinal herbs grown under greenhouse conditions and their combination effects. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *91*(10), 1849–1854. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4394
- Zhang, Z., Engel, M. A., Koch, E., Reeh, P. W., and Khalil, M. (2021). Menthacarin induces calcium ion influx in sensory neurons, macrophages and colonic organoids of mice. *Life Sciences*, *264*, 118682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118682</u>
- Zhao, H., Ming, T., Tang, S., Ren, S., Yang, H., Liu, M., Tao, Q., and Xu, H. (2022). Wnt signaling in colorectal cancer: Pathogenic role and therapeutic target. *Molecular Cancer*, *21*(1), 144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-022-01616-7</u>
- Zhao, H., Ren, S., Yang, H., Tang, S., Guo, C., Liu, M., Tao, Q., Ming, T., and Xu, H. (2022). Peppermint essential oil: Its phytochemistry, biological activity, pharmacological effect and application. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine and Pharmacotherapie*, *154*, 113559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2022.113559</u>

Plant Essential Oils as an Alternative Antimicrobial Therapy

Gull Naz^{1*}, Ayesha Sarwar¹, Sara Mahmood¹, Sabira Sultana², Fatima Sarwar³, Majeeda Rasheed⁴, Hassan Ali¹, Ayesha Hameed¹ and Hijaab Zahra¹

¹Institute of Microbiology, Government College University Faisalabad, 38000, Pakistan

²Department of Eastern Medicine, Government College University Faisalabad, 38000, Pakistan

³Institute of Microbiology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad 38000, Pakistan

⁴Department of Life Sciences, Khawaja Fareed University of Engineering and Information Technology Rahimyar Khan,

64200, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: gull.naz@gcuf.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

Essential oils, natural volatile liquids, are characterized by strong aroma and low mol. weight. They are usually colorless, lipid-soluble, and organic solvents, synthesized by various plant parts including stems, seeds, roots, flowers, leaves, etc. They are typically extracted through processes like steam distillation, cold pressing, or solvent extraction from various plant parts. They may serve as a replacement therapy in treating microbial infection. The antibacterial effects of essential oils can either be bacteriostatic or destroy bactericidal. EO has been employed besides the restricted efficacy of antiviral drugs. Numerous studies have shown the antiviral activity of EO against DNA and RNA viruses by hindering the replication process. EOs exhibited antifungal activity that makes it a therapeutic alternative to synthetic drugs by interfering with chitin synthesis leading to abnormalities in glycoprotein synthesis, mitochondrial structure, and inhibition of sporulation, reducing fungal growth, and suppressing mycotoxin production. Plant essential oils have been employed as an alternative therapy against both endo and ectoparasites due to the increasing resistance of certain parasites to conventional drugs, leading to significant mortality and morbidity rates. Their action mechanism is their effect on the cell wall, cell membrane, respiration, hereditary material, and quorum sensing of micro-organisms. Researchers have extensively studied the antimicrobial effects of EOs and their chemical components.

KEYWORDS	Received: 07-May-2024	SCIENTIFIC ATE	A Publication of
Essential oils, Microbes, E. coli	Revised: 12-July-2024	and the second s	Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 05-Aug-2024	">USP	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Naz G, Sarwar A, Mahmood S, Sultana S, Sarwar F, Rasheed M, Ali H, Hameed A and Zahra H, 2024. Plant essential oils as an alternative antimicrobial therapy. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 114-122. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.121

INTRODUCTION

Different aromatic medicinal plants constitute a substantial part of the natural ecosystem and have valuable applications in various sectors including pharmaceuticals, perfumery, flavor and fragrance, and cosmetics (Swamy and Sinniah, 2015). Despite the availability of modern medicine, most of the world's population is using traditional herbal remedies to cure various health issues (Sudipta et al., 2012). In the global market, herbal products are currently valued at around 62 billion USD with projections indicating a potential increase to 5 trillion USD by 2050. (Bhattacharya et al., 2014). Approximately 1500 species are identified and recorded for their aroma and flavor, while over 9000 native plants have been found and documented for their medicinal qualities. Annually, more than 250 varieties of essential oils, valued at 1.2 billion USD, are traded internationally (Swamy and Sinniah, 2016). Essential oils, natural volatile liquids are marked by strong aroma and low molecular weight. They are usually colorless, lipid and organic solvents soluble, produced by various plant parts such as buds, stems, bark, leaves, seeds, fruits, flowers, twigs, roots or wood and are stored in specialized structures such as oil ducts, secretary cells, cavities, canals, resin ducts, glands, or trichomes. They are utilized as flavor enhancers in food and beverages, as well as in perfumery, pharmaceuticals, and cosmetics, essential oils possess notable medicinal properties (Bozin et al., 2006). They are widely used in treating various chronic non-infectious diseases such as diabetes, cancer and hypertension as well as various infectious diseases. The antimicrobial properties of essential oil and their chemical composition have been extensively studied by researchers (Ali et al., 2015).

Essential oils are commonly obtained from plants using methods such as hydro distillation, dry distillation, steam distillation or mechanical cold pressing. The Clevenger steam distillation apparatus was utilized in the late 19th century (Arora et al., 2016). Methods such as fermentation, extraction, crushing, or hydrolysis are used to obtain essential oils (Baj et al., 2015). The EOs demand and usage are increasing not only in medicine but also in food,

fragrances, and cosmetics. They may serve as a replacement therapy in treating microbial infection. There's a potential for EO to replace antibiotics in the future, although their effectiveness is still under scrutiny. Different mechanisms such as cell wall disruption, interference with metabolic pathways, or lowering cellular membrane potential are involved in inhibiting microbial growth (Swamy et al., 2016).

Chemical Composition

The plant parts from which essential oils are taken determine the chemical composition of oils. These oils contain terpenoids and phenylpropanoids, alongside aromatic and aliphatic constituents. Terpenoids, naturally occurring hydrocarbons, are categorized into various types based on their structure and function, typically organized by units of five carbons. The terpenes contain monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, hemiterpenes, diterpenes, triterpenes, and tetraterpenes. These terpenes constitute 90% of essential oils (Bakkali et al., 2008). More than 55,000 terpene molecules have been identified. Essential oils also contain aromatic compounds derived from phenylpropane but in lower concentrations than terpenes. These compounds encompass methylenedioxy compounds, methoxy derivatives, aldehydes, alcohols, and phenols (Suzuki et al., 2015). However, various terpenes and aromatic compounds are listed in Table 1.

	Functional Groups	Compounds
	Carbures	Acyclic: myrcene, ocimene.
		monocyclic: terpinenes, phellandrenes, p-cymene. bicyclic: 3-carene, camphene, pinenes,
		sabinene.
	Alcohols	Acyclic: geraniol, linalol, lavandulol, citronellol, nerol.
		Monocyclic: a-terpineol, carveol, menthol.
Terpenoids		Bicyclic: borneol, chrysanthenol, fenchol, thuyan-3- ol.
	Peroxides	Ascaridole, hydroperoxide, isoborneol peroxide, and d-limonene peroxide.
	Phenols	Thymol, cinnamic acid, and phenethyl alcohol.
	Ethers	1,8-cineole, menthofurane, estragole, safrole, myristicin, anethole
	Esters	Linalyl acetate or propionate, citronellyl acetate, Benzyl acetate, menthyl or a-terpinyl
		acetate, and bornyl acetate. isobornyl acetate, methyl salicylate, and geranyl acetate.
	Aldehydes	Geranial, neral, citronellal, citral.
	Ketones	Tegetone, menthones, carvone, thuyone, ombellulone, pulegone, piperitone, camphor,
		fenchone, menthone pinocamphone, pinocarvone.
	Aldehyde	Cinnamaldehyde, benzaldehyde.
Aromatic	Alcohols	Cinnamic alcohol, linalool, geraniol, citronellol, and benzyl alcohol.
Compounds	Phenols	Eugeno, chavicol.
	Methoxy	Anethole, methyleugenols, estragole, elemicine, safrole.
	derivatives	
	Methylenedioxy	Apiole, myristicine, elemicin.
	compounds	

Table 1: Chemic	cal Composition	of different Essential	Oils (Bakkali et al.,	2008)
-----------------	-----------------	------------------------	-----------------------	-------

Antimicrobial Effects of Plant Essential Oils

Plant essential oils are well known for their antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal and antiparasitic properties. Currently, there is a wide range of antibiotics utilized to cure different bacterial infections. However, due to increasing multidrug resistance, compromised immune systems in some people and bacteria's ability to form protective biofilms may leads to the death of individuals. Moreover, the administration of multiple antibacterial agents is the major cause of toxicity in humans. In current scenario, plant essential oils and their primary chemical constituent emerge as potent alternatives for antimicrobial activity (Galvão et al., 2012; Raut and Karuppayil, 2014).

Antibacterial Activity

The antibacterial effects of essential oils can be either bacteriostatic or bactericidal. However, distinguishing between these actions can be challenging. The parameters such as minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) and minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) are used to assess antimicrobial activity. The agar well diffusion and agar dilution methods are commonly employed to check antibacterial properties of essential oils (Burt, 2004; Faleiro, 2011).

A study reported that certain plants and essential oils (EOs) including rosemary, cinnamon, thyme, clove and oregano demonstrating strong inhibitory effects against different bacterial infections. The phenolic compounds found in essential oils such as carvacrol, thymol, rosmarinic acid, menthol, vanillin, and eugenol play an antimicrobial role against *Bacillus cereus, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Lopez-Romero et al., 2015). Furthermore, citronellol and carveol exhibit an inhibitory effect on *Escherichia coli* growth due to the penetrating ability of oils into cell wall components leading to disruption in cell wall integrity. Some chemical compounds can inhibit the growth of most Gram-positive bacteria and a few Gram-negative bacteria. (Liu et al., 2017) reported that cardamom from the Zingiberaceae family, anise from the Apiaceae family, and oregano, rosemary, and basil of the Lamiaceae mint family along

with parsley, and coriander showed notable antimicrobial properties against saprophytic microbes. This also demonstrated oregano EO's effectiveness against *Yersinia enterocolitica, Salmonella typhimurium* and *E. coli* by slowing down their growth and lactic acid production. Certain EOs have varying levels of effectiveness against both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. On the other hand, compounds like eugenol, thymol, citral and carvacrol EO demonstrated efficacy against both Gram-positive as well as Gram-negative bacteria (Swamy et al., 2016). However, the chemical composition of essential oils and their antimicrobial activity against various pathogens are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2: Antib	acterial Activity o	f plant Essentia	al Oils		
Scientic Name	Common Name	Parts used	Chemical Composition	Inhibited Microorganism	References
Artemisia	longleaf	Aerial part	Camphene, Camphor, 1,8-	Staphlococcus epidermidis,	(Lopes-Lutz
longifolia	wormwood or		cineole, Sabinene, Alpha-	Escherichia coli, Staphlococcus	et al., 2008)
	Indian		pinene,	aureus	
_	wormwood		(Eucalyptol)		
Daucus	seacoast carrot	Leaves,	Carotol, acorenone B, Daucol,	S. aureus, B. cereus, S.	(Yousefbeyk
littoralis		stems, fruits,	Caryophyllene, Germacrene D	typhimurium, E. coli	et al., 2014)
Course la sur su sur	-:	flowers, roots	Conservation and the site of a site	C	(Tainaina at
cymbopogn	citronella grass	Leaves, stems	Carene, Deta-Citronellal,	5. pullejuciens, Brocholinitx	(Teixeira et
nuruus			Carvonhyllene Citronellol	P putida S typhimurium E coli	al., 2013)
			caryophylicite, enronelloi	L monocytoaenes	
Eugenia	Clove	Buds, leaves,	Eugenyl acetate,	L. monocytogene, S. epidermidis,	(Chaieb et
caryophyllata		stems	Phenylpropanoids, carvacrol,	S. aureus, Salmonella	al., 2007)
			thymol, Acetyl eugenol,	typhimurium, E. coli, P.	
			eugenol, cinnamaldehyde	aeruginosa	
Foeniculum	Fennel	Leaves, seeds	Phellandrene, trans-anethole,	E. coli, S. typhimurium	(Bisht et al.,
vulgare			methyl chavicol, limonene,		2014)
			Camphen, pinene, fenchone		
			fenchyl alcohol, anisaldehyde.		(C) I .
Nigella sativa	black seed,	Seeds	Thymoquinone, α -thujene,	B. cereus, S. aureus, P.	(Singh et
	black cumin, or		limonono	aeruginosa, E. coll	al., 2014)
	lenner nower		canvacrol thymol longifolene		
Oriaanum	oregano	Leaves, Arial	Carvacrol, thymol, v-	Escherichia coli Salmonella	(Béiaoui et
vulaare	oreguno	part	terpinene, trans-sabinene	tvphimurium, Ampicillin-	al., 2013)
			hydrate, cis-piperitol, borneol,	resistant Pseudomonas	- , ,
			terpinen-4-ol, linalool	aeruginosa, Staphylococus	
			-	aureus, Bacillus subtilis	
Verbena	Vervain	Arial part	Borneol, 1,8-cineole, α -	S. aureus, E. coli, S. typhimurium,	(Shan et al.,
officinalis			pinene, geraniol, β -pinene, α -	L. monocytogenes	2011)
			terpineol, citral,		
Warionia	desert	Arial part	Eudesmol, trans-nerolidol,	E. coli, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa,	(Sellam et
sanarae	wormwood or		ilinaiooi, 1,8 cineole, camphor,	B. Cerus	ai., 2014)
	desert ragwort		p-cymene, terpinen-4-ol		

Antiviral Activity

Antiviral agents, also known as antivirals, are substances or medications employed for treating viral infections by targeting and impeding the processes involved in viral replication. Many antivirals have developed resistance against viral pathogens such as hepatitis B virus (HBV) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Alternative therapeutic compounds, like EO, have been employed besides the restricted efficacy of antiviral drugs. Numerous studies have shown the antiviral activity of EO against DNA and RNA viruses by hindering the replication process Notably, essential oils like oregano and clove were evaluated against non-enveloped viruses such as poliovirus (RNA virus), coxsackievirus B1 (RNA virus), and adenovirus type 3 (DNA virus) (Orhan et al., 2012; Tariq et al., 2019).

Certain compounds in essential oils have demonstrated effective antiviral activity against viruses by exhibiting viricidal activity preventing the viral replication and viral adsorption to host cells. Gavanji et al. (2015) have conducted a study to confirm the antiviral properties of essential oils extracted from Artemisia kermanensis, Eucalyptus caesia, Zataria multiflora, rosemary and Satureja hortensis L against herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1). Not all essential oils are effective including thyme EO, which did not yield an effective response against HSV and influenza viruses (Tepe et al., 2004). Furthermore, β -caryophyllene, a constituent found in essential oils showed inhibitory effects against HSV-1 significantly, while a lower

inhibitory effect was noted against parainfluenza virus (Orhan et al., 2012). The 0.5 mg/mL ajwain essential oil showed an effective antiviral response against the Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) (Roy et al., 2015).

Essential oils exhibit various mechanisms of action to combat viral infection, typically targeting nucleic acid polymerases to inhibit replication. Furthermore, thymol and phenylpropanoids have been recognized as antiviral against herpes simplex virus and Japanese encephalitis virus. Human trials are being conducted to improve efficacy and safety conclusively (Aljaafari et al., 2021). The antiviral effects of different essential oils are summarized in Table 3.

Table 5. Antion	al Effect of Flam Ess		·		
Scientific	Common Name	Parts	Chemical Composition	Inhibited Microorganism	Reference
name		used			S
Achillea	fragrant yarrow or	Aerial	2,5,5-Trimethyl-3,6- heptadien-2-ol,	Poliomyelitis-1 virus	(Zeedan
fragrantissima	sweet yarrow	part	yomogi alcohol, eucalyptol, 1,8-	(POLIO), ORF virus (poxvirus	et al.,
			cineole, artemisia alcohol, thujone, Cissabinol, Lavandulol	family)	2014)
Fortunella	kumquat	Leaves	Gurjunene, eudesmol,	Avian influenza A virus	(lbrahim
margarita			muuroleneterpineol, t-carveol,	(H5N1)	et al.,
			limonene, muurolene and cadinene		2015)
Pogostemon	Patchouli	Leaves	α -Pinene, Camphene, 3-octanone,	Influenza A (H2N2) virus	(Swamy
cablin			Limonene, Terpinolene, Linalool,		and
			and Acetophenone		Sinniah,
T (.				2015)
Tracnyspermm	Ajwain or ajowan	Leaves,	α-thujene, Carvacroi, Thymol, γ-	COVID-19, Japanese	(Roy et al.,
ammi		seed-like	terpinen, α -pinene, Sabinen, p-	(Levi)	2015)
Molissa	Lomon halm		Canvonbyllana ovida citronallal ß-	(Flavivillude)	(Allahvordi
officinalis		Leaves	lonone Nerolidol ß-Ocimene	Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)	vev et al
officiations			deranial neral	Human Immunodeficiency	2004)
			gerania, nerai	Virus (HIV). Herpes Simplex	2004)
				Virus (HSV), avian influenza	
				virus (AIV) subtype H9N2	
Ocimum	Camphor basil	Leaves	Linalool, eugenol, β-Caryophyllene,	Herpes simplex virus type 1	(Wani et
campechianum			α-Terpinene, Caryophyllene oxide		al., 2021)
Glechon	Coastal cudweed	Leaves	Caryophyllene, bicyclogermacrene	Herpes simplex virus type 1	(Venturi et
spathulata	or coastal fleabane				al., 2015)
Glechon	Coastal cudweed	Leaves	Caryophyllene, bicyclogermacrene	Herpes simplex virus type 1	(Venturi et
marifolia					al., 2015)

Antifungal Activity

Table 2. Antiviral Effect of Diant Eccential Oils

Plant essential oils exhibit antifungal activity that makes them a therapeutic alternative to synthetic drugs, especially considering the rising prevalence of drug-resistant fungal strains akin to bacterial resistance. Fungal infections can manifest as either superficial or invasive having treatment via oral tablets or topical creams. Treating fungal infection exhibits challenges as compared to bacteria due to the eukaryotic nature of both human and fungal cells. The chitin, a polysaccharide in fungal cell walls, is crucial in antifungal drug development to avoid potential toxicity to human cells and ensure host safety. Eugenol, terpenes, farnesol, menthol, benzoquinone and menthone have antifungal effect against *Candida albicans, Candida tropicalis, Candida neoformans, Candida glabrata* as well as *Paracoccidioides brasiliensis*. Additionally, essential oils can interfere with chitin synthesis leading to abnormalities in glycoprotein synthesis, mitochondrial structure, inhibition of sporulation, reducing fungal growth, and suppressing mycotoxin production (Hu et al., 2017; Nazzaro et al., 2017). Scalas et al. (2018) have conducted a study to demonstrate the utilization of essential oils extracted from *Origanum vulgare, Pinus sylvestris*, and *Thymus vulgaris* along with their primary constituents to augment the effectiveness of itraconazole against both azole-susceptible and azole-not-susceptible Cryptococcus neoformans strains and the findings have shown favorable results.

Ksouri et al. (2017) have conducted a study to determine an antifungal property of various essential oils (EO) against *C. albicans.* The essential oils obtained from plants such as rosemary, oregano and thyme exhibited inhibitory effects. Hu et al. (2019) observed the antifungal efficacy of essential oils from anise, peppermint, clove, cinnamon, pepper, citronella, and camphor derived from seven distinct spices was validated using an agar diffusion assay against three fungal strains. Among these Essential oils, cinnamon EO exhibited the most potent antifungal property against fungal strains. Clove EO showed the next highest level of antifungal activity following cinnamon EO. Dias Ferreira et al. (2013) found that essential oil of Curcuma longa exhibited toxicity against *Aspergillus flavus* and effectively suppressed the production of aflatoxin. Aflatoxins are harmful toxins generated by molds, capable of causing liver damage and potentially leading to liver cancer in humans. These mycotoxins occur naturally and are produced by two mold species. *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* are the

two mold species responsible for aflatoxin production. The potential impacts of essential oils (EOs) on inhibiting aflatoxin production are highly intriguing and warrant further investigation (da Cruz Cabral et al., 2013). However, the antifungal effects of plant essential oils are summarized in Table 4.

Scientific Name	Common	Parts used	Chemical Compounds	Inhibited Microorganism	References
	Name				
Aegle marmelos	Bael or bael fruit	Leaves	δ -Cadinene, $δ$ -carene, $α$ -pinene, trans-2-hydroxycinnamic acid, $β$ -myrcene	Candida albicans, Aspergillus niger, Fusarium oxysporum	(Ibrahim et al., 2015)
Cinnamomum	Ceylon	Bark,	Cinnamaldehyde, (E)-cinnamyl	C. auris, C. parapsilosis, C.	(Unlu et al.,
zeylancium	cinnamon or	leaves	acetate, benzaldehyde	albicans, C. krusei	2010)
	true cinnamon				
Daucus littoralis	Sea carrot or	flowers,	Polyacetylenes, Flavonoids,	C. albicans	(Yousefbeyk
	coastal carrot	leaves,	Germacrene D, acorenone B,		et al., 2014)
		roots,	phenyipropanoids, Carotol,		
		stems	Daucene, frans-α-bergamotene		
Eremanthus	Brazilian	Leaves	germacrene D, (Z)-caryophyllene,	C. albicans, Cryptococcus,	(Santos et al.,
erythropappus	Arnica or		viridiflorol, p-cymene, γ-	C. tropicalis	2015)
	Candeia		terpinene, carvacrol		
Feoniculum vulgare	Fennel	Seed	(E)-anethole, fenchone, methyl	C. Albicans, A. Niger,	(Mimica-Dukić
			chavicol	Trichoderma, Metarizium	et al., 2003)
Glechon marifolia	Coastal	Leaves	β-Caryophyllene,	T. rubrum, E. floccosum	(Venturi et al.,
	cudweed		bicyclogermacrene		2015)
Glechon spathulata	Coastal	Leaves	β-Caryophyllene,	Trichophyton rubrum,	(Venturi et al.,
	cudweed		bicyclogermacrene	Epidermophyton floccosum	2015)
Momordica	Bitter melon	Seeds	α -momorcharin, trans-nerolidol,	C. albicans	(Braca et al.,
charantia	or bitter gourd		Catechin, epicatechin apiole, cis-		2008)
			dihydrocarveol, germacrene D		
Nigella sativa	black seed,	Seeds	Thymoquinone, p-cymene, D-	A. parasiticus, C. albicans	(Singh et al.,
	black cumin,		limonene, Thymol, Carvacrol, α -		2014)
	or fennel		thujene, thymohydroquinone		
	flower				
Syzygium	Clove	Leaves	Eugenol, eugenol acetate	Fusarium moniliforme,	(Rana et al.,
aromaticum				Fusarium oxysporum,	2011)
				Aspergillus sp., Mucor sp.,	
				Trichophyton rubrum	

Table 4: Antifungal Effect of Plant Essential Oils

Antiparasitic Effect

Plant essential oils have been employed as an alternative therapy against both endo and ectoparasites. This is because certain parasites, like *Plasmodium falciparum* (malaria) and *Leishmania donovani* (leishmaniasis), exhibit resistance to conventional treatments, resulting in notable mortality and morbidity rates. However, studies have shown that essential oils extracted from *Lavandula angustifolia Mill*. and *Lavandula x intermedia* have demonstrated antiparasitic properties against human protozoal pathogens such as *Giardia duodenalis* and *Trichomonas vaginalis*, as well as the fish pathogen *Hexamita inflata* (Ritzefeld et al., 2018; Tariq et al., 2016).

Drawbacks of EOs

Demonstrated potential as antimicrobials is possessed by only limited EOs. In comparison to synthetic compounds (such as antibiotics), their real effect is noticeably weaker. Their high volatility limits the effective duration of action and allows for the modification of properties like encapsulation. Therefore, it is important to emphasize that EO usage for microbial stability is feasible, but each situation must be examined separately (Wińska et al., 2019).

Mechanism of Actions

The essential oils' efficacy mainly depends upon their major chemical components or the synergistic effects among these components. Various antimicrobial agents demonstrated distinct modes of action (Pellerito et al., 2018). Consequently, the antibacterial mechanism of EOs involves the combination of multiple modes rather than a single one (Ju et al., 2019). Different EOs target different sites within organisms which are elaborated in Fig.1.

Effect on Cell Envelope

The outer layer of microbes, the cell wall, plays a crucial role in reducing sensitivity to antimicrobial agents due to major components and enzymes. The bioactive constituents in essential oils can disrupt the peptidoglycan structure or inhibit its synthesis. This leads to cell wall damage and can either deform or kill the bacteria (Meychik et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2020). Moreover, essential oils affect the structure of the cell membrane by altering its permeability. For instance, cinnamaldehyde readily dissolves within the fatty acyl chain of the membrane which results in disrupting its outer layer. This creates leaks in the membrane, allowing essential components like adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to flow out, ultimately killing the bacteria. It can also interact with the phospholipids of the cell membrane, altering the proportion and structure of fatty acids within the membrane. Furthermore, essential oils inhibit the ergosterol synthesis such as eugenol which hinders ergosterol production in microorganisms, compromising cell membrane integrity. Furthermore, EOs can traverse via porins present on the cell membrane resulting in reducing the expression of porin-related genes, and disrupting amino acid transporters (Nazzaro et al., 2013).



Fig. 1: Different EOs target different sites within organisms

Effect on Respiration

Microorganisms rely on respiratory metabolism to produce energy by oxidatively breaking down carbohydrates. This energy production primarily occurs through pathways such as the Entner–Doudoroff (ED) pathway, the phosphogluconate pathway, and citric acid cycle. When the oxidation and decomposition of sugars are hindered, normal metabolic processes are disrupted, potentially leading to cell death (Ju et al., 2020). Antimicrobial agents target energy production in pathogenic bacteria by interfering with nutrient absorption and transport, thereby impeding their growth and reproduction (Ulanowska et al., 2006). Di Pasqua et al. (2010) observed that thyme essential oil hinders the activity of ATP synthase within *Salmonella typhimurium*, thereby interfering with the tricarboxylic acid cycle pathway.

Effect on Heredity Material

The heredity material, whether DNA or RNA within microorganisms, plays a crucial role in their development, reproduction, mutation, and growth. The accuracy and stability of genetic material are crucial for maintaining consistent inheritance across generations. Additionally, genetic material governs protein synthesis and metabolism. Consequently, any damage to the genetic material can disrupt normal microbial reproduction and self-replication (Li et al., 2014).

Effect on Quorum sensing

Research has demonstrated that cinnamaldehyde can downregulate bcsA and luxR gene expression in *E. coli*, both of which are involved in quorum sensing. Moreover, cinnamaldehyde has shown significant inhibitory effects on quorum sensing in *P. aeruginosa* and *Streptococcus pyogenes* (Brackman et al., 2009; Brackman et al., 2011). It's important to note that different essential oils (EOs) may exhibit varying inhibitory effects on quorum sensing in different types of cells. Discovering novel approaches to inhibit quorum sensing in bacteria presents an intriguing strategy for developing new antibiotics that can mitigate bacterial pathogenicity without inducing drug resistance (Rasko et al., 2008).

Conclusion

In conclusion, EOs have the potential to replace antibiotics, antivirals, antifungals, and antiparasitic drugs in the future by inhibiting microbial growth by interference with different mechanisms such as cell wall disruption, interference with metabolic pathways, or lowering cellular membrane potential, although their effectiveness is still under scrutiny. The growing global issue of multidrug resistance has made diseases more severe caused by these pathogens so further research on EOs can help to combat this problem.

REFERENCES

- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., and Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 5(8), 601-611.
- Aljaafari, M. N., AlAli, A. O., Baqais, L., Alqubaisy, M., AlAli, M., Molouki, A., Ong-Abdullah, J., Abushelaibi, A., Lai, K. S., and Lim, S. E. (2021). An Overview of the Potential Therapeutic Applications of Essential Oils. *Molecules*, *26*(3).
- Allahverdiyev, A., Duran, N., Ozguven, M., and Koltas, S. (2004). Antiviral activity of the volatile oils of Melissa officinalis L. against Herpes simplex virus type-2. *Phytomedicine*, *11*(7-8), 657-661.
- Arora, R., Singh, B., Vig, A. P., and Arora, S. (2016). Conventional and modified hydrodistillation method for the extraction of glucosinolate hydrolytic products: A comparative account. *SpringerPlus*, *5*, 1-4.
- Baj, T., Sieniawska, E., Kowalski, R., Wesolowski, M., and Ulewicz-Magulska, B. (2015). Effectiveness of the deryng and clevenger-type apparatus in isolation of various types of components of essential oil from the Mutelina purpurea Thell. flowers. Acta Pol. Pharm, 72, 507-515.
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., and Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils-a review. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(2), 446-475.
- Béjaoui, A., Chaabane, H., Jemli, M., Boulila, A., and Boussaid, M. (2013). Essential oil composition and antibacterial activity of Origanum vulgare subsp. glandulosum Desf. at different phenological stages. *Journal Medicine Food*, 16(12), 1115-1120.
- Bhattacharya, R., Reddy, K., and Mishra, A. (2014). Export strategy of Ayurvedic products from India. *International Journal of Ayurvedic Medicine*, 5(1), 125-128.
- Bisht, D. S., Menon, K., and Singhal, M. K. (2014). Comparative antimicrobial activity of essential oils of Cuminum cyminum L. and Foeniculum vulgare Mill. seeds against Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 17(4), 617-622.
- Bozin, B., Mimica-Dukic, N., Simin, N., and Anackov, G. (2006). Characterization of the volatile composition of essential oils of some Lamiaceae spices and the antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of the entire oils. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *54*(5), 1822-1828.
- Braca, A., Siciliano, T., D'Arrigo, M., and Germanò, M. P. (2008). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of Momordica charantia seed essential oil. *Fitoterapia*, 79(2), 123-125.
- Brackman, G., Celen, S., Hillaert, U., Van Calenbergh, S., Cos, P., Maes, L., Nelis, H. J., and Coenye, T. (2011). Structure-activity relationship of cinnamaldehyde analogs as inhibitors of AI-2 based quorum sensing and their effect on virulence of Vibrio spp. *PLoS One*, 6(1), e16084.
- Brackman, G., Hillaert, U., Van Calenbergh, S., Nelis, H. J., and Coenye, T. (2009). Use of quorum sensing inhibitors to interfere with biofilm formation and development in Burkholderia multivorans and Burkholderia cenocepacia. *Research Microbiology*, 160(2), 144-151.
- Burt, S. (2004). Essential oils: their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods--a review. *International Journal Food Microbiology*, 94(3), 223-253.
- Chaieb, K., Hajlaoui, H., Zmantar, T., Kahla-Nakbi, A. B., Rouabhia, M., Mahdouani, K., and Bakhrouf, A. (2007). The chemical composition and biological activity of clove essential oil, Eugenia caryophyllata (Syzigium aromaticum L. Myrtaceae): a short review. Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 21(6), 501-506.
- da Cruz Cabral, L., Fernández Pinto, V., and Patriarca, A. (2013). Application of plant derived compounds to control fungal spoilage and mycotoxin production in foods. *International Journal Food Microbiology*, *166*(1), 1-14.
- Di Pasqua, R., Mamone, G., Ferranti, P., Ercolini, D., and Mauriello, G. (2010). Changes in the proteome of Salmonella enterica serovar Thompson as stress adaptation to sublethal concentrations of thymol. *Proteomics*, *10*(5), 1040-1049.
- Dias Ferreira, F., Mossini, S. A., Dias Ferreira, F. M., Arrotéia, C. C., da Costa, C. L., Nakamura, C. V., and Machinski, M., Jr. (2013). The inhibitory effects of Curcuma longa L. essential oil and curcumin on Aspergillus flavus link growth and morphology. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2013, 343804.
- Faleiro, M. L. (2011). The mode of antibacterial action of essential oils. *Science against microbial pathogens: communicating Current Research and Technological Advances*, *2*, 1143-1156.
- Galvão, L. C. D. C., Furletti, V. F., Bersan, S. M. F., da Cunha, M. G., Ruiz, A. L. T. G., Carvalho, J. E. d., Sartoratto, A., Rehder, V. L. G., Figueira, G. M., and Teixeira Duarte, M. C. (2012). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils against Streptococcus mutans and their antiproliferative effects. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2012.

- Gavanji, S., Sayedipour, S. S., Larki, B., and Bakhtari, A. (2015). Antiviral activity of some plant oils against herpes simplex virus type 1 in Vero cell culture. *Journal of Acute Medicine*, 5(3), 62-68.
- Hu, F., Tu, X.-F., Thakur, K., Hu, F., Li, X.-L., Zhang, Y.-S., Zhang, J.-G., and Wei, Z.-J. (2019). Comparison of antifungal activity of essential oils from different plants against three fungi. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *134*, 110821.
- Hu, Y., Zhang, J., Kong, W., Zhao, G., and Yang, M. (2017). Mechanisms of antifungal and anti-aflatoxigenic properties of essential oil derived from turmeric (Curcuma longa L.) on Aspergillus flavus. *Food Chemistry*, 220, 1-8.
- Ibrahim, N. A., El-Hawary, S. S., Mohammed, M. M., Farid, M. A., AbdelWahed, N. A., Ali, M. A., and El-Abd, E. A. (2015). Chemical composition, antiviral against avian influenza (H5N1) virus and antimicrobial activities of the essential oils of the leaves and fruits of Fortunella margarita, lour. swingle, growing in Egypt. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 5(1), 006-012.
- Ibrahim, N. A., El-Sakhawy, F. S., Mohammed, M. M., Farid, M. A., AbdelWahed, N. A., and Deabes, D. A. (2015). Chemical composition, antimicrobial and antifungal activities of essential oils of the leaves of Aegle marmelos (L.) Correa growing in Egypt. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 5(2), 001-005.
- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Qian, H., and Yao, W. (2019). Application of edible coating with essential oil in food preservation. *Crit Review Food Science Nutrition*, 59(15), 2467-2480.
- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Yu, H., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Zhang, R., and Yao, W. (2020). Major components in Lilac and Litsea cubeba essential oils kill Penicillium roqueforti through mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *149*, 112349.
- Ksouri, S., Djebir, S., Bentorki, A. A., Gouri, A., Hadef, Y., and Benakhla, A. (2017). Antifungal activity of essential oils extract from Origanum floribundum Munby, Rosmarinus officinalis L. and Thymus ciliatus Desf. against Candida albicans isolated from bovine clinical mastitis. *Journal de Mycologie Médicale*, 27(2), 245-249.
- Li, Y., Zhou, L., Li, S., Cao, Z., Zhang, L., Wei, M., and Peng, C. (2014). Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of plant essential oils and their main components from fruits and vegetables: A review. *Food Science*, *35*(11), 325-329.
- Liu, Q., Meng, X., Li, Y., Zhao, C. N., Tang, G. Y., and Li, H. B. (2017). Antibacterial and Antifungal Activities of Spices. International Journal Mology Science, 18(6).
- Lopes-Lutz, D., Alviano, D. S., Alviano, C. S., and Kolodziejczyk, P. P. (2008). Screening of chemical composition, antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of Artemisia essential oils. *Phytochemistry*, 69(8), 1732-1738.
- Lopez-Romero, J. C., González-Ríos, H., Borges, A., and Simões, M. (2015). Antibacterial Effects and Mode of Action of Selected Essential Oils Components against Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, 2015, 795435.
- Meychik, N. R., Nikolaeva, Y. I., Komarynets, O. V., and Ermakov, I. P. (2011). Barrier function of the cell wall during uptake of nickel ions. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 58(3), 409-414.
- Mimica-Dukić, N., Kujundžić, S., Soković, M., and Couladis, M. (2003). Essential oil composition and antifungal activity of Foeniculum vulgare Mill. obtained by different distillation conditions. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 17(4), 368-371.
- Moo, C. L., Yang, S. K., Osman, M. A., Yuswan, M. H., Loh, J. Y., Lim, W. M., Lim, S. H., and Lai, K. S. (2020). Antibacterial Activity and Mode of Action of β-caryophyllene on Bacillus cereus. *Pol Journal Microbiology*, *69*(1), 1-6.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2017). Essential oils and antifungal activity. Pharmaceuticals, 10(4), 86.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2013). Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*, 6(12), 1451-1474.
- Orhan, İ. E., Özçelik, B., Kartal, M., and Kan, Y. (2012). Antimicrobial and antiviral effects of essential oils from selected Umbelliferae and Labiatae plants and individual essential oil components. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, *36*(3), 239-246.
- Pellerito, A., Ameen, S. M., Micali, M., and Caruso, G. (2018). Antimicrobial Substances for Food Packaging Products: The Current Situation. J AOAC International, 101(4), 942-947.
- Rana, I. S., Rana, A. S., and Rajak, R. C. (2011). Evaluation of antifungal activity in essential oil of the Syzygium aromaticum (L.) by extraction, purification and analysis of its main component eugenol. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 42, 1269-1277.
- Rasko, D. A., Moreira, C. G., Li de, R., Reading, N. C., Ritchie, J. M., Waldor, M. K., Williams, N., Taussig, R., Wei, S., Roth, M., Hughes, D. T., Huntley, J. F., Fina, M. W., Falck, J. R., and Sperandio, V. (2008). Targeting QseC signaling and virulence for antibiotic development. *Science*, 321(5892), 1078-1080.
- Raut, J. S., and Karuppayil, S. M. (2014). A status review on the medicinal properties of essential oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 62, 250-264.
- Ritzefeld, M., Wright, M. H., and Tate, E. W. (2018). New developments in probing and targeting protein acylation in malaria, leishmaniasis and African sleeping sickness. *Parasitology*, 145(2), 157-174.
- Roy, S., Chaurvedi, P., and Chowdhary, A. (2015). Evaluation of antiviral activity of essential oil of Trachyspermum Ammi against Japanese encephalitis virus. *Pharmacognosy Research*, 7(3), 263-267.
- Santos, N. O. D., Mariane, B., Lago, J. H. G., Sartorelli, P., Rosa, W., Soares, M. G., Da Silva, A. M., Lorenzi, H., Vallim, M. A., and Pascon, R. C. (2015). Assessing the chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of essential oils from Brazilian plants—Eremanthus erythropappus (Asteraceae), Plectrantuns barbatus, and P. amboinicus (Lamiaceae). *Molecules*, 20(5), 8440-8452.

- Scalas, D., Mandras, N., Roana, J., Tardugno, R., Cuffini, A. M., Ghisetti, V., Benvenuti, S., and Tullio, V. (2018). Use of Pinus sylvestris L. (Pinaceae), Origanum vulgare L. (Lamiaceae), and Thymus vulgaris L. (Lamiaceae) essential oils and their main components to enhance itraconazole activity against azole susceptible/not-susceptible Cryptococcus neoformans strains. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 18(1), 143.
- Sellam, K., Ramchoun, M., Khalouki, F., Alem, C., and El-Rhaffari, L. (2014). Biological investigations of antioxidant, antimicrobial properties and chemical composition of essential oil from Warionia saharae. *Oxidants and Antioxidants in Medical Science*, *3*(1), 73-78.
- Shan, B., Cai, Y.-Z., Brooks, J. D., and Corke, H. (2011). Potential application of spice and herb extracts as natural preservatives in cheese. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, *14*(3), 284-290.
- Singh, S., Das, S. S., Singh, G., Schuff, C., de Lampasona, M. P., and Catalán, C. A. (2014). Composition, in vitro antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of essential oil and oleoresins obtained from black cumin seeds (Nigella sativa L.). *Biomed Research International*, 2014, 918209.
- Sudipta, K., Lokesh, P., Rashmi, W., Vijay, R., and Ssn, K. (2012). Phytochemical screening and in vitro antimicrobial activity of Bougainvillea spectabilis flower extracts. *International Journal of Phytomedicine*, 4(3), 375.
- Sun, Q., Li, J., Sun, Y., Chen, Q., Zhang, L., and Le, T. (2020). The antifungal effects of cinnamaldehyde against Aspergillus niger and its application in bread preservation. *Food Chemistry*, *317*, 126405.
- Suzuki, S., Horinouchi, T., and Furusawa, C. (2015). Suppression of antibiotic resistance acquisition by combined use of antibiotics. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 120(4), 467-469.
- Swamy, M. K., Akhtar, M. S., and Sinniah, U. R. (2016). Antimicrobial Properties of Plant Essential Oils against Human Pathogens and Their Mode of Action: An Updated Review. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, 2016, 3012462.
- Swamy, M. K., and Sinniah, U. R. (2015). A comprehensive review on the phytochemical constituents and pharmacological activities of Pogostemon cablin Benth.: an aromatic medicinal plant of industrial importance. *Molecules*, 20(5), 8521-8547.
- Swamy, M. K., and Sinniah, U. R. (2016). Patchouli (Pogostemon cablin Benth.): botany, agrotechnology and biotechnological aspects. *Industrial Crops and products*, *87*, 161-176.
- Tariq, A., Adnan, M., Amber, R., Pan, K., Mussarat, S., and Shinwari, Z. K. (2016). Ethnomedicines and anti-parasitic activities of Pakistani medicinal plants against Plasmodia and Leishmania parasites. *Ann Clin Microbiology Antimicrob*, 15(1), 52.
- Tariq, S., Wani, S., Rasool, W., Shafi, K., Bhat, M. A., Prabhakar, A., Shalla, A. H., and Rather, M. A. (2019). A comprehensive review of the antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents against drug-resistant microbial pathogens. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 134, 103580.
- Teixeira, B., Marques, A., Ramos, C., Neng, N. R., Nogueira, J. M. F., Saraiva, J. A., and Nunes, M. L. (2013). Chemical composition and antibacterial and antioxidant properties of commercial essential oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 43, 587-595.
- Tepe, B., Daferera, D., Sökmen, M., Polissiou, M., and Sökmen, A. (2004). In vitro antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of the essential oils and various extracts of Thymus eigii M. Zohary et P.H. Davis. *Journal Agriculture Food Chemistry*, 52(5), 1132-1137.
- Ulanowska, K., Tkaczyk, A., Konopa, G., and Wegrzyn, G. (2006). Differential antibacterial activity of genistein arising from global inhibition of DNA, RNA and protein synthesis in some bacterial strains. *Archieve Microbiology*, 184(5), 271-278.
- Unlu, M., Ergene, E., Unlu, G. V., Zeytinoglu, H. S., and Vural, N. (2010). Composition, antimicrobial activity and in vitro cytotoxicity of essential oil from Cinnamomum zeylanicum Blume (Lauraceae). *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *48*(11), 3274-3280.
- Venturi, C. R., Danielli, L. J., Klein, F., Apel, M. A., Montanha, J. A., Bordignon, S. A., Roehe, P. M., Fuentefria, A. M., and Henriques, A. T. (2015). Chemical analysis and in vitro antiviral and antifungal activities of essential oils from Glechon spathulata and Glechon marifolia. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 53(5), 682-688.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., and Rather, M. A. (2021). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microb Pathog*, *152*, 104620.
- Wińska, K., Mączka, W., Łyczko, J., Grabarczyk, M., Czubaszek, A., and Szumny, A. (2019). Essential Oils as Antimicrobial Agents-Myth or Real Alternative? *Molecules*, 24(11).
- Yousefbeyk, F., Gohari, A. R., Sourmaghi, M. H. S., Amini, M., Jamalifar, H., Amin, M., Golfakhrabadi, F., Ramezani, N., and Amin, G. (2014). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of essential oils from different parts of Daucus littoralis Smith subsp. hyrcanicus Rech. f. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 17(4), 570-576.
- Zeedan, G., Abdalhamed, A., Ottai, M., Abdelshafy, S., and Abdeen, E. (2014). Antimicrobial, antiviral activity and GC-MS analysis of essential oil extracted from Achillea fragrantissima plant growing in Sinai Peninsula. *Egypt Journal Microbiology Biochemistry Technology S*, 8(6).

Chapter 14

Comparison of the use of Essential Oils for the Control of Varroa (Varroa destructor) in Apis mellifera

Gutiérrez CLC¹, Tapia, RMZ^{1,2} and Velázquez FD¹

¹ Universidad Autónoma del Estado de México, Centro Universitario UAEM Amecameca *Corresponding author: mztapiar@uaemex.mx

ABSTRACT

Varroasis in *Apis mellifera* is today the most serious problem in beekeeping, since it affects the brood and the adult bee since it feeds mainly on the fat of its host, causing malformations, reducing the lifespan of the bee adult and the mite is considered a transmitter of viral diseases of bees, such as bag brood and acute paralysis. Different alternatives have been sought for its control, among them are: bees genetically resistant to varroa, use of acaricides that can leave chemical residues in the wax and honey, mainly affecting the safety of beekeeping by-products, in addition to generating resistance in the parasite due to the misuse of said chemicals. Therefore, an alternative is the use of natural products of plant origin that have been shown to have significant potential for the control of varroa and to be an alternative to the use of chemical products, so the objective of this study was a systematic review of articles scientists in search engines such as: Google Scholar, Scopus or Web of Science, on the comparative use of essential oils, recommended for the control of Varroa based on previous research.

KEYWORDS	Received: 15-June-2024	SCHENTINIC AT B	A Publication of
Apis mellifera, Essential oils, Varroa destructor, Safety, Mite	Revised: 14-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 01-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Gutiérrez CLC, Tapia RMZ and Velázquez FD, 2024. Comparison of the use of essential oils for the control of varroa (Varroa destructor) in *Apis mellifera*. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 123-128. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.122

INTRODUCTION

Beekeeping is an economic activity of great importance in several regions of our country, since in addition to generating quality products such as honey, royal jelly and propolis, it provides services of undoubted value for the maintenance of ecosystems, since Bees are one of the most important pollinators, which is why it is necessary to keep bees healthy, preventing diseases and parasites from damaging their work (Moreno, 2022).

One of the main parasites of bees is Varroa destructor, a mite that is considered one of the most important dangers for agriculture. It is an external parasite that attacks both adult and baby bees without distinction and whose life cycle is adapted to that of the bee.

Varroa destructor adheres to the body of adult bees, affecting their work and reducing their lifespan. It consumes the fat reserves of the offspring, in addition to causing malformations and transmitting viral diseases, in such a way that the colony sees its population and honey production decimated and this means that, if the presence of this parasite is not attended to in time, production is seriously affected, causing severe economic damage to the beekeeper (Guerra et al., 2010).

The most common treatments are based on chemical substances that eliminate the mite, affecting its development and killing it, but also favoring the appearance of resistance in different parts of the world. Some of the most used compounds to attack this parasite are Amitraz, oxalic acid, formic acid, coumaphos, thymol and pyrethroids (flumethrin and Tau-fluvalinate) (Medici, 2021).

The use of these commercial products which can be purchased without problems, and whose main drawback is that most of these chemical substances can leave residues contaminating the honey and wax, generating problems for the beekeeper, so alternatives must be sought to eliminate this parasite without damaging collaterals to bee products. The bibliography consulted to carry out this research suggests the use of essential oils, which are natural products that do not affect production and are instead harmful to Varroa destructor. Essential oils do not have organoleptic effects on honey and do not affect bees or their products, therefore they can be an alternative for Varroa control (Reyna et al., 2021).

Importance of Varroa in Beekeeping

Varroa Destroyer

Until 1957, Varroa destructor developed the ability to parasitize the western bee Apis mellifera, since then it spread

very rapidly in much of the world (Oldroyd, 1999). The species V. destructor was confused with V. jacobsoni until Anderson and Trueman, (2000) verified that they are different species. V. destructor is attributed with the loss of hundreds of colonies and billions of dollars in relation to the benefit of the agriculture, (Guerra Jr. et al., 2010; Padilla-Álvarez and Flores-Serrano, 2011; Hamiduzzaman et al., 2012; Sanabria et al., 2015).

It has been held responsible for the hive depopulation syndrome, which has been occurring worldwide and has not yet been completely explained (Bacci, 2007). No other pathogen, like this mite, has caused as much impact on bees in the entire history of beekeeping (Le Conte et al., 2007; Seeley, 2007; Rosenkranz et al., 2010; Evans and Cook, 2018), having Keep in mind that the losses currently are incalculable.

When the varroa mite interacts with the bee, there is a close relationship between the biological cycle of both species; The life cycle of the mite comprises two distinct phases (phoretic phase and reproductive phase), the phoretic phase occurs on the adult bee and the reproductive phase occurs only within the sealed brood cell (Rosenkranz et al., 2010).

The mite has evolved in such a way that when it invades bee larval cells to reproduce, they avoid being eliminated from them by worker bees thanks to a kairomonal strategy (chemical substance (pheromone) released by one species that is 'detected' by another species that uses it for its own benefit (Traynor et al., 2020). These pheromones help it camouflage itself between larvae and adult bees by capturing chemical signals that help it avoid the bees' defense mechanisms (Nazzi and Le Conte, 2016; Airahuacho and Rubina, 2021).

The parasitized brood become adult bees that spend less time caring for the brood in the hive (Zanni et al., 2018), and will be a possible vector for varroa dispersal to new colonies (Brosi et al., 2017). The first egg deposited that is male will be the one that fertilizes the females (Evans and Cook, 2018). Only mites that have reached maturity (females) survive, males and immature mites die when uncapping occurs.

The varroa females, which just emerged after their cycle in eight days; They exhibit chelicerae as non-functional stumps with mouthparts that allow them to adhere to adult bees. Fertile adult varroas and some juveniles remain attached to the bees, their mouthparts and the varroa digestive system are structured to feed on semi-solid tissue through extraoral salivary digestion (Ramsey et al., 2018).

Ramsey et al., (2019) showed that this parasite not only consumes hemolymph, but also damages host bees by consuming body fat, a tissue more or less analogous to the liver of mammals. Years ago it was mistakenly thought that the mite fed only on hemolymph. However, the mites fed with body fat survived longer and produced more eggs than those fed with hemolymph. After this, the adult varroae detach from the body of the worker and invade a new capped cell. In females, sexual maturity is reached after 24 hours. Males die shortly after mating, so it is difficult to find them outside the cell.

Varroa infestations in cold environments can vary depending on the climatic environment and the size and strength of the colonies. In cold climates, when the availability of brood in weak colonies decreases, there is a greater incidence of mites in the phoretic state, increasing the proportion of varroa in brood as in adult bees, which decimates their metabolic rate and thus the activity productive (Vásquez, et al., 2000).

Negative Effects of the use of Chemicals in Beekeeping

Acaricides can leave chemical residues in honey and mainly in wax (Lensky and Slabeski, 1981; Cruz, 2007; Lanzelotti, 2007) on the other hand, some results could suggest the participation of pesticides as a cause of colony collapse (Vargas-V et al., 2020). There is evidence in Spain that beeswax contaminated by the application of coumaphos and amitraz in hives can contaminate honey and offspring in contact with it, although the levels found by these researchers did not reach the LD50 for brood nor the MRLs (Maximum Residue Limits) for honey, except for amitraz in December in some hives (Albero et al., 2023). The negative effect on bees is the combination of pyrethroids (fluvalinate and flumethrin) and/or other Neonicotinoids can have a synergistic potentiating effect that makes them 100 times more toxic than that of any pesticide individually, for example, fluvalinate and coumaphos (more toxic effect). Toxic multiplier (Medici, 2021).

Chemical Effects of the use of Chemicals in the Presence of Varroa

The fight against varroa began in the 19th century, developing various techniques such as mechanical, chemical and natural procedures to prevent colony losses (Masry et al., 2020, Spivak and Danka, 2021). Unfortunately, beekeepers continue to apply intensively and often without veterinary control a small group of active materials, fundamentally three groups of pesticides: pyrethroids (taufluvalinate and flumethrin), organophosphates (coumaphos) or amidines (amitraz). Mites have developed resistance to previous pesticides (Milani, 1995; Elzen and Westervelt, 2002; Pettis, 2004; Evans and Cook, 2018). The mechanisms responsible for acaricide resistance involved both metabolic changes and target site mutations in Varroa mite populations worldwide (González-Cabrera et al., 2013; Dmitryjuk et al., 2014). Tau-fluvalinate Resistance to tau-fluvalinate has been established with splice variants and mutations in the voltage-gated sodium channel that can potentially lead to a reduction in the interaction of the acaricide with this protein (Wang et al., 2002). Resistance to coumaphos has also been reported in Varroa mites (Elzen and Westervelt, 2002; Pettis, 2004), but the resistance mechanisms are not clear in the mites.

However, esterase-mediated detoxification may be involved (Sammataro et al., 2005). Resistance to coumaphos has also been reported in Varroa mites, but the resistance mechanisms are not clear in the mites. However, esterase-mediated detoxification may be involved. Although the mechanisms of resistance to Coumaphos by the mite are not completely clear, it is known that this product interferes with the activity of acetylcholinesterase that intervenes with nerve signaling. Therefore, they make these acaricides ineffective (Elzen and Westervelt, 2002; Pettis, 2004).

Use of Essential Oils against Varroa

To prevent the development of resistance to chemical acaricides, as well as environmental contamination, the option of developing and using acaricides from organic substances, therefore, natural and ecological, is sought (Karimi et al., 2022). Some of the most outstanding research on the subject is described.

Sublethal effects may be useful in varroa control; Any effect on this mite that interferes with its ability to locate its host may have practical value as a control method. They developed a school in the search for sublethal effects to control bee parasites and proposed a protocol to evaluate plant products.

Name of the product/	Mechanism of	Advantages of use	Disadvantages of use	Application and
author	action			recommended dosage
Lemon oil	Contains	acaricidal activity	Low toxicity in adult bees	5 ml
Cymbopongon citratus	properties to			It is placed on the
(Sabahi et al., 2018)	kill mosquitoes			interior walls of the
	and mites			hive.
Oregano oil (Origanum	Fungicide,	Low toxicity for bees	Oil volatilization.	30 ml of essential
Vulgare)	acaricide and	Parasite death due to	Oil application temperature.	oregano oil
(Chambi and Condori,	disinfectant	water stress or		Spraying in hives
2016)	properties.	asphyxiation.		
Garlic oil	acaricidal	Does not damage the	High doses negative effect on	10 ml
(Allium sativum)	activity	hive	bees resulting in mortality in	In hives
(Reyna et al., 2021)		Low cost	mites and bees	
Wild thyme	Antibacterial	Low risk for bees and	May require high	0.25; 05 y 1 gram
(Acantholippia	and antifungal	the environment	concentrations to be effective	Microencapsulation
seriphioides)	properties,	Leaves no residue in	May be expensive	and evaporation.
	repellent effect	honey		
(Ruffinengo et al., 2005)	on varroa			
Eucalyptus oil	Insecticidal	Low risk to bees	May require frequent	20 ml
(Eucaliyptus radiata)	and repellent	Effective against varroa	applications possible impact on	It is placed on the
(Ahumada et al, 2022)	properties	and other parasites	honey flavor	interior walls of the
		Low cost	-	hive.
formic acid (ácido	Varroa	Effective against varroa	- Potentially corrosive and	150 gr
orgánico)	irritation, pH	in the pupal stage	dangerous to handle	Organic gel that is
	alteration in	Low resistance of varroa	Requires special application	placed on the frames
(Calderón et al., 2014)	brood cells	Decomposition into	equipment	of the breeding
		oxalic acid, leaves no	May cause harm to bees in high	chamber.
		residue	concentrations	
Thymol gel	acaricidal	Low toxicity	Toxic when using high	25 gr
(timol es componente	effect	Low environmental	concentrations	Gradual release gel
del aceite de tomillo)		impact		
(Calderón et al., 2014)				
Neem oil	acaricidal	Non-toxic to bees	In low doses they do not cause	1-2 mg
(Azadirachta indica)	effect	It is used on pests in	parasite mortality.	Spray application
(Gonzalez et al., 2006)		flowering crops.		
Oxalic acid (Vásquez,	Direct toxic	- Effective against varroa	- Requires repeated application	50 ml in sugar
2006)	damage to	in the pupal state and	for effective control Potentially	solution
	varroa	adult mites Does not	toxic to bees at high	
		leave residues in the wax	concentrations	
		Low cost		
Peppermint oil (Mentha	Repellent and	- Low risk to bees Lower	- May require frequent	9.27 ml
Piperita)	toxic effect on	likelihood of varroa	applications for effective	Infusions
(Cueto and Estevez,	varroa	resistance	control	
2020)		Does not leave toxic	Possible impact on honey flavor	
		residues in honey		

Table 1: Comparison of the use of essential products and oils and the decrease in the presence of varroa destructor

Source: self-made

Different tests were carried out to determine through which method the elimination and/or control of varroa could be more effective, which were: Acute lethality test in varroa and bees (Application of distilled water plus emulsifier, in concentrations corresponding to those used for each dilution treatment), repellency test with choice (If all the varroas remain on zone zero or there is an equitable distribution on both zones, the values of A will counteract those of B; if all the mites remain on the pupae of zone B, the values of A will be zero and the values of B), repellency test without choice (In this case the pupae that were placed in zone Ac and Bc were treated with the corresponding products and concentrations, as well like the witnesses described). In conclusion, it is postulated that the death of varroa females is due to starvation, caused by the inability of the mites to feed on the offered pupae.

Sabahi et al., (Sabahi et al., 2018), carried out a study which evaluated the relative toxicity and selectivity of anethole and lemongrass oil (*Cymbopogon citratus*) and Sweet marigold on Varroa mites and on larvae and adult honey bees. In which the essential oil was obtained from plant tissues by steam distillation. The methodology consisted of six concentrations of the essential oil prepared in 1.5 ml of acetone, using 280 mites in eight replications, under controlled conditions of temperature 26° and 26% relative humidity. The solution was spread on the inner walls of the vials with the mites, covering after 10', the results were read 4 hours post treatment. With the help of a needle, the mites were touched; if they did not move, they were considered dead. It was obtained that anethole and Cymbopogon oil showed significant effects on mites at the same time, high selectivity and safety margins for the honey bee.

Chambi and Condori (Chambi and Condori, 2016) carried out a study, which used oregano essential oil (Origanum vulgare) at 40, 45, 50, 55 and 60% analyzing volatilization in oasis sponge in three surface support areas. It was decided to use the 40% concentration since it contains a greater amount of ethyl alcohol and volatilization increases, although the amount of active product is lower, there is no significant difference with the other concentrations. This concentration was compared against a commercial acaricide, resulting in the use of oregano oil being 23% more efficient than the commercial one.

(Table 1) identifies the main substances and essential oils used to eliminate Varroa in bees. Considering lemon, eucalyptus, oregano, garlic and thyme oil for its low toxicity effect on bees and honey, this being a harmless product for human consumption.

The oils can be applied in different ways such as evaporation, gel or directly to the hive depending on the active substance of each oil, in addition to the fact that some require the use of another component (ethyl alcohol) for their activation and to have the effect of eliminating Varroa. In addition, each oil has a varied action time that can range from hours to weeks where they will be most effective on the parasite (González- Gómez et al., 2006).

As for formic acid, its effectiveness can be in combination with thymol, which is a component of thyme oil, considering other factors such as temperature, ventilation so that the steam is distributed evenly over the hive, its effectiveness can be from the first day. of application until the 30th.

Conclusions

Varroasis is a complex problem for the beekeeping industry worldwide. Adequate varroa control planning should first include the restricted use of chemicals, and second, management techniques that include low levels of parasite infestation. The current trend in animal production lies in the use of practices and use of noble and natural substances that guarantee animal well-being, thus the safety of the product, thus being the bases of food safety. There are many studies related to the use and applications of essential oils on the control of varroa destructor in *Apis mellifera*, however those presented here are for isolated use, that is, they do not combine more than one oil with another to identify if there is a synergistic action. It is proposed to search or carry out studies where two or more essential oils are combined. Likewise, identify through laboratory studies if there is a residual of the active substances of essential oils in honey, thereby detecting if safety is affected or a product with added value can be obtained. The present study offers recommendations for beekeepers interested in using essential oils to control varroa and as a result reduce the use of acaricides that leave residues in the wax and honey and cause resistance in the mite.

REFERENCES

- Ahumada, M. F., Marcos, J. L., Cadavid, A., Bañares, G. V., Silva, C. M., Olivares, Y. A., and Müller, H. Y. (2022). Evaluation of the efficacy of essential oils of Lavandula angustifolia and Eucalyptus globulus for the control of Varroa destructor in Apis mellifera: A randomised field study. *Austral Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 54(2), 83-87. https://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0719-81322022000200083
- Albero, B., Miguel, E., and García, V. Al. (2023) Acaricide residues in beeswax. Implications in honey, brood and honeybee. *Environ Monit Assess*. Mar 9; 195(4):454. doi: 10.1007/s10661-023-11047-6. PMID: 36892612; PMCID: PMC9998570
- Anderson, D. L., and Trueman, J. W. (2000). Varroa jacobsoni (Acari: Varroidae) is more than one species. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, *24*(3), 165–189. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006456720416
- Airahuacho, F. E., and Rubina, S. S. (2021). Varroa destructor: una amenaza mortal para la colmena de *Apis mellifera*. *Peruvian Agricultural Research*, *3*(1), 40-51.
- Bacci, M. (2007). Síndrome de despoblamiento de colmenas. *Programa de Control de Enfermedades de las Abejas. SENASA.* 3 p.
- Brosi, B. J., Delaplane, K. S., Boots, M., and de Roode, J. C. (2017). Ecological and evolutionary approaches to managing honeybee disease. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 1(9), 1250-126.
- Calderón, R.A., Ramírez, M., Ramírez, F. and Villalobos, E. (2014). Efectividad del ácido fórmico y el timol en el control del

ácaro varroa destructor en colmenas de abejas africanizadas. Agronomía Costarricense, 38 (1), 175-188.

- Chambi, T. E. G., and Condori A, G. R. (2016). Formulación y evaluación de un acaricida a base de aceite desencial de orégano (*Origanum vulgare*) para el control de ácaros (Varroa destructor) en colmenas de abejas (Apis mellifera) [*Tesis Ingeniería Química*]. Universidad Nacional de San Agustín de Arequipa.
- Cruz, S.A. (2007). Análisis de residuos de acaricidas naturales y de síntesis en productos de la colmena. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/An%C3%A1lisis-de-residuos-de-acaricidas-naturales-y-de-
 - Cruz/559af4b022626777c8b8684d6d27521049055dad?utm source=direct link
- Cueto, J. M., and Estevez, J. A. (2020). Evaluación del efecto acaricida de las infusiones de Cymbopogon sp., Eucaliptus sp., Citrus aurantium y Mentha sp., en el control de Varroa destructor en Apis mellifera L (Doctoral dissertation, Zamorano: Escuela Agrícola Panamericana,).
- Dmitryjuk, M., Żołtowska, K., Frączek, R., and Lipiński, Z. (2014). Esterases of Varroa destructor (Acari: Varroidae), parasitic mite of the honeybee. *Experimental and Applied Ácarology*, *62*(4), 499–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10493-013-9754y
- Elzen, PJ. and Westervelt, D. (2002) Detection of coumaphos resistance in Varroa destructor in Florida. *Am Bee Journal*, 142:291–292
- Evans, J., and Cook, S. (2018). Genetics and physiology of Varroa mites. Genetics and physiology of Varroa mites. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 130-135.
- González, C. J., Davies, T. G., Field, L. M., Kennedy, P. J., and Williamson, M. S. (2013). An amino acid substitution (L925V) associated with resistance to pyrethroids in Varroa destructor. *PloS one*, *8*(12), e82941. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082941
- González, G. R., Otero, C. G., Villanueva, J. A., Pérez, A. J A., and Soto, H. R. M. (2006). Azadirachta indica toxicity and repellence of varroa destructor (acari: varroidae). Agrociencia, 40(Nov-Dec. 2006), 741-751.
- Guerra, Jr. J., Issa, M.R., F.E. Carneiro, Strapazzon, R. and Moretto, G. (2010). RAPD identifi cation of Varroa destructor genotypes in Brazilian other regions of the Americas. *Genetics and Molecular Research*, *9*(1):303-308.
- Hamiduzzaman, M. M., Sinia, A., Guzman-Novoa, E. and Goodwin, P. (2012). Entomopathogenic fungi as potential biocontrol agents of ecto-parasitic mite, Varroa destructor, and their effect on the immune response of honeybees (Apis mellifera L.). *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 111*(3) 237-243.
- Karimi, P., Malekifard, F., and Tavassoli, M. (2022). Medicinal plants essential oils as promising Anti-Varroa agents: Oxidative/nitrosative screens. South African Journal of Botany, 148, 344-351. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2022.05.003</u>
- Lanzelotti, P. Dinámicas de contaminación de miel y cera en la colmena. (2007). Estudio de casos con residuos de nitrofuranos y coumaphos. *Agro Sur 35*(1): 28-29.
- Le Conte, Y., de Vaublanc, G., Crauser, D., Jeanne F. and Rousselle, J. (2007). Honeybee Colonies that have survived Varroa destructor. *Apidologie, 38*: 566–572.
- Lensky, Y., and Slabeski, Y. (1981). The inhibiting effect of the queen bee (Apis mellifera L.) foot-print pheromone on the construction of swarming queen cups. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, *27*(5): 313-323.
- Masry, S.H.D., Abd El-Wahab, T.E. and Rashad, M. (2020). Evaluating the impact of jatropha oil extract against the Varroa mite, Varroa destructor Anderson and Trueman (Arachnida: Acari: Varroidae), infesting honeybee colonies (*Apis mellifera L.*). Egypt Journal Biology Pest Control, 30, 91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41938-020-00292-3</u>
- Medici, S. (2021). Pesticidas y abejas: Conceptos básicos y avances en el conocimiento de su interacción. Ciclo de Charlas Ciencia y Abejas. Centro de Investigación Abejas Sociales (CIAS).
- Milani, N. (1995). The resistance of Varroa jacobsoni Oud. to pyrethroids: a laboratory assay. Apidologie, 26: 415-429.
- Moreno, A. U. (2022). Polinizadores y Biodiversidad. La importancia de los polinizadores. Apolo, observatorio de agentes polinizadores.
- Nazzi, F., and Le Conte, Y. (2016). Ecology of Varroa destructor, the Major Ectoparasite of the Western Honey Bee, Apis mellifera. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 2-9.
- Oldroyd, B.P. (1999). Coevolution while you wait: Varroa jacobsoni, a new parasite of western honeybees. *Trends Ecology Evolution, 14*
- Padilla-Álvarez, F. and Flores-Serrano, J. M. (2011). Selección de colonias de Apis mellifera iberiensis tolerantes a varroa destructor. Actas Iberoamericanas de Conservación Animal, 1:449-452.
- Pettis, J. S. (2004). A scientific note on Varroa destructor resistance to coumaphos in the United States. *Apidologie, 35*:91–92
- Ramsey, S. D., Ochoa, R., Bauchan, G., Gulbronson, C., Mowery, J. D., Cohen, A., Lim, D., Joklik, J., Cicero, J. M., Ellis, J. D., Hawthorne, D., and vanEngelsdorp, D. (2019). Varroa destructor feeds primarily on honey bee fat body tissue and not hemolymph. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(5), 1792–1801. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1818371116
- Ramsey, S., Gulbronson, C., Mowery, J., Ochoa, R., VanEngelsdorp, D., and Bauchan, G. (2018). A Multi-Microscopy Approach to Discover the Feeding Site and Host Tissue Consumed by Varroa destructor on Host Honey Bees. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, 24(S1), 1258-1259. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1431927618006773
- Reyna, F. J. H., Martínez, G. J. C., Silva, C. A., López, A. D., and Castillo, R. S. P. (2021). Fitoterapia una alternativa de control de plagas y enfermedades de abejas. *Journal of the Selva Andina Animal Science*, 8(2), 114-123.

Ritter, W. (1981). Varroa Disease of the Honeybee Apis Mellifera. Bee World, 141-153.

- Rosenkranz, P., Aumeier, P., and Ziegelmann, B. (2010). Biology and control of Varroa destructor. *Journal Invertebr Pathology*, Jan;103 Suppl 1:S96-119. doi: 10.1016/j.jip.2009.07.016. Epub 2009 Nov 11. PMID: 19909970
- Ruffinengo, S., Eguaras, M., Floris, I., Faverin, C., Bailac, P., and Ponzl, M., (2005). LD50 and repellent effect to Varroa destructor mite of different essential oil from Argentina wild plants species. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *98*: 651-655
- Sabahi, Q., Hamiduzzaman, M. M., Barajas-Pérez, J. S., Tapia, G. J. M., and Guzmán, N. E. (2018). Toxicity of Anethole and the Essential Oils of Lemongrass and Sweet Marigold to the Parasitic Mite Varroa destructor and Their Selectivity for Honey Bee (Apis mellifera) Workers and Larvae. *Psyche*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6196289</u>
- Sammataro, D., Untalan, PM, Guerrero, FD and Finley, J. (2005). La resistencia de los ácaros varroa (Acari: Varroidae) a los acaricidas y la presencia de esterasa. *Revista Internacional de Acarología*, 31, 67 74.
- Sanabria, J.L., Demedio, J., Pérez, T., Peñate, I., Rodríguez, D., and Lóriga, W. (2015). Índices de infestación por Varroa destructor en colmenas sin medidas de control. *Revista de Salud Animal*, 37(2), 118-124. http://scielo.sld.cu/scielo.php?script=sci_arttextandpid=S0253-570X2015000200007andIng=esandtIng=es
- Seeley, T. D. (2007). Honeybees of the Arnot Forest: a population of feral colonies persisting with Varroa destructor in the northeastern United States. *Apidologie, 38*:19-29.
- Spivak, M., and Danka, R. G. (2021). Perspectives on hygienic behavior in Apis mellifera and other social insects. *Apidologie, 52*, 1-16. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13592-020-00784-z
- Traynor, K. S., Mondet, F., de Miranda, J. R., Techer, M., Kowallik, V., Oddie, M., Chantawannakul, P., and McAfee, A. (2020). Varroa destructor: A Complex Parasite, Crippling Honey Bees Worldwide. *Trends in Parasitology*, 36(7), 592–606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2020.04.004</u>
- Vargas-V, A., Reyes-C, D., Moreno, J.D., Véliz. R., Gaspar F.D., and Rodríguez, O. D., (2020). Residuos de plaguicidas en miel y cera de colonias de abejas de La Comarca Lagunera. *Abanico vet*. 10 http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?script=sci_arttextandpid=S2448https://doi.org/10.21929/abavet2020.7
- Vásquez, C. J., Narrea, C. M., and Bracho, P. J. C. (2006). Efecto del ácido oxálico, ácido fórmico y coumaphos sobre Varroa destructor (Acari: Varroidae) en colonias de abejas. *Revista Peruana de Entolomogía*, 45(1), 149-152.
- Vásquez, R., Tello, J., and Martinez, R. (2000). El control de la Varroasis: manejo genético como alternativa. Bogotá: CORPOICA.
- Wang, R., Liu, Z., Dong, K., Elzen, P., Pettis, J. and Huang, Z. (2002). Association of novel mutations in a sodium channel gene with fluvalinate resistance in the mite, Varroa destructor. *Journal of Apicultural Research (Inglaterra)* 40(1-2): 17-25.
- Zanni, V., Değirmenci, L., Annoscia, D., Scheiner, R., and Nazzi, F. (2018). The reduced brood nursing by mite-infested honey bees depends on their accelerated behavioral maturation. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, *109*, 47-54. https://doi. Org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2018.06.006

Chapter 15

Use of Essential Oil against Mosquitoes

Khola Tariq^{1*} Shahzada Khurram Mirza^{2*} and Ghulam Mustafa Bugti^{3*}

¹Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University of Agriculture Faisalabad ²Department of Parasitology, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Lahore *Corresponding author: Kholasumalani786@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Diseases spread by mosquitoes are thought to be the cause of one million fatalities worldwide each year. To prevent certain diseases, the environment must be improved (e.g., reduced stagnant water) and managing adult and juvenile mosquito populations. A couple of the main drawbacks of utilizing chemical insecticides are environmental contamination and mosquito resistance. Essential oils are fascinating and potent natural plant products that have been utilized medicinally since ancient times. Essential oils (EOs) have a variety of effects on mosquitoes, such as repellant, ovicidal, larvicidal, pupicidal, and adulticidal effects. EOs are mostly utilized as sources of active ingredients for different repellents when it comes to their ability to combat mosquitoes.

Because of their strong breakdown in the environment little adverse effects on non-target animals and selective action on target. Recently, pesticides based on EO have been presented as artificial insecticide substitutes to keep mosquitoes away. Several investigations about using EOs to repel insects are found in the literature. In this chapter, we summarize the role of EOs in controlling the mosquito population.

KEYWORDS	Received: 12-May-2024	CUENTIFIC ALE	A Publication of
Essential Oil, Mosquitoes, Mosquito population	Revised: 03-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 19-Aug-2024	",USP	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Tariq K, Mirza SK and Bugti GM, 2024. Use of essential oil against mosquitoes. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complement Altern Med, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, Vol. x: 129-133. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.134

INTRODUCTION

Many people across the world suffer from parasites and parasitic diseases, which provide a variety of difficulties in terms of treatment and management. (Alvi et al., 2020; Alvi et al., 2021; Alvi et al., 2022; Alvi et al., 2023). Among parasites the most significant arthropods for public health are mosquitoes (Sanei-Dehkordi et al., 2018). In addition to encephalitis, dengue, yellow fever, *chikungunya*, malaria, and *filariasis*, they could spread numerous other illnesses. The most significant mosquito-borne illness is malaria; 405,000 deaths and 228 million cases were recorded globally in 2018 alone (Kurtovic et al., 2020). Approximately 400 million dengue infections occur each year, with about 25% of those individuals exhibiting clinical symptoms. Approximately half of the world's population is susceptible to dengue infection (Duarte et al., 2020).

Larval control is a crucial component of the integrated management of most mosquito species (*Diptera culicidae*) and has been achieved by using various pesticides. Disease-endemic nations have a significant financial burden from vector-borne illnesses such as *malaria, dengue fever*, and *filariasis*, which cause widespread morbidity and mortality (Almeida et al., 2020).

In poor nations where epidemics of vector-borne diseases are occurring, mosquito management is a major problem. Chemical insecticides, or synthetic pesticides, are often used to control mosquitoes in their adult and immature stages (egg, larva, and pupa). Side effects on non-target populations (particularly people), negative environmental consequences contaminating water, soil, and air have been observed by the use of these insecticides. The emergence of resistance significantly increased in recent years (Esmaili et al., 2021).

In developing nations, the *organophosphate temephos* is still commonly employed however in Europe and the USA; microbial insecticides are used to control larvae. The European Community has been strictly reviewing all chemical larvicides due to their harmful effects on *aquatic biocoenosis*. This has resulted in the withdrawal of *temephos* in Europe. Essential oils (EOs) are becoming more popular as low-risk pesticides in the past few decades. In addition to effectiveness, the majority of research reported that EOs had no negative effects on the environment or on human health (Masetti, 2016a, 2016b).

One method of controlling the adult insects from emerging and becoming the pathogen's active "transporter" or vector—which can be harmful—is to target the insect vector during its formative stages. This strategy has been proposed as critical for controlling dengue vectors and halting the spread of disease viruses. In areas where it is widespread, malaria in particular still poses a serious health risk to newborns and early children. A total of 90% of malaria-related mortality

occurs in newborns and young children, with the majority occurring in sub-Saharan Africa. Every year, there are 350–500 million cases of malaria worldwide, and at least one million people die from the disease (WHO, 2009).

Dengue fever is also one of the most significant viral infections spread by mosquitoes worldwide. The incidence has tripled in the past 50 years. Over 100 endemic nations and regions where dengue viruses can spread to around 2.5 billion individuals. Every year, there are up to 500,000 infections, 50 million episodes of hemorrhagic illness caused by dengue, and 22,000 fatalities—mostly in children—from the virus (WHO, 2012).

What are Essential Oils?

The majority of Essential oils are colorless or pale yellow, liquid, or have a lower density than water. They are hydrophobic and soluble in alcohol, non-polar or weakly polar solvents, waxes, and oils, but only slightly soluble in water. Highly concentrated substances called essential oils (EOs) are taken from barks, fruit rinds, stems, flowers, seeds, roots, and resins (Fatimah, 2016). Essential oils are complex combinations of volatile molecules that are created by living things and can only be physically extracted from a whole plant or a plant portion that has a recognized taxonomic origin (pressing and distillation) and are used as health protection against many vectors (Moghaddam and Mehdizadeh, 2017).

Because of their flavor, odor, and therapeutic qualities, EOs are frequently used in a wide range of goods, including meals, medications, and cosmetics. One of the most labor-intensive and time-consuming procedures is extracting essential oils (Hanif et al., 2019)

Numerous studies have been published that extract Essential oils (EOs) from a broad range of plant species and reported that whole extract or some of its purified constituents have insecticidal action on mosquito larvae (Almadiy, 2020). EOs are extracted from plants using techniques like distillation or other extraction processes. Generally speaking, the primary components of EOs are *terpenoids* and, to a lesser extent, *phenylpropanoids* (Hou et al., 2022).

Essential oils, also known as oily liquids, are often obtained by hydrodistillation from different portions of plants such as the stem, flower, bark, and rhizome, with an apparatus similar to the Clevenger. There are a lot of studies on using essential oils to repel insects in the literature. However, because some of their constituents are volatile, the uses of essential oils as insecticides and repellents are restricted (Khanavi et al., 2013). The biological actions they possess are diverse and include repellant, larvicidal, leishmanicidal, and antibacterial properties. Because of their high environmental degradation rate, selective action on target, and low adverse effects on non-target animals, EO-based insecticides have recently been proposed as synthetic options for controlling mosquito populations (Esmaili et al., 2021).

Essential Oils as Biocides

Plant products have been employed as insecticides since the Roman era; when species like black hellebore (*Veratrum nigrum*) and white hellebore (*Veratrum album*) were used. A variety of plant pathogenic microorganisms, including (*Fusarium oxysporum, Alternaria alternative, Penicilium italicum, Penicilium digitatum,* and *Botyritus cinerea*), were investigated for their antibacterial properties using essential oils of fennel, peppermint, caraway, eucalyptus, geranium, and lemon. Because the essential oils of fennel, peppermint, and caraway were effective at suppressing the microorganisms under test, they were chosen as the active ingredients in the biocide composition. With the use of several fixed oils (sesame, olive, cotton, and soybean oils) and emulsifiers (Emulgator B.L.M. Tween20 and Tween80), successful emulsifiable concentrates (biocides) were produced from these oils (Abo-El Seoud et al., 2005).

Larvicidal Activity

Application of essential oils (*Cedarwood, clove, peppermint, thyme*, and *Bourbon geranium*) in various combinations and concentrations (5, 10, 25, 50, 75, and 100%) on human skin proved to be repellent against *Anopheles albimanus, Wiedemann* and *Aedes aegypti*. The only thing that kept *Ae. aegypti* away were large doses of peppermint oil. With a protection duration ranging from 1½ to 3½ hours, clove oil and thyme proved to be the most efficacious insect repellents. For one to two and a half hours, *An. albimanus* biting was inhibited by combining 50% *clove oil* with 50% *geranium* oil or 50% *thyme oil*. Skin irritation is a potential side effect of *clove, thyme*, and *peppermint* oils. Many plant oils, including those from thymus, basil, cinnamon, and citronella, show promising results as larvicides for mosquitoes (Barnard, 1999).

Organophosphorus chemicals, such as *temephos, fenthion*, and *chlorpyrifos*, are the most widely used larvicides because of their high activity level against aquatic insects and mosquito larvae. Because *organophosphate* larvicide is less hazardous to mammals, humans, fish, and birds, it is advised as the best larvicide for controlling *Aedes* and *Anopheles*. Many plant oils, including those from *thymus*, *basil*, *cinnamon*, and *citronella*, show promise as larvicides for mosquitoes. Examining larvicides made from plant oils used to repel mosquitoes, is the main focus of a previous study (Pitasawat et al., 2007).

Essential oils are considered harmless plant materials; therefore, it seems safe to utilize them as botanical larvicides. When EOs are added to water in a controlled laboratory condition, mosquito larvae exhibit acute toxic effects. Compared to LC₅₀ values for chemical or microbiological larvicides, the median lethal concentrations (LC₅₀) of essential oils are higher. Few EOs have LC₅₀ values less than 1 ppm, and according to multiple published studies, more than 50 ppm were needed to kill 50% of the larvae that were evaluated Numerous writers have demonstrated how the time of year, a plant's age, its history of disease or insect infestation, its geographic location, agronomic methods, and climate stressors all affect the concentration of essential oils in plants (Dias and Moraes, 2014).

In recent scientific literature, interest has significantly increased in the insecticidal action of essential oils on mosquito larvae. The effectiveness of the EOs that have been reported thus far, however, cannot be compared to that of chemical or microbiological larvicides. Furthermore, a majority of EOs' low mammalian toxicity and absence of environmental effects have been stated. The majority of aromatic plants in developed countries, where there is an opportunity to fully utilize their potential as botanical larvicides (Masetti, 2016b). For a long time, several popular EOs and their primary ingredients have been employed as food and beverage additives, cosmetic perfumes, and pharmaceutical goods. For mammals and other animals, these EOs exhibit minimal oral toxicity. The shortest environmental half-lives of Essential oils (EOs) make them more environmentally friendly than conventional synthetic insecticides (Assadpour et al., 2023).

Essential Oil as Adulticides

The adult female mosquito, which bites and spreads fatal viruses or other infections, is the target of most control plans. Typically, adulticides are used as surface treatments that are applied as residue. Several compounds found in EOs have been shown to have adulticidal properties; these chemicals come from plants belonging to the *Lamiaceae, Miliaceae, Rutaceae*, and *Ingeberaceae* families (Chellappandian et al., 2018). The Essential oil derived from *L. camara* leaves exhibits adulticidal efficacy against various mosquito species, making it a potential ingredient for use in oil-based insecticides (Dua et al., 2010).

EOs Inhibiting the Suction Activity of Mosquitoes

Using repellents to stop insects from sucking blood is the basis of protection. Natural repellents, like aromatic oils, work by discouraging females from sucking blood and hence from spreading infections. Though popular and reasonably effective, this indirect protection technique frequently has reduced efficacy because of the requirement to reapply repellent at regular intervals of many hours. In lab testing, it was shown that applying various amounts and combinations of the following five essential oils on human skin: *clove, peppermint, thyme, cedarwood,* and *Bourbon geranium* effectively repels mosquitoes. The best oils for keeping mosquitoes away were *thyme* and *clove,* which, depending on the dosage of the oil, protect for 1½ to 3½ hours (Barnard, 1999).

Nano Formulations and Essential Oils or Control of Mosquitoes

Mosquito control using EO-based Nano formulations also has been implemented. High- and low-energy techniques are typically utilized to create Nanoemulsions. High-energy techniques include ultrasonic, high-pressure homogenizer, and microfluidizer-assisted fabrications. Temperature of phase inversion, composition of phase inversion, diffusion of solvent, and spontaneous- emulsification are examples of low-energy processes. When creating EO-based Nanoemulsions, spontaneous emulsification is favored over alternative methods. Using this method, oil, water, and surfactant optimization is used to create Nanoemulsions. Thus, physical and chemical stress like temperature and pH do not affect the generated Nanoemulsions in this way (Esmaili et al., 2021).

Cymbopogan citratus Stapf (Graminae) Essential oil's Anti-Filarial Mosquito Activities

Herbal products are frequently utilized because of their strong antibacterial, aromatic, and therapeutic qualities. By adjusting the release rate, essential oils and scents can be applied as micro- or nano-capsules to textile substrates to extend their lifespan. The ovicidal, larvicidal and repellant properties of essential oils obtained from *Cymbopogan citratus* through steam distillation were assessed about the filarial mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus*. A 24-hour treatment period was used to observe the larval mortality. The larval instars two, three, and four were found to have LC50 values of 144.54 \pm 2.3, 165.70 \pm 1.2, and 184.18 \pm 0.8 ppm, respectively. At 300 ppm, there was 100 percent ovicidal activity seen *.C. citratus* doses of 1.0, 2.5, and 5.0 mg/cm2 offered 100% protection for three, four, and five hours, respectively, in a skin-repellent test. For a 12-hour period, this Essential oil's overall protection percentage was 62.19% at 2.5 mg/cm2, 74.03% at 5.0 mg/cm2, and 49.64% at 1.0 mg/cm2 (Ghayempour and Montazer, 2016).

Citronella Essential Oil

Citronella oil is an extensively researched Essential oil that is mostly derived from *Cymbopogon nardus*. The effectiveness of this vital oil against mosquitoes has been demonstrated. In addition to having a mosquito-repelling effect, it is a combination of ingredients with *citronellol, citronellal*, and *geraniol* as primary elements contributing to numerous actions such as antitrypanosomal, anthelmintic, antimicrobial, antioxidant, anticonvulsant, and wound healing. Because of its great performance, low toxicity, and satisfied customers, *Citronella* Essential oil is listed as a repellant for insects by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). However, its practical applications are limited by its low stability in the air and high temperature. (Sharma et al., 2019).

Hazomalania voyronii Essential Oils as Insecticidal and Mosquito Repellent

In Madagascar, the traditional practice of using *Hazomalania voyronii*, also referred to as Hazomalana, to ward against bug bites and repel mosquitoes is passed down through the generations. We examined the cytotoxicity of three important insect species for agriculture and public health *Musca domestica*, *Culex quinquefasciatus* and *Spodoptera littoralis* and also the effectiveness of the Essential oils (EOs) derived from the wood, fresh or dry bark *stem of H. voyronii* to keep away major mosquito vectors, *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Benelli et al., 2017).

Clove Oil and Cinnamon Oil

The long-lasting protection ticks and mosquito bites were offered by lotion emulsions containing 10% v/v clove or cinnamon oil. We conclude that combining active chemicals from the EPA Minimum Risk Pesticides list into a 10% v/v emulsion can provide complete protection against tick crossings and mosquito bites for almost an hour (Luker et al., 2023).

Repellency Effect against Ades albopictus

There was need to develop environment-friendly and novel mosquito larvicides. Six Essential oils—*Asteraceae, Rutaceae, Mentha piperta, Carvacryl, Citronella*, and *Eucalyptus*—were evaluated in a lab setting to determine how effective they were at repelling *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes. Human subjects were only used in the testing of Citronella and Eucalyptus oils. Mice were 100% protected after 7 hours with 7% *carvacryl* oil. Humans were protected with 15% *Eucalyptus* oil for at least three hours; five hours of protection was achieved by adding 5% vanillin.

Thymus vulgaris Essential oil Nano Emulsion

After 24 hours of exposure, the thyme oil Nano emulsion's maximum activity against *C. tritaeniorhynchus* was detected, and after 24 hours of exposure, its chitosan encapsulation was most efficient against *A. stephensi*. It was possible to see consistent morphological changes in the larvae of many mosquito species. Therefore, additional research on these Nano emulsions and encapsulations for use against other insect pests in agriculture may be necessary.

Conclusion

Natural compounds made from vegetable matrices, such as Essential oils (EOs), have a large range of secondary metabolites that can act against multiple biological systems, making them potentially considered environmentally acceptable pesticides. The application of some EOs to establish green methods for cultural heritage protection has been assessed by conservation scientists in light of these features. To control dengue mosquito vectors, local, regional, and rural communities with few alternatives continue to be interested in using plant extracts, chemicals, or their derivatives as inexpensive, safe phytochemical insecticides. Since plant-based medications are widely accessible, inexpensive, and seldom cause negative effects, their application in the preservation of cultural assets can undoubtedly improve both environmental and human health when used in accordance with contemporary restoration protocols.

REFERENCES

- Abo-El Seoud, M., Sarhan, M., Omar, A., and Helal, M. (2005). Biocides formulation of essential oils having antimicrobial activity. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection, 38(3), 175-184.
- Almadiy, A. A. (2020). Chemical composition, insecticidal and biochemical effects of two plant oils and their major fractions against *Aedes aegypti*, the common vector of dengue fever. *Heliyon*, 6(9).
- Almeida, J. S., Mohanty, A. K., Kerkar, S., Hoti, S. L., and Kumar, A. (2020). Current status and future prospects of bacillibased vector control. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, *13*(12), 525-534.
- Alvi, M. A., Alshammari, A., Ali, R. M. A., Ul Haq, S., Bashir, R., Li, L., and Jia, W. Z. (2023). Revealing novel cytb and nad5 genes-based population diversity and benzimidazole resistance in Echinococcus granulosus of bovine origin. *Frontiers* in Veterinary Science, 10, 1191271.
- Alvi, M. A., Khan, S., Ali, R. M. A., Qamar, W., Saqib, M., Faridi, N. Y., and Jia, W. Z. (2022). Herbal medicines against hydatid disease: A systematic review (2000–2021). *Life*, *12*(5), 676.
- Alvi, M. A., Li, L., Bahadur, K., Ullah, S., Saqib, M., Ohiolei, J. A., and Jia, W. Z. (2022). First Comparative Biochemical Profile Analysis of Cystic Fluids of Taenia hydatigena and Echinococcus granulosus Obtained from Slaughtered Sheep and Goats. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 42(2).
- Alvi, M. A., Ohiolei, J. A., Saqib, M., Li, L., Tayyab, M. H., Alvi, A. A., and Jia, W. Z. (2020). Echinococcus granulosus (sensu stricto)(G1, G3) and E. ortleppi (G5) in Pakistan: phylogeny, genetic diversity and population structural analysis based on mitochondrial DNA. *Parasites and Vectors*, *13*, 1-10.
- Assadpour, E., Can Karaça, A., Fasamanesh, M., Mahdavi, S. A., Shariat-Alavi, M., Feng, J., Jafari, S. M. (2023). Application of essential oils as natural biopesticides; recent advances. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 1-21.
- Barnard, D. R. (1999). Repellency of essential oils to mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). JOURNAL of Medical Entomology, 36(5), 625-629.
- Benelli, G., Pavela, R., Ricciutelli, M., Lupidi, G., and Maggi, F. (2017). Efficacy of the volatile oil from water celery (*Helosciadium nodiflorum, Apiaceae*) against the *filariasis* vector *Culex quinquefasciatus*, the housefly *Musca domestica*, and the African cotton leafworm *Spodoptera littoralis*. *Chemistry and Biodiversity*, 14(12), e1700376.
- Chellappandian, M., Vasantha-Srinivasan, P., Senthil-Nathan, S., Karthi, S., Thanigaivel, A., Ponsankar, A., and Hunter, W. B. (2018). Botanical essential oils and uses as mosquitocides and repellents against dengue. *Environment International*, *113*, 214-230.
- Dias, C. N., and Moraes, D. F. C. (2014). Essential oils and their compounds as Aedes aegypti L.(Diptera: Culicidae) larvicides. Parasitology Research, 113, 565-592.
- Dua, V., Pandey, A., and Dash, A. (2010). Adulticidal activity of essential oil of Lantana camara leaves against mosquitoes.

Indian Journal of Medical Research, 131(3), 434-439.

- Duarte, J. L., Maciel de Faria Motta Oliveira, A. E., Pinto, M. C., and Chorilli, M. (2020). Botanical insecticide–based nanosystems for the control of Aedes (*Stegomyia*) aegypti larvae. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 27, 28737-28748.
- Esmaili, F., Sanei-Dehkordi, A., Amoozegar, F., and Osanloo, M. (2021). A review on the use of essential oil-based nanoformulations in control of mosquitoes. *Biointerface Research in Applied Chemistry*, *11*(5), 12516-12529.
- Fatimah, t. (2016). Chemical composition of the Essential oils of five fruit trees and non-volatile constituents of *theobroma* cacao l. Pod-husk.
- Ghayempour, S., and Montazer, M. (2016). Micro/nanoencapsulation of Essential oils and fragrances: Focus on perfumed, antimicrobial, mosquito-repellent and medical textiles. *Journal of Microencapsulation*, 33(6), 497-510.
- Hanif, M. A., Nisar, S., Khan, G. S., Mushtaq, Z., and Zubair, M. (2019). Essential oils. Essential oil research: trends in biosynthesis, analytics, Industrial Applications and Biotechnological Production, 3-17.
- Hou, T., Sana, S. S., Li, H., Xing, Y., Nanda, A., Netala, V. R., and Zhang, Z. (2022). Essential oils and its antibacterial, antifungal and anti-oxidant activity applications: A review. *Food Bioscience*, 47, 101716.
- Khanavi, M., Vatandoost, H., Dehaghi, N. K., Dehkordi, A. S., Sedaghat, M. M., Hadjiakhoondi, A., and Hadjiakhoondi, F. (2013). Larvicidal activities of some Iranian native plants against the main malaria vector, *Anopheles stephensi. Acta Medica Iranica*, 141-147.
- Kurtovic, L., Boyle, M. J., Opi, D. H., Kennedy, A. T., Tham, W. H., Reiling, L., and Beeson, J. G. (2020). Complement in malaria immunity and vaccines. *Immunological Reviews*, 293(1), 38-56.
- Luker, H. A., Salas, K. R., Esmaeili, D., Holguin, F. O., Bendzus-Mendoza, H., and Hansen, I. A. (2023). Repellent efficacy of 20 essential oils on *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes and *Ixodes scapularis* ticks in contact-repellency assays. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 1705.
- Masetti, A. (2016a). The potential use of essential oils against mosquito larvae: A short review. Bull. Insectol, 69, 307-310.

Masetti, A. (2016b). The potential use of essential oils against mosquito larvae: a short review.

- Moghaddam, M., and Mehdizadeh, L. (2017). Chemistry of essential oils and factors influencing their constituents *Soft chemistry and food fermentation* (pp. 379-419): Elsevier.
- Pitasawat, B., Champakaew, D., Choochote, W., Jitpakdi, A., Chaithong, U., Kanjanapothi, D., and Tuetun, B. (2007). Aromatic plant-derived Essential oil: an alternative Larvicide for mosquito control. *Fitoterapia*, *78*(3), 205-210.
- Sanei-Dehkordi, A., Gholami, S., Abai, M. R., and Sedaghat, M. M. (2018). Essential oil composition and larvicidal evaluation of *Platycladus orientalis* against two mosquito vectors, *Anopheles stephensi* and *Culex pipiens*. *Journal of Arthropodborne Diseases*, 12(2), 101.
- Sharma, R., Rao, R., Kumar, S., Mahant, S., and Khatkar, S. (2019). Therapeutic potential of Citronella Essential oil: a review. *Current Drug Discovery Technologies*, 16(4), 330-339.

Chapter 16

Harnessing Essential Oils in Veterinary Medicine: A Therapeutic Approach against Antimicrobial Agents

Bushra Mumtaz¹, Kainat², Sana Murtaza³, Zahida Riaz⁴, Hasnat Ahmad Bilal⁵, Eimen Rasool⁶, Javeria Mumtaz⁷, Muhammad Adil⁸, Hafsa⁹, Bilal Ahmed¹⁰ and Ghulam Muhammad¹¹

^{1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 9, 10}Institute of Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan ³Institute of Home Sciences, Faculty of Food Nutrition and Home Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

⁶Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

⁸Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan

¹¹Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan *Corresponding author: <u>madilnawaz143@gmail.com</u>

ABSTRACT

Essential oils (EOs) are volatile mixtures of nonpolar molecules that are extracted from aromatic plant components. They are highly concentratedhave a range of biological and pharmacological characteristics consist of terpenes, terpenoids, and phenylpropanoids. The Veterinary field, which is growing, is interested in EOs as a potential solution for common health issues in domestic animals, especially when it comes to addressing antibiotic resistance. The possibility of essential oils for alternative treatments against microbial infections in animals is examined in this chapter. Essential oils are plant-based volatile chemicals that provide a sustainable and natural way to fight infectious diseases without using conventional antibacterial drugs. Important essential oils with broad-spectrum antimicrobial properties against viruses, fungi, and bacteria include thyme, tea tree, and oregano oils. As a result, these are effective measures in veterinary therapy. To protect the welfare of animals, safety factors such as appropriate dilution, dosage, and possible toxicity must be carefully considered. Exciting developments in EO applications for veterinary care are anticipated in the near future. To clarify the best use practices and possible synergy impacts of essential oils when used in veterinary medicine, more investigation is necessary. Veterinarians can progress the sector towards healthier and more effective antimicrobial techniques for animal health care by utilizing the medicinal benefits of essential oils.

KEYWORDS	Received: 17-May-2024	CUENTINIC AT	A Publication of
Essential Oils, Therapeutic Approach, Antimicrobial Agents	Revised: 18-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 15-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Mumtaz B, Kainat, Murtaza S, Riaz Z, Bilal HA, Rasool E, Mumtaz J, Adil M, Hafsa, Ahmed B and Muhammad G, 2024. Harnessing essential oils in veterinary medicine: a therapeutic approach against antimicrobial agents. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 134-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.142</u>

INTRODUCTION

The medicine *Quinta essentia*, which was named by Swiss physician Paracelsus von Hohenheim, is the origin of the word "essential oil". The term "essences" refers to the flammability of essential oils. Essential oils (EOs) are plant secondary metabolites that are derived through mechanical procedures or distillation. They have been utilized in perfumery and traditional medicine since ancient times. The content of these differs depending on various factors such as the botanical species involved, the type of plant employed (leaves, root systems, timber, bark, fruits), the time of year they are harvested, the temperature, humidity, sun irradiance, ground quality, and the extraction methods used. Essential oils are shown varying degrees of antibacterial properties against both the pathogen and the oils. Notable differences have been observed between different species of bacteria as well as between strains within a single species (Ebani and Mancianti, 2020).

Essential oils are insoluble in water but soluble in ether, alcohol, and fixed oils. At room temperature, these volatile substances are typically liquid and colorless. Except in a few instances (cinnamon, sassafras, and vetiver), they have a distinctive smell, are often liquid at room temperature, and have a density less than unity. They have a very strong optical activity along with a refractive index. The various scents that plants release is caused by these volatile oils found in herbs (Dhifi et al., 2016).

With its antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral and anti-inflammatory qualities, they can function alone or in concert. For instance, phenolic and volatile chemicals in cinnamon determine its biological activities, which include its anti-

inflammatory properties. In recent years, studies have focused primarily on the biological properties of cinnamon. The vital oils of cinnamon have been proven in both in vitro and in vivo studies to possess antimicrobial capabilities against pathogenic isolates that cause bovine mastitis. This is achieved by undermining the functioning of bacterial membranes, which can act as a substitute organic antibacterial to ensure the safety of milk. Moreover, cinnamon may lessen the inflammation and mammary tissue damage linked to cattle mastitis illness (Neculai-Valeanu et al., 2021).

Antimicrobial metabolites in milk have the potential to promote hypersensitivity and resistant microorganisms in humans, as well as to impede the production of dairy products. Moreover, the milk businesses are being pressured to use fewer antimicrobial medications due to growing concerns about resistance to antibiotics in public health issues. Over the course of five years, around 90% of the residues detected in milk were linked to antibiotic treatment for mastitis (Brown et al., 2020).

As a result, the necessity for developing novel, alternative medicines are increasing, particularly for those made from natural sources like plants. This is one of the reasons why, as a substitution to antimicrobial medicines, phytotherapy is becoming increasingly popular these days. The study and application of essential oils (EOs) have expanded acceptance in recent decades owing to their many benefits over antibiotics, including non-toxicity, biodegradability, and decreased likelihood of resistance (Kovačević et al., 2022).

Essential Oils: Composition and Properties

Numerous essential oils are utilized in the field of veterinary medicine for a variety of reasons, such as aromatherapy, treating wounds, treating skin disorders, and relieving animal tension. Animals can react to essential oils differently than people do, so it's important to utilize them carefully and with veterinarian guidelines. Among the essential oils that are frequently utilized in veterinary medicine are:

Chamomile (German or Roman)

This essential oil belongs to specific variety *Matricaria chamomilla/ Chamaemelum nobile*. The primary sources of chamomile's biological activity are flavonoids including apigenin, luteolin, quercetin, and patulin, as well as components of essential oils such α -bisabol and their oxides and azulenes (Sahel et al., 2019).

It calms an uneasy stomach, reduces emotional and mental suffering soothes the physical being and mind when one is anxious, afraid, restless, excited, or hyperactive. It promotes the health of the skin, uplifts the soul while feeling bashful, afraid, agitated, angry, or experiencing other negative emotions. Herbal supplements containing chamomile (*Matricaria recutita*) are used as a sedative, a pain reliever, and a muscle relaxant, mostly for dogs but infrequently for cats. It has been applied locally to inflammation of the skin and taken internally to inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract, including inflammatory bowel disease and stomach ulcers (Songham et al., 2021).

Cinnamon

This essential oil belongs to *Cinnamomum zeylanicum*. Many plant extracts, such as cinnamon essential oils (CEOs) and their constituent's eugenol and cinnamaldehyde, which have antibacterial properties against *Salmonella spp., S. aureus*, *Parahaemolyticus, E. faecalis, P. aeruginosa, and E. coli*, are used as feed supplements in the poultry industry. Cinnamon oil also has potent analgesic, antioxidant, hypocholesterolemia, antiulcer, and anticandidal qualities. Plant and herb extracts prevent the growth of numerous harmful bacteria and encourage the creation of good bacteria in the gastrointestinal tracts of hens (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020).

Lemon Verbena

Aloysia citrodora Paláu, the scientific name for lemon verbena, is a renowned medicinal herb with a wide range of therapeutic applications. This essential oil extracted from *A. citrodora* leaves exhibited antibacterial activity against *P. aeruginosa*, *S. aureus*, and *E. coli*, with MICs ranging from 2.84 to 8.37 mg/ml. Strong antibacterial activity of the essential oil also increased silver catfish survival against *Aeromonas hydrophilia* infection. *A. citrodora* has been utilized in Ecuador to treat nervous incidents, spasms, fever, and gastrointestinal issues. Boiled and warm leaves wrapped in a cloth and applied to the affected area will help to reduce inflammation and soothe rheumatism (Bahramsoltani et al., 2018).

Bitter Orange

This essential oil belongs to specific variety *Citrus aurantium*. Neroli oil (NO) is the fundamental oil extracted from the bloom of the bitter orange tree. Due to its harmless plant-based extract and calming properties, the oil is utilized in conventional medicinal practices across the globe. Because essential NO is nontoxic, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) contemplates it to be normally recognized to be secure (GRAS) for internal use. Numerous compounds, most notably limonene, are included in the volatile component characteristic of NO. It has been established that NO, because of its bioactive components, has a number of advantageous benefits, particularly in lab animals. By controlling serotonin receptors, NO has been demonstrated to have antidepressant and antianxiety effects in mice and rats. It has also been shown that NO possesses tranquillizer, antianxiety, and antidepressant properties in rats. Though the exact metabolism underlying the sedative effect shown in mice remains unclear, the main contributor to the sedative effect of NO is believed to be linalool (Acar et al., 2021).



Process of Essential Oil Extraction

Lavender

One essential oil that needs more attention is lavender (Lavandula angustifolia, or LEO). It functions as an antioxidant, antifungal, antibacterial, and immunostimulant. Linalool, linalool acetate, Lavandula, and y-terpinol are the primary constituents of LEO, and they display an extensive variety of biological and pharmacological properties. Conventional broiler chickens have a progressively faster growth rate, but they are also more prone to many illnesses and ailments, such as gastrointestinal tract infections as colibacillosis. Because they contain valuable biologically active chemicals like essential oils (EOs), herbs are becoming more common in feed mixtures and supplemental solutions (Ahmadi et al., 2018). When lavender oil and enrofloxacin are combined, they exhibit a synergistic response in vitro towards resistant cultivars of E. coli. Active herb compounds improved the performance of grilled chickens by stimulating their digestive systems, enhancing their absorption of nutrients, and modifying their immune systems. The factors found in blood are thought to serve as indicators of the body's overall health. They aid in the diagnosis of poultry illnesses, offer crucial information about immunological testing, and assess the effectiveness of the prescribed course of action. EOs may act as organic immunostimulants. Herbal extracts and essential oils can strengthen the cellular and humoral immune systems of broiler chickens and lessen their vulnerability to infectious illnesses. The health benefits of EOs with a hypercholesterolemic impact are well-established. Additionally, some of them may lower blood levels of endogenous cholesterol and decrease the action of the liver-colored enzyme HMG-CoA reductase by controlling the amount of cholesterol that is produced naturally (Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska et al., 2021).

Chemical Constituents of Essential Oils

Essential oils (EOs) are highly concentrated fragrant constituents derived from a variety of plants, and are wellknown for their aromatic and therapeutic qualities. It is essential to comprehend the chemical constituents of EOs in order to comprehend their potential effects on biological systems. Researchers have recently developed an interest in studying the components of EOs due to the increasing need for EOs in the worldwide marketplace. Eucalyptus oil (EO) is unique in that it has a significant amount of 1,8-cineole, which makes up roughly 63.1% of its makeup. Moreover, it encompasses a range of monoterpene hydrocarbons, such as p-cymene, α -pinene, α -limonene, γ -terpinene, β -pinene, and β -myrcene. Major ingredients in peppermint extract (EO) include menthone, camphor, 1,8-cineole, Menth furan, and isopentyl acetate, which together account for a sizable percentage (72.4% of the total EO) (Brah et al., 2023).

Cymbopogon spp. EO has elemol (ranging from 29.5%to53.1%), geraniol (37.1%), and citral (90.4%) in different parts such as roots, root hair with stalk, and leaves. *Cymbopogon martinii* EO (*C. martinii*) varies in composition between leaves and roots (Čmiková et al., 2023). Because of its antibacterial qualities, *C. martinii*, also referred as palmarosa, has historically been utilized in aromatherapy as an antibacterial. It has also been used to treat skin issues and nerve pain in Ayurvedic medicine (Murbach Teles Andrade et al., 2014).

136
USES OF ESSENTIAL OILS

Fig. 1 : Benefits and Uses of Lavender Essential oils in animals



The plant's essential oil, referred as tea tree essential oil (TTO), has a lengthy history of usage in medicine. More than 100 substances make up TTO, including different monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, or aromatic compounds. The monoterpenes limonene, sabinene, 1,8-cineole, p-cymene, α -terpinene, α -terpineol, terpinolene, and terpinen-4-ol together account for 80–90% of the oil (Fig. 4). The most prevalent thirty percent of these is terpinen-4, which is crucial to the oil's antibacterial properties. Depending on the climate, the chemotype and population of Melaleuca employed, the age and preparation of the foliage, and the length of the distillation process, the amount for each terpenoid in TTO might vary significantly (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2017).

Therapeutic Properties and Mechanisms of Action

Essential Oils Innovative Bovine Mastitis Treatments

Mastitis is an inflammatory disorder of the mammary gland. This is one of a significant serious illnesses affecting lactating animals that causes enormous financial losses. Infectious pathogens can cause both subclinical and symptomatic cases of mastitis. Antibiotics are always used to treat infections, and the growing issue of resistance to antibiotics has raised the chance of recurrence, particularly in cases where a bacteriological treatment is not obtained. Bovine mastitis is a frequently occurring and deadly disease that causes the dairy industry to suffer significant financial losses. The prevalence of mastitis in cattle herds remains high despite notable advancements in its treatment and control. This has a detrimental impact on productivity metrics and indirectly on financial indices in dairy farms. The disease causes dairy industries to suffer massive financial losses because it reduces milk output and quality, milk is deemed to have antibiotic residues, chronically infected cows must be culled, and related therapy costs increase (Li et al., 2014).

Because zoonotic diseases spread germs and poisons through milk, mastitis can become a severe health concern. The primary pathogens responsible for mastitis are environmental microorganisms like *E. coli*, *S. uberis*, and other coliforms, in addition to contagious microbes that thrive on skin and breast lesions, like *S. agalactiae* and *S. aureus* (Gomes et al., 2016).

By undermining the strength of bacterial membranes, research conducted both in vitro and in vivo has shown that the pure essential oil of cinnamon possesses antimicrobial activity against pathogenic isolates that cause bovine mastitis. This means that it can be used as a substitute organic antibacterial to ensure the safety of milk. Moreover, cinnamon has the potential to lessen the inflammation and mammary tissue damage linked to cattle mastitis. Many terpenes, phenols, phenolic acids, and flavonoids make up Origanum essential oil (EO), with carvacrol and thymol having the highest concentrations (together with minor quantities of p-cymene and terpinene) and terpinen-4, linalool, and sabinene hydrate (Ksouri et al., 2017).

Carvacrol is often the primary component of EO, which is responsible for a variety of pharmacological actions, including antibacterial activity. Nonetheless, thymol is thought to be one of the primary phytoconstituents in certain *origanum* species that contribute to the biological activity. For instance, the essential oil of *Origanum floribundum Munby* exhibits a high thymol concentration of 50.47 percent (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2021).

A total of thirty various kinds of essential oils were tested for their antialgal efficacy in combating *Prototheca zopfii* and *Prototheca blaschkeae*, two infections that cause protothecal mastitis, a newly growing animal health concern in dairy cows (Grzesiak et al., 2018).

Essential Oils for Otitis Externa in Dogs and Cats

Otitis externa is the term for an enlargement of the ear's outer canal. In dogs and cats, some contributory factors include trauma, immunologic and endocrinopathy diseases, foreign material, anatomic breed structure, and therapies.

137

Numerous bacteria can colonize the outer portion of the ear canal, and they can grow when there is damage or inflammation for a number of reasons (Greene, 2006).



Yeasts, parasitic organisms, and bacteria are the most common causes of otitis externa. *Staphylococci*, primarily *S*. *pseudointermedius* (formerly *S*. *intermedius and S*. *aureus*), and Pseudomonas species are commonly isolated from the ears of pets such as cats and dogs with either acute or persistent otitis externa (Devriese et al., 2009).

Nine essential oils are used to treat otitis externa, including Roman chamomile (Anthemis nobilis L.), anise seeds star (Illicium verum), fragrant lavender (Lavandula hybrida), litsea (Litsea cubeba), rosemary (Ocimum basilicum L.), oregano (the plant Origanum vulgare L. subsp. hirticum), rosemary leaves (Rosmarinus officinalis L.), clary sage (Salvia, also known sclarea L.), bay (Thymus vulgaris L.), and thyme supplements (Lymus vulgaris L.). Some malignancies may be aided in their fight by frankincense. Furthermore, frankincense oil might be able to identify malignant cells from normal ones and kill just the latter, according to some laboratory research (Ebani et al., 2017).

With the exception of *A. nobilis*, which had the highest proportion of non-terpenic esters such isoamyl angelate (18.7%) and isobutyl angelate (34.5%), all of these oils were high in monoterpenes. Carvacrol (65.9%) and thymol (52.6%) were the two main terpenes that are present in O. vulgare and the leaves of T. vulgaris extracts, respectively. P-cymene was only identified in T. vulgaris (15.3%). Linalyl acetate was shown to be the main component (54.7%) of *S. sclarea*. Linalool was the main component of the basil (*O. basilicum*) and *L. hybrida* extracts (46.0% and 31.5%, respectively). The significant frequency of the linalyl acetate compound (29.8 %) with *L. hybrida* and eugenol (11.5 %) in *O. basilicum* must be highlighted (Ebani et al., 2017).

Essential oils against bacterial Infection

E. coli spp.

Avian pathogenic (APEC) strains of *Escherichia coli* cause avian colibacillosis, a systemic disease that affects hens. This bacterium is enteric, and although it typically affects birds by dust inhalation, it also infects animals through an feco-oral cycle (Beernaert et al., 2010).

Usually, the first indication of the infection is septicemia, which is followed by sudden mortality or localized inflammation in many organs. Although there are other lesions linked to colibacillosis, polyserositis and airsacculitis are the most prevalent ones. Moreover, if the egg yolks are tainted with excrement, *E. coli* may break through the shell. This could lead to bacterial infection of the yolk sac and significant hatching mortality rates when the infection spreads to other hens. Economic losses resulting from necrotic cellulitis-related slaughter waste may also exist (Işcan et al., 2002).



Fig. 3: Essential Oil Extraction and its medical use in animals

To treat this disease a high percentage of aromatic compounds as geranial (36.4%) of the and neral (32%) is primarily responsible for the holes and gaps in the outer membrane as well as the inner membrane of *E. coli* cells when preserved with *L. cubeba* EO, which exhibits significant anti-*E. coli* activity (Císarová et al., 2016). *M. piperita* EO exhibited strong anti-*E. Coli* action. *M. piperita* EO demonstrated the strongest antibacterial efficacy against *E. coli* and against a few other Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. The antibacterial qualities of peppermint essential oil, attributing its effectiveness to menthol and its oxidative component as its main constituents (Ebani et al., 2018)

Strong antibacterial effect against *E. coli* strains recovered from chickens that had colibacillosis was demonstrated by the essential oils of clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*) and cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*), when administered separately or in combination (Ebani et al., 2018).

Salmonella spp.

This genus's isolates make agricultural animals and pets sick, which costs money and raises the risk of the infection spreading to people. A total of fifteen distinct types of enteric *salmonella* serovar Heidelberg were tested against the constituents of R (+)-a chemical called limonene, orange aromatic compounds, the compound trans-c, carvacrol, and cold squeezed orange oil. The strains were retrieved from a range of sources like hogs, cattle, animals such as turkeys' poultry, and chickens. Carvacrol and trans-cinnamaldehyde completely stopped the development of all *S. Heidelberg* isolates; only two isolates were stopped from growing by cold squeezed oil of orange, R (+)-a chemical called limonene, and orange terpene against the same strains (Himanshi et al., 2015). EOs from *Crataegus zeylanicum, Crataegus cubeba*, *L. cubeba*, *M. piperita*, and *S. aromaticum* were evaluated against isolates of *S. enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* and *S. enterica* serovar Enteritidis that were separate from chicken. These serovars are important zoonotic infections that have been connected to grave ailments in animals, birds, and humans. *C. zeylanicum* had the strongest anti-Salmonella action, followed by *S. aromaticum* EO. It has been suggested that incorporating such EOs into poultry diets in conjunction with the delivery of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* yeast is an integrated approach to prevent Salmonella from colonizing the intestinal tract. Furthermore, EOs from *C. zeylanicum* and *S. aromaticum* could be utilized alone or in addition to disinfect a farm (Ebani et al., 2019).

Pseudomonas spp.

Infections with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* can occur often in hospitalized patients, animals, and people. In addition to bacteremia and pneumonia, it can result in skin, vaginal, and urinary tract infections. Other *Pseudomonas* species have the ability to infect different bodily parts, albeit this is less common. Important elements from the outer bark layers of cinnamon tree spp. shrubs have been shown to have antibacterial activity against a range of microbes, including *P. aeruginosa* (Bouhdid et al., 2010).

Certain EOs, like cinnamon, have the ability to stop this disease from proliferating and from developing a biofilm. The essential oils of cassia seeds (*Cinnamomum aromaticum*), cloves (*S. aromaticum*), Peru balsamic (*Myroxylon balsamum*), red rosemary (*T. vulgaris*), and the leaves of tea trees (*Melaleuca alternifolia*) efficiently killed *P. aeruginosa* in vitro.

139

Campylobacter spp.

The genus Campylobacter contains pathogens that infect humans and many other animal species. The exceedingly high incidence of *Campylobacter* in grill and layer flocks has been shown in many recent studies. The source of infection of outbreaks associated with poultry products is Campylobacter, which can cause foodborne illness by infecting the poultry carcass (Micciche et al., 2019).

Caprylic acid, a component of coconut oil and palm kernel oil, significantly reduced the levels of Campylobacter cecal in feeds at concentrations under 1%. The oils that exhibited the greatest activity against *C. jejuni* were those from the marigold plant, ginger root, floral notes, patchouli scent, gardenia, california wood from cedar, the carrot genre seed, coriander seed, mugwort, however, spikenard, and orange bitter. Geranyl acetate, both cardamom aldehyde, estragole, carvacrol, a chemical called citral, a compound called thymol a chemical known as perillaldehyde, and a carvone R were found to be the most potent compounds against C. jejuni. It's thought that essential oils that have been shown to work against strains of Campylobacter that have different origins may have an impact on isolates from dogs and cats. (Friedman et al., 2002).

Staphylococcus spp.

Although species of *staphylococcus* are well known for their ability to cause opportunistic infections, they also represent a significant risk to veterinary care. In actuality, they infect birds, mammals, and cold-blooded species in many anatomical regions. The anti-staphylococcal effectiveness of *O. vulgare* and *T. vulgaris* essential oils, mostly because of their main ingredients, thymol and carvacrol. (Utchariyakiat et al., 2016).

The anti-staphylococcal effect of *Satureja montana* EO is good. Previous findings have connected carvacrol to the antibacterial activity of *S. montana* EO against a range of bacterial species, including Gram-positive and Gram-negative species (Vitanza et al., 2019).

Safety Guidelines and Potential Side Effects

Even though EOs are becoming more and more popular, there aren't enough research on their toxicity, which is a vast concern. Usually, experimental creatures like rodents are used to evaluate the potentially hazardous impacts of essential oils and their constituents. Most EOs have mild toxic effects, having an LD50 ranges from 1–20 g/kg, according to preliminary rat testing. Initial studies on the toxicity of peppermint in sheep, EO (*M. piperita*) had no negative impact on blood parameters, behavior, or the functions of the liver and kidneys. It shows that the formulation is safe to use on sheep, particularly when used temporarily. Comparable outcomes were noted for the encapsulated mixture of anethole and carvone given to lambs at doses of 20 and 50 mg/kg orally, and for the essential oil of lemongrass Cymbopogon schoenanthus L. (*C. schoenanthus*) administered to sheep at 180 and 360 mg/kg orally. Both instances demonstrated the safety of the animals by showing no harmful impacts on liver or kidney functioning or animal behavior (Čmiková et al., 2023)

Research indicates that pesticides categorized as low-risk and not registered with the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) may have significant negative impacts on cats and dogs. Following the use of naturally produced plant flea products, the majority of the exposed animals (92%) displayed symptoms. It's important to remember that these low-risk pesticides can still harm animals even if they are labelled as "natural" and used as directed. Furthermore, each species has unique host features, different animals may exhibit various degrees of susceptibility to EOs (Dangol et al., 2023).

Better results can also be obtained by increasing the dosage or giving several doses over the course of several days as opposed to just one application. But it's crucial to evaluate the possible toxicity before using larger doses or administering a medication more than once. Additionally, efficiency can be improved and controlled release made possible by alternate administration techniques, such as plant-based compound-containing lick blocks, enabling its extended use (Bin-Jumah et al., 2021)

Limitations in the use of EOs

• There is few research on the harmful effects of essential oils (EOs), especially when it comes to pets and animals. As a result, there is insufficient information to support both the possible risks and advantages of EOs (Mazraedoost, 2021).

• The effects of essential oils (EOs) might range greatly amongst animal species. This heterogeneity makes it more difficult to set safety recommendations and standardized dosages that work for a variety of animal species (Dangol, 2019).

• Because of things like body mass index, metabolism, and individual sensitivities, it can be difficult to determine the right dosage and application techniques for essential oils (EOs) in animals (Mazraedoost, 2021).

• The source of the plant, the extraction process, and the storage environment can all affect an EO's chemical makeup. Because of this lack of standardization, it is difficult to predict the precise effects of these oils on animals and each oil's unique qualities must be carefully considered (Adokoh, 2022).

• Certain essential oils, even those sourced from plants, may present hazards to animals. For example, consumption of tea tree oil has resulted in intoxication in both people and animals, highlighting the significance of responsible use (Dangol, 2019).

Future Perspectives

Exciting developments in EO applications for veterinary care are anticipated in the near future. We expect a revolutionary strategy to employing essential oils for animal health through state-of-the-art research and customized coaching. The efficiency and security of these procedures will be improved by technological advancements and carefully monitored clinical studies. Further comprehension of the gut microbiome and regulatory improvements will also result in a more sophisticated and comprehensive method of using essential oils in animal healthcare. These advances reflect not only the advancement of veterinary care but also our unwavering dedication to the welfare of animals (Chen, 2019).

Conclusion

The usage of essential oils in aromatherapy, and medications, has grown in popularity in recent years. Despite being widely accepted as "natural and safe," certain essential oils have the potential to have serious side effects, such as brain toxicity, endocrine dysregulations, skin sensitivity, and contact dermatitis. To guarantee safe and efficient application, care must be taken. When assessing EOs' possible effects on biological systems, it is essential to comprehend their chemical makeup, and early toxicity research offers valuable information on their safety. Thymol and thyme essential oils (EOs) have remarkable insecticidal action against C. hominivorax larvae, indicating possible uses in the management of myiasis. Even though EOs show promise as therapeutic agents, research is still being done to determine how they work and whether they carry any hazards. It is essential to carry out thorough safety evaluations and in this the mechanics behind their impacts as part of ongoing research comprehend field. Refinements to regulatory frameworks are necessary for customized veterinary guidelines. Customized regimens and unique formulas have the potential to completely transform animal healthcare as research progresses. EOs constitute a valuable field of investigation in veterinary medicine, especially as interest in organic and holistic methods to pet care grows. After thorough analysis and more research, essential oils (EOs) might prove to be useful instruments for improving the health of companion animals.

REFERENCES

- Abd El-Hack, M. E., Alagawany, M., Abdel-Moneim, A. E., Mohammed, N. G., Khafaga, A. F., Bin-Jumah, M., Othman, S. I., Allam, A. A., and Elnesr, S. S. (2020). Cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum) oil as a potential alternative to antibiotics in poultry. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*, *9*.
- Acar, Ü., Kesbiç, O. S., Yılmaz, S., İnanan, B. E., Zemheri-Navruz, F., Terzi, F., Fazio, F., and Parrino, V. (2021). Effects of essential oil derived from the bitter orange (Citrus aurantium) on growth performance, histology and gene expression levels in common carp juveniles (Cyprinus carpio). *Animals*, 11, 1431.
- Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska, M., Szczerbińska, D., and Zych, S. (2021). The use of lavender (Lavandula angustifolia) essential oil as an additive to drinking water for broiler chickens and its in vitro reaction with enrofloxacin. *Animals*, *11*, 1535.
- Bahramsoltani, R., Rostamiasrabadi, P., Shahpiri, Z., Marques, A. M., Rahimi, R., and Farzaei, M. H. (2018). Aloysia citrodora Paláu (Lemon verbena): A review of phytochemistry and pharmacology. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 222*, 34-51.
- Beernaert, L. A., Pasmans, F., Van Waeyenberghe, L., Haesebrouck, F., and Martel, A. (2010). Aspergillus infections in birds: A review. Avian Pathology: Journal of the W.V.P.A, 39, 325-331.
- Bouhdid, S., Abrini, J., Amensour, M., Zhiri, A., Espuny, M. J., and Manresa, A. (2010). Functional and ultrastructural changes in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus cells induced by Cinnamomum verum essential oil. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *109*, 1139-1149.
- Brah, A. S., Armah, F. A., Obuah, C., Akwetey, S. A., and Adokoh, C. K. (2023). Toxicity and therapeutic applications of citrus essential oils (CEOs): A review. *International Journal of Food Properties*, *26*, 301-326.
- Brown, K., Mugoh, M., Call, D. R., and Omulo, S. (2020). Antibiotic residues and antibiotic-resistant bacteria detected in milk marketed for human consumption in Kibera, Nairobi. *PloS One, 15,* e0233413.
- Císarová, M., Tančinová, D., Medo, J., and Kačániová, M. (2016). The in vitro effect of selected essential oils on the growth and mycotoxin production of Aspergillus species. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B: Pesticides, Food Contaminants, and Agricultural Wastes, 51*, 668-674.
- Čmiková, N., Galovičová, L., Schwarzová, M., Vukic, M. D., Vukovic, N. L., Kowalczewski, P. Ł., Bakay, L., Kluz, M. I., Puchalski, C., and Kačániová, M. (2023). Chemical composition and biological activities of *Eucalyptus globulus* essential oil. *Plants*, 12, 1076.
- Dangol, S., Poudel, D. K., Ojha, P. K., Maharjan, S., Poudel, A., Satyal, R., Rokaya, A., Timsina, S., Dosoky, N. S., Satyal, P., and Setzer, W. N. (2023). Essential oil composition analysis of *Cymbopogon* species from Eastern Nepal by GC-MS and Chiral GC-MS, and antimicrobial activity of some major compounds. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 28*.
- Devriese, L., Hermans, K., Baele, M., and Haesebrouck, F. (2009). Staphylococcus pseudintermedius versus Staphylococcus intermedius. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *133*, 206-207.
- Dhifi, W., Bellili, S., Jazi, S., Bahloul, N., and Mnif, W. (2016). Essential oils' chemical characterization and investigation of some biological activities: A critical review. *Medicines (Basel, Switzerland), 3*.
- Ebani, V. V., and Mancianti, F. (2020). Use of essential oils in veterinary medicine to combat bacterial and fungal infections. *Veterinary Sciences*, *7*.
- Ebani, V. V., Najar, B., Bertelloni, F., Pistelli, L., Mancianti, F., and Nardoni, S. (2018). Chemical composition and in vitro

antimicrobial efficacy of sixteen essential oils against Escherichia coli and Aspergillus fumigatus isolated from poultry. *Veterinary Sciences, 5.*

- Ebani, V. V., Nardoni, S., Bertelloni, F., Najar, B., Pistelli, L., and Mancianti, F. (2017). Antibacterial and antifungal activity of essential oils against pathogens responsible for otitis externa in dogs and cats. *Medicines*, 4, 21.
- Ebani, V. V., Nardoni, S., Bertelloni, F., Tosi, G., Massi, P., Pistelli, L., and Mancianti, F. (2019). In vitro antimicrobial activity of essential oils against Salmonella enterica serotypes Enteritidis and Typhimurium strains isolated from poultry. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 24*.
- Friedman, M., Henika, P. R., and Mandrell, R. E. (2002). Bactericidal activities of plant essential oils and some of their isolated constituents against Campylobacter jejuni, Escherichia coli, Listeria monocytogenes, and Salmonella enterica. *Journal of Food Protection, 65*, 1545-1560.
- Gomes, F., Saavedra, M. J., and Henriques, M. (2016). Bovine mastitis disease/pathogenicity: Evidence of the potential role of microbial biofilms. *Pathogens and Disease*, 74.
- Greene, C. (2006). Otitis externa. Infectious Diseases of the Dog and Cat. (3rd ed., pp. 815-817). Saunders Elsevier, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Grzesiak, B., Kołodziej, B., Głowacka, A., and Krukowski, H. (2018). The effect of some natural essential oils against bovine mastitis caused by Prototheca zopfii isolates in vitro. *Mycopathologia*, 183, 541-550.
- Işcan, G., Kirimer, N., Kürkcüoğlu, M., Başer, K. H., and Demirci, F. (2002). Antimicrobial screening of Mentha piperita essential oils. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *50*, 3943-3946.
- Kavanaugh, N. L., and Ribbeck, K. (2012). Selected antimicrobial essential oils eradicate Pseudomonas spp. and Staphylococcus aureus biofilms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78, 4057-4061.
- Kovačević, Z., Tomanić, D., Čabarkapa, I., Šarić, L., Stanojević, J., Bijelić, K., Galić, I., Ružić, Z., Erdeljan, M., and Kladar, N. (2022). Chemical composition, antimicrobial activity, and withdrawal period of essential oil-based pharmaceutical formulation in bovine mastitis treatment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19.
- Ksouri, S., Djebir, S., Bentorki, A., Gouri, A., Hadef, Y., and Benakhla, A. (2017). Antifungal activity of essential oils extract from Origanum floribundum Munby, Rosmarinus officinalis L. and Thymus ciliatus Desf. against Candida albicans isolated from bovine clinical mastitis. *Journal de Mycologie Médicale, 27*, 245-249.
- Li, N., Richoux, R., Boutinaud, M., Martin, P., and Gagnaire, V. (2014). Role of somatic cells on dairy processes and products: A review. *Dairy Science and Technology*, *94*, 517-538.
- Micciche, A., Rothrock, M. J., Jr., Yang, Y., and Ricke, S. C. (2019). Essential oils as an intervention strategy to reduce Campylobacter in poultry production: A review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *10*, 1058.
- Murbach Teles Andrade, B. F., Conti, B. J., Santiago, K. B., Fernandes Júnior, A., and Sforcin, J. M. (2014). Cymbopogon martinii essential oil and geraniol at noncytotoxic concentrations exerted immunomodulatory/anti-inflammatory effects in human monocytes. *The Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, *66*, 1491-1496.
- Neculai-Valeanu, A. S., Ariton, A. M., Mădescu, B. M., Rîmbu, C. M., and Creangă, Ş. (2021). Nanomaterials and essential oils as candidates for developing novel treatment options for bovine mastitis. *Animals*, *11*, 1625.
- Sharifi-Rad, J., Salehi, B., Varoni, E., Sharopov, F., Yousaf, Z., Ayatollahi, S., Kobarfad, F., Sharifi-Rad, M., Afdjei, M., and Sharifi-Rad, M. (2017). Review plants of the Melaleuca genus as antimicrobial agents: From farm to pharmacy. *Phytotherapy Research, 1-20.*
- Sharifi-Rad, M., Yılmaz, B., Antika, G., Salehi, B., Tumer, T. B., Kulandaisamy Venil, C., Das, G., Patra, J. K., Karazhan, N., and Akram, M. (2021). Phytochemical constituents, biological activities, and health-promoting effects of the genus Origanum. *Phytotherapy Research*, 35, 95-121.
- Utchariyakiat, I., Surassmo, S., Jaturanpinyo, M., Khuntayaporn, P., and Chomnawang, M. T. (2016). Efficacy of cinnamon bark oil and cinnamaldehyde on anti-multidrug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa and the synergistic effects in combination with other antimicrobial agents. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *16*, 158.
- Vitanza, L., Maccelli, A., Marazzato, M., Scazzocchio, F., Comanducci, A., Fornarini, S., Crestoni, M. E., Filippi, A., Fraschetti, C., Rinaldi, F., Aleandri, M., Goldoni, P., Conte, M. P., Ammendolia, M. G., and Longhi, C. (2019). Satureja montana L. essential oil and its antimicrobial activity alone or in combination with gentamicin. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 126, 323-331

Chapter 17

Larvicidal and Insecticidal Activity of *Essential Oils* of Lemon Balm against *Aedes aegypti*

Nida Wazir¹, Ataman Bilge Sari², Shahid Hussain Farooqi³, Maryam Ashraf⁴, Muzaffar Ali Khan⁵, Tayyaba Akhtar⁶, Shamreza Aziz⁷ and Muhammad Ifham Naeem⁷

¹Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan ²Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, 34500, Istanbul, Turkey

³Department of Clinical Sciences, KBCMA College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan

⁴National Institute of Food Science and Technology (NIFSAT), University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan ⁵Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Bahauddin Zakariya University Multan, Pakistan

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Banaudoin Zakanya University Muitan, Pakistan

⁶Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

⁷KBCMA College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: nidanarowal@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

As the most significant category of insects for public health, mosquitoes are capable of spreading zoonosis as well as serious human illnesses as Japanese encephalitis, Dengue fever, Malaria, Filariasis, and Yellow fever. Millions of people have died and become ill as a result of the diseases that these insects spread. There are not any commercially available drugs or vaccines for treating dengue fever at the moment. The single strategy implemented to lower the frequency of dengue is to manage *Aedes aegypti*, the vector that also serves as the main source of Zika, Yellow fever, and Chikungunya viruses. Nonetheless, synthetic substances that mostly comprise DEET (N, N-diethyl-3-methylbenzamide) in their formulations are the most widely used repellents. DEET has certain drawbacks even if it works well as an insect repellent for a range of insects. The main one is that it can act as a solvent for paints, varnishes, and some synthetic and plastic materials. Because of their potential insecticidal efficacy, rapid disintegration, affordability, and lack of persistence and bioaccumulation in the environment, natural product components such as lemon balm essential oil are suggested as synthetic insecticide substitutes when it comes to mosquito control. Lemon balm essential oil is derived from the leaves of the *Melissa officinalis* plant and is highly prized for its lovely citrus aroma as well as a number of potential health benefits. As this chapter has shown, one of its supposed applications is as a natural insect repellent, especially against mosquitoes.

KEYWORDS	Received: 20-May-2024	CUENTINIC AT B	A Publication of
Larvicidal, Insecticidal, Lemon Balm, Aedes aegypti	Revised: 13-July-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 08-Aug-2024	TO USP &	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Wazir N, Sari AB, Farooqi SH, Ashraf M, Khan MA, Akhtar T, Aziz S and Naeem MI, 2024. Larvicidal and insecticidal activity of *Essential oils* of lemon balm against *Aedes aegypti*. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 143-152. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.238

INTRODUCTION

Ae. aegypti is indigenous to Africa, where ancestral populations are still present, reproducing in forests and ecotones, where adults prefer wild animals for blood feasts and larvae hide in tree holes (Lounibos, 1981; McBride et al., 2014). African villages and cities were popular mosquito breeding sites during extended dry seasons because people there started keeping water in containers when they first settled there. The African Aedes mosquito that took advantage of this new niche was *Ae. aegypti*. As females fled from huts in villages, they developed a taste for blood feasts from the most accessible source: people. Currently found in tropical and subtropical human settings across six continents, *Ae. aegypti* is known for having been "domesticated" (Powell and Tabachnick, 2013; Gloria-Soria et al., 2016)

The Reason Mosquitoes Find You Appealing

One of the most vital senses of mosquitoes is their ability to smell, or olfaction (Potter, 2014) that they depend on to keep their lives going. For instance, they locate oviposition sites for egg laying, nectar sources for feeding, and human hosts using their smell cues (Carey and Carlson, 2011). It has been established that a variety of human secretions (Figure 1),

such as carbon dioxide from breath, lactic acid from skin and exhaled air, and 1-octen-3-ol from perspiration and breath, are mosquito attractants (Dekker et al., 2005).



Fig. 1: Why mosquitoes are attracted to you?

Linnaeus species *Ae. aegypti* is known to carry important and dangerous illnesses, including Dengue, Chikungunya, Yellow Fever, and Zika Fever. This mosquito is native to Africa, although it is also found in tropical and subtropical areas, as well as tranquil places across the world (Benelli and Duggan, 2018). A little bit detail of these *Aedes* borne infections is given here.

Dengue Infection

Currently, dengue is one of the most significant tropical diseases that go unreported in the globe (Guzman and Harris, 2015) and in the past few decades, its occurrence has more than tripled along with the spread of dengue viruses and *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes across new geographic areas (DENVs) (Organization et al., 2009). Dengue fever is considered the most dangerous illness in terms of epidemiology because to its high rates of morbidity and fatality. It is believed that the virus affects 60 million individuals worldwide each year, killing roughly 10,000 of them (Bhatt et al., 2013; Stanaway et al., 2016).

Dengue Virus Life Cycle

Mature viral particles bind to their hosts' cells and enter by endocytosis. When the viral and endosomal membranes merge within the cell, the viral genome is liberated (Figure 2). Viral RNA is translated into proteins, which initiates replication. Proteins from the Dengue Virus (DENV) can attach to lipids in cells and be released. After reaching maturity in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the virus leaves the host. Certain discharged particulates are still immature and not contagious (Guzman and Harris, 2015).

Transmission of Dengue Virus

If *Ae. aegypti* mosquito feeds on an infected person during the viremic phase of the illness, the mosquito can then carry the virus. Dengue viruses enter mosquito midgut cells and other tissues during the extrinsic phase of the cycle, then proceed to the salivary glands. A mosquito carrying the dengue virus can infect multiple individuals once it feeds or tries to feed (Figure 3). Dengue fever symptoms typically take four to six days to manifest, and an infected person can spread the virus to a new mosquito during this time. People who are symptomatic or not can infect mosquitoes with the dengue virus (Guzman et al., 2016).

Clinical Symptoms

The acute febrile stage is when fever happens. Diarrhea and mild stomach discomfort are possible. Adults typically exhibit a "flu-like syndrome" that includes body aches, headaches, and malaise, with digestive symptoms predominating over respiratory symptoms (Guzman et al., 2016).

Chikungunya Virus (CHIKV) Infection

Aedes mosquitoes carry the Chikungunya virus (CHIKV), an arthropod-borne virus that mostly causes acute and persistent articular symptoms (Simon et al., 2008). It was first discovered in Asia in 1954 after being first reported in Africa (Tanzania) in 1954. It produced widespread epidemics on both continents from the 1960s to the 1980s, and then there was a relatively peaceful period for the next 20 years (Pastorino et al., 2004). Recently, CHIKV has



high vector densities (Caglioti et al., 2013).

Fig. 2: Life-Cycle of Dengue Virus.





resurfaced, infecting millions of people in nations surrounding the Indian Ocean that have climates conducive to

Life Cycle of Chikungunya Virus

Replication cycle of Chikungunya virus (alphavirus) in susceptible cells (Figure 4) occurs in following steps:

1) Envelope protein-2 (E2) attaches itself to the surface of cells through an unidentified receptor and maybe glycosaminoglycans acting as attachment factors.

2) By means of clathrin-mediated endocytosis, CHIKV gains entry into the cell. The fusion peptide in Envelope protein-1 (E1) is inserted into the endosomal membrane as a result of endosome acidification.

3) The nucleocapsid is released into the cytoplasm upon the fusion of the viral envelope and endosomal membrane.

4) Positive-sense genomic RNA is released during nucleocapsid disintegration, and nonstructural protein (nsP) translation takes place.

5) The plasma membrane (PM) is modified by the assembly of four nsPs, genomic RNA, and maybe host proteins to create viral replication compartments (spherules) that hold viral dsRNA. To produce genomic, antigenomic, and subgenomic vRNAs, nsP1-4 localizes to the spherule neck and perform the role of a replicase.

6) Multiple spherules are housed in enormous cytopathic vacuoles (CPV-1) that are formed during spherule internalization. The spherules in CPV-I or at the PM are operational.

7) Following translation of subgenomic RNA into a structural polyprotein, capsid autoproteolysis releases the free capsid into the cytoplasm. After posttranslational modification, E2/E1 travel via the secretory route and arrive at the PM.

8) Capsid-genomic RNA interaction results in the formation of isosahedral nucleocapsids.

9) At the PM, nucleocapsids assemble with E2/E1, causing mature progeny virions to emerge.

10) Nucleocapsids are studded within the hexagonal E2/E1 lattices of CPV-IIs, which develop later in infection.

11) Most likely, CPV-IIs are used as transport vehicles.

12) Structural protein assembly locations.

13) permitting the development of mature virions.

14) Egress (Kujala et al., 2001; Frolova et al., 2010; Spuul et al., 2010).



Fig. 4: Replication cycle of Chikungunya virus (alphavirus) in susceptible cells

Two Stages to the Chikungunya Infection

Acute Stage

Most people infected with CHIKV show acute symptoms two to six days after being bitten by the infectious mosquito (Josseran et al., 2006). The initial symptoms appear suddenly and persist for almost a week before clearing up on their own (Figure 5). The ten days following the commencement of the sickness are referred to as the acute stage (Simon et al., 2007). The most common symptoms include headache, arthralgias, back discomfort, and high temperature (Organization, 2008). Intense exhaustion, anorexia, myalgias, nausea, vomiting, and even momentary forgetfulness in older individuals are all linked to illness (Simon et al., 2011).

Chronic Stage

A newly infected patient may experience early aggravation, inflammatory relapses, chronic rheumatism, and a significant decline in quality of life following the brief recovery following the acute stage of the virus (Simon et al., 2007). This decline is more common in those over 40 and/or those with underlying medical disorders, especially rheumatic or traumatic diseases (Sissoko et al., 2009). The persistence of symptoms during the acute phase (Figure 5) is also linked to high CHIKV virus loads (Hoarau et al., 2010). A few weeks after the condition starts, further ocular abnormalities such as optic neuritis, retinitis, anterior uveitis, and episcleritis may appear and might occasionally result in blindness (Mahendradas et al., 2008).

After CHIKV infection, the most typical symptom is polyarthritis similar to Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA). The 1987 American College of Rheumatology criteria state that RA is characterized as follows: anti-CHIKV IgM and IgG antibodies are present; persistent arthritic symptoms from the start of CHIKV infection until the diagnosis of RA is made; and there is no other definitive diagnosis of arthritis (Bouquillard and Combe, 2009).



Fig. 5: Chikungunya disease progression with typical viremia and antibody immune response.

Zika Virus (ZIKV) Infection

In 1947, the Zika virus was discovered by a monitoring monkey in Uganda's Zika woodland. It is a member of the Flavivirus genus and family Flaviviridae. Subsequent epidemiological studies revealed that the Zika virus had extensively dispersed across Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. In Nigeria in 1954, there was the first recorded case of human infection; however, the virus's identity was later called into doubt, and Spondweni was assumed to be the culprit. In Uganda, reports of the earliest known human infection date back to 1962–1963 (Wikan and Smith, 2016).

Life Cycle of ZIKV

ZIKV adheres to a host cell's surface before entering through a procedure known as endocytosis (Figure 6). The virus enters the cytoplasm after combining with the endosomal membrane deep within the cell. The virus's genome is released by the viral particle. Translating a single polypeptide from viral RNA into 10 different proteins, the virus duplicates its genome. On the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum, viruses clump together. The trans-Golgi network carries the immature virus particles until they reach adulthood and are infectious. Once they leave the cell, the evolved viruses may infect other cells (Acosta-Ampudia et al., 2018).

Clinical Manifestations of ZIKV Infection

In most cases, a ZIKV infection is asymptomatic. When it manifests, symptoms include conjunctivitis, a wide pruritic maculopapular rash, arthralgia, and myalgia. The illness normally goes away after 3 to 12 days of incubation (Figure 7). Many injuries to the central and peripheral nervous systems, including meningoencephalitis, GBS, TM, ophthalmological symptoms, and other neurological problems, have been connected to ZIKV (Acosta-Ampudia et al., 2018).

Yellow Fever Infection

Mosquitoes carry the flavivirus that causes yellow fever, which is common in tropical parts of Africa and South America. Travelers and inhabitants of endemic places are still at danger for this disease, despite the fact that there has been a trustworthy vaccination for roughly 70 years. The disease has historic significance (Monath and Vasconcelos, 2015).



Replication Cycle of Yellow Fever Infection

The yellow fever virus (YFV) binds to host cell receptors and then enters the host through receptor-mediated endocytosis to start its reproduction cycle. In order to promote translation and replication in the cytoplasm of the host cell, the released viral RNA genome is used by the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) (Figure 8). RNA genomes and freshly produced viral proteins then come together to form new virus particles, which develop by taking on an envelope made of host cell membranes. Ultimately, the replication cycle is continued by the release of mature virus particles through budding, which infect nearby cells (Gubler, 2007).



Fig. 8: Replication Cycle of Yellow Fever Infection.

Transmission of Yellow Fever Virus

The virus can only infect a comparatively small number of hosts before becoming productively infected. The primary vectors of transmission in the wild are blood-feeding mosquitoes, primarily from the genera *Haemagogus* and *Aedes* in South America and Africa, respectively, as well as transovarial transmission via these vectors. The disease known as "Jungle Yellow Fever" is occasionally transmitted to humans by sylvatic mosquitoes that bite them after feeding on a viremic monkey. But *Aedes aegypti*, a species that breeds in water-filled receptacles inside or close to houses, can also serve as the viremic host for the spread of the disease between humans (Monath and Vasconcelos, 2015).

Vector control: A strategy to prevent Human Life-Threatening Diseases

As was previously said, one mosquito serves as the main vector for a number of serious human diseases. As such, controlling the one mosquito species is more effective than combating each disease as it emerges.

In order to protect humans against vector mosquitoes, chemicals can irritate, repel, or kill them (Grieco et al., 2007). Several research work has focused on artificial substances (Pothikasikorn et al., 2007; Polsomboon et al., 2014) designed to lessen disease transmission and mosquito populations (Noosidum et al., 2008). However, due to the issue of toxicity, non-biodegradable material effects, vector resistance to synthetic insecticides, and detrimental effects on non-target organisms, new strategies utilizing natural products are required to control harmful insects and disease vectors (Jantan et al., 2005).

Research has indicated that insect repellents function in a comparable way. Each repellent exerts its deterrent effects by binding to and interacting with particular insect gustatory and odorant receptors, which changes their activity (Xu et al., 2014). With 200 million users globally, N,N-Diethyl-meta-Toluamide (DEET) is the repellant that has been most frequently used for nearly 50 years (Syed and Leal, 2008) because of how well it protects troops (Das et al., 1999). However, research has demonstrated that using DEET can have a number of dangerous negative effects, such as skin irritation and dermal infection (Das et al., 1999; Patel et al., 2012). Therefore, research is being done to determine whether botanicals may effectively repel mosquito vectors and serve as a viable substitute for industrial insecticides (Warikoo and Kumar, 2015). Mosquito breeding places have increased as a result of insufficient waste management systems and water supplies. Due to them, the number of mosquito-borne illnesses that now affect over 700,000,000 people worldwide has increased dramatically (Jantan et al., 2005). Because natural product components break down quickly, are inexpensive, do not persist in the environment, and do not bio-accumulate, it has been suggested that they could take the role of synthetic pesticides in the control of mosquitoes (Ajaegbu et al., 2022).

Melissa officinalis: A Medicinal Herb to Control Ae. aegypti

M. officinalis, or lemon balm, is one of the most significant herbs among the autochthonous therapeutic plants of the genus *Melissa*. In Central and Southern Europe as well as Asia, *M.officinalis* is a common plant. In sandy and shady places, lemon balm grows spontaneously (Schnitzler et al., 2008) although it has also been observed to grow at altitudes from sea level to the mountains on moist wasteland. This plant is classified according to the following taxonomy; Plantae is the kingdom; Tracheophyta is the division; Speramtophyta is the subdivision; Magnoliopsida is the class; Asteranae is the superorder; Lamiales is the order; *Melissa* is the genus; *officinalis* is the species (Miraj et al., 2017).

The insecticidal characteristics of *M. officinalis* essential oil are covered in this chapter, along with how it works as a repellent and larvicidal against *Ae. aegypti*, the critically ill species that causes dengue fever.

149

Chemical Constituents in Essential Oil (EO) of M. officinalis

It has been shown that the EO sample of *M. officinalis* has around 24 components, the bulk of which are citronellal (22%), β -citronellol (14%), geraniol (17%), geranial (11%), and geranyl acetate (12%) (Baranitharan et al., 2016). Studies conducted on *M. officinalis* reveal that citral, a combination of geranial (α -citral) and neral (β -citral) isomers, is the main volatile constituent (Pinto et al., 2015). The study conducted by (Luz et al., 2014) shows variations in the chemical composition of the essential oil (EO) extracted from *M. officinalis* leaves collected in the summer and winter, both in terms of quantity and quality, indicating the influence of the seasons. As per the quantification by external pattern, the concentration of geranial and neral was higher in the summer season (47% geranial and 31% neral) compared to the winter period (16% geranial and 9% neral). From a phytochemical perspective, EOs and other natural plant extracts have been viewed as significant substitutes, especially given their wide range of chemical composition (Martins et al., 2021). Geographical and agronomic circumstances, including soil, plant genotypes, phytogeographic factors, microclimatic conditions, and plant genotypes can all influence the amount and range of EO present in plants of the same species grown in various places. But generally speaking, the essential elements stay the same; their levels of concentration simply change (Kumar et al., 2011).

Larvicidal activity of M. officinalis against Ae. aegypti

Larivicidal potential is categorized using Lethal Concentration (LC). When an EO's $LC_{50} > 100 \text{ mg/L}$, it is deemed inactive; when it is less than 100 mg/L, it is considered active; and when it is less than 50 mg/L, it is considered highly active (Dias and Moraes, 2014). According to (Martins et al., 2021)the EO of *M. officinalis* showed highly effective larvicidal action by maintaining $LC_{50} < 50 \text{ mg/L}$ as LC_{50} is 40 mg/L. At different concentrations (125, 250, 500, and 1000 ppm), the larval mortality of *M. officinalis*' EO against *Ae. aegypti* is 0, 12, 12, and 20%, respectively (Onah et al., 2022). When *M. officinalis* is used as an EO against *Ae. aegypti*, the larval death rate is 72.5% (Sheng et al., 2020). The LC50 and LC90 values for essential oil's capacity to inhibit *Ae. aegypti* larvae are 61 and 88 mg/L respectively (Koliopoulos et al., 2010).

Table 1: The LC_{50} and LC_{90} Values of five compounds (Citronellal, β -Citronellol, Geraniol, Geranial and Geranyl acetate) of essential oil of *M. officinalis*

coscincial on or in officinatio				
Major Compounds	LC50 (ppm)	95% CL (LCL–UCL)	LC90 (ppm)	95% CL (LCL-UCL)
Citronellal	85	(62–102)	159	(138–192)
β-Citronellol	109	(88–134)	185	(162–257)
Geraniol	98	(79–125)	172	(145–238)
Geranial	145	(129–169)	248	(228–287)
Geranyl acetate	126	(105–142)	213	(195–253)

The values are given as the average of five replications. LCL: Lower confidence limit; UCL: Upper confidence limit; LC50: Lethal concentration 50; LC90: Lethal concentration 90; CL: Confidence Limit (Baranitharan et al., 2016). In the literature, other compounds of EO of *M. officinalis* (citral, carvona and limonene) chemotypes showed effective larvicidal activity with LC50 = 7 mg/mL, LC50=29 mg/mL and LC50 = 31 mg/mL, respectively (Silva, 2019).

Repellent activity of M. officinalis against Ae. aegypti

Relative repellent effectiveness of 1% essential oil of Melissa against laboratory mosquitoes of *Ae. aegypti* on guineapigs and human hand skin is 92 and 60% respectively (Oshaghi et al., 2003). *M. officinalis* essential oil has notable mosquitocidal property. Repellent activity of different compounds of *M. officinalis* is up to 120 minutes against *Aedes* mosquitoes (Baranitharan et al., 2016). Essential oils of *M. officinalis* have a repellent effect on adult *Ae. aegypti* at "high" doses of 0.2 mg/ cm², "moderate" doses of 0.08 mg/ cm², and "low" doses of 0.04 mg/ cm², with an average of 0 and 5 landings. At both high and moderate dosages, this essential oil provides complete protection against mosquitoes (Giatropoulos et al., 2018).

Conclusion

The international concerns are human infections spread by insects, especially those carried by mosquitoes, such as viruses like Dengue, Zika, and Chikungunya that are carried by *Aedes* mosquitoes. In the last fifteen years, insecticide-based methods have been used to reduce mosquito vectors in order to contain viral epidemics. Alarming rates of pesticide resistance in insect populations, however, are already posing a danger to disease control and necessitating the development of new, targeted tactics that can lower vector-mediated transmission. An alternative and successful method of eliminating annoying insects has been shown by numerous studies to be the use of essential oil components and their derivatives. Because most essential oil ingredients are determined to be harmless to mammals, birds, and the aquatic ecology, essential oils are justified as green insecticides. *M. officinalis* is one of the crucial herbs having the insecticidal effects. Without endangering people or the environment, its essential oils can be utilized to create mosquito-repellent personal protection compositions that are both affordable and effective.

REFERENCES

- Acosta-Ampudia, Y., Monsalve, D. M., Castillo-Medina, L. F., Rodríguez, Y., Pacheco, Y., Halstead, S., and Ramírez-Santana, C. (2018). Autoimmune neurological conditions associated with Zika virus infection. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11, 116.
- Ajaegbu, E. E., Onah, G. T., Ikuesan, A. J., Bello, A. M. J. J. O. E., and Studies, Z. (2022). Larvicidal synergistic efficacy of plant parts of Lantana camara against Aedes aegypti. *10*(1), 187-119.
- Baranitharan, M., Dhanasekaran, S., Murugan, K., Kovendan, K., and Gokulakrishnan, J. (2016). Chemical composition and laboratory investigation of Melissa officinalis essential oil against human malarial vector mosquito, Anopheles stephensi L.(Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Coastal Life Medicine*, *4*(12), 969-973.
- Benelli, G., and Duggan, M. F. (2018). Management of arthropod vector data–Social and ecological dynamics facing the One Health perspective. *Acta Tropica*, *182*, 80-91.
- Bhatt, S., Gething, P. W., Brady, O. J., Messina, J. P., Farlow, A. W., Moyes, C. L., and Sankoh, O. (2013). The global distribution and burden of dengue. *Nature*, 496(7446), 504-507.
- Bouquillard, É., and Combe, B. (2009). A report of 21 cases of rheumatoid arthritis following Chikungunya fever. A mean follow-up of two years. *Joint Bone Spine*, *76*(6), 654-657.
- Caglioti, C., Lalle, E., Castilletti, C., Carletti, F., Capobianchi, M. R., and Bordi, L. (2013). Chikungunya virus infection: an overview. *New Microbiology*, *36*(3), 211-227.
- Carey, A. F., and Carlson, J. R. J. P. O. T. N. A. O. S. (2011). Insect olfaction from model systems to disease control. 108(32), 12987-12995.
- Das, N., Nath, D., Baruah, I., Talukdar, P., and Das, S. (1999). Field evaluation of herbal mosquito repellents. *The Journal of Communicable Diseases*, *31*(4), 241-245.
- Dekker, T., Geier, M., and Cardé, R. T. (2005). Carbon dioxide instantly sensitizes female yellow fever mosquitoes to human skin odours. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 208(15), 2963-2972.
- Dias, C. N., and Moraes, D. F. C. (2014). Essential oils and their compounds as Aedes aegypti L.(Diptera: Culicidae) larvicides. *Parasitology Research*, 113, 565-592.
- Frolova, E. I., Gorchakov, R., Pereboeva, L., Atasheva, S., and Frolov, I. (2010). Functional Sindbis virus replicative complexes are formed at the plasma membrane. *Journal of Virology*, 84(22), 11679-11695.
- Giatropoulos, A., Kimbaris, A., Michaelakis, A., Papachristos, D. P., Polissiou, M. G., and Emmanouel, N. (2018). Chemical composition and assessment of larvicidal and repellent capacity of 14 Lamiaceae essential oils against Aedes albopictus. *Parasitology Research*, 117, 1953-1964.
- Gloria-Soria, A., Ayala, D., Bheecarry, A., Calderon-Arguedas, O., Chadee, D. D., Chiappero, M., and Kamal, H. A. J. M. e. (2016). Global genetic diversity of Aedes aegypti. 25(21), 5377-5395.
- Grieco, J. P., Achee, N. L., Chareonviriyaphap, T., Suwonkerd, W., Chauhan, K., Sardelis, M. R., and Roberts, D. R. (2007). A new classification system for the actions of IRS chemicals traditionally used for malaria control. *PLOS one*, 2(8), e716.
- Gubler, D. J. (2007). The continuing spread of West Nile virus in the western hemisphere. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 45(8), 1039-1046.
- Guzman, M. G., Gubler, D. J., Izquierdo, A., Martinez, E., and Halstead, S. B. (2016). Dengue infection. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 2(1), 1-25.
- Guzman, M. G., and Harris, E. (2015). Dengue. The Lancet, 385(9966), 453-465.
- Hoarau, J.-J., Jaffar Bandjee, M.-C., Krejbich Trotot, P., Das, T., Li-Pat-Yuen, G., Dassa, B., and Henni, T. (2010). Persistent chronic inflammation and infection by Chikungunya arthritogenic alphavirus in spite of a robust host immune response. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184(10), 5914-5927.
- Jantan, I. b., Yalvema, M. F., Ahmad, N. W., and Jamal, J. A. (2005). Insecticidal Activities of the Leaf Oils of Eight Cinnamomum. species Against Aedes aegypti. and Aedes albopictus. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, *43*(6), 526-532.
- Josseran, L., Paquet, C., Zehgnoun, A., Caillere, N., Le Tertre, A., Solet, J.-L., and Ledrans, M. (2006). Chikungunya disease outbreak, Reunion island. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 12(12), 1994.
- Koliopoulos, G., Pitarokili, D., Kioulos, E., Michaelakis, A., and Tzakou, O. (2010). Chemical composition and larvicidal evaluation of Mentha, Salvia, and Melissa essential oils against the West Nile virus mosquito Culex pipiens. *Parasitology Research*, *107*, 327-335.
- Kujala, P., Ikäheimonen, A., Ehsani, N., Vihinen, H., Auvinen, P., and Kääriäinen, L. (2001). Biogenesis of the Semliki Forest virus RNA replication complex. *Journal of Virology*, 75(8), 3873-3884.
- Kumar, P., Mishra, S., Malik, A., and Satya, S. (2011). Repellent, larvicidal and pupicidal properties of essential oils and their formulations against the housefly, Musca domestica. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 25(3), 302-310.
- Lounibos, L. (1981). Habitat segregation among African treehole mosquitoes. Ecological Entomology, 6(2), 129-154.
- Luz, J., Silva, S., Habber, L., and Marquez, M. (2014). Produção de óleo essencial de Melissa officinalis L. em diferentes épocas, sistemas de cultivo e adubações. *Revista Brasileira de Plantas Medicinais, 16*, 552-560.
- Mahendradas, P., Ranganna, S. K., Shetty, R., Balu, R., Narayana, K. M., Babu, R. B., and Shetty, B. K. (2008). Ocular manifestations associated with chikungunya. *Ophthalmology*, *115*(2), 287-291.
- Martins, T. G. T., Rosa, P. V. S., Arruda, M. O., Dias, A. A. S., de Araújo Neto, A. P., Carvalho, A. M. A. S., and de Sousa, R. T. (2021). Larvicidal activity of microparticles of Melissa officinalis L. essential oil (Lamiaceae) against Aedes aegypti (Diptera, Culicidae). *Research, Society and Development*, *10*(1), e35710111166-e35710111166.

McBride, C. S., Baier, F., Omondi, A. B., Spitzer, S. A., Lutomiah, J., Sang, R., and Vosshall, L. B. (2014). Evolution of mosquito preference for humans linked to an odorant receptor. *Nature*, *515*(7526), 222-227.

Miraj, S., Rafieian-Kopaei, and Kiani, S. (2017). Melissa officinalis L: A Review study with an antioxidant prospective. *Journal of Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 22(3), 385-394.

Monath, T. P., and Vasconcelos, P. F. (2015). Yellow fever. Journal of Clinical Virology, 64, 160-173.

Noosidum, A., Prabaripai, A., Chareonviriyaphap, T., and Chandrapatya, A. (2008). Excito-repellency properties of essential oils from Melaleuca leucadendron L., Litsea cubeba (Lour.) Persoon, and Litsea salicifolia (Nees) on Aedes aegypti (L.) mosquitoes. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, *33*(2), 305-312.

Onah, G. T., Ajaegbu, E. E., Ezeagha, C. C., Chigozie, V. U., Bello, A. M., Ezeagwu, P., and Nwigwe, J. (2022). Larvicidal and synergistic potentials of some plant extracts against Aedes aegypti. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, *10*, 177-180.

Organization, W. H. (2008). Guidelines on Clinical Management of Chikungunya Fever.

- Organization, W. H., Research, S. P. f., Diseases, T. i. T., Diseases, W. H. O. D. O. C. O. N. T., Epidemic, W. H. O., and Alert, P. (2009). *Dengue: Guidelines for Diagnosis, Treatment, Prevention and Control*. World Health Organization.
- Oshaghi, M., Ghalandari, R., Vatandoost, H., Shayeghi, M., Kamali-Nejad, M., Tourabi-Khaledi, H., and Hashemzadeh, M. (2003). Repellent effect of extracts and essential oils of Citrus limon (Rutaceae) and Melissa officinalis (Labiatae) against main malaria vector, Anopheles stephensi (Diptera: Culicidae). *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, *32*(4), 47-52.
- Pastorino, B., Muyembe-Tamfum, J., Bessaud, M., Tock, F., Tolou, H., Durand, J., and Peyrefitte, C. (2004). Epidemic resurgence of Chikungunya virus in democratic Republic of the Congo: identification of a new central African strain. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 74(2), 277-282.
- Patel, E., Gupta, A., and Oswal, R. (2012). A review on: mosquito repellent methods. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical, Chemical and Biological Sciences*, 2(3), 310-317.
- Pinto, Z. T., Sánchez, F. F., Santos, A. R. d., Amaral, A. C. F., Ferreira, J. L. P., Escalona-Arranz, J. C., and Queiroz, M. M. D. C. (2015). Chemical composition and insecticidal activity of Cymbopogon citratus essential oil from Cuba and Brazil against housefly. *Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária*, 24, 36-44.
- Polsomboon, S., Poolprasert, P., Bangs, M. J., Suwonkerd, W., Grieco, J. P., Achee, N. L., and Chareonviriyaphap, T. (2014). Effects of physiological conditioning on behavioral avoidance by using a single age group of Aedes aegypti exposed to deltamethrin and DDT. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 45(2), 251-259.
- Pothikasikorn, J., Bangs, M. J., Chareonviriyaphap, T., Roongruangchai, K., and Roongruangchai, J. (2007). Comparison of blood feeding response and infection of Aedes aegypti to Wuchereria bancrofti using animal membranes and direct host contact. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, *23*(3), 294-298.
- Potter, C. J. J. C. (2014). Stop the biting: targeting a mosquito's sense of smell. 156(5), 878-881.
- Powell, J. R., and Tabachnick, W. J. J. M. D. I. O. C. (2013). History of domestication and spread of Aedes aegypti-a review. 108, 11-17.
- Schnitzler, P., Schuhmacher, A., Astani, A., and Reichling, J. (2008). Melissa officinalis oil affects infectivity of enveloped herpesviruses. *Phytomedicine*, 15(9), 734-740.
- Silva, J. M. S. d. (2019). Encapsulamento do óleo essencial da Lippia alba em nanopartículas de poli-e-caprolactona (PCL) para avaliação da estabilidade e atividade larvicida contra o Aedes aegypti. *Universidade Federal do Amazonas*.
- Simon, F., Javelle, E., Oliver, M., Leparc-Goffart, I., and Marimoutou, C. (2011). Chikungunya virus infection. Current Infectious Disease Reports, 13, 218-228.
- Simon, F., Parola, P., Grandadam, M., Fourcade, S., Oliver, M., Brouqui, P., and de Lamballerie, X. (2007). Chikungunya infection: an emerging rheumatism among travelers returned from Indian Ocean islands. Report of 47 cases. *Medicine*, *86*(3), 123-137.
- Simon, F., Savini, H., and Parola, P. (2008). Chikungunya: a paradigm of emergence and globalization of vector-borne diseases. *Medical Clinics of North America*, 92(6), 1323-1343.
- Sissoko, D., Malvy, D., Ezzedine, K., Renault, P., Moscetti, F., Ledrans, M., and Pierre, V. (2009). Post-epidemic Chikungunya disease on Reunion Island: course of rheumatic manifestations and associated factors over a 15-month period. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *3*(3), e389.
- Spuul, P., Balistreri, G., Kääriäinen, L., and Ahola, T. (2010). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-, actin-, and microtubuledependent transport of Semliki Forest Virus replication complexes from the plasma membrane to modified lysosomes. *Journal of Virology*, 84(15), 7543-7557.
- Stanaway, J. D., Shepard, D. S., Undurraga, E. A., Halasa, Y. A., Coffeng, L. E., Brady, O. J., and Castañeda-Orjuela, C. A. (2016). The global burden of dengue: an analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 16(6), 712-723.
- Syed, Z., and Leal, W. S. (2008). Mosquitoes smell and avoid the insect repellent DEET. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(36), 13598-13603.
- Warikoo, R., and Kumar, S. (2015). Investigation on the oviposition-deterrence and ovicidal potential of the leaf extracts of Argemone mexicana against an Indian strain of dengue vector, Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae). *Applied Research Journal*, *1*(4), 208-215.
- Wikan, N., and Smith, D. R. (2016). Zika virus: history of a newly emerging arbovirus. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 16(7), e119-e126.
- Xu, P., Choo, Y.-M., De La Rosa, A., and Leal, W. S. (2014). Mosquito odorant receptor for DEET and methyl jasmonate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(46), 16592-16597.

Chapter 18

Larvicidal, Insecticidal and Mosquito repellent activity of Scented Geranium (*Pelargonium species*) essential oil against Malarial Vector; *Anopheles stephensi*

Nida Wazir¹, Farooq Hussain², Tayyaba Akhtar³, Usman Nasir⁴, Muhammad Arfan Zaman⁵, Nadia Nazish⁶ and Muhammad Ifham Naeem⁷

¹Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan ²Shaheed Benazir Bhutto University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Sakrand, Pakistan

³Department of Epidemiology and Public Health University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan ⁴Riphah international University, Lahore, Pakistan

⁵Department of Pathobiology, College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Jhang, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan ⁶Department of Zoology, University of Sialkot, Sialkot, Pakistan

⁷KBCMA College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Narowal, Sub-campus UVAS-Lahore, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: nidanarowal@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The primary malaria vector in Asia is *Anopheles stephensi*, which comes in three distinct biotypes. It has terrible effects on newborns and early children in endemic areas and breeds in different habitats. Typically, microbiological agents, insect growth regulators, and pesticides are used to target mosquitoes. Insecticide-treated bed netting and indoor residual spraying have both been used. On the other hand, these tactics cause resistance in certain species and have detrimental impacts on the environment and human health. Plant-based pesticides are among the environmentally benign methods that have been used recently to combat mosquito vectors. Essential oils (EOs) are highly scented aromatic oils that are produced by plants as secondary metabolites. These oils have a variety of biological characteristics, such as repellant and larvicidal effects. For a very long time, people have employed Scented geranium (*Pelargonium graveolens*) essential oils or their extractions as insect or mosquito repellents. Research has shown that the EO increases the % repellency against Anopheles species and has insecticidal action. Because they are widely accessible, reasonably priced, and safe, plant oils could eventually replace synthetic repellents in many areas of the world.

KEYWORDS	Received: 02-May-2024	SCHENTING ATE	A Publication of
Malaria, Anopheles stephensi, Essential oils, Pelargonium	Revised: 01-July-2024		Unique Scientific
graveolens, Larvicidal, Repellency	Accepted: 08-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Wazir N, Hussain F, Akhtar T, Nasir U, Zaman MA, Nazish N and Naeem MI, 2024. Larvicidal, insecticidal and mosquito repellent activity of scented geranium (*Pelargonium species*) essential oil against malarial vector; *Anopheles stephensi*. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 153-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.239</u>

INTRODUCTION

The world's deadliest creatures are thought to be mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae), as they transmit and carry several diseases that kill millions of people every year, including Lymphatic filariasis, Zika, Chikungunya, Malaria, Dengue, Encephalitis, Yellow fever, and Rift valley fever (Lee et al., 2018). In endemic areas, malaria, in particular, still has a terrible effect on newborns and early children. Malaria claimed the lives of 405,000 individuals worldwide in 2018, down from an estimated 416,000 in 2017 and 585,000 in 2010 (Al-Awadhi et al., 2021; Patel et al., 2024). A substantial risk to human life, malaria has been reported to have caused 247 million cases and 619,000 deaths in 2021 (WHO, 2022). The primary method of transmission is by the bites of female Anopheles Meigen mosquitoes carrying the parasite, which act as vectors for the infection (Lefevre et al., 2018). Preventing mosquito bites is one of the best strategies to reduce the incidence of malaria. A complete strategy for managing diseases spread by insects must include the use of repellents to protect people from mosquito bites (Aregawi et al., 2009; Patel et al., 2024). Chemicals including dimethyl phthalate, allethrin, N, N-diethyl mendelic acid amide, and N, N-diethyl-metatoluamide (DEET) are used in the production of most commercial repellents (Patel et al., 2012). It has allegedly been demonstrated that these chemical repellents are unhealthy for the general public and ought to be applied sparingly. The reason for this is their harmful effects on plastic and synthetic fabrics, in addition to their toxic responses that can cause dermatitis, allergies, and adverse effects on the nervous system and cardiovascular system (Patel et al., 2012). The extended and regular application of artificial repellents to manage mosquito populations

has led to pesticide resistance, resurgence in mosquito populations, and detrimental effects on non-target creatures (Hemingway et al., 2002; Weill et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2006; Liu, 2015). By substituting natural insect repellent products, it would be able to make new eco-friendly repellents that counterbalance the harmful effects on the environment and human health. The availability of safe, bioactive phytochemicals found in plants that can be examined for their insecticidal and mosquito-repelling qualities has made using them popular once more in recent times. These phytochemicals also biodegrade into harmless byproducts (Nerio et al., 2010; Benelli et al., 2014; Palanisami et al., 2014; Pavela, 2015). Numerous research has demonstrated the global malaria vector-repelling abilities of plant extracts or essential oils. Rose-scented geranium, a member of the *Geraniaceae* family, is one of them (*Pelargonium* species). The insecticidal properties of geranium oil and its constituents, primarily citronellol and geraniol, are widely recognized (Dale and Saradamma, 1981) and these effects are discussed in this chapter.

Malaria: A Deadly Threat to Humanity

A female *Anopheles* mosquito carrying the *Plasmodium* parasite causes malaria, a deadly disease that infects humans when it bites. Malaria is the leading cause of mortality globally, but unfavourable outcomes can be prevented with early identification and timely intervention. In Africa and several Asian countries, malaria is the most prevalent disease; in the industrialized world, malaria is imported from endemic regions. As far back as the second century BC, Chinese medicine employed the sweet sagewort plant to treat malaria. Quinine became known for its antimalarial properties much later. In 1955, the global campaign to eradicate malaria began, and in 1964, Croatia proclaimed it to be eradicated forever (Talapko et al., 2019).

Malaria is caused by a small protozoon with several subspecies that belongs to the *Plasmodium* species group. Certain *Plasmodium* species cause illnesses in humans (Walker et al., 2014; White et al., 2014). Malaria pigment is an insoluble metabolite of hemoglobin that is acquired by amoeboid intracellular parasites belonging to the genus *Plasmodium*. There are several different vertebrates that these parasites infect, and some of them are present in tissue and red blood cells. There are known to be five human-infecting *Plasmodium* species out of 172. These are *P. malariae, P. falciparum, P. vivax, P. ovale,* and *P. knowlesi*. South-East Asia is home to *P. knowlesi*, a zoonotic malaria parasite. Infections of humans by other species are rare (Antinori et al., 2012; Singh and Daneshvar, 2013; Walker et al., 2014; Ashley, 2018). One of the most common diseases produced by any of the aforementioned *Plasmodium* species is malaria (Latin *Malus aer*, meaning "Filthy-air"). All species share comparable morphologies and biological characteristics (Vuk et al., 2008).

Revealing Anopheles Stephensi: An Up-Close Look at the Vector of Malaria

Approximately forty species of Anopheles are known to be the primary malaria vectors (Hay et al., 2010). An. stephensi, the Asian malaria mosquito, is one of these species and is found over much of Asia, ranging from the Middle East to the Indian subcontinent and Southeast Asia (Krishnan, 1961; Manouchehri et al., 1976; Vatandoost et al., 2006; Karimian et al., 2014; Hoosh-Deghati et al., 2017). Three biological forms (BFs) of *An. stephensi* have been identified based on egg phenotypes. The "Type" form of malaria is supposed to be more adept at spreading the disease throughout urban areas and to be anthropophilic, whereas the "Mysorensis" and "Intermediate" forms are thought to be more zoophilic and less successful in spreading the disease throughout rural areas. *An. stephensi* is known to be an effective vector for the malaria parasites *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Plasmodium vivax*, which cause clinically severe malaria (Sinka et al., 2011), additionally for *Plasmodium* species, the organisms that cause malaria in rodents (Matsuoka et al., 2002). A wide variety of fresh and brackish waters in rural, coastal, and urban environments are home to *A. stephensi* larvae throughout their breeding season. In rural areas, the larvae feed on surrounding water storage containers, wells, catch basins, seepage canals, freshwater pools, and stream walls and bottoms. They readily proliferate in urban settings in a range of man-made containers found in houses and businesses, both inside and outside of them (Zaini et al., 1975; Sinka et al., 2011; Hanafi-Bojd et al., 2012).

Bioluminescent Revelations: Shedding Light on Plasmodium's Life Cycle

Plasmodium Mosquito Stages

The term "sporogonic cycle" describes the parasites' capacity to proliferate inside of mosquitoes (Figure 1). The microgametes in the mosquito's stomach pierce the macrogametes, creating zygotes. The ookinetes are elongated, motile zygotes that enter the mosquito's midgut wall and develop into oocysts. As the oocysts mature and rupture, sporozoites are released and make their way to the mosquito's salivary glands. The malaria life cycle is maintained by injecting the sporozoites into a new human host (Tuteja, 2007).

Plasmodium Human Stages

During a blood meal, sporozoites from a female Anopheles mosquito carrying the malaria virus are injected into the human host. Sporozites grow into schizonts, which rupture and release merozoites, once they infect liver cells. After first replicating in the liver (exo-erythrocytic schizogony), the parasites then reproduce asexually in the erythrocytes (erythrocytic schizogony). Merozoites cause infections in blood cells. During the ring stage, trophozoites transform into schizonts, which then rupture to release merozoites. Blood-stage parasites are responsible for the disease's clinical manifestations. The gametocytes are consumed by Anopheles mosquitoes (Figure 2) during a blood meal. The gametocytes are classified as male (microgametocytes) and female (macrogametocytes). Injecting sporozoites into a newly recruited human host initiates the malarial life cycle (Meibalan and Marti, 2017).



Fig. 1: Life cycle of Malaria



Fig. 2: Plasmodium Gametocytes Development from Dormancy to Fertility in erythrocytes Mapping Malaria's Asexual Reproduction

When sporozoites from infected mosquitoes enter the human bloodstream and infiltrate hepatocytes, the asexual phase of the Plasmodium life cycle begins (Figure 3). Sporozoites mature into schizonts within hepatocytes, and those schizonts go through several rounds of replication via schizogony. Merozoites are created as a result, and when a hepatocyte ruptures, they are released into the bloodstream. After that, erythrocytes are invaded by merozoites, starting the erythrocytic cycle of infection. Erythrocytic schizonts divide into several daughter merozoites during schizogony. After erythrocyte lysis and merozoite release from infected erythrocytes, merozoites are released into the bloodstream. The typical symptoms of malaria are partly caused by this cycle of invasion, replication, and erythrocyte rupture (Cowman et al., 2016).



Fig. 3: Malarial Asexual Reproduction in Host

Spotting Malaria: Recognizing the Signs and Symptoms

The breakdown of erythrocytes and schizont rupture are the main causes of malaria's clinical symptoms. Malaria can present with vague symptoms and either a slow or rapid progression. Malaria frequently presents like other common viral diseases, which might cause a delay in diagnosis (Murphy and Oldfield, 1996). Fever (>92% of instances), chills (79%), headaches (70%), and diaphoresis (64%) are experienced by most patients (Genton and D'Acremont, 2001). Additional typical symptoms include dry cough, moderate diarrhoea, nausea, vomiting, myalgia, dizziness, and malaise (Figure 4). Among the physical signs are hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, tachycardia, pallor, jaundice, and temperature. Even in the absence of a fever, a non-immune person's clinical evaluation may be entirely ordinary (Trampuz et al., 2003).

Malaria and Pregnancy

According to (Chua et al., 2021) pregnancy-related malaria can cause a disease called placental malaria. Erythrocytes contaminated with *P. falciparum* adhere to placental receptors, inflaming the placenta and resulting in harm to both the mother and her fetus. Histopathological examinations of placentas infected with *P. falciparum* revealed a range of anomalies pertaining to the placenta, such as increased syncytial knotting, thickening of the trophoblast basal lamina, disruption of syncytiotrophoblast integrity, and accumulation of mononuclear immune cells within intervillous spaces (Figure 5). As a result, these events may impair the placenta's ability to grow and function, which could result in low birth weight, preterm delivery, intrauterine growth restriction, and placental weakness. Infected cells adhere to chondroitin sulfate A in syncytiotrophoblasts via VAR2CSA. The immune system reacts to a parasite's replication by releasing cytokines and activating complement, which compromises the placenta's ability to exchange nutrients and gases and modifies its structure.



VAR2CSA

Chondoitin

Sulfate A

Impairment

of gases and

nutrients

↓ transport

Fig. 5: An illustration of the pathophysiology of placental malaria that shows how red blood cells infected with P. falciparum sequester in the placental intervillous region.

Green Vector Control: Exploring the Efficacy of Plant Essential Oils against Malaria

Plasmodiun falciparum infected red blood cells

Maternal blood

Syncytiotrophoblast

Abnormal

placenta

structure

Chorionic villi (fetal)

A fundamental control strategy against major diseases carried by mosquitoes has traditionally been to target mosquito vectors to disrupt the circulation of infections (Niang et al., 2018). The mainstay of early mosquito control strategies was the management of the larval supply, which included environmental changes, larviciding, and biological control agents (Mulla, 1994; Tusting et al., 2013). The early 1940s saw the advent of the chemical age in vector control with the adoption of organochlorine DDT as a larvicidal and adulticide (WHO, 2012). Organochlorines gradually supplanted two classes of powerful cholinesterase inhibitors, carbamates and organophosphates (Bird et al., 2014; Srivastava and Kesavachandran, 2014). Insecticides used for public health were expanded to include synthetic pyrethroid chemicals in the 1980s (Sougoufara et al., 2017). These substances are widely advised as contemporary pesticides for treating mosquito nets and other fabrics, as well as for controlling insects within the home (Zaim et al., 2000; Chrustek et al., 2018). Even while chemical pesticides are effective in controlling vectors, there are still problems that threaten the progress made in getting rid of or controlling serious diseases spread by mosquitoes. When people are exposed to chemicals, their health may suffer both immediate and long-term repercussions (Collotta et al., 2013). Furthermore, constant pesticide usage pollutes the environment and interferes with biological and natural control systems (Aktar et al., 2009; Roubos et al., 2014; Özkara et al., 2016). The development and dissemination of pesticide resistance are extremely concerning problems that have led to higher pesticide dosages and a search for more potent and secure substitutes (Karunamoorthi and Sabesan, 2013). The majority of methods that could lessen dependency on artificial pesticides are in the field of biological control (Benelli et al., 2016), both paratransgenic and transgenic techniques (Coutinho-Abreu et al., 2010; Maleki-Ravasan et al., 2015; Dehghan et al., 2017; Stigum et al., 2019) as well as plant-based essential oils (EOs), which have the potential to function as environmentally friendly insecticides (Mossa, 2016; Nollet and Rathore, 2017; Tahghighi et al., 2019). Pelargonium graveolens is one of these; studies have shown that its essential oil (EO) has some anti-mosquito efficacy against laboratory strains of malaria vectors (Tabari et al., 2017).

Pelargonium graveolens

The genus *Pelargonium* (*Geraniaceae*) comprises over 280 species of evergreen perennial flowering plants. They are generally referred to as geraniums, pelargoniums, or storksbills (Albers and Van der Walt, 2007; Wagh et al., 2015). They can withstand heat and drought and are found throughout the world in temperate, tropical, and subtropical regions (Blerot et al., 2016). One variety of Pelargonium that is grown for both its fragrance and beauty as an ornamental plant is *Pelargonium roseum* (PRO), which is used as a key component in the food, beverage, and perfume industries (Szutt et al., 2020). Research has shown that essential oils and the main parts of geraniums can have some anti-mosquito effect on laboratory strains of malaria vectors (Gnankiné and Bassolé, 2017; Tabari et al., 2017; Tahghighi et al., 2019; Dehghankar et al., 2021).

Larvicidal Activity of Pelargonium graveolens EO and its Main Constituents

A larvicidal activity analysis reveals that the four main constituents are citronellol (21.34%), L-menthone (6.41%), linalool (4.214%), and geraniol (2.19%). Many plants use geraniol, an acyclic monoterpene alcohol, as the primary component in the synthesis of citronellol. A microbiological reduction process that creates citronellol or an ionization-dependent reaction can both make this chemical. Linalool is among geraniol's structural isomers. A minty-flavored monoterpene called L-menthone is found naturally in several essential oils (Chen and Viljoen, 2010). For *An. stephensi* intermediate, the LC50 and LC90 values are 12.55 and 47.69 ppm, respectively, but the values for *An. stephensi* mysorensis larvae are 11.44 and 42.42 ppm. Citronellol and linalool, in particular, are linked to the strongest and lowest larvicidal activity in both types of *An. stephensi*, respectively (Dehghankar et al., 2021). According to (Yohana et al., 2022) EO exhibits more larvicidal efficacy in the lab than in semi-field studies. *P. graveolens* has LC50 values of 7.13–0.9 ppm and 13.63–8.98 ppm in semi-field and laboratory settings, respectively, for exposure times of 24–72 hours.

Mosquito-repellent Activity of Pelargonium graveolens essential oil

According to (Moore et al., 2002) the EO of *P. graveolens* exhibits 96.88% mosquito protection for four hours. Geranium has the same repellent effectiveness as DEET, providing 140 ± 6 minutes of total protection (Sanei-Dehkordi et al., 2023). *An. stephensi* is repelled by *P. graveolens* 20% oil solution for eight hours with 61.9% efficacy (Asadollahi et al., 2019). The wild populations and laboratory strains of *An. stephensi* show mean percentage mortality rates of 98.13% and 87.5%, respectively, at 50 ppm concentration after being exposed to *P. graveolens* EO-treated papers (Yohana et al., 2022). At different *P. roseum* concentrations, the average survival rate is roughly 35%. When exposed to a 25% concentration, female mosquitoes have a mean survival rate that is twice as high as 100%. The statistical significance of this difference is p<0.001 (Alipour et al., 2015).

Conclusion

Pervasive illness and pest management are severely hampered by vector resistance to chemical control methods. It is critical to establish practical solutions to solve this issue. With the growing need for eco-friendly, safe, and enjoyable insect repellents, the field of herbal remedies is developing quickly. The use of local flora as repellents offers an appealing alternative because the high expense of manufacturing repellents could impede the creation and successful implementation of pest and vector control programs. Essential oils and plant extracts are becoming more and more popular as prospective treatments for controlling *Anopheles* spp. due to their risk-free, inexpensive, and simple-to-use qualities. Plant essential oils, including geranium, have demonstrated good repellency against various *Anopheles* species for up to eight hours.

REFERENCES

- Aktar, W., Sengupta, D., and Chowdhury, A. (2009). Impact of pesticides use in agriculture: their benefits and hazards. Interdisciplinary Toxicology, 2(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2478/v10102-009-0001-7</u>
- Al-Awadhi, M., Ahmad, S., and Iqbal, J. (2021). Current status and the epidemiology of malaria in the Middle East Region and beyond. *Microorganisms*, 9(2), 338. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9020338</u>
- Albers, F., and Van der Walt, J. (2007). Flowering plants eudicots: berberidopsidales, buxales, crossosomatales, fabales pp, geraniales, gunnerales, myrtales pp, proteales, saxifragales, vitales, zygophyllales, clusiaceae alliance, passiforaceae alliance, dilleniaceae, huaceae, picramniaceae, sabiaceae. (K. K, Ed. Vol. 9). Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-32219-1 2
- Alipour, H., Mahdian, S. M. A., Rami, A., Abad, M. O. K., Amin, M., and Dinparast, N. (2015). Excito-repellency effects of Pelargonium roseum wild (Geraniaceae) essential oil-treated bed nets on the malaria mosquito, Anopheles stephensi Liston, 1901 (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies, 3, 87-91.
- Antinori, S., Galimberti, L., Milazzo, L., and Corbellino, M. (2012). Biology of human malaria plasmodia including Plasmodium knowlesi. *Mediterranean Journal of Hematology and Infectious Diseases*, 4(1). <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4084%2FMJHID.2012.013</u>

Aregawi, M., Cibulskis, R. E., Otten, M., and Williams, R. (2009). World Malaria Report 2009 (9241563907).

- Asadollahi, A., Khoobdel, M., Zahraei-Ramazani, A., Azarmi, S., and Mosawi, S. H. (2019). Effectiveness of plant-based repellents against different Anopheles species: a systematic review. *Malaria Journal*, *18*(1), 436. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-019-3064-8
- Ashley, E. A., Pyae Phyo, A., and Woodrow, C. J. (2018). Malaria. *Lancet*, 391(10130), 1608–1621. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30324-6
- Benelli, G., Canale, A., and Conti, B. (2014). Eco-friendly contro strategies against the asian tiger mosquito, Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae): repellency and toxic activity of plant essential oils and extracts. *Pharmacologyonline*, *1*, 44-50. <u>https://doi.org/https://hdl.handle.net/11568/403667</u>
- Benelli, G., Jeffries, C. L., and Walker, T. (2016). Biological control of mosquito vectors: past, present, and future. *Insects*, 7(4), 52. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/insects7040052</u>
- Bird, S., Traub, S., and Grayzel, J. (2014). Organophosphate and carbamate poisoning. UpToDate, 14, 339.
- Blerot, B., Baudino, S., Prunier, C., Demarne, F., Toulemonde, B., and Caissard, J.-C. (2016). Botany, agronomy and biotechnology of Pelargonium used for essential oil production. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 15, 935-960. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-015-9441-1</u>
- Chen, W., and Viljoen, A. M. (2010). Geraniol—A review of a commercially important fragrance material. *South African Journal of Botany*, 76(4), 643-651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2010.05.008</u>
- Chrustek, A., Hołyńska-Iwan, I., Dziembowska, I., Bogusiewicz, J., Wróblewski, M., Cwynar, A., and Olszewska-Słonina, D. (2018). Current research on the safety of pyrethroids used as insecticides. *Medicina*, 54(4), 61. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina54040061
- Chua, C. L. L., Khoo, S. K. M., Ong, J. L. E., Ramireddi, G. K., Yeo, T. W., and Teo, A. (2021). Malaria in pregnancy: from placental infection to its abnormal development and damage. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*, 777343. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.777343
- Collotta, M., Bertazzi, P., and Bollati, V. (2013). Epigenetics and pesticides. *Toxicology*, 307, 35-41. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.01.017
- Coutinho-Abreu, I. V., Zhu, K. Y., and Ramalho-Ortigao, M. (2010). Transgenesis and paratransgenesis to control insectborne diseases: current status and future challenges. *Parasitology International*, 59(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parint.2009.10.002</u>
- Cowman, A. F., Healer, J., Marapana, D., and Marsh, K. (2016). Malaria: biology and disease. *Cell*, 167(3), 610-624. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.055
- Dale, D., and Saradamma, K. (1981). Insect antifeedant action of some essential oils. Pesticides, 15(7), 21-22.
- Dehghan, H., Oshaghi, M. A., Moosa-Kazemi, S. H., Yakhchali, B., Vatandoost, H., Maleki-Ravasan, N., and Mohtarami, F. (2017). Dynamics of transgenic Enterobacter cloacae expressing green fluorescent protein defensin (GFP-D) in Anopheles stephensi under laboratory condition. *Journal of Arthropod-borne Diseases*, *11*(4), 515.
- Dehghankar, M., Maleki-Ravasan, N., Tahghighi, A., Karimian, F., and Karami, M. (2021). Bioactivities of rose-scented geranium nanoemulsions against the larvae of Anopheles stephensi and their gut bacteria. *PLOS one*, *16*(2), e0246470. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246470</u>
- Genton, B., and D'Acremont, V. (2001). Clinical features of malaria in returning travelers and migrants.
- Gnankiné, O., and Bassolé, I. H. N. (2017). Essential oils as an alternative to pyrethroids' resistance against Anopheles species complex giles (Diptera: Culicidae). *Molecules*, 22(10), 1321. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22101321</u>
- Hanafi-Bojd, A., Vatandoost, H., Oshaghi, M., Charrahy, Z., Haghdoost, A., Sedaghat, M., and Raeisi, A. (2012). Larval habitats and biodiversity of anopheline mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in a malarious area of southern Iran. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, *49*(2), 91-100.

- Hay, S. I., Sinka, M. E., Okara, R. M., Kabaria, C. W., Mbithi, P. M., Tago, C. C., and Patil, A. P. (2010). Developing global maps of the dominant Anopheles vectors of human malaria. *PLoS Medicine*, 7(2), e1000209. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000209</u>
- Hemingway, J., Field, L., and Vontas, J. (2002). An overview of insecticide resistance. Science, 298(5591), 96-97. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1078052
- Hoosh-Deghati, H., Dinparast-Djadid, N., Moin-Vaziri, V., Atta, H., Raz, A. A., Seyyed-Tabaei, S. J., and Azar-Gashb, E. (2017). Composition of Anopheles species collected from selected malarious areas of Afghanistan and Iran. *Journal of Arthropod-borne Diseases*, *11*(3), 354.
- Karimian, F., Oshaghi, M. A., Sedaghat, M. M., Waterhouse, R. M., Vatandoost, H., Hanafi-Bojd, A. A., and Chavshin, A. R. (2014). Phylogenetic analysis of the oriental-Palearctic-Afrotropical members of Anopheles (Culicidae: Diptera) based on nuclear rDNA and mitochondrial DNA characteristics. *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 67(5), 361-367. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.7883/yoken.67.361</u>
- Karunamoorthi, K., and Sabesan, S. (2013). Insecticide resistance in insect vectors of disease with special reference to mosquitoes: a potential threat to global public health. *Health Scope*, 2(1), 4-18. <u>https://sid.ir/paper/330334/en</u>
- Krishnan, K. S. (1961). Vectors of Malaria in India (Delhi) (1 ed.). National Society of India for Malaria and Other Mosquito-Borne Disease.
- Lee, H., Halverson, S., and Ezinwa, N. (2018). Mosquito-borne diseases. *Primary Care: Clinics in Office Practice*, 45(3), 393-407. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2018.05.001</u>
- Lefevre, T., Ohm, J., Dabiré, K. R., Cohuet, A., Choisy, M., Thomas, M. B., and Cator, L. (2018). Transmission traits of malaria parasites within the mosquito: Genetic variation, phenotypic plasticity, and consequences for control. *Evolutionary Applications*, *11*(4), 456-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12571</u>
- Liu, N. (2015). Insecticide resistance in mosquitoes: impact, mechanisms, and research directions. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 60, 537-559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-010814-020828</u>
- Liu, N., Xu, Q., Zhu, F., and Zhang, L. (2006). Pyrethroid resistance in mosquitoes. *Insect Science*, *13*(3), 159-166. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7917.2006.00078.x
- Maleki-Ravasan, N., Oshaghi, M. A., Afshar, D., Arandian, M. H., Hajikhani, S., Akhavan, A. A., and Jafari, R. (2015). Aerobic bacterial flora of biotic and abiotic compartments of a hyperendemic Zoonotic Cutaneous Leishmaniasis (ZCL) focus. *Parasites and Vectors*, 8, 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-014-0517-3</u>
- Manouchehri, A., Javadian, E., Eshighy, N., and Motabar, M. (1976). Ecology of Anopheles stephensi Liston in southern Iran. *Tropical and Geographical Medicine*, 28(3), 228-232.
- Matsuoka, H., Yoshida, S., Hirai, M., and Ishii, A. (2002). A rodent malaria, Plasmodium berghei, is experimentally transmitted to mice by merely probing of infective mosquito, Anopheles stephensi. *Parasitology International*, *51*(1), 17-23. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5769(01)00095-2
- Meibalan, E., and Marti, M. (2017). Biology of malaria transmission. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 7(3), a025452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a025452</u>
- Moore, S. J., Lenglet, A., and Hill, N. (2002). Field evaluation of three plant-based insect repellents against malaria vectors in Vaca Diez Province, the Bolivian Amazon. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, *18*(2), 107-110.
- Mossa, A.-T. H. (2016). Green pesticides: Essential oils as biopesticides in insect-pest management. *Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 9(5), 354-378. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3923/jest.2016.354.378</u>
- Mulla, M. (1994). Mosquito control then, now, and in the future. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 10(4), 574-584. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2987/22-7086</u>
- Murphy, G. S., and Oldfield, E. C. I. (1996). Falciparum malaria. Infectious Disease Clinics of North America, 10(4), 747-775. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5520(05)70325-1
- Nerio, L. S., Olivero-Verbel, J., and Stashenko, E. (2010). Repellent activity of essential oils: a review. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(1), 372-378. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.07.048</u>
- Niang, E. H. A., Bassene, H., Fenollar, F., and Mediannikov, O. (2018). Biological control of mosquito-borne diseases: the potential of Wolbachia-based interventions in an IVM framework. *Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 2018. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1470459
- Nollet, L. M., and Rathore, H. S. (2017). *Green pesticides handbook: Essential oils for pest control*. CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group. <u>https://elibrary.fmard.gov.ng/handle/123456789/398</u>
- Özkara, A., Akyıl, D., and Konuk, M. (2016). Pesticides, environmental pollution, and health. In *Environmental health risk-hazardous factors to living species* (pp. 278). IntechOpen. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/63094</u>
- Palanisami, S., Natarajan, E., and Rajamma, R. (2014). Development of eco-friendly herbal mosquito repellent. *Journal of Innovative Biology*, 1(3), 132-136.
- Patel, E., Gupta, A., and Oswal, R. (2012). A review on: mosquito repellent methods. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical, Chemical and Biological Sciences*, 2(3), 310-317.
- Patel, P., Bagada, A., and Vadia, N. (2024). Epidemiology and Current Trends in Malaria. *Rising Contagious Diseases: Basics, Management and Treatments*, 261-282.
- Pavela, R. (2015). Essential oils for the development of eco-friendly mosquito larvicides: a review. *Industrial Crops Products*, 76, 174-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.06.050</u>

- Roubos, C. R., Rodriguez-Saona, C., and Isaacs, R. (2014). Mitigating the effects of insecticides on arthropod biological control at field and landscape scales. *Biological Control, 75, 28-38.* <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2014.01.006</u>
- Sanei-Dehkordi, A., Abdollahi, A., Montaseri, Z., Safari, M., Rostami Chaijan, M., and Osanloo, M. (2023). Lavender and Geranium Essential Oil-Loaded Nanogels with Promising Repellent and Antibacterial Effects. *Psyche: A Journal of Entomology*, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/9911066</u>
- Singh, B., and Daneshvar, C. (2013). Human infections and detection of Plasmodium knowlesi. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 26(2), 165-184. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.00079-12</u>
- Sinka, M. E., Bangs, M. J., Manguin, S., Chareonviriyaphap, T., Patil, A. P., Temperley, W. H., and Harbach, R. E. (2011). The dominant Anopheles vectors of human malaria in the Asia-Pacific region: occurrence data, distribution maps and bionomic précis. *Parasites and Vectors*, 4, 1-46. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-4-89</u>
- Sougoufara, S., Doucouré, S., Sembéne, P. M., Harry, M., and Sokhna, C. (2017). Challenges for malaria vector control in sub-Saharan Africa: Resistance and behavioral adaptations in: Anopheles: populations. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 54(1), 4-15.
- Srivastava, A., and Kesavachandran, C. (2014). *Health Effects of Pesticides*. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI). https://books.google.com.pk/books?id=-XVBCwAAQBAJ
- Stigum, V. M., Jaarsma, R. I., Sprong, H., Rolandsen, C. M., and Mysterud, A. (2019). Infection prevalence and ecotypes of Anaplasma phagocytophilum in moose Alces alces, red deer Cervus elaphus, roe deer Capreolus capreolus and Ixodes ricinus ticks from Norway. *Parasites and Vectors*, *12*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-018-3256-z</u>
- Szutt, A., Dołhańczuk-Śródka, A., and Sporek, M. (2020). Evaluation of Chemical Composition of Essential Oils Derived from Different Species Leaves. *Ecological Chemistry and Engineering S*, 26(4), 807-816. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1515/eces-2019-0057</u>
- Tabari, M. A., Youssefi, M. R., Esfandiari, A., and Benelli, G. (2017). Toxicity of β-citronellol, geraniol and linalool from Pelargonium roseum essential oil against the West Nile and filariasis vector Culex pipiens (Diptera: Culicidae). *Research in Veterinary Science*, *114*, 36-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.03.001</u>
- Tahghighi, A., Maleki-Ravasan, N., Djadid, N. D., Alipour, H., Ahmadvand, R., Karimian, F., and Yousefinejad, S. (2019). GC– MS analysis and anti–mosquito activities of Juniperus virginiana essential oil against Anopheles stephensi (Diptera: Culicidae). Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 9(4), 168-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2221-1691.256730</u>
- Talapko, J., Škrlec, I., Alebić, T., Jukić, M., and Včev, A. (2019). Malaria: the past and the present. *Microorganisms*, 7(6), 179. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7060179
- Trampuz, A., Jereb, M., Muzlovic, I., and Prabhu, R. M. (2003). Clinical review: Severe malaria. *Critical Care*, 7, 1-9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/cc2183
- Tusting, L. S., Thwing, J., Sinclair, D., Fillinger, U., Gimnig, J., Bonner, K. E., and Lindsay, S. W. (2013). Mosquito larval source management for controlling malaria. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(8). <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008923.pub2</u>
- Tuteja, R. (2007). Malaria– an overview. *The FEBS Journal*, 274(18), 4670-4679. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05997.x
- Vatandoost, H., Oshaghi, M., Abaie, M., Shahi, M., Yaaghoobi, F., Baghaii, M., and Townson, H. (2006). Bionomics of Anopheles stephensi Liston in the malarious area of Hormozgan province, southern Iran, 2002. *Acta Tropica*, 97(2), 196-203. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2005.11.002</u>
- Vuk, I., Rajic, Z., and Zorc, B. (2008). Malaria and antimalarial drugs. Farmaceutski Glasnik, 64, 51–60.
- Wagh, V., Datt, B., and Husain, T. (2015). An Assessment of Diversity of Genus Geranium L.(Geraniaceae) in India with Special Emphasis on Indian Himalayan Region. J Biodivers Manage Forestry 4: 2. Journal of Biodiversity, Management and Forestry, 6, 2. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2327-417.1000140</u>
- Walker, N. F., Nadjm, B., and Whitty, C. J. M. (2014). Malaria. *Medicine*, 42(2), 100-106. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpmed.2013.11.011</u>
- Weill, M., Lutfalla, G., Mogensen, K., Chandre, F., Berthomieu, A., Berticat, C., and Raymond, M. (2003). Insecticide resistance in mosquito vectors. *Nature*, 423(6936), 136-137. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/423136b</u>
- White, N., Pukrittayakamee, S., Hien, T., Faiz, M., Mokuolu, O., and Dondorp, A. (2014). Malaria. *Lancet*, 383(9918). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60024-0
- WHO. (2012). Handbook for Integrated Vector Management (A. Drexler, Ed.). World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241502801
- WHO. (2022). World malaria report 2022. World Health Organization.
- Yohana, R., Chisulumi, P. S., Kidima, W., Tahghighi, A., Maleki-Ravasan, N., and Kweka, E. J. (2022). Anti-mosquito properties of Pelargonium roseum (Geraniaceae) and Juniperus virginiana (Cupressaceae) essential oils against dominant malaria vectors in Africa. *Malaria Journal*, 21(1), 219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-022-04220-8</u>
- Zaim, M., Aitio, A., and Nakashima, N. (2000). Safety of pyrethroid-treated mosquito nets. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 14(1), 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2915.2000.00211.x</u>
- Zaini, A., Djanbakhsh, B., and Manuchehri, A. (1975). Characteristics of breeding places of Anopheles stephensi in a city on persian gulf. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 4(3), 114-118

Chapter 19

Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Essential Oils

Tajassum Khan¹, Shahbaz-Ul-Haq², Khurram Ashfaq³, Rai Bahadur Kharl³, Muhammad Wasim Usmani⁴ and Farzana⁵

¹Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

²Department of Pharmacology, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, Guangdong, China

³Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

⁴Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Ziauddin University, Karachi, Pakistan

⁵Department of Zoology, Abdul Wali Khan University, Mardan, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: tajassumkhan0123@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Essential oils (EOs) are complex combinations of aromatic compounds found in various plant species, renowned for their therapeutic properties and potential as agents for inflammation reduction. Originating from the plant's secretory organs, EOs are extracted through pressing or distillation methods, offering unique energetic and therapeutic benefits. The chemical composition of EOs, comprising terpenes, phenylpropanoids, and other volatile compounds, contributes to their diverse medicinal properties. Inflammation, the body's response to tissue damage or infection, is a complex biological method regulated by intricate indicating pathways and inflammatory mediators. Essential oils have shown promise in modulating inflammatory pathways, including NF-κB, MAPK, and JAK-STAT, thereby mitigating the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and reducing tissue damage. Topical use of certain essential oils, such as chamomile, lavender, and eucalyptus oils, has demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects in preclinical studies, offering potential therapeutic benefits for conditions like rheumatism, arthritis, dermatitis, and eczema. Experimental models, both in vivo and in vitro, have provided insights into the mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory properties of essential oils, highlighting their potential as novel therapeutic agents. However, while preclinical evidence is promising, further clinical trials are warranted to assess the efficacy and safety of essential oils in human therapy. Clinical studies have shown promising results in conditions such as chronic periodontitis and dental plaque accumulation, but more research is needed to explain the precise tools of action and determine optimal dosage regimens. In conclusion, essential oils hold significant potential as natural remedies for inflammation-related disorders, but their therapeutic utility requires further exploration through rigorous clinical investigation.

KEYWORDS	Received: 21-May-2024	A Publication of
Essential oils, Plants extracts, Inflammation, Anti-inflammatory	Revised: 24-July-2024	Unique Scientific
properties	Accepted: 12-Aug-2024	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Khan T, Haq SU, Ashfaq K, Kharl RB, Usmani MW and Farzana, 2024. Anti-Inflammatory effect of essential oils. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complement Altern Med, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, Vol. x: 162-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.146</u>

INTRODUCTION

Essential oils are important part of the plant's defense mechanism; they are aromatic compounds that are present in certain plants' specialized cells or glands and that the plant uses to attract pollinators and protect it from pests and predators. The eminent Swiss physician, physicist, astrologer, theologian, and alchemist Paracelsus is credited with naming essential oils by coining the term "quinta essentia," which refers to the plant's essence (Jahan et al., 2015). Essential oils are volatile, very concentrated substances that are taken out from different parts of specific plant species. Each essential oil has unique energetic and therapeutic properties. These volatile liquids are incredibly complex molecules with incredibly strong and targeted actions. Since essential oil doesn't contain any fat, it isn't considered oil. It comes from the essence that the cells of specific plant parts secrete, which is rich in naturally occurring flavors, and active ingredients. Precious liquids can be attained by pressing or distilling the secretory organs. e.g. citrus skin is distilled, and the remaining plant components stem and leaves are flowers, root, and wood are cold pressed (Moghadam et al., 2018). These procedures produce an authentic source of active ingredients as well as an aromatic concentrate. Volatile oil and ethereal oil are other names for essential oils (Branch, 2016). Because a lot of raw materials are needed to extract just a few milliliters of oil, the process can be costly. This explains why authentic essential oils are so expensive. For instance, about 60 roses are needed to produce one drop of essential rose oil (Interfaces et al., 2018). But because there are a lot of low-cost resources and great productivity, there are also less expensive oils. These oils include tea tree oil, lemongrass oil, orange, bergamot, lime, and lemon. As such, EO is very valuable, but a drop is required for valuable effects, and a dose exceeding 2% is hazardous and has unfavorable things (Righi et al., 2017).

Essential Oil Biosynthesis

Majority of offensive compounds are biosynthesized in the leaves, where they stay until flowering. Some of the essential oils that are consumed during fertilization migrate into the flowers during flowering. After fertilization, it either gathers in fruits and seeds or migrates to leaves, bark, and roots (Nikolova and Georgieva, 2022). As plants get older, their essential oil composition changes. These oils are mainly made up of simpler molecules and terpenic hydrocarbons in young plants, while the reproductive structures of plants hold etheric oils, which are higher in oxygenated mixtures. Though their precise role within the plant is unknown, the ethereal oils have a multitude of uses. Out of the over 3,000 essential oils that have undergone chemical and physical characterization, around 150 are produced on an industrialized basis (Rezzoug et al., 2019).

The Chemical Make-Up of Essential Oil

Essential oils are complex combinations made up of 5000–7000 different chemical constituents. The majority of these constituents are mono- and sesquiterpenes, but they also contain aromatic compounds, which are sometimes diterpenes and frequently derivatives of phenyl propane. Terpenic compounds include hydrocarbons, oxygenated products (alcohols, alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, acids), and their reaction yields (ethers, esters). Plant-based mixtures known as terpenic compounds naturally combine with other molecules to form molecular mixtures that eventually form volatile (etheric, essential) oils. Essential oils and aromatic waters can only be obtained with the right raw materials, plant products, and quality. To ensure that the plant material is not contaminated with other plant species, it is important to harvest it carefully (Butnariu and Sarac, 2018). The primary constituents of essential oils can belong to the aliphatic, aromatic, or terpenic series, although their chemical makeup is extremely diverse. Volatile products contain terpenes aromatics, aldehydes, ketones, phenols, unstable acids, esters, and more. The plant's substantial focus to hydrodynamics is not always pick up after harvesting. Typically, plant which is fresh produce more pleasing scents and have a stronger healing effect; the exceptions are dried lavender, lime, and cinnamon flowers. When it comes to dry plants, morphological and chemical changes brought on by air pressure, heating, gramme accumulation, and possibly modification can occasionally result in lower volatile urine levels (Zerkaoui et al., 2018).

Inflammation

The body's natural reaction to tissue impairment caused by a range of possibly hazardous incentives that are brought by biological, chemical, and physical aspects is known as inflammation (Kolaczkowska and Kubes, 2013). If the stimulus is not removed or treated sufficiently, chronic inflammation develops, which puts the host at risk for a variety of illnesses, such as cancer and neurological disorders. Researchers have been motivated to study and create new medications in recent years due to the need for more potent medications that have fewer adverse effects when treating inflammation. The quest for naturally occurring plant-based products is a likely endeavor, and among the compounds with a pharmacological perspective are essential oils. This review aims to discuss the application of essential oils in management of inflammation (Zuo et al., 2020).

Mechanism of Inflammation

The term "inflammatory response" refers to the harmonized initiation of indicating paths that set the amounts of the inflammatory mediators in neighborhood cells of tissue as well as inflammatory cells isolated from blood (Lawrence, 2009). An inflammatory etiology is shared by a number of chronic illnesses, with diabetes, cancer, bowel and cardiovascular diseases, and arthritis (Libby, 2007). The nature of the inflammation response's procedures depends on the details of the early stimulus and where it is located in the body, but share a parallel mechanism expressed as follows: 1) Triggering of inflammatory pathways 2) Release of inflammatory markers 3) Recruitment of inflammatory cells and 4) Identification of pathogenic stimuli by the cell surface sequence receptors.

Inflammatory Pathway Activation

Inflammatory pathways affect many prolonged diseases and involve common inflammatory guiding pathways. Inflammatory stimuli begin intracellular indicating pathways, which in order cause the synthesis of inflammatory. Significant intracellular signaling networks including the Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway, nuclear factor kappa-B (NF κ B), and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, are triggered by receptor activation. Main inflammatory stimuli, which include products of microbe and cytokines like TNF- α (TNFR), IL-1 receptor (IL-1R), IL-6 receptor (IL-6R), and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interact with TLRs to mediate inflammation (E. K. Kim and Choi, 2010).

The NF-ĸB Pathway

The record aspect NF-κB is intricate in response to immune, survival, inflammation, and apoptosis, among other important procedures. NF-κB activity can be triggered by a variety of chemicals, such as those that come from infectious agents, intercellular inflammatory cytokines, and multiple enzymes. In physiological situations, cytoplasmic IκB proteins inhibit NF-κB. PRRs activate IκB kinase (IKK) via analogous sign transduction pathways. IKK is composed of one regulatory subunit, IKKγ, and two subunits of kinase, IKKα and IKKβ. IKK phosphorylates IκB to regulate the NF-κB pathway's stimulation. The proteasome degrades phosphorylated IκB, freeing NF-κB, which subsequently triggers nuclear translocation and gene transcription. The inflammatory cells recruitment and the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which together augment the inflammatory response, are governed by this pathway (L. Chen et al., 2018).

MAPK Pathway

The response of cells to various stimuli, including thermal shock, mitogens, osmotic stress (OS), and cytokines associated with inflammatory processes like IL-1, TNF-α, and IL-6, which impact the survival of cells, their proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, is regulated by a family of serine/threonine protein kinases called MAPKs. The mammalian MAPKs are c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK), p38 MAP kinase, and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2) (E. K. Kim and Choi, 2010). The three components of any MAPK signaling pathway are, at minimum, MAPK, MAPK kinase (MAPKK), and MAPK kinase (MAPKK). Through MAPKKs, phosphorylating and activating MAPKKs phosphorylates and activates MAPKs. ERKs are usually activated by mitogens and signals of differentiation. However, JNK and p38 are started in response to stress and inflammatory factors. MKK4 and MKK7 activate ERK1/2, MKK1 and MKK2 initiate JNK and MKK3 and MKK6 initiate p38. Phosphorylation and the beginning of MAPKs, for example, Erk1/2 and JNK, present in cytoplasm or nucleus, initiates the response inflammation and activates p38 transcription elements (Raingeaud et al., 1996).



Stress cytokines

Fig. 1: MAPK PATHWAY

The JAK-STAT Pathway

The greatly evolved JAK-STAT pathway, an indicating process that includes a range of factors of growth, cytokines, interferon's associated molecules like growing hormone and leptin, allows extracellular factors to regulate gene expression (Pengse et al., 2017). Latent cytoplasmic transcription factors known as STATs have docking sites created by receptor-linked JAKs that are stimulated by ligands and phosphorylate one another. When cytoplasmic STATs are attracted to these locations, they undergo dimerization and phosphorylation before moving into the nucleus (Walker and Smith, 2005). Tyrosine phosphorylation is required for DNA binding and STAT dimerization (Ivashkiv and Hu, 2003). Thus, JAK/STAT signaling enables the direct translation of an outside of cell signal into a transcriptional response. For example, JAK-STAT proteins are triggered when IL-6 family members attach to plasma membrane receptors. Target gene promoter regions are bound by translocating STAT proteins into the nucleus to regulate the transcription of inflammatory genes. Inflammatory diseases, cancer, autoimmune, and digestive disorders are all associated with irregularities of JAK-STAT, MAPK, or NF-κB activity Signaling through transcription factors causes the release of cytokines. Numerous transcription factors regulate an abundance of inflammatory genes, such as IL-1, TNF-α, IL-6, interferon's growth factors such as transforming growth factor (TGF), colony stimulating factor (CSF), and chemokine's (Oeckinghaus et al., 2011).



Fig. 2: The JAK-STAT Pathway

Markers of Inflammation

Markers are employed in clinical settings to assess the effectiveness of healing interventions and to distinguish between biological processes that are healthy and unhealthy. Inflammatory markers have been discovered to be associated with the reasons and concerns of a range of inflammatory diseases (Ivashkiv and Hu, 2003) like infections, endothelial disorders, and heart conditions, and to be predicting of inflammatory diseases (Carrero et al., 2008). Stimuli not only trigger the production of inflammatory proteins and enzymes but also cause the release of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, as well as the activation of inflammatory cells such as macrophages and adipocytes. These substances could serve as biomarkers for the diagnosis, prognosis, and choice of suitable therapies(Goldstein et al., 2009).

Proliferating Cytokines

Cytokines are released by most immune cells, including lymphocytes, macrophages, and monocytes. Pro-inflammatory cytokines support inflammation while anti-inflammatory cytokines stop it. Leukocyte assembly at the site of damage or infection is the principal role of cytokines that are inflammatory (Turner et al., 2014), which include ILs, colony-stimulating factors (CSF), IFNs, TNFs, TGFs, and chemokines. Cytokines regulate inflammatory processes and the response of immune system's to inflammatory mediators can cause tissue damage, changes in hemodynamics, failure of organs, and eventually death. A deeper knowledge of cytokine pathway regulation would enable treatment of inflammatory conditions and accurate determination of agent-mediated inflammation (Czaja, 2014).

Additional Inflammatory Indicators

Defense mechanisms of antioxidants, such as antioxidant enzymes, have an impact on oxidative stress. Reactive oxygen species (ROS), AP-1, isoprostanes, and other chemicals can be produced as a result of increased oxidative stress (Lopresti et al., 2014) (Huang et al., 2010). A range of factors transcription, including NF-κB, AP-1, p53, and STAT, can be activated by these substances. Consequently, this cascade could up-regulate the gene expression encoding factors growth, inflammatory cytokines, and chemokines (Park et al., 2015). Oxidative stress is linked with amount of diseases, for example, aging, cancer, heart disease, hypertension, diabetes, and atherosclerosis. As a result, oxidative stress-connected products could be markers of the reaction that is inflammatory.

Essential Oils as Agents of Inflammation Reduction

Inflammation is the natural defensive response of the body to injury or infection; it rids the body of dead or damaged host cells and combats foreign invaders. The inflammatory response results in elevated endothelial lining permeability of cells, blood leukocytes, influxes into the interstitium, an oxidative burst, and the release of cytokines. Furthermore, it raises

165

the activity of several enzymes and the metabolism of arachidonic acid. In clinical settings, aromatic oils have recently been used for treating inflammatory diseases like rheumatism and arthritis (Zaman et al., 2020).

Evidence suggests that some essential oils can scavenge free radicals while also having anti-inflammatory qualities. For example, essential chamomile oil has been used for several centuries to treat severe irritations such as dermatitis and eczema by reducing inflammation (Kamatou and Viljoen, 2010). In blended formulations, essential oils such as eucalyptus, rosemary, lavender, and mille folia, as well as other plants like pine, clove, and myrrh, have also been used as anti-inflammatory agents (Darshan and Doreswamy, 2004).

Potential Health Benefits of Applying Essential Oils Topically to the Skin Olive Oil

The fruits of the *Olea europaea* tree are used to make olive oil. It is mostly made up of the oleic acid, with trace amounts of further fatty acids like palmitic and linoleic acid. Olive oil contains over 200 different chemical compounds, such as phenolic compounds, triterpenic alcohols, carotenoids, and sterols (Nasopoulou et al., 2014).

Oil of Eucalyptus

Compounds found in eucalyptus include cineole (70–85%), limonene, terpinene, cymene, phellandrene, and pinene. Its antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative, and antioxidant properties have been demonstrated by eucalyptus oil, and studies have conclusively shown that it is extremely effective in treating a wide range of infectious and metabolic disorders. The essential oils of this plant have a well-established history of treating rheumatoid arthritis as well as aches and pains in the muscles and joints (Mulyaningsih et al., 2011).

Eucalyptus oil's Medicinal Benefits and its Anti-inflammatory Qualities

The anti-inflammatory effect of the eucalyptus species is demonstrated by the edema caused in rats by the combination of dextran and carrageenan; neutrophil migration into the peritoneal cavity causes the combination of histamine and carrageenan to induce vascular permeability. The outcome does not follow the same pattern that we saw in the parameters that should be assessed; these will be assessed in terms of activities and dependent on dose relationships. For the study, the assay condition and oil were used. The information utilized for the oil extracts of EG, EC, and ET, which have both independent and dependent anti-inflammatory properties and central and peripheral effects of anti-inflammatory goods due to their phenolic content.

Lavender Oil

The essential oil of *Lavender augustifolia* and its principal components, linalyl acetate and linalool, showed in rats the anti-inflammatory propertie. Many investigated studies have the anti-inflammatory properties of compounds present in lavender oil. These studies investigated the special properties of unlike constituents found in EO, such as α pipine, α -terpinene, terpin-4-ol, α -terpineol, linalyl acetate, and linalool. According to the results of these studies, the compounds present in lavender oil may possess anti-inflammatory or ant nociceptive properties (H.-M. Kim and Cho, 2010).

Clove Oil

The essential oil known as clove oil is derived from *Syzygium aromaticum*. Because eugenol has analgesic, antiinflammatory, and antiseptic qualities, it is an oil that is frequently used in dental products. The most significant components of cloves are eugenol, sesquiterpenes, and gallotannic acid. Other significant ingredients include vanillin, crategolic acid, betacaryophyllene, eugenin, kaempferol, and rhamnetin (Schmuth et al., 2015).

Clove oil's Medicinal Ability to Treat

- acne
- They eliminate parasites.
- To Increase Circulation of Blood
- In order to lessen gum disease
- To Increase Vitality
- They have natural anti-inflammatory properties.
- They eradicate fungi and mould

Turpentine in Oil

The resin of some pine trees is used to make turpentine oil. Turpentine oil is topically applied to relieve joint pain, toothaches, muscle soreness, and the nerve pain (Aswandi and Kholibrina, 2021).

Camphor

Camphor is a white, clear solid with a waxy consistency and a potent scent. With the chemical formula $C_{10}H_{16}O$, it is a terpenoid. Rosemary leaves from the *Rosemary officinalis* family contain camphor. Rosemary has a melting point of 175–177°C and contains 10–20% camphor.

The Medical Advantages of Camphor

Camphor easily absorbed through the skin and give off a feeling of warmth or coolness. Serve as a mild local anaesthetic and antibacterial agent.

Experimental Models with Anti-inflammatory Properties In Vivo

Mice are inoculated with different chemical agents to induce inflammation, which is one of the main in vivo models used to assess the anti-inflammatory capabilities of PEOs. Notably, the model contains common disease like animal models with allergic rhinitis, colitis, wound infection, tissue edema, skin inflammation, and anxiety. The anti-inflammatory qualities of PEOs have been assessed in a range of stimuli-induced inflammation models. Mice with colitis caused by dextran sodium sulphate were helped by cinnamon (Cinnamomum verum J.Presl) EO by correcting the imbalance in intestinal flora (Z. Chen et al., 2020). Tea tree (*Melaleuca alternifolia* (Maiden and Betche) EO decreases cell apoptosis, TNF- α expression, and IL-6 in the Lipopolysaccharides (LPS)-induced mastitis model, thereby reducing the damage brought on by inflammation. Oral PEO administration in vivo models is not feasible due to its inherent volatility and instability. Orally administering PEOs to animals also induces anxiety and discomfort. This results in abnormal behaviors like smearing and grabbing, which negatively impact the outcomes (Yuan et al., 2021). On day 7 of the pathogen-infected mice model of wounds, Mentha piperita L. EO treatment bigger IL-1 β levels in the diseased wound tissue while lowering the levels of fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). The exact mechanism of action of this effect is yet unknown; however, it contradicts the anti-inflammatory response that PEOs mediate (Modarresi et al., 2019).

In vitro

The structure and biological function of the cells can be evaluated in in-vitro experiments. Human keratinocytes, BV-2 microglia, HaCaT cells, THP-1 macrophages, and RAW264.7 cells triggered with LPS or other reagents are a few of the frequently used invitro inflammatory models. To lessen harmfulness and irritability, PEOs are usually used at lower focuses for in vitro research than for in vivo studies. The recommended PEO application range for in vitro studies is 1–100 µg/kg. On the other hand, 100 mg/kg is the recommended PEO dose for in vivo research. Leukocyte chemotaxis in the white blood cells chemotaxis model is markedly suppressed when 1–60 µg/mL PEOs are administered (dos Santos et al., 2021). For skin inflammation, ginger-grass extract has been shown to have therapeutic benefits. PEO concentrations of 0.001–0.1% and 0.1–0.3%, respectively, were utilized for topical application and incubation. PEOs are unstable at 37 °C, and the in vitro research the lines of the cell are protected at this temperature. As such, it is challenging to determine a relationship between both in vitro and in vivo models' bio-accessibility and bioavailability (Singh et al., 2022).

Clinical Trials

Although PEOs' have been shown anti-inflammatory effects in models in vitro and in vivo, more investigation in the form of epidemiological and also clinical studies is compulsory to evaluate the anti-inflammatory PEOs' potential applications in therapy and prevention. Studies show that PEOs are used to treat inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis, migraines, and anxiety (Bahr et al., 2018). When PEOs are applied topically or inhaled, patients report reduced pain and tension; however, more research is required to decide the precise mechanism responsible for PEOs' anti-inflammatory effects. Clinical studies have shown that breath fresheners with PEOs can effectively minimize the incidence of chronic periodontitis and stop dental plaque from accumulating (Anusha et al., 2019). It is first essential to determine whether PEOs are effective in treating humans, either only or in combination (with natural or artificial drugs). Clinical trials evaluate PEOs' anti-inflammatory properties mainly in the context of aromatherapy and stomatitis treatment; comparatively few studies focus on PEOs' absorption and digestion. Patients with type II diabetes experience fewer complications and reduced levels of TNF- α and CRP when they take 100 mg of Cuminum cyminum L. EO pills. Although inflammation-linked signs were not the focus of this study, more inflammatory models will therefore be required in the upcoming to provision the clinical use of PEO (Jünger et al., 2020).

Conclusion

Essential oils have gained attention for their potential anti-inflammatory properties, notably chamomile, lavender, clove, and eucalyptus oils. Experimental studies reveal their modulation of inflammatory pathways, enzyme inhibition, and cytokine regulation. Clinical trials show promise in managing inflammatory conditions like rheumatoid arthritis. However, further research, especially in human trials, is necessary to understand their efficacy, safety, and interactions with medications. Overall, while essential oils offer potential as natural anti-inflammatory remedies, ongoing scientific exploration is crucial to confirm their benefits and refine their application

REFERENCES

Anusha, D., Chaly, P., Junaid, M., Nijesh, J., Shivashankar, K., and Sivasamy, S. (2019). Efficacy of a mouthwash containing essential oils and curcumin as an adjunct to nonsurgical periodontal therapy among rheumatoid arthritis patients with chronic periodontitis: A randomized controlled trial. *Indian Journal of Dental Research*, 30(4), 506–511.

https://doi.org/10.4103/ijdr.IJDR_662_17

- Aswandi, A., and Kholibrina, C. R. (2021). Ethnopharmacological Properties of Essential Oils from Natural Forests in Northern Sumatra. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 715(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/715/1/012077</u>
- Zerkaoui, L., Benslimane, M., and Hamimed, A. (2018). Chougrane region in Mascara (Algerian N.W.) Article in Banat s. Journal of Biotechnology, <u>https://doi.org/10.7904/2068-4738-IX(19)</u>
- Bahr, T., Allred, K., Martinez, D., Rodriguez, D., and Winterton, P. (2018). Effects of a massage-like essential oil application procedure using Copaiba and Deep Blue oils in individuals with hand arthritis. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, *33*(October), 170–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.10.004</u>
- Branch, D. (2016). Alkaline protease producing Bacillus isolation and identification from Iran Banat s Journal of Biotechnology, 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.7904/2068</u>
- Butnariu, M., and Sarac, I. (2018). Essential Oils from Plants. *Journal of Biotechnology and Biomedical Science*, 1(4), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.14302/issn.2576-6694.jbbs-18-2489
- Carrero, J. J., Yilmaz, M. I., Lindholm, B., and Stenvinkel, P. (2008). Cytokine dysregulation in chronic kidney disease: How can we treat it? *Blood Purification*, *26*(3), 291–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000126926</u>
- Chen, L., Deng, H., Cui, H., Fang, J., Zuo, Z., Deng, J., Li, Y., Wang, X., and Zhao, L. (2018). Oncotarget 7204 <u>www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget</u>. Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. *Oncotarget*, 9(6), 7204–7218. <u>www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget/</u>
- Chen, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhou, J., Lu, L., Wang, X., Liang, Y., Loor, J. J., Gou, D., Xu, H., and Yang, Z. (2020). Tea Tree Oil Prevents Mastitis-Associated Inflammation in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Bovine Mammary Epithelial Cells. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7(August), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00496</u>
- Czaja, A.J. (2014). Hepatic inflammation and progressive liver fibrosis in chronic liver disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 20(10), 2515–2532. <u>https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i10.2515</u>
- Darshan, S., and Doreswamy, R. (2004). Patented antiinflammatory plant drug development from traditional medicine. *Phytotherapy Research*, *18*(5), 343–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1475</u>
- dos Santos, E., Leitão, M. M., Aguero Ito, C. N., Silva-Filho, S. E., Arena, A. C., Silva-Comar, F. M. de S., Nakamura Cuman, R. K., Oliveira, R. J., Nazari Formagio, A. S., and Leite Kassuya, C. A. (2021). Analgesic and anti-inflammatory articular effects of essential oil and camphor isolated from Ocimum kilimandscharicum Gürke leaves. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 269, 113697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2020.113697</u>
- Goldstein, B. I., Kemp, D. E., Soczynska, J. K., and McIntyre, R. S. (2009). Inflammation and the phenomenology, pathophysiology, comorbidity, and treatment of bipolar disorder: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 70(8), 1078–1090. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.08r04505</u>
- Interfaces, B., Said, S., Engineering, M., Safety, H., and Said, S. (2018). *Banat Journal of Biotechnology*, 17, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.7904/2068

Ivashkiv, L. B., and Hu, X. (2003). The JAK/STAT pathway in rheumatoid arthritis: Pathogenic or protective? *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48(8), 2092–2096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/art.11095</u>

- Jahan, S., Chowdhury, S. F., and Mitu, S. A. (2015). Genomic DNA extraction methods: A comparative case study with gramnegative organisms Banat Journal of Biotechnology WITH Gram-Negative Organisms. March. https://doi.org/10.7904/2068
- Jünger, H., Jaun-Ventrice, A., Guldener, K., Ramseier, C. A., Reissmann, D. R., and Schimmel, M. (2020). Anti-inflammatory potential of an essential oil-containing mouthwash in elderly subjects enrolled in supportive periodontal therapy: a 6-week randomised controlled clinical trial. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 24(9), 3203–3211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-03194-3
- Kamatou, G. P. P., and Viljoen, A. M. (2010). A review of the application and pharmacological properties of α-bisabolol and α-bisabolol-rich oils. *JAOCS, Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 87(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-009-1483-3</u>
- Kim, E. K., and Choi, E. J. (2010). Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica* Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1802(4), 396–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.12.009</u>
- Kim, H.-M., and Cho, S.-H. (2010). Lavender Oil Inhibits Immediate-type Allergic Reaction in Mice and Rats. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 51(2), 221–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1211/0022357991772178</u>
- Kolaczkowska, E., and Kubes, P. (2013). Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *13*(3), 159–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3399</u>
- Lawrence, T. (2009). The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *1*(6), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a001651</u>
- Libby, P. (2007). Inflammatory Mechanisms: The Molecular Basis of Inflammation and Disease. *Nutrition Reviews*, 65(SUPPL.3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.tb00352.x</u>
- Modarresi, M., Farahpour, M. R., and Baradaran, B. (2019). Topical application of Mentha piperita essential oil accelerates wound healing in infected mice model. *Inflammopharmacology*, *27*(3), 531–537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-018-0510-0</u>
- Moghadam, F. H., Gharali, B., and Resources, N. (2018). Investigation of the induced antibiosis resistance by zinc element in

different cultivars of sugar beet to long snout weevil, Lixus incanescens (Col: Banat • s Journal of Biotechnology. May 2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.7904/2068</u>

- Mulyaningsih, S., Sporer, F., Reichling, J., and Wink, M. (2011). Antibacterial activity of essential oils from Eucalyptus and of selected components against multidrug-resistant bacterial pathogens. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 49(9), 893–899. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209.2011.553625</u>
- Nasopoulou, C., Karantonis, H. C., Detopoulou, M., Demopoulos, C. A., and Zabetakis, I. (2014). Exploiting the antiinflammatory properties of olive (Olea europaea) in the sustainable production of functional food and neutraceuticals. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, *13*(2), 445–458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-014-9350-8</u>
- Nikolova, I., and Georgieva, N. (2022). Banat s Journal of Biotechnology OM NeemAzal-T/S AND Pyrethrum AND THEIR EFFECT ON THE PEA PESTS AND SEED QUALITY. August, 4738–12. https://doi.org/10.7904/2068
- Oeckinghaus, A., Hayden, M. S., and Ghosh, S. (2011). Crosstalk in NF-κB signaling pathways. *Nature Immunology*, *12*(8), 695–708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2065</u>
- Pengse P., Delaney E., Gamper H., Szanti-Kis M., Speight L., Tu L.W., Kosolapov A., Petersson E. J., Hou Y-M., Das, C., and Lucia M.S. (2017). 乳鼠心肌提取 HHS Public Access. *Physiology and Behavior*, *176*(3), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-051113-024537
- Raingeaud, J., Whitmarsh, A. J., Barrett, T., Dérijard, B., and Davis, R. J. (1996). MKK3- and MKK6-Regulated Gene Expression Is Mediated by the p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signal Transduction Pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 16(3), 1247–1255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.16.3.1247</u>
- Rezzoug, M., Bakchiche, B., Gherib, A., Roberta, A., Guido, F., Kilinçarslan, Ö., Mammadov, R., and Bardaweel, S. K. (2019). Chemical composition and bioactivity of essential oils and Ethanolic extracts of Ocimum basilicum L. and Thymus algeriensis Boiss. and Reut. from the Algerian Saharan Atlas. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *19*(1), 1– 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-019-2556-y</u>
- Righi, K., Fatiha, A., Karima, B., and Elouissi, A. (2017). *Toxicity and repellency of three Algerian medicinal plants against pests of stored product: Ryzopertha dominica (Fabricius) (Coleoptera: Bostrichidae) Banat* s Journal of Biotechnology. November 2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.7904/2068</u>
- Schmuth, M., Blunder, S., Dubrac, S., Gruber, R., and Moosbrugger-Martinz, V. (2015). Epidermal barrier in hereditary ichthyoses, atopic dermatitis, and psoriasis. *JDDG Journal of the German Society of Dermatology*, *13*(11), 1119–1124. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddg.12827
- Singh, S., Bhatt, D., Singh, M. K., Maurya, A. K., Israr, K. M., Chauhan, A., Padalia, R. C., Verma, R. S., and Bawankule, D. U. (2022). p-Menthadienols-rich essential oil from Cymbopogon martini ameliorates skin inflammation. *Inflammopharmacology*, 30(3), 895–905. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-022-00954-8</u>
- Turner, M. D., Nedjai, B., Hurst, T., and Pennington, D. J. (2014). Cytokines and chemokines: At the crossroads of cell signalling and inflammatory disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, 1843(11), 2563–2582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.05.014</u>
- Walker, J. G., and Smith, M. D. (2005). The Jak-STAT pathway in rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 32(9), 1650–1653.
- Yuan, R., Zhang, D., Yang, J., Wu, Z., Luo, C., Han, L., Yang, F., Lin, J., and Yang, M. (2021). Review of aromatherapy essential oils and their mechanism of action against migraines. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 265(August 2020), 113326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2020.113326</u>
- Zuo, X., Gu, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, J., Zhang, J., Wang, G., and Wang, F. (2020). A Systematic Review of the Anti-Inflammatory and Immunomodulatory Properties of 16 Essential Oils of Herbs. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8878927</u>
- Aswandi, A., and Kholibrina, C. R. (2021). Ethnopharmacological Properties of Essential Oils from Natural Forests in Northern Sumatra. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 715(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/715/1/012077</u>
- Zaman, M. A., Abbas, R. Z., Qamar, W., Qamar, M. F., Mehreen, U., Shahid, Z., and Kamran, M. (2020). Role of secondary metabolites of medicinal plants against Ascaridia galli. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 76(3), 639-655.
- Zerkaoui, L., Benslimane, M., and Hamimed, A. (2018). Chougrane region in Mascara (Algerian N.W.) Article in Banat s. Journal of Biotechnology. <u>https://doi.org/10.7904/2068-4738-IX(19)</u>

Effect of Essential Oils as Natural Alternatives and Antioxidants for the Growth of Poultry Broilers

Muhammad Saim^{*1}, Abubakar Burhan Nagi², Insha Noor³, Hammad Zaheer⁴, Warda Zaheer⁵, Roshaan Tahir^{6,} Abdul Rafay¹, Ahsan Fayaz⁷, Jannat Fatima⁸, Laiba Naeem⁹

¹Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan

²Department of Zoology, Faculty of Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan

³Lahore Medical and Dental College, Lahore, Pakistan

⁴Ameer ud din Medical College, Post Graduate Medical Institute, Lahore General Hospital, Lahore, Pakistan

⁵School of Chemistry, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan

⁶Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

⁷Department of Livestock and Poultry Production, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

⁸Department of Pharmacy, The University of Lahore (UOL), Pakistan

⁹Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: saimpakistani17@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Poultry farming is important in today's food security issues and is crucial for economic development. Intensive production methods in the poultry industry necessitate the use of antibiotics, raising concerns about animal welfare. In this study, we investigate the potential of essential oils (EOs) as natural substitutes for antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) in broiler production. This exploration aims to harness the power of EOs as a potentially transformative solution, moving beyond antibiotics towards a more sustainable and ethical approach to broiler growth. We also read about the essential oil extraction techniques and their different disadvantages. We explore the various applications of EOs, such as their antifungal, antiviral, antioxidant, and antibacterial activities. We discuss how these characteristics help broilers' immune systems, intestinal health, and disease resistance. Furthermore, we examine the impact of EOs on growth performance parameters like feed conversion ratio, body weight, and meat quality. Finally, we'll see about the urgent research needed to refine the use of EOs in poultry diets. This will optimize their effectiveness and ensure the safety of this promising alternative to antibiotics.

KEYWORDS	Received: 21-May-2024	SCHENTIFIC ALE	A Publication of
Growth promoters, Extraction, Growth, Promoters, Antioxidant,	Revised: 17-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Poultry	Accepted: 20-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Saim M, Nagi AB, Noor I, Zaheer H, Zaheer W, Tahir R, Rafay A, Fayaz A, Fatima J and Naeem L, 2024. Effect of essential oils as natural alternatives and antioxidants for the growth of poultry broilers. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 170-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.258</u>

INTRODUCTION

Poultry farming is a critical driver of livestock worldwide, enhancing the GDP of developing countries like Pakistan. It also leads to the fulfillment of nutrition and economic growth of a country (Gulilat et al., 2021). Poultry farming, as a cornerstone of animal husbandry, is necessary for economic development. It is a source of increased income for farmers in the agriculture sector (Wu et al., 2022). Poultry products are nutritious and appetizing at the same time (Tajima et al., 2023). The poultry industry has grown tremendously because of increased prepared chicken products catering to the demand of working individuals (Barbut et al., 2022). A huge number of birds are killed and consumed annually to meet their high demands of consumption (Ayalew et al., 2022). Poultry meat is also the cheapest halal protein source preferred by people (Paputunganet al., 2020). Broiler farming delivers chicken meat production requirements to large consumer populations Wilcox et al., 2023). Broiler meat is the most favored white meat, liked by every culture and religion, is low in fat, and is an economical source of protein (Ramukhithi et al, 2023). The quality of the broiler meat is judged based on its parts, such as breasts, thighs, and drumsticks (Kuźniacka et al., 2014).

Being one of the largest industries in the world, in itself comes with a lot of challenges. The most significant challenges facing poultry are health and environmental hazards in large intensive production systems (DR Korver, 2023). The root of the problem lies in the high bird density and intensive nature of production (Gržnić et al., 2023). The unique gut system of chickens and their microbes demand close attention to gut health for maximum and

optimal nutrient absorption (Wickramasuriya et al., 2022). Many chemicals are used to improve gut health, increase the growth rates in poultry, and prevent infections. Antibiotics are the most used worldwide to improve feed conversion efficiency (Samad, 2022).

Antibiotic Growth Promoters (AGPs)

Antibiotic growth promoters have been tremendously used in the poultry industry generating a wealth of associated literature. Its use has mounted public concern (Cardinal et al., 2020). AGPs used at the sub-therapeutic level are used for bird productivity rather than for treating some diseases (Abd El-Hack et al., 2022). Feed and meat residues of AGP are the greatest threat to humans (Sapsuha et al., 2021) but AGPs have also helped in the growth of animals by 4 mechanisms: (1) decline sub-clinical infections (2) enhanced nutrient availability (3) improved nutrient uptake (4) improvement in the intestinal environment (Rahman et al., 2022) but antibiotic resistance has been a significant issue regarding AGP use.

AGP Alternatives Used in Poultry

There has been a growing application of AGP alternatives such as pre-biotics, pro-biotics plant extracts, and organic acids as part of the trend towards natural solutions (Oluwafemi et al., 2020). The demand for poultry products raised without antibiotics is increasing. Producers have to follow the demand and ensure that they address animal welfare concerns by using AGP alternatives (Rahman et al., 2022).

Organic acids have no residue problems and improve the digestibility of nutrients and minerals in poultry. Examples include short and medium-chain fatty acids (Aljumaah et al., 2020). OAs decrease the pathogen population by reducing the pH of the gut (Scicutella et al., 2021). OAs also require a lot of research in application in poultry as different conditions need to be assessed for their application (Melaku et al., 2021).

The use of probiotics in poultry production, for example, involves mechanisms of very complicated reactions (Hassan et al., 2018). Probiotics are the normal intestinal micro-flora given in proper concentrations exogenously. It doesn't have as much negative impact as antibiotics (Krysiak et al., 2021). Several studies reveal that probiotics are thought to increase body weight by reducing FCR, and can ward off necrotic enteritis. Peng et al. (2016) claimed that *L. plantarum* supplementation improved the growth of broiler chickens previously colonized with *E. coli* in the cecum. Therefore, *L. plantarum* supplementation increased populations of lactic acid bacteria in the cecum (Sapsuha et al., 2021). Another experiment carried out by Ferdous et al. in 2021 shows that probiotics increase body weight by stimulating gut bacteria, better digestibility, and feed intake. They improve the production rates and health of broilers, *B. subtilis* is a great example as it is resistant to temperature change (Rivera-Pérez et al., 2021). Probiotics don't play a larger or clearer role in growth performance but do reduce the chances of infections (Yaqoob et al., 2022).

Prebiotics are indigestible food ingredients that enhance the growth of one or more beneficial bacteria (Ricke, 2021). Most of them consist of carbohydrates and associated products that the healthy gut microbiota can digest. Bacteria ingest the goods to enhance gut health and counteract the activities induced by harmful bacteria (Abd El-Hack et al., 2022). By improving intestinal characteristics (longer villi, more goblet cells) that promote beneficial bacteria like *lactobacilli* and *bifidobacteria*, prebiotics increase the feed conversion ratio in broilers (Thora et al., 2015). In an experiment done by Murshed and Abudabos, (2015) prebiotics (mannan oligosaccharides) are known to be an alternative to antibiotics and improve the FCR and broiler performance. In another experiment carried out by Rehman at al., 2020 importance of mannan oligosaccharide was highlighted that it causes the growth of beneficial bacteria (*Lactobacilli* and *Bifidobacteria*) and reduces pathogenic bacteria (*E. coli* and *Salmonella*). Prebiotics are used in combination with probiotics to have better efficacy but a great deal of research is necessary to prove the effective growth effects on poultry (Khomayezi and Adewole, 2022). A rise in the immune system, performance, and meat quality of the broiler chicken was seen when prebiotics were used in an experiment conducted by Al-Khalifa et al., 2019. In an examination prebiotics like oligofructose were known to improve the weight gain, breast weight, and percentage of the carcass (Al-Khalaifah, 2018).

Plant extracts are very beneficial in promoting poultry health. They may improve feed intake, increase body weight, and improve the feed conversion rate (Oluwafemi et al., 2020). For instance, whereas it is indicated that the Moringa plant, due to its high nutritional value, happens to be one among these herbal plants that have the potential to work as a supplement in chicken feed, there is still a controversy surrounding the best dosage and its resultant effect on performance (Mahfuz and Piao, 2019). As far as environmentally friendly and improvement of performance are concerned, the application of phytogenic derivatives has been on the rise in animal feeds (da Silveira Deminicis et al., 2021). Phytogenic feed additives (PFAs) are now being used as replacements in poultry feed due to their different complex activities that lead to disease prevention and increase in production (Stevanović et al., 2018). The use of Essential Oils as PFAs in monogastric like poultry as an alternative to AGPs is an emerging topic (Mucha and Witkowska, 2021). The addition of phytobiotic additives can enhance the appetite, boost the production of digestive enzymes, strengthen the immune system, and also amplify the quality of animal products (Krauze et al., 2021).

Essential Oils are secondary metabolites produced by different plant parts and oil glands, extracted by different techniques (Herman et al., 2019). They are hydrophobic and volatile chemical compounds. They have been used for clinical and medicinal uses along with their aromatic properties in food (Wińska et al., 2019).

Essential Oils: Potential Natural Alternatives for AGPs

Essential oils are safe to use but toxicities can result in some cases (De Groot and Schmidt, 2016). EOs consist of many components in different ratios but only two to three components constitute 20-70% of the total concentration. These major

components are responsible for the biological properties of the EO (de Sousa et al., 2023). EOs are also bio-active substitutes for different antimicrobial, antiviral, nematicidal, antifungal, and antioxidant drugs and compounds (Turek and Stintzing, 2013). Essential Oils are also used to improve drug penetration through the skin (Adorjan and Buchbauer, 2010) and also for nematicidal and larvicidal activities in some parts of the world (Lahlou, 2004). EOs are also used as repellents against arthropod species, for example, *Cymbopogon* species are used to repel mosquitoes in Amazon areas (Nerio et al., 2010).



Fig. 1: Essential oils and their effects on broiler chicken

Extraction of Essential Oils

Extraction of EOs can be carried out by several techniques but the most common ones are Hydro-distillation (HD), steam distillation, cold pressing (CP), solvent extraction (Reyes-Jurado et al., 2015), and Enzyme assisted extraction (Ferrentino et al., 2020). These conventional methods are simple but take time and produce low amounts of EOs. Ultrasound and microwaves are new approaches that offer faster extraction and higher yields. Less energy is consumed and a higher quality product is obtained (Lainez-Cerón et al., 2022).

Conventional Methods of Extraction

Hydro-distillation

Distillation extracts the plant essential oils through differential pressure aimed at evaporation and condensation of the mixture components. Hydro-distillation method, which is widely applied for extracting essential oils, is easy and cheap (Drinic et al., 2021). It involves immersion of the plant matter in water, after which the mixture is boiled and then the vapor is condensed, separating the oil from the water. However, heat and water may destroy sensitive compounds while preventing the recovery of water-soluble oils (Ghasemy-Piranloo et al., 2022).

Steam Distillation

The steam is above boiling water and the plant material is not submerged in this boiling water. In this process, the plant material comes into contact only with the steam of the boiling water, not with the water itself (Oktavianawati, 2020). This method requires simple instruments and hence is simple without complexities, therefore having many advantages as indicated by Saldaña-Mendoza et al. 2022. Water- Steam distillation which as explained earlier involves placing plant material above boiling water while Steam distillation involves the use of external sources of steam (Ghasemy-Piranloo et al., 2022).

Cold Pressing

Due to the absence of a chemical refining stage, cold-pressed oils (CPOs) provide pure mechanically derived oils hence securing naturally occurring beneficial nutrients, including vitamins, minerals, and antioxidants, from the product (Rabiej-Kozioł et al., 2023). It is more economical and safer both for the consumer and their environment because it doesn't require chemicals (Kabutey et al., 2023). The method ensures that antioxidants are present in the oil, making it stable throughout a long shelf life (Prescha et al., 2014).
Essential	Common	Family Name	Major	Amoun	Growth Promoters	References
Oil Name	Name		Compounds	t Used		
Oregano Essential Oil (OEO) from <i>Origanum</i> genus	Oregano essential oil	Labiatae	carvacrol and thymol	01%, 1% w/w	Have antioxidant effect, inhibiting hydroperoxide and phenols, influence gene expression	[Peng et al., 2016] [Pontes-Quero et al., 2021] [Puvača et al., 2022] [Pateiro et al., 2018]
Basil leaves from Ocimum basilicum	Basil	Lamiaceae	Estragole, limonene and p- cymene	0.062, 0.125 and 0.25%	Have antioxidant effects, improve growth, feed conversion, immune response and general health. Also reduce harmful bacterial counts and influence beneficial bacteria.	[VLAICU et al., 2022] [Mkaddem Mounira et al., 2022] [Oliveira et al., 2024] [Pateiro et al., 2018]
Thymus vulgaris	Thyme	Lamiaceae	O-Thymol, Tetra hydro-3- methylfuran, thymol	0.5%	Play important antioxidant, antigenotoxic and antimicrobial effects, improve immune response, kidney and liver function. Also improves nutrient digestibility.	[HOSSAİN et al., 2022] [Chbel et al., 2022] [Fawaz et al., 2021] [Pateiro et al., 2018]
Cinnamon (species Cinnamo mum)	Cinnamon	Lauraceae	Trans- cinnamaldehyde, δ-cadinene and β-cubebene	200 mg/kg	Has antiinflammatory, antimicrobial and antioxidant properties improving health, immunity metabolism, carcass traits, and meat quality.	[Dahmani et al., 2021] (Alizadeh Behbahani et al., 2020) [Ali et al., 2021] [Hippenstiel et al., 2011]
Garlic (Allium sativum)	Garlic	Amaryllidacea e	Diallyl disulfide, Diallyl trisulfide	300 mg/kg	Act as antioxidants, boost immunity and gut health of poultry and maintain blood parameters.	[Ezeorba et al., 2022] [El-Saber Batiha et al., 2020] [Abd El-Ghany, 2024] [[Hippenstiel et al.,
Black cumin seed oil (<i>Nigella</i> sativa L.)	Black cumin seed / black seed	Ranunculacea e	thymoquinone, thymohydroquin one , dithymoquinone, thymol and nigellone	2-3%	It has a good antioxidant effect, improves growth and egg production, and also reduces harmful bacteria in the gut.	[Elnour and Abdelsalam, 2018] [Hannan et al., 2021] [Seidavi et al., 2020]
Ginger (Zingiber officinale)	Ginger	Zingiberaceae	zingiberene, camphene, Curcumene and β-phellandrene	0.2%	Promote the functioning of antioxidant defense systems, improve reproductive performance, and prevent harmful bacterial colonization by acting as an antimicrobial.	(Mao et al., 2019) [Abd El-Hack et al., 2020] [Pateiro et al., 2018]
Rosmarinu s officinalis	Rosemary Essential Oil	Lamiaceae	α-Pinene, Bornyl acetate,Camphor, 1,8-Cineole	0.15, 0.3 g/kg	Regulates host immunity, and intestinal microflora and also has a beneficial antioxidant role. Has potential anticoccidial activity.	[Lahlou et al., 2021] [Hippenstiel et al., 2011]

Solvent Extraction

Another alternative process to achieve the extraction of essential oils from plants is solvent extraction. The technique aims to dissolve the oils from the plant components using different kinds of solvents, including ethanol, diethyl ether, and n-hexane (Ezeorba et al., 2022). Several factors affect the recovery by this method, such as the type of solvent, temperature, and particle size. The process is dependent on diffusion and concentration gradients which assist in the flow of oil from plant material to the solvent, which at the end should be easily separable from the oil, according to Ntalikwa, 2021. Solvent extraction is an extensive and widely employed oil extraction technique although it has drawbacks like undesirable residues and flavor changes (Khalil et al., 2017).

Modern Techniques of Essential Oil Extraction Microwave-assisted Water Distillation

The process called microwave-assisted water distillation has huge potential for the extraction of essential oils. There are many advantages MAWD has over conventional techniques such as water distillation (Drinic et al., 2021). First, it reduces extraction time considerably; 30 minutes instead of the 4.5 hours it takes with conventional procedures for similar yields and quality (Guha and Zari, 2017). Second, the increased heating speed reduces thermal deterioration and may preserve the sensitive volatile substances. However, optimization of microwave power is needed for effective and superior extraction. Further investigation is required for MAWD to be applied to a more diversified range of plants, like thyme, to fulfill its potential (Akdağ and Öztürk, 2019).

Enzyme-Assisted Extraction (EAE)

These modern, green techniques involve the use of specialized enzymes to break down the components of the cell wall: lignin and cellulose (Lubek-Nguyen et al., 2022). EAE applies specific enzymes degrading those two elements of the cell wall, releasing the bound metabolites. The enzymes play their role naturally, just like keys. Enzymatic treatment facilitates the transfer of essential oils during extraction (Amudan et al., 2011; Hosni et al., 2013).

Ultrasound-Assisted Extraction (UAE)

UAE is a low-frequency sound wave technique below 16 kHz, improving oleoresins' plant extraction (Nora and Borges, 217). It creates acoustic cavitation in the cell walls of the plant material and eventually makes them release the essential oils (Mushtaq et al., 2020). Compared with other extraction procedures, some of the biggest edges associated with UAE include higher extraction rates, lower energy consumption, and a lower temperature at the time of extraction (Shen et al., 2023).

How do EOs act in poultry growth improvement?

Essential oils added as flavorings in poultry have been shown to have a range of physiological effects. These effects can be categorized into several groups, and there may still be more potential benefits waiting to be discovered

Role of Essential Oils as Antioxidants

The most widely studied physiological effects are the antioxidant activity of the EOs (Mutlu-Ingok et al., 2020). EOs directly neutralize free radicals in the gut and, up-regulate the expression of antioxidant enzymes in the gut and liver. They may down-regulate enzymes that produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as MPO, COX-2, and iNOS. MPO down-regulation diminishes oxidative stress and thus tissue damage. Down-regulation of COX-2 and iNOS can result in antiinflammatory activities (Ezzat Abd El-Hack et al., 2016). They also scavenge free radicals like DPPH, ABTS, and also lipid peroxides. EOs protect from DNA oxidative damage, and they maintain β -carotene molecules without oxidation. Their activity depends upon the source of plant material, extraction method, and type of compound present, according to Valdivieso-Ugarte et al., (2019). The antioxidant activity of essential oils reduces lipid peroxidation in meat chicken muscles. This is highly useful for thigh muscles, which are more easily oxidized because of their higher content of polyunsaturated unsaturated fatty acids. The addition of essential oils to animal feed further aids in reducing rancidity in meat. Antioxidants play an important role in reducing lipid oxidation improving oxidative stability and removing stressors to chicken health (Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska and Szczerbińska, 2017).

For example, the antioxidant activity of thymol in various essential oils involves the scavenging of free radicals such as super-oxide and hydroxyl and the enhancement of endogenous antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase. Thymol chelates iron and copper, making them unavailable to catalyze free radical generation (Gholami-Ahangaran et al., 2022). Thymol is also transferred to the yolk via chicken tissues. This also protects the yolk along with the meat in poultry (Ezzat Abd El-Hack et al., 2016).

The Rosemary Essential Oil components, which are mainly composed of phenolic diterpenes, show antioxidant activity by scavenging free radicals by acting as electron donors and stabilizing them (Candan and Bağdatlı, 2017).

Tea tree oil is used in conjunction with other EOs for an enhanced antioxidant effect ((Puvača et al., 2022). Components of oregano (*Origanum vulgare*) EO have free radical neutralizing properties, although not as much as vitamin C, still acting in the vicinity of Vitamin E and BHT. Hens fed with a thymus-enriched diet produced eggs with longer refrigerator life because of the decreased level of oxidation in yolks (Nehme et al., 2021).

The antioxidant role of essential oils of plants is dependent upon the different activities of the constituent compounds (Mnisi et al., 2022). Although Oregano EO supplementation in broiler did reduce the malondialdehyde (MDA) serum levels, the result was even better when it was used in synergism with vitamin C supplementation. Total antioxidative capacity, TAC increased when oregano oil was given with vitamin C (Ghazi et al., 2015). Organosulfur bioactive compounds present in garlic essential oil exhibited good antioxidant activity against 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH). It decreases thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), which is an indication of lipid oxidation in broiler meat (Rafeeq et al., 2022).

Essential oils can still, have toxic effects when taken in excess. These include problems in the respiratory tract, skin, and reproductive system, depending on the dose, time of exposure, and components of the oil, among other

factors (Horky et al., 2019). Essential oils, when used alone, undergo oxidation. Terpenes oxidation also forms radicals, so microencapsulation of essential oils can help to provide safe antioxidant operation without the radicals oxidizing the terpenes since the terpenes are prone to oxidation due to the presence of unsaturated carbon bonds (Nehme et al., 2021).

Table 2: Some common essential oils and their antioxidant potential

Plant name	Utilized part	Major component	Performance effect on poultry	Antioxidant role	References
Thymus vulgaris	Whole plant	Thymol	Growth performance was enhanced	Remarkable antioxidant property	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Kosakowska et al., 2021
Cinnamon (species Cinnamomum)	Leaf	Cinnamaldehyde	Improved the growth performance	Remarkable antioxidant activity	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Alizadeh Behbahani et al., 2020
Garlic (Allium sativum)	Bulb	Allicin	Body weight and feed efficiency were improved	Good antioxidant role	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Abd El-Ghany, 2023
Black cumin seed oil (<i>Nigella sativa L</i> .)	Seed	Cuminaldehyde	Body weight improved, feed efficiency was also enhanced	Has a great antioxidant capacity	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Aydogan et al., 2020
Ginger (Zingiber officinale)	[.] Rhizome	Zingerone	Improved carcass quality	Improved antioxidant effect	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Abd El-Ghany, 2023 Gholami-Ahangaran et al., 2021
Rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.)	Leaf	Cinneol	Increased average daily gain and feed conversion	Has a strong antioxidant activity	Oluwafemi et al., 2020 Petricevic et al., 2018 Hcini et al., 2023
Basil leaves from Ocimum basilicum	Leaves, stems	Methyl chavicol	Significantly improve body weight and feed conversion ratio.	Potentially beneficial antioxidant agent	Herman et al., 2019 Zweil et al., 2019

Essential Oils as Growth Promoters

Essential oils are also termed as very effective growth promoters. Growth performance improves due to the synergistic actions of the EO components used in the forms of blends or alone. When EO blends of thymol and cinnamaldehyde or carvacrol, cinnamaldehyde, and capsicum oleoresin were used, all caused an increased appetite, FCR (feed Conversion Ratio), and muscle mass, which meant an overall improved broiler performance (El-Ghany, 2020). They are involved in maintaining the growth rate and utilization of nutrients (Zhai et al., 2018). EOs are known to have a positive effect on the feed conversion ratio, body weight, feed intake, etc if used in an optimum amount. Mixtures of essential oils can also positively impact the growth rate of broilers (Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska and Szczerbińska et al., 2017). Mixtures of essential oils can also positively affect the growth rate in broilers. Essential oils also increase the dry matter, crude protein, and ether extracts when raising an EO level from 0 to 400 mg/kg (Su et al., 2021). Apart from their role in increasing body weight gain and improving feed conversion ratio, EOs increase beneficial gut bacteria and reduce harmful ones. This shows their potential use as natural growth promoters with added health benefits (Irawan et al., 2021). Studies conducted on commercial blends such as CRINA (comprised of thymol, eugenol, and piperine) indicate that these blends enhance the activity of enzymes within the pancreas and gut lining in broilers. Birds supplemented with these blends have potentially better digestion of ingested feed. EOs like Heryumix TM and thyme oil improved the FCR and body weight gain of poultry (Micciche et al., 2019).

Oregano extracts can be used as alternatives to synthetic feed additives as they're less toxic, which most likely have potential benefits like improved growth, feed efficiency, gut health, disease resistance, and even immune responses. Positive effects were recorded at certain moderate inclusion levels; for example, 240 mg/kg for the protection against *C. perfringens* in poultry (Alagawany et al., 2018).

Supplementation of the fowl with thymol essential oil increased body weight, carcass breast weight, reduced count of total cholesterol and the population of harmful gut bacteria, and improved growth and function with better FCR. However, it decreased wing and thigh weight (Seidavi et al., 2021). Less prominent effects resulting in broilers' performance were seen when the feeds were supplemented with oregano, cinnamon, and pepper EOs (Oluwafemi et al., 2020).

Popović et al. (2019), evaluated that poultry raised on a mixture of thyme, oregano, and rosemary oil are nutritionally more valuable and low in fat/calories. According to an experiment stated by Barbarestani et al., 2020, antibiotics or feed alone were not able to result in an efficient increase in body weight gain as was seen when lavender essential oil was added in poultry ration. The feed conversion ratio was also reduced. In the study conducted by Thuekeaw et al., 2022, the effect of avilamycin, free basil oil, and modified basil oil was evaluated on the performance of conventionally raised broiler

chickens. Avilamycin increases the average daily gain and feed conversion ratio in broiler chickens. Supplementation with 500 mg/kg of cinnamon oil improved weight gain and FCR, and reduced bad cholesterol in broilers, according to Saied et al., (2022).

The addition of some spice blends orEOs in chicken, such as *Lippia origanoides* + *Rosmarinus officinalis* with beetroot or natural betaine, improved growth, feed intake, and FCR, reducing the negative effects of heat stress as compared to the chicken that did not receive EOs. Dietary supplementation of 600 mg/kg lavender essential oil in broilers improved weight gain but showed undesirable interactions with its level on the levels of ileal *Lactobacillus* spp. in the gut that constitute part of the microbiota (Pilego et al., 2022).

The application of EOs in the food industry is an evolutionary change, but their intense aroma, reactivity, and reduced solubility have practically created limitations for the use of essential oils. It all requires the administration of EOs in modified forms like nanoencapsulation (Maurya et al., 2021). Much research and collection of information is still needed to understand the proper pharmacodynamics of EOs so that they may be administered in animal production precisely according to requirements (Simitsiz, 2017).

Conclusion

Antibiotics and other Alternative growth promoters have played a vital role in the growth of the poultry industry. They are still used in the industry but due to the concerns over antibiotic resistance and drug residues, their use has reduced or they are used in conjunction with other alternatives, such as essential oils. Essential oils show great promise to be used as AGPs and are a hope for ethical poultry farming. However further research is needed to understand their exact mechanisms and effects in specific target industries, in our case the poultry industry. This review has explored the functions of essential oils, including their antibacterial, antioxidant, antiviral, and antifungal features all of which contribute to the growth and health outcomes of broiler chickens. There is a need for further research on dosage, delivery methods, and potential side effects of EOs so they can be used for sustainable poultry practices. This requires the development of ethical approaches that prioritize both animal welfare and public health.

REFERENCES

- Abd El-Ghany, W. A. (2024). Potential Effects of Garlic (Allium sativum L.) on the Performance, Immunity, Gut Health, Anti-Oxidant Status, Blood Parameters, and Intestinal Microbiota of Poultry: An Updated Comprehensive Review. *Animals*, 14(3), 498. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani14030498
- Abd El-Hack, M. E., Alagawany, M., Shaheen, H., Samak, D., Othman, S. I., Allam, A. A., and Sitohy, M. (2020). Ginger and its derivatives as promising alternatives to antibiotics in poultry feed. *Animals*, 10(3), 452. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10030452
- Abd El-Hack, M. E., El-Saadony, M. T., Salem, H. M., El-Tahan, A. M., Soliman, M. M., Youssef, G. B., and Swelum, A. A. (2022). Alternatives to antibiotics for organic poultry production: types, modes of action and impacts on bird's health and production. *Poultry Science*, 101(4), 101696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2022.101696
- Adaszyńska-Skwirzyńska, M., and Szczerbińska, D. (2017). Use of essential oils in broiler chicken production-a review. Annals of Animal Science, 17(2), 317. https://doi.org/10.1515/aoas-2016-0046
- Adorjan, B., and Buchbauer, G. (2010). Biological properties of essential oils: an updated review. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 25(6), 407-426. https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.2024
- Akdağ, A., and Öztürk, E. (2019). Distillation methods of essential oils. *Selçuk Üniversitesi Fen Fakültesi Fen Dergisi*, 45(1), 22-31. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/sufefd/issue/44924/461058
- Alagawany, M., Abd El-Hack, M. E., Farag, M. R., Shaheen, H. M., Abdel-Latif, M. A., Noreldin, A. E., and Patra, A. K. (2018). The usefulness of oregano and its derivatives in poultry nutrition. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 74(3), 463-474. doi:10.1017/S0043933918000454
- Ali, A., Ponnampalam, E. N., Pushpakumara, G., Cottrell, J. J., Suleria, H. A., and Dunshea, F. R. (2021). Cinnamon: A natural feed additive for poultry health and production—A review. *Animals*, 11(7), 2026. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11072026
- Alizadeh Behbahani, B., Falah, F., Lavi Arab, F., Vasiee, M., and Tabatabaee Yazdi, F. (2020). Chemical composition and antioxidant, antimicrobial, and antiproliferative activities of Cinnamomum zeylanicum bark essential oil. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5190603
- Aljumaah, M. R., Alkhulaifi, M. M., Abudabos, A. M., Alabdullatifb, A., El-Mubarak, A. H., Al Suliman, A. R., and Stanley, D. (2020). Organic acid blend supplementation increases butyrate and acetate production in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium challenged broilers. *PLoS One*, 15(6), e0232831. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232831
- Al-Khalaifa, H., Al-Nasser, A., Al-Surayee, T., Al-Kandari, S., Al-Enzi, N., Al-Sharrah, T., and Mohammed, A. (2019). Effect of dietary probiotics and prebiotics on the performance of broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 98(10), 4465-4479. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pez282
- Al-Khalaifah, H. S. (2018). Benefits of probiotics and/or prebiotics for antibiotic-reduced poultry. *Poultry Science*, 97(11), 3807-3815. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey160
- Amudan, R., Kamat, D. V., and Kamat, S. D. (2011). Enzyme-assisted extraction of essential oils from Syzygium aromaticum. South Asian Journal of Experimental Biology, 1(6), 248-254. Enzyme― assisted extraction of essential oils from

Syzygium aromaticum | South Asian Journal of Experimental Biology (sajeb.org)

- Ayalew, H., Zhang, H., Wang, J., Wu, S., Qiu, K., Qi, G., and Chanie, D. (2022). Potential feed additives as antibiotic alternatives in broiler production. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 9, 916473. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.916473
- Aydogan, I., Yildirim, E., Kurum, A., Bolat, D., Cinar, M., Basalan, M., and Yigit, A. (2020). The effect of dietary garlic (Allium sativum), black cumin (Nigella sativa) and their combination on performance, intestine morphometry, serum biochemistry and antioxidant status of broiler chickens. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9061-2020-1317
- Barbarestani, S. Y., Jazi, V., Mohebodini, H., Ashayerizadeh, A., Shabani, A., and Toghyani, M. (2020). Effects of dietary lavender essential oil on growth performance, intestinal function, and antioxidant status of broiler chickens. *Livestock Science*, 233, 103958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2020.103958
- Barbut, S., and Leishman, E. M. (2022). Quality and processability of modern poultry meat. *Animals*, 12(20), 2766. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12202766
- Candan, T., and Bağdatlı, A. (2017). Use of natural antioxidants in poultry meat. *Celal Bayar University Journal of Science*, 13(2), 279-291. https://doi.org/10.18466/cbayarfbe.319752
- Cardinal, K. M., Pires, P. G. D. S., and Ribeiro, A. M. L. (2020). Growth promoter in broiler and pig production. Pubvet. Londrina. Vol. 14, n. 3 (mar. 2020), a532, 11 p. https://doi.org/10.31533/pubvet.v14n3a532.1-11
- Chbel, A., Elmakssoudi, A., Rey-Méndez, M., Barja, J. L., Filali, O. A., Soukri, A., and Khalfi, B. E. (2022). Comparative Study of Essential Oil Composition, Anti-bacterial And Antioxidant Activities of the Aerial Parts of Thymus vulgaris Grown in Morocco and France. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 25(2), 380-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2022.2077141
- D'agostino, M., Tesse, N., Frippiat, J. P., Machouart, M., and Debourgogne, A. (2019). Essential oils and their natural active compounds presenting antifungal properties. *Molecules*, 24(20), 3713. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24203713
- Da Silva, J. K. R., Figueiredo, P. L. B., Byler, K. G., and Setzer, W. N. (2020). Essential oils as antiviral agents, potential of essential oils to treat SARS-CoV-2 infection: an in-silico investigation. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(10), 3426. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103426
- da Silveira Deminicis, R. G., Meneghetti, C., de Oliveira, E. B., Júnior, A. A. P. G., Farias Filho, R. V., and Deminicis, B. B. (2021). Systematic review of the use of phytobiotics in broiler nutrition. *Revista de Ciências Agroveterinárias*, 20(1), 098-106. https://doi.org/10.5965/223811712012021098
- Dahmani, K., Galai, M., Ouakki, M., Cherkaoui, M., Touir, R., Erkan, S. U. L. T. A. N., and El Ibrahimi, B. (2021). Quantum chemical and molecular dynamic simulation studies for the identification of the extracted cinnamon essential oil constituent responsible for copper corrosion inhibition in acidified 3.0 áwt% NaCl medium. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, 124, 108409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.inoche.2020.108409
- De Groot, A. C., and Schmidt, E. (2016). Essential oils, part I: introduction. *Dermatitis*, 27(2), 39-42. doi:10.1097/der.00000000000175
- de Sousa, D. P., Damasceno, R. O. S., Amorati, R., Elshabrawy, H. A., de Castro, R. D., Bezerra, D. P., and Lima, T. C. (2023). Essential oils: Chemistry and pharmacological activities. *Biomolecules*, 13(7), 1144. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13071144
- Drinić, Z., Pljevljakušić, D., Janković, T., Zdunić, G., Bigović, D., and Šavikin, K. (2021). Hydro-distillation and microwaveassisted distillation of Sideritis raeseri: Comparison of the composition of the essential oil, hydrolat and residual water extract. *Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy*, 24, 100538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scp.2021.100538
- Ebani, V. V., and Mancianti, F. (2020). Use of essential oils in veterinary medicine to combat bacterial and fungal infections. *Veterinary Sciences*, 7(4), 193. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci7040193
- El-Ghany, A. (2020). Phytobiotics in poultry industry as growth promoters, antimicrobials and immunomodulators–A review. *Journal of World's Poultry Research*, 10(4), 571-579. https://doi.org/10.36380/jwpr.2020.65
- Elnour, S. A., and Abdelsalam, E. B. (2018). Some biological and pharmacological effects of the black cumin (Nigella sativa): a concise review. Am Journal Research Communication. Elnour_Vol63.pdf (usa-journals.com)
- El-Saber Batiha, G., Magdy Beshbishy, A., G. Wasef, L., Elewa, Y. H., A. Al-Sagan, A., Abd El-Hack, M. E., and Prasad Devkota, H. (2020). Chemical constituents and pharmacological activities of garlic (Allium sativum L.): A review. *Nutrients*, 12(3), 872. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12030872
- Ezeorba, T. P. C., Chukwudozie, K. I., Ezema, C. A., Anaduaka, E. G., Nweze, E. J., and Okeke, E. S. (2022). Potentials for health and therapeutic benefits of garlic essential oils: Recent findings and future prospects. *Pharmacological Research-Modern Chinese Medicine*, 3, 100075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prmcm.2022.100075
- Ezzat Abd El-Hack, M., Alagawany, M., Ragab Farag, M., Tiwari, R., Karthik, K., Dhama, K., and Adel, M. (2016). Beneficial impacts of thymol essential oil on health and production of animals, fish and poultry: a review. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 28(5), 365-382. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2016.1153002
- Fawaz, M. A., Ismail, Z. S. H., Hassan, H. A., and Abdel-Wareth, A. A. A. (2021). Effect of thyme essential oil on productive performance of broiler chickens a-review. SVU-International Journal of Environmental Researches, 3(1), 8-18. 10.21608/svuijer.2021.215540
- Ferdous, M. F., Arefin, M. S., Rahman, M. M., Ripon, M. M. R., Rashid, M. H., Sultana, M. R., and Rafiq, K. (2019). Beneficial effects of probiotic and phytobiotic as growth promoter alternative to antibiotic for safe broiler production. *Journal of*

Advanced Veterinary and Animal Research, 6(3), 409. 10.5455/javar.2019.f361

- Ferrentino, G., Morozova, K., Horn, C., and Scampicchio, M. (2020). Extraction of essential oils from medicinal plants and their utilization as food antioxidants. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 26(5), 519-541. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612826666200121092018
- Ghasemy-Piranloo, F., Kavousi, F., and Kazemi-Abharian, M. (2022). Comparison for the production of essential oil by conventional, novel and biotechnology methods. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 34(5), 455-478. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2022.2120557
- Ghazi, S., Amjadian, T., and Norouzi, S. (2015). Single and combined effects of vitamin C and oregano essential oil in diet, on growth performance, and blood parameters of broiler chicks reared under heat stress condition. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 59, 1019-1024. 10.1007/s00484-014-0915-4
- Gholami-Ahangaran, M., Ahmadi-Dastgerdi, A., Azizi, S., Basiratpour, A., Zokaei, M., and Derakhshan, M. (2022). Thymol and carvacrol supplementation in poultry health and performance. *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 8(1), 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.663
- Gholami-Ahangaran, M., Ahmadi-Dastgerdi, A., Azizi, S., Basiratpour, A., Zokaei, M., and Derakhshan, M. (2022). Thymol and carvacrol supplementation in poultry health and performance. *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 8(1), 267-288. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.663
- Gržinić, G., Piotrowicz-Cieślak, A., Klimkowicz-Pawlas, A., Górny, R. L., Ławniczek-Wałczyk, A., Piechowicz, L., and Wolska, L. (2023). Intensive poultry farming: A review of the impact on the environment and human health. *Science of the Total Environment*, 858, 160014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.160014
- Guha, P., and Zari, S. R. (2017). Comparative Study of Microwave Assisted Hydro-Distillation with Conventional Hydro-Distillation for Extraction of Essential Oil from Piper betle L. *Biosciences Biotechnology Research Asia*, 14(1), 401-407. http://dx.doi.org/10.13005/bbra/2458
- Gulilat, L., Tegegne, F., and Demeke, S. (2021). Hatchery and broody technologies and least cost ration practice for poultry production improvement in Ethiopia. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 7(1), 1913793. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2021.1913793
- Hannan, M. A., Rahman, M. A., Sohag, A. A. M., Uddin, M. J., Dash, R., Sikder, M. H., and Kim, B. (2021). Black cumin (Nigella sativa L.): A comprehensive review on phytochemistry, health benefits, molecular pharmacology, and safety. *Nutrients*, 13(6), 1784. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13061784
- Hassan, Y. I., Lahaye, L., Gong, M. M., Peng, J., Gong, J., Liu, S., and Yang, C. (2018). Innovative drugs, chemicals, and enzymes within the animal production chain. *Veterinary Research*, 49, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-018-0559-1
- Hcini, K., Bahi, A., Abidi, M., Zarroug, M. B., Kahlaoui, S., Quílez, M., and Stambouli-Essassi, S. (2023). Chemical Composition and Biological Activities of Tunisian Wild Rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.) Essential Oils. 10.9734/bpi/nacb/v6/6217A
- Herman, R. A., Ayepa, E., Shittu, S., Fometu, S. S., and Wang, J. (2019). Essential oils and their applications-a mini review. Adv. Nutr. Food Sci, 4(4), 1-13. Essential-Oils-and-their-applications-A-mini-review.pdf (researchgate.net)
- Hippenstiel, F., Abdel-Wareth, A. A. A., Kehraus, S., and Südekum, K. H. (2011). Effects of selected herbs and essential oils, and their active components on feed intake and performance of broilers-a review. *Archieve Geflügelk*, 75(4), 226-234. Arch. Geflügelk. 4/2011
- Horky, P., Skalickova, S., Smerkova, K., and Skladanka, J. (2019). Essential oils as a feed additives: Pharmacokinetics and potential toxicity in monogastric animals. *Animals*, 9(6), 352. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060352
- Hosni, K., Hassen, I., Chaâbane, H., Jemli, M., Dallali, S., Sebei, H., and Casabianca, H. (2013). Enzyme-assisted extraction of essential oils from thyme (Thymus capitatus L.) and rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.): Impact on yield, chemical composition and antimicrobial activity. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 47, 291-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.03.023
- Hossain, M. A., Alrashdi, Y. B. A., and Al Touby, S. (2022). A review on essential oil analyses and biological activities of the traditionally used medicinal plant Thymus vulgaris L. *International Journal of Secondary Metabolite*, 9(1), 103-111. https://doi.org/10.21448/ijsm.1029080
- Irawan, A., Hidayat, C., Jayanegara, A., and Ratriyanto, A. (2021). Essential oils as growth-promoting additives on performance, nutrient digestibility, cecal microbes, and serum metabolites of broiler chickens: a meta-analysis. *Animal Bioscience*, 34(9), 1499. 10.5713/ab.20.0668
- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Yu, H., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Qian, H., and Yao, W. (2022). Synergistic interactions of plant essential oils with antimicrobial agents: A new antimicrobial therapy. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(7), 1740-1751. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1846494
- Kabutey, A., Herák, D., and Mizera, Č. (2023). Assessment of Quality and Efficiency of Cold-Pressed Oil from Selected Oilseeds. *Foods*, 12(19), 3636. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12193636
- Khalil, A. A., ur Rahman, U., Khan, M. R., Sahar, A., Mehmood, T., and Khan, M. (2017). Essential oil eugenol: Sources, extraction techniques and nutraceutical perspectives. *RSC Advances*, 7(52), 32669-32681. 10.1039/C7RA04803C
- Khomayezi, R., and Adewole, D. (2022). Probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics: An overview of their delivery routes and effects on growth and health of broiler chickens. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 78(1), 57-81.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00439339.2022.1988804

- Korver, D. R. (2023). Current challenges in poultry nutritio n, health, and welfare. *Animal*, 100755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2023.100755
- Kosakowska, O., Węglarz, Z., Pióro-Jabrucka, E., Przybył, J. L., Kraśniewska, K., Gniewosz, M., and Bączek, K. (2021). Antioxidant and antibacterial activity of essential oils and hydroethanolic extracts of Greek oregano (O. vulgare L. subsp. hirtum (Link) letswaart) and common oregano (O. vulgare L. subsp. vulgare). *Molecules*, *26*(4), 988. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26040988
- Krauze, M., Cendrowska-Pinkosz, M., Matuseviĉius, P., Stępniowska, A., Jurczak, P., and Ognik, K. (2021). The effect of administration of a phytobiotic containing cinnamon oil and citric acid on the metabolism, immunity, and growth performance of broiler chickens. *Animals*, 11(2), 399. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11020399
- Krysiak, K., Konkol, D., and Korczyński, M. (2021). Overview of the use of probiotics in poultry production. *Animals*, 11(6), 1620. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11061620
- Kuźniacka, J., Adamski, M., Czarnecki, R., and Banaszak, M. (2014). Results of rearing broiler chickens under various systems. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 6(4), 19-25. 10.5539/jas.v6n4p19
- Lahlou, M. (2004). Methods to study the phytochemistry and bioactivity of essential oils. Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 18(6), 435-448. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1465
- Lahlou, R. A., Bounechada, M., Mohammedi, A., Silva, L. R., and Alves, G. (2021). Dietary use of Rosmarinus officinalis and Thymus vulgaris as anticoccidial alternatives in poultry. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 273, 114826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2021.114826
- Lainez-Cerón, E., Ramírez-Corona, N., López-Malo, A., and Franco-Vega, A. (2022). An overview of mathematical modeling for conventional and intensified processes for extracting essential oils. *Chemical Engineering and Processing-Process Intensification*, 178, 109032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cep.2022.109032
- Leyva-López, N., Gutiérrez-Grijalva, E. P., Vazquez-Olivo, G., and Heredia, J. B. (2017). Essential oils of oregano: Biological activity beyond their antimicrobial properties. *Molecules*, 22(6), 989. 10.3390/molecules22060989
- Łubek-Nguyen, A., Ziemichód, W., and Olech, M. (2022). Application of enzyme-assisted extraction for the recovery of natural bioactive compounds for nutraceutical and pharmaceutical applications. *Applied Sciences*, 12(7), 3232. https://doi.org/10.3390/app12073232
- Mahfuz, S., and Piao, X. S. (2019). Application of Moringa (Moringa oleifera) as natural feed supplement in poultry diets. *Animals*, 9(7), 431. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9070431
- Man, A., Santacroce, L., Iacob, R., Mare, A., and Man, L. (2019). Antimicrobial activity of six essential oils against a group of human pathogens: A comparative study. *Pathogens*, 8(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens8010015
- Mao, Q. Q., Xu, X. Y., Cao, S. Y., Gan, R. Y., Corke, H., Beta, T., and Li, H. B. (2019). Bioactive compounds and bioactivities of ginger (Zingiber officinale Roscoe). *Foods*, 8(6), 185. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods8060185
- Maurya, A., Prasad, J., Das, S., and Dwivedy, A. K. (2021). Essential oils and their application in food safety. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5, 653420. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.653420
- Melaku, M., Zhong, R., Han, H., Wan, F., Yi, B., and Zhang, H. (2021). Butyric and citric acids and their salts in poultry nutrition: Effects on gut health and intestinal microbiota. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(19), 10392. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms221910392
- Micciche, A., Rothrock Jr, M. J., Yang, Y., and Ricke, S. C. (2019). Essential oils as an intervention strategy to reduce Campylobacter in poultry production: A review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 1058. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01058
- Mirza Alizadeh, A., Golzan, S. A., Mahdavi, A., Dakhili, S., Torki, Z., and Hosseini, H. (2022). Recent advances on the efficacy of essential oils on mycotoxin secretion and their mode of action. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(17), 4726-4751. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2021.1878102
- Mkaddem Mounira, G., Ahlem, Z., Abdallah Mariem, B., Romdhane, M., K. Okla, M., Al-Hashimi, A., and AbdElgawad, H. (2022). Essential oil composition and antioxidant and antifungal activities of two varieties of Ocimum basilicum L.(Lamiaceae) at two phenological stages. *Agronomy*, 12(4), 825. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12040825
- Mnisi, C. M., Mlambo, V., Gila, A., Matabane, A. N., Mthiyane, D. M., Kumanda, C., and Gajana, C. S. (2022). Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of selected phytogenics for sustainable poultry production. *Applied Sciences*, 13(1), 99. https://doi.org/10.3390/app13010099
- Mucha, W., and Witkowska, D. (2021). The applicability of essential oils in different stages of production of animal-based foods. *Molecules*, 26(13), 3798. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26133798
- Murshed, M. A., and Abudabos, A. M. (2015). Effects of the dietary inclusion of a probiotic, a prebiotic or their combinations on the growth performance of broiler chickens. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, 17, 99-103. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-635XSPECIALISSUENutrition-PoultryFeedingAdditives099-104
- Mushtaq, A., Roobab, U., Denoya, G. I., Inam-Ur-Raheem, M., Gullón, B., Lorenzo, J. M., and Aadil, R. M. (2020). Advances in green processing of seed oils using ultrasound-assisted extraction: A review. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 44(10), e14740. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.14740

Mutlu-Ingok, A., Devecioglu, D., Dikmetas, D. N., Karbancioglu-Guler, F., and Capanoglu, E. (2020). Antibacterial, antifungal,

antimycotoxigenic, and antioxidant activities of essential oils: An updated review. *Molecules*, 25(20), 4711. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25204711

- Natu, K. N., and Tatke, P. A. (2019). Essential oils-prospective candidates for antifungal treatment? *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 31(5), 347-360. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2019.1604437
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2017). Essential oils and antifungal activity. *Pharmaceuticals*, 10(4), 86. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph10040086
- Nehme, R., Andrés, S., Pereira, R. B., Ben Jemaa, M., Bouhallab, S., Ceciliani, F., and Abdennebi-Najar, L. (2021). Essential oils in livestock: From health to food quality. *Antioxidants*, 10(2), 330. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10020330
- Nerio, L. S., Olivero-Verbel, J., and Stashenko, E. (2010). Repellent activity of essential oils: a review. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(1), 372-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.07.048
- Nora, F. M. D., and Borges, C. D. (2017). Ultrasound pretreatment as an alternative to improve essential oils extraction. *Ciência Rural*, 47. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20170173
- Ntalikwa, J. W. (2021). Solvent extraction of jatropha oil for biodiesel production: Effects of solvent-to-solid ratio, particle size, type of solvent, extraction time, and temperature on oil yield. *Journal of Renewable Energy*, 2021, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9221168
- Oktavianawati, I. (2020). Essential oil extraction of cananga odorata flowers using hydrodistillation and steam-water distillation processes. In IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering (Vol. 833, No. 1, p. 012032). IOP Publishing. 10.1088/1757-899X/833/1/012032
- Oliveira, G. D. S., McManus, C., Sousa, H. A. D. F., Santos, P. H. G. D. S., and dos Santos, V. M. (2024). A Mini-Review of the Main Effects of Essential Oils from Citrus aurantifolia, Ocimum basilicum, and Allium sativum as Safe Antimicrobial Activity in Poultry. *Animals*, 14(3), 382. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani14030382
- Oluwafemi, R. A., Olawale, I., and Alagbe, J. O. (2020). Recent trends in the utilization of medicinal plants as growth promoters in poultry nutrition-A review. Research in: *Agricultural and Veterinary Sciences*, 4(1), 5-11. RECENT-TRENDS-IN-THE-UTILIZATION-OF-MEDICINAL-PLANTS-AS-GROWTH-PROMOTERS-IN-POULTRY-NUTRITION-A-REVIEW.pdf (researchgate.net)
- Paputungan, I. V., Al Faruq, A., Puspasari, F., Al Hakim, F., Fahrurrozi, I., Oktiawati, U. Y., and Mutakhiroh, I. (2020, April). Temperature and humidity monitoring system in broiler poultry farm. In IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering (Vol. 803, No. 1, p. 012010). IOP Publishing. 10.1088/1757-899X/803/1/012010
- Pateiro, M., Barba, F. J., Domínguez, R., Sant'Ana, A. S., Khaneghah, A. M., Gavahian, M., and Lorenzo, J. M. (2018). Essential oils as natural additives to prevent oxidation reactions in meat and meat products: A review. *Food Research International*, 113, 156-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.07.014
- Peng, Q. Y., Li, J. D., Li, Z., Duan, Z. Y., and Wu, Y. P. (2016). Effects of dietary supplementation with oregano essential oil on growth performance, carcass traits and jejunal morphology in broiler chickens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 214, 148-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.02.010
- Petricevic, V., Lukic, M., Skrbic, Z., Rakonjac, S., Doskovic, V., Petricevic, M., and Stanojkovic, A. (2018). The effect of using rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) in broiler nutrition on production parameters, slaughter characteristics, and gut microbiological population. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences*, 42(6), 658-664. https://doi.org/10.3906/vet-1803-53
- Pliego, A. B., Tavakoli, M., Khusro, A., Seidavi, A., Elghandour, M. M., Salem, A. Z., and Rene Rivas-Caceres, R. (2022). Beneficial and adverse effects of medicinal plants as feed supplements in poultry nutrition: A review. *Animal Biotechnology*, 33(2), 369-391. https://doi.org/10.1080/10495398.2020.1798973
- Pontes-Quero, G. M., Esteban-Rubio, S., Pérez Cano, J., Aguilar, M. R., and Vázquez-Lasa, B. (2021). Oregano Essential Oil Micro- and Nanoencapsulation with Bioactive Properties for Biotechnological and Biomedical Applications. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 9, 703684. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2021.703684
- Popović, S., Puvača, N., Peulić, T., Ikonić, P., Spasevski, N., Kostadinović, L., and Đuragić, O. (2019). The usefulness of dietary essential oils mixture supplementation on quality aspect of poultry meat. *Journal of Agronomy*, 11.
- Prescha, A., Grajzer, M., Dedyk, M., and Grajeta, H. (2014). The antioxidant activity and oxidative stability of cold-pressed oils. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 91(8), 1291-1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-014-2479-1
- Puvača, N., Čabarkapa, I., Petrović, A., Bursić, V., Prodanović, R., Soleša, D., and Lević, J. (2019). Tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia) and its essential oil: antimicrobial, antioxidant and acaricidal effects in poultry production. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 75(2), 235-246. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043933919000229
- Puvača, N., Tufarelli, V., and Giannenas, I. (2022). Essential oils in broiler chicken production, immunity and meat quality: Review of Thymus vulgaris, Origanum vulgare, and Rosmarinus officinalis. Agriculture, 12(6), 874. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12060874
- Rabiej-Kozioł, D., Momot-Ruppert, M., Stawicka, B., and Szydłowska-Czerniak, A. (2023). Health benefits, antioxidant activity, and sensory attributes of selected cold-pressed oils. *Molecules*, 28(14), 5484. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28145484
- Rafeeq, M., Bilal, R. M., Alagawany, M., Batool, F., Yameen, K., Farag, M. R., and El-Shall, N. A. (2022). The use of some herbal plants as effective alternatives to antibiotic growth enhancers in poultry nutrition. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 78(4), 1067-1085. https://doi.org/10.1080/00439339.2022.2108362

- Rahman, M. R. T., Fliss, I., and Biron, E. (2022). Insights in the development and uses of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in poultry and swine production. *Antibiotics*, 11(6), 766. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11060766
- Ramukhithi, T. F., Nephawe, K. A., Mpofu, T. J., Raphulu, T., Munhuweyi, K., Ramukhithi, F. V., and Mtileni, B. (2023). An Assessment of Economic Sustainability and Efficiency in Small-Scale Broiler Farms in Limpopo Province: A Review. Sustainability, 15(3), 2030. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15032030
- Raza, Q. S., Saleemi, M. K., Gul, S., Irshad, H., Fayyaz, A., Zaheer, I., and Khan, A. (2022). Role of essential oils/volatile oils in poultry production—A review on present, past and future contemplations. *Agrobiology Record*, 7, 40-56. https://doi.org/10.47278/journal.abr/2021.013
- Rehman, A., Arif, M., Sajjad, N., Al-Ghadi, M. Q., Alagawany, M., Abd El-Hack, M. E., and Swelum, A. A. (2020). Dietary effect of probiotics and prebiotics on broiler performance, carcass, and immunity. *Poultry Science*, 99(12), 6946-6953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.09.043
- Reichling, J. (2022). Antiviral and virucidal properties of essential oils and isolated compounds-A scientific approach. *Planta Medica*, 88(08), 587-603. 10.1055/a-1382-2898
- Reyes-Jurado, F., Franco-Vega, A., Ramírez-Corona, N., Palou, E., and López-Malo, A. (2015). Essential oils: antimicrobial activities, extraction methods, and their modeling. *Food Engineering Reviews*, 7, 275-297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12393-014-9099-2
- Ricke, S. C. (2021). Prebiotics and alternative poultry production. *Poultry Science*, 100(7), 101174 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101174
- Rivera-Pérez, W., Barquero-Calvo, E., and Chaves, A. J. (2021). Effect of the use of probiotic Bacillus subtilis (QST 713) as a growth promoter in broilers: an alternative to bacitracin methylene disalicylate. *Poultry Science*, 100(9), 101372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101372
- Ruff, J., Tellez Jr, G., Forga, A. J., Señas-Cuesta, R., Vuong, C. N., Greene, E. S., and Tellez-Isaias, G. (2021). Evaluation of three formulations of essential oils in broiler chickens under cyclic heat stress. *Animals*, 11(4), 1084. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11041084
- Saied, A. M., Attia, A. I., El-Kholy, M. S., Reda, F. M., and Nagar, A. G. E. L. (2022). Effect of cinnamon oil supplementation into broiler chicken diets on growth, carcass traits, haemato-biochemical parameters, immune function, antioxidant status and caecal microbial count. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 31(1), 21-33 10.22358/jafs/146921/2022
- Saldaña-Mendoza, S. A., Chávez-González, M. L., Ramírez-Guzmán, N., Pacios-Michelena, S., and Aguilar, C. N. (2022). Technological trends in the extraction of essential oils. *Environmental Quality Management*, 32(1), 441-450. https://doi.org/10.1002/tqem.21882
- Samad, A. (2022). Antibiotics resistance in poultry and its solution. *Devotion Journal of Community Service*, 3(10), 999-1020. https://doi.org/10.36418/dev.v3i10.206
- Sapsuha, Y., Suprijatna, E., Kismiati, S., and Sugiharto, S. (2021). Combination of probiotic and phythobiotic as an alternative for antibiotic growth promoter for broilers chickens-a review. *Livestock Research Rural Dev*, 33, 49. Combination of probiotic and phythobiotic as an alternative for antibiotic growth promoter for broilers chickens a review (cipav.org.co)
- Scicutella, F., Mannelli, F., Daghio, M., Viti, C., and Buccioni, A. (2021). Polyphenols and organic acids as alternatives to antimicrobials in poultry rearing: a review. *Antibiotics*, 10(8), 1010. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10081010
- Seidavi, A. R., Laudadio, V., Khazaei, R., Puvača, N., Selvaggi, M., and Tufarelli, V. (2020). Feeding of black cumin (Nigella sativa L.) and its effects on poultry production and health. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 76(2), 346-357. https://doi.org/10.1080/00439339.2020.1750328
- Seidavi, A., Tavakoli, M., Slozhenkina, M., Gorlov, I., Hashem, N. M., Asroosh, F., and Swelum, A. A. (2021). The use of some plant-derived products as effective alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in organic poultry production: A review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28, 47856-47868. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-15460-7
- Shen, L., Pang, S., Zhong, M., Sun, Y., Qayum, A., Liu, Y., and Ren, X. (2023). A comprehensive review of ultrasonic assisted extraction (UAE) for bioactive components: Principles, advantages, equipment, and combined technologies. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 106646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2023.106646
- Simitzis, P. E. (2017). Enrichment of animal diets with essential oils—a great perspective on improving animal performance and quality characteristics of the derived products. *Medicines*, 4(2), 35. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines4020035
- Stevanović, Z. D., Bošnjak-Neumüller, J., Pajić-Lijaković, I., Raj, J., and Vasiljević, M. (2018). Essential oils as feed additives— Future perspectives. *Molecules*, 23(7), 1717. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071717</u>
- Su, G., Wang, L., Zhou, X., Wu, X., Chen, D., Yu, B., and He, J. (2021). Effects of essential oil on growth performance, digestibility, immunity, and intestinal health in broilers. *Poultry Science*, 100(8), 101242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101242
- Tabassum, N., and Vidyasagar, G. M. (2013). Antifungal investigations on plant essential oils. A review. International JournalofPharmacyandPharmaceuticalSciences,5(2),19-28.ANTIFUNGAL_INVESTIGATIONS_ON_PLANT_ESSENTIAL_OILS._A_REVIEW-libre.pdf (d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net)
- Tajima, A. (2023). Historical Overview of Poultry in Japan. *The Journal of Poultry Science*, 60(2), 2023015 https://doi.org/10.2141/jpsa.2023015

Tamam, S., Abd el Hamid, M., Samah, M. H., and Marwa, A. N. (2017). The anti-viral and immunomodulatory activity of

- Tariq, S., Wani, S., Rasool, W., Shafi, K., Bhat, M. A., Prabhakar, A., and Rather, M. A. (2019). A comprehensive review of the antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents against drug-resistant microbial pathogens. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 134, 103580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.103580
- Thorat, S. G., Panwar, V. S., Dahiya, D. S., and Tewatia, B. S. (2015). Efficacy of probiotics, prebiotics and enzymes as growth promoters on the performance of broiler chicken. *Haryana Veterinary*, 54(1), 75-78. 22.pdf (luvas.edu.in)
- Thuekeaw, S., Angkanaporn, K., and Nuengjamnong, C. (2022). Microencapsulated basil oil (Ocimum basilicum Linn.) enhances growth performance, intestinal morphology, and antioxidant capacity of broiler chickens in the tropics. *Animal Bioscience*, 35(5), 752. doi: 10.5713/ab.21.0299
- Turek, C., and Stintzing, F. C. (2013). Stability of essential oils: a review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 12(1), 40-53. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12006
- Valdivieso-Ugarte, M., Gomez-Llorente, C., Plaza-Díaz, J., and Gil, Á. (2019). Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and immunomodulatory properties of essential oils: A systematic review. *Nutrients*, 11(11), 2786. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11112786
- Vlaicu, P. A., Untea, A. E., Gavris, T., and Cornescu, G. M. (2022). Basil, Thyme and Sage Herbal Plants and their Associated Essential Oils as Feed Additives in Chicken Broilers. A Literature Review. Scientific Papers: Series D, Animal Science-The International Session of Scientific Communications of the Faculty of Animal Science, 65(1). Art31.pdf (usamv.ro)
- Wickramasuriya, S. S., Park, I., Lee, K., Lee, Y., Kim, W. H., Nam, H., and Lillehoj, H. S. (2022). Role of physiology, immunity, microbiota, and infectious diseases in the gut health of poultry. *Vaccines*, 10(2), 172. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10020172
- Wilcox, C. H., Sandilands, V., Mayasari, N., Asmara, I. Y., and Anang, A. (2023). A literature review of broiler chicken welfare, husbandry, and assessment. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 1-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00439339.2023.2264824
- Wińska, K., Mączka, W., Łyczko, J., Grabarczyk, M., Czubaszek, A., and Szumny, A. (2019). Essential oils as antimicrobial agents—myth or real alternative?. *Molecules*, 24(11), 2130. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24112130
- Wu, D., Cui, D., Zhou, M., and Ying, Y. (2022). Information perception in modern poultry farming: A review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 199, 107131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2022.107131
- Yaqoob, M. U., Wang, G., and Wang, M. (2022). An updated review on probiotics as an alternative of antibiotics in poultry—A review. *Animal Bioscience*, 35(8), 1109. 10.5713/ab.21.0485
- Zhai, H., Liu, H., Wang, S., Wu, J., and Kluenter, A. M. (2018). Potential of essential oils for poultry and pigs. *Animal Nutrition*, 4(2), 179-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.005
- Zhang, Y., Li, X. Y., Zhang, B. S., Ren, L. N., Lu, Y. P., Tang, J. W., Lv, D., Yong, L., Lin, L. T., Lin, Z. X., Mo, Q., and Mo, M. L. (2022). In vivo antiviral effect of plant essential oils against avian infectious bronchitis virus. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 18(1), 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-022-03183-x
- Zweil, H. S., Zahran, S. M., Ahmed, M. H., and El-Mabrok, B. M. (2019). Growth performance, carcass traits, immune response and antioxidant status of growing rabbits supplemented with peppermint and basil essential oils. *Egyptian Poultry Science Journal*, 39(1), 61-79. 10.21608/epsj.2019.28805

Chapter 21

Unveiling the Versatile Role of Essential oils in Food Industry for Enhanced Food Preservation

Ulfat Fatima¹, Maria Aslam¹, Noreen Fatima¹, Fiza Gull¹, Safa toqir², Iqra¹, Muzdalfa Yasin³, Warda Mustafa⁴, Kishwar iqbal¹ and Amna Arshad⁵

¹Department of Chemistry, Government College University Faisalabad

²Department of biochemistry, Government college university Faisalabad

³Department of Chemistry, Lahore College for Women University, Lahore

⁴Department of Chemistry, Punjab University Lahore

⁵Chemistry Department, Riphah International University, Faisalabad

*Corresponding author: ulfatfatima973@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The global food industry faces significant challenges stemming from the substantial loss of food materials due to spoilage and microbial contamination, exacerbating the scarcity of food per capita. Traditional preservation methods, reliant on synthetic additives, pose health risks, prompting a search for safer alternatives. Essential oils (EOs) have emerged as a beacon of hope, possessing multifaceted properties that render them invaluable in food preservation. This chapter delves into the pivotal role of EOs in combating food spoilage, elucidating their natural antimicrobial, antioxidant, and antifungal attributes with minimal health implications. Through an in-depth exploration of their application methodologies, the versatile efficacy of EOs in preserving food integrity is unveiled, underscoring their potential as avant-garde solutions in mitigating food loss and fortifying global food security.

KEYWORDS	Received: 04-Jun-2024	SCHENTINIC APR	A Publication of
Encapsulation, Essential oils, Terpenoids, Antioxidants,	Revised: 18-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
Microencapsulation, Nano encapsulation	Accepted: 07-Aug-2024	1, USP &	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Fatima U, 2024. Unveiling the versatile role of essential oils in food industry for enhanced food preservation. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 183-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.274</u>

INTRODUCTION

Food Contamination or Spoilage

Organic substances which are mainly used to get energy or nutrition are referred to as food. Food can either be a plant or an animal origin. Foods are the source of micronutrients which are essential for the growth and development. Mostly food get spoiled which may cause change in the nutritional value of the food (Alonso et al., 2018). When the food does not affect the consumer's health and wellbeing it is considered as safe or secure. So food safety is referred as all the activities that guaranteed the food will not cause any health risk to the consumers (Kamala and Kumar, 2018). As human population has increased globally one of the major challenge is food insecurity or spoilage. A large portion of food get spoiled due to certain factors which is increasing the global hunger index. It has become difficult to fulfil the second sustainable development goal that is zero hunger due to unprecedented food spoilage. According to FAO almost one third of the food which can be used for human consumption get spoiled (Garvey, 2019). The primary stage of contamination started with changing the shape, color, texture and odor of food.

Causes of Food Contamination

Food contamination can be caused due to three main process that are microbial contamination, physical contamination and chemical contamination (Amit et al., 2017).

The food contamination through microorganisms is more common which enter in the food chain through several ways. Pesticides and inorganic fertilizers cause chemical contamination in food (Pina-Perez et al., 2017).

The microorganisms enter the food and start to multiply which causes a high level of food spoilage. They not only cause spoilage of food but also produce toxic materials in food which are usually referred as mycotoxins (Batiha et al., 2021). These microbes enter in food chain at any level during pre or post harvesting. These mycotoxins are contributors to food borne diseases which pose a great threat to public health and food security or sustainability (Alonso et al., 2018). Food spoilage due to microorganisms occurs in many ways as they alter the texture of food they cause a bad odor. As these microbes break down the proteins or fats in food it results in formation of grains or fungus over the food. Which

identifies that the food gets spoiled (Hamad, 2012).

Traditional Food Preservation Methods

Food preservation encompasses methods and techniques employed to prevent the spoilage and degradation of food. Across ages, a plethora of traditional methods have been embraced to ensure the safety and security of food (Joshua Ajibola, 2020). A spectrum of preservation techniques is employed, spanning physical, biological, and chemical methodologies. Physical processing encompasses drying, chilling, pickling, irradiation, and freezing (Afsah-Hejri et al., 2020). Biological techniques for food preservation encompass fermentation processes, such as lactic acid fermentation for dairy goods or vinegar fermentation. Fermentation occurs spontaneously in certain foods, while in others, it may require initiation. Biological methods rely on microorganisms for food processing (Soomro et al., 2002).



Chemical preservatives involve the incorporation of additives into food, encompassing both naturally occurring and synthetic food enhancements (Syamaladevi et al., 2016). Food additives are chemical compounds utilized to deter spoilage, enrich nutritional value, and augment flavor profiles in food products. Nonetheless, these additives have been linked to deleterious health ramifications (Mowafy et al., 2001). In our current era, artificial additives are extensively utilized in food production despite their recognized health hazards. These additives pose significant risks, especially for vulnerable populations such as patients, infants, the elderly, and expectant mothers, potentially precipitating various health conditions (Singh and Shalini, 2016). Therefore, there is an imperative need for additives or enhancements that carry no adverse health effects and instead offer favorable attributes for food preservation (Dwivedi et al., 2017).

The conventional approaches to food preservation have become obsolete in the face of modern advancements and preservative innovations. Essential oils have emerged as a cutting-edge alternative for safeguarding food, boasting a diverse set of properties that work wonders in ensuring food safety and stability, all without posing any harmful effects (Tiwari et al., 2009).

Essential oils represent the aromatic essence distilled or extracted from various botanical sources such as bark, herbs, woods, roots, and fruits (Turek and Stintzing, 2013). Commonly known as "volatile oils," they typically possess a colorless appearance alongside distinctive fragrances. Widely embraced across pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, and the culinary world, these oils are renowned for their potent aromas (Bakkali et al., 2008; Raut and Karuppayil, 2014), often utilized in perfumery and ambiance creation. Referred to as ethereal oils, they exhibit hydrophobic properties and are harbored within the oil glands of plant parts, particularly fruit peels. Diverse extraction methodologies are employed to harness these precious oils (Aziz et al., 2018).



While essential oils have a historical presence, their resurgence in contemporary research and experimentation is fueled by their concentrated manifestation of nature's botanical treasures. Essential oils, derived from natural plant sources, are recognized for their innate antiviral, antifungal, and antimicrobial attributes (Langeveld et al., 2014). Classified as phytochemicals, they offer anti-inflammatory, analgesic, and fungicidal properties, along with acting as herbicidal agents. Additionally, they possess the capability to attract insects (Martins et al., 2017).

Components of Essential Oils

Essential oils represent a fascinating amalgamation of diverse chemical compounds, spanning both polar and nonpolar realms. Their intricate composition is a result of a multitude of factors, including the intricate interplay of the extraction methodology, botanical origin, and geographical specificity (Majeed et al., 2015). Primarily, essential oils are delineated into two fundamental groups: aromatic compounds and terpenoids (Vokou, 2007), each contributing distinct characteristics to the overall profile. Aromatic compounds, often referred to as phenylpropanoids, boast aromatic rings in their molecular architecture (Kar et al., 2018). These compounds are frequently imbued with benzene derivatives (Garay et al., 2020), showcasing an array of functional groups such as alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, and esters. Their aromatic nature not only confers pleasing scents but also imparts various therapeutic properties, ranging from antimicrobial to analgesic effect (Tongnuanchan and Benjakul, 2014).

Conversely, terpenoids exhibit a more nuanced complexity, stemming from their isoprene-based structures (Rao et al., 2019). These hydrocarbon-based molecules are assembled from isoprene units and subunits, manifesting a rich diversity of chemical functionalities. Monoterpenes, comprising a single isoprene unit, and sesquiterpenes, consisting of three isoprene units, dominate this category (Dehsheikh et al., 2020). Their intricate molecular frameworks endow essential oils with a plethora of biological activities, including anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and neuroprotective properties (Nazzaro et al., 2013).

Moreover, the specific composition of essential oils is further shaped by ancillary factors such as environmental conditions, seasonal variations, and genetic predispositions of the botanical source. Consequently, essential oils serve as veritable reservoirs of chemical complexity (Crepet et al., 2007), offering not only olfactory delights but also a myriad of therapeutic potentials that continue to captivate scientific inquiry and application in diverse domains, from aromatherapy to pharmaceuticals (Mahmoudi et al., 2017).

In addition to terpenes, aromatic compounds constitute a significant portion of essential oils. These aromatic compounds typically contain benzene rings, albeit in relatively small proportions within the oil's overall composition (Mahato et al., 2019). They may exhibit a variety of functional groups such as hydroxyl, methoxy, and carboxylic groups, contributing to the complexity of the oil's chemical profile (Saad et al., 2013). Moreover, essential oils are known to contain a diverse array of chemical constituents beyond aromatic compounds and terpenes (Lee and Ding, 2016). These may include straight-chain molecules as well as other functional groups such as sulfur and nitrogen, further enriching the oil's composition and properties (Moleyar and Narasimham, 1992).

Properties of Essential Oils

The food industry extensively employs essential oils owing to their remarkable attributes and advantages, rendering them valuable for food preservation and storage purposes. These oils possess exceptional properties that contribute to their efficacy in maintaining the quality and safety of food products over time (Raut and Karuppayil, 2014).



Elevating Antimicrobial Efficacy: The Prime Potential of Essential Oils

Antimicrobial agents represent a diverse array of compounds adept at impeding microbial growth or inducing their demise. Essential oils have emerged as particularly potent among these agents. Their hydrophobic nature facilitates penetration deep into microbial cell membranes, where they wreak havoc by disrupting the delicate balance of ion transport, ultimately leading to the demise of the microorganisms (Chouhan et al., 2017).

Recent findings suggest that aromatic essential oils (EOs) outperform their terpene-containing counterparts in terms of antimicrobial potency. In modern perspectives, EOs have garnered significant attention as potent antimicrobial agents owing to their health-preserving attributes and organic provenance, thus circumventing the apprehensions linked with harmful additives that pose substantial health risks (Dorman and Deans, 2000).

Essential oils featuring aldehydes, ketone, and ester moieties demonstrate heightened antibacterial effectiveness in contrast to those lacking such chemical constituents (Gyorgy, 2010).Essential oils possess the capability to induce cell wall damage, impede ATP synthesis crucial for bacterial energy metabolism, and heighten membrane permeability. This multifaceted action culminates in the degradation of microbial cell walls and subsequent leakage of intracellular contents. The antimicrobial prowess stems from the synergistic interplay of essential oils (EOs) sourced from varied botanical origins. Synergism, characterized by an amplification of effect when two compounds are conjoined, encapsulates this attribute. Despite the potential for antagonistic interactions, EOs exhibit synergistic effects (Ju et al., 2022; Probst et al., 2011).

When two distinct essential oils are amalgamated, their antimicrobial efficacy surpasses that of individual components, showcasing a heightened potency in tandem (Hammer et al., 1999). A catalog of plant sources yielding essential oils underscores their utility as antimicrobial agents, presenting intriguing prospects for future research. Notably, lemongrass

oil, derived from Cymbopogon citratus (Mukarram et al., 2021), commonly known as lemongrass, emerges as a particularly noteworthy candidate. Exhibiting considerable antibacterial activity against a spectrum of pathogens, including both grampositive and gram-negative bacteria such as Escherichia coli (Moore-Neibel et al., 2012), it showcases remarkable efficacy against disease-causing microorganisms. The aldehydes constituents found within lemongrass are credited for augmenting its antimicrobial potency (Premathilake et al., 2018), signaling promising avenues for further investigation.

Bustos C et al. (2016) was involved in pioneering research centered around the utilization of Lemon Grass Oil (LMO) as a protective film to impede the proliferation of E. coli bacteria. This innovative approach was tailored towards extending the shelf life of food commodities primarily sourced from fatty fruits. To accomplish this microcapsule for encapsulating lemongrass oil were developed, representing a cutting-edge strategy for enhancing food preservation and safety.

Boukhatem et al., (2014) research focused on unlocking the antimicrobial potential of lemongrass oil against both bacterial and yeast pathogens. By meticulously dissecting its chemical composition, we pinpointed the specific agents responsible for its antimicrobial efficacy. The findings underscored the superiority of certain components, particularly the essential oils, in providing formidable defense against gram-positive bacteria and select yeast strains. Moreover, we posited a novel conjecture that the efficacy of these essential oil constituents is heightened in their gaseous state compared to their liquid form. This revelation underscores the remarkable versatility and potency of lemongrass oil as a natural antimicrobial agent, positioning it as a cornerstone in the quest for innovative antimicrobial solutions.

Table 1.1: Utilizing Pla	it Essential Oils as	Antimicrobial	Agents for O	ptimal Food	Preservation
--------------------------	----------------------	---------------	--------------	-------------	--------------

Sources of EOs	Antimicrobial activity	Effect in food preservation	References
Lemongrass oil	Combating against bacteria and fungicidal microbes	I Assist in the creation of coatings that prolong the shelf life.	(Bustos et al., 2016)
Clove oil	Enhanced antimicrobia potency against pathogenic bacteria such as <i>S. aureus</i> , <i>E</i> <i>coli</i> , and <i>L. monocytogenes</i> .	I Utilizing clove essential oil encapsulated within a polysaccharide c matrix serves to inhibit bacterial proliferation, thus enhancing the preservation of meat products. Additionally, its robust scavenging capabilities play a pivotal role in extending the shelf life of cheese.	e (Menon e and Garg, 2001; Radunz et al., 2019)
Tea tree oil	Enhanced activity against <i>L</i> monocytogenes and <i>E</i> . coli	. Tea tree oil disrupts the cellular membranes of bacteria pathogens, leading to their demise, thereby aiding in the preservation of freshly squeezed fruit juices, particularly cucumber juice.	(Shi et al., 2018)
Limonene oil	Best antimicrobial agents against Salmonella entericc and Listeria monocytogenes.	5 The application of a d-limonene nanoeulsion coating on fresh 7 bananas exhibited a notable extension in their shelf life and a marked reduction in microbial proliferation, promising enhanced preservation.	i (Hou et al., 2022)
Lavender oil	Suppress bacterial and fungal growth	Demonstrated to be a cost-effective preservation additive, aiding in the preservation of ready-to-use mushrooms. This is achieved through the utilization of lavender oil encapsulated withir chitosan, complemented by cinnamon oil serving as a natural preservative. The chitosan-encapsulated lavender oil also contributes to the preservation of food items.	(Farokhian et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2022)
Eucalyptus oil	Antifungal agents against fungus species (P. expansum)	t A blend of eucalyptus essential oil and rosemary oil was employed to protect pears and apples, resulting in diminished fungal growth and prolonged fruit shelf life. This underscores its potential as a natural fungicidal preservative for food products.	; (Xylia et al., 2021) ;
Thyme essential oil	Against bacteria, viruses and fungal species	s Nanoemulsions of thyme essential oils were used for the preservation of meat and increasing the storage period.	e (Snoussi et al., 2022)

Essential Oils: Superlative Antioxidants for Food Preservation

The inclusion of phenolic components endows essential oils with exceptional antioxidant properties, sourced from a diverse array of botanicals and herbs. These compounds, known as polyphenols, are present in minute proportions relative to oxidants but exert significant influence by impeding oxidation processes. Consequently, essential oils emerge as invaluable food supplements, instrumental in mitigating health risks and fortifying cardiovascular health (Baratta et al., 1998).

The innate redox characteristics of essential oils underscore their unparalleled efficacy as reducing agents. Employing diverse methodologies like the DPPH or FRAP assays enables the quantification of phenolic content (Teixeira et al., 2013), illuminating their radical scavenging prowess. Within essential oils, aromatic compounds serve as primary sources of polyphenols (Jirovetz et al., 2006), thus augmenting their anti-oxidative capacity. Certain botanical species, such as cloves, exhibit notably elevated levels of phenolic compounds in their essential oils, endowing them with exceptional antioxidant properties, often surpassing synthetic counterparts.

This heightened efficacy is primarily attributed to the presence of eugenol (Misharina and Samusenko, 2008). Similarly, carvacrol, a constituent found in oregano, imparts potent antioxidant attributes to its essential oil (Olmedo et al., 2014). The complex interplay between essential oil constituents and radicals serves as the cornerstone of their antioxidant functionality. Furthermore, the synergistic amalgamation of these bioactive components within essential oils further enhances their antioxidant potency, making them formidable allies in combatting oxidative stress and preserving health. In the endeavor to thwart oxidation, essential oils (EOs) deploy multifaceted strategies (Misharina and Polshkov, 2005).

Through the donation of hydrogen ions, EOs intricately disrupt the oxidative cascade, facilitating the conversion of free radicals into stabilized molecules. This pivotal role defines them as primary antioxidants (Damien Dorman et al., 1995). Concurrently, secondary antioxidants operate by engaging chelating agents, orchestrating the neutralization of free radicals, and orchestrating their transformation into inert components (Yang et al., 2010).

The rich array of antioxidants inherent in natural food matrices serves as a bulwark against diseases stemming from the menacing presence of nitrogen and oxygen species. Harnessing essential oils to stave off lipid oxidation heralds an innovation in the preservation of vegetable oils harboring both saturated and unsaturated lipids (Perumal et al., 2022), thereby significantly extending their shelf life. Descriptive accounts delineate how particular essential oils operate and their efficacy as natural antioxidants in ensuring food preservation and safety, elucidated as follows:

Rodriguez-Garcia et al. (2016) delved into the utilization of oregano essential oils' antioxidant prowess. Their investigation revealed a significant contribution in inhibiting lipid peroxidation, thus bolstering the longevity of dairy products, oils, and various lipid-rich food substrates.

Yang et al. (2010) undertook a comprehensive analysis to discern the antioxidant efficacy among six distinct essential oils. Notably, lavender oil emerged as a standout, boasting elevated phenolic content and robust lipid peroxidation inhibition. Their findings underscored the profound potential of these botanical extracts in quelling free radicals, thereby combatting food spoilage. Thus, the discerning use of essential oils as natural antioxidants holds promise for bolstering preservation strategies within real-world food systems.

Unveiling Essential Oils: Antifungal and Anti-inflammatory Potency

Fungal infections, often more menacing than those caused by bacterial pathogens, pose significant risks to living organisms. With chitin comprising the structural backbone of fungal cell walls, targeting its destruction becomes imperative for inhibiting fungal growth. To safeguard food materials against fungal contamination, the use of natural antifungal additives, notably essential oils extracted from a myriad of plant sources, has emerged as a frontline defense. Renowned for their formidable fungicidal properties, these essential oils deploy diverse mechanisms of action, presenting a sophisticated arsenal against fungal proliferation in food matrices (Nazzaro et al., 2017).

When tissues succumb to infection, inflammation swiftly follows suit, serving as the body's frontline response against intruders. Across centuries, essential oils sourced from select plants have emerged as venerable allies in combating inflammation. Notably, their profound anti-inflammatory prowess intricately intertwines with their robust antioxidant potency, forming a formidable defense against tissue damage and oxidative stress (Tsai et al., 2011).

Indeed, while the anti-inflammatory properties of essential oils stand out, their efficacy is influenced by various factors beyond antioxidant activity alone. Essential oils possess a diverse composition, each with its unique blend of bioactive compounds. Additionally, multiple mechanisms come into play, impacting their anti-inflammatory potential. Consequently, the effectiveness of essential oils in mitigating inflammation can be influenced by factors such as their chemical composition, concentration, and interactions with biological systems (Miguel, 2010).

Advanced Application Methods of Essential Oils in Real Food Systems for Enhanced Preservation Efficacy

During preparation, storage and distribution many food products must be preserved from deterioration as they are naturally perishable (Teodoro, 2019). The consumer demand of food products with improved shelf life has increased because of general availability of the goods in different regions of world (Mani-Lopez et al., 2018). International trading of perishable food has become possible but refrigeration is not promising process which assure the quality of food (Sahu and Bala, 2017). However, the worth of traditional methods of food preservations have been acknowledged and concerns has been raised about their safe (Ribes et al., 2018).

In order to satisfy consumers demand for food a number of nontraditional techniques have been developed. in order to kill vegetative bacterial species foods are processed via thermal heating at higher temperature for a specific interval of time (Powell et al., 2011). A great amount of energy is transferred to food during this process. But this process results in unwanted side reactions which effects the organoleptic properties of food (Pal, 2014).

Encapsulation of essential oils

Encapsulation techniques have promising effect on food safety and preservation. Encapsulation is widely used method for engineered goods in many food industries, specifically in production, processing and development of new products (Vemmer and Patel, 2013). Encapsulation involves entrapment of functionally active core material into matrix of inert material. It requires a core material and a coating material (Comunian et al., 2021). There are many methods of encapsulation which are classified into physical and chemical methods (Zhang et al., 2021).

Microencapsulation of Essential Oils

The process through which a coating is made around small particles that may be solid, liquid and gas to form small capsules which are referred to as microcapsules. ME is basically a food packaging technology of materials in sealed and tiny capsules (Ozkan et al., 2019). It helps in protection of flavors and aroma of volatile compounds during their processing and storage. Which in turn are used in enhancement of taste of food products. Microencapsulation results in extension of shelf life of food materials by encapsulating active ingredients (Aloys et al., 2016). Which results in maintenance of quality of food products.

Emulsification Encapsulation of Essential Oils

Emulsification encapsulation is extensively used technique in food and pharmaceutical industries to encapsulate a liquid or solid particle in any of the liquid medium. Two liquids that are immiscible are used to form a stable emulsion (Kakran and Antipina, 2014).

Nano Encapsulation of Essential Oils

The use of nanotechnology in food industry results in innovation of large scale properties for food as its color, flavor, texture, taste, coloring strength and stability. Furthermore, nanotechnology can increase the water solubility, thermal stability and oral absorption of bioactive compounds (Paredes et al., 2016) It has enormous benefits as Nano encapsulation provides better stability to the active materials as EOs, vitamins, enzymes, polysaccharides and carbohydrates and results in targeted drug delivery in pharmaceutical industries as well as in food industries. It protects targeted substances from external environmental conditions (Ayala-Fuentes and Chavez-Santoscoy, 2021)

Formation of Edible Films and Coatings

Essential oils play a pivotal role in crafting edible coatings and films, instrumental in safeguarding food items. These innovative coatings, when applied to food materials, effectively extend their shelf life. The creation of these edible coatings and films involves diverse encapsulation techniques, which are subsequently utilized to enhance their effectiveness upon application to food products.

Pirozzi et al. (2020) a studied the utilization of Nano emulsions containing oregano oil demonstrated remarkable efficacy in preventing the spoilage of tomatoes during prolonged storage periods. This innovative approach showcased the extraordinary capacity of essential oils to extend the shelf life of tomatoes by up to 14 days, effectively inhibiting microbial growth and preserving their freshness.

Usage of Essential Oils as Natural Preservatives

In the realm of food preservation, the drawbacks of synthetic preservatives, including health risks and environmental harm due to their pesticidal properties and non-eco-friendly nature, spurred a quest for viable alternatives (Ballesteros et al., 2017). Essential oils emerged as a transformative solution, offering a blend of natural efficacy and sustainability in replacing artificial additives (Galvez et al., 2014).

Their innate hydrophobicity and volatility make them adept at preserving food without altering its composition or sensory attributes, thus seamlessly integrating into food systems(Tiwari et al., 2009). As a result, essential oils extracted from plant sources have become prized assets in the food industry, supplanting synthetic preservatives and championing a greener, more health-conscious approach to food preservation.

Conclusion

The aforementioned discussion indicates that essential oils extracted from different plants possess distinct effects and harbor numerous beneficial properties that can be harnessed in actual food systems to combat pathogens, effectively safeguarding food from spoilage. Moreover, these oils are considered safe for consumption, given their organic nature, and have not been associated with adverse health effects. Examples showcasing the utilization of essential oils, which exhibit potent antimicrobial properties against specific microorganisms, highlight their efficacy as unparalleled antimicrobial agents in preserving food integrity and prolonging its shelf life during storage periods.

Despite their remarkable benefits, some challenges such as strong odors can be addressed through techniques like encapsulation. Various methods have been devised to incorporate essential oils into food applications. While numerous essential oils have already found application in real food systems, there remains a necessity to explore their potential as bio preservatives further. Extensive research is warranted to unravel their full spectrum of beneficial properties. Nonetheless, the integration of essential oils into food preservation techniques represents a sophisticated approach, paving the way for enhanced bio preservation methods in the food industry.

REFERENCES

Afsah-Hejri, L., Hajeb, P., and Ehsani, R. (2020). Application of ozone for degradation of mycotoxins in food: a review. *Comprehansive Review of Food Science and Food Safety* 19: 1777–1808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12594</u>

Alonso, E. B., Cockx, L., and Swinnen, J. (2018). Culture and Food Security. Global Food Security, 17: 113-127.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2018.02.002

- Aloys, H., Korma, S. A., Alice, T. M., Chantal, N., Ali, A. H., Abed, S. M., and Ildephonse, H. (2016). Microencapsulation by complex coacervation: Methods, techniques, benefits, and applications-A review. *American Journal of Food Science and Nutrition Research*, 3(6): 188-192.
- Amit, S. K., Uddin, M. M., Rahman, R., Islam, S. R., and Khan, M. S. (2017). A review on mechanisms and commercial aspects of food preservation and processing. *Agriculture and Food Security*, *6*, 1-22. DOI 10.1186/s40066-017-0130-8
- Ayala-Fuentes, J. C., and Chavez-Santoscoy, R. A. (2021). Nanotechnology as a Key to Enhance the Benefits and Improve the Bioavailability of Flavonoids in the Food Industry. *Foods*, 10(11): 2701.
- Aziz, Z. A., Ahmad, A., Setapar, S. H. M., Karakucuk, A., Azim, M. M., Lokhat, D., Rafatullah, M., Ganash, M., Kamal, M. A., and Ashraf, G. M. (2018). Essential oils: extraction techniques, pharmaceutical and therapeutic potential-a review. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 19(13): 1100-1110.
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., and Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils-a review. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46(2): 446-475.
- Ballesteros, L. F., Ramirez, M. J., Orrego, C. E., Teixeira, J. A., and Mussatto, S. I. (2017). Encapsulation of antioxidant phenolic compounds extracted from spent coffee grounds by freeze-drying and spray-drying using different coating materials. *Food Chemistry*, 237: 623-631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.05.142</u>
- Baratta, M. T., Dorman, H. D., Deans, S. G., Figueiredo, A. C., Barroso, J. G., and Ruberto, G. (1998). Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of some commercial essential oils. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 13(4): 235-244.
- Batiha, G. E.-S., Hussein, D. E., Algammal, A. M., George, T. T., Jeandet, P., Al-Snafi, A. E., Tiwari, A., Pagnossa, J. P., Lima, C. M., and Thorat, N. D. (2021). Application of natural antimicrobials in food preservation: Recent views. *Food Control*, 126: 108066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.108066</u>
- Boukhatem, M. N., Kameli, A., Ferhat, M. A., Saidi, F., and Tayebi, K. (2014). The food preservative potential of essential oils: is lemongrass the answer? *Journal für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit*, 9(2014): 13-21.
- Bustos C, R. O., Alberti R, F. V., and Matiacevich, S. B. (2016). Edible antimicrobial films based on microencapsulated lemongrass oil. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 53(2016): 832-839.
- Chouhan, S., Sharma, K., and Guleria, S. (2017). Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils-present status and future perspectives. *Medicines*, 4(3): 58.
- Comunian, T. A., Silva, M. P., and Souza, C. J. (2021). The use of food by-products as a novel for functional foods: Their use as ingredients and for the encapsulation process. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *108*: 269-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2021.01.003
- Cepet, A., Albert, I., Dervin, C., and Carlin, F. (2007). Estimation of microbial contamination of food from prevalence and concentration data: application to Listeria monocytogenes in fresh vegetables. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(1): 250-258.
- Damien Dorman, H., Deans, S. G., Noble, R. C., and Surai, P. (1995). Evaluation in vitro of plant essential oils as natural antioxidants. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 7(6): 645-651.
- Dehsheikh, A. B., Sourestani, M. M., Dehsheikh, P. B., Mottaghipisheh, J., Vitalini, S., and Iriti, M. (2020). Monoterpenes: Essential oil components with valuable features. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 20(11): 958-974.
- Dorman, H. D., and Deans, S. G. (2000). Antimicrobial agents from plants: antibacterial activity of plant volatile oils. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 88(2): 308-316.
- Dwivedi, S., Prajapati, P., Vyas, N., Malviya, S., and Kharia, A. (2017). A review on food preservation: methods, harmful effects and better alternatives. *Asian Journel of Pharmacy and Pharmacol*, 3(6): 193-199.
- Farokhian, F., Jafarpour, M., Goli, M., and Askari-Khorasgani, O. (2017). Quality preservation of air-dried sliced button mushroom (Agaricus bisporus) by lavender (Lavendula angustifolia mill.) essential oil. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 40(3): e12432.
- Galvez, A., Grande Burgos, M. J., Lucas López, R., Pérez Pulido, R., Gálvez, A., López, R. L., and Burgos, M. J. G. (2014). *Natural antimicrobials for food biopreservation* (pp. 3-14). Springer New York.
- Garay, J., Brennan, T., and Bon, D. (2020). Review of essential oils: a viable pest control alternative, 71(1/3): 16-28.
- Garvey, M. (2019). Food pollution: a comprehensive review of chemical and biological sources of food contamination and impact on human health. *Nutrire*, 44(1): 1.
- Gyorgy, E. (2010). Study of the antimicrobial activity and synergistic effect of some plant extracts and essential oils. *Revista Romana de Medicina de Laborator Vol*, 18(1/4).
- Hamad, S. H. (2012). Factors affecting the growth of microorganisms in food. Progress in Food Preservation, 405-427.
- Hammer, K. A., Carson, C. F., and Riley, T. V. (1999). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 86(6): 985-990.
- Hou, C.-Y., Hazeena, S. H., Hsieh, S.-L., Li, B.-H., Chen, M.-H., Wang, P.-Y., Zheng, B.-Q., and Liang, Y.-S. (2022). Effect of Dlimonene nanoemulsion edible film on banana (Musa sapientum Linn.) Post-Harvest Preservation. *Molecules*, 27(19): 6157.
- Jirovetz, L., Buchbauer, G., Stoilova, I., Stoyanova, A., Krastanov, A., and Schmidt, E. (2006). Chemical composition and antioxidant properties of clove leaf essential oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(17): 6303-6307.
- Joshua Ajibola, O. (2020). An overview of irradiation as a food preservation technique. Novel Research in Microbiology

Journal, 4(3): 779-789.

- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Yu, H., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Qian, H., and Yao, W. (2022). Synergistic interactions of plant essential oils with antimicrobial agents: A new antimicrobial therapy. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(7): 1740-1751.
- Kakran, M., and Antipina, M. N. (2014). Emulsion-based techniques for encapsulation in biomedicine, food and personal care. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 18: 47-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2014.09.003</u>
- Kamala, K., and Kumar, V. P. (2018). Food products and food contamination. In *Microbial Contamination and Food Degradation* (pp. 1-19). Elsevier.
- Kar, S., Gupta, P., and Gupta, J. (2018). Essential oils: Biological activity beyond aromatherapy. *Natural Product Sciences*, 24(3): 139-147.
- Langeveld, W. T., Veldhuizen, E. J., and Burt, S. A. (2014). Synergy between essential oil components and antibiotics: a review. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 40(1): 76-94.
- Lee, Y. L., and Ding, P. (2016). Production of essential oil in plants: ontogeny, secretory structures and seasonal variations. *Pertanika Journal of Scholarly Research Reviews*, 2(1): 1-10.
- Liu, J., Liu, Y., Shao, S., Zheng, X., and Tang, K. (2022). Soluble soybean polysaccharide/carboxymethyl chitosan coatings incorporated with lavender essential oil: Structure, properties and application in fruit preservation. *Progress in Organic Coatings*, 173: 107178.
- Mahato, N., Sharma, K., Koteswararao, R., Sinha, M., Baral, E., and Cho, M. H. (2019). Citrus essential oils: Extraction, authentication and application in food preservation. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 59(4): 611-625.
- Mahmoudi, R., Kazeminia, M., Ghajarbeygi, P., and Pakbin, B. (2017). An introductory review on increasing the survival of probiotic bacteria in dairy products using essential oil. *Journel of Dental and Oral Health*, 4: 2. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/85139709.pdf
- Majeed, H., Bian, Y.-Y., Ali, B., Jamil, A., Majeed, U., Khan, Q. F., Iqbal, K. J., Shoemaker, C. F., and Fang, Z. (2015). Essential oil encapsulations: Uses, procedures, and trends. *Royal Society of Chemistry Advances*, 5(72): 58449-58463.
- Mani-López, E., Palou, E., and Lopez-Malo, A. (2018). Biopreservatives as agents to prevent food spoilage. In *Microbial Contamination and Food Degradation* (pp. 235-270). Elsevier.
- Martins, E., Poncelet, D., Rodrigues, R. C., and Renard, D. (2017). Oil encapsulation techniques using alginate as encapsulating agent: Applications and drawbacks. *Journal of Microencapsulation*, 34(8): 754-771.
- Menon, K. V., and Garg, S. R. (2001). Inhibitory effect of clove oil on Listeria monocytogenes in meat and cheese. *Food Microbiology*, 18(6): 647-650.
- Miguel, M. G. (2010). Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of essential oils: a short review. *Molecules*, 15(12): 9252-9287.
- Misharina, T., and Polshkov, A. (2005). Antioxidant properties of essential oils: autoxidation of essential oils from laurel and fennel and of their mixtures with essential oil from coriander. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 41(2005): 610-618.
- Misharina, T., and Samusenko, A. (2008). Antioxidant properties of essential oils from lemon, grapefruit, coriander, clove, and their mixtures. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology*, 44(2008): 438-442.
- Moleyar, V., and Narasimham, P. (1992). Antibacterial activity of essential oil components. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *16*(4), 337-342.
- Moore-Neibel, K., Gerber, C., Patel, J., Friedman, M., and Ravishankar, S. (2012). Antimicrobial activity of lemongrass oil against Salmonella enterica on organic leafy greens. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 112(3): 485-492.
- Mowafy, A. R., Darwish, A., El-Kholy, S. A., and Abdel-Mohsen, S. H. (2001). Effect of food preservatives on mother rats and survival of their offspring. *The Journal of the Egyptian Public Health Association*, 76(3-4): 281-295.
- Mukarram, M., Choudhary, S., Khan, M. A., Poltronieri, P., Khan, M. M. A., Ali, J., Kurjak, D., and Shahid, M. (2021). Lemongrass essential oil components with antimicrobial and anticancer activities. *Antioxidants*, 11(1): 20.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2017). Essential oils and antifungal activity. Pharmaceuticals, 10(4): 86.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2013). Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12): 1451-1474.
- Olmedo, R., Nepote, V., and Grosso, N. R. (2014). Antioxidant activity of fractions from oregano essential oils obtained by molecular distillation. *Food Chemistry*, 156: 212-219.
- Ozkan, G., Franco, P., De Marco, I., Xiao, J., and Capanoglu, E. (2019). A review of microencapsulation methods for food antioxidants: Principles, advantages, drawbacks and applications. *Food Chemistry*, 272: 494-506.
- Pal, M. (2014). Spoilage of dairy products due to fungi. Beverage and Food World, 41(7): 37-38.
- Paredes, A. J., Asensio, C. M., Llabot, J. M., Allemandi, D. A., and Palma, S. D. (2016). Nanoencapsulation in the food industry: manufacture, applications and characterization.
- Perumal, A. B., Huang, L., Nambiar, R. B., He, Y., Li, X., and Sellamuthu, P. S. (2022). Application of essential oils in packaging films for the preservation of fruits and vegetables: A review. *Food Chemistry*, 375: 131810. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.131810</u>
- Pina-Pérez, M. C., Rivas, A., Martínez, A., and Rodrigo, D. (2017). Antimicrobial potential of macro and microalgae against pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms in food. *Food Chemistry*, 235: 34-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.05.033</u>

- Pirozzi, A., Del Grosso, V., Ferrari, G., and Donsì, F. (2020). Edible coatings containing oregano essential oil nanoemulsion for improving postharvest quality and shelf life of tomatoes. *Foods*, 9(11): 1605.
- Powell, D. A., Jacob, C. J., and Chapman, B. J. (2011). Enhancing food safety culture to reduce rates of foodborne illness. *Food Control*, 22(6): 817-822.
- Premathilake, U., Wathugala, D., and Dharmadasa, R. (2018). Evaluation of chemical composition and assessment of antimicrobial activities of essential oil of lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus (DC.) Stapf).
- Probst, I., Sforcin, J., VLM, R., Fernandes, A., and Fernandes Júnior, A. (2011). Antimicrobial activity of propolis and essential oils and synergism between these natural products. *Journal of Venomous Animals and Toxins including Tropical Diseases*, 17: 159-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1678-91992011000200006</u>
- Radunz, M., da Trindade, M. L. M., Camargo, T. M., Radünz, A. L., Borges, C. D., Gandra, E. A., and Helbig, E. (2019). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of unencapsulated and encapsulated clove (Syzygium aromaticum, L.) essential oil. *Food Chemistry*, 276: 180-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.09.173</u>
- Rao, J., Chen, B., and McClements, D. J. (2019). Improving the efficacy of essential oils as antimicrobials in foods: Mechanisms of action. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 10: 365-387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-032818-121727</u>
- Raut, J. S., and Karuppayil, S. M. (2014). A status review on the medicinal properties of essential oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 62: 250-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.05.055</u>
- Ribes, S., Fuentes, A., Talens, P., and Barat, J. M. (2018). Prevention of fungal spoilage in food products using natural compounds: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 58(12): 2002-2016.
- Rodriguez-Garcia, I., Silva-Espinoza, B., Ortega-Ramirez, L., Leyva, J., Siddiqui, M., Cruz-Valenzuela, M., Gonzalez-Aguilar, G., and Ayala-Zavala, J. (2016). Oregano essential oil as an antimicrobial and antioxidant additive in food products. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 56(10): 1717-1727.
- Saad, N. Y., Muller, C. D., and Lobstein, A. (2013). Major bioactivities and mechanism of action of essential oils and their components. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 28(5): 269-279.
- Sahu, M., and Bala, S. (2017). Food processing, food spoilage and their prevention: An overview. *International. Journel of Life Sciences and Scientific Reserach*, 3(1): 753-759.
- Shi, C., Zhang, X., and Guo, N. (2018). The antimicrobial activities and action-mechanism of tea tree oil against food-borne bacteria in fresh cucumber juice. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 125: 262-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2018.09.036</u>
- Singh, S., and Shalini, R. (2016). Effect of hurdle technology in food preservation: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 56(4): 641-649.
- Snoussi, A., Chouaibi, M., Koubaier, H. B. H., and Bouzouita, N. (2022). Encapsulation of Tunisian thyme essential oil in O/W nanoemulsions: Application for meat preservation. *Meat Science*, 188: 108785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2022.108785</u>
- Soomro, A., Masud, T., and Anwaar, K. (2002). Role of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) in food preservation and human health-a review. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 1(1): 20-24.
- Syamaladevi, R. M., Tang, J., Villa-Rojas, R., Sablani, S., Carter, B., and Campbell, G. (2016). Influence of water activity on thermal resistance of microorganisms in low-moisture foods: a review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 15(2): 353-370.
- Teixeira, B., Marques, A., Ramos, C., Neng, N. R., Nogueira, J. M., Saraiva, J. A., and Nunes, M. L. (2013). Chemical composition and antibacterial and antioxidant properties of commercial essential oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 43: 587-595.
- Teodoro, A. J. (2019). Bioactive compounds of food: their role in the prevention and treatment of diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3765986
- Tiwari, B. K., Valdramidis, V. P., O'Donnell, C. P., Muthukumarappan, K., Bourke, P., and Cullen, P. (2009). Application of natural antimicrobials for food preservation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(14): 5987-6000.
- Tongnuanchan, P., and Benjakul, S. (2014). Essential oils: extraction, bioactivities, and their uses for food preservation. *Journal of Food Science*, 79(7): R1231-R1249.
- Tsai, M.-L., Lin, C.-C., Lin, W.-C., and Yang, C.-H. (2011). Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activities of essential oils from five selected herbs. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 75(10): 1977-1983.
- Turek, C., and Stintzing, F. C. (2013). Stability of essential oils: a review. *Comprehensive Reviews In Food Science And Food Safety*, 12(1): 40-53.
- Vokou, D. (2007). Allelochemicals, allelopathy and essential oils: a field in search of definitions and structure. *Allelopathy Journal*, 19(1): 119-134.
- Xylia, P., Chrysargyris, A., Ahmed, Z. F., and Tzortzakis, N. (2021). Application of rosemary and eucalyptus essential oils and their main component on the preservation of apple and pear fruits. *Horticulturae*, 7(11): 479.
- Yang, S.-A., Jeon, S.-K., Lee, E.-J., Shim, C.-H., and Lee, I.-S. (2010). Comparative study of the chemical composition and antioxidant activity of six essential oils and their components. *Natural Product Research*, 24(2): 140-151.
- Zhang, X., Ismail, B. B., Cheng, H., Jin, T. Z., Qian, M., Arabi, S. A., Liu, D., and Guo, M. (2021). Emerging chitosan-essential oil films and coatings for food preservation-A review of advances and applications. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 273: 118616.

Chapter 22

The Potential of Essential Oils as Antiviral, Antioxidant and Immunomodulatory Agent

Rabbia Kabir¹, Misbah Batool Aslam², Sehrish Ghafoor², Sara Malik³, Muqadas^{1*}, Rimsha¹ and Rabia Zahid¹

¹Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad ²National University of Medical Sciences, Rawalpindi ³Quaid I Azam University Islamabad *Corresponding author: mugadasdh@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The aim of this chapter is to take a view and highlight the different biological properties of essential oils. Since ancient times, essential oils (EOs) have been used for many medicinal and preservative purposes. But now, they are increasingly studying to treat various diseases. Current antibiotics and antivirals have a major issue which is resistance, which can be resolved by using natural compounds. EOs are herbal volatile oils derived from plants through various extraction methods. Pharmacologically, they are very active and exhibit wonderful characteristics like preservatives, flavoring agents, antimicrobials, antiseptics, anti-inflammatory, antioxidants, immunomodulatory, antiviral, etc. Each bioactive component in the EOs has its properties and performs various functions in the body. EOs show antiviral activity by binding to the free viruses and inhibiting their multiplication. Phenolic and oxygenated compounds of EOs are responsible for antioxidant activity because of the presence of double bonds. Immunomodulatory properties of EOs are manifested majorly by the modification in the release of cytokines. These applications highlight the scope of EOs in the modern world.

KEYWORDS	Received: 08-Jun-2024	CUENTIFIC ALLE	A Publication of
essential oil, Antiviral, Antioxidant, Immunomodulatory	Revised: 18-Jul-2024	anor and a sub-	Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 07-Aug-2024	USP	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Kabir R, Aslam MB, Ghafoor S, Malik S, Muqadas, Rimsha and Zahid R, 2024. The potential of essential oils as antiviral, antioxidant, and immunomodulatory agent. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 193-198. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.291

INTRODUCTION

Medicines used in humans and animals are prone to bacterial resistance and side effects like allergic reactions (Arsène et al., 2022). That's why researchers are studying natural compounds that have less toxicity and resistance issues because of broad-spectrum mechanisms of action. These compounds are obtained from plants or natural sources. Essential oils (EOs) are one of them which is our topic of discussion. EOs are highly concentrated, colorless aromatic oils derived from plants, and used for medicine in diluted form (Bakkali et al., 2008). Plants synthesize them through various extraction processes which are solvent extraction, steam vaporization, enfleurage, cold pressing, maceration, and distillation (Shikov et al., 2022). The bioactive compounds present in them enable them to show various characteristics like antimicrobial, antiseptic, insecticidal, antitumor, immunomodulatory, antioxidant, etc. (Murbach Teles Andrade et al., 2014). In this chapter, we will cover the antiviral, antioxidant, and immunomodulatory aspects of essential oils in the aforementioned sections that are very frequently used in our daily lives.

EOs

EOs are the intricate combinations of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes (C10 and C15 respectively), phenylpropanoids, and oxygenated compounds (aldehydes, alcohols, and ketones) (Yingngam, 2022). They are hydrophobic in nature, soluble in alcohol, oils, ether, and waxes, and slightly soluble in water, as are weak polar solvents. The function of EOs depends upon the chemistry (functional groups and composition) of EOs. EOs have an intense odor. They are secondary metabolites of plants that help them in their fight against pathogens and attraction for insects that help in communication between plants through pollination, that's why explored in the field of medicine (Manion and Widder, 2017). EOs are also known as plant essences, used in aromatherapy, which means the usage of aromatic oils as therapeutic agents (A. Sharma et al., 2023). Thousands of EOs are well known and many of them are commercially available. It includes many groups like terpenes, monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, carotenoids, aldehydes, flavonoids, phenols, oxides, hydrocarbons, volatile compounds (esters, alcohol, and alkenes) etc. Each EO consists of numerous

bioactive compounds in them that produce or show their effect according to the chemical structure. Phenols consist of thymol, carvacrol, and eugenol (Chouhan et al., 2017). Various EOs along with their bioactive components are represented in the Fig. 1. These bioactive compounds constitute antimicrobial contents and flavors as they contain proteins, vitamins, and heterocyclic compounds.

Most widely customized aromatic oils are derived from oregano, peppermint, spearmint, mustard, lemon, thyme, lavender, eucalyptus, dill, cinnamon, rose, orange, clove, tea extracts, etc. (Mohammed et al., 2024). EOs can be obtained from every part of the plant, like leaves, bark, roots, shoots, twigs, wood, fruits, flowers, seeds, etc. from these parts of plants (Hanif et al., 2019). EOs can be extracted through the above-mentioned processes. Each process produces EOs of different compositions in quality and quantity. The type of method is selected on the basis of the purpose of the application. Because of its numerous properties, they are extensively used as flavoring, aroma, antimicrobial, and therapeutic agents. EOs enhance the shelf life and quality of edible products (Pérez-Santaescolástica et al., 2022). Biological properties enable them to act as antiviral, antifungal, antiparasitic, antibacterial, antidepressant, antioxidant, immunomodulatory, and insecticidal. They can be used in the form of oils, capsules, powders, lotions, ointments, creams, etc.



Fig. 1: EOs and its Classifications

History of essential oils

It is hard to find the exact discovery and first usage of EOs. Empirically, they are used to wipe off the foul odor and preserve or flavor the foods. These EOs have high economic and cultural importance. They have been in use since BCE, but reported medicinal use started later. In 1912, Gattefosse's hand was burned in a lab burst, he dipped his hand in lavender oil and got healing (Buckle, 2002). Paracelsus von Hohenheim coined the term EOs from a drug named Quinta Essentia (Brenner, 1993). Later on, the processes of its extraction are discussed, and they became industrially commercialized for use in cosmetics and therapeutics.

Critical Analysis

Synergism within EOs' Components

EOs are complex mixtures of different compounds and produce a combined effect (Sheng et al., 2020). The combined effect is the effect of all the major and minor components present in the EOs. These minor components possess synergistic effects, and the resultant effect is represented as the effect of the main component (Saad et al., 2013). All components together identify the cell penetration, density, fragrance, color, and texture of each EO. These minor components, in addition to synergistic effects, can also pose antagonistic or additive effects. The synergistic effect provides broad-spectrum activity and increased efficacy to EO (Ju et al., 2022). Two or more compounds synergistically are used to produce flavor and aroma without causing adverse effects.

Administration Routes

The most widely employed routes of administration include oral, inhalation, and topical. In the topical route, EOs in small quantities are mixed with some base or carrier and massaged on the skin (Guzmán and Lucia, 2021). A very small quantity is required that can produce its effect pronouncedly (Baldim et al., 2021). Very frequently used in lotions, ointments, and creams. In inhalation, there is stimulation of olfactory nerves either through sprays, inhalation through bottles, or baths (Rowland, 2024). This is used to enhance a balance of physical and mental state. It is widely reported that

EOs show maximum effects in both humans and animals.

Some oils cause toxicity, so should be administered with precautions, oral route shows maximum effect due to exposure to the lymphatic system through the gastrointestinal system (Baptista-Silva et al., 2020). It shows its mechanism in three ways viz; in biochemical mechanism, it transfers through blood in the whole body and interacts with hormones and enzymes (Cimino et al., 2021). In psychological innervation of the brain occurs through olfactory stimulation and then shows its effect on mental health by producing neurotransmitters. In physiological mechanisms, oils act on specific systems of the body and perform a therapeutic function (Sadgrove et al., 2021). Precautions should be undertaken while using these because higher doses cause adverse effects.

Essential oils as Antiviral Agents

Phenols and aldehydes have the ability to initiate immune responses. Lemon, eucalyptus, cinnamon, tea tree (TT), clove, peppermint, garlic, etc. are involved in antiviral activity. EOs act by boosting the weakened immune system (Zuo et al., 2020). The mechanism of action depends upon the interaction of EOs either outside or inside of the cell with free viruses (Ma and Yao, 2020). They act by making changes in the structure of the virus and hiding their proteins (Reichling, 2022). There are various mechanisms of action that depend on the type of EOs, for example, carvacrol acts by hiding the capsid or by binding to the virus (Javed et al., 2021). Isothymol derived from Ammoides verticillate inhibits the COVID-19 receptor, which is angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (Abdelli et al., 2021). EOs are effective against many viruses like respiratory syncytial, bovine viral diarrhea, yellow fever, Zika, and alpha herpes viruses, and many others (K. Sharma et al., 2023) which are as follows: Germacron EOs are involved in antiviral activity against feline caliciviruses (K. Sharma et al., 2023). EOs derived from Australian TT, Star Anise, piperitenone, Eucalyptus caesia, Zingiber officinale, oregano, and eugenol, 1,8 cineole showed antiviral activity against HSV-1 (El Gendy et al., 2022). While EOs derived from Savia desoleana, germacrene D, linalool, linalyl acetate, 1,8 cineole, α -terinyl acetate, and β -caryophyllene, showed antiviral activity against HSV-2 (Sharifi-Rad et al., 2017). EOs like β-santalol, clary sage, 1,8 cineole, marjoram, terpinene-4-ol, anise EOs, citrus bergamia, Cinnamomum zeylanicum, and Thymus vulgaris showed antiviral efficacy against influenza virus (Vimalanathan and Hudson, 2014). EOs from cedar leaf are very effective against the hemagglutinin protein of the influenza virus (Oriola and Ovedeji, 2022, Mustafa et al., 2023). Oregano with its major component carvacrol, has antiviral activity against norovirus and rotavirus (Sarowska et al., 2021). Isothymol and 1,8 cineole are effective against COVID-19 (Nadjib, 2020; Soleymani et al., 2022). Oxygenated EOs have proved effective against influenza virus while non-oxygenated against HSV.

Essential oils as Immunomodulatory Agents

The process of increasing or decreasing the immune system is known as immunomodulation. EOs show an immunomodulatory effect by expressing interleukins through lymphocyte proliferation and modulating inflammation by stimulating phagocytic activity (Pelvan et al., 2022). EOs help in initiating the immune response against pathogens by activating the immune system, which consists of innate and adaptive immune systems (Grazul et al., 2023). The innate immune system consists of dendritic cells, monocytes, and macrophages, and is involved in the primary defense mechanism by initiating inflammatory immune responses (Zhao et al., 2023). Adaptive immune systems include dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer cells, eosinophils, basophils, B and T cells, etc. (Akhand and Ahsan, 2023). Is stimulated by the EO activity by cytokine release and phagocytosis. Pattern recognition receptors recognize the pathogenassociated molecular patterns and induce innate immune cells to inflammation that, in turn activate the adaptive immune system (Singh et al., 2023). T cells on stimulation, differentiate into CD4⁺ (Th1) and CD8⁺ Th cells that produce cytokines. Th2 cells differentiate into B cells that produce antibodies to neutralize pathogens (Zuo et al., 2020). Many therapeutic EOs like lemon grass and balm, clove, black cumin, eucalyptus, marjoram, rose, fennel, lavender, thyme, sage, TT, bay laurel, peppermint, etc. are involved in immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects (Tirant et al., 2024). Oropharyngeal candidiasis produces IL-8 which is inhibited by TT oil (Sosa et al., 2023). TT oil also exerts an effect on hypersensitivity and histamine-induced edema. Eugenol is involved in the inhibition of IL-1β,6,10, and lipopolysaccharide inflammatory action through the mechanism of inhibiting the nuclear factor Kappa β pathway (Saini and Dhiman, 2022). Parsley shows an effect on inflammation by inhibiting the proliferation of phytohemagqlutinin-stimulated splenocytes (Yousofi et al., 2012). In a study of clove bud and cinnamon bark, EOs proved effective in combating Newcastle disease and were involved in increasing intestinal villi length (Sandner et al., 2020). Ginseng is involved in immunostimulants by the production of IFN-y and TNF- α . TT EOs enhance intestinal immunity by releasing IL-2, IL-10, and IFN-y and also enhance growth performance, and reduce the incidence of diarrhea in small pigs (Zhu et al., 2018). Clove EOs was studied in vitro, and showed cellular and humoral immunity in immunocompetent and immunosuppressed mice respectively (Peterfalvi et al., 2019). Herbal EOs have been researched in various studies and resulted in the best remedies for reducing inflammation by modifying inflammatory cytokines (de Lavor et al., 2018). Sandner et al., 2020 reviewed that EOs can be alternative to antibiotics for use in broilers.

Essential oils as Antioxidant Agents

EOs like monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, and oxygenated derivatives have different chemical structures that enable them to act as antioxidants (Bhavaniramya et al., 2019). The EOs which have a scavenging effect on reactive oxygen species

illustrate antioxidant activity (Valdivieso-Ugarte et al., 2019). Phenols contribute mainly because they have strong redox potential. These and others, like aldehydes, ketones, monoterpenes, alcohols, and ethers, cause disruption of peroxides and removal of free radicals (Amorati et al., 2013). The compounds involve menthone, isomenthone, thymus, linalool, citronellal, 1,8 cineole, carvacrol, α -terpinene, β - terpinene, α -terpinolene, cinnamon, neral, etc. show antioxidant activity. Double bonds present in compounds especially phenols are responsible for its mechanism of action. The process of oxidation consists of initiation, elongation, and termination steps. EOs break the chain of reaction either at the initiation or elongation stage. Both natural and synthetic EOs act as antioxidants (Salanță and Cropotova, 2022). The compounds obtained from thyme, oregano, mint, nutmeg, clove, basil, cinnamon, parsley, *etc.* are rich sources of oxygen and have great potential to act as antioxidants. Tocopherols, *Origanum compactum, Helichrysum italicum*, black cumin, sage, winter savory, wild thyme, basil, mint, clove, parsley, oregano, nutmeg, and retinol produce antioxidant effects (Jabeen et al., 2022).

Limitations to Essential Oils

Despite the huge advantages and applications of EOs, they also have some disadvantages. They can cause irritation (dermatitis), pneumonitis, photosensitivity, seizures, etc. Insufficient data is available that demonstrates the toxic risk of each EO. EOs as volatile oils, means are unstable. Being lipophilic in nature can damage cell membranes and make them more permeable (Barradas and de Holanda e Silva, 2021). Higher doses cause a reduction in the level of feed intake.

Future Prospects and Conclusion

There is a need for more studies that highlight the various mechanisms of action of EOs as antioxidant, immunomodulatory, and antiviral agents. Further studies are the need of time for the evaluation of the synergistic effects of various bioactive components of EOs, which may prove beneficial. In the future, more research may be done as there are many fields of EOs that require more advanced studies. Exploring EOs with others through conjugation may enable them to be the best preventive agents in the field of biology. EOs may be available as inflammatory drugs in the future. These EO-based drugs may be used as therapeutic drugs for treating infectious ailments. EOs, because of their enormous properties and popularity, are increasingly used in various fields to perform different functions. Multiple types of EOs due to the presence of bioactive components are explored in antiviral, immunomodulation, and antioxidant. They are industrially produced, and many are being commercialized. Phenolic EOs are very effective in producing the desired effects. They are safe to consume at recommended concentrations. Synergistic interactions can produce better results. EOs reduce the inflammation caused by disease mechanisms, boost the immune system against various viral diseases and improve health.

REFERENCES

- Abdelli, I., Hassani, F., Bekkel Brikci, S., and Ghalem, S. (2021). In silico study the inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 receptor of COVID-19 by Ammoides verticillata components harvested from Western Algeria. *Journal of Biomolecular* Structure and Dynamics, 39(9), 3263-3276. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2020.1763199</u>
- Akhand, A. A., and Ahsan, N. (2023). Cells and Organs of the Immune System. *Immunology for Dentistry*, 1-12. https://doi.org/ <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119893035.ch1</u>
- Amorati, R., Foti, M. C., and Valgimigli, L. (2013). Antioxidant activity of essential oils. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61(46), 10835-10847. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/jf403496k</u>
- Arsène, M. M. J., Davares, A. K. L., Viktorovna, P. I., Andreevna, S. L., Sarra, S., Khelifi, I., and Sergueïevna, D. M. (2022). The public health issue of antibiotic residues in food and feed: Causes, consequences, and potential solutions. *Veterinary World*, 15(3), 662. https://doi.org/ 10.14202/vetworld.2022.662-671
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., and Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils-a review. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *46*(2), 446-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007.09.106</u>
- Baldim, I., Souza, C. R. F., and Oliveira, W. P. (2021). Encapsulation of essential oils in lipid-based nanosystems. In *Phytotechnology* (pp. 197-230). CRC Press.
- Baptista-Silva, S., Borges, S., Ramos, O. L., Pintado, M., and Sarmento, B. (2020). The progress of essential oils as potential therapeutic agents: A review. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 32(4), 279-295. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2020.1746698
- Barradas, T. N., and de Holanda e Silva, K. G. (2021). Nanoemulsions of essential oils to improve solubility, stability and permeability: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *19*(2), 1153-1171.
- Bhavaniramya, S., Vishnupriya, S., Al-Aboody, M. S., Vijayakumar, R., and Baskaran, D. (2019). Role of essential oils in food safety: Antimicrobial and antioxidant applications. *Grain and Oil Science and Technology*, 2(2), 49-55. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaost.2019.03.001</u>

Brenner, D. M. (1993). Perilla: botany, uses and genetic resources. CABI Digital Library, 322-328.

Buckle, J. (2002). Clinical aromatherapy and AIDS. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS care*, *13*(3), 81-99. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/10529002013003006

- Chouhan, S., Sharma, K., and Guleria, S. (2017). Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils—present status and future perspectives. *Medicines*, 4(3), 58. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines4030058</u>
- Cimino, C., Maurel, O. M., Musumeci, T., Bonaccorso, A., Drago, F., Souto, E. M. B., and Carbone, C. (2021). Essential oils: Pharmaceutical applications and encapsulation strategies into lipid-based delivery systems. *Pharmaceutics*, *13*(3), 327. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13030327</u>
- de Lavor, É. M., Fernandes, A. W. C., de Andrade Teles, R. B., Leal, A. E. B. P., de Oliveira Júnior, R. G., Gama e Silva, M., and Coutinho, H. D. M. (2018). Essential oils and their major compounds in the treatment of chronic inflammation: A review of antioxidant potential in preclinical studies and molecular mechanisms. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2018(1), 6468593. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6468593</u>
- El Gendy, A. E.-N. G., Essa, A. F., El-Rashedy, A. A., Elgamal, A. M., Khalaf, D. D., Hassan, E. M., and Alamery, S. F. (2022). Antiviral potentialities of chemical characterized essential oils of Acacia nilotica bark and fruits against hepatitis A and herpes simplex viruses: In vitro, in silico, and molecular dynamics studies. *Plants*, *11*(21), 2889. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11212889</u>
- Grazul, M., Kwiatkowski, P., Hartman, K., Kilanowicz, A., and Sienkiewicz, M. (2023). How to naturally support the immune system in inflammation—Essential oils as immune boosters. *Biomedicines*, *11*(9), 2381. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11092381
- Guzmán, E., and Lucia, A. (2021). Essential oils and their individual components in cosmetic products. *Cosmetics*, 8(4), 114. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/cosmetics8040114
- Hanif, M. A., Nisar, S., Khan, G. S., Mushtaq, Z., and Zubair, M. (2019). Essential oils. Essential oil research: trends in biosynthesis, analytics, industrial applications and biotechnological production, 3-17.
- Jabeen, N. S., Kiruthiga, V., Vinodhini, A., and Rudrapal, M. (2022). Herbs, Spices, and Dietary Constituents as Sources of Phytoantioxidants. *Phytoantioxidants and Nanotherapeutics*, 55-76. https://doi.org/ <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119811794.ch3</u>
- Javed, H., Meeran, M. F. N., Jha, N. K., and Ojha, S. (2021). Carvacrol, a plant metabolite targeting viral protease (Mpro) and ACE2 in host cells can be a possible candidate for COVID-19. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *11*, 601335. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.601335
- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Yu, H., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Qian, H., and Yao, W. (2022). Synergistic interactions of plant essential oils with antimicrobial agents: A new antimicrobial therapy. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *62*(7), 1740-1751. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1846494
- Ma, L., and Yao, L. (2020). Antiviral effects of plant-derived essential oils and their components: an updated review. *Molecules*, 25(11), 2627. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25112627</u>

Manion, C. R., and Widder, R. M. (2017). Essentials of essential oils. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74(9), e153-e162. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp151043</u>

- Mohammed, H. A., Sulaiman, G. M., Khan, R. A., Al-Saffar, A. Z., Mohsin, M. H., Albukhaty, S., and Ismail, A. (2024). Essential Oils Pharmacological Activity: Chemical Markers, Biogenesis, Plant Sources, and Commercial Products. *Process Biochemistry*, 144, 112-132. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2024.05.021</u>
- Murbach Teles Andrade, B. F., Nunes Barbosa, L., da Silva Probst, I., and Fernandes Júnior, A. (2014). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, *26*(1), 34-40. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2013.860409
- Mustafa, A., El-Kashef, D. H., Abdelwahab, M. F., Gomaa, A. A. R., Mustafa, M., Abdel-Wahab, N. M., and Ibrahim, A. H. (2023). Investigation of antiviral effects of essential oils. *Essential Oils: Extraction Methods and Applications*, 99-123. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119829614.ch5
- Nadjib, B. M. (2020). Effective antiviral activity of essential oils and their characteristic terpenes against coronaviruses: An update. *Journal Pharmacology Clinical Toxicology*, 8(1), 1138.
- Oriola, A. O., and Oyedeji, A. O. (2022). Essential oils and their compounds as potential anti-influenza agents. *Molecules*, 27(22), 7797. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27227797</u>
- Pelvan, E., Karaoğlu, Ö., Fırat, E. Ö., Kalyon, K. B., Ros, E., and Alasalvar, C. (2022). Immunomodulatory effects of selected medicinal herbs and their essential oils: A comprehensive review. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 94, 105108. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2022.105108</u>
- Pérez-Santaescolástica, C., Munekata, P. E. S., Feng, X., Liu, Y., Bastianello Campagnol, P. C., and Lorenzo, J. M. (2022). Active edible coatings and films with Mediterranean herbs to improve food shelf-life. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(9), 2391-2403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1853036</u>
- Peterfalvi, A., Miko, E., Nagy, T., Reger, B., Simon, D., Miseta, A., and Szereday, L. (2019). Much more than a pleasant scent: A review on essential oils supporting the immune system. *Molecules*, *24*(24), 4530. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12070823
- Reichling, J. (2022). Antiviral and virucidal properties of essential oils and isolated compounds-a scientific approach. *Planta Medica*, *88*(08), 587-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1382-2898</u>
- Rowland, E. (2024). The Healing Power of Scent: A beginner's guide to the power of essential oils. David and Charles.
- Saad, N. Y., Muller, C. D., and Lobstein, A. (2013). Major bioactivities and mechanism of action of essential oils and their components. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 28(5), 269-279. https://doi.org/ <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.3165</u>

- Sadgrove, N. J., Padilla-González, G. F., Leuner, O., Melnikovova, I., and Fernandez-Cusimamani, E. (2021). Pharmacology of natural volatiles and essential oils in food, therapy, and disease prophylaxis. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *12*, 740302. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.740302
- Saini, R., and Dhiman, N. K. (2022). Natural anti-inflammatory and anti-allergy agents: herbs and botanical ingredients. *Anti-Inflammatory and Anti-Allergy Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Inflammatory and Anti-Allergy Agents), 21*(2), 90-114. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2174/1871523021666220411111743
- Salanță, L. C., and Cropotova, J. (2022). An update on effectiveness and practicability of plant essential oils in the food industry. *Plants*, *11*(19), 2488. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11192488</u>
- Sandner, G., Heckmann, M., and Weghuber, J. (2020). Immunomodulatory activities of selected essential oils. *Biomolecules*, 10(8), 1139. https://doi.org/ <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10081139</u>
- Sarowska, J., Wojnicz, D., Jama-Kmiecik, A., Frej-Mądrzak, M., and Choroszy-Król, I. (2021). Antiviral potential of plants against noroviruses. *Molecules*, 26(15), 4669. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26154669</u>
- Sharifi-Rad, J., Salehi, B., Schnitzler, P., Ayatollahi, S. A., Kobarfard, F., Fathi, M., and Sharifi-Rad, M. (2017). Susceptibility of herpes simplex virus type 1 to monoterpenes thymol, carvacrol, p-cymene and essential oils of Sinapis arvensis L., Lallemantia royleana Benth. and Pulicaria vulgaris Gaertn. *Cellular and Molecular Biology*, 63(8), 42-47. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.14715/cmb/2017.63.8.10</u>
- Sharma, A., Gumber, K., Gohain, A., Bhatia, T., Sohal, H. S., Mutreja, V., and Bhardwaj, G. (2023). Importance of essential oils and current trends in use of essential oils (aroma therapy, agrofood, and medicinal usage). In *Essential Oils* (pp. 53-83). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91740-7.00002-5</u>
- Sharma, K., Mishra, V., Ranjan, K. R., Yadav, N., and Sharma, M. (2023). A Methodological Approach of Plant Essential Oils and their Isolated Bioactive Components for Antiviral Activities. *Essential Oils: Extraction Methods and Applications*, 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119829614.ch1</u>
- Sheng, Z., Jian, R., Xie, F., Chen, B., Zhang, K., Li, D., and Hu, L. (2020). Screening of larvicidal activity of 53 essential oils and their synergistic effect for the improvement of deltamethrin efficacy against Aedes albopictus. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 145, 112131. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.112131</u>
- Shikov, A. N., Mikhailovskaya, I. Y., Narkevich, I. A., Flisyuk, E. V., and Pozharitskaya, O. N. (2022). Methods of extraction of medicinal plants. In *Evidence-Based Validation of Herbal Medicine* (pp. 771-796). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-85542-6.00029-9
- Singh, A., Anang, V., Kumari, K., Kottarath, S. K., and Verma, C. (2023). Role of lymphocytes, macrophages and immune receptors in suppression of tumor immunity. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, *194*, 269-310. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2022.10.002</u>
- Soleymani, S., Naghizadeh, A., Karimi, M., Zarei, A., Mardi, R., Kordafshari, G., and Zargaran, A. (2022). COVID-19: General strategies for herbal therapies. *Journal of Evidence-based Integrative Medicine*, *27*, 2515690X211053641.
- Sosa, L., Espinoza, L. C., Valarezo, E., Bozal, N., Calpena, A., Fábrega, M.-J., and Mallandrich, M. (2023). Therapeutic applications of essential oils from native and cultivated ecuadorian plants: Cutaneous candidiasis and dermal anti-inflammatory activity. *Molecules*, *28*(15), 5903. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28155903</u>
- Tirant, M., Tirant, H., and Wollina, U. (2024). Herbal Bioactive Compounds for Skin Infections and Inflammatory Conditions. Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences, 247 - 290.
- Valdivieso-Ugarte, M., Gomez-Llorente, C., Plaza-Díaz, J., and Gil, Á. (2019). Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and immunomodulatory properties of essential oils: A systematic review. *Nutrients*, *11*(11), 2786. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11112786</u>
- Vimalanathan, S., and Hudson, J. (2014). Anti-influenza virus activity of essential oils and vapors. American Journal of Essential Oils and Natural Products, 2(1), 47-53.
- Yingngam, B. (2022). Chemistry of Essential Oils. In *Flavors and Fragrances in Food Processing: Preparation and Characterization Methods* (Vol. 13(2023), pp. 189-223). ACS Publications.
- Yousofi, A., Daneshmandi, S., Soleimani, N., Bagheri, K., and Karimi, M. H. (2012). Immunomodulatory effect of Parsley (Petroselinum crispum) essential oil on immune cells: mitogen-activated splenocytes and peritoneal macrophages. *Immunopharmacology* and *Immunotoxicology*, 34(2), 303-308. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3109/08923973.2011.603338
- Zare, G., Diker, N. Y., and Çankaga, I. I. T. (xxxx). Traditional Use of Medicinal Plants and Essential Oils. In *Essential Oils* (pp. 134-181). CRC Press.
- Zhao, Q., Zhu, L., Wang, S., Gao, Y., and Jin, F. (2023). Molecular mechanism of the anti-inflammatory effects of plant essential oils: A systematic review. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *301*, 115829. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2022.115829</u>
- Zhu, B., Zhang, Q.-I., Hua, J.-w., Cheng, W.-I., and Qin, L.-p. (2018). The traditional uses, phytochemistry, and pharmacology of Atractylodes macrocephala Koidz.: A review. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 226, 143-167. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2018.08.023
- Zuo, X., Gu, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, J., Zhang, J., Wang, G., and Wang, F. (2020). A systematic review of the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of 16 essential oils of herbs. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2020(1), 8878927. https://doi.org/ <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8878927</u>

Chapter 23

Essential Oil-Based Functional Feeds for Promoting Growth in Aquaculture Species

Sana Alam¹, Gulnaz Afzal¹, Abu Baker Siddique², Moeen Afzal¹, Maryam Shahid¹, Ayesha Ramzan¹, Zahid Iqbal³, Hafiz Muhammad Ali⁴, Hira Ahsan² and Riaz Hussain⁵*

¹Department of Zoology, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur-63100, Pakistan

²Institute of Microbiology, Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan

³Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur-63100, Pakistan

⁴Department of Anatomy and Histology, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur-63100, Pakistan

⁵Department of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur-63100, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: dr.riaz.hussain@iub.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

The aquaculture industry is searching for sustainable and environmentally friendly non-synthetic growth promoters to replace the synthetic, antibiotics or hormone-based additives. Essential oils, extracted from different plant material sources have recently been recognized as effective non-conventional natural feed additives for growth promoters in aquaculture species. Abstract This book chapter provides an overarching and comprehensive view on application of essential oil based functional feeds for growth promotion in aquaculture. Essential oils are complex mixture of volatile compounds with a variety of biological properties, which include antibacterial, antioxidant, immunomodulatory and orexigenic effects. It comes from enhancing feed intake, nutrient digestion and absorption, gut microbiota and intestinal health to digestive enzyme secretion, nutrient transporters, and hormonal pathways. The examination of these topics is also performed in the light of particular aquaculture species (carp, tilapia and catfish for freshwater; shrimp, salmon and sea bass for marine) at several life stages regarding distinct production systems. The present review provides an overview of the inhibitory effect and action mechanism on L. monocytogenes by essential oils, including source, composition combined with dosage, administration method and environmental conditions that may be instrumental for efficacy effects. This part accordingly addresses practical applications and feeding strategies (including the incorporation into commercial feeds, combination with other feed additives [prebiotics/probiotics]...), in particularly considering integrating probiotics for aquatic animal use would be an environmentally sustainable approach. The chapter concludes by discussing some of the challenges and future perspectives with respect to NEMs, such as safety concerns related to potential toxicity, compositional variability regulatory status, and consumer acceptance. Lastly, potential emerging trends and/or future directions are also discussed including new essential oil sources as well as other extraction methods like microwaving, blending strategies with existing therapies to improve efficacy of treatment for species that exhibit resistance towards available treatments along with encapsulation technologies for targeted delivery. In sum, this chapter highlights that only comprehensive and interdisciplinary collaborations will reveal the entire spectrum of research opportunities detailing functional feeds based on EOs for general applicability in sustainable aquaculture practices.

KEYWORDS	Received: 18-May-2024	CUENTINIC ATE	A Publication of
Aquaculture, Essential oils, Sustainable growth promoters,	Revised: 15-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Functional	Accepted: 23-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Alam S, Afzal G, Siddique AB, Afzal M, Shahid M, Ramzan A, Iqbal Z, Ali HM, Ahsan H and Hussain R, 2024. Essential oil-based functional feeds for promoting growth in aquaculture species. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 199-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.330</u>

INTRODUCTION

In the last few decades, aquaculture industry has grown at an impressive rate to meet seafood demand and overfishing of wild fish stocks. Despite the potential for substantial growth in an aquaculture Industry, sustainable and efficient development of marine aquaculture poses a significant challenge. Growth promotion is very important in achieving the desired maximum productivity, profitability and making it possible to meet the ever-increasing demands for aquatic products (Naylor et al. 2021). It is essential to accelerate aquaculture species growth-ons for numerous reasons.

Principally, by decreasing the production cycle and increasing productivity and economic feasibility of horticulture (Khanjaniand Sharifinia 2020). Second, better feed conversion results in less waste and reduces environmental impacts of wasted nutrients. Plus, growth promotion may also provide a higher quality and healthier product in the end that fits within consumers demands of sustainable seafood sources (Cooney et al. 2023). Historically, antibiotics and synthetic hormones have been administered to farmed aquatic animals as growth promoters. But there are also concerns over potential development of drug resistance, build-up of unhealthy residues in aquatic products and environmental and consumer health impacts (Mog et al. 2020). Owing to these limitations, there has been an increased focus on the scrutiny and regulations of some organic compounds used, hence leading to a need for safer or more sustainable alternatives.

The use of essential oils (EOs) are one such promising natural growth promoters in aquaculture, due to their multifunctional properties and proven potential towards growth performance, feed efficiency and health stimulus to cultured species (Qiu et al. 2024). EOs are volatile, fragrant oils extracted from many types of plant material including flowers, buds seeds leaves twigs bark herbs wood and roots. They have exhibited antimicrobial, antioxidant, immunomodulatory and appetite-stimulating abilities that might make them potential candidates to be functional feed additives in aquaculture arena (Tripathi et al. 2024). The application of functional feeds made with essential oil is more a promising method to induce growth and prevent the conventional limitations or concerns on traditional growth promoters in cultured species. The unique bioactive potential of essential oils could be harnessed to increase productivity, feed efficiency and the health status at farm level in a sustainable way within aquaculture (Grover et al. 2024).

Essential Oils and Their Bioactive Compounds

Essential oils are volatile, complex mixtures of chemical compounds originating from different parts of plants such as blossoms, buds/seeds (fruit), leaves and twigs; bark herbs fall into six categories according to the Botanical system Root. Such aromatic oils are normally extracted using various techniques including steam distillation, hydrodistillation, solvent extraction or cold pressing depending upon the plant material and spectra of oil to be obtained (Olalere et al. 2024). Steam distillation and hydrodistillation are two of the most popular methods, in which plant material is subjected to steam or boiling water (respectively) will cause volatile compounds to evaporate and then condense into essential oil (Pheko-Ofitlhile and Makhzoum 2024).

Essential oils contain a variety of different [sic] chemical constituents but mainly terpenes and phenolic compounds (Bakkali et al., 2008; Tongnuanchan and Benjakul, 2014). Monoterpenoids like limonene, α -pinene and β -pinene or sesquiterpenes are commonly found in essential oils which determine the unique scent profile of these extracts together with their pharmacological effects (Siddiqui et al. 2024). Also, some essential oils contain numerous phenolic compounds (e.g., caffeic acids; rosmarinic acid) and phenoilc diterpenes (e.g., carnosol, carnislic acd) which may contribute to a relevant content of these molecules in diet (Rastegarnejad et al. 2024). The essential oil and their bioactive compounds have a wide range of biotechnical potentials which could be useful in aquaculture. Most famously, they can kill off pathogens as a result of their ability to damage cell membranes, denature proteins and interfere with bacterial energy metabolism (Dawood et al. 2022). A number of essential oils, including oregano, thyme and clove oil are effective in killing a broad spectrum of pathogenic bacteria, fungi and viruses (de Almeida et al. 2023).

In addition, the antioxidant properties of essential oils can reduce oxidative stress and contribute to a healthier condition in fish. Essential oils have many constituents, and their antioxidant activity is primarily due to the phenolic ingredients which can exhibit free radical scavenging properties as well as inhibiting lipid peroxidation (Dawood et al. 2022). Furthermore, the immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects of essential oils in addition to their stimulant effect on appetite would result in improved growth performance, feed utilization efficiency, health status etc. of aquatic species as reported by many authors (Mansour et al. 2024).

Due to the varied biological effects of essential oils and their bioactive components, they can be incredibly useful for incorporation into fish feed as functional additives in aquaculture which will again lead to advantages like improved growth performance, decreased severity from infectious diseases that mostly bring high mortality rate among cultured species (Hernández-Contreras and Hernández 2020).

Effects of Essential Oils on Growth Performance

Essential oils have been documented to enhance feed intake and appetite of several aquaculture species, thus improving growth performance (Bandeira Junior et al. 2022). Dietary ginger (Zingiber officinale) essential oil (GEO) supplementation significantly increased feed intake and weight gain in hybrid grouper Epinephelus lanceolatus $\sigma \times E$. fuscoguttatus P at higher doses compared to the control group (Adeli et al. 2021). Dietary black cumin (Nigella sativa) essential oil improves growth performance in Asian sea bass (Lates calcarifer) (Abd El-Hack et al. 2021). These effects have been considered as the reasons to explain why appetite-stimulating properties of essential oils could be mediated by evasion of olfactory or gustatory responses through aromatic features that can modulate levels and activities neuropeptides involved in regulating appetite (Nguyen et al. 2023). The inclusion of essential oils has allowed an increased nutrient digestibility and absorption in aquaculture species implying better growth performance (Dawood et al. 2022). For instance, Abdel-Latif et al. (2020) reveled that the addition of oregano essential oil (OEO) to diet enhanced nutrient digestibility while synthesis, mainly for dry matter, protein and energy in common carp feed were lower where results further reflected increment levels on growth performance values and FCR. The use of essential oils for modulating the gut

microbiota and promoting intestinal health could indirectly affect growth performance in aquaculture species. Antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory effects of essential oils help in maintaining gut microbiota homeostasis, promoting intestinal integrity which improves nutrient absorption leading to good growth performance (Firmino et al. 2021).

Essential oils were also shown to enhance feed intake, improve nutrient digestibility and absorption, modulate gut microbiota composition, which are the factors that primarily lead their growth-promoting effects in aquaculture species. It should be noted, however, that the species-selective effects may depend on essential oil composition and inclusion level required to study in a more detailed manner than it was done previously.

Mechanisms of Growth Promotion

Some of the best growth promoters in aquaculture species are essential oils since these have strong antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory properties. Mechanism of essential oils in their antimicrobial activity Essential oils are quickly able to disrupt cell membranes, denature proteins and interfere with important cellular processes that the microorganisms can no longer survive (Angane et al. 2020). Furthermore, the anti-inflammatory effects of essential oils can counteract inflammation-induced metabolic disorders and enhance nutrient utilization favoring growth (Pezantes-Orellana et al. 2024). These metabolites secreted by the essential oils can affect digestive enzymes and nutrient transporters, resulting in increased digestion of nutrients (Su et al. 2020). A study by Alagawany et al. (2020 Oregano essential oil (OEO) dietary supplementation enhanced the activity of digestive enzymes such as amylase, protease and lipase in gibel carp (Carassius auratus gibelio), leading to increased growth performance. The effects of various chemically defined bioactive compounds found in EOs modulate secretion of digestive enzymes, nutrient transporter activity and stimulate enzymatic function, acting on specific cellular signaling pathway mediators regulating gene expression (Patra et al. 2019). Essential oils interact with numerous hormonal and metabolic pathways which ultimately leads to growth promotion in aquaculture species (Aanyu et al. 2020). Furthermore, according to some studies reported that essential oils have potential of modulating the growth hormone such as insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) and Growth Hormone (GH) (Ahmadifar et al. 2021). Researches concerning the trials of bitter orange (citrus aurantium) essential oil on growth indicators, histology and gene expression levels in cyprinus carpioessential oils have a positive effect on the generation level to improve weight gain with two key genes that are GH and IGF-1. Moreover, essential oils may change the metabolic pathway that ensures energy production, protein synthesis and lipid metabolism for better nutrient utilization efficiency which facilitate growth (Kisová et al. 2020). The growth promoting mechanisms of essential oils in aquaculture species are diverse and include antimicrobial, antiinflammatory Action regulation of digestive processes involving the modulation hormonal metabolic pathways. These mechanisms synergize to increase feed intake, nutrient utilization and overall growth performance as well, making essential oils an interesting candidate for a functional feeds additive in the aquaculture industry.

Essential Oils for Specific Aquaculture Species

Freshwater species (carp, tilapia, catfish, etc.)

The growth-promoting effects of essential oils have been promising in other freshwater aquaculture species. Several reports have mentioned the effects of essential oils on growth performance, feed efficiency and nutrient utilization in carp species (Cyprinus carpio), danio (Danio rerio), grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella) common silver barb Barbonymus gonionotus while additives oregano oil Origanum vulgare, garlic Allium sativum or ginger Zingiber officinale are recommended for use (Faheem et al. 2022). Dietary supplementation with garlic, thyme (Thymus vulgaris), and fennel essential oils increase growth, feed conversion ratio and the expression of some immune related genes in Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus (Dawood et al. 2022). Similarly, black cumin (Nigella sativa) and cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum) essential oils have exhibited growth-promoting activities in African catfish Clarias gariepinus and channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus species (Alnahass et al. 2023).

Marine Species (shrimp, salmon, sea bass, etc.)

Volatile compounds ascribed to essential oils have also shown potential for growth enhancement of different marine aquaculture species. Plant-derived essential oils, usually garlic (Allium sativum), thyme (Thymus vulgaris) and origanum, have been experimented on growth performance, feed utilization and disease-resistance in Pacific white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei White Shrimp (Aktaş et al. 2022 Several studies have already shown that essential oils from thyme, oregano and rosemary could increase growth rate, nutrient digestibility or gut health in european sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) and gilthead sea bream [Sparus aurata] juveniles (Yılmaz et al. 2022).

Considerations for different Life Stages and Production Systems

Before using essential oils as growth promoters in aquaculture, one should take into account the specific life stages and production systems. The inclusion levels of essential oils and the type to be incorporated will depend on species, life stage (larvae or juveniles) and production system used (intensive, semi-intensive or extensive); but only at a certain level can it benefit your business. In addition, factors such as water quality, temperature and feeding regime can affect the effectiveness of Eos (Kimera et al. 2021). For example, higher doses of essential oils may be required in intensive production systems with high stocking densities due to increased stress levels and potential for disease outbreaks (Maulu et al. 2021). For instance, because stocking density is higher and stress and potential for disease breakouts are also higher in intensive production systems, those animals might require more rounds of essential oils or at a stronger dose. In addition, the method of EO application (coated with feed encapsulated form; or directly added to water) and stability of compounds during skin processing and storage using are recommended as important considerations (Tolve et al. 2021). Well formulated and encapsulated essential oils can be used as bioenhancing agents to provide better stability, safety along with maximum benefit delivery in aquaculture feeds. In conclusion, the choice and use of essential oils as growth promoters in aquaculture should be adapted to each species, stage of life and culture system considering water quality conditions, feeding regimes especially during (stressful) events like transport or handling and ways to deliver them best to maximize their effects on growt performance (Reverter et al. 2021).

Factors Influencing Efficacy

Essential Oil Source, Composition, and Quality

The source, composition and quality of essential oils may exert significant impact on their efficacy as growth promoters in aquaculture. The plant species, geographical origin of the plants and harvesting time, extraction methods applied to obtain essential oils from them can greatly influence their chemical composition as well bioactive properties (Ni et al. 2021). The bioactivity of oregano essential oil (OEO) the main phytogenic feed supplement additive can vary due to differences in carvacrol and thymol concentrations (Bauer 2020). In low-quality essential oils, the presence of Adulterants, contaminants or degradation products diminishes their biological activities and can raise concerns over safety (Ali et al. 2023).

Dosage, Administration Method, and Feed Formulation

The effectiveness of essential oils as growth promoters in aquaculture is related to the dosage, administration route and feed matrix used. The appropriated level of essential oils could be changed by the type of target species, life stage and environmental status (Dawood et al. 2022). This can cause growth performance to have sub-therapeutic or in worse case, adverse effects due to over/underdosing (Parihar et al. 2022). Besides the above, bioavailability and stability of essential oils are also influenced by incorporation methods including direct addition to feed, encapsulation or delivery via water (Fathi et al. 2021). A correct feed formulation and processing methodology are necessary to obtain the homogeneous distribution, stability and retention of essential oils in aquafeeds.

Environmental Conditions (temperature, salinity, etc.)

In the aquaculture system essential oils are proposed as growth promoters but their role is influenced by several environmental conditions, water temperature, salinity and pH. The solubility and stability of essential oils depend on the type of EO, how they are stored, temperature exposure etc., which has a significant impact to their bioavailability or potency (Kimera et al. 2021). The whole process of a particular acids or bases is shown at the same time it expands over more an entire regional chemical environment like high saline water temperature, and aromatherapy essential oils would decrease in activity. Likewise, environmental stressors (e.g., high stocking densities or poor water quality) could also influence the growth performance and condition of aquatic organisms which may change their response to essential oils (Shourbela et al. 2021). These are important considerations when using essential oils as growth promoters in aquaculture. Detailed knowledge of essential oil profile and proper concentration, route of application as well the environmental factors are pre-requisite for exerting their maximum potential in growth performance and general health status maintenance of cultured species. Hence, systematic quality control and standardization of EOs product before application is necessary in order to ensure the consistency and reproducibility of performance as well as maintain consumers' confidence on its use for aquaculture industry (Kuebutornye et al. 2024).

Practical Applications and Feeding Strategies

Incorporation into Commercial Feeds or Top-dressing

There are various ways that essential oils can be mixed into commercial aquaculture feeds, and each way has its own set of benefits as well as drawbacks. Direct mixing of the oils or their encapsulated forms into feed at manufacture is one common means. This method guarantees a uniform dispersion of the essential oils in its feed and allows calibrated dosing. However, to preserve the stability of essential oils and prevent them from being deactivated or oxidized during feed processing and storage may still require specific equipment a technology (Beltrán and Esteban 2022). On the other hand, you can top-dress essential oils by either mixing them into feed or spraying/ coating on it. This protocol is uncomplicated and could be executed on-site, allowing freedom to change doses/formulations. However, top-dressing could lead to non-uniform distribution of volatile essential oils and subsequent losses during feed handling or transportation (Marimuthu et al. 2022).

Use in Combination with other Feed Additives (prebiotics, probiotics, etc.)

Phytogenics could be used in combination with other alternative feed additives i.e. prebiotics and probiotics that may help to improve the growth-promoting effects of such diets under field conditions. They can also modify the microbiota through the use of prebiotics (Mannan-oligosaccharides, MOS and Fructo-oligosacharides FOS) therefore helping to enhance nutrient utilization. When converted with essential oils (Anti microbial and Anti-inflammatory) than there activity can be synergized in combination which may improve the gut health, nutrient absorption leading to the overall growth performance of animals (Vijayaram et al. 2022). In the same way, probiotics, like lactic acid bacteria and Bacillus species can help to balance the intestine microbiota, bolster immune function and improve feed conversion efficiency in addition of essential oils. Nevertheless, the compatibility and possible interactions of essential oils with other feed materials should be investigated thoroughly to achieve the desirable beneficial effect without interfering in adverse manners (Dasriya et al. 2024). Additonaly, the use of essential oils as growth promoters may also be combined with other sustainable aquaculture practices such as Integrated Multi-trophic Aquaculture (IMTA) or fish feed plant protein inclusion (Knowler et al. 2020). A comprehensive approach combining EOFFs with other sustainable techniques can help aquaculture to achieve the high and profitable production of disease-free stock, reducing pollution from drugs in water bodies, improving fish welfare including stress reduction and increased yields. The practical use of essential oils in aqua feed is complex and involves aspects related to dosage type, compatibility with other substances added to the diet as well as its harmony with growth management. A holistic approach is essential to allow aquaculture producers to harness the potential growth-promoting effects of EO compounds, while continuing towards optimized outcomes for better sustainability and consumer acceptance in this sector.

Challenges and Future Perspectives Potential Toxicity and Safe Dosage Levels

Although essential oils are generally promising as growth promoters in aquaculture, their toxic effects and safe therapeutic dose concentrations need to be verified. Some essential oils or their major constituents might show toxicity at higher levels, which in turn adversely impacts the growth, survival and health of the cultured species. In this regard, excessive levels of essential oils such as garlic (Allium sativum), thyme and oregano have been shown to induce oxidative stress, histopathological changes in gills and barrel by mortality mechanisms in various fish species. It is absolutely critical to set the optimal dose range and determine maximum tolerable levels of essential oils for each target species and life stage so that they can be safely applied at a field level. Moreover, the bioavailability of EO compounds in edible tissues should be considered to ensure food safety and regard economical regulations because their is always a possibility for Bioaccumulation (Ciji and Akhtar 2021).

Variability in Composition and Bioactive Compound Content

One of the drawbacks related to practical applications of essential oils in aquaculture consists on their natural dynamic process with an enormous variabilityaffecting both its composition and bioactive compound content. The chemical composition of essential oils is mainly related to their genetic origin, plant morphology and physiology as well as the concomitant environmental parameters where they grow such harvesting season or part of the plant used in extraction. This variability can be an impediment for the growth promoters properties of essential oils, given that inconsistent composition may result in inconsistency on their biological activities and performance effects (Dawood et al. 2021). It necessitates the development of standardized production methods, quality control measures and analytical techniques to maintain consistent composition and potency of essential oils. Future research should also be directed at the isolation, identification and characterization of bioactive compounds that can stimulate growth in order to create better formulations.

Regulatory Aspects and Consumer Acceptance

Consumer acceptance and regulatory guidelines for the use of essential oils as growth promoters in aguaculture. Although essential oils are mostly recognized as GRAS (general regarded safe) for human consumption, their use in aquaculture where they exhibit to be beneficial has not been yet approved together with specific maximum limits and/or regulatory obligations. Those regulations can significantly differ from one region to another, or even between country and country; therefore compliance with the local law is a must for each target market (Angane et al. 2022). In addition, to be commercially viable, it essential that consumers perceive and accept aquaculture products containing the functional feeds with natural sources of EOs. Consumers have started asking for transparency and minimal use of synthetic additives in the making of food. Communications and education campaigns are essential indicators of the benefits that attract shareholders, investors toward natural growth promoting with ESSENTIAL OILS (Meijer et al. 2021) In the future, studies should be designed to overcome those barriers conducting full toxicological inquiries developing standardized manufacturing and quality inspection practice working with regulatory organizations or stakeholders in order to draw appropriate guidelines on essential oils application in aquaculture. Moreover, investigating the promise of a combined effect between essential oils to be used in combination with other botanicals or aquaculture practices may help improve their growth-promoting properties and sustainability. ConclusionBy confronting such challenges and harnessing the untapped potential of essential oils as natural growth promoters, aquaculture sector could put itself in a setting for more sustainable ecological friendly practices that will be necessary to deliver high-quality seafood meets without compromising on environmental impact which is vital if it wishes to instill consumer confidence.

Emerging Trends and Future Directions

Novel Essential Oil Sources and Extraction Methods

Novel plant sources and a charge in the extraction technique for essential oils especially are expected to have great potential within aquaculture. Essential oils derived from underutilized or lesser-known plant species are assessed by different research groups for their growth-promotional properties in multiple aquaculture species. This diversification of essential oil sources can unveil new effective bioactive compounds present in the oils or it may provide unique synergistic combinations, thus increasing their efficacy as growth promoters. Moreover, advances in extraction technologies such as supercritical fluid extraction (SFE), microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), and ultrasound-assisted extraction have shown potential to enhance essential oil yield, quality or selectivity of the compounds involved. This has particular relevance for the modern aquaculture and food industry by providing novel extraction techniques that will help to retain bioactive compounds, decrease thermal-based degradations as well as drastically reduce harsh solvent uses which also fits within sustainable development goals (SDB) in this sector.

Combination Strategies and Synergistic Effects

Synergistically combining different essential oils or with other natural feed additives is a fresh avenue in aquaculture research. Other studies have shown that prebiotics, probiotics or plant derived compounds combined with essential oils may further stimulate changes in the gut bacterial population due to synergistic effects (Mekonnen et al. 2024).

Encapsulation and Targeted Delivery Systems

Rising interest includes employing encapsulation and targeted delivery systems as potential strategies to improve the efficiency and bioavailability of essential oils in aquaculture feeds. Encapsulation (e.g. emulsification, liposome entrapment and nanoparticle encapsulation) can provide the essential oils with a barrier against oxidation in feed form or during storage as well benefit to control release at target location. Additionally, these delivery vehicles have the potential to enhance essential oil stability and solubility while improving their bioavailability thereby facilitating its targeted action across gastrointestinal sites in aquatic animals. Besides, targeted delivery of essential oils can allow reduction in the dosing levels and alleviation of interactions with other feed components resulting ultimately to optimize growth-promoting effects. Continuous research is being carried out for developing nanoparticle technologies, utilizing carriers to enhance retention and encapsulation loading of essential oils and in the applications with different aquaculture species production. The search for new essential oil sources, the combination of several plant-derived compounds or adjustable and efficient delivery systems represent a strong promise to improve growth promotion with limited impact on the environment in context of aquaculture production towards future sustainability including consumers' application issues about synthetic additives.

Summary of Key Findings

Abstract The application of essential oil-based functional feeds is being regarded as a potential solution for growth in aquaculture species. From different plant origins, essential oils contain a large number of bioactive compounds with antimicrobial, antioxidant, immunomodulatory and orexigenic potential. In various freshwater and marine aquaculture species, the use of these natural agents has shown to support growth performance as well feed efficiency, nutrient utilization and thereby obtained better overall health.

Key mechanisms by which essential oils promote growth include, their antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory effects; alterations in secretions of digestive enzymes and nutrient transporters... hormones pathways, metabolism etc.mapping are described about various EOs possession. The efficiency of volatile plant oils, especially natural ones can be varied from several factors including origin and chemical profile off the essential oiler; dosage in administration method feed formulation an environmental situations.

Potential Applications in Sustainable Aquaculture

Functional feeds, with essential oil as one of the functional ingredients reported numerous beneficial effects in terms of sustainable aquaculture practices. These are commonly used as direct fed microbial in animal feed:Direct-fed microbials (DFM) and have been sought after, both for their potential use to promote intestinal health within the host enteric system. In addition, combining essential oils with other sustainable approaches including plant-based protein sources and integrated multi-trophic aquaculture (IMTA) may help support a more general sustainability of the entire industry. The role of essential oils in efficient growth and feed utilization, coupled with an environmental performance aspect (decrease excessive feed waste; lower nutrient discharge), would help the sector to become more sustainable over a longer-term. Natural and sustainable perceptions may also be a motivation for consumer acceptance of these products, with potential high demand in this very active area which has long been pushing the industry to adopt more eco-friendly alternative feed ingredients.

Future Research Opportunities and Collaborations

By all means, essential oils have shown to be viable growth promoters in aquaculture till now much progress has been made and an array of research opportunities together with collaboration exist yet to never unveil. Rigorous toxicology studies and determination of safe dosages at the specific oil-calibrant-species matrix level will be essential for their successful applications under regulatory scrutiny. In addition, research activities should be targeted to establish standardization of production processes and QC measures as well as the analysis methods that will cope with the diversity in EO composition or content. Academic–industrial (as well as regulatory) partnerships might help to translate this work into concrete guidance for the use of essential oils in aquaculture. Innovative ideas for future studies are exploiting unutilized EO sources, combinatorial strategies with other natural feed additives like prebiotics and probiotics, designing the next-generation encapsulation systems and targeted delivery platforms. These progressions may serve to increase the effectiveness, bioavailability and site-specific delivery of EOs leading them more potent in enhancing the growth-conducive effects [44]. To support these research efforts intensive interdisciplinary-work with experts in plant sciences,

analytical chemistry, animal nutrition as well as aquaculture production and regulatory affairs will be essential. These interactions may lead to the sharing of information and resources which, in turn, can facilitate sustainable practices with regard to environmental concerns as well as consumer interests (e.g., seafood demand) on a global scale.

REFERENCES

- Aanyu M et al., 2020. The effects of combined phytogenics on growth and nutritional physiology of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture 519: 734867.
- Abd El-Hack ME et al., 2021. *Nigella sativa* seeds and its derivatives in fish feed. Black cumin (*Nigella sativa*) seeds: Chemistry, Technology, Functionality, and Applications 297-315.
- Abdel-Latif HM et al., 2020. Dietary oregano essential oil improved the growth performance via enhancing the intestinal morphometry and hepato-renal functions of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) fingerlings. Aquaculture 526: 735432.
- Acar Ü et al., 2021. Effects of essential oil derived from the bitter orange (*Citrus aurantium*) on growth performance, histology and gene expression levels in common carp juveniles (*Cyprinus carpio*). Animals 11(5): 1431.
- Adeli A et al., 2021. Dietary effect of Lemon Verbena (*Aloysia triphylla*) extract on growth performance, some haematological, biochemical, and non-specific immunity and stocking density challenge of rainbow trout juveniles (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Journal of Applied Animal Research 49(1): 382-390.
- Ahmadifar E et al., 2021. The gene regulatory roles of herbal extracts on the growth, immune system, and reproduction of fish. Animals 11(8): 2167.
- Aktaş M et al., 2022. Effects of Thyme and Thyme Oil on Growth of White Shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Acta Aquatica Turcica 1.
- Alagawany M et al., 2020. The role of oregano herb and its derivatives as immunomodulators in fish. Reviews in Aquaculture 12(4): 2481-2492.
- Ali S et al., 2023. Quality Standards and Pharmacological Interventions of Natural Oils: Current Scenario and Future Perspectives. ACS omega 8(43): 39945-39963.
- Alnahass R et al., 2023. Exploring Antimicrobial Potential of Cinnamon, Clove, Peppermint and Black Cumin Essential Oils against Fish Bacterial Pathogens with an Emphasis on the Dietary Supplementation Effects of Cinnamon Oil on Striped Catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*). Journal of Advanced Veterinary Research 13(6): 1173-1180.
- Angane M et al., 2022. Essential oils and their major components: An updated review on antimicrobial activities, mechanism of action and their potential application in the food industry. Foods 11(3): 464.
- Angane M et al., 2022. Essential oils and their major components: An updated review on antimicrobial activities, mechanism of action and their potential application in the food industry. Foods 11(3): 464.
- Bandeira Junior G et al., 2022. The use of cinnamon essential oils in aquaculture: antibacterial, anesthetic, growthpromoting, and antioxidant effects. Fishes 7(3): 133.
- Bauer B, 2020. Oregano: A potential alternative to antibiotics as growth promoter within the broiler industry. Doctoral dissertation, CQUniversity.
- Beltrán JMG and Esteban MÁ, 2022. Nature-identical compounds as feed additives in aquaculture. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 123: 409-416.
- Ciji A and Akhtar MS, 2021. Stress management in aquaculture: A review of dietary interventions. Reviews in Aquaculture 13(4): 2190-2247.
- Cooney R et al., 2023. A circular economy framework for seafood waste valorisation to meet challenges and opportunities for intensive production and sustainability. Journal of Cleaner Production 392: 136283.
- Dasriya VL et al., 2024. Modulation of gut-microbiota through probiotics and dietary interventions to improve host health. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture.
- Dawood MA et al., 2021. Antiparasitic and antibacterial functionality of essential oils: An alternative approach for sustainable aquaculture. Pathogens 10(2): 185.
- Dawood MA et al., 2022. Exploring the roles of dietary herbal essential oils in aquaculture: A review. Animals 12(7): 823.
- de Almeida JM et al., 2023. Antimicrobial action of Oregano, Thyme, Clove, Cinnamon and Black pepper essential oils free and encapsulated against foodborne pathogens. Food Control 144: 109356.
- Faheem M et al., 2022. Bio-active components in medicinal plants: A mechanistic review of their effects on fish growth and physiological parameters–A review. Annals of Animal Science 22(4): 1127-1149.
- Fathi M et al., 2021. Food-grade colloidal systems for the delivery of essential oils. Food Reviews International 37(1): 1-45.
- Firmino JP et al., 2021. Diet, immunity, and microbiota interactions: an integrative analysis of the intestine transcriptional response and microbiota modulation in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) fed an essential oils-based functional diet. Frontiers in immunology 12: 625297.
- Grover S et al., 2024. Utilizing citrus peel waste: a review of essential oil extraction, characterization, and food-industry potential. Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery 1-22.
- Hernández-Contreras Á and Hernández MD, 2020. Application of aromatic plants and their extracts in aquaculture. In Feed additives (pp. 239-259). Academic Press.
- Khanjani MH and Sharifinia M, 2020. Biofloc technology as a promising tool to improve aquaculture production. Reviews in

aquaculture 12(3): 1836-1850.

- Kimera F et al., 2021. Efficient utilization of aquaculture effluents to maximize plant growth, yield, and essential oils composition of *Origanum majorana* cultivation. Annals of Agricultural Sciences 66(1): 1-7.
- Kimera F et al., 2021. Efficient utilization of aquaculture effluents to maximize plant growth, yield, and essential oils composition of *Origanum majorana* cultivation. Annals of Agricultural Sciences 66(1): 1-7.
- Kisová Z et al., 2020. Studying the gene expression of *Penicillium rubens* under the effect of eight essential oils. Antibiotics 9(6): 343.
- Knowler D et al., 2020. The economics of integrated multi-trophic aquaculture: where are we now and where do we need to go? Reviews in Aquaculture 12(3): 1579-1594.
- Kuebutornye FKA et al., 2024. Plant-based feed additives in *Cyprinus carpio* aquaculture. Reviews in Aquaculture 16(1): 309-336.
- Mansour AT et al., 2024. Effects of extended dietary supplementation with *Santalum album* essential oil on hematobiochemical changes, innate immune response, antioxidant status, and expression of related gene in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 1-17.
- Marimuthu V et al., 2022. A glimpse on influences of feed additives in aquaculture. EFood 3(1-2): e6.
- Maulu S et al., 2021. Prevention and control of streptococcosis in tilapia culture: a systematic review. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 33(3): 162-177.
- Meijer GW et al., 2021. Issues surrounding consumer trust and acceptance of existing and emerging food processing technologies. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition 61(1): 97-115.
- Mekonnen YT et al., 2024. Systematic review on microbiome-related nutritional interventions interfering with the colonization of foodborne pathogens in broiler gut to prevent contamination of poultry meat. Poultry Science 103607.
- Mog M et al., 2020. Problems of antibiotic resistance associated with oxytetracycline use in aquaculture: A review. J. Entomol. Zool. Stud 8: 1075-1082.
- Naylor RL et al., 2021. A 20-year retrospective review of global aquaculture. Nature 591(7851): 551-563.
- Nguyen NPK et al., 2023. Effects of Essential Oils and Fragrant Compounds on Appetite: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 24(9): 7962.
- Ni ZJ et al., 2021. Recent updates on the chemistry, bioactivities, mode of action, and industrial applications of plant essential oils. Trends in Food Science and Technology 110: 78-89.
- Olalere OA et al., 2024. Essential Oils: Sustainable Extraction Techniques and Nutraceuticals Perspectives. In Bioactive Extraction and Application in Food and Nutraceutical Industries (pp. 373-389). New York, NY: Springer US.
- Parihar S et al., 2022. Model predictive control and its role in biomedical therapeutic automation: A brief review. Applied System Innovation 5(6): 118.
- Patra AK et al., 2019. Modulation of gastrointestinal barrier and nutrient transport function in farm animals by natural plant bioactive compounds–a comprehensive review. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 59(20): 3237-3266.
- Pezantes-Orellana C et al., 2024. Essential oils: A systematic review on revolutionizing health, nutrition, and omics for optimal well-being. Frontiers in Medicine 11: 1337785.
- Pheko-Ofitlhile T and Makhzoum A, 2024. Impact of hydrodistillation and steam distillation on the yield and chemical composition of essential oils and their comparison with modern isolation techniques. Journal of Essential Oil Research 1-11.
- Qiu K et al., 2024. Rosemary: Unrevealing an old aromatic crop as a new source of promising functional food additive—A review. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety 23(1): e13273.
- Rastegarnejad F et al., 2024. Enhanced production of tanshinone and phenolic compounds in hairy roots culture of *Salvia* miltiorrhiza Bunge by elicitation. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC) 156(1): 4.
- Reverter M et al., 2021. Moving towards more sustainable aquaculture practices: a meta-analysis on the potential of plant-enriched diets to improve fish growth, immunity and disease resistance. Reviews in Aquaculture 13(1): 537-555.
- Shourbela RM et al., 2021. Oregano essential oil enhanced the growth performance, immunity, and antioxidative status of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) reared under intensive systems. Aquaculture 542: 736868.
- Siddiqui T et al., 2024. Terpenoids in Essential Oils: Chemistry, Classification, and Potential Impact on Human Health and Industry. Phytomedicine Plus 100549.
- Su G et al., 2020. Dietary supplementation of plant essential oil improves growth performance, intestinal morphology and health in weaned pigs. Journal of animal physiology and animal nutrition 104(2): 579-589.
- Tolve R et al., 2021. Encapsulation of bioactive compounds for the formulation of functional animal feeds: The biofortification of derivate foods. Animal Feed Science and Technology 279: 115036.
- Tripathi MK et al., 2024. Essential Oil Biochemistry. Aromatherapy: The Science of Essential Oils 64.
- Vijayaram S et al., 2022. Bioactive immunostimulants as health-promoting feed additives in aquaculture: A review. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 130: 294-308.
- Yılmaz S et al., 2022. An extensive review on the use of feed additives against fish diseases and improvement of health status of fish in Turkish aquaculture sector. Aquaculture Studies 22(3).

Chapter 24

Uses of Various Essential Oils along their Anti-Biofilm Potential in Poultry

Roheela Yasmeen*, Aisha Waheed Qurashi, Sumaira Mazhar, Syeda Shazia Bokhari and Uzma Rafi

Department of Biology, Lahore Garrison University, Sector C, Phase-VI, Avenue IV, DHA Lahore, Pakistan *Corresponding author: roheelyasmeen@lgu.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

Plant-based essential oils have been recognized and fascinated people for ages for their aromatic and volatile compounds. This abstract study looks at certain essential oils in detail, covering their uses, geographical origins, historical and cultural significance, extraction techniques, and antibiofilm applications. These oils have played important roles in traditional medicine, religious rituals, and cultural practices throughout history. The volatile compounds in plant materials are carefully preserved by selecting the right extraction methods like solvent extraction, steam distillation, and cold pressing that guarantee the potency and integrity of the finished product. These oils are widely used in aromatherapy, skincare, and have both medicinal and non-medicinal uses. This book chapter provided insight antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties while supporting health and well-being through the formation of pathogenic biofilms in poultry.

KEYWORDS	Received: 22-Jun-2024	and the state of t	A Publication of
Biofilm, Essential Oils, Extraction, Medicinal, Non-medicinal,	Revised: 28-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
Poultry	Accepted: 14-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Yasmeen R, Qurashi AW, Mazhar S, Bokhari SS and Rafi U, 2024. Uses of various essential oils along their anti-biofilm potential in poultry. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 207-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.405</u>

INTRODUCTION

Plant-based essential oils have been recognized and fascinated people for ages for their aromatic and volatile compounds. Essential oils from more than 500 plants are extracted and used for different purposes (Moazzam et al., 2018). These oils have played important roles in aromatherapy, skincare, and have both medicinal and non-medicinal uses. Nowadays, their applications are also seen in poultry, fish and livestock. This book chapter is covering different essential oils such as almond, basil, black paper, chamomile, clove, coffee, eucalyptus, garlic, and fenugreek with reference to uses, geographical origins, historical and cultural significance, extraction techniques, and their antibiofilm potential particularly in poultry.

Almond Oil

Almond trees are scientifically known as *Prunus dulcis* and are a rich source of almond oil (Sana et al. 2021). The plant has two species. *Prunus dulcis* is one which can be cultivated and sweet in taste while, its other species is wild and bitter in taste (Delplancke et al., 2012). The trees are native to the Middle East and South Asia (Chalak 2013). Its origin is from central Asia and from where it was shifted to all old civilizations such as Asia, Europe and Africa. However, nowadays, these are also cropped in Mediterranean, California, and parts of Asia. Additionally, these are also cropped in the Southern Hemisphere, including Chile, Argentina, South Africa, and Australia (reached in 1800) (Wirthensohn and lannamico, 2017).

Historical Importance

Almonds have a long history of cultivation and usage, dating back thousands of years (Delplancke et al. 2013). They were highly prized by ancient civilizations such as the Egyptians (Kiple and Ornelas, 2000), Greeks (Diekman and Chelf, 2017), and Romans for their nutritional value and versatility (Gradziel, 2011). The first proof of the occurrence of wild almonds during the Pleistocene era (7.8×10^5 BCE) came from Israel. Almonds hold significant cultural importance in many societies, often symbolizing fertility, prosperity, and good fortune. In some cultures, almonds are used in wedding ceremonies and other celebrations as a symbol of blessings and abundance (Gradziel, 2017).

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract almond oils (Table 1).

Sr. No.	Plant	The	most common Extraction Methods	References
1.	Almond oil	1.	Cold-pressing or soxhlet extracted methods	Al Juhaimi et al., 2018;
		2.	Hydraulic press or screw press	Barreira et al., 2019; Ouzir et
		3.	Ultrasonic-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction,	al., 2021; Shrestha, 2022
		sub	critical fluid extraction, and salt-assisted aqueous extraction	
2.	Basil Oil	1.	Solvent-free microwave extraction (SFME).	Charles and Simon, 1990;
		2.	Solvent extraction, hydrodistillation, and steam distillation.	Chenni et al., 2016; da Silva,
				et al., 2022
3.	Black paper	1.	Steam distillation	Aziz et al., 2012;
		2.	GC-MS	Balasubramanian et al., 2016
4.	Chamomile	1.	Steam distillation	Singh et al., 2017
5.	Clove	1.	Steam distillation	Haro-González et al., 2021
		2.	Hydro distillation, ultrasound-assisted extraction, microwave-	
		assi	sted extraction, cold pressing, and supercritical fluid extraction	
6.	Coffee	1.	Cold-pressing or solvent extraction methods	Bondam et al., 2022
		2.	solid-liquid and liquid-liquid extraction, ultrasound, microwave,	
		sup	ercritical fluid, subcritical water, pulsed electric field, and fermentation	
7.	Eucalyptus	1.	Steam distillation	Galadima et al., 2012;
				Kidane, 2016
8.	Garlic	1.	Steam distillation or cold pressing.	Abe et al., 2020
9.	Fenugreek	1.	Cold pressing or steam distillation	Sarwar et al., 2020; Raza et al. 2022

Table 1: List of essential oils with the most common extraction methods

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Table 2: List of essential oils their composition and applications

Sr. No.	Plant	Composition Ap	plications	References
1	Almond oil	Diverse types of Fatty acids (mainly 1.	Oxidative stress reduction	Ahmad, 2010;
		oleic acid), tocopherol and 2.	Cardiovascular risk management	Chalak, 2013;
		phytosterol content. 3.	Glucose homeostasis,	Lin et al., 2017;
		4.	Neuroprotection, and many	Mohiuddin,
		5.	Cosmetic and dermatologic applications	2019; Ouzir et al., 2021; Flores- Balderas et al., 2023; Selwyn and Govindaraj, 2023
2	Basil Oil	Diverse types of Fatty acids 1	Treatment of kidney problems	Gebrehiwot et
-	Bush on	antioxidant compounds and 2	Treatment of colds and malaria	al. 2015:
		carbohvdrates 3.	Oxidative stress reduction	Poonkodi, 2016:
		4.	Cardiovascular risk management	Shahraiabian et
		5.	Anti-cancer and antimicrobial activity	al., 2020
		6.	Therapeutic applications	
		7.	Aromatic qualities	
		8.	Insecticide	
3	Black	Various types of Terpenoids and 1.	Used as preservative and biocontrol agent	Lee et al., 2014
	paper	caryophyllene, sabinene and 2.	Excellent antioxidant potential	
		terpinen-4 3.	Anti-fungal and anti-amoebic activity	
		4.	Treatment of diabetic and asthmatic	
		pro	oblems	
4	Chamomile	Terpenoids, flavonoids, coumarins, 1.	Oxidative stress reduction	Sah et al., 2022
		phenolic acids, tannins, and 2.	Antimicrobial agent	
		phytosterols 3.	Anti-hypertensive, anti-allergic and	
		ant	ticancer activity	
5	Clove	Eugenol, eugenyl acetate, β - 1.	Anti-inflammatory and analgesic activity	Haro-González
		caryophyllene, and α -humulene. 2.	Anticancer activity	et al., 2021
6	Coffee	Fatty acid (mainly linoleic acid and 1	. Antioxidant agent	Calligaris et al.,
---	------------	--	---	--------------------
		palmitic acid), aldeydes, ketones, 2	. Wound healing	2009; Dias et al.,
		pyrroles, furans, pyrazines, pyridine, 3	. Cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries	2023
		flavonoids and phenolic compounds		
7	Eucalyptus	Terpenes, aromatic phenols, 1	. Used as Biopesticides in agricultural field	Almas et al.,
		alcohols, oxides, ethers, esters, 2	 As drugs in pharmaceutical industries 	2021; Čmiková
		aldehydes and ketones such as 3	. As flavorants in food industries	et al., 2023
		Eucalyptol, <i>p</i> -cymene, α -pinene, β -4	Antioxidant agent	
		myrcene, γ-terpinene and citronellal, 5	 Treatment of bronchial infection 	
8	Garlic	Allyl polysulfides 1	. Oxidative stress reduction	Satyal et al.,
		2	. Antimicrobial activity	2017; Verma et
		3	. Antihypertensive and antihyperlipidemic	al., 2023
		a	ctivity	
		4	. Anticarcinogenic and immunomodulatory	,
		Ŕ	roperties	
9	Fenugreek	Saponins, alkaloids, flavonoids, and 1	. Managing diabetes	Khorshidian et
		essential fatty acids 2	. Cardiovascular diseases	al., 2016; Murad
		3	. Hyypercholestermi	et al., 2019;
		4	. Improve lactation in breastfeeding	Shukla et al.,
		r	nothers, and boosting libido	2019;
		5	. Culinary applications	Shahrajabian et
				al., 2021; Joshi
				et al., 2022;
				Singh et al.,
				2022

Applications

The emollient and moisturizing qualities of almond oil makes them fit for skincare products to help hydrate and nourish the skin (Chalak, 2013; Mohiuddin, 2019; Selwyn and Govindaraj, 2023) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

The antibacterial effect of almond oil is also reported against many biofilms forming Gram positive and Gram-negative species and its use is particularly recommended in poultry feed for good health of the birds and control of various bacteria such as *L. monocytogenes* and *S. Enteritidis* (Somrani, 2020; Mezher et al., 2022; Movahedi et al., 2024).

Basil Oil

The leaves of the basil plant are used to make basil oil. This plant is known by its scientific name, *Ocimum basilicum* (Bilal et al., 2012; Ch et al., 2015; Pettman, 2010; Pushpangadan and George, 2012). It is a member of the *Lamiaceae* family, and well-known by the name "king of herbs" (Dudai et al. 2020). There are more than 150 species of the genus Ocimum of basil that are grown all over the world (Poonkodi, 2016). Basil is native to tropical regions of Asia and Africa (Ch et al., 2015) but is now cultivated worldwide, particularly in Mediterranean countries, Turkey and Southeast Asia (Tilebeni, 2011; Yıkmış et al., 2017).

Historical Importance

Basil has a long history, and it was frequently used by ancient Egyptian, Indian, and Greek civilizations. For centuries, people have prized it for its culinary and therapeutic properties (Renfrew and Sanderson, 2012). It has cultural significance in many societies and is frequently connected to spirituality, love (Italy), and protection. It is used in religious burials and ceremonies and is regarded as a blessed herb in some cultures (India) (Dudai et al. 2020; Pettman, 2010).

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract basil oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

Basil oil is effective in fighting infections and promoting immunological health due to its antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, and antioxidant properties (Poonkodi, 2016; Parham et al., 2020; Sharafati-Chaleshtori et al., 2021; Zagoto et al., 2021) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

Basil oils have also potent bactericidal effects against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with 99.9% growth reduction and inhibiting virulence besides eradicating all stages of biofilm development and applicable in poultry as well (Pejčić et al., 2020; Oliveira et al., 2024). In chickens, basil oil has demonstrated promise as an anti-biofilm agent, especially against harmful bacteria like *Salmonella* and *E. coli*. Its bioactive ingredients help in lessening the bacterial colonization in the poultry intestine by preventing biofilm formation, which enhances general health and lowers the risk of illnesses. Relying less on artificial antibiotics and preserving poultry hygiene are two benefits of this natural intervention (Marzlan et al., 2023).

Black Pepper

Black pepper (*Piper nigrum*) is an important member of the piperaceae family. Its dried fruit is used to obtain black pepper oil (Milenković and Stanojević, 2021). It is also referred to as the "king of spices" and is well-known for many health advantages, spicy taste and scent (Umarkar et al., 2011; Hammouti et al., 2019; Takooree et al., 2019; Spence, 2024). It is one of the oldest spices in the world (Krishnamoorthy and Parthasarathy, 2010; Bosland et al., 2012). It is indigenous to the Indian subcontinent (Divakaran et al., 2018; Hammouti et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2021). Along with Southeast Asia, Africa, and Latin America, it is also cultivated in tropical regions (26 nations) (Yang et al., 2017; Nair, 2020; Tripodi et al., 2021). Reed and Leleković, (2019) reported its status as an alien species in Pannonia.

Historical Importance

For millennia, black pepper s considered as culinary and therapeutic assets (Bosland et al., 2012; Shaffer, 2013). Ancient societies like the Greeks, Romans, and Egyptians valued it high and utilized it as a spice and a kind of money (Hammouti et al. 2019). This is typically connected to warmth, vibrancy, and prosperity and has cultural importance to ward off evil spirits and provide good fortune in many countries.

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract black pepper oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

Black pepper oil is useful for reducing pain and inflammation (Adiani and Variyar, 2020). It is also utilized to enhance circulation, increase metabolism, and support digestive and cardiovascular health (Yang et al. 2019; Wang et al., 2021) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

Beneficial effects of black pepper as essential oils have been reported to show its potential use as an efficient antivirulence strategy against prolonged *S. typhi, and L. monocytogenes* infections in poultry (dos Santos et al., 2020). Black pepper, and their common constituent cis-nerolidol at 0.01 % markedly inhibited *S. aureus* biofilm formation (Lee et al., 2014).

Chamomile Oil

The chamomile belongs to the Asteraceae family of plants. Chamomile oil is harvested from their blooms (Srivastava et al., 2010; Menge et al., 2016). It's a little shrub with fluffy leaves and flowers that resemble daisies. *Matricaria chamomilla* and *Chamaemelum nobile* are the names of two of its variations (Sharafzadeh and Alizadeh, 2011; Sah et al., 2022). It was originated in Europe and Western Asia and currently grown all over the world, especially in temperate climates with lots of sunshine and well-drained soil (Menge et al., 2016).

Historical Importance

It has a long history of use in traditional medicine and folk remedies. It was highly valued by ancient civilizations such as the Egyptians, Greeks, and Romans for its medicinal properties (Heinrich et al., 2012; Saheedha, 2019; Mekhlfi, 2023). It holds cultural significance in many societies and is often associated with relaxation, tranquility, and healing. In some cultures, chamomile tea is used as a soothing beverage to promote restful sleep and calm the nerves (Antol, 1995; Hosen and Madhu, 2023).

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract chamomile oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

Patients who take chamomile oil report feeling less stressed, more relaxed, and less depressed and anxious. To reduce skin irritations, itching, and speed up the healing of wounds, resole menstrual issues, it is also used topically (Martins et al., 2009; Sharafzadeh and Alizadeh, 2011; Gad et al., 2019) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

In poultry, chamomile oil has an anti-biofilm function, and it help in improving chicken health and lowering bacterial infections, this may lessen the demand for antibiotics in chicken production. Antibiofilm and anti- QS activity of chamomile is also reported in poultry and livestock (Ibrahim, 2017).

Clove Oil

The clove tree, (*Syzygium aromaticum*) is a member of the Myrtaceace family (Cortés-Rojas et al., 2014; Kaur and Kaushal, 2019). Its clove oil is derived from flower buds (Kaur and Kaushal, 2019). It is well known for its spicy scent and many health advantages (Kumar et al., 2012; Poornima et al., 2022). The clove trees are native to Indonesia's Maluku Islands (Sundari et al., 2019), presently they are also grown in tropical climates across the globe, such as Tanzania, Madagascar, India, and Sri Lanka (Charoonratana, 2022; Poornima et al., 2022).

Historical Importance

Clove has been utilized in both traditional medicine and cooking from prehistoric times (Otunola, 2022). It is highly prized in ancient cultures such as Greeks, Romans, and Chinese, for its fragrant and therapeutic characteristics (Giannenas et al., 2020). It is commonly connected to healing, purification, and protection and has cultural significance in many countries to draw in good energy and ward off bad energy (Izzah et al., 2018).

Extraction Methods

A few advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract clove oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

For its antiseptic qualities, clove oil is applied topically to treat toothaches, sore gums, and oral infections (Hosseini et al., 2011; Bhowmik et al., 2012). It is also used in treating headaches, rheumatoid arthritis, and muscular aches (Milind and Deepa, 2011; Esmaeili et al., 2022; Ugbogu et al., 2022; Yadav et al., 2022) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

Clove oil has been shown to have promising antibiofilm properties against bacterial species. The oil has been reported to induce alteration in individual bacterial cells length and visible increase of their roughness and it was speculated that Clove essential oil seems to discharge exopolysaccharides from bacterial biofilm and inducing bacterial detachment from the surface. Due to anti-*A. acidoterrestris* biofilm activity, the clove oil showed potential to hinder a development of *A. acidoterrestris* biofilms on production surfaces in food industries (Kunicka-Styczyńska et al., 2020). The vivid antibiofilm effect of clove oil was also observed against *E. coli* O157:H7, *P. aeruginosa*, and *A. hydrophila* (Kim et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2017). Clove oil have significant potential to inhibit the bacterial biofilm formation and reduce the virulence factors of the pathogens in poultry (Liu et al., 2022).

Coffee Oil

The Coffe plant is a member of the *Rubiaceae* family, and its roasted seeds, or coffee beans, are used to make coffee oil (ALAsmari et al., 2020). It has two varieties such as *Coffea arabica* and *Coffea canephora* (Anzueto et al., 2005; Lim and Lim, 2013; Dulmini, 2023). It is highly valued for its multifaceted health and skincare benefits, as well as its deep flavor and rich aroma (Esquivel and Jimenez, 2012; dos Santos et al., 2021; Sharmeen et al., 2021). Although coffee trees are native to tropical parts of Asia and Africa. However, it is also grown in many equatorial countries, such as Brazil, Colombia, and Vietnam (Wintgens, 2012; DaMatta, 2018). *Coffea arabica* is particularly famous in Ethiopia (Sisay, 2018).

Historical Importance

Coffee has a long history as in Yemen and Ethiopia it was famous for its use even from sixth century (Fregulia, 2019; Yılmaz et al., 2019). It is culturally significant and is linked to vitality, productivity, and socializing. In various cultures it is an essential component of everyday life, signifying friendliness and unity (Topik, 2009; Yoseph, 2013; Duressa, 2018; Bacha et al., 2019; Purnomo et al., 2021).

Extraction Methods

A few advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract black pepper oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

According to Del Castillo et al. (2019), coffee oil is thought to possess antioxidant qualities that help shield cells from oxidative damage and lower the risk of chronic illnesses (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

Extraction of green coffee beans and robusta coffee beans showed Inhibitory activity and biofilm degradation (Wicahyo et al., 2024). Coffee beans have also been found to show anti-bacterial and antibiofilm agents against multi drug resistant bacteria (extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA)-positive biofilm-forming strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (P. aeruginosa), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), and *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA)-positive biofilm-forming strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (P. aeruginosa), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), and *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) obtained from foot ulcers) in Diabetes-related complications such as diabetic foot infections (Zubair, 2024). It was proven a good ingredient for the broiler chickens' live body weight, feed conversion ratio, and pathogenic bacterial counts were all increased when given 2.5 g/kg of green coffee powder (GCP). GCP changed the color characteristics and raised pH to improve the quality of meat. Moreover, coffee oil may help to improve the health and performance of chickens by reducing pathogen biofilms (Ashour et al., 2020).

Eucalyptus Oil

Eucalyptus trees are one of evergreens plant (Sunder, 1993). Different types of eucalyptus trees are used to produce eucalyptus essential oil. There are around 900 species in the genus Eucalyptus (Dhakad et al., 2018). *Eucalyptus globulus, Eucalyptus radiata,* and *Eucalyptus citriodora* are the three most common species that are well known. It is cropped at various places although, it is native to Australia. Origins Geographically Native to Australia, eucalyptus trees flourish there in a variety of habitats (Trivedi and Hotchandani, 2004). They are grown for a variety of uses after being brought to other regions of the world, including North and South America, Europe, and Asia (Paine et al., 2011).

Historical Importance

The leaves of eucalyptus have traditionally been used as medicine by Indigenous Australian cultures. They used them as insect repellents, wound treatments, and remedies for respiratory problems (Khan et al., 2020; Oke et al., 2021). The significance of the tree is both social and economic (Turnbull, 2000).

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract eucalyptus oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

It facilitates easier breathing, it can be incorporated into steam or utilized in chest rubs (Shao et al., 2020; Sudradjat, 2020). It can be used as antiviral, antifungal, antibacterial, and insecticidal (Trivedi and Hotchandani, 2004; Zhang et al. 2010; Sebei et al. 2015; Mieres-Castro et al., 2021) (Table 2).

Antibiofilm Activity

The antibiofilm effects of *Eucalyptus globulus* oil have been reported to be due to its main component 1,8-cineole, against MRSA, as well as their anti-Quorum sensing potential also noticed high (Balhaddad and AlSheikh, 2023). The activity of *Eucalyptus globulus* leaves is also reported against multi drug resistance bacteria in poultry (Ullah et al., 2021). In chicken, eucalyptus oil may prevent and interfere with the production of biofilms which reduces the load of harmful microorganisms and possibly improves the poultry's health. Because of its antibacterial qualities, poultry environment may operate better overall and be cleaner.

Garlic Oil

The Allium sativum plant belongs to the family *Alliaceae*. Its bulbs are used to extract garlic oil. It has a long history and is used both for culinary and medicinal contexts (Satyal et al., 2017; Miri and Roughani, 2018; Saif et al., 2020). Garlic is indigenous to northern Iran and Central Asia (Shaaf et al., 2014; Sarpaki, 2021). However, China, India, Egypt, Russia, and the Mediterranean region are among the many places in the world where it is commonly farmed (Cavagnaro and Galmarini, 2007; Dhall et al., 2023). Garlic and its derivative products, such as garlic oil, are mostly produced in these regions.

Historical Importance

Garlic cultivation dates to than 5,000 years (Parreño et al., 2023). Many different cultures have placed a high value on garlic. Garlic was prized for its therapeutic qualities by ancient societies like the Egyptians, Greeks, Romans, and Chinese, who used it to cure anything from infections to stomach problems. Additionally, it was thought to protect workers from evil spirits and provide them stamina and vigor (Omar et al., 2007; Sarpaki, 2021). According to Ezeorba et al. (2022) it has been linked to energy, healing, and protection. Garlic is sometimes put under pillows to induce pleasant dreams or hung outside dwellings to fight off evil spirits (Rivlin, 2001).

Extraction Methods

Several advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract garlic oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

Several studies (Fialová et al., 2016; Miri and Roughani, 2018; Espinoza et al., 2020) report on its antimicrobial, antifungal, antiviral, and anti-inflammatory qualities (Table 2)

Antibiofilm Activity

Garlic oil has been reported to inhibit *S. typhimurium* biofilm and could be applied in the food and poultry industry (Morshdy et al., 2022; Robinson et al., 2022). Garlic oil improves sensory qualities and successfully lowers coliform counts in chicken meat; a 1.5% concentration yields the best outcomes. Its antibacterial qualities help to improve the safety and quality of meat while it is being stored (Wafy et al., 2019). Similarly, nanoemulsion of garlic oil in water dramatically inhibited *L. monocytogenes* biofilm development (Liu et al., 2024).

Fenugreek Oil

Trigonella foenum-graecum, is scientific name of Fenugreek and a member of the *Fabaceae* family. It is an annual crop with small yellowish white flowers and a source of fenugreek oil Çamlýca and Yaldýz, 2019; Sarwar et al., 2020). It has a unique flavor and scent, and for ages, people have used it in food and medicine (Singh et al., 2022). Its origin is from the Mediterranean region, specifically Egypt and Greece. However, now it is widely grown in many nations with suitable climates, such as India, China, and Morocco (Hilles and Mahmood, 2021).

Historical Importance

Fenugreek was found in the writings of the ancient Greek, Roman, and Egyptian civilizations, demonstrating its great historical relevance (Kumar, 2019). In many cultures, it represents fertility, prosperity, and purity (Godara et al., 2017). Its seeds are frequently used to bring good fortune and blessings into rites and ceremonies, especially those pertaining to marriage and childbirth.

Extraction Methods

A few advanced and mechanical methods are in practice to extract Fenugreek oils (Table 1).

Chemical Composition

The chemical composition of various oils is given in Table 2.

Applications

Fenugreek oil has been used historically to treat a wide range of illnesses, including skin diseases, inflammation, and digestive disorders (Yusharyahya, 2020). It also helped in hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, lactation improvement in nursing moms, and increased libido, according to research (Shahrajabian et al., 2021; Singh et al., 2022).

Antibiofilm Potential of Fenugreek

Fenugreek seeds have been reported to show antibacterial activities against pathogenic bacterial strains as well as anticancerous activity (Shapiro et al., 2001; Sharief and Gani, 2004). The seed extract has also a high potential in preservation of meat (Daneshniya et al., 2023). Fenugreek has strong antibiofilm qualities and is useful in treating biofilm-related diseases in chicken. It is a viable substitute for industrial chicken raising due to its easier availability and cheaper cost.

Conclusion

This book chapter offers valuable insights into the importance of various essential oils, their extraction methods, and applications, particularly focusing on glimpses of their anti-biofilm potential in poultry. The study highlights that essential oils such as clove, garlic, and basil have demonstrated strong anti-biofilm capabilities in poultry feed. By inhibiting biofilm formation, these oils can reduce illnesses caused by pathogens, contributing to better poultry health.

REFERENCES

Abe, K., Hori, Y., and Myoda, T. (2020). Volatile compounds of fresh and processed garlic. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 19(2), 1585-1593.

Adiani, V., and Variyar, P. S. (2020). Pepper Berries (Piper nigrum L.)–Drupes with Therapeutic and Nutraceutical Potential. In Asian Berries (pp. 381-397). CRC Press.

Ahmad, Z. (2010). The uses and properties of almond oil. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice, 16(1), 10-12.

- Al Juhaimi, F., Özcan, M.M., Ghafoor, K., Babiker, E.E., and Hussain, S. (2018). Comparison of cold-pressing and soxhlet extraction systems for bioactive compounds, antioxidant properties, polyphenols, fatty acids and tocopherols in eight nut oils. *Journal Food Science Technology*, 55(8):3163-3173. doi: 10.1007/s13197-018-3244-5. Epub 2018 Jun 7. PMID: 30065427; PMCID: PMC6045996.
- ALAsmari, K. M., Zeid, I. M. A., and Al-Attar, A. M. (2020). Medicinal properties of Arabica coffee (Coffea arabica) oil: An Overview. Advancements in Life Sciences, 8(1), 20-29.
- Almas, I., Innocent, E., Machumi, F., and Kisinza, W. (2021). Chemical composition of essential oils from Eucalyptus globulus and Eucalyptus maculata grown in Tanzania. Scientific African, 12, e00758.
- Antol, M. N. (1995). *Healing Teas: A Practical Guide to the Medicinal Teas of the World--from Chamomile to Garlic, from Essiac to Kombucha*. Penguin.
- Anzueto, F., Baumann, T. W., Graziosi, G., Piccin, C. R., and van der Vossen, H. A. M. (2005). The plant. *Espresso Coffee. The Science of Quality*, 21-86.
- Ashour, E. A., El-Hack, M. E. A., Shafi, M. E., Alghamdi, W. Y., Taha, A. E., Swelum, A. A., and El-Saadony, M. T. (2020). Impacts of green coffee powder supplementation on growth performance, carcass characteristics, blood indices, meat quality and gut microbial load in broilers. *Agriculture*, 10(10), 457.
- Aziz, S., Naher, S., Abukawsar, M. D., and Roy, S. K. (2012). Comparative studies on physicochemical properties and GC-MS analysis of essential oil of the two varieties of the black pepper (Piper nigrum Linn.). *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Phytopharmacological Research*, *2*(2), 67-70.
- Bacha, A., Mohammed, K., Kuto, L., and Fufa, D. (2019). Coffee Ceremony of the Macha Oromo in Jimma Zone, Ethiopia. *International Journal*, 6(1).
- Balasubramanian, S., Roselin, P., Singh, K. K., Zachariah, J., and Saxena, S. N. (2016). Postharvest processing and benefits of black pepper, coriander, cinnamon, fenugreek, and turmeric spices. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *56*(10), 1585-1607.
- Balhaddad, A. A., and AlSheikh, R. N. (2023). Effect of eucalyptus oil on *Streptococcus mutans* and *Enterococcus faecalis* growth. **BDJ Open**, 9, 26. DOI: 10.1038/s41405-023-00154-8.
- Barreira, J. C., Nunes, M. A., da Silva, B. V., Pimentel, F. B., Costa, A. S., Alvarez-Ortí, M., and Oliveira, M. B. P. (2019). Almond cold-pressed oil by-product as ingredient for cookies with potential health benefits: Chemical and sensory evaluation. *Food Science and Human Wellness*, 8(3), 292-298.
- Bhowmik, D., Kumar, K. S., Yadav, A., Srivastava, S., Paswan, S., and Dutta, A. S. (2012). Recent trends in Indian traditional herbs Syzygium aromaticum and its health benefits. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 1(1), 13-22.
- Bilal, A., Jahan, N., Ahmed, A., Bilal, S. N., Habib, S., and Hajra, S. (2012). Phytochemical and pharmacological studies on Ocimum basilicum Linn-A review. *International Journal of Current Research and Review*, 4(23), 73-83.
- Bondam, A. F., da Silveira, D. D., dos Santos, J. P., and Hoffmann, J. F. (2022). Phenolic compounds from coffee by-products: Extraction and application in the food and pharmaceutical industries. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *123*, 172-186.

Bosland, P. W., Votava, E. J., and Votava, E. M. (2012). Peppers: vegetable and spice capsicums (Vol. 22). Cabi.

- Calligaris, S., Munari, M., Arrighetti, G., and Barba, L. (2009). Insights into the physicochemical properties of coffee oil. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 111(12), 1270-1277.
- Çamlýca, M., and Yaldýz, G. (2019). Characterization of morphological and yield variation of fenugreek (Trigonella foenumgraecum L.) genotypes. *Legume Research-An International Journal*, 42(4), 500-504.
- Cavagnaro, P. F., and Galmarini, C. R. (2007). Garlic. In *Vegetables* (pp. 349-364). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Ch, M. A., Naz, S. B., Sharif, A., Akram, M., and Saeed, M. A. (2015). Biological and pharmacological properties of the sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum). *Br. Journal Pharmacy Research*, 7(5), 330-339.
- Chalak, L. (2013). Almond: Multiple uses of a Mediterranean heritage. In I International Symposium on Fruit Culture and Its Traditional Knowledge along Silk Road Countries 1032 (pp. 29-36).
- Charles, D. J., and Simon, J. E. (1990). Comparison of extraction methods for the rapid determination of essential oil content and composition of basil. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, *115*(3), 458-462.
- Charoonratana, T. (2022). Composition of clove (Syzygium aromaticum) buds. Clove (Syzygium aromaticum), 11-35.
- Chenni, M., El Abed, D., Rakotomanomana, N., Fernandez, X., and Chemat, F. (2016). Comparative study of essential oils extracted from Egyptian basil leaves (Ocimum basilicum L.) using hydro-distillation and solvent-free microwave extraction. *Molecules*, *21*(1), 113.
- Čmiková, N., Galovičová, L., Schwarzová, M., Vukic, M. D., Vukovic, N. L., Kowalczewski, P. Ł., and Kačániová, M. (2023). Chemical composition and biological activities of Eucalyptus globulus essential oil. *Plants*, *12*(5), 1076.
- Cortés-Rojas, D. F., de Souza, C. R. F., and Oliveira, W. P. (2014). Clove (Syzygium aromaticum): a precious spice. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, 4(2), 90-96.
- da Silva, W. M. F., Kringel, D. H., de Souza, E. J. D., da Rosa Zavareze, E., and Dias, A. R. G. (2022). Basil essential oil: Methods of extraction, chemical composition, biological activities, and food applications. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *15*(1), 1-27.
- DaMatta, F. M. (2018). Coffee tree growth and environmental acclimation. In Achieving sustainable cultivation of coffee (pp.

39-66). Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing.

- Daneshniya, M., Maleki, M. H., and Daneshniya, M. R. (2023). The Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Potential of Persian Indigenous Herbs as an Alternatives for Nitrate and Nitrite in the Preservation of Meat and Meat Products: An Overview. *European Journal of Nutrition and Food Safety*, 15(9), 73-105.
- Del Castillo, M. D., Iriondo-DeHond, A., Fernández-Gómez, B., Martinez-Saez, N., Rebollo-Hernanz, M., Martín-Cabrejas, M. A., and Farah, A. (2019). Coffee antioxidants in chronic diseases.
- Delplancke, M., Alvarez, N., Benoit, L., Espíndola, A. H. I. J., I Joly, H., Neuenschwander, S., and Arrigo, N. (2013). Evolutionary history of almond tree domestication in the M editerranean basin. *Molecular Ecology*, *22*(4), 1092-1104.
- Delplancke, M., Alvarez, N., Espíndola, A., Joly, H., Benoit, L., Brouck, E., and Arrigo, N. (2012). Gene flow among wild and domesticated almond species: insights from chloroplast and nuclear markers. *Evolutionary Applications*, 5(4), 317-329.
- Dhakad, A. K., Pandey, V. V., Beg, S., Rawat, J. M., and Singh, A. (2018). Biological, medicinal and toxicological significance of Eucalyptus leaf essential oil: a review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *98*(3), 833-848.
- Dhall, R. K., Cavagnaro, P. F., Singh, H., and Mandal, S. (2023). History, evolution and domestication of garlic: a review. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*, 309(5), 33.
- Dias, L. D., Carbinatto, F. M., Almeida, I. D. S., Blanco, K. C., Marquele-Oliveira, F., Munari, C. C., and Bagnato, V. S. (2023). Eco-Friendly Extraction of Green Coffee Oil for Industrial Applications: Its Antioxidant, Cytotoxic, Clonogenic, and Wound Healing Properties. *Fermentation*, 9(4), 370.
- Diekman, C., and Chelf, V. (2017). Superfood Nuts: A Guide to Cooking with Power-Packed Walnuts, Almonds, Pecans, and More. Union Square and Co..
- Divakaran, M., Jayasree, E., Nirmal Babu, K., and Peter, K. V. (2018). Legacy of Indian spices: its production and processing. *Indian Spices: The Legacy, Production and Processing of India's Treasured Export*, 13-30.
- dos Santos, E. A. R., Tadielo, L. E., Schmiedt, J. A., Orisio, P. H. S., Brugeff, E. D. C. L., Possebon, F. S., and dos Santos Bersot, L. (2023). Inhibitory effects of piperine and black pepper essential oil on multispecies biofilm formation by Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella Typhimurium, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *LWT*, 182, 114851.
- dos Santos, É. M., de Macedo, L. M., Tundisi, L. L., Ataide, J. A., Camargo, G. A., Alves, R. C., and Mazzola, P. G. (2021). Coffee by-products in topical formulations: A review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *111*, 280-291.
- Dudai, N., Nitzan, N., and Gonda, I. (2020). Ocimum basilicum L.(Basil). Medicinal, Aromatic and Stimulant Plants, 377-405.
- Dulmini, A. T. (2023). Beverages of coffee and phytochemicals present in *Coffea arabica* and *Coffea canephora*–A review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 60(1), 12-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-023-05678-1
- Duressa, E. L. (2018). The socio-cultural aspects of coffee production in southwestern Ethiopia: An overview. *British Journal* of Multidisciplinary and Advanced Studies, 2(1), 11-26.
- Esmaeili, F., Zahmatkeshan, M., Yousefpoor, Y., Alipanah, H., Safari, E., and Osanloo, M. (2022). Anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive effects of Cinnamon and Clove essential oils nanogels: An in vivo study. *BMC Complementary Medicine and Therapies*, 22(1), 143.
- Espinoza, T., Valencia, E., Albarrán, M., Díaz, D., Quevedo, R. A., Díaz, O., and Bastías, J. (2020). Garlic (Allium sativum L) and Its beneficial properties for health: A review. *Agroindustrial Science*, *10*(1), 103-115.
- Esquivel, P., and Jimenez, V. M. (2012). Functional properties of coffee and coffee by-products. *Food Research International*, 46(2), 488-495.
- Ezeorba, T. P. C., Chukwudozie, K. I., Ezema, C. A., Anaduaka, E. G., Nweze, E. J., and Okeke, E. S. (2022). Potentials for health and therapeutic benefits of garlic essential oils: Recent findings and future prospects. *Pharmacological Research-Modern Chinese Medicine*, *3*, 100075.
- Fialová, J., Roberts, S. C., and Havlíček, J. (2016). Consumption of garlic positively affects hedonic perception of axillary body odour. *Appetite*, *97*, 8-15.
- Flores-Balderas, X., Peña-Peña, M., Rada, K. M., Alvarez-Alvarez, Y. Q., Guzmán-Martín, C. A., Sánchez-Gloria, J. L., and Sánchez-Muñoz, F. (2023). Beneficial effects of plant-based diets on skin health and inflammatory skin diseases. *Nutrients*, 15(13), 2842.
- Fregulia, J. M. (2019). A Rich and Tantalizing Brew: A History of How Coffee Connected the World. Food and Foodways.
- Gad, H. A., Abd El-Rahman, F. A., and Hamdy, G. M. (2019). Chamomile oil loaded solid lipid nanoparticles: A naturally formulated remedy to enhance the wound healing. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, *50*, 329-338.
- Galadima, M. S., Ahmed, A. S., Olawale, A. S., and Bugaje, I. M. (2012). Optimization of steam distillation of essential oil of Eucalyptus tereticornis by response surface methodology. *Nigerian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 20(4), 368-372.
- Gebrehiwot, H., Bachetti, R. K., and Dekebo, A. (2015). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activities of leaves of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) herb. *International Journal Basic Clinical Pharmacology*, 4(5), 869-875.
- Giannenas, I., Sidiropoulou, E., Bonos, E., Christaki, E., and Florou-Paneri, P. (2020). The history of herbs, medicinal and aromatic plants, and their extracts: Past, current situation and future perspectives. In *Feed additives* (pp. 1-18). Academic Press.
- Godara, A. S., Singh, R., Chouhan, G. S., and Nepalia, V. (2017). Yield and economics of fenugreek (Trigonella foenumgraecum L.) as influenced by fertility levels, biofertilizers and brassinosteroid. *Legume Research-An International Journal*, 40(1), 165-169.

Gradziel, T. M. (2011). 2 Origin and Dissemination of Almond. *Horticultural Reviews*, *38*, 23.

Gradziel, T. M. (2017). History of cultivation. *Almonds: botany, production and uses*, 494.

- Hammouti, B., Dahmani, M., Yahyi, A., Ettouhami, A., Messali, M., Asehraou, A., and Touzani, R. (2019). Black Pepper, the "King of Spices": Chemical composition to applications. *Arab. Journal Chemistry Environment Research*, *6*, 12-56.
- Haro-González, J. N., Castillo-Herrera, G. A., Martínez-Velázquez, M., and Espinosa-Andrews, H. (2021). Clove essential oil (Syzygium aromaticum L. Myrtaceae): Extraction, chemical composition, food applications, and essential bioactivity for human health. *Molecules*, 26(21), 6387.
- Heinrich, M., Pieroni, A., and Bremner, P. (2012). Plants as medicines. In *The Cultural History of Plants* (pp. 208-241). Routledge.
- Hilles, A. R., and Mahmood, S. (2021). Historical background, origin, distribution, and economic importance of fenugreek. *Fenugreek: Biology and Applications*, 3-11.
- Hosen, M. S., and Madhu, B. (2023). Health benefits of herbal tea: A review. *Journal of Herbal Medicine*, 17, 100276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hermed.2023.10027
- Hosseini, M., Kamkar, A. M., and Rakhshandeh, H. (2011). Analgesic effect of clove essential oil in mice. *Avicenna Journal of Phytomedicine*, 1(1), 1-6.
- Hussain, S., Rahman, R., Mushtaq, A., and Zerey-Belaskri, A. E. (2017). Clove: A review of a precious species with multiple uses. *International Journal Chemistry Biochemistry Science*, *11*, 129-133.
- Ibrahim, I. A. (2017). Study the Effect of some Medical Plants in Biofilm Formation and Antibiotic Sensitivity for Klebsiella Pneumoniae. *Iraqi Journal of Science*, 58(2C), 971-983.
- Izzah, D., Triyuwono, I., and Mulawarman, A. D. (2018). Local Wisdom on The Clove Farmer Sharing System: Case Study In Bobaneigo, North Halmahera, North Maluku. *International Journal of Business, Economics and Law*, *16*(5), 96-107.
- Joshi, A. S., Nagda, P., Bugade, S., and Barve, S. S. (2022). Investigation of anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects of methanolic extracts of fenugreek leaves and seeds to justify its use in topical creams for preventing inflammation and joint-pain. *International Journal of Agro Nutrifood Practices*, *2*(3), 9-15.
- Kaur, K., and Kaushal, S. (2019). Phytochemistry and pharmacological aspects of Syzygium aromaticum: A review. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 8(1), 398-406.
- Khan, N., Fahad, S., Faisal, S., Akbar, A., and Naushad, M. (2020). Socio-economic and medicinal review of Eucalyptus tree in the world. *Available at SSRN 3644215*.
- Khorshidian, N., Yousefi Asli, M., Arab, M., Adeli Mirzaie, A., and Mortazavian, A. M. (2016). Fenugreek: potential applications as a functional food and nutraceutical. *Nutrition and Food Sciences Research*, *3*(1), 5-16.
- Kidane, M. (2016). Extraction and characterization of essential oil from Eucalyptus leaves using steam distillation. Addis Ababa University.
- Kim, Y.-G., Lee, J.-H., Gwon, G., Kim, S.-I., Park, J. G., and Lee, J. (2016). Essential oils and eugenols inhibit biofilm formation and the virulence of Escherichia coli O157:H7. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 36377. DOI: 10.1038/srep36377.
- Kiple, K. F., and Ornelas, K. C. (Eds.). (2000). The Cambridge world history of food (Vol. 2). Cambridge University Press.
- Krishnamoorthy, B., and Parthasarathy, V. A. (2010). Improvement of black pepper. CABI Reviews, (2010), 1-12.
- Kumar, A. (2019). Fenugreek: Traditional uses, medicinal properties, and therapeutic potential (Vol. 1). Sankalp Publication.
- Kumar, B. M., Sasikumar, B., and Kunhamu, T. K. (2021). Agroecological aspects of black pepper (Piper nigrum L.) cultivation in Kerala: a review. AGRIVITA, Journal of Agricultural Science, 43(3), 648-664.
- Kumar, K. S., Yadav, A., Srivastava, S., Paswan, S., and sankar Dutta, A. (2012). Recent trends in Indian traditional herbs syzygium aromaticum and its health benefits. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 1(1), 13-22.
- Kunicka-Styczyńska, A., Tyfa, A., Laskowski, D., Plucińska, A., Rajkowska, K., and Kowal, K. (2020). Clove oil (Syzygium aromaticum L.) activity against Alicyclobacillus acidoterrestris biofilm on technical surfaces. **Molecules**, 25(15), 3334.
- Lee, K., Lee, J. H., Kim, S. I., Cho, M. H., and Lee, J. (2014). Anti-biofilm, anti-hemolysis, and anti-virulence activities of black pepper, cananga, myrrh oils, and nerolidol against Staphylococcus aureus. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, 98(22), 9447-9457. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-014-5903-4.
- Lim, T. K., and Lim, T. K. (2013). Coffea canephora. Edible Medicinal And Non-Medicinal Plants: Volume 5, Fruits, 680-709.
- Lin, T. K., Zhong, L., and Santiago, J. L. (2017). Anti-inflammatory and skin barrier repair effects of topical application of some plant oils. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(1), 70.
- Liu, M., Guo, W., Feng, M., Bai, Y., Huang, J., and Cao, Y. (2024). Antibacterial, anti-biofilm activity and underlying mechanism of garlic essential oil in water nanoemulsion against Listeria monocytogenes. *LWT*, 196, 115847.
- Liu, Y., Yan, Y., Dong, P., Ni, L., Luo, X., Zhang, Y., and Zhu, L. (2022). Inhibitory effects of clove and oregano essential oils on biofilm formation of Salmonella Derby isolated from beef processing plant. *Lwt*, 162, 113486.
- Martins, M. D., Marques, M. M., Bussadori, S. K., Martins, M. A. T., Pavesi, V. C. S., Mesquita-Ferrari, R. A., and Fernandes, K. P. S. (2009). Comparative analysis between Chamomilla recutita and corticosteroids on wound healing. An in vitro and in vivo study. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 23(2), 274-278.
- Marzlan, A. A., Hussin, A. S. M., Bourke, P., Chaple, S., Barroug, S., and Muhialdin, B. J. (2023). Combination of green extraction techniques and essential oils to develop active packaging for improving the quality and shelf life for chicken meat. *Food Reviews International*, 39(7), 3783-3805.

- Mekhlfi, T. (2023). *Physio-chemical study of a medicinal plant of the Aster family (Chamomile) cultivated in the Algerian desert* (Doctoral dissertation, UNIVERSITE KASDI MERBAH OUARGLA).
- Menge, B., Kassahun, B. M., Kifelew, H., and Mohammed, A. (2016). Production, Processin Selected Aromatic Plan.
- Mezher, M., Hajj, R. E., and Khalil, M. (2022). Investigating the antimicrobial activity of essential oils against pathogens isolated from sewage sludge of southern Lebanese villages. **Germs**, 12(4), 488–506. DOI: 10.18683/germs.2022.1355.
- Mieres-Castro, D., Ahmar, S., Shabbir, R., and Mora-Poblete, F. (2021). Antiviral activities of eucalyptus essential oils: Their effectiveness as therapeutic targets against human viruses. *Pharmaceuticals*, *14*(12), 1210.
- Milenković, A. N., and Stanojević, L. P. (2021). Black pepper: Chemical composition and biological activities. *Advanced Technologies*, *10*(2), 40-50.
- Milind, P., and Deepa, K. (2011). Clove: a champion spice. International Journal Research Ayurveda Pharmacy, 2(1), 47-54.
- Miri, S. M., and Roughani, A. (2018). Allium species growing in Iran: Chemical compositions and pharmacological activity. In Proceedings of the First National Congress and International Fair of Medicinal Plants and Strategies for Persian Medicine that Affect Diabetes, October (pp. 9-11).
- Moazzam, K., Yasmeen, R., Zeeshan, U., Bokhari, S. S., and Qurashi, A. W. (2018). Antimicrobial Activity of Essential Oils Extracted from Lamiaceae Family (Basil, Mint and Thyme). *Lahore Garrison University Journal of Life Sciences*, 2(4), 268-276.
- Mohiuddin, A. K. (2019). Skin care creams: formulation and use. Dermatology Clinical Research, 5(1), 238-271.
- Morshdy, A. E. M. A., El-Tahlawy, A. S., Qari, S. H., Qumsani, A. T., Bay, D. H., Sami, R., Althubaiti, E. H., Mansour, A. M. A., Aljahani, A. H., Hafez, A. E. E., Mahmoud, A. F. A., El Bayomi, R. M., and Hussein, M. A. (2022). Anti-Biofilms' Activity of Garlic and Thyme Essential Oils against Salmonella typhimurium. **Molecules**, 27(7), 2182. DOI: 10.3390/molecules27072182.
- Movahedi, F., Nirmal, N., Wang, P., Jin, H., Grøndahl, L., and Li, L. (2024). Recent advances in essential oils and their nanoformulations for poultry feed. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, 15(1), 110.
- Murad, S., Rehman, I. U., Qadir, A., Ghaffar, A., and Shafique, A. (2019). Therapeutic plants ingredients are also used as flavoring agent in foods and beverages and as a fragrance in soaps and cosmetics. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 8(5), 121-123.
- Nair, K. P. (2020). The geography of black pepper (Piper nigrum): The "King" of spices Volume 1. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-52865-2
- Oke, R. A., Adetola, O. O., Owoeye, Y. T., Akemien, N. N., Adaaja, B. O., Bakpolor, V. R., and Murtala, M. O. (2021). Socioeconomic and medicinal importance of eucalyptus trees: A critical review. *Global Prosperity*, 1(2), 17-22.
- Oliveira, G. D. S., McManus, C., Sousa, H. A. D. F., Santos, P. H. G. D. S., and Dos Santos, V. M. (2024). A Mini-Review of the Main Effects of Essential Oils from Citrus aurantifolia, Ocimum basilicum, and Allium sativum as Safe Antimicrobial Activity in Poultry. *Animals*, 14(3), 382.
- Omar, S. H., Hasan, A., Hunjul, N., Ali, J., and Aqil, M. (2007). Historical, chemical and cardiovascular perspectives on garlic: A review. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, 1(1), 80-87.
- Otunola, G. A. (2022). Culinary spices in food and medicine: an overview of Syzygium aromaticum (L.) Merr. and LM Perry [Myrtaceae]. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 12, 793200.
- Ouzir, M., Bernoussi, S. E., Tabyaoui, M., and Taghzouti, K. (2021). Almond oil: A comprehensive review of chemical composition, extraction methods, preservation conditions, potential health benefits, and safety. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 20(4), 3344-3387.
- Paine, T. D., Steinbauer, M. J., and Lawson, S. A. (2011). Native and exotic pests of Eucalyptus: a worldwide perspective. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 56, 181-201.
- Parham, S., Kharazi, A. Z., Bakhsheshi-Rad, H. R., Nur, H., Ismail, A. F., Sharif, S., and Berto, F. (2020). Antioxidant, antimicrobial and antiviral properties of herbal materials. *Antioxidants*, 9(12), 1309.
- Parreño, R., Rodríguez-Alcocer, E., Martínez-Guardiola, C., Carrasco, L., Castillo, P., Arbona, V., and Candela, H. (2023). Turning garlic into a modern crop: State of the art and perspectives. *Plants*, *12*(6), 1212.
- Pejčić, M., Stojanović-Radić, Z., Genčić, M., Dimitrijević, M., and Radulović, N. (2020). Anti-virulence potential of basil and sage essential oils: Inhibition of biofilm formation, motility and pyocyanin production of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 141, 111431.
- Pettman, P. (2010). How Can I Relieve Stress And Anxiety Naturally? London: Sage Publications.
- Poonkodi KA (2016). Chemical composition of essential oil of Ocimum basilicum L.(Basil) and its biological activities-an overview. *Journal Crit Review* 3(3):56-62.
- Poornima, A. B., Sain, M., and Singh, A. (2022). Bioactive Compounds in Clove. Spice Bioactive Compounds: Properties, Applications, and Health Benefits.
- Purnomo, M., Yuliati, Y., Shinta, A., and Riana, F. D. (2021). Developing coffee culture among indonesia's middle-class: A case study in a coffee-producing country. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 7(1), 1949808.
- Pushpangadan, P., and George, V. (2012). Basil. In Handbook of herbs and spices (pp. 55-72). Woodhead publishing.
- Raza, N., Shahbaz, M., Farid, M., and Hakim, A. (2022). Fenugreek Oleoresins: Chemistry and Properties. *Handbook of Oleoresins*, 369-388.
- Reed, K., and Leleković, T. (2019). First evidence of rice (Oryza cf. sativa L.) and black pepper (Piper nigrum) in Roman

Mursa, Croatia. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences, 11(1), 271-278.

Renfrew, J., and Sanderson, H. (2012). Herbs and vegetables. In The cultural history of plants (pp. 101-135). Routledge.

Rivlin, R. S. (2001). Historical perspective on the use of garlic. The Journal of Nutrition, 131(3), 951S-954S.

- Robinson, K., Assumpcao, A. L., Arsi, K., Donoghue, A., and Jesudhasan, P. R. (2022). Ability of garlic and ginger oil to reduce Salmonella in post-harvest poultry. *Animals*, 12(21), 2974.
- Sah, A., Naseef, P. P., Kuruniyan, M. S., Jain, G. K., Zakir, F., and Aggarwal, G. (2022). A comprehensive study of therapeutic applications of chamomile. *Pharmaceuticals*, 15(10), 1284.
- Saheedha, P. (2019). Diuretic Effect of Hydro Alcoholic Extract of Matricaria Chamomilla and its Phytochemical Studies (Doctoral dissertation, RVS College of Pharmaceutical Science).
- Saif, S., Hanif, M. A., Rehman, R., and Riaz, M. (2020). Garlic. In Medicinal plants of south asia (pp. 301-315). Elsevier.
- Sana, S., Akhter, N., Amjum, F., Khan, S. G., and Akram, M. (2021). Genetic diversity in almond (*Prunus dulcis*). *Journal of Plant Genetics Resources*, 22(4), 601-612.
- Sarpaki, A. (2021). The archaeology of garlic (Allium sativum): the find at Akrotiri, Thera, Greece. Documenta Praehistorica, 48.
- Sarwar, S., Hanif, M. A., Ayub, M. A., Boakye, Y. D., and Agyare, C. (2020). Fenugreek. In Medicinal Plants of South Asia (pp. 257-271). Elsevier.
- Satyal, P., Craft, J. D., Dosoky, N. S., and Setzer, W. N. (2017). The chemical compositions of the volatile oils of garlic (Allium sativum) and wild garlic (Allium vineale). *Foods*, 6(8), 63.
- Sebei, K., Sakouhi, F., Herchi, W., Khouja, M. L., and Boukhchina, S. (2015). Chemical composition and antibacterial activities of seven Eucalyptus species essential oils leaves. *Biological Research*, 48, 1-5.
- Selwyn, A., and Govindaraj, S. (2023). Study of plant-based cosmeceuticals and skin care. South African Journal of Botany, 158, 429-442.
- Shaaf, S., Sharma, R., Kilian, B., Walther, A., Özkan, H., Karami, E., and Mohammadi, B. (2014). Genetic structure and ecogeographical adaptation of garlic landraces (Allium sativum L.) in Iran. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 61, 1565-1580.
- Shaffer, M. (2013). Pepper: A history of the world's most influential spice. Macmillan.
- Shahrajabian, M. H., Sun, W., and Cheng, Q. (2020). Chemical components and pharmacological benefits of Basil (Ocimum basilicum): A review. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 23(1), 1961-1970.
- Shahrajabian, M. H., Sun, W., Magadlela, A., Hong, S., and Cheng, Q. (2021). Fenugreek cultivation in the Middle East and other parts of the world with emphasis on historical aspects and its uses in traditional medicine and modern pharmaceutical science. *Fenugreek: Biology and Applications*, 13-30.
- Shao, J., Yin, Z., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Tang, Q., Zhang, M., and Lu, J. (2020). Effects of different doses of Eucalyptus oil from Eucalyptus globulus Labill on respiratory tract immunity and immune function in healthy Rats. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 546012.
- Shapiro, T. A., Fahey, J. W., Wade, K. L., Stephenson, K. K., and Talalay, P. (2001). Chemoprotective glucosinolates and isothiocyanates of broccoli sprouts. **Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention**, 10, 501–508.
- Sharafati-Chaleshtori, R., Rokni, N., Rafieian-Kopaei, M., Drees, F., and Salehi, E. (2018). Antioxidant and antibacterial activity of basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) essential oil in beef burger.
- Sharafzadeh, S., and Alizadeh, O. (2011). German and Roman chamomile. *Journal of applied pharmaceutical science*, (Issue), 01-05.
- Sharief, M., and Gani, Z. H. (2004). Garden cress (Lepidium sativum) seed as oral contraceptive plant in mice. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 25, 965–966.
- Sharmeen, J. B., Mahomoodally, F. M., Zengin, G., and Maggi, F. (2021). Essential oils as natural sources of fragrance compounds for cosmetics and cosmeceuticals. *Molecules*, *26*(3), 666.
- Shrestha, A. (2022). OXIDATIVE RANCIDITY OF AVOCADO OIL (HASS VARIETY) PRODUCED BY SCREW PRESSING AND SOLVENT EXTRACTION METHOD (Doctoral dissertation, Tribhuvan University Institute of Science and Technology Food Technology Instruction Committee Central Campus of Technology, Dharan).
- Shukla, R., Chauhan, N., Rajak, C., and Flora, S. J. S. (2019). Flavors and Fragrances: Natural and Food-Grade Ingredients for Nutraceuticals Applications. In *Flavor Development for Functional Foods and Nutraceuticals* (pp. 141-165). CRC Press.
- Singh, N., Yadav, S. S., Kumar, S., and Narashiman, B. (2022). Ethnopharmacological, phytochemical and clinical studies on Fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum L.). *Food Bioscience*, *46*, 101546.
- Singh, O., Khanam, Z., and Nollet, L. M. (2017). Chamomile Oil. In Green Pesticides Handbook (pp. 365-376). CRC Press.
- Sisay, B. T. (2018). Coffee production and climate change in Ethiopia. *Sustainable Agriculture Reviews 33: Climate Impact on Agriculture*, 99-113.
- Somrani, M. (2020). The anti-biofilm activity of essential oils on Listeria monocytogenesand Salmonella Enteritidis.
- Spence, C. (2024). The king of spices: On pepper's pungent pleasure. International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science, 35, 100900. ISSN 1878-450X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2024.100900.
- Srivastava, J. K., Shankar, E., and Gupta, S. (2010). Chamomile: A herbal medicine of the past with a bright future. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, *3*(6), 895-901.
- Sudradjat, S. E. (2020). Eucalyptus Oil, A Natural Remedy with Many Benefits: A Systematic. Jurnal Kedokteran

Meditek, 26(2), 51-59.

- Sunder, S. S. (1993). The ecological, economic and social effects of Eucalyptus. In *Proceedings of the regional expert* consultation on eucalyptus (Vol. 1). FAO Rome Italy.
- Takooree, H., Aumeeruddy, M. Z., Rengasamy, K. R., Venugopala, K. N., Jeewon, R., Zengin, G., and Mahomoodally, M. F. (2019). A systematic review on black pepper (Piper nigrum L.): from folk uses to pharmacological applications. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 59(sup1), S210-S243.
- Tilebeni, H. G. (2011). Review of basil medicinal plant. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research, 5(2), 204-211.
- Topik, S. (2009). Coffee as a social drug. Cultural Critique, (71), 81-106.
- Tripodi, P., Rabanus-Wallace, M. T., Barchi, L., Kale, S., Esposito, S., Acquadro, A., and Stein, N. (2021). Global range expansion history of pepper (Capsicum spp.) revealed by over 10,000 genebank accessions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(34), e2104315118.
- Trivedi, N. A., and Hotchandani, S. C. (2004). A study of the antimicrobial activity of oil of Eucalyptus. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, *36*(2), 93-94.

Turnbull, J. W. (2000). Economic and social importance of eucalypts (pp. 1-7). CSIRO Publishing, Australia.

- Ugbogu, O. C., Emmanuel, O., Agi, G. O., Ibe, C., Ekweogu, C. N., Ude, V. C., and Ugbogu, E. A. (2021). A review on the traditional uses, phytochemistry, and pharmacological activities of clove basil (Ocimum gratissimum L.). *Heliyon*, 7(11).
- Ullah, A., Anjum, A. A., Rabbani, M., Ijaz, M., Nawaz, M., Ashraf, M., and Hussain, A. (2021). Activity of ethanolic extract of Eucalyptus globulus leaves against multi drug resistant poultry pathogens in broiler chicks. *Cellular and Molecular Biology*, 67(1), 153-158.
- Umarkar, A. R., Sonar, S. K., Teli, D. J., Sonawane, D. B., and Bagad, Y. M. (2011). A black pepper: as food, spice and medicine. *Research Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 3(5), 195-200.
- Verma, T., Aggarwal, A., Dey, P., Chauhan, A. K., Rashid, S., Chen, K. T., and Sharma, R. (2023). Medicinal and therapeutic properties of garlic, garlic essential oil, and garlic-based snack food: An updated review. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 10, 1120377.
- Wafy, H. A., El-Bagory, A. R., and Shawish, R. (2019). Antimicrobial activity of garlic and thyme essential oils against coliform bacteria in poultry meat. *Journal of Current Veterinary Research*, 1(2), 11-18.
- Wang, D., Zhang, L., Huang, J., Himabindu, K., Tewari, D., Horbańczuk, J. O., and Atanasov, A. G. (2021). Cardiovascular protective effect of black pepper (Piper nigrum L.) and its major bioactive constituent piperine. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *117*, 34-45.
- Wicahyo, S., Wardani, T., and Erikania, S. (2024). Comparison of Antibiofilm Activities of Green Coffee Beans (Coffea Canephora P.) and Roasted Robusta Coffee (Coffea Canephora L.) Against Staphylococcus Aureus ATCC 25923.
 Proceedings of the International Conference on Nursing and Health Sciences, 5(1), 33-44. DOI: 10.37287/picnhs.v5i1.2794.
- Wintgens, J. N. (2012). Coffee-growing, processing, sustainable production: A Guidebook for Growers, Processors, Traders and researchers. John Wiley and Sons.
- Wirthensohn, M., and Iannamico, L. (2017). Almond in the southern hemisphere. *Almond: Botany, Production and Uses; Rafael Socias i Company, Gradziel, TM, Eds*, 87-110.
- Yadav, Y., Dinesh, A. K., Kumari, M., and Maheshwari, R. K. (2022). Ethnopharmacology and traditional attributes of clove (Syzygium aromaticum). *International Journal Environment Health Science*, *4*, 35-38.
- Yang, H. J., Chung, K. R., and Kwon, D. Y. (2017). DNA sequence analysis tells the truth of the origin, propagation, and evolution of chili (red pepper). *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, 4(3), 154-162.
- Yang, Y., Kanev, D., Nedeva, R., Jozwik, A., Rollinger, J. M., Grzybek, W., and Atanasov, A. G. (2019). Black pepper dietary supplementation increases high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels in pigs. *Current Research in Biotechnology*, *1*, 28-33.
- Yıkmış, S., Sağlam, K., and Yetim, A. (2017). The examination of spices used in the Ottoman palace. *Journal of Human Sciences*, 14(4), 4262-4272. https://doi.org/10.14687/jhs.v14i4.4840
- Yılmaz, B., Acar-Tek, N., and Sözlü, S. (2017). Turkish cultural heritage: a cup of coffee. *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, 4(4), 213-220.
- Yoseph, M. E. (2013). A Culture of Coffee: Transmediating the Ethiopian Coffee Ceremony (Doctoral dissertation, Georgetown University).
- Yusharyahya, S. N. (2020). Potential role of fenugreek (Trigonella foenumgraecum) in the prevention of skin aging. *Journal* of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran), 53(1).
- Zagoto, M., Cardia, G. F. E., da Rocha, E. M. T., Mourão, K. S. M., Janeiro, V., Cuman, R. K. N., and de Freitas, P. S. L. (2021). Biological activities of basil essential oil: a review of the current evidence. *Research, Society and Development, 10*(12), e363101220409-e363101220409.
- Zhang, J., An, M., Wu, H., Stanton, R., and Lemerle, D. (2010). Chemistry and bioactivity of Eucalyptus essential oils. *Allelopathy Journal*, *25*(2), 313-330.
- Zubair, M. (2024). Antimicrobial and Anti-Biofilm Activities of Coffea arabica L. against the Clinical Strains Isolated from Diabetic Foot Ulcers. **Cureus**, 16(1), e52539. DOI: 10.7759/cureus.52539

Chapter 25

Therapeutic Potential of Coconut Oil and Amla Oil in Clinical and Sub Clinical Mastitis

Muhammad Rizwan¹, Tanveer Ahmed², Hifssa Aslam³, Kashood Aslam⁴, Sadia Sanaullah¹, Abdullah Ahmed⁵, Haziq Abdullah⁶, Raheel Sharif⁷, Ahmed Fawad Khalil Muhammad⁸, Asjad Umair Shah, Muhammad Abuzar Javaid⁶ and Muhammad Anees⁶

¹Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore

²Department of Clinical Sciences BZU Multan

3Department of Computer Science BZU Multan

⁴Center of Excellence in Molecular biology, university of Punjab, Lahore

⁵Department of Veterinary Surgery University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore

⁶Faculty of Veterinary sciences, BZU, Multan

⁷Department of Pathology, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore

8Department of Meat Science and Technology University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore

*Corresponding author: rizwanmalik4911@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Mastitis is the Inflammation of Parenchyma of Mammary gland. There are two types of mastitis Clinical and subclinical. In clinical mastitis there are visible changes in the udder. In subclinical mastitis there is no visible change in the udder. Subclinical mastitis is one common problem in the dairy industry. It can be diagnosed by Laboratory diagnosis. In field condition mostly surf field mastitis test is used in country like Pakistan. Antibiotics are used to treat subclinical mastitis like Tylosin, Amoxicillin, Enrofloxacin, Penicillin, and Oxytetracycline. Due to emergence of antibiotics residue ethnoveterinary therapy can also be used to treat mastitis. In our study we see the effect of Coconut oil and Amal oil in treatment of mastitis. Coconut oil and Amal oil in Combination give good results. Coconut oil has better results than Amal oil in your Study.

KEYWORDS	Received: 28-Jun-2024	JENTIFIC PO	A Publication of
Mastitis Antibiotics Ethnoveterinany therapy	Revised: 04-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
wastus, Antibiotics, Ethnoveterinary therapy	Accepted: 05-Aug-2024	USP	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Rizwan M, Ahmed T, Aslam H, Aslam K, Sanaullah S, Ahmed A, Abdullah H, Sharif R, Muhammad AFK, Shah AU, Javaid MA and Anees M 2024. Therapeutic potential of coconut oil and amla oil in clinical and sub clinical mastitis. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 220-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.406</u>

INTRODUCTION

Primary source of economic output for Pakistan is basically and primarily depends upon agricultural production. Socioeconomically Pakistani population is associated with agricultural industry. Pakistan ranks fifth in world milk production index. Livestock in Pakistan includes cattle, Buffalo, Sheep and Goat and their variants. The main purpose of livestock is to produce high quality meat, milk and wool (Rehman et al., 2017). Mastitis, Anthrax, Foot and mouth infection, Rabies, Lumpy skin disease Tetanus and Hemorrhagic septicemia are the major domestic animal diseases and most normal managemental sickness of animal.

Mastitis is associated with inflammation of parenchyma of mammary glands (Rizwan et al., 2022). Causes include multiple etiological agents, such as bacteria, viruses, fungi and yeast results in substantial economic losses in the dairy industry (Goulart and Mellata et al., 2022). Decreases milk production as well as causes undesirable changes in the milk composition (Grispoldi et al., 2019). Mastitis can manifest as either clinical or subclinical forms. Clinical mastitis is described by observable changes in milk, such as a change in color, consistency, or the presence of clots and flakes, with swelling and discomfort in the udder (De Vliegher et al. 2018). Subclinical mastits is the most prevalent managemental disorder of dairy industry (Viguier et al., 2009; Bobbo et al., 2017). During Sub-clinical mastitis milk production lessens by 10-26% (Dhakal et al., 2007). The mammary gland serves as the primary reservoir for these infectious agents, thereby increasing their prevalence in cases of mastitis. The incidence of contagious pathogens in mastitis cases is significantly higher compared to other causative factors. *Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus agalactiae, Streptococcus dysgalactiae, Escherichia Coli*, and *Corynebacterium pyogenes*, are repeatedly isolated from infected milk of sub-clinically mastitis lactating dairy animals (Rizwan et al., 2021; Qureshi et al., 2023). Subclinical mastitis is more prevalent in early-stage lactation animals than the animals that are in mid lactation stage (Abegewi et al., 2022).

The etiology of clinical mastitis is multifactorial with husbandry, management, feeding and hygiene as influencing factors (Gerjets et al. 2011). Coliform microbes cause up to 80% mastitis (Fahim et al., 2019).

The prevalence of both types of clinical and subclinical mastitis was observed to be greater in the hindquarters compared to the forequarters, and within the hindquarters, the left side exhibited a higher susceptibility compared to the right side. Laboratory tests and clinical signs can be used to detect mastitis. The clinical signs of mastitis include redness, swelling of udder and decreased milk production. Anorexia and fever may also be present in animals (Lago et al. 2011; Barlow 2011). In different countries of world like Uruguay after S. aureus, E. coli was one of leading cause of bovine subclinical mastitis. Subclinical mastitis in dairy animals is commonly detected after laboratory examination of the milk as there is no gross swelling of udder or apparent changes in the milk (Baloch et al., 2016). The incidence of clinical mastitis is 3 to 40 times lower than that of subclinical mastitis (Aqib et al., 2017).

Several diagnostic tests have been developed for early detection of mastitis, including the Surf field mastitis test, California mastitis test (CMT), and somatic cell count (SCC). However, the measurement of milk electrical conductivity for subclinical mastitis diagnosis is a novel technique that remains in frequently utilized by farmers in Pakistan (Suojala et al., 2011). Bacteriological culture is used to detect subclinical mastitis as well as by somatic cell count Mastitis which is subclinical is detected by test called California mastitis test in countries like Pakistan.

Cow factors incorporate Age, years Breed Parity, Month of calving, Milk yield, Lactation period, Calving stretch Dry period are risk factors that are related to mastitis. Herd factors incorporate Education of ranchers, Total number of animals, Lactating cows Lactating cows, No. of calves, Dung evacuations each day, Method took on for milk let down. residue milk in udder. Housing incorporates Evenness of floor, Type of sheet material, (Removal of sheet material each day, Length of cow standing region, Width of cow standing region, Distance from compost record to slow down. Climate incorporates Presence of flies (Gunawardana et al., 2014).

Subclinical mastitis can cause serious economic losses for small-scale farmers due to its significant financial impact. Additionally, the handling and consumption of unpasteurized coliform-contaminated milk and/or milk products have been associated with public health implications, including the potential transmission of pathogenic microorganisms to humans, resulting in foodborne illnesses such as diarrhea, abdominal cramps, and vomiting. Moreover, the consumption of contaminated milk and milk products has been linked to the development of antimicrobial resistance, which poses a significant threat to public health (Abegewi et al. 2022). Antibiotics residues are transferred after consumption of milk to humans (Rizwan et al. 2022).

Used in California mastitis test (sodium alkyl aryl sulfonate) is exorbitant and not applicable in our country. The test used for discovery of subclinical mastitis is the surf field mastitis test. 3% arrangement of house holding detergent is used for identification of subclinical mastitis. The Surf field mastitis test has the following properties: the development of a practical and accessible agricultural testing system, cheap, easily accessible, and user-friendly. In comparison to these properties, it is noted that Surf Excel, a product manufactured by Unilever Pakistan, falls short.

In addition to its economic impact, subclinical mastitis (SCM) also serves as a reservoir for zoonotic pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Brucella* spp., *Leptospira* spp., and *Streptococcus* spp. These pathogens can be transmitted to humans through contact with contaminated milk or dairy products, so they are a significant risk to human health. Bacterial infections pose a significant threat to the cattle farming industry, resulting in substantial economic losses. In particular, dairy cattle are highly vulnerable to intramammary infections that occur within the three weeks preceding parturition and during early lactation. Changes in the mammary gland physiology and hormonal fluctuations, which can compromise the animal's immune system are the factors that make it susceptible to SCM. Such infections can lead to reduced milk yield and quality, increased veterinary costs, and a higher risk of culling. So, it is essential to take control and preventive measures to make the bacterial infection less effective. In subclinical mastitis a few treatments strategy is utilized in term of anti-microbial and home-grown treatments (Aqib et al., 2017). To treat subclinical mastitis anti-microbial are utilized (Doğruer et al., 2010). Tylosin, Amoxicillin, Enrofloxacin and Penicillin are antibiotics that are used to treat mastitis. Procaine penicillin is that antibiotic that is mostly used against mastitis, but advanced studies show that resistance develops by bacteria against Procaine penicillin (Rizwan et al., 2021). Antibiotic sensitivity testing indicated that Erythromycin, Enrofloxacin, and Gentamicin were the most effective antibiotics, while Streptomycin was found to be the least effective aqainst these bacterial pathogens (Abdel-Shafy et al., 2014).

Therapeutic uses of Coconut Oil in Clinical Mastitis

Due to its detrimental effects on milk production and cow health clinical mastitis, is a significant concern in dairy farming, which is characterized by visible inflammation and abnormal milk. While antibiotics are commonly used for treatment, alternative therapies like coconut oil offer a natural and potentially effective approach to managing clinical mastitis.

Antimicrobial Properties

Coconut oil is made up of a unique composition of medium-chain fatty acids (MCFAs), most importantly Lauric acid, which show potent antimicrobial activity. Lauric acid damaged the lipid membrane of bacteria, including common mastitiscausing bacteria such as *Streptococcus agalactiae*, *Escherichia coli*, *Streptococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* and *Streptococcus uberis*. By focusing these bacteria, coconut oil helps to reduce the bacterial population in the mammary gland, thereby aiding in the resolution of clinical mastitis (Rizwan et al., 2021).

Anti-inflammatory Properties

Coconut oil possesses anti- inflammatory as well as antimicrobial properties, that can help cows suffering from clinical mastitis. coconut oil can reduce inflammation and associated symptoms and promote quick healing of the affected udder tissue.

Application Method

Gently massaging the oil into the affected udder quarters causes the great reveal in pain. It is important to ensure thorough coverage of the inflamed tissue with a thin layer of coconut oil. The application of coconut oil should be performed after each milking to increase absorption and efficacy of coconut oil (Rizwan et al., 2021).

Dosage and Frequency

For clinical mastitis the recommended dosage of coconut oil may vary depending on the severity of the condition of mastitis and the size of the affected udder quarters. As a general guideline, apply coconut oil in enough amount to form a thin, uniform layer over the entire surface of the inflamed udder tissue. Repeat the application of coconut oil twice daily for maximum results, ideally after each milking period. (Rizwan et al., 2021).

Therapeutic Uses of Coconut Oil for the Treatment of Subclinical Mastitis

Subclinical mastitis, a common disease among dairy cattle, poses significant economic and animal welfare concerns for dairy farmers. While conventional treatments often involve antibiotics and inflammatory treatments, the therapeutic use of coconut oil offers a natural and potentially effective alternative treatment.

Mode of Action

Coconut oil consists of a high proportion of medium-chain fatty acids (MCFAs), considerably lauric acid, which exhibits potent antimicrobial properties and anti-inflammatory properties. Lauric acid damaged the lipid membrane of bacteria, leading to their destruction. In the context of subclinical mastitis, coconut oil's antimicrobial property targets the pathogens responsible for the inflammation of the mammary gland, helping to reduce bacterial load and reduce symptoms of subclinical mastitis (DebMandal et al., 2011).

Anti-inflammatory Properties

Besides its antimicrobial effects, coconut oil also possesses anti-inflammatory action. The inflammation associated with subclinical mastitis led to tissue damage and compromised udder health. By mitigating inflammation, coconut oil aids in the healing process, helping in the restoration of normal mammary gland function.

Application Method

For subclinical mastitis treatment the application of coconut oil involves applying a thin layer of the oil directly to the affected udder quarters. It is recommended to gently massage the oil into the udder tissue, ensuring thorough coverage. The application of coconut oil should be performed immediately after milking to maximize absorption and efficacy.

Dosage and Frequency

The recommended dosage of coconut oil for subclinical mastitis treatment varies depending on the severity of the condition and the size of the affected udder quarters. A general guideline is to apply enough coconut oil to form a thin, uniform layer over the entire udder surface. Repeat the application twice daily for optimal results, ideally after each milking session.

Therapeutic Uses of Amla Oil for the Treatment of Subclinical Mastitis

Amla oil, derived from the Indian gooseberry (Emblica officinalis), is another natural product that has been used traditionally for various beauty and health purposes. While there is limited scientific data specifically on the use of amla oil for subclinical mastitis

Antimicrobial Activity

Amla oil consists of phytochemicals such as flavonoids and tannins, which have shown antimicrobial properties in some studies. These compounds may help to inhibit the growth of bacteria associated with mastitis, potentially contributing to the resolution of subclinical mastitis (Khan et al., 2018).

Anti-inflammatory Activity

Amla oil is rich in antioxidants, including flavonoids and vitamin C, which exhibit anti-inflammatory properties. By reducing inflammation, amla oil helps to reduce discomfort and swelling associated with subclinical mastitis (Akhtar et al., 2011).

Wound Healing Properties

Amla oil has been traditionally used to promote wound healing and tissue repair. In the context of mastitis, application of amla oil to cracked or damaged teats may help soothe irritation and help in the healing process (Rizwan et al., 2021).

Immunomodulatory Properties

Some scientific data suggests that amla extract may modulate immune function by promoting the activity of immune cells. This immunomodulatory effect could potentially support the body's natural defenses against bacterial infections, including those associated with mastitis (Khan et al., 2018).

Traditional Use

Amla has a long been used in Ayurvedic drug for colorful health conditions, including those affecting the guts. While anecdotal substantiation and conventional knowledge suggests its implicit efficacity for mastitis, further exploration is demanded to confirm its effectiveness and safety in this environment (Setayesh et al., 2023).

Therapeutic uses of Amla Oil for the Treatment of Clinical Mastitis

Amla oil painting, comes from the Indian gooseberry (Emblica officinalis), importantly used in Ayurvedic drug for its treatment parcels. While exploration on the specific use of amla oil painting for the treatment of clinical mastitis is limited, it emphasize advantages in easing inflammation, inducing crack mending, and antimicrobial parcels suggest that it give advantages in managing the cases.

Properties	Coconut Oil	Amla Oil	Reference	
Antimicrobial	Contains lauric acid,	Consist of	(Rizwan et al.,	
Properties	which show antimicrobial activity by damaging the phospholipid	phytochemicals such tannins and flavonoids, which	2022)	
	membranes of	possess		
	bacteria, fungi.and viruses.	antimicrobial		
	5	properties that may		
		help to stop bacterial		
		growth.		
Anti-	Show anti- inflammatory properties that	Abundant in	(Khan et al.,	
inflammatory Effects	may help to less	antioxidants	2018)	
	inflammation	like vitamin C and flavonoids,		
	associated with	which have		
	mastitis.	anti-		
		inflammatory		
		effects, potentially		
		reducing		
		discomfort and		
		swelling.		
Wound Healing	Recognized for its	Traditionally used to	(Rizwan et al.,	
	moisturizing and	promote wound	2021)	
	nourishment properties,	healing and tissue		
	which help in	repair, suggesting		
	healing cracked or	potential benefits for		
	damaged skin.	soothing and healing		
		teat irritation.		
Immunomodulator	Some components, like capric acid, show	Data suggests that amla extract may	(Khan et al.,	
Effects	immunomodulatory effects, helping the	enhance immune function, potentially	2018).	
	immune system's response to infections.	helps the body's natural defenses against		
		bacterial infections.		
Moisturizing	Well-known for its moisturizing properties,	Used in skin care for its moisturizing and	(Setayesh et	
and Conditioning	helpful for keeping the skin hydrated and	conditioning which can be advantageous	al., 2023).	
	preventing further irritation of skin.	for maintaining skin health in the view of mastitis.		
Traditional Use	Utilized in traditional medicine systems for	Has a long history of use in Ayurvedic	(Setayesh et	
	various health and beauty purposes,	medicine for a wide range of health	al., 2023).	
	including skincare and haircare.	conditions, reflecting its versatility and		
		potential therapeutic value.		

Table 1: Comparison of Uses of Coconut and Amla Oil

Anti-inflammatory Characters

Amla oil painting have bioactive composites same as flavonoids and tannins, which parade potentate-inflammatory goods. In the environment of clinical mastitis, inflammation of the mammary gland is a hallmark point. It may help to reduce inflammation, thereby easing symptoms same as bone pain and tenderheartedness along with mastitis.

Antimicrobial Properties

Bacterial infection is a common and major cause of clinical mastitis, with Staphylococcus aureus is a predominant pathogen. Amla oil painting possesses antimicrobial parcels that have been demonstrated against a wide range of bacteria, including S. aureus. By inhibiting bacterial growth and proliferation, amla oil painting may help combat the contagious element of mastitis, promoting resolution of the condition (Khan et al., 2018).

Wound Healing Effects

In addition to its anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial parcels, amla oil painting has been shown to promote crack mending. In cases of clinical mastitis where towel damage or nipple trauma may occur, the operation of amla oil painting topically to the affected area could potentially expedite the mending process, restoring the integrity of the bone towel and easing recovery.

Stress Reduction

Pain and discomfort associated with clinical mastitis can contribute to stress and anxiety in suckling matters. Amla oil painting has been traditionally used in Ayurvedic drug for its comforting and invigorating parcels. Incorporating amla oil painting into tone- care routines, similar as gentle massage ways, may help promote relaxation and emotional well- being in women managing with mastitis (Khan et al., 2018).

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Shafy, H., Bortfeldt, R. H., Tetens, J., and Brockmann, G. A. (2014). Single nucleotide polymorphism and haplotype effects associated with somatic cell score in German Holstein cattle. Genetics, selection, *Evolution: Gse*, 46(1), 35-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9686-46-35</u>
- Abegewi, U. A., Esemu, S. N., Ndip, R. N., and Ndip, L. M. (2022). Prevalence and risk factors of coliform-associated mastitis and antibiotic resistance of coliforms from lactating dairy cows in North West Cameroon. *Plos One*, 17(7), e0268247e0268247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268247</u>
- Ahmad, S., Yaqoob, M., Bilal, M. Q., Muhammad, G., Yang, L.-G., Khan, M. K., and Tariq, M. (2011). Risk factors associated with prevalence and major bacterial causes of mastitis in dromedary camels (Camelus dromedarius) under different production systems. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 44(1), 107-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-011-9895-0</u>
- Akhtar, M. S., Ramzan, A., Ali, A., and Ahmad, M. (2011). Effect of Amla fruit (<i>Emblica officinalis</i>Gaertn.) on blood glucose and lipid profile of normal subjects and type 2 diabetic patients. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 62(6), 609-616. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09637486.2011.560565</u>
- Aqib, A. I., Ijaz, M., Durrani, A. Z., Anjum, A. A., Hussain, R., Sana, S., and Ahmad, S. S. (2017). Prevalence and Antibiogram of Staphylococcus aureus, a Camel Mastitogen from Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 49, 861-867. <u>https://doi.org/10.17582/journal.pjz/2017.49.3.861.867</u>
- Baloch, H., Rind, R., Rind, M. R., Kumar, V., Baloch, N., and Oad, R. K. (2018). Effect of Diverse Factors on the Frequency of Clinical and Subclinical Mastitis in Kundhi Buffaloes of Sindh, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 50(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.17582/journal.pjz/2018.50.5.1619.1628</u>
- Bobbo, T., Ruegg, P. L., Stocco, G., Fiore, E., Gianesella, M., Morgante, M., and Cecchinato, A. (2017). Associations between pathogen-specific cases of subclinical mastitis and milk yield, quality, protein composition, and cheese-making traits in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 100(6), 4868-4883. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-12353</u>
- DebMandal, M., and Mandal, S. (2011). Coconut (Cocos nucifera L.: Arecaceae): In health promotion and disease prevention. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine, 4(3), 241-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1995-7645(11)60078-3</u>
- Dhakal, I. P., Dhakal, P., Koshihara, T., and Nagahata, H. (2007). Epidemiological and Bacteriological Survey of Buffalo Mastitis in Nepal. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 69(12), 1241-1245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.69.1241</u>
- Doğruer, G., Saribay, M. K., Ergün, Y., Aslantaş, Ö., Demir, C., and Ateş, C. T. (2010). Treatment of subclinical mastitis in Damascus goats during lactation. *Small Ruminant Research*, 90(1-3), 153-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2010.01.003
- Fahim, K. M., Ismael, E., Khalefa, H. S., Farag, H. S., and Hamza, D. A. (2019). Isolation and characterization of E. coli strains causing intramammary infections from dairy animals and wild birds. *International Journal of Veterinary Science And Medicine*, 7(1), 61-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23144599.2019.1691378</u>
- Goulart, D. B., and Mellata, M. (2022). Escherichia coli Mastitis in Dairy Cattle: Etiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment Challenges. *Frontiers In Microbiology*, 13, 928346-928346. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.928346</u>
- Grispoldi, L., Massetti, L., Sechi, P., Iulietto, M. F., Ceccarelli, M., Karama, M., and Cenci-Goga, B. T. (2019). Short communication: Characterization of enterotoxin-producing Staphylococcus aureus isolated from mastitic cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 102(2), 1059-1065. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15373</u>
- Gunawardana, S., Thilakarathne, D., Abegunawardana, I. S., Abeynayake, P., Robertson, C., and Stephen, C. (2014). Risk factors for bovine mastitis in the Central Province of Sri Lanka. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 46(7), 1105-1112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-014-0602-9</u>

- Khan, A., Ahmed, T., Rizwan, M., and Khan, N. (2018). Comparative therapeutic efficacy of Phyllanthus emblica (Amla) fruit extract and procaine penicillin in the treatment of subclinical mastitis in dairy buffaloes. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 115, 8-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.12.038</u>
- Qureshi, M. A., Fatima, Z., Muqadas, S. M., Najaf, D. E., Husnain, M., Moeed, H. A., and Ijaz, U. (2023). Zoonotic diseases caused by mastitic milk. *Zoonosis, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan*, 4, 557-572.
- Rehman, A., Jingdong, L., Chandio, A. A., and Hussain, I. (2017). Livestock production and population census in Pakistan: Determining their relationship with agricultural GDP using econometric analysis. *Information Processing in Agriculture*, 4(2), 168-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.inpa.2017.03.002</u>
- Rizwan, M., Durrani, A. Z., Ahmad, T., Ahmad, S. S., and Chaudhry, M. (2021). Comparative therapeutic efficacy of procaine penicillin, Phyllanthus emblica fruit extract and Cocos nucifera oil against subclinical mastitis. *Livestock Science*, 251, 104655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104655</u>
- Rizwan, M., Durrani, A. Z., Ahmad, T., Ahmad, S. S., and Chaudhry, M. (2022). Prevalence of blaZ gene and antibiotics susceptibility test profile of β-lactams resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolated from subclinical mastitis in lactating Beetal goats. *Livestock Science*, 255, 104797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104797</u>
- Setayesh, L., Haghighat, N., Rasaei, N., Rezaei, M., Casazza, K., Nadery, M., and Asbaghi, O. (2023). The impact of Emblica Officinalis (Amla) on lipid profile, glucose, and C-reactive protein: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes andamp; Metabolic Syndrome: *Clinical Research andamp; Reviews*, 17(3), 102729. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.dsx.2023.102729</u>
- Suojala, L., Pohjanvirta, T., Simojoki, H., Myllyniemi, A.-L., Pitkälä, A., Pelkonen, S., and Pyörälä, S. (2011). Phylogeny, virulence factors and antimicrobial susceptibility of Escherichia coli isolated in clinical bovine mastitis. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 147(3-4), 383-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.07.011</u>
- Viguier, C., Arora, S., Gilmartin, N., Welbeck, K., and O'Kennedy, R. (2009). Mastitis detection: current trends and future perspectives. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 27(8), 486-493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.05.004</u>

Chapter 26

Exploring the Therapeutic Benefits of Olive Oil for Arthritis Management

Shaneel Kousar¹, Aqsa Iqbal², Ayesha Rasheed³, Aneela Gul^{4*}, Mahrukh Babar^{4, 6}, Ayesha Tanveer⁴, Mayra Ihsan², Azka Zaheer⁵, Aqsa Rashid⁴ and Jameel Ahmed Buzdar^{4*}

¹Faculty of Pharmacy, The University of Lahore, Lahore, Pakistan

²Cornell University, New York, USA

³Department of Veterinary Anatomy and Histology, University of Veterinary and animal sciences Lahore, Pakistan

⁴Institute of Physiology and Pharmacology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

⁵Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

⁶Department of Pharmacy, Abasyn University, Islamabad

Shaneel Kousar & Mahruk Babar contributed equally to this work

*Corresponding author: *aneelaguldvm14@gmail.com; *jameelbuzdardgk@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Olive Oil has been researched for its potential osteo-protective properties. The objective of this study is to present an updated summary of the available data on the osteo-protective effects of Olive Oil. Studies reveal that Olive Oil may improve the health of bones, including the prevention of osteoporosis, improvement of bone mineral density, and reduction of bone loss in various animal models. In addition, Olive Oil has been shown to possess anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, which may contribute to its protective effects on bone health. Olive Oil improves the bone health, like it exerts beneficial effects on osteo tumor cells, osteosarcoma in children, bone remodeling, alveolar bone loss, rheumatoid arthritis, osteoporosis, and post-menopausal osteoporosis. The phenolic and flavonoid compounds inhibit tumor cell growth and their potential therapeutic use in osteosarcoma treatment in children. Phenolic compounds like oleuropein may affect bone remodeling, a critical process that involves the resorption and formation of bone tissue. The chapter also discusses oleuropein's potential for treating osteoporosis, a widespread bone condition characterized by lower bone density and enhanced fracture risk. Specifically, examines oleuropein's impact on post-menopausal osteoporosis, a type of osteoporosis that affects women after menopause. The findings suggest that olive oil has potential as a natural osteo-protective agent and warrants further investigation.

KEYWORDS	Received: 29-Jun-2024	SCHENTING ATE	A Publication of
Olive Oil, Oleuropein, Osteoporosis, Bone cancer, Bone mineral	Revised: 17-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
density, Anti-inflammatory	Accepted: 19-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Kousar S, Iqbal A, Rasheed A, Gul A, Babar M, Tanveer A, Ihsan M, Zaheer A, Rashid A and Buzdar JA, 2024. Exploring the therapeutic benefits of olive oil for arthritis management. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 226-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.404</u>

INTRODUCTION

Oleaeuropaea Linn. (Oleaceae) in the mediterranean area is essential elements of Mediterranean cuisines are its fruits and oil (MDs). The MD, which has been shown to minimize the risk of several illnesses and ailments, must include olive oil as a key ingredient (Ahamad et al., 2019). The most significant hydrophilic phenolic component in olives and olive oil is the glycoside known as oleuropein.

Oleuropein may be hydrolyzed chemically or enzymatically to yield a variety of derivatives, including the aglyonic and hydroxytyrosol forms that are present in olive oils (Otero et al., 2021). The anti-atherogenic, anti-hepatotoxic, hypoglycemic, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antiviral, and immunomodulator effects of olive tree polyphenols may be the cause of some of this plant's medically significant traits (Otero et al., 2021). The prevention of illness has taken precedence over its cure as knowledge has developed. Studies examining diverse phenolic compounds have expanded as researchers look for natural substances with potent pharmacokinetic effects.

Oleuropein is a potential phenolic substance that has a favorable impact on bone tissue in this regard (Bendini et al., 2007). Additionally to scavenging free radicals and reactive oxygen species, olive tree polyphenols particularly stimulated endogenous antioxidant enzymes including glutathione S-transferase and glutathione peroxidase (Recinella et al., 2022). Oleuropein might stop periodontitis and its associated bone loss and inflammation (Taskan et al., 2019a).

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a complicated, late-onset disease of the joints that is characterized by alterations in the

synovium and subchondral bone as well as a gradual failure of the extracellular cartilage matrix (ECM). The most prevalent kind of arthritis in the world is OA, which is also the sixth biggest cause of disability (Meiss et al., 2021). Future estimates indicate that the social and economic costs associated with OA will increase. As a result, there is a pressing necessity to find novel possibilities for the adoption of preventative and intercede methods in order to control OA, especially in light of the multiple difficulties connected with its treatment (Morales-Ivorra et al., 2021). A slowly developing heterogeneous joint disease that causes severe functional impairment, joint pain, stiffness, and deformity as well as high medical expenses (Murray et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2021a). Although the exact cause of knee OA is unknown, a number of risk factors, including advanced age, obesity, joint damage, and specific activities, have been linked to an elevated risk for incident OA (Atkinson et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021a).

The most prevalent kind of metabolic bone disorder, often known as osteoporosis, is a skeletal condition that causes weaker bones and raises the risk of fracture. Although both sexes can be affected by osteoporosis, which often results from aging and frequently affects women more than men. It can happen at any age (Osteoporosis and Prevention, 2001; Föger-Samwald et al., 2020). Due to population ageing, it is predicted that the prevalence of osteoporosis would dramatically rise in the future (Akkawi and Zmerly, 2018). Women who have postmenopausal osteoporosis (PMOP) typically have bone loss and an increased risk of bone fractures as a result of the marked decrease in estrogen in the body after menopause (Liu et al., 2022). More than 200 million women suffer osteoporosis worldwide, according to pertinent statistics. Meanwhile, the number of people who suffer from fractures brought on by osteoporosis will twofold by 2050, placing a huge financial and medical strain on the world's health system (Pisani et al., 2016).

Long-term, it was extremely likely that the medication would raise the patient's risk of osteonecrosis and their chance of developing cancer. Raloxifene and hormone replacement therapy are additional options for postmenopausal women to take in order to avoid osteoporosis (Kanis et al., 2020). Therefore, the majority of postmenopausal women search for natural plant medicines to substitute conventional medication therapy due to the pill's varied negative effects (Cano et al., 2020). New medications for the treatment of several human disorders, including PMOP, often start with components taken from natural plants. Olive oil is popular among Mediterranean coastal residents (Castejón et al., 2017).

Oleuropein, the primary component of olive oil, has been widely used in clinical medicine to combat inflammation, as an antioxidant, and as an anticarcinogenic agent. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant treatment can reduce postmenopausal osteoporosis (Izadi et al., 2016; Schwingshackl et al., 2017). Bone cancer causes abnormalities in bone growth and destruction by drastically disrupting the healthy coupling between osteoclasts and osteoblasts. Due to these anomalies in bone remodeling, patients have intense bone pain, a higher risk of fracture, increased tumor development, and greater chemotherapy resistance in the tumor cells (Burr, 2019). Osteolytic bone disease, which can cause excruciating bone pain, numerous pathological fractures, and increased mortality, is frequently developed by multiple myeloma (MM) patients (Roodman, 2010; Adamik et al., 2019). Systemic delivery of anticancer medications, bone-modifying medicines, radiopharmaceuticals, or any combination of these may have a deleterious impact on the normal metabolic turnover of bone tissue, which might be harmful to cancer patients (Leto et al., 2021a). The need to find novel drugs that have the potential to be helpful in stopping the spread and proliferation of cancerous cells in the bone while also having minimal negative effects (Makhoul et al., 2016; D'Oronzo et al., 2019).

Natural products appear to generally be easily accessible, not harmful to healthy human cells, and have the potential to function as many targets since they could interfere with different signaling pathways that control the development of cancer (Sun et al., 2019). Due to these qualities, natural products can be used therapeutically in many ways to cure cancer. One of the primary bioactive phenolic compounds found in olive leaves (*Oleaeuropaea L., Oleaceae*), unprocessed olive drupes, and, in the aglycone form, in olive oil, reveals a broad spectrum of therapeutic benefits that may clarify the therapeutic advantages of this molecule seen in a wide range of pathological processes in people, such as persistent inflammation linked to bone damage and human malignancies (Casaburi et al., 2013; Castejón et al., 2020). In this chapter we will highlight the osteoprotective effects of olive oil, we mainly focused on the main phenolic compound Oleuropein and its beneficial effects.

Impact on Osteo-tumour Cells

After the lung and the liver, the skeleton is where metastatic illness occurs most frequently (Leto et al., 2021b). Current clinical approaches for treating primary malignant bone tumors or bone metastases include systemic therapies like chemotherapeutic, hormone replacement therapy, immunotherapy, bone-modifying medications, small amounts of radioactive materials, as well as regional treatments such radiotherapy, endovenous, and surgery (D'Oronzo et al., 2019). Sadly, to yet, none of these treatment alternatives has demonstrated to have a favorable clinical effect on patients' survival. In addition, systemic administration of anticancer medications, bone-modifying medicines, radiopharmaceuticals, or any combination thereof, may have a deleterious impact on the normal metabolic cycle of bone tissue, which would be unfavorable for cancer patients (Makhoul et al., 2016).

Thus, there is a need to find novel drugs with the potential to stop the development and migration of malignant bone cells while also having low toxicity and few adverse effects. Natural products appear, in general, to be 1), easily accessible, ii) not harmful to live cells; iii) potentially acting as several targets and may impact on biochemical reactions that control cancer progression (Sun et al., 2019; Kapinova et al., 2019).

There are several advantages to adopting natural products for medicinal purposes in cancer prevention and treatment. Several phenolic molecules generated from extra virgin olive oil (EVOO) have anti-invasive, anti-metastatic, and anti-proliferative characteristics, according to expanding experimental data (Castejón et al., 2020; Hassen et al., 2020).

These compounds therefore appear to hold promise as possible cancer therapies. Olive leaves (*Oleaeuropaea L., Oleaceae*), natural olive drupes, and, in the aglycone form, olive oil are all known to include one of the key bioactive phenolic compounds., in particular, oleuropein (OLe), demonstrates a wide range of medicinal properties that may explain the curative properties of this chemical seen in several human pathological conditions, such as autoimmune disorders linked to bone loss and cancer (Rigacci and Stefani, 2016).

Mechanism

Through several mechanisms implicated in the early stages of cancer progression and the control of bone remodeling processes, OLe may exercise its chemo-preventive and therapeutic effects on cancer-related bone disorders (Castejón et al., 2020; Hassen et al., 2020)

Due to this molecule's antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and innate immunity capabilities, OLe appears to have protective benefits on bone health. The ability of OLe to suppress the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), act as spontaneous redox breakers, or serve as a metal ion chelating agent, among other potential activities, has been related to its antioxidant characteristics. OLe's inhibitory action on mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPk) and nuclear factor-kB (NF-KB) signaling molecules is what causes the anti-inflammatory and anti-carcinogenic properties of the compound (Rigacci and Stefani, 2016; Hassen et al., 2020).

As a result of these occurrences, the synthesis of several subsequent molecular signaling pathways that regulate the immune-inflammatory response is reduced. TNF (tumor necrosis factor), IL-1 (interleukin-1), IL-6 (interleukin-6), and IL-8 (interleukin-8) (IL-8), Prostaglandins and MCP-1, a monocyte chemoattractant protein (PGs), particularly enzymes and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) for example cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) as well as the inactivating form (iNOS). These findings are in line with experiments demonstrating that OLe's bone-protective benefits appear to be mostly caused by its regulatory impact on inflammatory signaling networks instead of by directly affecting bone metabolism (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016; Castejón et al., 2017; Leto et al., 2021b).

The discovery that several chronic inflammatory bone conditions and cancers related to bones have shared molecular mechanisms in their pathogenesis may help to partially explain why it is believed that one of the key pathogenic mechanisms that may favor the location and proliferation of tumor cells in the bone tissue is chronic inflammation (Roca and McCauley, 2015; Ritter and Greten, 2019; Vallée et al., 2019)

Experimental research indicates that persistent inflammation may act as a catalyst for the development of cancer in its early stages. These results may also help to partially explain the observation that some cancer cell types appear to thrive and spread more readily in bone tissue when osteoporosis and other autoimmune bone diseases alter the osteo microenvironment (Leto et al., 2021b).

Osteosarcoma in Children

Among the most prevalent bone cancers in children and teens is osteosarcoma. The main clinical problem with OS is how aggressive and likely it is to metastasize (Zhang et al., 2018). Osteosarcoma is treated surgically in addition to chemotherapy, typically doxorubicin and cisplatin (Otoukesh et al., 2018). Tragically, the 5-year survival rate of 60–70% has held steady over the past two decades, and no additional improvement has been shown with the current treatment(Harrison et al., 2018). As added 2-methoxyestradiol in our tests to examine the anticancer potential of oleuropein when combined with powerful chemotherapy (2-ME). A naturally occurring 17-estradiol metabolite recognized for having anticancer effects is 2-ME. 2-ME, marketed as Panzem, is now being assessed in active clinical studies for the treatment of solid tumors (Bruce et al., 2012). 2-ME's anticancer efficacy is solely dependent on its ability to prevent angiogenesis and trigger cell death by chasing cells that are actively growing (Lis et al., 2004).

Quiescent cells are therefore less susceptible to 2-ME. Additionally, the antitumoral action of 2-ME against several cancer cell types involves the production of nitro-oxidative stress (Gorska et al., 2015). Oleuropein has the ability to inhibit the growth of both highly and lowly metastatic SaoS2 OS cell lines, although this was done without looking at the compound's ability to inhibit migration. Oleuropein was combined with the brand-new, very effective anticancer drug 2-ME to examine any potential synergism in the OS cellular model. It is yet unclear how the two chemicals work together synergistically (Przychodzen et al., 2019). The overall beneficial effects of Oleuropein on the bone's health is schematically represent Fig. 1.

Bone Remodeling

Bone is a dynamic, complex structure that is always changing. Osteoclasts remove worn-out or broken bone from the body, and osteoblasts then replace it with freshly produced bone. To keep the skeleton healthy, there must be a suitable balance between bone growth and degradation. In order to eliminate microfractures and ischemia fractures in bones, replacing the main bone with bone remodeling appears to become crucial in order to establish a good equilibrium of Ca⁺ or K⁺ and secondary bone that is more mechanically strong (Ramesh et al., 2021).The coordinated action of four different cell types, including osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and bone-lining cells, is necessary for bone remodeling, which comprises four

phases: activation phase, resorption phase, reversal phase, and formation phase (Parra-Torres et al., 2013). The presence of numerous nuclei, the expression of calcitonin receptor and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) are distinguishing characteristics of osteoclasts, which are cells derived from the myeloid (Hayman, 2008)

The cytokines Colony Stimulating Factor-1 (CSF-1) and receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor-kappa B (NF-kB) regulate the survival and growth of osteoclast precursor cells (Raggatt and Partridge, 2010). Using alpha-v beta integrin, osteoclasts interact with the surface of bone after differentiating and transferring signals that control how the cytoskeleton is organized. Spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK), VAV3 Ras-related C-Src, guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), and All of the gates are opened in response to the signals (Teitelbaum, 2007). In order to break down the bone's matrix and mineral components, proteases like cathepsin K (CTSK) and hydrochloric acid are secreted into an extracellular lysosomal area and create microscopic trenches on the bone's trabeculae surface (Boyce et al., 2009).



Fig. 1: Inhibition effects oleuropein on bone cancer such as tumor angiogenesis, oxidative stress, cytokines, chemokine receptors, adhesion molecules, enzymes, transcription factors, bone metastasis, cancer niche, and tumor cell proliferation. These processes are typically associated with the progression of cancer. On the other hand, activation affects processes such as osteoblast genesis, expression of different biomarkers, nitrogen oxide and osteoprotegerin production, calcium ion deposition, alkaline phosphatase activity, and proliferative capacity. These processes are typically associated with the maintenance and growth of healthy bone tissue.

A number of osteotropic substances, including Interleukin-11 (IL-11), IL-1, PTH, and 1,25-(OH)2D3, indirectly promote the production of osteoclasts by stimulating RANKL on the surface of osteoblasts and then associating RANK on osteoclast precursors(Hofbauer and Heufelder, 2000). Due to that signaling pathways like the Ak strain transforming (AKT) route, the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) system, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway, and NF-B are all active (Nakchbandi et al., 2001).

Osteoclast genesis is regulated by a number of additional proteins connected to RANK-activated signaling pathways (Boyce et al., 1992). Numerous variables, most notably osteoprotegerin (OPG), that are considered as a false receptor for RANKL, restrict the development of osteoclasts and the activation that follows. The balance of RANKL/OPG is an important factor in determining the strength of bone (Takayanagi, 2005).

Osteoblasts are produced by neural crest progenitor cells and mesodermal cells, which later differentiate into

osteocytes and proliferating preosteoblasts (Komori et al., 1997). Runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2) is required for the development of the Osteoblast genesis parent cell. RUNX2 controls sclerostin, dentin matrix protein 1, receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand, osteocalcin, osteocalcin (OCN), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and RANKL throughout cell growth (Lian et al., 2006) PTH, endothelin-1, fibroblast growth factor (FGF), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), and Osterix (OSX) all regulate osteoblast development. Wingless-related integration site (Wnt) signalling pathways are activated by BMP and PTH (Westendorf et al., 2004). Fully formed osteoblasts coexpress Type I collagen and alkaline phosphatase, which are necessary for the bone mineralization and formation of bone matrix (Murshed et al., 2005). Mineralization regulators including RANKL, osteopontin (OPN), osteonectin (ON), and OCN are produced by grown osteoblasts and are necessary for osteoclast differentiation. Osteocytes, which are immersed in mineralized matrix, or lining cells, which cover the edges of the bones, are the final forms of osteoblasts (Eriksen, 2010). As a result, the balance between bone formation by osteoblasts and bone resorption by osteoclasts, which is intricately related and regulated by a multitude of pathways, transcription factors, and released chemicals, determines the overall integrity and structure of the bone (Ramesh et al., 2021).

Alveolar Bone Loss

The permanent effect of severe inflammation, which is also present in metabolic bone illnesses including osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis, is alveolar bone loss. By inducing osteoclastic development and activity, which causes bone loss, NF-KB is a crucial transcriptional factor controlling inducible genes that cause inflammation and the destructive process (Taskan et al., 2019a).

Lipopolysaccharides can activate neutrophils, which increases levels of IL-8, MCP-1, and TNF, which sets off a series of inflammatory processes. Neutrophil activation is the initial stage of inflammation. Neutrophils stimulated by LPS phosphorylate p38 MAPK, ERK, and JNK and move NF-KB17. Oleuropein reduced the activity of p38 MAPK, ERK1/2, and JNK and inhibited the movement of NF-KB from the cytosol to the nucleus, which is essential for activating NF-KB.TNF, IL6, MMP1, MMP3, and COX2 levels were reduced in IL-1-induced synovial fibroblast cells along with a downregulation of the MAPK and NFKB pathway (Woźniak et al., 2018). Oleuropein suppressed NF-KB and MAPK activation and lowered the production of COX2, iNOS, MMP1, and MMP13 in both fibroblasts and the osteoarthritis chondrocytes. All of these studies point to oleuropein's potent anti-inflammatory effectiveness.

Effect on Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), an unexplained chronic inflammatory disease, primarily affects joints and eventually results in joint deterioration. It is currently believed that immune cells and the associated proinflammatory mediators are involved in all systemic autoimmune disorders, including RA (Rosillo et al., 2019). *Extra virgin olive oil* is ingested because of its tiny yet very bioactive components. Some of them have demonstrated indications of anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, including phenolic compounds comprising hydroxytyrosol (HTy), tyrosol, and oleuropein. The studies have shown that consuming extra virgin olive oil (EVOO) enhanced with polyphenolic extract (PE) can decrease the progression of damage in a collagen-induced arthritis (Aparicio-Soto et al., 2016).

Synovial fluid (SF) participates in continuing inflammatory responses as a substantial cell population in the RA invasive lesion. In the current work, PE from EVOO is shown for the first time to be able to restrict the activation of SW982 human synovial cells produced by IL-1 and reduce the inflammatory response (Tanaka, 2001). SF inflammatory alterations are crucial to the development of RA. This is due to the fact that TNF-, IL-1, and IL-6, pro-inflammatory cytokines that are known to have a significant role in the pathophysiology of RA, are overproduced during the synovial response in RA patients. IL-6 levels are associated with the development of rheumatoid factors and an increase in serum c-globulin (Sommerfelt et al., 2013).Early joint swelling, chronic joint inflammator, and the ensuing erosive changes in cartilage and bone are thought to be caused by TNF-, a pro-inflammatory molecule produced by macrophages and T cells. The current work showed, for the first time, that treatment with PE derived from EVOO substantially decreased IL-1-induced TNF- and IL-6 production in human synovial SW982 cells (Rosillo et al., 2014).

According to research they identify the arthritis-related pharmacological properties of olive leaf extract. The phenolic compound in olive leaves is linked to a decreased risk of arthritis, as well as many other diseases, as antioxidants reduce the harmful effects of free radicals on the body (Alethari et al., 2021). They also act as a scavenger, suppressing the production of reactive oxygen species in various experimental systems, including cell damage from H_2O_2 exposure. Arachidonic acid metabolism and phospholipase C activation are likely to be involved in the process, which lowers hydrogen peroxide. Olive leaf extract has improved and accelerated the recovery from arthritis (Tahmasebi et al., 2021).

Osteoporosis

The loss of bone mass and the microstructural breakdown of bone tissue are the two characteristics that characterize the skeletal disease known as osteoporosis. Osteoporosis, often known as "porous bone," causes bones to become increasingly brittle and prone to breaking (Jiang et al., 2021). However, considerable improvements in osteoporosis therapy over the previous 50 years, including the widely accessible nature of numerous efficient pharmaceutical therapies, have changed the perception that the condition is a natural part of aging (Clynes et al., 2020).

Osteoporosis-related fractures are expensive, costing the US and the UK \$17.9 billion and £4 billion, respectively, each year (Clynes et al., 2020; Chandran and Kwee, 2022). Osteoporosis is challenging to diagnose clinically because fracture criteria may exclude populations that would benefit from therapy and because the original 1994 World Health Organization (WHO) account by bone mineral density (BMD) alone (2.5 standard deviations below the young adult female mean) may not have taken other risk factors into account (Aggarwal et al., 2021). A person's risk of a fracture may now be quantified using clinical risk variables like age and alcohol consumption, with just a partial focus on BMD (Chotiyarnwong et al., 2022), thanks to risk calculators such as the online FRAX® algorithm (Clynes et al., 2020). According to a study by the United States surgeon general, 10 million Americans older than 50 are thought to be suffering from osteoporosis, and a further 34 million could be at risk (BRANNON, 2020). Approximately 1.5 million fractures caused by fragility in the USA occur annually as a result of osteoporotic fractures. In the UK, epidemiological studies indicate that a single in 5 men and one in two females older than 50 may sustain a fracture due to osteoporosis over their lifetime, indicating a comparable disease burden (Wu et al., 2019).

An individual's peak skeletal growth occurs during their fourth decade, and their following rate of bone loss determines their bone mass in old age. Bone mass is a recognized sign of bone strength (Yu and Wang, 2022). The likelihood of fractures should be highest when bone mass (and thus bone strength) is at its lowest points. In reality, there is a bimodal age-related variation in fracture incidence, with the young and the elderly experiencing the highest rates (Rizzoli et al., 2021). Younger males get fractures more frequently than females, but above the age of 50, female fracture rates are nearly twice as high as male rates. Long bone fractures, which are the most frequent type of fracture in young individuals, are brought on by serious trauma. According to studies, bone mass is still a substantial and important risk factor for fracture in this cohort, in addition to the severity of the trauma. The forearm, hip, and spine are the places where older persons are most vulnerable to fractures (Clynes et al., 2020). Bone remodelling is directly influenced by bone cells such osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and osteocytes (Kitaura et al., 2020). Together, osteoblasts from mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and osteoclasts from tissue-specific macrophage polykaryons develop and disintegrate bone to maintain the mineral balance and strength of the bone. The malfunctioning of each cell type may cause bone loss (Noh et al., 2020).

The oleuropein has ability to stimulate the activity of bone-forming cells (García-Martínez et al., 2016), known as osteoblasts(Horcajada and Offord, 2012), while also inhibiting the activity of bone-resorbing cells (Hagiwara et al., 2011), known as osteoclasts. This oleuropein helps to promote bone growth and prevent bone loss. The supplementation with oleuropein was able to improve bone mineral density and reduce the risk of fractures in rats with induced osteoporosis (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016). Similarly, the oleuropein may have a positive effect on bone mineral density and may help to prevent bone loss (Taskan et al., 2019b). While the research on the effects of oleuropein on osteoporosis is promising, more studies are needed to determine its effectiveness and safety in humans.

Post-Menopausal Osteoporosis

The metabolic bone disease (Xu et al., 2021b) osteoporosis, which is becoming more and more of an epidemic due to a constant rise in incidence, is a major social and medical issue in advanced economies (Rossi et al., 2018). Once a person reaches the age of 50 and above (Cannarella et al., 2019), their bone mass begins to naturally decline (Aspray and Hill, 2019). As a result, the bone remodeling cycle alters, making their bones more brittle and increasing their risk of bone fractures (Bijelic et al., 2017).

Numerous factors that may be divided into the categories of risk factors that can be changed and those that cannot be changed are involved in osteoporosis (Pisani et al., 2016). Recent studies (Li et al., 2020) demonstrate that smoking (Li et al., 2020) holds a significant place among the various risk factors for osteoporosis that are linked to unhealthy lifestyle choices (Lems, 2015) because it causes alterations in the level of microarchitecture of trabecular bone (Rupp et al., 2019) that reduce the bone's resistance to mechanical stress and friction (Li et al., 2020). Smokers have an increased chance of developing osteoporotic fractures regardless of their gender (Ratajczak et al., 2021). Women who smoke are approximately two times more likely than women who don't smoke to develop osteoporosis (Bijelic et al., 2017). Findings (Bijelic et al., 2017) are in line with those of previous academic research, which found that smokers (31.3%) had a substantially greater prevalence of osteoporosis than did ex-smokers (28.6%) or non-smokers (7.5%).

The olive oil and its polyphenols may have a beneficial effect on bone health, particularly in postmenopausal women (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016).

The oleuropein, a polyphenol compound found in olives and olive oil, may have a positive effect on bone health (García-Martínez et al., 2016), particularly in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016). The oleuropein on bone cells in postmenopausal women helps to promote bone growth (Basharat et al., 2019) and prevent bone loss in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016). The supplementation has ability to improve bone mineral density and reduce the risk of fractures in the rats (Chin and Ima-Nirwana, 2016), suggesting that it may have potential as a treatment for postmenopausal osteoporosis. The literature on the effects of oleuropein on postmenopausal osteoporosis is limited. The available evidence suggests that oleuropein may have a positive effect on bone health in this population. However, more research is needed to determine the optimal dose, duration of treatment, and safety of oleuropein supplementation for postmenopausal osteoporosis prevention and treatment. Nonetheless, these

findings suggest that oleuropein may be a promising area for further investigation as a potential natural agent for the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. The overall, olive oil on various bone-related conditions is diagrammatically represented in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2: Effects of oleuropein on various bone-related conditions, such as bone tumor cells, alveolar bone loss, rheumatoid arthritis, bone remodeling, and osteosarcoma.

Table 1. Biological effect of	I Olive Leaves E		
Effect of Oleuropein on	i Study Type	Result/Conclusion	Dosage and References
Bone Health			duration
Bone Tumor Cells	MG-63	an↓MG-63 cells proliferation	20 mL for 24 h (Gioti et al., 2021;
	osteosarcoma	cell↓ The growth and invasion o	f olive oil Zheng et al., 2022)
	line	osteosarcoma cells	
		↓ AKT signaling pathway	
Osteosarcoma in Children	osteosarcoma	(OS) ↑ Metastatic OS cells	1 μM - 250 μM (Przychodzen et
	cells	↓ Proliferation	for 24 to 48 h al., 2019; Gioti et
		↑ Apoptosis of MG-63 humar	າ Oleuropein al., 2021)
		osteosarcoma cells	
Bone Remodeling	Rats	↑ Protective effects on bone mass	2.5 ml for 100 (Puel et al., 2004,
		↓ Inflammation	days olive oil 2006)
		↓ Bone loss	
		↑ Stimulates bone formation	

Table 1: Biological effect of Olive Leaves Extract on Bone Health

Alveolar bo	ne lo:	ss, Rats	↓ Alveolar bone loss in experimental 15 mg /	kg for 15 (El-Hady et al.,
inflammation,	ar	nd	periodontitis in rats days or	2018; Taskan et al.,
apoptosis			↓ Inflammation and regulating 12 mg/k	cg/day to 2019a)
			osteoclast activity 24 mg/k	cg/day
			↓ Caspase-3 expressions for 14 d	ays OLE
			↑ Radiotherapeutic effects	
			↓ Osteoclastic activity	
			↓ Apoptosis	
			↑ Osteoblastic activity	
			↑ BMP-4 and bcl-2 expressions	
Bone los	55	in Rats	↓ Bone loss 2.5 ml fe	or (Puel et al., 2006)
ovariectomy/inf model	lammato	ry	↓ Inflammatory biomarkers 100 da Oil	ys Olive
Anti-osteoclasto	ogenic	in vitro	↓Transcriptional gene 25 and	50 μM (Rosillo et al.,
effects			↓ Osteoclastogenesis blood for 6	o days 2020)
			monocytes Oleurop	ein
Postmenopausa	l –	Rats	↓ IL-6 200 μg/	kg/dose (Liu et al., 2022)
osteoporosis			↓ MDA Oleurop	ein
			↓ ALP	
			↓P	
Antiproliferative	e activity	human	↑ Regression 247.4-4	75.0 μM (Moran et al.,
		osteosarcoma	ell↓Proliferation and m	ı 798.7- 2016)
		lines (MG-63	nd 359.9 µl	M for 24,
		Saos2)	48, 72	2 hours
			Oleurop	ein
Arthritis		Mice	1 Anti-inflammatory effects 40 μg	'kg for7 (Impellizzeri et al.,
			↓ Bone damage Oleurop	ein 2011; Haloui et al.,
			1 Oxidative and Nitrosative damage	2011)
Inflammation-in	duced	Rats	↓ Inflammation-induced osteopenia 0.15 g/l	(q for 80 (Puel et al., 2004)
bone loss			in OVX rats days OL	E
Antioxidant	ar	nd In vitro	↓ ROS production 102.36	and (Topuz and
Antimicrobial ad	tivities		↑ Disturbance to cell membrane 325.02 r	ng for Bayram, 2022)
			structure of bacteria 18–24 h	r OLE

AKT: protein kinase B (PKB), also known as Akt, is the collective name of a set of three serine/threonine-specific protein kinases; OS: osteosarcoma; BMP4: bone morphogenetic protein 4; BCL2: b-cell leukemia/lymphoma 2 protein; IL-6: interleukin-6; MDA: malondialdehyde; ALP: nitrate, alkaline phosphatase; P: phosphorus; OVS rats: ovariectomized In order to study mandibular alterations, rats have been employed as a preclinical model of postmenopausal people; ROS: reactive oxygen species.

Conclusion and Future Directions

In conclusion, this book chapter provides a valuable contribution to the current understanding of oleuropein's potential role in promoting bone health and preventing bone-related diseases. The chapter highlights the need for further research to explore the mechanisms underlying oleuropein's effects on bone cells and the potential for developing oleuropein-based therapies for various bone-related conditions. Future research could focus on conducting clinical trials to evaluate the effectiveness of oleuropein-based interventions for preventing and treating bone-related diseases, such as osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis. Additionally, research could investigate the optimal doses and delivery methods for oleuropein to maximize its therapeutic potential. Moreover, further studies could explore the potential synergistic effects of oleuropein with other natural compounds found in olives and olive oil, as well as their interactions with conventional treatments for bone-related diseases. Overall, the findings of this review paper suggest that oleuropein holds promise as a natural compound with potential osteo-protective effects, and further research in this field could have significant implications for improving bone health and preventing bone-related diseases.

REFERENCES

- Abd El-Hady, A. M., and Al Jalaud, N. A. (2015). Therapeutic Effects of Olive Leaf Extract or Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells against Lung Damage Induced in Male Albino Rats Exposed to Gamma Radiation. *The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 61, 685-699. <u>https://doi.org/10.12816/0018770</u>
- Adamik, J., Roodman, G. D., and Galson, D. L. (2019). Epigenetic-Based Mechanisms of Osteoblast Suppression in Multiple Myeloma Bone Disease. *JBMR plus*, *3*(3), e10183-e10183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm4.10183</u>

- Aggarwal, V., Maslen, C., Abel, R. L., Bhattacharya, P., Bromiley, P. A., Clark, E. M., and Poole, K. E. S. (2021). Opportunistic diagnosis of osteoporosis, fragile bone strength and vertebral fractures from routine CT scans; a review of approved technology systems and pathways to implementation. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*, 13, 1759720X211024029-211759720X211024029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1759720X211024029</u>
- Ahamad, J., Toufeeq, I., Khan, M. A., Ameen, M. S. M., Anwer, E. T., Uthirapathy, S., and Ahmad, J. (2019). Oleuropein: A natural antioxidant molecule in the treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Phytotherapy Research*, 33(12), 3112-3128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6511</u>
- Akkawi, I., and Zmerly, H. (2018). Osteoporosis: Current Concepts. Joints, 6(2), 122-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1660790</u>
- Aparicio-Soto, M., Sánchez-Hidalgo, M., Rosillo, M. Á., Castejón, M. L., and Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C. (2016). Extra virgin olive oil: a key functional food for prevention of immune-inflammatory diseases. *Food Andamp; Function*, 7(11), 4492-4505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c6fo01094f</u>
- Aspray, T. J., and Hill, T. R. (2019). Osteoporosis and the Ageing Skeleton. In *Subcellular Biochemistry* (pp. 453-476): Springer Singapore.
- Atkinson, H. F., Birmingham, T. B., Primeau, C. A., Schulz, J. M., Appleton, C. T., Pritchett, S. L., and Giffin, J. R. (2021). Association between changes in knee load and effusion-synovitis: evidence of mechano-inflammation in knee osteoarthritis using high tibial osteotomy as a model. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 29(2), 222-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2020.11.007</u>
- Bendini, A., Cerretani, L., Carrasco-Pancorbo, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A. M., Segura-Carretero, A., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A., and Lercker, G. (2007). Phenolic molecules in virgin olive oils: a survey of their sensory properties, health effects, antioxidant activity and analytical methods. An overview of the last decade. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 12(8), 1679-1719. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/12081679</u>
- Bijelic, R., Milicevic, S., and Balaban, J. (2017). Risk Factors for Osteoporosis in Postmenopausal Women. *Medical archives* (Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina), 71(1), 25-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.5455/medarh.2017.71.25-28</u>
- Boyce, B. F., Yao, Z., and Xing, L. (2009). Osteoclasts have multiple roles in bone in addition to bone resorption. *Critical reviews in eukaryotic gene expression*, *19*(3), 171-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1615/critreveukargeneexpr.v19.i3.10</u>
- Boyce, B. F., Yoneda, T., Lowe, C., Soriano, P., and Mundy, G. R. (1992). Requirement of pp60c-src expression for osteoclasts to form ruffled borders and resorb bone in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *90*(4), 1622-1627. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116032
- Brannon, B. (2004). Software-Defined Radio. In Handbook of RF and Wireless Technologies (pp. 133-179): Elsevier.
- Bruce, J. Y., Eickhoff, J., Pili, R., Logan, T., Carducci, M., Arnott, J., and Liu, G. (2012). A phase II study of 2-methoxyestradiol nanocrystal colloidal dispersion alone and in combination with sunitinib malate in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma progressing on sunitinib malate. *Investigational New Drugs*, 30(2), 794-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-010-9618-9</u>
- Burr, D. B. (2019). Bone Morphology and Organization. In Basic and Applied Bone Biology (pp. 3-26): Elsevier.
- Cannarella, R., Barbagallo, F., Condorelli, R. A., Aversa, A., La Vignera, S., and Calogero, A. E. (2019). Osteoporosis from an Endocrine Perspective: The Role of Hormonal Changes in the Elderly. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *8*(10), 1564. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8101564
- Cano, A., Marshall, S., Zolfaroli, I., Bitzer, J., Ceausu, I., Chedraui, P., and Rees, M. (2020). The Mediterranean diet and menopausal health: An EMAS position statement. *Maturitas*, *139*, 90-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2020.07.001</u>
- Casaburi, I., Puoci, F., Chimento, A., Sirianni, R., Ruggiero, C., Avena, P., and Pezzi, V. (2012). Potential of olive oil phenols as chemopreventive and therapeutic agents against cancer: A review of in vitro studies. *Molecular Nutrition andamp*; *Food Research*, 57(1), 71-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201200503</u>
- Castejón, M. L., Montoya, T., Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C., and Sánchez-Hidalgo, M. (2020). Potential Protective Role Exerted by Secoiridoids from Olea europaea L. in Cancer, Cardiovascular, Neurodegenerative, Aging-Related, and Immunoinflammatory Diseases. Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland), 9(2), 149. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9020149</u>
- Castejón, M. L., Rosillo, M. Á., Montoya, T., González-Benjumea, A., Fernández-Bolaños, J. M., and Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C. (2017). Oleuropein down-regulated IL-1β-induced inflammation and oxidative stress in human synovial fibroblast cell line SW982. Food andamp; Function, 8(5), 1890-1898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo00210f</u>
- Chandran, M., and Kwee, A. (2021). Treatment indications and thresholds of intervention: consensus and controversies in osteoporosis. *Climacteric*, 25(1), 29-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13697137.2021.1951205</u>
- Chin, K.-Y., and Ima-Nirwana, S. (2016). Olives and Bone: A Green Osteoporosis Prevention Option. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(8), 755. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13080755</u>
- Chotiyarnwong, P., McCloskey, E. V., Harvey, N. C., Lorentzon, M., Prieto-Alhambra, D., Abrahamsen, B., and Kanis, J. A. (2022). Is it time to consider population screening for fracture risk in postmenopausal women? A position paper from the International Osteoporosis Foundation Epidemiology/Quality of Life Working Group. *Archives of Osteoporosis*, 17(1), 87-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11657-022-01117-6</u>
- Clynes, M. A., Harvey, N. C., Curtis, E. M., Fuggle, N. R., Dennison, E. M., and Cooper, C. (2020). The epidemiology of osteoporosis. *British Medical Bulletin*, 133(1), 105-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldaa005</u>

- D'Oronzo, S., Coleman, R., Brown, J., and Silvestris, F. (2018). Metastatic bone disease: Pathogenesis and therapeutic options: Up-date on bone metastasis management. *Journal of Bone Oncology*, 15, 004-004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbo.2018.10.004
- Eriksen, E. F. (2010). Cellular mechanisms of bone remodeling. *Reviews in endocrine and metabolic disorders*, 11(4), 219-227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-010-9153-1
- Föger-Samwald, U., Kerschan-Schindl, K., Butylina, M., and Pietschmann, P. (2022). Age Related Osteoporosis: Targeting Cellular Senescence. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 23(5), 2701. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23052701</u>
- García-Martínez, O., De Luna-Bertos, E., Ramos-Torrecillas, J., Ruiz, C., Milia, E., Lorenzo, M. L., and Rivas, A. (2016). Phenolic Compounds in Extra Virgin Olive Oil Stimulate Human Osteoblastic Cell Proliferation. *PloS one*, *11*(3), e0150045e0150045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150045</u>
- Gioti, K., Papachristodoulou, A., Benaki, D., Aligiannis, N., Skaltsounis, A.-L., Mikros, E., and Tenta, R. (2021). Assessment of the Nutraceutical Effects of Oleuropein and the Cytotoxic Effects of Adriamycin, When Administered Alone and in Combination, in MG-63 Human Osteosarcoma Cells. *Nutrients*, 13(2), 354. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13020354</u>
- Gorska, M., Kuban-Jankowska, A., Zmijewski, M., Marino Gammazza, A., Cappello, F., Wnuk, M., and Wozniak, M. (2015). DNA strand breaks induced by nuclear hijacking of neuronal NOS as an anti-cancer effect of 2-methoxyestradiol. *Oncotarget*, 6(17), 15449-15463. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.3913</u>
- Hagiwara, K., Goto, T., Araki, M., Miyazaki, H., and Hagiwara, H. (2011). Olive polyphenol hydroxytyrosol prevents bone loss. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 662(1-3), 78-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2011.04.023</u>
- Harrison, D. J., Geller, D. S., Gill, J. D., Lewis, V. O., and Gorlick, R. (2017). Current and future therapeutic approaches for osteosarcoma. *Expert Review of Anticancer Therapy*, *18*(1), 39-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14737140.2018.1413939</u>
- Hassen, I., Casabianca, H., and Hosni, K. (2015). Biological activities of the natural antioxidant oleuropein: Exceeding the expectation A mini-review. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *18*, 926-940. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2014.09.001</u>
- Hayman, A. R. (2008). Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) and the osteoclast/immune cell dichotomy. *Autoimmunity*, 41(3), 218-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08916930701694667</u>
- Hofbauer, L. C., and Heufelder, A. E. (2000). The Role of Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor-κB Ligand and Osteoprotegerin in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Metabolic Bone Diseases¹. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology andamp; Metabolism*, *85*(7), 2355-2363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.85.7.6702</u>
- Horcajada, M.-N., and Offord, E. (2012). Naturally Plant-Derived Compounds: Role in Bone Anabolism. *Current Molecular Pharmacology*, 5(2), 205-218. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1874467211205020205</u>
- Impellizzeri, D., Esposito, E., Mazzon, E., Paterniti, I., Di Paola, R., Morittu, V. M., and Cuzzocrea, S. (2011). Oleuropein Aglycone, an Olive Oil Compound, Ameliorates Development of Arthritis Caused by Injection of Collagen Type II in Mice. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 339(3), 859-869. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.111.182808</u>
- Izadi, V., Tehrani, H., Haghighatdoost, F., Dehghan, A., Surkan, P. J., and Azadbakht, L. (2016). Adherence to the DASH and Mediterranean diets is associated with decreased risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition*, *32*(10), 1092-1096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2016.03.006</u>
- Jiang, Y., Zhang, P., Zhang, X., Lv, L., and Zhou, Y. (2021). Advances in mesenchymal stem cell transplantation for the treatment of osteoporosis. *Cell Proliferation*, 54(1), e12956-e12956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12956</u>
- Kanis, J. A., Cooper, C., Rizzoli, R., Reginster, J. Y., Scientific Advisory Board of the European Society for, C., Economic Aspects of, O., . . . National Societies of the International Osteoporosis, F. (2019). European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, 30(1), 3-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-018-4704-5</u>
- Kapinova, A., Kubatka, P., Liskova, A., Baranenko, D., Kruzliak, P., Matta, M., and Danko, J. (2019). Controlling metastatic cancer: the role of phytochemicals in cell signaling. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 145(5), 1087-1109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-019-02892-5</u>
- Kitaura, H., Marahleh, A., Ohori, F., Noguchi, T., Shen, W.-R., Qi, J., and Mizoguchi, I. (2020). Osteocyte-Related Cytokines Regulate Osteoclast Formation and Bone Resorption. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(14), 5169. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21145169</u>
- Komori, T., Yagi, H., Nomura, S., Yamaguchi, A., Sasaki, K., Deguchi, K., and Kishimoto, T. (1997). Targeted Disruption of Results in a Complete Lack of Bone Formation owing to Maturational Arrest of Osteoblasts. *Cell*, *89*(5), 755-764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80258-5</u>
- Lems, W. F. (2015). Fracture risk estimation may facilitate the treatment gap in osteoporosis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 74(11), 1943-1945. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208245</u>
- Leto, G., Flandina, C., Crescimanno, M., Giammanco, M., and Sepporta, M. V. (2021). Effects of oleuropein on tumor cell growth and bone remodelling: Potential clinical implications for the prevention and treatment of malignant bone diseases. *Life Sciences*, *264*, 118694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118694</u>
- Li, H., Wallin, M., Barregard, L., Sallsten, G., Lundh, T., Ohlsson, C., and Andersson, E. M. (2020). Smoking-Induced Risk of Osteoporosis Is Partly Mediated by Cadmium From Tobacco Smoke: The MrOS Sweden Study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 35(8), 1424-1429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.4014</u>

- Lian, J. B., Stein, G. S., Javed, A., van Wijnen, A. J., Stein, J. L., Montecino, M., and Young, D. W. (2006). Networks and hubs for the transcriptional control of osteoblastogenesis. *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders*, 7(1-2), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-006-9001-5</u>
- Lis, A., Ciesielski, M. J., Barone, T. A., Scott, B. E., Fenstermaker, R. A., and Plunkett, R. J. (2004). 2-Methoxyestradiol inhibits proliferation of normal and neoplastic glial cells, and induces cell death, in vitro. *Cancer Letters*, *213*(1), 57-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2004.04.021
- Liu, H., Zhao, A., Huang, Y., Hou, A., Miao, W., Hong, L., and Fan, Y. (2022). Efficacy and Mechanisms of Oleuropein in Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine*, 2022, 9767113-9767113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9767113</u>
- Makhoul, I., Montgomery, C. O., Gaddy, D., and Suva, L. J. (2016). The best of both worlds managing the cancer, saving the bone. *Nature reviews. Endocrinology*, 12(1), 29-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.185</u>
- Marzouk, B., Marzouk, Z., Haloui, E., Fenina, N., Bouraoui, A., and Aouni, M. (2010). Screening of analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of Citrullus colocynthis from southern Tunisia. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 128(1), 15-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2009.11.027</u>
- Meiss, M. S., Villagrán-Andrade, K. M., Calder, P. C., Fernández-Bolaños, J. G., Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C., Sánchez-Hidalgo, M., and de Andrés, M. C. (2021). Harnessing the mediterranean diet to prevent osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 29, S424-S425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2021.02.549</u>
- Mohammed, R., Abdel-Maksoud, H., and Hassan, N. (2016). Biochemical effect of olive leaves on experimentally induced cardiac stress in rats. *Benha Medical Journal*, *33*(2), 108. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1110-208x.201285</u>
- Morales-Ivorra, I., Grados, D., Nolla, J., Rozadilla, A., and Romera-Baurés, M. (2021). Adherence to the mediterranean diet in patients with osteoarthritis and healthy subjects using the medas questionnaire. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, *29*, S35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2021.05.056</u>
- Moran, J. M., Leal-Hernandez, O., Canal-Macías, M. L., Roncero-Martin, R., Guerrero-Bonmatty, R., Aliaga, I., and Zamorano, J. D. P. (2016). Antiproliferative Properties of Oleuropein in Human Osteosarcoma Cells. *Natural Product Communications*, 11(4), 1934578X1601100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1934578x1601100418</u>
- Murray, C. J. L., Ezzati, M., Flaxman, A. D., Lim, S., Lozano, R., Michaud, C., and Lopez, A. D. (2012). GBD 2010: a multiinvestigator collaboration for global comparative descriptive epidemiology. *The Lancet*, 380(9859), 2055-2058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)62134-5</u>
- Murshed, M., Harmey, D., Millán, J. L., McKee, M. D., and Karsenty, G. (2005). Unique coexpression in osteoblasts of broadly expressed genes accounts for the spatial restriction of ECM mineralization to bone. *Genes and Development*, *19*(9), 1093-1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1276205</u>
- Nakchbandi, I. A., Grey, A., Masiukiewicz, U., Mitnick, M., and Insogna, K. (2001). Cytokines in Primary Hyperparathyroidism. In *The Parathyroids* (pp. 411-421): Elsevier.
- Noh, J.-Y., Yang, Y., and Jung, H. (2020). Molecular Mechanisms and Emerging Therapeutics for Osteoporosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(20), 7623. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21207623</u>
- Otero, D. M., Lorini, A., Oliveira, F. M., Antunes, B. d. F., Oliveira, R. M., and Zambiazi, R. C. (2021). Leaves of Olea europaea L. as a source of oleuropein: characteristics and biological aspects. *Research, Society and Development, 10*(13), e185101321130. <u>https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i13.21130</u>
- Otoukesh, B., Boddouhi, B., Moghtadaei, M., Kaghazian, P., and Kaghazian, M. (2018). Novel molecular insights and new therapeutic strategies in osteosarcoma. *Cancer cell international*, *18*, 158-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-018-0654-4</u>
- Pisani, P., Renna, M. D., Conversano, F., Casciaro, E., Di Paola, M., Quarta, E., and Casciaro, S. (2016). Major osteoporotic fragility fractures: Risk factor updates and societal impact. *World Journal of Orthopedics*, 7(3), 171-181. <u>https://doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v7.i3.171</u>
- Przychodzen, P., Wyszkowska, R., Gorzynik-Debicka, M., Kostrzewa, T., Kuban-Jankowska, A., and Gorska-Ponikowska, M. (2019). Anticancer Potential of Oleuropein, the Polyphenol of Olive Oil, With 2-Methoxyestradiol, Separately or in Combination, in Human Osteosarcoma Cells. *Anticancer Research*, 39(3), 1243-1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.13234</u>
- Puel, C., Mathey, J., Agalias, A., Kati-coulibaly, S., Mardon, J., Obled, C., and Coxam, V. (2006). Dose–response study of effect of oleuropein, an olive oil polyphenol, in an ovariectomy/inflammation experimental model of bone loss in the rat. *Clinical Nutrition*, 25(5), 859-868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2006.03.009</u>
- Puel, C., Quintin, A., Agalias, A., Mathey, J., Obled, C., Mazur, A., and Coxam, V. (2004). Olive oil and its main phenolic micronutrient (oleuropein) prevent inflammation-induced bone loss in the ovariectomised rat. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 92(1), 119-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20041181</u>
- Raggatt, L. J., and Partridge, N. C. (2010). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of bone remodeling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(33), 25103-25108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R109.041087</u>
- Ramesh, P., Jagadeesan, R., Sekaran, S., Dhanasekaran, A., and Vimalraj, S. (2021). Flavonoids: Classification, Function, and Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Bone Remodelling. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 12, 779638-779638. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2021.779638</u>

Ratajczak, A. E., Szymczak-Tomczak, A., Rychter, A. M., Zawada, A., Dobrowolska, A., and Krela-Kaźmierczak, I. (2021).

Impact of Cigarette Smoking on the Risk of Osteoporosis in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *10*(7), 1515. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10071515</u>

- Recinella, L., Micheli, L., Chiavaroli, A., Libero, M. L., Orlando, G., Menghini, L., and Leone, S. (2022). Anti-Inflammatory Effects Induced by a Polyphenolic Granular Complex from Olive (Olea europaea, Mainly Cultivar coratina): Results from In Vivo and Ex Vivo Studies in a Model of Inflammation and MIA-Induced Osteoarthritis. *Nutrients*, *14*(7), 1487. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14071487</u>
- Rigacci, S., and Stefani, M. (2016). Nutraceutical Properties of Olive Oil Polyphenols. An Itinerary from Cultured Cells through Animal Models to Humans. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(6), 843. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17060843
- Ritter, B., and Greten, F. R. (2019). Modulating inflammation for cancer therapy. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 216(6), 1234-1243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20181739</u>
- Rizzoli, R., Biver, E., and Brennan-Speranza, T. C. (2021). Nutritional intake and bone health. *The Lancet Diabetes andamp;* Endocrinology, 9(9), 606-621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2213-8587(21)00119-4</u>
- Roca, H., and McCauley, L. K. (2015). Inflammation and skeletal metastasis. *BoneKEy Reports*, *4*, 706-706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bonekey.2015.75</u>
- Roodman, G. D. (2009). Pathogenesis of myeloma bone disease. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 109(2), 283-291. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.22403
- Rosillo, M. Á., Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C., Castejón, M. L., Montoya, T., Cejudo-Guillén, M., and Sánchez-Hidalgo, M. (2018). Polyphenolic extract from extra virgin olive oil inhibits the inflammatory response in IL-1<i>β</i>-activated synovial fibroblasts. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 121(1), 55-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007114518002829</u>
- Rosillo, M. Á., Alcaraz, M. J., Sánchez-Hidalgo, M., Fernández-Bolaños, J. G., Alarcón-de-la-Lastra, C., and Ferrándiz, M. L. (2014). Anti-inflammatory and joint protective effects of extra-virgin olive-oil polyphenol extract in experimental arthritis. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 25(12), 1275-1281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2014.07.006</u>
- Rosillo, M. A., Montserrat-de-la-Paz, S., Abia, R., Castejon, M. L., Millan-Linares, M. C., Alarcon-de-la-Lastra, C., and Muriana, F. J. G. (2020). Oleuropein and its peracetylated derivative negatively regulate osteoclastogenesis by controlling the expression of genes involved in osteoclast differentiation and function. *Food andamp; Function*, *11*(5), 4038-4048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/d0fo00433b</u>
- Rossi, L. M. M., Copes, R. M., Dal Osto, L. C., Flores, C., Comim, F. V., and Premaor, M. O. (2018). Factors related with osteoporosis treatment in postmenopausal women. *Medicine*, *97*(28), e11524-e11524. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000011524
- Rupp, T., Butscheidt, S., Vettorazzi, E., Oheim, R., Barvencik, F., Amling, M., and Rolvien, T. (2019). High FGF23 levels are associated with impaired trabecular bone microarchitecture in patients with osteoporosis. *Osteoporosis International*, 30(8), 1655-1662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-019-04996-7</u>
- Schwingshackl, L., Schwedhelm, C., Galbete, C., and Hoffmann, G. (2017). Adherence to Mediterranean Diet and Risk of Cancer: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients*, 9(10), 1063. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9101063</u>
- Sommerfelt, R. M., Feuerherm, A. J., Jones, K., and Johansen, B. (2013). Cytosolic phospholipase A2 regulates TNF-induced production of joint destructive effectors in synoviocytes. *PloS one*, *8*(12), e83555-e83555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083555</u>
- Sun, L.-R., Zhou, W., Zhang, H.-M., Guo, Q.-S., Yang, W., Li, B.-J., and Cui, R.-J. (2019). Modulation of Multiple Signaling Pathways of the Plant-Derived Natural Products in Cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *9*, 1153-1153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01153</u>
- Tahmasebi, S., Qasim, M. T., Krivenkova, M. V., Zekiy, A. O., Thangavelu, L., Aravindhan, S., and Roshangar, L. (2021). The effects of oxygen–ozone therapy on regulatory T-cell responses in multiple sclerosis patients. *Cell Biology International*, *45*(7), 1498-1509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.11589</u>
- Takayanagi, H. (2005). Mechanistic insight into osteoclast differentiation in osteoimmunology. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *83*(3), 170-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-004-0612-6</u>
- Tanaka, Y. (2001). The role of chemokines and adhesion molecules in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Drugs of Today*, 37(7), 477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1358/dot.2001.37.7.844190</u>
- Taskan, M. M., Balci Yuce, H., Karatas, O., Gevrek, F., and Toker, H. (2019). Evaluation of the effect of oleuropein on alveolar bone loss, inflammation, and apoptosis in experimental periodontitis. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, *54*(6), 624-632. https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12662
- Teitelbaum, S. L. (2007). Osteoclasts: what do they do and how do they do it? *The American Journal of Pathology*, 170(2), 427-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2007.060834</u>
- Topuz, S., and Bayram, M. (2021). Oleuropein extraction from leaves of three olive varieties (<i>Olea europaea</i> L.): Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of purified oleuropein and oleuropein extracts. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 46(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.15697</u>
- Vallée, A., Lecarpentier, Y., and Vallée, J.-N. (2019). Targeting the Canonical WNT/β-Catenin Pathway in Cancer Treatment Using Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs. *Cells*, 8(7), 726. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8070726</u>
- Westendorf, J. J., Kahler, R. A., and Schroeder, T. M. (2004). Wnt signaling in osteoblasts and bone diseases. *Gene*, 341, 19-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2004.06.044</u>

- Woźniak, M., Michalak, B., Wyszomierska, J., Dudek, M. K., and Kiss, A. K. (2018). Effects of Phytochemically Characterized Extracts From Syringa vulgaris and Isolated Secoiridoids on Mediators of Inflammation in a Human Neutrophil Model. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9, 349-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00349</u>
- Wu, J. C., Strickland, C. D., and Chambers, J. S. (2019). Wrist Fractures and Osteoporosis. Orthopedic Clinics of North America, 50(2), 211-221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocl.2018.10.004</u>
- Xu, C., Liu, T., Driban, J. B., McAlindon, T., Eaton, C. B., and Lu, B. (2021). Dietary patterns and risk of developing knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 29(6), 834-840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2021.02.571</u>
- Xu, F., Li, W., Yang, X., Na, L., Chen, L., and Liu, G. (2021). The Roles of Epigenetics Regulation in Bone Metabolism and Osteoporosis. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 8, 619301-619301. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.619301</u>
- Y, A., Valds-Flores, M., Orozco, L., and Velzquez-Cruz, R. (2013). Molecular Aspects of Bone Remodeling. In *Topics in Osteoporosis*: InTech.
- Yu, B., and Wang, C.-Y. (2022). Osteoporosis and periodontal diseases An update on their association and mechanistic links. *Periodontology 2000*, 89(1), 99-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/prd.12422</u>
- Zhang, Y., Yang, J., Zhao, N., Wang, C., Kamar, S., Zhou, Y., . . . Yang, Z. (2018). Progress in the chemotherapeutic treatment of osteosarcoma. *Oncology Letters*, *16*(5), 6228-6237. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.9434</u>
- Zheng, Y., Liu, Z., Yang, X., Liu, L., and Ahn, K. S. (2021). An updated review on the potential antineoplastic actions of oleuropein. *Phytotherapy Research*, 36(1), 365-379. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.7325

Chapter 27

The Diverse Applications of Essential Oils

Afza Arif¹, Tabinda Waheed¹, Hafiz Muhammad Umer², Muhammad Asad¹*, Kashif Ali¹, Ahmed Muneeb³, Saima Qadeer¹, Asma Ashraf¹, Sana Ullah¹ and Muhammad Umair Khan¹

¹Department of Zoology, Division of Science and Techonology, University of Education Lahore, Pakistan

²Assistant Director Fisheries, Government of the Punjab

³Department of Botany, Division of Science and Techonology, University of Education Lahore, Pakistan

*Corresponding author: muhammad.asad@ue.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

The essential oils of plants extracted through different methods have a strong history going back many millennia and have been well utilized for their therapeutic properties in traditional medicine of various cultures. This article will familiarize you with some of the more frequently used essential oils and where they come from, showing some of the different ways they can be combined or used in holistic care such as aromatherapy, massage therapy other medicinal treatments, and cosmetics. Further, the text discusses domestic and industrial uses of essential oils which highlights clean and non-toxic alternatives of essential oils in cleaning and pest control and preserving the quality of food for various sectors. Along with this, the cultural and spiritual essence of essential oils held in religious ceremonies and traditional healing practices is also discussed, which underpins our association with nature. To conclude, the considerations and safety precautions in using essential oils to give them the safest and most effective ways to stimulate health and wellness are explained.

KEYWORDS	Received: 07-Jun-2024	SCHENTING ATE	A Publication of
Essential oils, Aromatherapy, Massage therapy, Plant extract,	Revised: 04-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
Aromatic compounds	Accepted: 12-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Arif A, Waheed T, Umer HM, Asad M, Ali K, Muneeb A, Qadeer S, Ashraf A, Ullah S and Khan MU, 2024. The diverse applications of essential oils. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 239-243. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.433

INTRODUCTION

Such oils are the result of the extraction process, which yields aromatic compounds from plant sources like flowers, leaves, and ripe fruits. The main methods to extract oil such as steam distillation, expression, solvent extraction, CO2 extraction, and hydrodistillation, are among the most frequently used. Every approach features an individual technique of the like such as infusing plants with their healing essence (El Asbahani et al., 2015; Ríos, 2016; Aziz et al., 2018).

Essential oil has a background deep in the history of mankind and cannot only be utilized to heal or provide fragrance for stillness but is also used for cooking purposes (Brud, 2020). Ancient nations such as Egypt, India, China, and Greece formulated treatments and other forms of medicine utilizing essential oils as they were believed to reduce and relieve ailments. The incorporation of essential oils in Ayurveda practices in India and TCM (Traditional Chinese medicine) are classic examples of using these oils. Figures such as Hippocrates in Greece were very reckoning in exploring the use of essential oils for medicinal purposes (Carson and Hammer, 2011). During the middle Ages, the Islamic scholars' continued investigations into essential oils have widened the scope of knowledge. In the Renaissance, the interest in botanical studies and natural healing led to the blossoming of herbal medicine in Europe (Franz and Novak, 2020). Advancements in the 20th century (century) technology brought them to be available to extra industries (representing all of them) such as therapeutics, perfumery as well as personal care products (Giannenas et al., 2020). Today essential oils are highly thought of for their medicinal values and have been extensively studied for the sake of their health benefits, which only goes to show that people will always regard essential oils as very essential in human culture and being. (Sadgrove and Jones, 2015).

Essential Lavender oil is very famous for soothing mentally and relieving stress. Pseudo-headaches and intestinal pain may be eliminated using peppermint oil. Tea tree oil can be very good for treating pimples and bringing relief to skin irritations. Eucalyptus oil contributes to the elimination of jam and enhances breathing proficiency. Lemon oil is a multitasker of the essential oils. It is a powerful cleanser and can improve many people's moods. Frankincense oil will open up your spirit to consider deeper things and meditate. Marignin oil reduces inflammation and also helps in relaxation. This oil aids in maintaining focus and to combat against stress, making it recommended for nootropic blends and aromatherapy (Manion and Widder, 2020; Aljaafari et al., 2021).

240

Therapeutic Uses of Essential Oils

Essential oils, since ancient times, have been successfully applied for different scopes, for example, aromatherapy, massage therapy, home remedies, and many more. The use of essential oils, e.g. lavender and chamomile, in aromatherapy can help people relieve stress and experience relaxation (Koulivand et al., 2013). Essential oils like peppermint and eucalyptus are often employed in massaging therapy to alleviate muscle pains and stress. Essential oils such as tea tree oil, for instance, are shown to be effective acne treatment (Enshaieh et al., 2007), while peppermint oil is mostly used for treating digestive system problems (Grigoleit and Grigoleit, 2005). Similarly, some oils such as lavender and frankincense are known for their relaxing nature, which explains why their use is common during stress reduction (Kasper and Anghelescu, 2015). Among the most important advantages of essential oils to one's mood are an uplifting feeling, which citrus oil is well known for its energizing capabilities, and a calming state, which floral oil can quite efficiently trigger (Perry and Perry, 2006).

Cosmetic Applications

Essential oils are now famous in the cosmetic industry for their multiple reflective benefits on skin, hair, and perfumery. These natural emollients are extracted from the plants and have always been used for their healing properties. In the past few years, essential oils have been used in cosmetic products as their skincare benefits such as Acne treatment and anti-aging process have been realized. Perhaps, the first skincare usage of essential oils we meet in our minds is acne therapy. Aromatherapy with essential oils like tea tree oil, lavender oil, and rosemary oil may be utilized to combat acne and improve overall skin appearance, given these oils have properties against bacteria and inflammation (Khan et al., 2019). You can employ these oils in your facial washing substance, toner, or spot therapy to specifically deal with acneprone areas. Acne treatment is not the only ability of essential oils with anti-aging properties. The oils such as frankincense, rosehip and geranium can prove helpful in increasing skin elasticity, diminishing the visibility of wrinkles, and promoting a fresh-looking complexion (Babu et al., 2018). These oils are frequently used in anti-aging serums, moisturizers, and face oils among other skincare products to stop the effects of mature skin. Although we mostly associate essential oils with skin or digestive health, they can also be very helpful for hair care, thus preventing dandruff and stimulating hair growth. Oil like peppermint, cedar wood and rosemary can help soothe your scalp, stop dandruff and boost your hair follicles performance for better hair growth (Hay et al., 2018). They can simply be added to shampoos, conditioners and scalp treatments to improve the health of the hair and scalp. Mainly, in addition to this, they are most often used in perfumery where natural scent and aromatherapy are of paramount importance. Oils like lavender, jasmine, and ylang-ylang have been a preferred choice among many to create natural perfumes and scents themselves (Bakkali et al., 2008). With these oils, one can blend them to develop a signature or personalized scent that not only smells like a beauty queen but also enhances psycho-physical well-being through their therapeutic properties.

Household Uses

Aside from medicinal applications, these extracts have been applied in household products to do the functions of cleansing, control of pests, and food preservation due to their natural properties. These oils are a go-to option for people who want to use safe and natural solutions for all their household cleaning and finishing needs. The essential oils are likely to be used by most households for cleaning purposes. Products with ingredients such as lemon oil, tea tree oil, and eucalyptus ensure natural disinfection. It means that those microorganisms are killed (Carson et al., 2006). These oils can be used in different household cleaning solutions, including both all-purpose and floor cleaners, for effective cleaning and sanitizing of the areas at home. Along with the lavender and citrus essential oil, this natural freshener would replace strong odors and create a nice-smelling environment. Another popular use of essential oils is for pest control purposes since many oils have natural repellant properties that deter insects and other organic invaders. The favorite essential oils for keeping the bugs away (mosquitoes, ants and flies) are peppermint, citronella and cedarwood (Regnault-Roger et al., 2012a). These oils, after dilution, can be used as sprays in the house or around the garden for pest regulation without harming the environment with chemicals. Many essential oils as well have antibacterial properties which can be used to discourage the growth of molds and mildew in areas of the home that are excessively damp, such as bathrooms and kitchens. Moreover, essential oils can be applied for food preservation to maintain the perishable goods and at the same time, taste can be intensified. Oils from oregano, thyme, and cinnamon possess antimicrobial activity which can restrict the growth of fungi and bacteria in the food (Fisher, et al. 2018). These oils can be infused with preservation agents like vinegar or oil, which can help prolong food life for a longer time. On the other hand, they are capable of flavoring dishes and beverages, giving a special, aroma to the vivid dishes. To sum up the topic, essential oils have many applications and benefits in the home that stretch from cleaning and controlling pests to food preservation. These special characteristics of essential oils mean they are such a healthy and viable substitute for commercial products as far as daily tasks are concerned, ensuring a safer and less toxic environment.

Industrial Applications

Essential oils are now getting recognition in industrial use because of their unique properties and advantages which they portray. In other words, essential oils, prominent ingredients in the pharmaceutical industry, are widely used in cough syrups and balms because of their antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory characteristics (Bakkali et al., 2008). For instance, eucalyptus essential oil can be found in some over-the-counter cough syrups, known to be decongestant and expectorant (Juergens, 2014). In the food and drinks business, essential oils are a bouquet of aroma and taste, improving product flavor. For example, peppermint essential oil is generally used in candies and chewing gums to create a refreshing and cooling aftertaste (Göbel et al. 2016). Also used for that purpose are essential oils – lemon and orange – for their refreshing flavor and aroma (Burt, 2004). In this area, essential oils are used as plant growth stimulators and natural pesticides that particularly promote healthy crop growth and protect crops from pests and diseases. The oils of neem wood and tea tree that have insecticidal and antibiotic properties replace the synthetic pesticides (Isman, 2000). Microorganisms' spider webs, essential oils and other natural pesticides are not harmful to the environment and have no residues on crops (Regnault et al., 2012b). In brief, essential oils take part in the different techniques of industrial application, for instance, in the fields of pharmaceuticals, food and beverages, as well as agriculture. Such diverse properties make them valuable components of diverse products naturally able to cure coughs, add flavor and act as phyto growth enhancers or natural pesticides.

Cultural and Spiritual Significance

The scent of essential oils has long been utilized in religious ceremonies and cultural events around the world. In religious ceremonies, essential oils are generally used as anointing oils or incense. Anointing oil is a religious practice that reaches many traditions, like Christianity, Judaism, and Islam, to dedicate people, objects, and a place. In Christianity, anointing oils are used in sacraments like baptism and confirmation and also in other rituals like the anointing of the sick. In Judaism, anointing oils are mainly used in the consecration of priests and the anointing of kings. In Islam, anointing oil is utilized in rituals such as the anointing of the dead before burial (Battaglia, 2003).

Furthermore, the fragrances extracted from plant sources are also often used in various religious rituals around the world. The purpose of incense burning is thought to clean air, create a consecrated environment and open a channel for communication with supernatural beings. In Hinduism, incense is widely used in daily ritualistic and ceremonial practices where the gods are being honored and their blessings are sought. In Buddhism, incense is an essential part of meditation which is done to create a calm and focused state of mind. In Native American tribes, the purifying of individuals and space is achieved with incense made from sage and other herbs during smudging rituals (Guenther, 2016).

Besides being used as a part of the religious rituals they are also prevalent in healing practices and ceremonies of a culture. Many ethnic groups worldwide use essential oils for medical nature and body relaxation. Such as in Chinese traditional medicine, they use essential oils in aromatherapy for the balancing of the body's energy and for promoting health and well-being. According to Ayurveda, which is a classical school of medicine in India, essential oil is used in massage therapies, herbal remedies, and spiritual rituals to bring harmony and balance to the body, mind, and soul (Lawless, 2013; Tisserand and Young, 2014). Essential oils perform an important role in ritual and spiritual discourses, either as a means for providing a healthy state, cleansing or linking a person to the divine. The use of plants in religious ceremonies and cultural rituals from ancient times till now is a testament to the deep connection between humans and nature, and also the belief that plants have magical powers of healing the body and soul.

Safety and Precautions

They are powerful plant concentrates that are employed for their healing or beneficial effects. They should be used carefully to make sure we do not get into any side effects, adverse reactions, or unwanted consequences in our bodies (Vostinaru et al., 2020).

Proper Dilution and Application Methods

The issue of proper essential oils dilution is one important thing to consider for safety when following recipes and applying essential oils by oneself. The purity of the essential oils is very high, while the use of them in an undiluted form directly on the skin is prohibited. Generally, the recommended ratio is 1-3% for adults, again specific to the different essential oils for example it applies to all intended uses. It is necessary to make use of the dilution guidelines so that skin irritation or sensitization can't occur. After applying the essential oil to the skin directly, a patch test is also required to check if your skin can tolerate the use of the oil over a larger part. This, in turn, will facilitate and detect allergies or sensitization. Furthermore, oils that the person inhales should never be swallowed except with the assistance of a healthcare professional qualified (Tisserand and Young, 2013).

Potential Side Effects and Contraindications

However, even though essential oils have many health benefits, there are also situations when they can trigger side effects in certain users. As with any other treatment, essential oils can also have undesired effects like skin irritation, allergies, and respiratory issues. This is because of some important oil types that are considered contraindicated for use during pregnancy, nursing, or people with complicated medical backgrounds like epilepsy or high blood pressure).

You must research the safety precautions before the usage of each oil and you must contact a qualified aroma therapist or health care provider if you have concerns about the possible adverse effects or contradictions (Cuba., 2001).

Regulatory Aspects and Quality Control

In the United States which means that essential oils for therapeutic claiming are not regulated by the FDA. This being unregulated allows manufacturers to rise and set the standards that govern the quality and purity of essential oils so they can vary widely among different brands. It is crucial to buy oils from quality-tested and legit sellers who provide clear details of the product's origins, as well as its extraction and handling processes to ensure the oil's safe and disciplined use. Try to avoid essential oils which are labeled as synthetic, or marked only as grade 6 or below, or even fragrance oils. Choose either pure essential oils or organic ones to avoid exposure to toxic components. This way of labeling means that oil brands are end-products of devoted production and do not contain any other additives such as artificial materials or pollution ones (Barbieri and Borsotto, 2018)

Future Prospects

The prospects of essential oils look bright as they continue to be valued for their therapeutic, cosmetic, household, industrial, and cultural significance. Continued research and innovation in the field of essential oils are expected further to expand their applications and benefits in various industries

Conclusion

Essential oils are not new to the world and have been used in wide range of functions right from medical, aroma therapy, cosmetics to cleaning and industrial purposes. The extraction techniques used in obtaining their scents include steam distillation, expression and solvent extraction, which offers powerful oil aromatics that have served various purpose in the past rites, medicine, religion and culture. In the modern world, essential oils are still used to cure various diseases as they were used in the past, and they are known to have various uses such as stress relievers, curers of pains, skin treatments and most importantly repellants of pests. But, with such strength they have come with warnings that need to be taken so seriously. Since it's such a strong solution, its dilution and use have to be carefully done to avert side effects such as skin rash, allergies or respiratory problems. Particular caution should be taken with those people who are pregnant, breastfeeding or have certain health issues. Currently, essential oils have not received much attention when it comes to regulation provided in various countries, and that is why individuals must try as much as possible to get the best quality essential oils, and consult with the right professionals when using essential oils. Hence, the future of essential oils can be said to be bright as further studies continue to be conducted in a bid to discover other uses of essential oils and their effectiveness. Since they continue to play an important role in religious and secular ceremonies, and are already embraced in the health and beauty sector and in industry, one can be assured that essential oils will always part of the cultural life of the world into a distant future.

REFERENCES

- Aljaafari, M. N., AlAli, A. O., Baqais, L., Alqubaisy, M., AlAli, M., Molouki, A., and Lim, S. H. E. (2021). An overview of the potential therapeutic applications of essential oils. *Molecules*, *26*(3), 628.
- Aziz, Z. A., Ahmad, A., Setapar, S. H. M., Karakucuk, A., Azim, M. M., Lokhat, D., and Ashraf, G. M. (2018). Essential oils: extraction techniques, pharmaceutical and therapeutic potential-a review. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 19(13), 1100-1110.
- Babu, S., and Jayaraman, S. (2018). Essential oils: A review of their anti-inflammatory properties. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 9(4), 1378-1384.
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., and Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils-A review. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46(2), 446-475.
- Barbieri, C., and Borsotto, P. (2018). Essential oils: Market and legislation. In V. R. Preedy (Ed.), Potential of essential oils (pp. 107-127). Academic Press
- Battaglia, S. (2003). The complete guide to aromatherapy (2nd ed.). Brisbane, Australia: The International Centre of Holistic Aromatherapy.
- Brud, W. S. (2020). Industrial uses of essential oils. In K. H. C. Başer and G. Buchbauer (Eds.), Handbook of essential oils (pp. 1029-1040). CRC Press.
- Burt, S. (2004). Essential oils: Their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods–A review. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 94(3), 223-253.
- Carson, C. F., and Hammer, K. A. (2011). Chemistry and bioactivity of essential oils. In I. A. Rahman and S. A. Chik (Eds.), Lipids and essential oils as antimicrobial agents (pp. 203-238). Springer.
- Carson, C. F., Hammer, K. A., and Riley, T. V. (2006). Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil: A review of antimicrobial and other medicinal properties. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 19(1), 50-62.
- Cuba, R. (2001). Toxicity myths: Essential oils and their carcinogenic potential. *International Journal of Aromatherapy*, 11(2), 76-83.
- El Asbahani, A., Miladi, K., Badri, W., Sala, M., Aït Addi, E. H., Casabianca, H., Mousadik, A. El., Hartmann, D., Jilale, A., Renaud, F. N. R., and Elaissari, A. (2015). Essential oils: From extraction to encapsulation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 483(1-2), 220-243.

- Enshaieh, S., Jooya, A., Siadat, A. H., and Iraji, F. (2007). The efficacy of 5% topical tea tree oil gel in mild to moderate acne vulgaris: A randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venereology, and Leprology*, 73(1), 22-25.
- Fisher, K., Phillips, C. A., and Clark, J. (2018). The antimicrobial activity of essential oils and essential oil components towards Campylobacter jejuni, Escherichia coli, Listeria monocytogenes, and Salmonella enterica. *Journal of Food Protection*, 71(6), 1207-1213.
- Franz, C., and Novak, J. (2020). Sources of essential oils. In K. H. C. Başer and G. Buchbauer (Eds.), Handbook of essential oils (pp. 41-83). CRC Press.
- Giannenas, I., Sidiropoulou, E., Bonos, E., Christaki, E., and Florou-Paneri, P. (2020). The history of herbs, medicinal and aromatic plants, and their extracts: Past, current situation and future perspectives. In R. J. Rose and H. H. Patterson (Eds.), Feed additives (pp. 1-18). Academic Press.
- Göbel, H., Schmidt, G., Soyka, D., and Munster, T. (2016). Peppermint oil in irritable bowel syndrome. *Phytomedicine*, 23(6), 566-573.
- Grigoleit, H. G., and Grigoleit, P. (2005). Peppermint oil in irritable bowel syndrome. Phytomedicine, 12(8), 601-606.
- Guenther, M. (2016). Essential oils: A handbook for aromatherapy practice (2nd ed.). London, UK: Singing Dragon.
- Hay, I. C., Jamieson, M., and Ormerod, A. D. (2018). Randomized trial of aromatherapy: Successful treatment for alopecia areata. *Archives of Dermatology*, 134(11), 1349-1352.
- Hur, M. H., Song, J. A., Lee, J., Lee, M. S., and Kim, C. (2007). Effects of aromatherapy on stress: A preliminary study. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing*, 37(7), 1180-1187.
- International Organization for Standardization. (2017). ISO 4720:2017 Essential oils Nomenclature. https://www.iso.org/standard/69315.html
- Isman, M. B. (2000). Plant essential oils for pest and disease management. Crop Protection, 19(8-10), 603-608.
- Juergens, U. R. (2014). Anti-inflammatory properties of the monoterpene 1.8-cineole: Current evidence for co-medication in inflammatory airway diseases. *Drug Research*, 64(12), 638-646.
- Kasper, S., and Anghelescu, I. (2015). An orally administered Lavandula oil preparation (Silexan) for anxiety disorder and related conditions: An evidence-based review. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*, 19(4), 242-252.
- Khan, M. S. A., Ahmad, I., and Cameotra, S. S. (2019). Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and their components against multidrug-resistant pathogens. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 31(5), 365-374.
- Koulivand, P. H., Khaleghi Ghadiri, M., and Gorji, A. (2013). Lavender and the nervous system. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2013, 681304.
- Lawless, J. (2013). The encyclopedia of essential oils: The complete guide to the use of aromatic oils in aromatherapy, herbalism, health, and well-being. London, UK: HarperCollins.
- Manion, C. R., and Widder, R. M. (2017). Essentials of essential oils. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74(9), e153-e162.
- National Association for Holistic Aromatherapy. (2021). Safety information.
- Perry, N., and Perry, E. (2006). Aromatherapy in the management of psychiatric disorders: Clinical and neuropharmacological perspectives. CNS Drugs, 20(4), 257-280.
- Regnault-Roger, C., Vincent, C., and Arnason, J. T. (2012a). Biopesticides of plant origin. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Regnault-Roger, C., Vincent, C., and Arnason, J. T. (2012b). Essential oils in insect control: Low-risk products in a high-stakes world. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 57, 405-424.
- Ríos, J. L. (2016). Essential oils: What they are and how the terms are used and defined. In V. R. Preedy (Ed.), Essential oils in food preservation, flavor and safety (pp. 3-10). Academic Press.
- Sadgrove, N., and Jones, G. L. (2015). A contemporary introduction to essential oils: Chemistry, bioactivity, and prospects for Australian agriculture. *Agriculture*, 5(1), 48-102.
- Tisserand, R., and Young, R. (2013). Essential oil safety: A guide for health care professionals. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Tisserand, R., and Young, R. (2014). Essential oil safety: A guide for health care professionals (2nd ed.). Edinburgh, UK: Churchill Livingstone.
- Vostinaru, O., Heghes, S. C., and Filip, L. (2020). Safety profile of essential oils. In V. R. Preedy (Ed.), Essential oils-bioactive compounds, new perspectives and applications (pp. 1-13). Springer.

Essential Oils for Health

Rida Amjad^{*1}, Shahid Ali⁴, Kashif Ali², Sobia Malik³, Shabab Zahra³, Jawaria Farooq³, Urooj Nazir¹, Zain Raza¹ and Umm-e-Abiha³

¹Department of Zoology, Faculty of Chemical and Biological Sciences, TheIslamia University Bahawalpur

²Department of Zoology, Division of Science and Techonology, University of Education Lahore, Pakistan

³Department of Zoology, Government Sadiq College Women University Bahawalpur

⁴Department of Physical Education and Sport Science, Faculty of Social Sciences, Thelslamia University Bahawalpur *Corresponding author: ridaamjad11@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Essential oils, aromatic compounds extracted from various parts of plants, have been utilized for centuries across diverse cultures for their therapeutic properties. Essential oils possess a myriad of bioactive components, including terpenes, phenolics, and ketones, which contribute to their pharmacological effects. Research indicates that essential oils exhibit antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and analgesic properties, among others. These properties make them valuable in managing various health conditions, including respiratory ailments, skin disorders, anxiety, and stress. Different mechanisms of extraction of oils are present like steam distillation, Hydro distillation, superfluid extraction, microwave assisted and Ultrasound assisted extraction. Essential oils represent a promising avenue for promoting health and well-being, offering natural alternatives for managing a wide range of health concerns. Continued exploration and integration of these botanical extracts into healthcare practices hold the potential to enhance holistic approaches to health maintenance and disease management. This chapter provides an overview of the current understanding of essential oils and their potential health benefits.

KEYWORDS	Received: 28-Jun-2024	CUENTINC ARE	A Publication of
Essential Oils, Composition; Extraction methods; Health; Benefits	Revised: 29-Jul-2024		Unique Scientific
	Accepted: 18-Aug-2024	SUSP [®]	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Amjad R, Ali S, Ali K, Malik S, Zahra S, Farooq J, Nazir U, Raza Z and Umm-e-Abiha, 2024. Essential oils for health. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 244-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.434</u>

INTRODUCTION

In reference to the notion of "Quinta essentia" developed by the renowned German-Swiss physician and alchemist Paracelsus (1493–1541), the term "essential oil" was coined in the 16th century. Paracelsus established the function of alchemy through the creation of herbal remedies and plant extracts. According to him, the distillation method was utilized to extract the most vital component of the plant, which he termed the "soul" or "essence for healing." This was achieved by distinguishing the "essential" and "non-essential" constituents (Dhifi et al., 2016).

According to the European Pharmacopoeia (Ph. Eur.) and the "Association Francaise de Normalisation" (Association Francaise de Normalisation, 2000), "essential oil" is a substance derived from a naturally occurring raw material derived from plants. It can be extracted through dry distillation, mechanical extraction, or distillation with water or steam from the epicarp of citrus sp. fruits. Subsequently, the aqueous phase is physically isolated from the essential oil (Buch, 2022; Do et al., 2015).

Concept of Actual essential oil

Frequently, every plant is capable of producing essential oils, albeit in minute quantities and in unhealthy proportions. The assemblage of plants that yield essential oil, which holds significant commercial value, is referred to as the oil producing plants (Chlodwin and Novak, 2010). In general, essential oils are found in higher plants, of which there are approximately 17,500 known species. However, certain plant families, such as *Zingiberaceae, Poaceae, Apiaceae, Umbelliferae, Asteraceae, Lamiaceae, Rutaceae, Compositae, Lauraceae, Cupressaceae, Acoraceae, Rosaceae, Oleaceae, Myristricaceae, Myrtaceae,* and others, contain essential oils in healthy quantities (Butnariu and Sarac, 2018; Nieto, 2017; Rahman, 2016).

Variety of Essential Oil

Two types of oils are synthesized by plants: regular and essential oils. Fixed oils are esters composed of a glycerol molecule that is triacylglycerols or triglycerides, to which three fatty acids are affixed. Essential oils (EOs), which are also
referred to as fundamentals, flammable oils, ether oils, or aetheroleum, are intricate amalgamations of lipophilic, odoriferous, and volatile constituents that are frequently encountered in aromatic plants (Schmidt, 2010). Except for cinnamon, sassafras, and vetiver, a great deal of oils that are essential are colorless to light yellow, watery at the ambient temperature, and are lighter than water. Furthermore, certain chemical constituents of essential oils are optically active, soluble in the majority of organic solvents (e.g., ether, alcohol, acetone), and do not dissolve in water (Such, 2022).

Part of plant from where we extract EO's

Typically, essential oils constitute a negligible portion of the dried matter of plants (less than 5%). They are found within specialized secretory structures, including glandular trichomes, oil cells, and secretory ducts or cavities. Seeds, foliage, the bark, fruit, vegetation, tree blossoms, roots, forests, and bulbs can all yield volatile or oily substances shown in table 1 (Souiy, 2023).

Parts	Plants	References
Leaves	Cinnamon, eucalyptus, mint, oregano, pine, tea tree, lemon grass, basil etc.	(Souiy, 2023;
Flowers	Clove, cumin, rose, lavender, jasmine, orange, tarragon etc.	Durczyńska et al.,
Fruit	Black pepper, nutmeg and xanthoxylum.	2024).
Bark	Cinnamon and cassia.	
Wood	Atlas, camphor, sandal, rosewood etc.	
Seeds	Cumin, nutmeg, fennel, anise, almond etc.	

Table 1: Parts of plant material containing EO's.

Composition of Essentials oils

Essential oils (EOs) consist of a diverse array of lipophilic and nonpolar components (60–300) with low molecular weight and varying concentrations. Among these components, two or three appear to be the most significant: terpenoids, which are straight-chain compounds devoid of side chains; aromatic and phenolic components; sulfured derivatives; and straight-chain compounds (without side chains) (Baptiste, 2020). The variation in flavor and aroma of essential oils is profoundly influenced by factors such as the type of plant, harvest season, geographic location, dehydration methods, and extraction techniques (Baptiste, 2020; Dima and Dima, 2015). Terpenoids and polypropanoids comprise the primary volatile components of essential oils (Pandey et al., 2023).

Terpenoids and terpenes

Terpenes are secondary metabolites found in plants and are composed of isoprene (2-methylbuta-1,3-diene) units as their carbon backbone (Sadgrove, 2022). In plant cells, the mevalonic acid pathway leads to the synthesis of terpenes. Terpenoids are produced through a variety of biochemical processes, including oxidation and rearrangement of terpenes. Terpenoids are produced through biochemical modifications of oxidized derivatives of terpenes, including esters, ethers, acids, alcohols, ketones, and aldehydes.

Terpenoids constitute the most extensive category of phytochemicals, consisting of approximately 40,000 distinct compounds that have been identified through the process of metabolism (primary and secondary) (Lichtfouse, 2013). An annual addition is made to this category of natural products. Terpenoids can be broadly categorized into four distinct groups: authentic terpenes, saponins, cardiac glycosides, and steroids. These four classes of compounds are typically found in essential oils derived from plants and are found in virtually all biological systems (Sousa et al., 2023).

Hemiterpenes

Hemiterpenes constitute a negligible portion of the terpene composition found in essential oils. In general, these consist of the ester, aldehyde, and alcoholic groups attached to the 2-methylbutane skeleton (Sell, 2010). Hemiterpenes are exceedingly rare in essential oils, comprising fewer than one hundred (Ludwiczuk et al., 2017).

Monoterpenes

Certain essential oils contain monoterpenes, which are molecules with a low molecular weight and larger concentrations (>90%). Consequently, these molecules play a role in the development of a distinct odor exhibited by an herb (Bakkali et al., 2008). Monoterpenes are nearly ubiquitous in plant essential oils and contain a pair of bonds in their structural moiety. These monoterpenes are commonly implicated in plant-to-plant and plant-to-animal interactions, including allelopathic agents, seed dispersal, and fruit dissemination. Monoterpenes, which have over thirty fundamental skeletons, can be classified into three distinct subgroups: acyclic, monocyclic, and bicyclic (Sousa et al., 2023).

Sesquiterpenes

Another significant category of principal constituent terpenes found in essential oils are sesquiterpenes, which have a lower volatility than monoterpenes. These are generated through the fusion of three isoprene units, thereby enhancing their structural versatility. Different forms of sesquiterpenes result from combining all of these three isoprene units: linear, monocyclic, bicyclic, and tricyclic (Sousa et al., 2023).

Diterpenes

Diterpenes, which are chemically and structurally more complex, are rarely encountered as leftovers during the process of essential oil extraction and are typically found in association with plant resin. The high molecular weight of these compounds is a result of the C20 skeleton, rendering these individuals less volatile as well as less abundant in comparison to monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes (Avila, 2020).

Extraction Methods

Extraction procedures are applied to aromatic herbs or their constituent parts, including fruits, leaves, flowers, bark, and seeds, which are gathered at particular phases of maturation and then preserved under controlled conditions (including temperature, light, and humidity). Extraction techniques can be broadly categorized into two groups: traditional, conventional methods and novel approaches. Traditional approaches involve the thermal distillation of water to extract essential oils (EOs) from plant material. However, there have been advancements in extraction technologies that aim to address certain drawbacks associated with conventional methods. The procedure is conducted using energy sources that contribute to its environmental friendliness (Faugno, 2019).

Classical Methods

Hydrodistillation

EO extraction by hydrodistillation is the most ancient and straightforward process. By submerging the raw material in scalding water, which ensures an immediate interaction between the solvent being used and the plant stuff, this technique is distinguished (Presti, 2005). Here, the cellular walls are shattered, the oil and water evaporate, and the resulting vapor is a combination of water and volatile vegetable raw material chemicals. The immiscibility of volatile chemicals and water allows for additional separation by differential intensity (McLellan, 2016). Despite being the most ancient technique, hydrodistillation continues to be employed in the present day to extract hydrocarbons from various matrices. By employing this methodology, the essential oils of *Zingiberofficinale, Rosmarinusofficinalis L., Ziziphoraclinopodioides L., and Citrus latifolia Tanaka* are extracted.

Steam Distillation

Distillation by steam is one of the most popular techniques for extracting EOs. The extraction process operates on the identical principles that govern hydrodistillation. Primarily, the distinction is that the time required to extract the substrate from the water is shortened due to the lack of physical contact between the two. The specimen is positioned within a column, with the lower portion being linked to a beaker containing water that is being heated. The steam is directed through the sample, transferring essential oils to the condenser, which is attached to the top section. The water-oil mixture undergoes condensation as a result of this procedure; this mixture is amenable to liquid-liquid extraction (Irmak, 2008). Commercial and industrial-scale applications of this approach include essential oil (EO) extraction from hops and other plants, including lavender and patchouli.

Organic Solvent Extraction

Certain essential oils (including jasmine and rose) lack thermal stability and cannot tolerate high temperatures. When this is the case, inexpensive organic solvents with low boiling points and chemical inertness may be utilized. Organic solvent extraction involves subjecting the sample to immersion in an organic solvent for a designated duration, such as hexane, benzene, toluene, or petroleum ether, among others. This contact facilitates the transfer of the sample's soluble components. Evaporation of the solvent from the liquid phase concentrates the extracted matrix. The conventional method most frequently employed in the field of cosmetics is solvent extraction (Zhang et al., 2018).

Cold Pressing

By cold pressing, essential oils are extracted mechanically, through which the oil glands are ruptured and volatile substances are liberated. During this procedure, an aqueous dispersion is generated, from which the oil can be extracted using fractional distillation, centrifugation, or decantation. The cold pressing technique is primarily employed for the purpose of extracting oils from citrus produce (Faugno, 2019).

Innovative Methods

Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)

In response to the demand for energy-efficient and environmentally sustainable extraction techniques, microwaveassisted extraction has emerged as a viable substitute for traditional methods. By subjecting the sample to a microwave reactor devoid of any solvent, the internal temperature of the sample cells is elevated as a result of the process of evaporation of the moisture induced by the electromagnetic energy conversion to heat. The rupture of the glands results in the discharge of the essential oil as the internal pressure rises (Kataoka, 2018). This methodology was employed to extract various essential oils from plant matrices, including basil, laurel, lemon, orange, rosemary, and mint (Sakkas and Papadopoulou, 2017).

Table 2: List of advantages and disadvantages of EO;'s extraction methods

Method type	Method Name	Advantages	Disadvantages	Referenc	es	
Conventional	Hydrodistillation	- versatile	- no complete extraction	(Sousa	et	al,
		- Easy to apply	 high cost of energy 	2022;	So	uiy,
		- selective	- long duration	2023; M	urti	et
	Steam distillation	- less cost	 longer extractions 	al., 2023)	•	
		- less time	 higher cost compound to long time)		
	Organic solvent	- simple cheap	- more time			
	extraction	- efficient	- more use of solvent			
		- suitable for small scale	- toxic effects			
	Cold pressing	-inexpensive	 Not complete extraction 			
		- simple	- Not feasible for low oil	I		
		 suitable for production of citrus oils 	samples			
Innovative	Microwave-	-High reproducibility	- filtration required at the	;		
	assisted	- low solvent use	end			
		- low energy				
		- simple				
		- more yield				
	Ultrasound-	- simple	difficult to scale up			
	assisted	- Inexpensive	- high energy use			
		-Less time				
		- Less solvent use				
	Superficial fluid	- less time	- high cost of equipment,	,		
	extraction	- less toxic	installation and operation			
		 solvent free extract 				

Ultrasound-Assisted Extraction (UAE)

With the help of ultrasound, essential oil extraction can be amplified. So, to speed up mass transfer and the extraction process, it is typically used in conjunction with other extraction procedures. Under ultrasonic scanning, the sample is immersed in a solvent. Essential oils are released by mechanically vibrating the sample's walls and membranes, which is accomplished by rapidly moving the solvent through the sample. It is already being utilized on a big scale in various fields, like the food and medical industries, to improve the extracted substrate's quality, cut down on labor time, and boost yield (Picó, 2013).

Supercritical Fluid Extraction (SCFE)

Supercritical solvents include a variety of chemicals, including water, CO2, methane, ethylene, and ethane. The most used solvent, however, is carbon dioxide (CO2) because of its cheap cost, lack of flammability, low toxicity, and ease of reaching its critical point (low temperature, 31.2°C, and pressure, 72.9 atm, respectively. The oils are dissolved and extracted by passing the sample through supercritical fluid once the optimal extraction temperature and pressure have been chosen. When the pressure in the extraction solution drops below the critical point, the supercritical fluid becomes a gas and can no longer be used as a solvent; this process is then repeated (Yanga and Hu, 2014). This technique is finding more and more commercial usage in the extraction of essential oils from a variety of plant leaves, including those of the horseradish tree, laurel, rosemary, sage, and blooming plants (Baskar et al., 2019).

Examples of different plants to get EO's

Rosemary essential oil

There were two different ways that the essential oil may be retrieved from the various plant components.

Hydrodistillation

A solution will be prepared by combining water with rosemary powder or leaves. The essential oil would be extracted at a temperature of 80°C. It is possible to run the process in a Clevenger-type equipment until no more oil can be extracted. Steam has the ability to evaporate essential oils. Essential oil plus steam vapors condensed as they traveled through a condenser. Separation of the oil-and-water condensate is the next step. Because it is lighter than water, essential oil can be collected by settling it on top (McLellan, 2016).

Steam Distillation

When the steam is turned on, a batch of 100–200 g of ground and dried rosemary leaves will be put into the column by 2000 ml of water. The packed bed will be formed using the raw material. Once the cover is shut, steam is injected into

the column to initiate the distillation process. Various steam flow rates will be applied to each plant bed. Every 5,15,30,60, and 100 minutes, we will collect the condensed steam and essential oil. The mixture will decant into its respective oil and water phases after condensation. After collection, the essential oil will be dried using anhydrous sodium sulfate as the drying agent and kept at 4oC until analysis (Aasima et al., 2024).

Lavender essential Oil

The fresh or partially dried leaves of the lavender plant are steam distilled to release their essential oil. As a result of less polar component loss, this method produces more oil than others. Lavender is usually harvested in the month of June. A still is filled with compressed lavender blossoms. With fewer pockets of air in the still, the oil production is increased. After that, the lavender flower is filled to the base and steam-rolled at low pressure using a boiler. Once the heating process is complete, a pipe carrying cold water is threaded through the still's core, releasing the oil-filled lavender flower pockets. After passing through a cold pipe with water, the steam from the heated lavender oil condenses into a reservoir where it can cool and settle. The oil and water will separate in the holding tank as a result of their different densities and polarities; then, the water will be piped out, leaving just the lavender essential oil (Jagdish, 2019).

Castor Oil

The solvent extraction method is the most typical approach. These involve mixing ground seeds with organic liquid chemicals like hexane (C6H14), filtering the mixture, and finally heating it to about 150 °C to evaporate the solvents. In order to refine the retrieved castor oil, hydrochloric acid is utilized to activate the clay. The extracted oil is neutralized by adding sodium hydroxide and sodium chloride. The oil obtained from the extraction procedure is modified using concentrated sulphuric acid (H2SO4), which is subsequently neutralized with sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Qian et al., 2010). This method is often reserved for usage in laboratories because to its expensive cost and the fact that it utilizes solvents and operates at high temperatures.

Tea tree Essential Oil

Tea tree oil is obtained by steam distillation of the leaves and the ends of the branches. The condensed water distillate is next filtered to remove the oil, which ranges in color from clear to pale yellow. Oil typically extracts between 1% and 2% of the dry plant matter. Although solvent extraction, CO2 supercritical extraction, and distillation are alternative methods of essential oil extraction, steam distillation is still the method of choice for most commercially available oils. It is the best method for distilling vegetative materials because it is the most traditional, easy-to-use method of obtaining essential oils. In addition to producing steam that is readily available, inexpensive, safe, and recyclable, this process also causes no modifications to the essential oil's content during extraction. Consequently, stream distillation can be used to recover crude TTO, which accounts for 35-45% of the volume of Terpinen-4-ol (Hammer et al., 2006).

Mode of action of EO's

A distinct action mechanism for EOs is difficult to describe because of their highly varied compositions. It is true that a chemical may impact some tumor types while having no effect on others. To illustrate the point, research by Murata et al (2014) demonstrated that 1, 8-cineole/eucalyptol can cause human colon cancer cells to undergo apoptosis. On the other hand, according to Bayala et al (2014), this molecule does not impact the survival of prostate cancer and glioblastoma cells. The cell cycle, cell proliferation, and/or death are some of the mechanisms that could be observed, depending on how the active chemicals are enriched. The chemical makeup of an essential oil, specifically its principal functional groups (alcohols, phenols, terpene compounds, and ketone), is typically associated with its biological action.

Bioactivity and different Applications of essential oils

Place in biological research related activities

Due to their extraordinary potential of pharmacological actions and inclination to operate as natural preservatives, essential oils are currently a subject of significant relevance in research and various sectors (Rathore et al., 2023). Numerous studies have confirmed the beneficial effects of essential oils on the environment. Interactions between plants and animals, such as those that serve to ward off predators or restrict germination, or between plants and insects, such as those that aid in pollination, are among the most well-known (Gasmi et al., 2013).

Because microbial degradation can be harmful to customers' health, industries always seek out cosmetics with antimicrobial safety. Cosmetics formulated with essential oils can provide natural antibacterial protection due to their potent antimicrobial properties. Aromatherapy, agriculture (as an insecticide), food technology (as a flavoring agent for drinks, foods, spices, and preservatives), perfumery (as a perfume), and pharmacy (as a healer) all rely heavily on drugs containing essential oils. Essential oils are widely esteemed in the field of plant chemotaxonomy due to their life and significance (VWni et al., 2020).

For cancer cure

Inflammatory and oxidative disorders were the initial targets for the identification and use of most EOs. According to Sharma (2022), there is a connection between the formation of reactive oxygen species and the oxidation and

inflammation that can cause cancer, suggesting that these essential oils may also possess anticancer properties. Essential oils (EOs) induce programmed cell death of cancer cells via apoptosis, necrosis, arrest of cell cycle, and dysfunctioning of main cell organelles as shown in figure 2). This is coordinated by an increase in membrane fluidity of the affected cell, reduced adenosine triphosphate (ATP) generation, alteration in pH gradient, and loss of mitochondrial potential, which are the major precursors of cell death (Sharma, 2022).



Fig. 2: Apoptosis in cancer cells due to Essential Oil (Sharma, 2022).

Prostate cancer

According to a study conducted by Quassinti et al (2013), the essential oil of *Hypericumhircinum L*. subsp. Majus exhibited antiproliferative effects in human prostatic adenocarcinoma (PC3). The apoptotic effect was observed in human prostate cancer cells that were hormone-dependent (LNCaP) or hormone-independent (PC-3), but not in epithelial cells (RWPE-1), when exposed to jacaric acid and four of its octadecatrienoic geo isomers (Gasmi, 2013). There was a notable reduction in prostate cancer cell proliferation when Pinus wallichiana EO was administered.

It was shown that the volatile oil of Solanum Eryanthum leaves had a strong inhibitory effect on PC-3 cells (Essien et al., 2012). According to Quassinti et al. (2013), Hypericum hircinum's glioblastoma essential oil showed antiproliferative effects on T98G human.

Colon Cancer and Ovary Cancer

Geraniol, a monoterpene present in essential oils of many plants, has the potential to represent a novel class of cancer chemo preventive medicines due to its antiproliferative effects on Caco-2 colon cancer cells (Garzoli et al., 2022). The ovary cells of Chinese hamsters were killed by the essential oil of Cymbopogon Citratus. The CHOK1 cells were inhibited by 68.3% when exposed to the essential oil of Malus Domestica leaves at a concentration of 1000 µg/ml. According to research conducted by Poviessi et al. (2014) the most potent inhibitor of human ovarian cancer cells HO-8910 was the volatile oil derived from the roots of Patrinia Scabra Bunge.

Liver Cancer and Bone Cancer

Essential oils extracted from N. variabillima leaves had a cytotoxic effect on human liver cancer. The essential oils of Zanthoxylum Schinifolium caused human hepatoma cells to undergo cell death (Su et al., 2013). HepG2 cell line relies on reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation rather than caspase activation (Junior, 2024). The anticancer activity of the volatile oil from Pyrolaeherba against SW1353 cells was found to be dose- and time-dependent. These EOs reduced the number of cells that entered the S phase and lowered the levels of cyclin D1, cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK)4, and CDK6, while raising the levels of p21 (Cai et al., 2013).

For Nervous Disorders

In persons younger than 60 years old and older than 60 years old, respectively, prior research has demonstrated that EOs effectively alleviate symptoms of sadness, anxiety, and stress. For example, people over the age of 60 who inhaled essential oils of chamomile and lavender reported less tension, anxiety, and despair. Suppression of sympathetic nervous system activity was proposed as a possible mechanism for the anxiolytic and antidepressant effects. Furthermore, studies have shown that inhaling lavender essential oil during a panic attack might have positive impacts on physiological health, including lowering blood pressure and respiratory rate (Ebrahimi et al., 2021).

Against Corona Virus

The lung and airways are the initial organs infected with SARS-CoV-2, hence it's beneficial that essential oils are mostly inhaled to target these places. In this way, essential oils have a good opportunity to deflect the binding of SARS-CoV-2 spike proteins to their corresponding ACE2 receptors on the parenchyma of the lung. It is possible to concentrate and distribute EOs with anti-COVID-19 activity into the lung, where they will be able to do their activities. The antimicrobial activity of essential oil vapor is superior than that of liquid EO. The formation of micelles by lipophilic molecules in the aqueous phase of essential oils inhibits their attachment to microbes. On the other hand, fungi are particularly targeted by the vapor phase of EOs because of their surface growth (Reyes- Jurado et al., 2020).

Conclusion

In conclusion, the exploration of essential oils for health within this book chapter underscores their remarkable potential as natural remedies for promoting physical, emotional, and mental well-being. Throughout history, these aromatic extracts have been revered for their therapeutic properties, and modern research continues to unveil their diverse pharmacological effects. From their antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory actions to their ability to alleviate stress and enhance relaxation, essential oils offer a holistic approach to health maintenance and disease management. Their integration into various healthcare practices, including aromatherapy, massage therapy, and herbal medicine, highlights their versatility and accessibility Moreover, ongoing research is necessary to deepen our understanding of their mechanisms of action and potential interactions with conventional medications. As we journey forward, the continued exploration and integration of essential oils into healthcare practices hold the promise of enhancing our ability to address a wide range of health concerns while promoting overall well-being. Through an embrace of nature's wisdom and the healing potential of essential oils, we can set out on a journey towards a more balanced, healthier way of living.

REFERENCES

Association Française de Normalisation (AFNOR) (2000). HuilesEssentielles, Tome 2, Monographies Relatives Aux HuilesEssentielles, 6th ed.; AFNOR, Association Française de Normalisation: Paris, France.

Avila, C. (2020) Terpenoids in Marine Heterobranch Molluscs. Mar. Drugs 18, 162.

- Baskar, G., Kalavathy, G., Aiswarya, R., & Selvakumari, I. A. (2019). Advances in bio-oil extraction from nonedible oil seeds and algal biomass. In Advances in eco-fuels for a sustainable environment (pp. 187-210). Woodhead Publishing.
- Bayala, B., Bassole, I. H., Scifo, R., Gnoula, C., Morel, L., Lobaccaro, J. M. A., & Simpore, J. (2014). Anticancer activity of essential oils and their chemical components-a review. *American journal of cancer research*, 4(6), 591.
- Boutekedjiret, C., Bentahar, F., Belabbes, R., & Bessiere, J. M. (2003). Extraction of rosemary essential oil by steam distillation and hydrodistillation. Flavour and Fragrance Journal, 18(6), 481-484.
- Buch, R. M., Carlson, R. E., and von Fraunhofer, J. A. (2022). Frankincense: an ancient oil in the modern world. Journal of Essential Oil Research, 34(4), 303–312.
- Butnariu M and Sarac IJJOB, (2018). Essential oils from plants. J. Biotechnol. Biomed. Sci, 1(4), 35-43.
- Cai, L., Ye, H., Li, X., Lin, Y., Yu, F., Chen, J., & Liu, X. (2013). Chemical constituents of volatile oil from Pyrolae herba and antiproliferative activity against SW1353 human chondrosarcoma cells. International Journal of Oncology, 42(4), 1452-1458.
- Carnesecchi, S., Schneider, Y., Ceraline, J., Duranton, B., Gosse, F., Seiler, N., & Raul, F. (2001). Geraniol, a component of plant essential oils, inhibits growth and polyamine biosynthesis in human colon cancer cells. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 298(1), 197-200.
- de Sousa, D. P., Damasceno, R. O. S., Amorati, R., Elshabrawy, H. A., de Castro, R. D., Bezerra, D. P., Lima, T. C. (2023). Essential oils: Chemistry and pharmacological activities. Biomolecules, 13(7). doi:10.3390/biom13071144
- Dhifi, W., Bellili, S., Jazi, S., Bahloul, N., & Mnif, W. (2016). Essential oils' chemical characterization and investigation of some biological activities: A critical review. Medicines, 3(4), 25.
- Dima C and Dima S, (2015). Essential oils in foods: extraction, stabilization, and toxicity. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, *5*, 29-35.
- Do, T. K. T., Hadji-Minaglou, F., Antoniotti, S., & Fernandez, X. (2015). Authenticity of essential oils. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 66, 146-157.
- Durczyńska, Zofia and Żukowska, Grażyna. (2024). Properties and Applications of Essential Oils: A Review. Journal of Ecological Engineering. 25. 333-340. 10.12911/22998993/177404.

- Ebadollahi A, (2013). Essential oils isolated from Myrtaceae family as natural insecticides. Annual Review and Research in Biology, 3(3), 148-175.
- Ebrahimi, H., Mardani, A., Basirinezhad, M. H., Hamidzadeh, A., & Eskandari, F. (2022). The effects of Lavender and Chamomile essential oil inhalation aromatherapy on depression, anxiety and stress in older community-dwelling people: A randomized controlled trial. Explore, 18(3), 272-278.
- Essien, E. E., Ogunwande, I. A., Setzer, W. N., & Ekundayo, O. (2012). Chemical composition, antimicrobial, and cytotoxicity studies on S. erianthum and S. macranthum essential oils. Pharmaceutical biology, 50(4), 474-480.
- Faugno, S., Piccolella, S., Sannino, M., Principio, L., Crescente, G., Baldi, G. M., & Pacifico, S. (2019). Can agronomic practices and cold-pressing extraction parameters affect phenols and polyphenols content in hempseed oils?. Industrial crops and products, 130, 511-519.
- Fernández-López J and Viuda-Martos M, (2018). Introduction to the special issue: Application of essential oils in food systems. *Foods*, 7(4), 56.
- Fokou, J. B. H., Dongmo, P. M. J., & Boyom, F. F. (2020). Essential oil's chemical composition and pharmacological properties. In Essential oils-oils of nature. IntechOpen.
- Garzoli, S., Alarcón-Zapata, P., Seitimova, G., Alarcón-Zapata, B., Martorell, M., Sharopov, F., Fokou, P. V. T., Dize, D., Yamthe, L. R. T., Les, F., Cásedas, G., López, V., Iriti, M., Rad, J. S., Gürer, E. S., Calina, D., Pezzani, R., and Vitalini, S. (2022). Natural essential oils as a new therapeutic tool in colorectal cancer. Cancer cell international, 22(1), 407.
- Gasmi, J., & Sanderson, J. T. (2013). Jacaric acid and its octadecatrienoic acid geoisomers induce apoptosis selectively in cancerous human prostate cells: a mechanistic and 3-D structure–activity study. *Phytomedicine*, 20(8-9), 734-742.
- Hammer, K. A., Carson, C. F., Riley, T. V., & Nielsen, J. B. (2006). A review of the toxicity of Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil. *Food and chemical toxicology*, 44(5), 616-625.
- Irmak, S., & Erbatur, O. (2008). Additives for environmentally compatible active food packaging. In Environmentally compatible food packaging (pp. 263-293). Woodhead Publishing.
- Junior, Howard. (2024). The Therapeutic Potential of Essential Oils in Cancer Treatment: A Comprehensive Review. Brazilian Journal of Health Aromatherapy and Essential Oil. 1. bjhae14. 10.62435/2965-7253.bjhae.2024.bjhae14.
- Kataoka H, (2018). Pharmaceutical Analysis| Sample Preparation☆. Reference Module in Chemistry, Molecular Sciences and Chemical Engineering.
- Kpoviessi, S., Bero, J., Agbani, P., Gbaguidi, F., Kpadonou-Kpoviessi, B., Sinsin, B., ... & Quetin-Leclercq, J. (2014). Chemical composition, cytotoxicity and in vitro antitrypanosomal and antiplasmodial activity of the essential oils of four Cymbopogon species from Benin. Journal of ethnopharmacology, 151(1), 652-659.
- Lichtfouse E, 2013. Suistanable Agriculture Reviews., vol. 12, Springer Nature, France, ISBN 978-94-007-5961-9, p. 233.
- Lo Presti, M., Ragusa, S., Trozzi, A., Dugo, P., Visinoni, F., Fazio, A., & Mondello, L. (2005). A comparison between different techniques for the isolation of rosemary essential oil. *Journal of separation science*, 28(3), 273-280.
- Loza-Tavera H, (1999). Monoterpenes in essential oils: biosynthesis and properties. *Chemicals via higher plant bioengineering*, 49-62.
- Ludwiczuk, A., Skalicka-Woźniak, K., & Georgiev, M. I. (2017). Terpenoids. In Pharmacognosy (pp. 233-266). Academic Press. Mansoor K and Lockwood GB, 2007. Gas chromatography| Terpenoids.
- McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 71, 294-312.
- Murata, S., Shiragami, R., Kosugi, C., Tezuka, T., Yamazaki, M., Hirano, A., & Koda, K. (2013). Antitumor effect of 1, 8-cineole against colon cancer. *Oncology reports*, 30(6), 2647-2652.
- Murthy, K. N. C., Jayaprakasha, G. K., & Patil, B. S. (2012). D-limonene rich volatile oil from blood oranges inhibits angiogenesis, metastasis and cell death in human colon cancer cells. Life Sciences, 91(11-12), 429-439.
- Murti, Yogesh and Jain, Divya and SEMWAL, Bhupesh and Singh, Sonia and , Dr. Pracheta and Bhaskar, Pranav. (2023). Innovative methods for extraction of essential oils from medicinal plants. International Journal of Secondary Metabolite. 10. 190-230.
- Nieto, G. (2017). Biological activities of three essential oils of the Lamiaceae family. Medicines, 4(3), 63.
- Paik, S. Y., Koh, K. H., Beak, S. M., Paek, S. H., & Kim, J. A. (2005). The essential oils from Zanthoxylum schinifolium pericarp induce apoptosis of HepG2 human hepatoma cells through increased production of reactive oxygen species. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 28(5), 802-807.
- Pandey, V. K., Tripathi, A., Srivastava, S., Dar, A. H., Singh, R., Farooqui, A., & Pandey, S. (2023). Exploiting the bioactive properties of essential oils and their potential applications in food industry. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 32(7), 885-902.
- Pico, Y. (2013). Ultrasound-assisted extraction for food and environmental samples. TrAC *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 43, 84-99.
- Qian, J., Shi, H., & Yun, Z. (2010). Preparation of biodiesel from Jatropha curcas L. oil produced by two-phase solvent extraction. Bioresource Technology, 101(18), 7025-7031.
- Rafiq, Aasima and Manzoor, Bushra and Nayeem, Mariya and Jabeen, Abida and Amin, Quraazah. (2024). Extraction of essential oils. 10.1016/B978-0-12-819516-1.00005-3.
- Rathore, S., Mukhia, S., Kumar, R., & Kumar, R. (2023). Essential oil composition and antimicrobial potential of aromatic

plants grown in the mid-hill conditions of the Western Himalayas. Scientific Reports, 13(1), 4878.

- Reineccius, G. A. (2007). Flavour-isolation of essential oils. Flavour and Fragrances: Chemistry, Bioprocessing and Sustainability. *Springer-Verlag: Heidelberg*, 409-426.
- Reyes-Jurado, F., Navarro-Cruz, A. R., Ochoa-Velasco, C. E., Palou, E., López-Malo, A., & Ávila-Sosa, R. (2020). Essential oils in vapor phase as alternative antimicrobials: A review. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 60(10), 1641-1650.
 Sadgrove, N. J., Padilla-González, G. F., and Phumthum, M. (2022). Fundamental Chemistry
- Sakkas H and Papadopoulou C, (2017). Antimicrobial Activity of Basil, Oregano, and Thyme Essential Oils. *Journal of microbiology and biotechnology*, 27(3), 429–438.
- Sangwan, N. S., Farooqi, A. H. A., Shabih, F., & Sangwan, R. S. (2001). Regulation of essential oil production in plants. Plant growth regulation, 34, 3-21.
- Schmidt E, (2010). Production of essential oils. In Handbook of Essential Oils. Science, Technology, and Applications; Bas, er, K.H., Buchbauer, G., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp. 83–119.
- Sell C, (2010). Chemistry of essential oils. In Handbook of Essential Oils. Science, Technology, and Applications; Bas, er, K.H., Buchbauer, G., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp. 121–150.
- Sharma, M., Grewal, K., Jandrotia, R., Batish, D. R., Singh, H. P., & Kohli, R. K. (2022). Essential oils as anticancer agents: Potential role in malignancies, drug delivery mechanisms, and immune system enhancement. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 146, 112514.
- Souiy Zoubeida, 2023. Essential Oil Extraction Process. 10.5772/intechopen.113311.
- Storz, P. (2005). Reactive oxygen species in tumor progression. Front biosci, 10(1-3), 1881-1896.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., & Rather, M. A. (2021). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. Microbial Pathogenesis, 152, 104620.
- Wani, A. R., Yadav, K., Khursheed, A., & Rather, M. A. (2021). An updated and comprehensive review of the antiviral potential of essential oils and their chemical constituents with special focus on their mechanism of action against various influenza and coronaviruses. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 152, 104620.
- Xu, Y. Q., Yao, Z. H. I., Hu, J. Y., Teng, J. I. E., Takaishi, Y. O. S. H. I. H. I. S. A., & Duan, H. Q. (2007). Immunosuppressive terpenes from Prinsepia utilis. *Journal of Asian natural products research*, 9(7), 637-642.
- Yang Y and Hu B, 2014. Bio-Based Chemicals from Biorefining: Lipid andWax Conversion and Utilization. In Advances in Biorefineries: Biomass and Waste Supply Chain Exploitation; Keith, W., Ed.;Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, UK.
- Zhang, Q. W., Lin, L. G., & Ye, W. C. (2018). Techniques for extraction and isolation of natural products: A comprehensive review. *Chinese medicine*, 13, 1-26.

Chapter 29

Role of Essential Oils in Aquatic Health: New Technique for Management of Disease without Inducing Resistance in Pathogens

Rabia Maqsood¹*, Khalid Abbas¹, Hareem Fayyaz¹, Ayesha Shahid Baig¹Fatima Raza¹, Kainaat Azam¹, Wajeeha Javaid, Isha Rizwan², and Bushra¹

¹Department of Zoology, Wildlife and Fisheries, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan ²Department of Zoology, University of Sialkot, Sialkot, Pakistan *Corresponding author: rabiamagsood331@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Because of increased incidence of antibiotic resistance and environmental contamination in aquaculture industry the application of essential oils (EOs) has become a popular alternative approach. This chapter provides comprehensive details about potential of EOs to combat the fish diseases, highlighting the best alternative to traditional antibiotics. This antimicrobial activities of EOs is due to their unique mode of action, as they disrupt regular cellular functions and structures, hence, show equal tendency against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. Bacterial motility and invasion mechanisms along with virulence is inhibited after the application of EOs, indicating higher efficacy of EOs against these aquatic pathogens. A number of studies have reported the controlling impact of EOs against infections induced by bacterial species including *Pseudomonas, Vibrio, Flavobacterium* and *Aeromonas* species. Other than this, efficacy of EOs against various fish pathogens i.e., *Nocardia, Lactococcus* and *Streptococcus spp* is notable. Anyhow, it is important to consider practical applications of EOs such as selected dose, application methods and expected impacts on aquaculture. The main challenge in establishing the EOs industry is to standardized formulations and optimization of their efficacy with regards to diverse aquatic conditions. Essential oils provide an alternate options for disease management in aquaculture and by harnessing their antimicrobial properties we can overcome antimicrobial resistance along with environmental contamination, ensuring the sustainability of aquatic environments.

KEYWORDS Essential Oils; Reproductive Disorders; Menstrual Disorders; Polycystic Ovary Syndrome; Infertility; Menopausal Symptoms; Hormonal Balance	Received: 12-June-2024 Revised: 18-July-2024 Accepted: 12-Aug-2024		A Publication of Unique Scientific Publishers
---	--	--	---

Cite this Article as: Maqsood R, Abbas K, Fayyaz H, Baig AH, Raza F, Azam K, Javaid W, Rizwan I and Bushra, 2024. Role of essential oils in aquatic health: new technique for management of disease without inducing resistance in pathogens. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 253-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.457</u>

INTRODUCTION

Essential oils (EOs) are those compounds that are derivative of plants and known since ancient times due to its applications in folk medicine and perfumery industries. Numerous parasitic diseases afflict animals, and essential oils play a vital role in their treatments (Toor et al., 2024). EOs compositions depend on various factors including environmental situations (temperature, humidity, sunlight and soil quality), plant part that used for extraction (fruits, leaves, roots, bark and wood), extraction technique and harvesting season. Because of this much variabilities, there always remains a need to adjust doses accordingly to maximize the therapeutic impact of these compounds. Overall, it is important to adjust the required dose carefully and selection should be done by considering composition and efficacy of EOs against selected pathogens accordingly.

Substantial variations have been detected not only among various bacterial species but also among strains within a single species. Essential oils mainly disrupt the bacterial cellular structure, resulting in compromised membrane integrity and the disruption of various cellular functions, together with membrane transport and energy production. Additionally, ruptured cell membrane can result cellular component leakage along with ions loss (Ebani and Mancianti, 2020). Thus, EOs play a significant role in reducing bacterial virulence and impeding mechanisms related to bacterial invasion and motility (Bektaş and Özdal, 2022). The investigation into the antibacterial properties of EOs has garnered growing attention, particularly due

to the need for alternative treatments against antibiotic-resistant strains infections as these strains pose a serious threat in both veterinary and human medicine.

In Gram-positive bacteria, the unique cell wall structure facilitates the diffusion of hydrophobic molecules like EOs, allowing them to be functional both in cytoplasm and on the cell wall (Nazzaro et al., 2013). Anyhow, Gram-negative bacteria due to complex bilayer membrane show resistance against antibacterial compounds when compared with Grampositive bacteria as they have single membrane (Savage, 2001). However, it's noteworthy that the second membrane of Gram-negative bacteria is not entirely impermeable to hydrophobic molecules, as some can slowly penetrate through porins (Sutili et al., 2018).

Harnessing the Power of Essential Oils for Enhanced Aquatic Health

Essential oils usually extracted from geranium (Pelargonium graveolens) and lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) leaves by using hydro-distillation method, and through gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC-MS) their chemical compositions analyzed. The findings from Al-Sagheer et al. (2018) study indicate notable improvements in growth performance, enhanced antioxidant and immune activities and reduced pathogenic bacterial loads in Oreochromis niloticus fish through the supplementation of their diets with essential oils extracted from P. graveolens and C. citratus. Both Geranium and Lemongrass EOs in vitro application revealed inhibitory effects against pathogenic Aeromonas sobria and A. hydrophila. Moreover, there was a clear reduction of oxidative stress in fish that were receiving EOs as indicated by increased catalase activity and reduced glutathione activity in fish plasma. Similarly, EOs applications enhanced IgM level and lysozyme activity in fish. Water and intestinal analysis indicated reduced bacterial counts, specifically Aeromonas and Coliform species. The beneficial effects of dietary supplementation of Thymus vulgaris EOs is remarkable in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Thymol, cymene and terpinene are the key compounds and use of *Thymus vulgaris* EOs significantly enhanced the growth of fish as indicated by parameters such as weight gain, length gain, daily growth coefficient and specific growth rate. In fish, gene expression analysis indicated a high regulation of immune related genes including interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß), component C3, CD4, and lysozyme. Moreover, serum lysozyme activity was notably higher and enzyme assays indicated varying levels of aspartate transaminase, alkaline phosphatase and alanine transaminase. Following challenge with Aeromonas hydrophila, fish fed TVEO-supplemented diets exhibited significantly higher relative percent survival (RPS) compared to the control group, suggesting enhanced disease resistance (Zargar et al., 2019).

The microbial presence in fish is significantly influenced by the level of microbiological contamination in their aquatic habitats and the hygienic conditions maintained during various stages such as cultivation, harvesting, during processing, in storage and in transportation process (Alerte et al., 2012; Fuertes Vicente et al., 2018). Various bacterial infections affecting fish, such as Aeromonas septicemia, Edwardsiellosis, Columnaris, Streptococcosis, and vibriosis, pose significant challenges to the aquaculture industry. Despite the diverse range of pathogens, few of these are responsible for substantial economic losses globally (El-Ekiaby, 2019).

Targeting Aeromonas Species: Harnessing Herbal Essential Oils for Pathogen Control

Aeromonas species, for instance, are prevalent bacterial pathogens found in freshwater and tropical fish species, often leading to bacterial hemorrhage in fish populations. Among these, *Aeromonas salmonicida* stands out as one of the oldest and most widespread fish pathogens, affecting both freshwater and marine species, infection commonly include skin ulceration and hemorrhages (Menanteau-Ledouble et al., 2016). This bacterial species has long been identified as the primary agent responsible for induction furunculosis in fish. Motile Aeromonas septicemia in fish is commonly caused by bacteria such as *A. hydrophila*, *A. veronii* and *A. sobria*. Moreover, various *Aeromonas* species are known to induce disease in fish (Mzula et al., 2019). Infections caused by *A. hydrophila* are linked to a range of symptoms, including red body disease, hemorrhagic septicemia, epizootic ulcerative syndrome, edema and hemorrhagic enteritis. These infections impact various cultivable finfish species such as Goldfish, Common Carps, Catfish, Eel, and Tilapia (Thirumalaikumar et al., 2021).

Antimicrobial properties of certain herbs derived EOs have been evaluated by certain experts against *A. salmonicida*. Hayatgheib et al. (2020) reported minimum inhibitory concentration and minimum bactericidal concentration fall between 113 to \geq 3628 µg/mL. Those herbs which shown maximum efficacy include *Thymus vulgaris, Eugenia caryophyllata, Cinnamomum zeylanicum/verum, Origanum compactum, O. heracleoticum* and *O. vulgare.* Moreover, against *A. salmonicida* 18 isolates, antimicrobial properties of essential oils derived from *O. vulgare, O. onites* and *Thymbra spicata* have been reported. In a study, Tural et al. (2019) reported that essential oils collected from *T. vulgaris, Petroselinum crispum, Laurus nobilis* and *Laurus nobilis* have significant inhibitory effects against *A. salmonicida* with a zone diameter of 30mm. Starliper et al. (2015) reported a higher inhibitory activity of *Cinnamomum cassia* EO against *A. salmonicida* with zone diameter of 56mm.

Essential oil collected from *T. vulgaris* shown efficacy against *A. sobria* and *A. veronii* (Tural et al., 2019). Additionally, Gulec et al. (2014) determined 32.7mm zone diameter of *Origanum acutidens* essential oil against *A. hydrophila*. Moreover, *C. aromaticum*, *C. cassia*, *O. vulgare* and *Cymbopogon citratus* essential oils have found to be effective to control various strains of *Aeromonas*, including *A. salmonicida*, *A. hydrophila* and *A. veronii* with mean percentage minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) values ranging from 0.02% to 0.65% ((Starliper et al., 2015).

Potential of Essential Oils in Mitigating Vibrio-induced Vibriosis

Throughout history, members of the Vibrionaceae family have posed significant infectious threats to marine fish species (Schiewe et al., 1981). Vibriosis poses a significant challenge to fishery market worldwide, impacting a diverse group aquaculture animals. Two main species including *Vibrio anguillarum* and *V. harveyi* are survivor of both marine and freshwater environments and induce vibriosis in a number of economically important fish species. The more severe hemorrhagic septicemia cases in Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and Japanese seaperch (*Lateolabrax japonicus*) are usually induced by *V. anguillarum*. In aquaculture industry, its outbreaks usually result in extensive fish mortality and substantial economic losses (Yang et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2021).

Research investigating the antimicrobial properties of EOs from *C. verum*, *C. citratus*, *T. vulgaris*, *M. alternifolia* and *O. vulgare* against *V. parahaemolyticus*, *V. harveyi*. *V. campbellii* and *V. vulnificus* and the results against *Vibrio* spp. have revealed moderate to weak inhibitory impacts of these selected EOs (Domínguez-Borbor et al., 2020). Similarly, Wei and Wee (2013) demonstrated that EO from *Cymbopogon nardus* revealed potent inhibitory effects against *Vibrio damsel* and *Vibrio spp*. with 0.488µg/mL and 0.244µg/mL MIC values, respectively. Likewise, *T. vulgaris* EO with MIC values 80 µg/mL against *V. ordalii* was reported to induce strong inhibitory effect (Navarrete et al., 2010). Lee et al. (2009) reported a significant activity of *Syzygium aromaticum* EO against six different *Vibrio* spp. isolates, with 0.015µg/mL MIC values.

On the other hand, EOs of O. vulgare subspecies including O. marjorana, O. Hirtum and O. onites EOs shown inhibitory effects on Listonella anguillarum, V. splendidus and V. alginolyticus with 9.1-14.1mm, 7.3-14.3mm and 7.8-13.6mm zone diameters, respectively (Stefanakis et al., 2013). Additionally, Öntaş et al. (2016) reported marked activity for EO of Argania spinosa, with 62.5µL/mL MIC value against L. anguillarum.

Potential of Essential Oils in Combating Pseudomonas Infections in Aquaculture

Pseudomonas anguilliseptica is commonly categorized as opportunistic pathogen that impacts a number of fish species in both brackish and marine water aquaculture operations globally. Initially in Japanese eel farming it was identified as the causative agent behind red spot disease, since then it has been detected in various other regions, infecting both wild and cultured fish. Among affected species are Black Sea Bream, European Eel, Atlantic Salmon, Whitefish, Ayu, Sea Trout, Rainbow Trout, Baltic Herring, Orange-Spotted Grouper and Striped Jack (López-Romalde et al., 2003; Fadel et al., 2018). Moreover, *P. fluorescens* poses a threat to various farmed fish species. EI-Ekiaby (2019) testified that EO of *Ocimum basilicum* with 9 µL/mL MIC value displayed potent inhibitory activity against *P. fluorescens*. Additionally, Wei and Wee (2013) and Lee et al. (2009) found EOs from *Syzygium aromaticum* and *Cymbopogon nardus* shown marked activity against *P. aeruginosa* and *Pseudomonas spp.*, respectively. The EO from *T. vulgaris* with 640 µg/mL MIC value against *Pseudomonas spp.* exhibited moderate inhibitory effect (Navarrete et al., 2010). In a study, Tural et al. (2019) compared the activity of EOs of *L. nobilis*, *T. vulgaris*, *P. crispum* and *R. officinalis* against *P. fluorescens*, and the EO of *T. vulgaris* demonstrated 26.5mm the highest zone diameter among all. Moreover, EO of *T. vulgaris* also shown 13mm zone diameter and prove to be most effective against *P. aeruginosa*.

Essential Oils in Mitigating Citrobacter Infections in Diverse Fish Species

Citrobacter spp. poses a threat to fish species as an opportunistic pathogen. *C. freundii* is frequently isolated in fish leading to significant damage and high mortality rates. Notable among the *Citrobacter* species, two species *C. freundii* and *C. braakii* cause diseases in fish species (Jeremić et al., 2003; Lü et al., 2011), former is associated with various fish afflictions, including gill lesions, severe kidney disease, severe enteritis and episodes of hemorrhagic septicemia, particularly in catfish species such as *Pseudoplatystoma spp.* (Pádua et al., 2014).

In catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*), this bacterial group induce leukopenia with neutropenia, anemia degenerative disease, reduced renal hematopoietic tissue, leucoblastosis, protein loss, lymphocytosis, liver degeneration, and the presence of melanomacrophage centers in cephalic kidney and spleen, ultimately result in mass mortality of fish (Junior et al., 2018). Tilapia species, including *Oreochromis mossambicus*, often exhibit symptoms such as body reddening, septicemia, tail necrosis and hemorrhage. Due to these infection the Nile tilapia (*O. niloticus*) frequently experiences high mortality rates. Similarly, economically important Rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*) may display dark pigmentation, gastroenteritis, unresponsiveness to external stimuli, incoordination, intestine petechial hemorrhage, bilateral exophthalmia, pale spleen and ultimately mass mortality. Moreover, in cyprinids like *Cyprinus carpio*, the main infection includes systemic infection and hemorrhagic gastroenteritis (Puello-Caballero et al., 2018). For other species such as Eels (*Anguilla japonica*), Angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare*), Freshwater Rays (*Potamotrygon motoro*), Pacu (*Piaractus mesopotamicus*) and shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) infection can lead to bleeding and the formation of hepatic and splenic granulomas (Bandeira et al., 2017).

To overcome various bacterial strains application of essential oils is a better option due to attack mechanism. Anyhow, it is crucial to find out which essential oil is effective against which bacterial strain and species before the selection. It is possible that one specific EO shows moderate, low or high inhibitory effects at the same time against different species. For example, against *C. freundii*, the *O. gratissimum* and *H. ringens* essential oils revealed weak to moderate inhibitory impacts (Bandeira et al., 2017). Nonetheless, *L. origanoides* EO showed moderate inhibitory effect (Majolo et al., 2019). Similarly, Öntaş et al. (2016) testified that *Argania spinosa* EO is operational to overcome *C. freundii* as demonstrated by zone diameter of 15mm. Furthermore, it was reported that *C. nardus* EO revealed MIC=0.244µg/mL for *C. freundii* (Wei and Wee, 2013).

The applications of Essential Oil to Mitigate Risks associated with Raoultella ornithinolytica

Raoultella ornithinolytica, is an encapsulated bacterium that belong to family Enterobacteriaceae. It is an aerobic gramnegative bacillus that is non-mobile and frequently establish its colonies in aquatic habitats. This bacterial species displays high resilience to maintain viability even at 4°C remarkably (Silva et al., 2016). This bacterium is recognized worldwide as a freshly evolving and potentially life-threatening pathogen. Its impact are not only limited to aquatic environments, but also induce infections in humans. It has the conversion ability and do convert histidine to histamine, ultimately induce skin flushing and poisoning leading to scombroid syndrome. The damage induced because of this bacterium create complications and there is urge need to understand and manage *R. ornithinolytica* induced infections (Kanki et al., 2002; Haruki et al., 2014). This pathogen cause considerable losses to aquaculture operations. There are a number of antibiotics available in market to treat this pathogen but there always remains considerable evidence of drug resistance. Anyhow, essential oil derived from *Ocimum gratissimum* shown significant inhibitory effects against *R. ornithinolytica*.

The application of Essential Oils to Combat Nocardia seriolae Infections

In fish the nocardiosis disease is primarily caused by *Nocardia seriolae*, linked through production of granulomas in kidney, spleen, epidermis and gills of crowded fish species. The spreading speed of this disease is slow, hence cause mortalities throughout the culture period gradually (Chen and Tung, 1991; Wang et al., 2007). Due to this disease significant loses have been reported in aquaculture and fisheries sector each year (Wang et al., 2009). A number of fish species including Gray Mullet (*Mugil cephalus*), Japanese Perch (*Lateolabrax japonicus*) and Striped Bass (*Morone saxatilis*) faces mass mortality because of *N. seriolae* infections. Moreover, both wild and culture species have faced an upsurge of *N. seriolae* induced infections. Most commonly affected species include *Trachinotus blochii*, *Epinephelus spp., Scatophagus argus*, *Terapon jarbua*, *Lutjanus erythropterus Leionathus equulus*, and *Lates calcarifer* (Tanekhy et al., 2010). Ismail and Yoshida (2017) conducted a study to assess the efficacy of various essential oils (EOs) against 80 isolates of *Nocardia seriolae*. Their investigation unveiled a broad spectrum of minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values for EOs of *Thymus vulgaris*, *Cinnamomum zeylanicum*, *Melaleuca alternifolia* and *Cymbopogon flexuosus* ranging from 5 to >5120 µg/mL. Notably, EOs of *C. zeylanicum* and *T. vulgaris* emerged as the most potent among the tested herb species to overcome the bacterial species.

Confronting Flavobacterium Challenges by Essential Oils for Aquaculture Health

In marine and freshwater environment the Flavobacterium species are commonly found, presenting significant challenges in aquaculture industry. Within the genus Flavobacterium, three distinct species have been identified as pathogens affecting freshwater and wild fish populations on a global scale. Among this group *F. columnare* cause columnaris disease, while bacterial gill disease induced by *F. branchiophilum* and similarly for cold-water disease *F. psychrophilum* is well known. Research has highlighted that these pathogens exhibit a remarkably broad spectrum of hosts and geographic distribution, making them significant threats to aquatic ecosystems (Orieux et al., 2013; Viel et al., 2021).

The essential oil of *Thymus vulgaris* has been shown to possess potent inhibitory effects with 320µg/mL MIC value against *F. psychrophilum* (Navarrete et al., 2010). Furthermore, *Syzygium aromaticum* EO demonstrated high efficacy against *Flavobacterium spp.*, exhibiting 0.031µg/mL MIC value (Lee et al., 2009), while *Cymbopogon nardus* EO showed susceptibility at 0.977µg/mL MIC value (Wei and Wee, 2013). Moreover, *Rosmarinus officinalis* EO displayed a moderate zone of inhibition, measuring over 18 mm against *F. psychrophilum* (Ostrand et al., 2012). Notably, *Allium tuberosum* EO exhibited significant activity against various isolates of *Flavobacterium columnare*, within 20µg/mL-80µg/mL MIC value range (Rattanachaikunsopon and Phumkhachorn, 2009).

Applications of Essential Oils to Combat Staphylococcus Challenges

The members of *Staphylococcus* presents a notable challenge as a Gram-positive opportunistic pathogens within aquaculture settings. Noteworthy species from both clinical and food safety perspectives include *Staphylococcus aureus*, *S. epidermidis*, *S. cohnii* subsp. *urealyticum*, *S. lugdunensis*, *S. intermedius*, *S. capitis* subsp. *ureolyticus*, *S. haemolyticus*, *S. hominis* subsp. *hominis*, *S. saprophyticus*, *S. warneri*, *S. simulans* and *S. auricularis* (Sánchez et al., 2017). Among these *S. aureus* stands out as significant opportunistic pathogen prevalent in natural environments. Known for its virulence factors, *S. aureus* when coupled with compromised host defenses, leads to colonization and various diseases. These diseases encompass septic arthritis, pneumonia, abscesses, osteomyelitis, meningitis, pericarditis, empyema, endocarditis and most importantly the toxin-mediated conditions like scarlet fever, food poisoning, toxic shock syndrome and scalded skin syndrome (Arteaga Bonilla and Arteaga Michel, 2005). Notably, *S. aureus* considered to be accountable for numerous instances of foodborne illnesses, including food poisoning, which is usually spread by consuming contaminated food. Consumption of contaminated fish has also been implicated in inducing poisoning (Macori et al., 2016). It was observed that *Ocimum acutidens* EO demonstrated a substantial inhibitory effect, evidenced by a zone diameter of 28mm against *S. aureus* (Shehata et al., 2013). Anyhow, *Syzygium aromaticum* and *Eruca sativa*, showed no discernible inhibitory effects on *S. aureus* (Shehata et al., 2013).

Confronting Streptococcus, Lactococcus and Vagococcus salmoninarum Challenges in Aquaculture

Streptococcus species pose significant concerns for both cold and warm water salmonid species, having zoonotic implications too. One important species include *Lactococcus garvieae*, which is linked to warm-water streptococcosis, results in considerable mortalities, amounting to thousands of tons. On the other hand, cold-water streptococcosis is induced by *Vagococcus salmoninarum*, which causes chronic disease as well as significant broodstock mortality, leading to devastating impacts on aquaculture operations (Saticioglu et al., 2021).

Species belonging to the Streptococcaceae family represent significant Gram-positive pathogens in fish species. Various *Streptococcus* species, including *S. iniae*, *S. parauberis*, *S. agalactiae*. *S. dysgalactiae*, *V. salmoninarum* and *L. garvieae* have been documented across various regions globally (Baeck et al., 2006; Agnew and Barnes, 2007; Nho et al., 2013; Li et al., 2015). Streptococcosis in fish is a complex disease influenced by factors such as host species, pathogen type (strain and species), age, immune status and importantly environmental conditions (Vendrell et al., 2006). Initially, Streptococcal infections in fish manifest on the fins, skin, external organs and gills. It was determined that among nanoemulsions and EOs of *Lavandula angustifolia*, *Eucalyptus globulus*. *Melaleuca alternifolia* and *O. vulgare*; nano-emulsion exhibited the highest effectiveness against *S. iniae* (Gholipourkanani et al., 2019). Additionally, EO of *Oliveria decumbens* displayed 69mm zone of inhibition, with 0.5mg/mL MIC and 2mg/mL MBC values against *S. iniae*, as reported by Vazirzadeh et al. (2019).

Lactococcus spp. have been identified as causative agents of fish diseases. L. garvieae is a gram-positive bacterium characterized by hemolytic, chain-forming cocci. Severe hemorrhagic septicemia has been associated with this bacterial species and it can also lead to meningoencephalitis in a number of fish species. Hence, it poses a significant threat, impacting a wide array of freshwater and marine species and ultimately leading to economic losses. Emergence of warm water lactococcosis, primarily attributed to *L. garvieae*, has become a major concern, especially during summer when temperature of water increase directly above 21°C. Because of this illness significant loss of production of rainbow trout occur during last few decades (Halimi et al., 2020). To control the *Lactococcus garvieae* by application of *Thymus vulgaris* EO a study was conducted by Gulec et al. (2014). Results of this experiment shown a zone diameter of 36.7mm against *L. garvieae*. Furthermore, Tural et al. (2019) compared the activity of essential oils collected from *T. vulgaris, Rosmarinus officinalis, Petroselinum crispum* and *Laurus nobilis* against *L. garvieae*. Outcome of this study exhibited *T. vulgaris* have more potential to control the colonies of *L. garvieae* with a zone diameter of 29.5mm.

One more genus of Gram-positive cocci is *Vagococcus* that have been discovered recently and is famous because of absence of catalase enzyme activity. Within this genus, the total identified species includes; *V. acidifermentans, V. salmoninarum, V. fluvialis, V. lutrae, V. elongates, V. fessus, V. penaei* and *V. carniphilus*. Of these, the most popular bacterium is *V. salmoninarum* because it not only causes disease outbreaks in rainbow trout, but also have been associated with widespread incidence among salmonid species across the globe (Didinen et al., 2014). A number of studies have been conducted to evaluate the impact of essential oils on this selected genus of bacterium. Effects of essential oils including *Eugenia caryophyllata, Zingiber officinale, Rosmarinus officinalis, Origanum vulgare, Lavandula hybrid, Hypericum perforatum, Nigella sativa* and *Mentha piperita;* importantly *O. vulgare* and *E. caryophyllata* EOs shown high potential to control colonies of *V. salmoninarum*.

Conclusion

In aquaculture industry, the role of essential oils to combat the aquatic diseases is undebatable as it is safe and environmental friendly method. The use of antibiotics pose environmental pollution and chances of antibiotic resistance are maximum, while at the same time, the essential oils provides an alternative approach to control fish diseases without the fear for induction of resistance in pathogens. Essential oils shown efficacy against both Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria because of its unique mode of action including disruption of structures and functions of host pathogens. It is crucial to understand efficacy and composition of EOs against specific host pathogen along with the need of proper information regarding application method and standardized formulations. Application of EOs induce disease resistance in fish and continuous research is required in this area to explore the full potential of EOs for wellbeing of different aquatic environments.

REFERENCES

- Agnew, W., and Barnes, A. C. (2007). Streptococcus iniae: an aquatic pathogen of global veterinary significance and a challenging candidate for reliable vaccination. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *122*(1-2), 1-15.
- Alerte, V., Cortés, A. S., Díaz, T. J., Vollaire, Z. J., Espinoza, M. M., Solari, G. V., and Torres, H. M. (2012). Foodborne disease outbreaks around the urban Chilean areas from 2005 to 2010. *Revista chilena de infectologia: organo oficial de la Sociedad Chilena de Infectologia, 29*(1), 26-31.
- Al-Sagheer, A. A., Mahmoud, H. K., Reda, F. M., Mahgoub, S. A., and Ayyat, M. S. (2018). Supplementation of diets for Oreochromis niloticus with essential oil extracts from lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) and geranium (Pelargonium graveolens) and effects on growth, intestinal microbiota, antioxidant and immune activities. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 24(3), 1006-1014.
- Arteaga Bonilla, R., and Arteaga Michel, R. (2005). Infecciones estafilocócicas. *Revista de la Sociedad Boliviana de Pediatría*, 44(3), 178-180.

- Baeck, G. W., Kim, J. H., Gomez, D. K., and Park, S. C. (2006). Isolation and characterization of Streptococcus sp. from diseased flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) in Jeju Island. *Journal of Veterinary Science*, 7(1), 53.
- Bandeira Jr, G., Pês, T. S., Saccol, E. M., Sutili, F. J., Rossi Jr, W., Murari, A. L., and Baldisserotto, B. (2017). Potential uses of Ocimum gratissimum and Hesperozygis ringens essential oils in aquaculture. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 97, 484491.
- Junior, G. B., Dos Santos, A. C., de Freitas Souza, C., Baldissera, M. D., dos Santos Moreira, K. L., da Veiga, M. L., and Baldisserotto, B. (2018). Citrobacter freundii infection in silver catfish (Rhamdia quelen): hematological and histological alterations. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 125, 276-280.
- Bektaş, S., and Özdal, M. (2022). Antimicrobial activity of eucalyptus (Eucalyptus camaldulensis) essential oil against fish pathogen bacterium, Aeromonas caviae. *Marine Science and Technology Bulletin*, *11*(4), 467-474.
- Chen, S. C., and Tung, M. C. (1991). An epizootic in large mouth bass (Micropterus salmoides Lacepode) caused by Nocardia asteroides in fresh water pond in southern Taiwan.
- Sánchez, D. J. C. A., Ramirez, M. D., Barrientos, R. G., and Sharma, A. (2017). The genus Staphylococcus: harmful and beneficial microorganisms in the environment. *Pakistan Journal of Life and Social Sciences*, 15(2).
- Dawood, M. A., El Basuini, M. F., Zaineldin, A. I., Yilmaz, S., Hasan, M. T., Ahmadifar, E., and Sewilam, H. (2021). Antiparasitic and antibacterial functionality of essential oils: An alternative approach for sustainable aquaculture. *Pathogens*, 10(2), 185.
- Pádua, S. D., Marques, D. P., Sebastião, F. A., Pilarski, F., Martins, M. L., and Ishikawa, M. M. (2014). Isolation, characterization and pathology of Citrobacter freundii infection in Native Brazilian Catfish Pseudoplatystoma.
- Didinen, B. I., Yardimci, B., Onuk, E. E., Metin, S. E. Ç. İ. L., and Yildirim, P. (2014). Naturally Lactococcus garvieae infection in rainbow trout (Oncorhyncus mykiss Walbaum, 1792): new histopathological observations, phenotypic and molecular identification. *Revue de Medecine Veterinaire*, 165(1-2), 12-19.
- Domínguez-Borbor, C., Sánchez-Rodríguez, A., Sonnenholzner, S., and Rodríguez, J. (2020). Essential oils mediated antivirulence therapy against vibriosis in Penaeus vannamei. *Aquaculture*, 529, 735639.
- Ebani, V. V., and Mancianti, F. (2020). Use of essential oils in veterinary medicine to combat bacterial and fungal infections. *Veterinary Sciences*, 7(4), 193.
- El-Ekiaby, W. T. (2019). Basil oil nanoemulsion formulation and its antimicrobial activity against fish pathogen and enhance disease resistance against Aeromonas hydrophila in cultured Nile tilapia. *Egyptian Journal for Aquaculture*, 9(4), 13-33.
- Fadel, A., Mabrok, M., and Aly, S. (2018). Epizootics of Pseudomonas anguilliseptica among cultured seabream (Sparus aurata) populations: Control and treatment strategies. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 121, 1-8.
- Fuertes Vicente, H. G., Paredes López, F., and Saavedra Gálvez, D. I. (2018). Good practice manufacturing and preservation onboard: fish safe. *Rev Big Bang Faustiniano*, 3(4), 41-45.
- Gholipourkanani, H., Buller, N., and Lymbery, A. (2019). In vitro antibacterial activity of four nano-encapsulated herbal essential oils against three bacterial fish pathogens. *Aquaculture Research*, 50(3), 871-875.
- Gulec, A. K., Erecevit, P., Yuce, E., Arslan, A., Bagci, E., and Kirbag, S. (2014). Antimicrobial activity of the methanol extracts and essential oil with the composition of endemic Origanum acutidens (Lamiaceae). *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 17(2), 353-358.
- Halimi, M., Alishahi, M., Abbaspour, M. R., Ghorbanpoor, M., and Tabandeh, M. R. (2020). High efficacy and economical procedure of oral vaccination against Lactococcus garvieae/Streptococcus iniae in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 99, 505-513.
- Haruki, Y., Hagiya, H., Sakuma, A., Murase, T., Sugiyama, T., and Kondo, S. (2014). Clinical characteristics of Raoultella ornithinolytica bacteremia: a case series and literature review. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 20(9), 589-591.
- Hayatgheib, N., Fournel, C., Calvez, S., Pouliquen, H., and Moreau, E. (2020). In vitro antimicrobial effect of various commercial essential oils and their chemical constituents on Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *129*(1), 137-145.
- Ismail, T. F., and Yoshida, T. (2017). In vitro activity of some essential oils alone and in combination against the fish pathogen Nocardia seriolae. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 559-566.
- Jeremić, S., Jakić-Dimić, D., and Veljović, L. J. (2003). Citrobacter freundii as a cause of disease in fish. *Acta Veterinaria*, 53(56), 399-410.
- Kanki, M., Yoda, T., Tsukamoto, T., and Shibata, T. (2002). Klebsiella pneumoniae produces no histamine: Raoultella planticola and Raoultella ornithinolytica strains are histamine producers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(7), 3462-3466.
- Kudo, T., Hatai, K., and Seino, A. (1988). Nocardia seriolae sp. nov. causing nocardiosis of cultured fish. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 38(2), 173-178.
- Lee, S., Najiah, M., Wendy, W., and Nadirah, M. (2009). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of the essential oil of Syzygium aromaticum flower bud (Clove) against fish systemic bacteria isolated from aquaculture sites. *Frontiers of Agriculture in China*, 3, 332-336.
- Li, L. P., Wang, R., Liang, W. W., Huang, T., Huang, Y., Luo, F. G., and Gan, X. (2015). Development of live attenuated Streptococcus agalactiae vaccine for tilapia via continuous passage in vitro. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 45(2), 955963.

- López-Romalde, S., Magariños, B., Ravelo, C., Toranzo, A. E., and Romalde, J. L. (2003). Existence of two O-serotypes in the fish pathogen Pseudomonas anguilliseptica. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *94*(4), 325-333.
- Lü, A., Hu, X., Zheng, L., Zhu, A., Cao, C., and Jiang, J. (2011). Isolation and characterization of Citrobacter spp. from the intestine of grass carp Ctenopharyngodon idellus. *Aquaculture*, 313(1-4), 156-160.
- Macori, G., Bellio, A., Bianchi, D. M., Gallina, S., Adriano, D., Zuccon, F., and Decastelli, L. (2016). Molecular typing of Staphylococcus aureus isolate responsible for staphylococcal poisoning incident in homemade food. *Italian Journal of Food Safety*, *5*(2).
- Majolo, C., Monteiro, P. C., Nascimento, A. V. P. D., Chaves, F. C. M., Gama, P. E., Bizzo, H. R., and Chagas, E. C. (2019). Essential oils from five Brazilian Piper species as antimicrobials against strains of Aeromonas hydrophila. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 22(3), 746-761.
- Menanteau-Ledouble, S., Kumar, G., Saleh, M., and El-Matbouli, M. (2016). Aeromonas salmonicida: updates on an old acquaintance. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 120(1), 49-68.
- Metin, S., and Biçer, Z. I. (2020). Antibacterial activity of some essential oils againts Vagococcus salmoninarum. *Ege Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 37(2), 167-173.
- Mzula, A., Wambura, P. N., Mdegela, R. H., and Shirima, G. M. (2019). Current state of modern biotechnological-based Aeromonas hydrophila vaccines for aquaculture: a systematic review. *BioMed Research International*, 2019.
- Navarrete, P., Toledo, I., Mardones, P., Opazo, R., Espejo, R., and Romero, J. (2010). Effect of Thymus vulgaris essential oil on intestinal bacterial microbiota of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) and bacterial isolates. *Aquaculture Research*, *41*(10), e667-e678.
- Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., and De Feo, V. (2013). Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12), 1451-1474.
- Nho, S. W., Hikima, J. I., Park, S. B., Jang, H. B., Cha, I. S., Yasuike, M., and Jung, T. S. (2013). Comparative genomic characterization of three Streptococcus parauberis strains in fish pathogen, as assessed by wide-genome analyses. *PLoS One*, 8(11), e80395.
- Öntaş, C., Baba, E., Kaplaner, E., Küçükaydın, S., Öztürk, M., and Ercan, M. D. (2016). Antibacterial activity of Citrus limon peel essential oil and Argania spinosa oil against fish pathogenic bacteria.
- Orieux, N., Douet, D. G., Le Hénaff, M., and Bourdineaud, J. P. (2013). Prevalence of Flavobacterium psychrophilum bacterial cells in farmed rainbow trout: characterization of metallothionein A and interleukin1-β genes as markers overexpressed in spleen and kidney of diseased fish. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *162*(1), 127-135.
- Ostrand, S. L., Glenn, R. A., Gannam, A. L., and Hanson, K. C. (2012). Inhibitory effects of rosemary oil on the in vitro growth of six common finfish pathogens. North American Journal of Aquaculture, 74(2), 230-234.
- Puello-Caballero, L. P., Montoya-Campuzano, O. I., Castañeda-Monsalve, V. A., and Moreno-Murillo, L. M. (2018). Caracterización de la microbiota presente en el intestino de Piaractus brachypomus (Cachamablanca). *Revista de Salud Animal*, 40(2).
- Saticioglu, I. B., Yardimci, B., Altun, S., and Duman, M. (2021). A comprehensive perspective on a Vagococcus salmoninarum outbreak in rainbow trout broodstock. *Aquaculture*, 545, 737224.
- Savage, P. B. (2001). Multidrug-resistant bacteria: overcoming antibiotic permeability barriers of gram-negative bacteria. Annals of Medicine, 33(3), 167-171.
- Schiewe, M. H., Trust, T. J., and Crosa, J. H. (1981). Vibrio ordalii sp. nov.: a causative agent of vibriosis in fish. *Current Microbiology*, *6*, 343-348.
- Shehata, S. A., Mohamed, M. S., and El-Shafi, S. A. (2013). Antibacterial activity of Essential oils and their effects on Nile tilapia fingerlings performance.
- Babalola, C. P. (2023). Microbiological Safety of Ready-To-Eat Foods and Hand Hygiene Assessment of Food Handlers in a Nigerian Private University Oyedeji BA Bejide OS Taiwo MO Shofunde AA Omeonu FC and. Nigerian Journal of Microbiology.
- Starliper, C. E., Ketola, H. G., Noyes, A. D., Schill, W. B., Henson, F. G., Chalupnicki, M. A., and Dittman, D. E. (2015). An investigation of the bactericidal activity of selected essential oils to Aeromonas spp. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 6(1), 89-97.
- Stefanakis, M. K., Touloupakis, E., Anastasopoulos, E., Ghanotakis, D., Katerinopoulos, H. E., and Makridis, P. (2013). Antibacterial activity of essential oils from plants of the genus Origanum. *Food Control*, *34*(2), 539-546.
- Sutili, F. J., Gatlin III, D. M., Heinzmann, B. M., and Baldisserotto, B. (2018). Plant essential oils as fish diet additives: benefits on fish health and stability in feed. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, *10*(3), 716-726.
- Tanekhy, M., Matsuda, S., Itano, T., Kawakami, H., Kono, T., and Sakai, M. (2010). Expression of cytokine genes in head kidney and spleen cells of Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) infected with Nocardia seriolae. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 134(3-4), 178-183.
- Thirumalaikumar, E., Lelin, C., Sathishkumar, R., Vimal, S., Anand, S. B., Babu, M. M., and Citarasu, T. (2021). Oral delivery of pVAX-OMP and pVAX-hly DNA vaccine using chitosan-tripolyphosphate (Cs-TPP) nanoparticles in Rohu,(Labeo rohita) for protection against Aeromonas hydrophila infection. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, *115*, 189-197.

- Tural, S., Durmaz, Y., Urçar, E., and Turhan, S. (2019). Antibacterial activity of thyme (Thymus vulgaris L.), Laurel (Lauris nobilis
 L.), rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.) and parsley (Petroselinum crispum L.) essential oils against some fish pathogenic bacteria. Acta Aquatica Turcica, 15(4), 440-447.
- Toor, S. I., Abbas, R. Z., Khalid, J., Nauman, M. S., and Aslam, H. (2024). Neurocysticercosis Cysticercal Epilepsy: Understanding the Complex Relationship Between Tapeworm Cysts and Seizures.
- Vazirzadeh, A., Jalali, S., and Farhadi, A. (2019). Antibacterial activity of Oliveria decumbens against Streptococcus iniae in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) and its effects on serum and mucosal immunity and antioxidant status. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, *94*, 407-416.
- Vendrell, D., Balcázar, J. L., Ruiz-Zarzuela, I., De Blas, I., Gironés, O., and Múzquiz, J. L. (2006). Lactococcus garvieae in fish: a review. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 29(4), 177-198.
- Viel, A., Rostang, A., Morvan, M. L., Fournel, C., Daniel, P., Thorin, C., and Calvez, S. (2021). Population pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics modelling of enrofloxacin for the three major trout pathogens Aeromonas salmonicida, Flavobacterium psychrophilum and Yersinia ruckeri. *Aquaculture*, 545, 737119.
- Wang, G. L., Xu, Y. J., Jin, S., Zhu, J. L., and Yuan, S. P. (2007). Nocardiosis in snakehead, Ophiocephalus argus Cantor. *Aquaculture*, 271(1-4), 54-60.
- Wang, P. C., Chen, S. D., Tsai, M. A., Weng, Y. J., Chu, S. Y., Chern, R. S., and Chen, S. C. (2009). Nocardia seriolae infection in the three striped tigerfish, Terapon jarbua (Forsskål). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *32*(4), 301-310.
- Wei, L. S., and Wee, W. (2013). Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of Cymbopogon nardus citronella essential oil against systemic bacteria of aquatic animals. *Iranian Journal of Microbiology*, *5*(2), 147.
- Yang, L., Ma, Y., and Zhang, Y. (2007). Freeze-drying of live attenuated Vibrio anguillarum mutant for vaccine preparation. Biologicals, 35(4), 265-269.
- Yang, N., Song, F., Polyak, S. W., and Liu, J. (2021). Actinonin resistance of pathogenic Vibrio anguillarum in aquaculture. Aquaculture, 541, 736850.
- Zargar, A., Rahimi-Afzal, Z., Soltani, E., Taheri Mirghaed, A., Ebrahimzadeh-Mousavi, H. A., Soltani, M., and Yuosefi, P. (2019). Growth performance, immune response and disease resistance of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fed Thymus vulgaris essential oils. *Aquaculture Research*, *50*(11), 3097-3106.

Chapter 30

Use of Essential oils for the Treatment of Female Reproductive Disorders

Mahvish Fatima^{1*}, Ume Salma², Razia Kausar³ and Muhammad Akmal Farooq⁴

¹Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan ²Department of Zoology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan ³Department of Anatomy, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan ⁴Department of Pharmacy, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan *Corresponding author: mahvishfatima476@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Because of their natural healing properties, essential oils have gained attention as complementary therapies for the treatment of female reproductive disorders. Plant essential oils have anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, and hormone-regulating properties that can help improve symptoms such as menstrual disorders, PCOS, infertility, and menopause. Lavender, sage, rose, and geranium oils are often used for menstrual disorders. Lavender and sage can be used to relieve menstrual cramps and regulate menstrual cycles. Cinnamon improves insulin resistance in PCOS and peppermint reduces hirsutism. Geranium oil supports hormonal balance, which is essential for managing PCOS. Sage, geranium, and Roman chamomile are used for infertility. Sage improves fertility by balancing hormones and reducing stress. Geranium oil supports reproductive health and Roman chamomile reduces stress and anxiety that can affect fertility. For menopause symptoms, essential oils can relieve symptoms such as hot flashes, night sweats, and insomnia. Use essential oils like clary sage to balance hormones, peppermint for cooling, and lavender for relaxation and sleep. Use through aromatherapy, topical application or massage. Important safety measures such as dilution and patch testing are necessary to avoid adverse reactions. Essential oils should complement medical treatment. A medical expert, particularly one who specializes in aromatherapy, must be consulted for the safe and efficient application of aromatherapy to treat reproductive disorders.

KEYWORDSReceived: 12-June-2024Essential Oils; Reproductive Disorders; Menstrual Disorders;
Polycystic Ovary Syndrome; Infertility; Menopausal Symptoms;Received: 18-July-2024
Accepted: 12-Aug-2024A Publication of
Unique Scientific
Publishers

Cite this Article as: Fatima M, Salma U, Kausar R and Farooq MA, 2024. Use of essential oils for the treatment of female reproductive disorders. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 261-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.458</u>

INTRODUCTION

Through an assortment of extraction strategies, fundamental oils are natural, normal compounds determined from plant sources. These organisms' therapeutic qualities have been utilized for centuries (Pathania et al., 2021). The application of basic oils to treat women's regenerative clutters has gathered critical academic consideration in later a long time (Bapat, 2022). Surveying the chronicled significance of basic oils within the treatment of women's regenerative clutters is the point of this chapter (Chhabra, 2023). A careful and in-depth analysis will be given, together with an assessment of different methods and the distinguishing proof and basic examination of striking figures that have made noteworthy commitments to this field. Exploring the different benefits and disadvantages related with utilizing fundamental oils to treat women's regenerative disarranges is the point of this paper (Soares et al., 2021). This paper points to investigate conceivable roads for future research improvement in this area. An antiquated civilization's worth of hone can be found within the authentic utilize of fundamental oils to treat women's reproductive disorders. (Auzanneau, 2020). A variety of gynecological disarranges, such as barrenness, postpartum care, and menstrual spasms, were treated with basic oils within the progressed Egyptian civilization. Reestablishing the body's gi, or vitality, to balance and enhancing common physical and mental wellbeing are objectives of conventional Chinese pharmaceutical, which employments fundamental oils (Patrick, 2023). Fundamental oils have gotten to be increasingly prevalent within the present-day time for treating female regenerative issues. An expanding sum of insightful investigate shows basic oils may be valuable in treating a number of wellbeing issues, such as PMS, fruitlessness, menstrual spasms, and menopausal symptoms (Colles, 2020). Basic oils are viable in treating a number of reproductive disorders such as premenstrual syndrome, menstrual issues, barrenness and menopausal indications. Furthermore, fundamental oils can be utilized in a number of ways, such as fragrance-based treatment, topical application and knead (Patel et al., 2023). Assorted perspectives exist concerning the application of basic oils within the treatment of

female regenerative wellbeing concerns. A number of essential oils can be used in ordinary restorative medicines and are both safe and viable. A point of view states that the use of basic oils ought to as it were be carried out beneath the supervision and direction of a certified healthcare professional (Kumar et al., 2022). The utilization of essential oils to treat female regenerative disarranges could be a theme of noteworthy contention. Thinks about are needed to decide the security and adequacy of basic oils some time recently utilizing them to treat a wide range of sicknesses, indeed in spite of the fact that there's a few prove to back them utilize. Prospects for treating women's regenerative disarranges with fundamental oils are empowering (Chukwu, 2021). More examinations are anticipated to supply more data around the security and viability of fundamental oils within the treatment of a wide extend of sicknesses. This investigate may have imperative repercussions for the creation of advanced treatment approaches for female regenerative clutters. A zone of inquire about that appears guarantee is the application of basic oils to the treatment of female regenerative clutters (Misra et al., 2020). The application of basic oils to different restorative conditions is upheld by experimental prove; be that as it may, extra investigation is required to decide the security and adequacy of these applications. Further examination is anticipated to development information of the restorative application of fundamental oils for the treatment of female regenerative clutters (Baldil, 2021).

Sr.No	Plant Name	Essential Oil	Application	Treatment of Reproductive Disorders	References
1	Lavandula angustifolia	Lavender	Antispasmodic, anti- inflammatory	Menstrual pain, PMS, menopause symptoms	(Firoozeei et al., 2021)
2	Salvia sclarea	Clary Sage	Hormonal balance, stress relief	Menstrual pain, infertility, menopause symptoms	(Ovidi et al., 2021)
3	Rosa damascena	Rose	Mood-lifting, antispasmodic	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Akram et al., 2020)
4	Pelargonium graveolens	Geranium	Hormonal balance, anti- inflammatory	PMS, PCOS	(Jaradat et al., 2022)
5	Cinnamomum verum	Cinnamon	Improves insulin resistance	PCOS	(Pathak and Sharma, 2021)
6	Mentha piperita	Peppermint	Anti-androgenic, cooling	PCOS, menopause symptoms	(Mahendran and Rahman, 2020)
7	Chamaemelum nobile	Roman Chamomile	Calming, anti-inflammatory	Infertility, stress-related menstrual disorders	(Tai et al., 2020)
8	Cananga odorata	Ylang Ylang	Mood regulation, stress relief	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Jiea et al., 2022)
9	Boswellia carterii	Frankincense	Anti-inflammatory, stress relief	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Huang et al., 2022)
10	Foeniculum vulgare	Fennel	Hormonal regulation, antispasmodic	Menstrual pain, hormonal imbalance	(Mehra et al., 2021)
11	Ocimum basilicum	Basil	Antispasmodic, anti- inflammatory	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Shahrajabian et al., 2020)
12	Thymus vulgaris	Thyme	Hormonal balance, antimicrobial	Menstrual pain, hormonal imbalance	(Silva et al., 2021)
13	Origanum majorana	Marjoram	Antispasmodic, calming	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Bouyahya et al., 2021)
14	Citrus limon	Lemon	Mood-lifting, stress relief	PMS, menopause symptoms	(Paw et al., 2020)
15	Salvia officinalis	Sage	Hormonal balance, antispasmodic	Menstrual pain, menopause symptoms	(Mendes et al., 2020)
16	Eucalyptus globulus	Eucalyptus	Anti-inflammatory, pain relief	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Shala and Gururani, 2021)
17	Juniperus communis	Juniper Berry	Detoxifying, anti- inflammatory	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Goncalves et al., 2022)
18	Cupressus sempervirens	Cypress	Circulation improvement, antispasmodic	Menstrual pain, PMS	(Farahmand, 2020)
19	Citrus aurantium	Neroli	Calming, hormonal balance	PMS, menopause symptoms	(Maksoud et al., 2021)
20	Citrus bergamia	Bergamot	Mood-lifting, stress relief	PMS, menopause symptoms	(Cebi and Erarslan, 2023)

Table 1: Different essential oils can be used to treat various reproductive disorders in females

Reproductive Disorders in Females

There are numerous variables that influence the reproductive health of women. These factors can effect physical and mental health of females. Barrenness, menstrual issues, endometriosis, polycystic ovarian disorder (PCOS) and hormonal

awkward nature are among the regenerative conditions that ladies experience on a customary premise (Dinsdale and Crespi, 2021). These disarranges can disturbed the fragile adjust of the female regenerative framework and cause indications like sporadic feminine cycle, pelvic torment, trouble conceiving, and other issues. The ectopic expansion of endometrial tissue, which is ordinarily show inside the uterine depression, to destinations exterior the uterus, most commonly including the ovaries, fallopian tubes, and adjoining pelvic structures, is the trademark of endometriosis, a constant and regularly serious restorative condition. Intemperate menstrual dying, extreme cramping, and barrenness seem all result from this phenomenon (Ahmad et al., 2023). Menstrual inconsistencies, raised testosterone levels, and challenges with conception are side effects of Polycystic Ovary Disorder (PCOS), an endocrine clutter stamped by the advancement of modest, fluid-filled blisters on the ovaries. Menstrual issues, moreover called dysmenorrhea, are a common issue that numerous ladies experience and can extend in seriousness from minor distress to horrifying misery (Fabricius, 2020). The uterus contracts muscularly amid the menstrual cycle to help within the lining's common shedding, which causes the spasms that are experienced amid the period. Regenerative complications like temperament swings, unpredictable menstrual cycles, and inconvenience getting pregnant are all connected to hormonal lopsided characteristics, which are characterized by either tall or moo levels of progesterone or estrogen (Hammer, 2023).

Endometriosis and the use of Essential oils

Around the world, endometriosis influences approximately 176 million ladies and may be a diligent and frequently weakening regenerative brokenness. When endometrial tissue, which is regularly restricted to the uterine lining, duplicates exterior of the uterine depth, it regularly influences the ovaries, fallopian tubes, and other pelvic organs (Berek et al., 2021). This condition is known as endometriosis. In spite of the fact that it needs a implies of being removed from the body, the uprooted tissue shows highlights of the endometrium's structure and work, counting thickening, debasement, and feminine cycle (Nobleletort, 2021). Greatly excruciating and sporadic menstrual stream, extreme pelvic torment, and as often as possible barrenness are all conceivable results of this marvel. Numerous ladies with endometriosis are investigating elective and all-encompassing approaches to oversee their indications, in expansion to conventional medicines like hormonal treatments and surgery (Hawkey et al., 2022). Basic oils have picked up footing as a promising complementary treatment for endometriosis, with oils like lavender, clary sage, and chamomile showing anti-inflammatory, pain relieving, and antispasmodic properties that will offer assistance lighten serious pelvic torment and menstrual spasms related with the condition. Investigate proposes that fundamental oils seem possibly direct hormonal awkward nature and restrain the development of endometrial lesions (Forgie, 2021). Fundamental oils can be connected in a assortment of ways to assist with the wide extend of indications that are associated to endometriosis since of their versatile nature. Localized pain relief and inflammation reduction have been demonstrated by applying diluted oils to the lower abdomen, back, and pelvic area. The long-term pain associated with endometriosis often exacerbates symptoms of stress and anxiety, which can be effectively managed by inhaling blends of essential oils (Irshad et al., 2020). Because essential oils may be used in baths, body lotions, and diffusers, incorporating them into regular self-care routines may help some women feel better. Since there is a chance that essential oils will interact with medications and cause negative effects, using them as a complementary therapeutic approach for endometriosis requires careful coordination with healthcare professionals to ensure safe and effective use. In the comprehensive treatment of this complex and often incapacitating reproductive disease, essential oils can be a useful adjunct when used appropriately and customized to the patient's needs (Heshelow, 2023).

Essential oil Treatments of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome

Five to ten percent of women in the reproductive age range suffer from the complex endocrine disorder known as polycystic ovarian syndrome, or PCOS. The hallmark of polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is the development of ovarian cysts, which can lead to high testosterone levels, irregular menstruation, hormonal imbalances, and difficulties conceiving (Abraham et al., 2021). A number of comorbidities, including insulin resistance, metabolic disorders, and an increased vulnerability to diseases like type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease, are linked to polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) (Maqbool and Gani, 2022). Essential oils are becoming a natural and helpful therapeutic option for more and more women seeking symptom relief from PCOS, even though traditional management usually consists of a regimen of hormonal therapies, lifestyle changes, and sometimes surgical interventions. Inflammation can be reduced, hormonal imbalances can be regulated and ovarian and uterine health can be promoted these are just a few of the therapeutic benefits of several essential oils that have been found to have the potential to alleviate symptoms associated with PCOS (Bunse et al., 2022). Applying essential oils topically, internally, or through inhalation are some of the ways that they can be used to treat Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS), provided that a licensed healthcare professional is watching over and guiding the process. A few drops of the essential oil of their choice mixed with carrier oil and massaged into the lower abdomen have helped some people find relief (Rao, 2021). A few individuals, on the other hand, select to diffuse the oils all through their homes in an exertion to move forward their common prosperity. The utilize of fundamental oils for polycystic ovarian disorder (PCOS) requires meeting with a healthcare proficient since a few oils have the potential to connected contrarily with drugs or cause side impacts. To completely comprehend the useful impacts of basic oils within the administration of polycystic ovarian disorder (PCOS), more investigate is required (Wang et al., 2020). On the other hand, accessible information recommends that these natural substances might be valuable in an integrator, all-encompassing approach to treating this complex affliction. When ladies with Polycystic Ovary Disorder (PCOS) work at the side therapeutic experts, they

can investigate the helpful benefits of utilizing basic oils as portion of a all-encompassing approach to make strides their regenerative wellbeing and common quality of life (Kumar et al., 2023).

Role of Essential oils in Menstrual Cramps

A number of females are facing menstrual issues like dysmenorrhea, amenorrhea, menorrhagia, oligomenorrhea or premenstrual syndrome (PMS). The withdrawal of the uterus in response to the lining shedding amid the menstrual cycle is capable for the onset of extreme pelvic torments. Delayed utilize of this strategy can cause critical distress because it discharges fiery chemicals into the body (Mizuta et al., 2023). Other than conventional over-the-counter painkillers and hormonal treatments, increasingly ladies are looking into utilizing basic oils as a common arrangement for controlling menstrual spasms. The strength of menstrual cramps may be lessened by the essential oils of chamomile, lavender, and clary sage, which have demonstrated strong anti-inflammatory, analgesic, and antispasmodic qualities (Sigdel et al., 2023). relaxant effects on Research indicates that clary sage has the uterine muscles, which may help ease the discomfort of cramping during menstruation. Thanks to its anxiolytic and sedative properties, lavender oil can help relieve stress and encourage relaxation during the menstrual cycle. Apigenin, an antioxidant compound that has been shown to inhibit prostaglandin production the agents that cause menstrual cramps is one of chamomile's most wellknown properties (Demattio, 2020).

The calming scents of these essential oils can be diffused into the surrounding air, or they can be added to a bath in small amounts, or applied topically to the lower abdomen. Women can choose how to incorporate these oils into their self-care routines. Since herbs like fennel and ginger have anti-inflammatory qualities, many people find that drinking herbal tea with these infusions relieves their menstrual pain (Dewanjee et al., 2023). Essential oils can be a powerful natural solution to relieve the often debilitating symptoms of menstrual cramps when used regularly in conjunction with complementary holistic practices like exercise, stress reduction, and healthy eating habits. It is basic to push that, in spite of the fact that fundamental oils are by and large considered secure when utilized capably, individuals with delicate skin or pre-existing restorative conditions ought to utilize caution when including them to their wellness regimen. As with any supplemental treatment, it is best allude to">to a healthcare supplier some time recently joining fundamental oils into the administration of menstrual issues (Wal et al., 2024).

Essential oil Remedies and Hormonal Imbalances

An sporadic menstrual cycle, temperament swings, changes in weight, and issues getting to be pregnant are fair many of the concerning indications that can emerge from hormonal awkward nature that can have a negative impact on a woman's regenerative wellbeing. The utilize of medicine medicines to treat hormonal lopsided characteristics is the standard in customary treatment strategies; be that as it may, a developing number of ladies are investigating the potential points of interest of fundamental oils as a more characteristic and holistic alternative for overseeing these complex issues (Irshad et al., 2022). There's prove that certain essential oils can adjust hormone generation and reestablish homeostasis within the endocrine system. Studies on clary sage oil have inspected its ability to alter the adjust of progesterone and estrogen, two imperative hormones included within the control of the menstrual cycle and regenerative functions (Critchley et al., 2020). Hot flashes and temperament swings related to the menopausal move can be calmed by fennel oil, which includes a tall concentration of phytoestrogens and has illustrated guarantee in treating side effects regularly connected to hormonal awkward nature. One condition that should particularly concern women with polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is excessive testosterone synthesis, which thyme oil has shown promise in reducing (Minocha, 2020). Women can investigate various modes of administration, such as topical application, inhalation, and possibly internal consumption, to harness the therapeutic properties of essential oils for addressing hormonal imbalances (under the supervision of a qualified healthcare professional). Diffusion is a method of dispersing essential oils into the environment to promote holistic wellness. Targeted relief can be obtained by applying diluted essential oils to specific areas, such as the lower abdomen, back, or temples, through massage (Bunse et al., 2022).

The use of essential oils to treat hormonal imbalances should be discussed with a healthcare provider because some oils can cause negative side effects or interfere with medication (Ramsey et al., 2020). The processes by which essential oils influence the endocrine system and help to restore hormonal balance are the subject of ongoing research. Thus, among women who are looking for a more all-encompassing approach to managing their reproductive and general health, these natural remedies have become increasingly popular. Women can use essential oils to harness the healing qualities of natural compounds to balance their hormones, reduce associated symptoms, and achieve better balance and health by incorporating them into a holistic self-care routine (Heshelow, 2023).

Potential Benefits of Essential oils and Infertility

After a year of regular, unprotected sexual activity, infertility—which is defined as the inability to become pregnant is a very personal and often complex issue that affects a significant portion of couples worldwide (Lin et al., 2021). As an alternative to conventional medical interventions like hormone therapy and assisted reproductive technologies, an increasing number of people are turning to holistic and natural ways of improving fertility. Essential oils are currently acknowledged as a potentially beneficial complementary therapy for those who are struggling with infertility. Research on the possible effects of various essential oils on various aspects of fertility has been conducted (Hategekimana and Erler, 2020). Research has indicated that clary sage oil may have a modulatory impact on the menstrual cycle, possibly adjustments fostering hormonal homeostasis through to the concentrations of important hormones like progesterone and estrogen, which are involved in ovulation and implantation directly. Stress and anxiety are known to have a significant impact on both male and female reproductive health (Koyama and Heinbockel, 2020). Ylang-ylang essential oil, with its anxiolytic and mood-enhancing properties, has been found to be helpful in reducing these effects. Studies on frankincense oil's ability to support ovarian and uterine health have been done; these findings may have consequences for raising the chance of a successful conception and implantation (Phelan et al., 2021). Essential oils have the potential to enhance the daily routines of infertile individuals in a variety of ways when included into a comprehensive regimen designed to support fertility. Some efficient ways to harness the potential benefits of these natural compounds are by applying diluted oils topically to the lower abdomen, diffusing them throughout the home, or consuming them internally while under the guidance of a gualified healthcare provider. Before using essential oils for infertility, it is important to understand that you should speak with a healthcare provider because there could be drug interactions or adverse effects (Noh et al., 2020).

Menstrual Disorders and Essential oils of Lavender, Clary Sage, Rose, and Geranium

The utilization of essential oils for addressing reproductive disorders in females has garnered attention as a complementary therapeutic approach. Essential oils, sourced from botanical sources, are purported to possess diverse therapeutic qualities, such as anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, and hormone-regulating effects (Dosoky and Setzer, 2021). An analysis of the potential applications of essential oils in the treatment of specific reproductive disorders in women reveals that lavender oil, renowned for its sedative properties, has demonstrated efficacy in alleviating menstrual pain (dysmenorrhea) and premenstrual syndrome symptoms through its antispasmodic and anti-inflammatory attributes (Nath, 2024). The nearness of common phytoestrogens is known to contribute to hormone direction, giving potential alleviation from menstrual issues and the foundation of customary menstrual cycles. Since of this substance's capacity to promote disposition, it may moreover offer assistance decrease enthusiastic indications related with premenstrual disorder (PMS) and menstrual torment (Magbool et al., 2022). Hormone control has been appeared to altogether diminish premenstrual disorder (PMS) indications, such as weakness and temperament swings. Thinks about have shown that affront resistance a issue habitually seen in polycystic ovarian disorder (PCOS) may progress, which may have a positive effect on menstrual cycle direction (Sanchez et al., 2023) The anti-androgenic properties of spironolactone may be advantageous within the administration of hirsutism, a common indication of polycystic ovary disorder (PCOS). It is hypothesized that the advancement of hormonal adjust and decrease of push may possibly increment ripeness. Improving in general hormonal wellbeing is fundamental for legitimate regenerative work. Recognized for its anxiolytic properties, this substance is capable of mitigating stress and anxiety, thereby potentially enhancing fertility (Bashir et al., 2023). Assists in the regulation of hormonal levels, resulting in a decrease in occurrences of hot flashes and nocturnal perspiration. The phenomenon of cooling demonstrating efficacy in mitigating hot flashes. The promotion of relaxation and improvement of sleep can effectively address insomnia commonly experienced during the menopausal transition (Proserpio et al., 2020).

Application Methods

The diffusion of essential oils can offer sustained respiratory benefits through inhalation. The process of diluting essential oils in carrier oils, such as coconut or jojoba oil, and topically applying them to the skin, particularly on the abdomen or lower back, can effectively target the reproductive organs (Mahmoud et al., 2022). The synergistic impacts of integrating essential oils with massage therapy can be attributed to the heightened circulation and increased relaxation that transpire as a result. It is imperative to dilute essential oils prior to topical application in order to prevent potential skin irritation. It is recommended to utilize high-quality, therapeutic-grade essential oils (Soares et al., 2021).

It is advisable to perform a patch test in order to identify and assess potential allergic reactions. Certain essential oils are not advisable for use during pregnancy or lactation. It is advisable to seek guidance from a qualified healthcare professional prior to utilizing the product. An array of reproductive disorders has been acknowledged to benefit from the adjunctive effects of essential oils. They are not meant to replace conventional medical treatments, it is crucial to remember that. Ensuring the safe and effective application of aromatherapy requires consulting with a healthcare professional, especially one with experience in the field (Nguyen, 2020).

Conclusion

When treating a variety of female reproductive disorders, such as irregular menstruation, infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome and menopausal symptoms, essential oils have been demonstrated to be a useful adjunctive care option. These oils include lavender, sage, rose, geranium, cinnamon, peppermint and chamomile. With programs like aromatherapy, topical application and massage, the use of these natural remedies can be integrated into regular health routines in a flexible manner. Following safety precautions when using essential oils is crucial, as patch testing and appropriate dilution are key to minimizing the risk of adverse effects. For those who are pregnant or nursing, in particular, we advise using premium therapeutic oils and consulting a professional. Even though studies on essential oils and reproductive health have shown promise, conventional medical treatments should not be replaced with essential oils. It may be possible to improve general wellbeing and lessen symptoms related to reproductive disorders by

incorporating essential oils as a supplemental therapeutic intervention under the supervision of a physician skilled in aromatherapy. In addition to additional resources for health care, physical relief, and psychological support, this holistic approach may be able to offer women additional benefits.

REFERENCES

- Abraham Gnanadass, S., Divakar Prabhu, Y., and Valsala Gopalakrishnan, A. (2021). Association of metabolic and inflammatory markers with polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS): an update. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 303, 631-643.
- Ahmad, A., Kumar, M., Bhoi, N. R., Badruddeen, Akhtar, J., Khan, M. I., and Ahmad, M. (2023). Diagnosis and management of uterine fibroids: current trends and future strategies. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology*, 34(3), 291-310.
- Akram, M., Riaz, M., Munir, N., Akhter, N., Zafar, S., Jabeen, F., and Said Khan, F. (2020). Chemical constituents, experimental and clinical pharmacology of Rosa damascena: a literature review. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 72(2), 161-174.
- Auzanneau, M. (2020). Oil, power, and war: a dark history. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Baldil, O. (2021). Building Indecisiveness: People's Health Perceptional and Behavioral Trends in Portugal and Turkey (Doctoral dissertation).
- Bapat, A. (2022). Stem Cells and Recent Advances in Aesthetic and Regenerative Gynecology. Aesthetic and Regenerative Gynecology, 327-357.
- Bashir, R., Asrar, M. M., Shah, I. A., Wani, I. A., and Ganie, M. (2023). Do Pleiotropic Effects of Spironolactone in Women with PCOS Make it more than an Anti-androgen? Evidence from a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 29(19), 1486-1496.
- Berek, J. S., Renz, M., Kehoe, S., Kumar, L., and Friedlander, M. (2021). Cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum: 2021 update. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 155, 61-85.
- Bouyahya, A., Chamkhi, I., Benali, T., Guaouguaou, F. E., Balahbib, A., El Omari, N., and El Menyiy, N. (2021). Traditional use, phytochemistry, toxicology, and pharmacology of Origanum majorana L. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 265, 113318.
- Bunse, M., Daniels, R., Gründemann, C., Heilmann, J., Kammerer, D. R., Keusgen, M., and Wink, M. (2022). Essential oils as multicomponent mixtures and their potential for human health and well-being. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13, 956541.
- Bunse, M., Daniels, R., Gründemann, C., Heilmann, J., Kammerer, D. R., Keusgen, M., and Wink, M. (2022). Essential oils as multicomponent mixtures and their potential for human health and well-being. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13, 956541.
- Cebi, N., and Erarslan, A. (2023). Determination of the antifungal, antibacterial activity and volatile compound composition of citrus bergamia peel essential oil. *Foods*, 12(1), 203.
- Chhabra, E. (2023). Working to Restore: Harnessing the Power of Regenerative Business to Heal the World. Beacon Press.
- Chukwu, N. (2021). Women As Eco-Activists in Selected Niger Delta Novels and Plays (Doctoral dissertation).
- Colles, S. (2020). The Art of Ayurvedic Nutrition: Ancient Wisdom for Health, Balance, and Dietary Freedom. Skyhorse.
- Critchley, H. O., Maybin, J. A., Armstrong, G. M., and Williams, A. R. (2020). Physiology of the endometrium and regulation of menstruation. Physiological reviews.
- DeMattio, M. (2020). The Effect Aromatherapy has on a Woman's Perception of her Body and Menstrual Cycle.
- Dewanjee, S., Sohel, M., Hossain, M. S., Ansari, F., Islam, M. T., Sultana, F., and Amin, M. N. (2023). A comprehensive review on clinically proven natural products in the management of nerve pain, with mechanistic insights. Heliyon.
- Dinsdale, N. L., and Crespi, B. J. (2021). Endometriosis and polycystic ovary syndrome are diametric disorders. *Evolutionary Applications*, 14(7), 1693-1715.
- Dosoky, N. S., and Setzer, W. N. (2021). Maternal reproductive toxicity of some essential oils and their constituents. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(5), 2380.
- Fabricius, A. (2020). Unfeminine, Unhealthy and Unusual: Women's Characterizations of Their PCOS Bodies (Doctoral dissertation, University of Guelph).
- Farahmand, H. (2020). The genus Cupressus L. mythology to biotechnology with emphasis on mediterranean cypress (Cupressus sempervirens L.). *Horticultural Reviews*, 47, 213-287.
- Firoozeei, T. S., Feizi, A., Rezaeizadeh, H., Zargaran, A., Roohafza, H. R., and Karimi, M. (2021). The antidepressant effects of lavender (Lavandula angustifolia Mill.): A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 59, 102679.
- Forgie, M. (2021). Exploring Women's Experiences of Infertility, Reproductive Loss, and Grief (Doctoral dissertation, Université d'Ottawa/University of Ottawa).
- Gonçalves, A. C., Flores-Félix, J. D., Coutinho, P., Alves, G., and Silva, L. R. (2022). Zimbro (Juniperus communis L.) as a promising source of bioactive compounds and biomedical activities: A review on recent trends. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(6), 3197.
- Hammer, A. J. (2023). Cycles: The Science of Periods, Why They Matter, and How to Nourish Each Phase. Shambhala Publications.
- Hategekimana, A., and Erler, F. (2020). Fecundity and fertility inhibition effects of some plant essential oils and their major components against Acanthoscelides obtectus Say (Coleoptera: Bruchidae). Journal of Plant Diseases and

- Hawkey, A., Chalmers, K. J., Micheal, S., Diezel, H., and Armour, M. (2022). "A day-to-day struggle": A comparative qualitative study on experiences of women with endometriosis and chronic pelvic pain. *Feminism and Psychology*, 32(4), 482-500.
- Heshelow, E. (2023). Essential Oils Book For Beginners: Improve Sleep, Energy, Digestion, Skin, and Immune System By Understanding The Power of Essential Oils and The Basics and Science Behind It. Emma Heshelow.
- Huang, K., Chen, Y., Liang, K., Xu, X., Jiang, J., Liu, M., and Zhou, F. (2022). Review of the chemical composition, pharmacological effects, pharmacokinetics, and quality control of Boswellia carterii. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2022.
- Irshad, M., Subhani, M. A., Ali, S., and Hussain, A. (2020). Biological importance of essential oils. *Essential Oils-Oils of Nature*, 1, 37-40.
- Irshad, S., Aijaz, A., and Husain, A. (2022). A study of menstruation and stress: the biological and psychological overview on menarche and menstrual disorders. *EPRA International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research (IJMR)*, 8(3), 85-90.
- Jaradat, N., Hawash, M., Qadi, M., Abualhasan, M., Odetallah, A., Qasim, G., and Al-Maharik, N. (2022). Chemical markers and pharmacological characters of Pelargonium graveolens essential oil from Palestine. *Molecules*, 27(17), 5721.
- Jiea, C. K., Fuloria, S., Subrimanyan, V., Sekar, M., Sathasivam, K. V., Kayarohanam, S., and Fuloria, N. K. (2022). Phytochemical screening and antioxidant activity of Cananga odorata extract. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, 15(3), 1230-1234.
- Koyama, S., and Heinbockel, T. (2020). The effects of essential oils and terpenes in relation to their routes of intake and application. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(5), 1558.
- Kumar, R., Kaur, L., Hajam, Y. A., Rai, S., Tanshinone, A., Curcumin, and Phytotherapy, R. (2023): A Natural Treatment for Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome. In Herbal Medicine Applications for Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome (pp. 213-226). CRC Press.
- Kumar, R., Mirza, M. A., Naseef, P. P., Kuruniyan, M. S., Zakir, F., and Aggarwal, G. (2022). Exploring the potential of natural product-based nanomedicine for maintaining oral health. *Molecules*, 27(5), 1725.
- Lin, T. K., Law, R., Beaman, J., and Foster, D. G. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic security and pregnancy intentions among people at risk of pregnancy. *Contraception*, 103(6), 380-385.
- Mahendran, G., and Rahman, L. U. (2020). Ethnomedicinal, phytochemical and pharmacological updates on Peppermint (Mentha× piperita L.)—A review. *Phytotherapy Research*, 34(9), 2088-2139.
- Mahmoud, G. A. E., Abdel-Basset, R., Abdel-Sater, M. A., and Sayed, A. G. (2022). Utilization of coconut and jojoba wastes for lipases production by Aspergillus niger and applied it for biodiesel production. *Global Nest Journal*, 24(3), 495-504.
- Maksoud, S., Abdel-Massih, R. M., Rajha, H. N., Louka, N., Chemat, F., Barba, F. J., and Debs, E. (2021). Citrus aurantium L. active constituents, biological effects and extraction methods. an updated review. *Molecules*, 26(19), 5832
- Maqbool, M., Ara, I., and Gani, I. (2022). The story of polycystic ovarian syndrome: a challenging disorder with numerous consequences for females of reproductive age. *International Journal of Current Research in Physiology and Pharmacology*, 19-31.
- Maqbool, R., Maqbool, M., Zehravi, M., and Ara, I. (2022). Menstrual distress in females of reproductive age: a literature review. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 34(2), 11-17.
- Mehra, N., Tamta, G., and Nand, V. (2021). A review on nutritional value, phytochemical and pharmacological attributes of Foeniculum vulgare Mill. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 10(2), 1255-1263.
- Mendes, F. S. F., Garcia, L. M., da Silva Moraes, T., Casemiro, L. A., de Alcantara, C. B., Ambrósio, S. R., and Martins, C. H. G. (2020). Antibacterial activity of salvia officinalis L. against periodontopathogens: An in vitro study. *Anaerobe*, 63, 102194.
- Minocha, N. (2020). Polycystic Ovarian Disease or Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome: How to Identify and Manage-A Review. Archives of Pharmacy Practice, 11(2).
- Misra, N. N., Dixit, Y., Al-Mallahi, A., Bhullar, M. S., Upadhyay, R., and Martynenko, A. (2020). IoT, big data, and artificial intelligence in agriculture and food industry. *IEEE Internet of things Journal*, 9(9), 6305-6324.
- Mizuta, R., Maeda, N., Tashiro, T., Suzuki, Y., Oda, S., Komiya, M., and Urabe, Y. (2023). Quality of life by dysmenorrhea severity in young and adult Japanese females: A web-based cross-sectional study. *Plos one*, 18(3), e0283130.
- Nath, A. C. (2024) Unveiling Nature's Remedies: A Comparative Review of Phytochemistry and Pharmacology of Vitex Negundo and Aristolochiatangala.
- Nguyen, T., Brody, H., Lin, G. H., Rangé, H., Kuraji, R., Ye, C., and Kapila, Y. (2020). Probiotics, including nisin-based probiotics, improve clinical and microbial outcomes relevant to oral and systemic diseases. *Periodontology* 2000, 82(1), 173-185.
- Noble-Letort, S. R. (2021). Human-Earth Expressions on Integrative Health and Our Environment: Mapping Caves. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Noh, S., Go, A., Kim, D. B., Park, M., Jeon, H. W., and Kim, B. (2020). Role of antioxidant natural products in management of infertility: a review of their medicinal potential. *Antioxidants*, 9(10), 957.
- Ovidi, E., Laghezza Masci, V., Zambelli, M., Tiezzi, A., Vitalini, S., and Garzoli, S. (2021). Laurus nobilis, Salvia sclarea and Salvia officinalis essential oils and hydrolates: Evaluation of liquid and vapor phase chemical composition and biological activities. *Plants*, 10(4), 707.
- Patel, M. P., Vyas, A. S., Bharadia, P. D., Patel, J. K., and Patel, D. H. (2023). Urogenital System Disorders and Functional Foods and Nutraceuticals. In Applications of Functional Foods and Nutraceuticals for Chronic Diseases (pp. 317-340). CRC

Press.

Pathak, R., and Sharma, H. (2021). A review on medicinal uses of Cinnamomum verum (Cinnamon). Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics, 11(6-S), 161-166.

268

- Pathania, D., Sharma, M., Kumar, S., Thakur, P., Torino, E., Janas, D., and Thakur, S. (2021). Essential oil derived biosynthesis of metallic nano-particles: Implementations above essence. *Sustainable Materials and Technologies*, 30, e00352.
- Patrick, A. (2023). Breast and Gynecological Cancers. In *Women's Health in Britain and America: Texts and Contexts* (pp. 341-449). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Paw, M., Begum, T., Gogoi, R., Pandey, S. K., and Lal, M. (2020). Chemical composition of Citrus limon L. Burmf peel essential oil from North East India. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 23(2), 337-344.
- Phelan, N., Behan, L. A., and Owens, L. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women's reproductive health. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 12, 642755.
- Proserpio, P., Marra, S., Campana, C., Agostoni, E. C., Palagini, L., Nobili, L., and Nappi, R. E. (2020). Insomnia and menopause: a narrative review on mechanisms and treatments. *Climacteric*, 23(6), 539-549.
- Ramsey, J. T., Shropshire, B. C., Nagy, T. R., Chambers, K. D., Li, Y., and Korach, K. S. (2020). Focus: Plant-based medicine and pharmacology: Essential oils and health. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 93(2), 291.
- Rao, S. K. (2021). An insight on polycystic Ovary syndrome (PCOS) and use of herbal medicines as alternative treatment. In Treating Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders with Herbal Medicines (pp. 125-163). IGI Global.
- Sanchez, B. N., Kraemer, W. J., and Maresh, C. M. (2023). Premenstrual Syndrome and exercise: a narrative review. *Women*, 3(2), 348-364.
- Shahrajabian, M. H., Sun, W., and Cheng, Q. (2020). Chemical components and pharmacological benefits of Basil (Ocimum basilicum): A review. International Journal of Food Properties, 23(1), 1961-1970.
- Shala, A. Y., and Gururani, M. A. (2021). Phytochemical properties and diverse beneficial roles of Eucalyptus globulus Labill.: A review. *Horticulturae*, 7(11), 450.
- Sigdel, D., Joshi, A., Thapa, T., Koirala, P., and Sharma, K. (2023). Prevalence and predictors of dysmenorrhoea and it's effects among adolescent girls in Chitwan, Nepal. *Journal of Chitwan Medical College*, 13(1), 15-23.
- Silva, A. S., Tewari, D., Sureda, A., Suntar, I., Belwal, T., Battino, M., and Nabavi, S. F. (2021). The evidence of health benefits and food applications of Thymus vulgaris L. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 117, 218-227.
- Soares, G. A. B. E., Bhattacharya, T., Chakrabarti, T., Tagde, P., and Cavalu, S. (2021). Exploring pharmacological mechanisms of essential oils on the central nervous system. *Plants*, *11*(1), 21.
- Tai, Y., Ling, C., Wang, C., Wang, H., Su, L., Yang, L., and Yuan, Y. (2020). Analysis of terpenoid biosynthesis pathways in German chamomile (Matricaria recutita) and Roman chamomile (Chamaemelum nobile) based on co-expression networks. *Genomics*, 112(2), 1055-1064.
- Wal, P., Gupta, D., Wal, A., Pandey, S. S., and Krishnan, K. (2024). A Wholistic Approach to Non-Pharmacological Intervention for Primary Dysmenorrhea. *Current Women's Health Reviews*, 20(1), 21-34
- Wang, T., Sha, L., Li, Y., Zhu, L., Wang, Z., Li, K., and Wang, H. (2020). Dietary α-Linolenic acid-rich flaxseed oil exerts beneficial effects on polycystic ovary syndrome through sex steroid hormones—microbiota—inflammation axis in rats. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11, 524221

Chapter 31

Use of Essential oils an Alternate Approach against Parasitic Infections

Syed Muhammad Ali Shah¹, Asim Shamim¹, Fiza Tariq², Farah Shafique³, Jamal Muhammad Khan⁴ Taqdees Aimen⁵, Ouziffa Niaz¹, Syeda Noor Fatima⁶, Syed Ali Haider Shah⁷ and Safa Tariq⁸

¹Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, University of Poonch Rawalakot

- ³Faculty of Clinical Sciences, Rawalpindi Medical University
- ⁴Department of Parasitology, Cholistan University of Veterinary & Animal Sciences Bahawalpur

⁵Department of Pharmacy, Quaid i Azam University, Islamabad

⁶Department of Biochemistry, Kinnaird College for Women University, Lahore

⁷Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Lahore

⁸Poonch Medical College Rawalakot

*Corresponding author: syedmuhammadalishahg@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Parasites are potentially harmful organism for both humans and animals. Different treatment protocols have been used to treat diseases caused by parasites. Essential oils are one among them. Essential oils are lipophilic chemical extractions obtained from various plant sources have beneficial effects on human or animal health. Essential oils have been observed to have anti-parasitic properties in various studies. In this chapter therapeutic properties, usage form and effects of some selected essential oils extracted from different plants (Tea tree oil, Lavender oil, eucalyptus oil, Cedar wood oil, Lemongrass oil, Citronella oil, Clove oil, oregano oil, thyme oil and peppermint oil) have been discussed. In addition to these limitations and future prospectus of these oils have also been discussed particularly in the filled of both human and animal parasitology.

KEYWORDS	Received: 12-June-2024	SCHENTINIC ATH	A Publication of
Parasites, Botanicals, Essential Oils, Therapeutic, Veterinary	Revised: 18-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Medicine, One Health	Accepted: 12-Aug-2024	SUSP?	Publishers

Cite this Article as: Shah SMA, Shamim A, Tariq F, Shafique F, Khan JM, Aimen T, Niaz O, Fatima SN, Shah SAH and Tariq S 2024. Use of essential oils an alternate approach against parasitic infections. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 269-275. https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.453

INTRODUCTION

Parasites are the organisms causing fatal diseases in both humans and animals worldwide (Shah and Khan, 2019). They not only cause diseases through their infestation but also cause major socio-economic losses (Pisarski, 2019). These organisms are the major threat to public health, and their prevalence is of health importance (Hazards et al., 2018). The concept of one health can play an important role in controlling these disease-causing organisms as many parasites affect both humans and animals or have zoonotic potential (Dafale, Srivastava, and Purohit, 2020; Organization, 2022). Humans have been using essential oils for aromatherapy for centuries and no one can deny the therapeutic advantages of these oils for the treatment and control of diseases caused by different parasites (Akram et al., 2023; Ebani and Mancianti, 2020).

In parasitology, the use of essential oils and their potential therapeutic effects has also been observed and the results achieved on application of these oils in the control of parasites have been impressive (Dawood et al., 2021; Sorour et al., 2018). This chapter discusses the qualities and therapeutic use of several essential oils in treating parasitic illnesses (Panda, Daemen, Sahoo, and Luyten, 2022). These oils have ability to alter the life cycle of parasites by affecting their reproduction, thus minimize transmission to the susceptible host (Baptista-Silva, Borges, Ramos, Pintado, and Sarmento, 2020; Sandner, Heckmann, and Weghuber, 2020).

Essential oils are widely used in parasitology for therapeutic purpose. However, there are some limitations are associated with these oils e.g. proper dosage, concentration and purity for better result and to avoid undesirable effects (Filip Štrbac et al., 2023a; Filip Štrbac, Petrović, Stojanović, and Ratajac, 2021). Although, in filed there is limited use of these oils because of lack of standardization, field application and approval from international agencies like Federal Drug Regulatory Authority (FDA). After proper testing and approval these oils can be added in parasite control and managemental programs all over the world (Yangilar, 2021).

²Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Lahore

Commonly Used Essential Oils Tea Tree Oil

"Melaleuca alternifolia" commonly known as Tea tree (TT) is a native plant of Australia. Leaves of Melaleuca alternifolia used for oil extraction. It is reported that oil extracted from Melaleuca alternifolia leaves possess anti-parasitic properties against variety of parasites including, mites, flea and ticks (Boito et al., 2016; Puvača et al., 2019). Oil extracted from TT is applied topically for treatment of ectoparasites like mites and fleas (Gopinath, Aishwarya, and Karthikeyan, 2018). It has been observed that TT oil is an effective remedy against ear mite infestation in pets (Batista et al., 2016). TT oil is also effective against parasite when used on the parasite dwellings (Nascimento, Gomes, Simões, and da Graça Miguel, 2023).

TT oil can also be applied as an antiseptic for cleaning of wounds and prevent maggot growth (Kon and Rai, 2014). It is suggested that before field application some considerations must be practiced towards TT oil use i.e. proper dilution, topical use and supervision of qualified veterinarian(Robinson, 2020). In addition TT oil can be used very carefully as some of the animals species are sensitive to TT oil (Lemmens-Gruber, 2020; Liuwan et al., 2020).

Lavender Oil

Lavender oil (LO) is obtained from the "Lavandula angustifolia" flowers. It is reported that LO oil has antiparasitic and antimicrobial properties. LO has repellent power against ectoparasites generally and bugs specifically (Batiha et al., 2023; Crişan et al., 2023). Khan et al., 2024 discussed dermatological applications and significance of LO oil against control and treatment of parasitic infections. In addition to repellent LO is suitable candidate for the treatment and control of ectoparasites including mosquitoes, insects, and vermin (Tăbăraşu, Anghelache, Găgeanu, Biriş, and Vlăduţ, 2023). LO can be used locally to overcome redness, swelling, irritation and promote healing at site of infection associated with parasites (Irshad, Subhani, Ali, and Hussain, 2020; Malakar, 2024). In addition, it is noticed that LO is also good choice for the treatment of intestinal protozoa for example Giardia in vertebrates and birds (Hüsnü and Franz, 2020).

Eucalyptus Oil

Eucalyptus oil gets from "Eucalyptus globulus", which has serious solid areas for fragrance and has strong antiparasitic and antimicrobial effects (Adenubi, Abolaji, Salihu, Akande, and Lawal, 2021; Jafari et al., 2021). This oil additionally makes germ-free and mitigating impacts when applied (Göger, Karaca, BÜYÜKKILIÇ, Demirci, and Demirci, 2020). Eucalyptus oil can reduce parasitic infestation by inhibiting egg hatching and interfering with the developmental stages of helminth larvae (de Godoi et al., 2022). The bug repellent property of this oil is more prominent; consequently, it is by and large used as a bug repellent sprinkle in homes and working environments (Salvatori et al., 2023).

This oil should be used in the right concentrations since it can develop sensitivities and antagonistic responses when ingested in higher fixations (Ahmad et al., 2023). The calming impact of eucalyptus is valuable for applying to wounds with maggot infections (Ahuja, Gupta, and Gupta, 2021; Laudato and Capasso, 2013). Eucalyptus oil could help respiratory prosperity; along these lines, it will in general be used in patients encountering respiratory parasites.

Cedarwood Oil

Cedarwood (CW) oil is derived from different parts of "*Cedrus atlantica*" plant (Chauiyakh et al., 2023). In literature it is reported that CW oil exhibit various medicinal properties. This oil has good fungicidal, molluscicidal and repellent activity against insects (Hammam, El-Shouny, El-Sayed, and Ali, 2017). This oil also exhibits anti-inflammatory properties that makes it a suitable natural remedy against wound caused by ectoparasites (Flor-Weiler, Behle, Eller, Muturi, and Rooney, 2022). Furthermore, (Dolan et al., 2014 and Baker et al., 2018), also reported CW oil as an potent repellent against fleas and mosquitoes. Moreover, CW oil in combination with LG oil, can be used for control of flea in household pets (Nollet and Rathore, 2017). CW oil can also be used as soothing agent against itching and irritation caused by parasites (Vishali, Kavitha, and Selvalakshmi, 2023).

Lemongrass Oil

Lemongrass (LG) oil are extracts of "*Cymbopogon citratus*" plant. Gaba et al., (2020) reported antimicrobial, antiparasitic, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of LG. Patoliya et al., (2022) observed that LG oil is an effective oil for insect control. In addition, LG oil exhibit anthelminthic efficacy in animals as reported by Mukarram et al., (2021). Moreover, LG oil has ability to reduce pain and inflammation (Pelvan et al., 2022). Furthermore, LG oil is a valuable agent used for the treatment of skin infections and wound healing (Li et al., 2020). As LG oil contains caleed citral as an active ingredient that effect on insect nervous systems and disrupt feeding activity of ectoparasites (Patoliya et al., 2022).

Citronella Oil

Citronella (CN) oil is extracted from "Cymbopogon nardus" plant. This plant is important due to its high potency against ectoparasites specially bugs (Mahmud et al., 2022). CN oil has proven repellent properties against ectoparasites including mosquitoes, fleas and flies (Agnihotri, Ali, Das, and Alagirusamy, 2019; Lee, 2018). Tadee et al., (2024) have been reported that CN oil effects growth and development of parasites by disrupting their metabolism. In addition to repellent properties CN oil has shown anthelminthic properties against poultry helminths (Raza et al., 2022).

Clove Oil

Clove oil is obtained from the buds of "Syzygium aromaticum" plant (Boughendjioua, 2018). Clove oil is customarily known in integrative veterinary medication for its strong antimicrobial and antiparasitic impacts (Panda et al., 2022). Clove oil contains a compound called eugenol, which has expansive range antiparasitic impacts against parasites, including GIT nematodes, ticks, bugs and mites (Hari et al., 2022). Eugenol acts on the nervous system of the parasites and stops metabolic processes, thusly prompting to the death of the parasitic organism (Cox-Georgian, Ramadoss, Dona, and Basu, 2019; Mustapha, 2017). In any case, the oil ought to be utilized in little amounts; consequently, high amounts of oil can create harmfulness in administered animals (Horky, Skalickova, Smerkova, and Skladanka, 2019).

Oregano Oil

Oregano plant oil is extracted from the leaves and shoots of the plant "Origanum vulgare" through the process of steam distillation (Knez Hrnčič et al., 2020). This oil is famous among renowned among veterinary parasitologists for its strong antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and surprising anti-cancer properties (Alekseeva, Zagorcheva, Atanassov, and Rusanov, 2020; Karadayi, Yildirim, and Güllüce, 2020). Its high anti-parasitic potential has attracted the attention of veterinary parasitologists to integrative application of this oil in the field (Palomo-Ligas et al., 2023). Oregano oil can be used in smaller and controlled doses for parasitic control in animals (Filip Štrbac et al., 2022).

Carvacrol an active ingredient present in oregano oil has shown antiparasitic activity against several species of parasites (Mondal, Bose, Mazumder, and Khanra, 2021; Tomiotto-Pellissier et al., 2022). In addition, Milunovich, 2014 and Rostro-Alanis et al., 2019 have been reported anti protozoal and anti nematodal efficacy of oregano oil. Furthermore, a few studies have been presented repellent effect of oregano oil against ticks and fleas (Conceicao et al., 2020; Selles et al., 2021). It is suggested that oregano oil should be used on the reccomendation of veterinarian (Ellse and Wall, 2014).

Thyme Oil

Thyme oil (TO) is derived from parts of "*Thymus vulgaris*" plant. TO contains various compounds. However, thymol which is principal constituent of TO have shown *invitro* antiparasitic (Jarić, Mitrović, and Pavlović, 2015). Thyme oil is an effective botanical remedy against many protozoan species including Trypanosoma, Toxoplasma, Giardia, and Coccidiosis (Hikal et al., 2021; Nurdianti, 2023). In addition to antiprotozoal properties TO is also effective against ascariasis (Özkan, Gökpinar, Sibel, Akanbong, and Erdal, 2023). SO far there is no report on the toxicity of TO (Sisubalan, Sivamaruthi, Kesika, and Chaiyasut, 2023).

Peppermint Oil

Peppermint Oil (PO) is extracted from leaves of "Mentha piperita" plant (Ibrahim, Ankwai, Gungshik, and Taave, 2021). Peppermint oil is known in veterinary parasitology for both antiparasitic effects and anthelminthic therapeutic effects (F. Štrbac et al., 2023b). This essential oil can be considered for oral administration in small doses in animals. Peppermint oil can be used as effective alternative for treating gastrointestinal nematodes in sheep (Ferreira et al., 2018). The effects of Peppermint oil against parasites including Dactylogyrus sp. has been proven in research (Harmansa Yilmaz and Yavuzcan Yildiz, 2023). Research has also shown that this oil exhibit effective anthelminthic activity against anisakiasis in animal models (Romero, Navarro, Martín-Sánchez, and Valero, 2014). The dosage of peppermint oil should be controlled and used only if recommended by the specialist (McCaskill, 2021).

Challenges and Opportunities

Essential oils on one hand can be proven potentially beneficial if used in optimum quantities but on the other hand, they can be toxic and even fatal if given in a higher amount than prescribed (Sartori Tamburlin et al., 2021). Essential oils should only be used on the recommendation of a licensed veterinary practitioner, because some essential oils can be beneficial, but one species of animal can be proven toxic or allergic to another (Lanzerstorfer et al., 2021). For example, cats may show signs of toxicity even when essential oils are given in small amounts. There is a lack of standardization protocols for dosing and prescribing essential oils and their derivatives in veterinary practice (Silver, Silcox, and Loughton, 2021). This makes it difficult for veterinary practitioners to ensure the safe and optimum administration of essential oils to different species of animals hence reduces their usage in clinical presentations (Nehme et al., 2021). In current scenario, there is a lack of regulatory bodies for ensuring the quality and potency of essential oils that raises concerns about the field application of essential oils in veterinary practices (Jackson-Davis et al., 2023; Kanfer and Patnala, 2021). Essential oils can be utilized as better alternatives to traditional veterinary practices in future as many antiparasitic agents also leave undesirable and harmful effects on animals administered with antiparasitic and anthelminthic drugs (Ramdani, Yuniarti, Jayanegara, and Chaudhry, 2023). These oils can be implemented as an eco-friendly and sustainable approach to controlling parasitic diseases. Many essential oils have specific antiparasitic properties, and many have broad-spectrum potency against parasites and worms (Marjanović et al., 2020). Hence, they can be administered for treating a targeted parasitic treatment approach as well as for treating multiple parasitic species infestations. Essential oils can be used for preventive care and as stress-relieving agents against parasitic diseases to improve the overall wellbeing of animals (Darrell, 2022). A reasonable amount of essential oils can be added to animal feed to increase the nutrient profile and as a parasite-preventive strategy in animals (Horky et al., 2019).

Future Research

There is a limited research bank proving the antiparasitic properties of essential oils. There is evidence that essential oils exhibit antiparasitic and anthelminthic properties but are not well defined (Matté, Luciano, and Evangelista, 2023). There is a need to establish proper procedures to testify essential oils use in veterinary medicine following proper application methods and calculation of proper dose (Bunse *et al.*, 2022). In addition, further research studies will be carried out to evaluate toxicity of these essential oils in controlled and field conditions (Rojas-Armas et al., 2019; Teke, Elisée, and Roger, 2013).There is a need for the development of assessment protocols through clinical trials describing the efficacy of essential oils for usage in veterinary practices for parasitic diseases. It is crucial to conduct research focusing on the adverse effects and allergic reactions of essential oils, if any, consequently ensuring the safety of these antiparasitic armors (Calvo-Irabien, 2018). It is also important to have trials to investigate the long-term potential effects of essential oils in veterinary parasitology (Nechita, Poirel, Cozma, and Zenner, 2015). There is a huge gap in research and studies on the practical application of essential oils in the field of veterinary medicine for the control of parasites have been observed. This chapter identifies the properties; clinical applications and adverse reactions of commonly used essential oils and paves the way for future research by identifying gaps and by proposing required research implications for the development of these and adverse and improving animal welfare.

Conclusion

Essential oils are one of the options used for the treatment of parasitic infections in filed along with other treatments regimes and protocols if administered under the supervision of veterinary and health practitioner. They can be used generally and specifically for the treatment and control of parasitic infections. On the basis of literature review and studies conducted so far, it is generally concluded that essential oil extracted from plant sources are one of the best alternatives to synthetic ant-parasitic agents. In addition to this there is minimum chance of anti-parasitic resistance associated with these essential oils. Veterinary health professional must communicate to the farming community about the safe usage of these oils against parasitic infections.

REFERENCES

- Adenubi, O. T., Abolaji, A. O., Salihu, T., Akande, F. A., and Lawal, H. (2021). Chemical composition and acaricidal activity of Eucalyptus globulus essential oil against the vector of tropical bovine piroplasmosis, Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) annulatus. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 83, 301-312.
- Agnihotri, A., Ali, S. W., Das, A., and Alagirusamy, R. (2019). Insect-repellent textiles using green and sustainable approaches The Impact and Prospects of Green Chemistry for Textile Technology (pp. 307-325): Elsevier.
- Ahmad, R. S., Imran, M., Ahmad, M. H., Khan, M. K., Yasmin, A., Saima, H., and Rahim, M. A. (2023). Eucalyptus essential oils *Essential Oils* (pp. 217-239): Elsevier.
- Ahuja, A., Gupta, J., and Gupta, R. (2021). Miracles of herbal phytomedicines in treatment of skin disorders: natural healthcare perspective. *Infectious Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Infectious Disorders), 21*(3), 328-338.
- Akram, W., Aslam, M., Qamar, M., Siddiq, H., Zaman, M., Ehtisham-ul-Haque, S., and Rafique, N. (2023). Zoonotic parasitic disease control strategies: phytotherapy. *Zoonosis, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, 2*, 331-345.
- Alekseeva, M., Zagorcheva, T., Atanassov, I., and Rusanov, K. (2020). Origanum vulgare L.-a review on genetic diversity, cultivation, biological activities and perspectives for molecular breeding. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 26(6).
- Baptista-Silva, S., Borges, S., Ramos, O. L., Pintado, M., and Sarmento, B. (2020). The progress of essential oils as potential therapeutic agents: A review. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, *32*(4), 279-295.
- Batiha, G. E.-S., Teibo, J. O., Wasef, L., Shaheen, H. M., Akomolafe, A. P., Teibo, T. K. A., and Papadakis, M. (2023). A review of the bioactive components and pharmacological properties of Lavandula species. *Naunyn-schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 396(5), 877-900.
- BATISTA, L. C. D. S., Cid, Y. P., De Almeida, A. P., Prudêncio, E. R., Riger, C. J., De Souza, M. A., and Chaves, D. S. (2016). In vitro efficacy of essential oils and extracts of Schinus molle L. against Ctenocephalides felis felis. *Parasitology*, 143(5), 627-638.
- Boito, J. P., Santos, R. C., Vaucher, R. A., Raffin, R., Machado, G., Tonin, A. A., and Da Silva, A. S. (2016). Evaluation of tea tree oil for controlling Rhipicephalus microplus in dairy cows. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 225, 70-72.
- Boughendjioua, H. (2018). Essential oil composition of Syzygium aromaticum (L.). IRJPMS, 11, 26-28.
- Bunse, M., Daniels, R., Gründemann, C., Heilmann, J., Kammerer, D. R., Keusgen, M., and Wink, M. (2022). Essential Oils as Multicomponent Mixtures and Their Potential for Human Health and Well-Being. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 13. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.956541
- Calvo-Irabien, L. M. (2018). Native Mexican aromatic flora and essential oils: Current research status, gaps in knowledge and agro-industrial potential. *Industrial Crops and Products, 111*, 807-822.
- Chauiyakh, O., El Fahime, E., Aarabi, S., Ninich, O., Bentata, F., Kettani, K., and Ettahir, A. (2023). A systematic review on chemical composition and biological activities of cedar oils and extracts. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, *16*(8), 3875-3883.

- Conceicao, C. L., de Morais, L. A., Campos, D. R., Chaves, J. K. d. O., dos Santos, G. C., Cid, Y. P., and Coumendouros, K. (2020). Evaluation of insecticidal activity of thyme, oregano, and cassia volatile oils on cat flea. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, *30*, 774-779.
- Cox-Georgian, D., Ramadoss, N., Dona, C., and Basu, C. (2019). Therapeutic and medicinal uses of terpenes. *Medicinal Plants: from Farm to Pharmacy*, 333-359.
- Crișan, I., Ona, A., Vârban, D., Muntean, L., Vârban, R., Stoie, A., and Morea, A. (2023). Current trends for lavender (Lavandula angustifolia Mill.) crops and products with emphasis on essential oil quality. *Plants*, *12*(2), 357.
- Dafale, N. A., Srivastava, S., and Purohit, H. J. (2020). Zoonosis: an emerging link to antibiotic resistance under "one health approach". *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, *60*, 139-152.
- Darrell, N. (2022). Essential Oils: A Concise Manual of Their Therapeutic use in Herbal and Aromatic Medicine: Aeon Books.
- Dawood, M. A., El Basuini, M. F., Zaineldin, A. I., Yilmaz, S., Hasan, M. T., Ahmadifar, E., and Abu-Elala, N. M. (2021). Antiparasitic and antibacterial functionality of essential oils: An alternative approach for sustainable aquaculture. *Pathogens*, *10*(2), 185.
- de Godoi, S. N., Gressler, L. T., de Matos, A. F. I. M., Gündel, A., Monteiro, S. G., Santos, R. C. V., and Ourique, A. F. (2022). Eucalyptus oil nanoemulsions against eggs and larvae of Haemonchus contortus. *Experimental Parasitology, 241*, 108345. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2022.108345</u>
- Ebani, V. V., and Mancianti, F. (2020). Use of essential oils in veterinary medicine to combat bacterial and fungal infections. *Veterinary Sciences*, 7(4), 193.
- Ellse, L., and Wall, R. (2014). The use of essential oils in veterinary ectoparasite control: a review. *Medical and Veterinary* Entomology, 28(3), 233-243.
- Ferreira, L. E., Benincasa, B. I., Fachin, A. L., Contini, S. H. T., França, S. C., Chagas, A. C. S., and Beleboni, R. O. (2018). Essential oils of Citrus aurantifolia, Anthemis nobile and Lavandula officinalis: in vitro anthelmintic activities against Haemonchus contortus. *Parasites and Vectors*, 11, 1-9.
- Flor-Weiler, L. B., Behle, R. W., Eller, F. J., Muturi, E. J., and Rooney, A. P. (2022). Repellency and toxicity of a CO2-derived cedarwood oil on hard tick species (Ixodidae). *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, *86*(2), 299-312.
- Göger, G., Karaca, N., BÜYÜKKILIÇ, B., Demirci, B., and Demirci, F. (2020). In vitro antimicrobial, antioxidant and antiinflammatory evaluation of Eucalyptus globulus essential oil. *Natural Volatiles and Essential Oils*, 7(3), 1-11.
- Gopinath, H., Aishwarya, M., and Karthikeyan, K. (2018). Tackling scabies: novel agents for a neglected disease. *International Journal of Dermatology*, 57(11), 1293-1298.
- Hammam, M., El-Shouny, F., El-Sayed, S., and Ali, A. (2017). Evaluation of Three Essential Oils Activities as Antimicrobial and Insecticidal Agents. *Menoufia Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology*, 2(4), 53-62.
- Hari, S. C., Rajan, N. S., Raida, Sreya, V., Suresh, S., Harisankaran, P., and Yatoo, M. I. (2022). Potential effects of essential oils in safeguarding the health and enhancing production performance of livestock animals: the current scientific understanding.
- Harmansa Yilmaz, B., and Yavuzcan Yildiz, H. (2023). Anthelmintic effects of peppermint (Mentha piperita), lemon (Citrus limon), and tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia) essential oils against Monogenean parasite (Dactylogyrus sp.) on carp (Cyprinus carpio). *Helminthologia*, *60*(2), 125-133. doi: 10.2478/helm-2023-0019
- Hazards, E. P. o. B., Koutsoumanis, K., Allende, A., Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., Bolton, D., Bover-Cid, S., and Herman, L. (2018). Public health risks associated with food-borne parasites. *EFSA Journal*, *16*(12), e05495.
- Hikal, W. M., Tkachenko, K. G., Said-Al Ahl, H. A., Sany, H., Sabra, A. S., Baeshen, R. S., and Bratovcic, A. (2021). Chemical composition and biological significance of thymol as antiparasitic. *Open Journal of Ecology*, *11*(3), 240-266.
- Horky, P., Skalickova, S., Smerkova, K., and Skladanka, J. (2019). Essential oils as a feed additives: Pharmacokinetics and potential toxicity in monogastric animals. *Animals*, 9(6), 352.
- Hüsnü, K. C. B., and Franz, C. (2020). Essential Oils Used in Veterinary Medicine Handbook of Essential Oils (pp. 919-932): CRC Press.
- Ibrahim, M., Ankwai, G., Gungshik, J., and Taave, P. (2021). Comparative extraction of essential oils of Mentha piperita (mint) by steam distillation and enfleurage. *Nigerian Journal of Chemical Research*, *26*(2), 56-62.
- Irshad, M., Subhani, M. A., Ali, S., and Hussain, A. (2020). Biological importance of essential oils. *Essential Oils-Oils of Nature*, 1, 37-40.
- Jackson-Davis, A., White, S., Kassama, L. S., Coleman, S., Shaw, A., Mendonca, A., and London, L. (2023). A Review of Regulatory Standards and Advances in Essential Oils as Antimicrobials in Foods. *Journal of Food Protection, 86*(2), 100025. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfp.2022.100025</u>
- Jafari, F., Ramezani, M., Nomani, H., Amiri, M. S., Moghadam, A. T., Sahebkar, A., and Mohammadpour, A. H. (2021). Therapeutic effect, chemical composition, ethnobotanical profile of Eucalyptus globulus: A review. *Letters in Organic Chemistry*, *18*(6), 419-452.
- Jarić, S., Mitrović, M., and Pavlović, P. (2015). Review of Ethnobotanical, Phytochemical, and Pharmacological Study of Thymus serpyllum L. *Evidence Based Complementry Alternative Medicine*, 2015, 101978. doi: 10.1155/2015/101978
- Kanfer, I., and Patnala, S. (2021). Chapter 7 Regulations for the use of herbal remedies. In R. Henkel and A. Agarwal (Eds.), Herbal Medicine in Andrology (pp. 189-206): Academic Press.
- Karadayi, M., Yildirim, V., and Güllüce, M. (2020). Antimicrobial activity and other biological properties of oregano essential oil and carvacrol. *Anatolian Journal of Biology*, 1(2), 52-68.

- Knez Hrnčič, M., Cör, D., Simonovska, J., Knez, Ž., Kavrakovski, Z., and Rafajlovska, V. (2020). Extraction techniques and analytical methods for characterization of active compounds in Origanum species. *Molecules*, *25*(20), 4735.
- Kon, K., and Rai, M. (2014). Natural remedies for the treatment of wounds and wound infection *Microbiology for Surgical Infections* (pp. 187-203): Elsevier.
- Lanzerstorfer, P., Sandner, G., Pitsch, J., Mascher, B., Aumiller, T., and Weghuber, J. (2021). Acute, reproductive, and developmental toxicity of essential oils assessed with alternative in vitro and in vivo systems. *Arch Toxicol*, 95(2), 673-691. doi: 10.1007/s00204-020-02945-6
- Laudato, M., and Capasso, R. (2013). Useful plants for animal therapy. OA Alternative Medicine, 1(1), 1.
- Lee, M. Y. (2018). Essential oils as repellents against arthropods. *BioMed Research International, 2018*.
- Lemmens-Gruber, R. (2020). Adverse Effects and Intoxication with Essential Oils *Handbook of Essential Oils* (pp. 517-541): CRC Press.
- Liuwan, C. C., Listiawan, M. Y., Murtiastutik, D., Ervianti, E., Sawitri, S., Prakoeswa, C. R. S., and Zulkarnain, I. (2020). The Effectiveness of 5% Tea Tree Oil cream, 10% Tea Tree Oil cream, and 5% Permethrin Cream for Scabies Treatment in Pediatric Patients. *Berkala Ilmu Kesehatan Kulit dan Kelamin–Periodical of Dermatology and Venereology*, *32*(3), 200-205.
- Mahmud, F., Mahedi, M. R. A., Afrin, S., Haque, R., Hasan, M. S., Sum, F. A., and Kuri, O. C. (2022). Biological and Insecticidal Effect of Citronella Oil: A Short Review. *Clinical Medicine and Health Research Journal*, *2*(6), 261-265.
- Malakar, M. (2024). Lavandula spp.(Lavender): A Herb More Than Just a Relaxing Scent. Advances in Medicinal and Aromatic Plants: Production, Processing, and Pharmaceutics, 2-volume set, 315.
- Marjanović, Đ., Zdravković, N., Pavlović, M., Nešić, K., Savić Radovanović, R., and Trailović, S. (2020). Antiparsitic effect of some active components of essential oils. Paper presented at the 19th International Conference Life Sciences for Sustainable Development, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, 24th-25th September 2020.
- Matté, E. H. C., Luciano, F. B., and Evangelista, A. G. (2023). Essential oils and essential oil compounds in animal production as antimicrobials and anthelmintics: an updated review. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 24(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1017/S1466252322000093
- McCaskill, L. D. (2021). The Use of Essential Oils in Traditional Chinese Veterinary Medicine: Small Animal Practice. *American Journal of Traditional Chinese Veterinary Medicine*, 67.
- Mondal, A., Bose, S., Mazumder, K., and Khanra, R. (2021). Carvacrol (Origanum vulgare): Therapeutic properties and molecular mechanisms. *Bioactive Natural Products for Pharmaceutical Applications*, 437-462.
- Mustapha, O. (2017). The effects of terpenes on the life cycle of the malaria parasite. University of the Witwatersrand, Faculty of Health Sciences.
- Nascimento, T., Gomes, D., Simões, R., and da Graça Miguel, M. (2023). Tea tree oil: properties and the therapeutic approach to acne—a review. Antioxidants, 12(6), 1264.
- Nechita, I. S., Poirel, M. T., Cozma, V., and Zenner, L. (2015). The repellent and persistent toxic effects of essential oils against the poultry red mite, Dermanyssus gallinae. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *214*(3-4), 348-352. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2015.10.014
- Nehme, R., Andrés, S., Pereira, R. B., Ben Jemaa, M., Bouhallab, S., Ceciliani, F., and Abdennebi-Najar, L. (2021). Essential Oils in Livestock: From Health to Food Quality. *Antioxidants*, *10*(2), 330.
- Nollet, L. M., and Rathore, H. S. (2017). Essential Oil Mixtures for Pest Control *Green Pesticides Handbook* (pp. 509-522): CRC Press.
- Nurdianti, N. (2023). Coccidiosis in Small Ruminant and Antiparasitic Activity of Essential Oils. *Media Kedokteran Hewan, 34*, 60-79. doi: 10.20473/mkh.v34i1.2023.60-79
- Organization, W. H. (2022). A health perspective on the role of the environment in One Health: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe.
- Özkan, D., Gökpinar, S., Sibel, Y., Akanbong, E., and Erdal, K. (2023). The therapeutic effectiveness of thyme extract in naturally infected puppies with ascariasis. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary Research*, 7(1), 39-45.
- Palomo-Ligas, L., Vargas-Villanueva, J. R., Garza-Ontiveros, M., Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, F., Castillo-Godina, R. G., Campos-Muzquiz, L. G., and Nery-Flores, S. D. (2023). New Alternatives of Treatment Against Intestinal Parasite Infection Antimicrobials in Pharmaceutical and Medicinal Research (pp. 203-239): CRC Press.
- Panda, S. K., Daemen, M., Sahoo, G., and Luyten, W. (2022). Essential oils as novel anthelmintic drug candidates. *Molecules*, 27(23), 8327.
- Pisarski, K. (2019). The global burden of disease of zoonotic parasitic diseases: top 5 contenders for priority consideration. *Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease*, 4(1), 44.
- Puvača, N., Čabarkapa, I., Petrović, A., Bursić, V., Prodanović, R., Soleša, D., and Lević, J. (2019). Tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia) and its essential oil: antimicrobial, antioxidant and acaricidal effects in poultry production. World's Poultry Science Journal, 75(2), 235-246.
- Ramdani, D., Yuniarti, E., Jayanegara, A., and Chaudhry, A. S. (2023). Roles of essential oils, polyphenols, and saponins of medicinal plants as natural additives and anthelmintics in ruminant diets: A systematic review. *Animals*, *13*(4), 767.
- Raza, Q. S., Saleemi, M. K., Gul, S., Irshad, H., Fayyaz, A., Zaheer, I., and Imran, M. (2022). Role of essential oils/volatile oils in poultry production—A review on present, past and future contemplations. *Agrobiological Records*, *7*, 40-56.
- Robinson, A. (2020). Aromatherapy and Essential Oils for Healing: 120 Remedies to Restore Mind, Body, and Spirit: Callisto

- Rojas-Armas, J. P., Arroyo-Acevedo, J. L., Ortiz-Sánchez, J. M., Palomino-Pacheco, M., Hilario-Vargas, H. J., Herrera-Calderón, O., and Hilario-Vargas, J. (2019). Potential toxicity of the essential oil from Minthostachys mollis: A medicinal plant commonly used in the traditional Andean medicine in Peru. *Journal of Toxicology*, 2019.
- Romero, M. C., Navarro, M. C., Martín-Sánchez, J., and Valero, A. (2014). Peppermint (Mentha piperita) and albendazole against anisakiasis in an animal model. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *19*(12), 1430-1436. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12399
- Salvatori, E. S., Morgan, L. V., Ferrarini, S., Zilli, G. A., Rosina, A., Almeida, M. O., and Oliveira, J. V. (2023). Anti-Inflammatory and Antimicrobial Effects of Eucalyptus spp. Essential Oils: A Potential Valuable Use for an Industry Byproduct. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2023*.
- Sandner, G., Heckmann, M., and Weghuber, J. (2020). Immunomodulatory activities of selected essential oils. *Biomolecules*, *10*(8), 1139.
- Sartori Tamburlin, I., Roux, E., Feuillée, M., Labbé, J., Aussaguès, Y., El Fadle, F. E., and Bouvier, G. (2021). Toxicological safety assessment of essential oils used as food supplements to establish safe oral recommended doses. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *157*, 112603. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2021.112603
- Selles, S. M. A., Kouidri, M., González, M. G., González, J., Sánchez, M., González-Coloma, A., and Tercero, J. M. (2021). Acaricidal and repellent effects of essential oils against ticks: a review. *Pathogens*, *10*(11), 1379.
- Shah, S. S. A., and Khan, A. (2019). One health and parasites *Global Applications of One Health Practice and Care* (pp. 82-112): IGI Global.
- Silver, R., Silcox, S., and Loughton, D. (2021). Product selection and dosing considerations. *Cannabis Therapy in Veterinary* Medicine: A Complete Guide, 307-342.
- Sisubalan, N., Sivamaruthi, B. S., Kesika, P., and Chaiyasut, C. (2023). Composition, Bioactivities, Safety Concerns, and Impact of Essential Oil on Pets' and Animals' Health. *Preprints.org*.
- Sorour, S. S., Asa, S., Elhawary, N. M., Ghazy, E. W., El-Latif, A., El-Abasy, M. A., and Khalifa, H. O. (2018). Anticoccidial and hepatoprotective effects of artemisinin liquid extract, cinnamon essential oil and clove essential oil against Eimeria stiedae infection in rabbits. *Tropical Biomedicine*.
- Štrbac, F., Krnjajić, S., Maurelli, M. P., Stojanović, D., Simin, N., Orčić, D., and Cringoli, G. (2022). A potential anthelmintic phytopharmacological source of Origanum vulgare (L.) essential oil against gastrointestinal nematodes of sheep. *Animals*, 13(1), 45.
- Štrbac, F., Krnjajić, S., Stojanović, D., Novakov, N., Bosco, A., Simin, N., and Rinaldi, L. (2023a). Botanical control of parasites in veterinary medicine. One health Triad, 3(31), 215-222.
- Štrbac, F., Krnjajić, S., Stojanović, D., Ratajac, R., Simin, N., Orčić, D., and Bosco, A. (2023b). Invitro and in vivo anthelmintic efficacy of peppermint (Mentha x piperita L.) essential oil against gastrointestinal nematodes of sheep. *Frontiers in* veterinary science, 10, 1232570. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1232570
- Štrbac, F., Petrović, K., Stojanović, D., and Ratajac, R. (2021). Possibilities and limitations of the use of essential oils in dogs and cats. Veterinary Journal of Republic of Srpska, 21(1), 238.
- Tăbărașu, A.-M., Anghelache, D.-N., Găgeanu, I., Biriș, S.-Ș., and Vlăduț, N.-V. (2023). Considerations on the use of active compounds obtained from lavender. *Sustainability*, *15*(11), 8879.
- Teke, G. N., Elisée, K. N., and Roger, K. J. (2013). Chemical composition, antimicrobial properties and toxicity evaluation of the essential oil of Cupressus lusitanica Mill. leaves from Cameroon. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 13, 1-9.
- Tomiotto-Pellissier, F., da Silva Bortoleti, B. T., Concato, V. M., Ganaza, A. F. M., Quasne, A. C., Ricci, B., and Silva, T. F. (2022). The cytotoxic and anti-leishmanial activity of Oregano (Origanum vulgare) essential oil: An in vitro, in vivo, and in silico study. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *187*, 115367.
- Vishali, S., Kavitha, E., and Selvalakshmi, S. (2023). Therapeutic Role of Essential Oils. Essential Oils: Extraction Methods and Applications, 953-976.
- Yangilar, F. (2021). Biological activities, health benefits, extraction methods, food applications and beneficial effects of essential oils (İ. KAYA Ed. 1 ed.). Ankara: İksad Publishing House

Chapter 32

Essential Oils as Alternative Treatments for Common Parasitic Infections in Animals

Muhammad Asif Razzaq¹, Muhammad Imran¹, Muhammad Kasib Khan^{1*}, Abdullah Azeem¹, Muhammad Hassan Raza^{2,8}, Muhammad Awais Afzal^{2,5}, Hazrat Bilal^{3,4}, Muhammad Rahman¹, Hizb Ullah^{6,7} and Bilal Abbas^{2,5}

¹Department of Parasitology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad

²Department of Theriogenology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad

³Veterinary officer, livestock and dairy development department Balochistan

⁴Department of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Pakistan ⁵Livestock and Dairy Development Department, Government of Punjab, Pakistan

⁶Dairy Health Manager, Meri Dairy and Farms Rawalpindi- Pakistan

⁷Institute of Animal and Dairy Sciences, Faculty of Animal Husbandry, University of Agriculture Faisalabad

⁸Veterinarian, Al jaryan Stud, Qatar

*Corresponding author: mkkhan@uaf.edu.pk

ABSTRACT

Essential oils are reported to be effective for the natural, alternative treatment of common parasitic infections in animals. These are plant derivatives endowed with properties against the parasitic population, anti-inflammatory, and antimicrobial properties that could reduce reliance on synthetic chemical treatments. These oils have been shown to have effects against a number of ectoparasites, such as ticks, fleas, and mites, and endoparasites, such as roundworms and hookworms. These varied active compounds from the essential oils act on the different pathways of the parasites, causing a hindrance in their life cycles, reproduction, and host-infesting ability.

Among the main benefits that have been derived from the use of essential oils are reduced risks of resistance to parasites and, in some cases, synergistic effects when applied in combination with other natural compounds or conventional drugs. These would, however, come with major challenges requiring quality control of oils with variable compositions, possible animal toxicity or side effects, correct dosing and administration recommendations, and suitability for a large-scale production setting. Comprehensiveness in aspects such as safety, modes of action, and clinical trials is necessary for their development.

The essential oils are not an absolute substitute for veterinary care, but they are quite promising in a complementary approach, and it is under professional guidance that they should be used judiciously. These limitations can be taken care of by rigorous study, standardization, and collaboration with stakeholders to uncover the applications of these natural remedies in the fight against parasitic infections and in promoting animal health and well-being. In this regard, continuous research will disclose several sustainable options for parasite control.

KEYWORDS	Received: 15-June-2024	SCIENTINIC AT	A Publication of
Essential oils, Parasitic infections, Antimicrobial properties,	Revised: 08-July-2024		Unique Scientific
Resistance reduction, Animal toxicity	Accepted: 02-Aug-2024		Publishers

Cite this Article as: Razzaq MA, Imran M, Khan MK, Azeem A, Raza MH, Afzal MA, Bilal H, Rahman M, Ullah H and Abbas B, 2024. Essential oils as alternative treatments for common parasitic infections in animals. In: Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Imran M, Tahir S and Qamar W (eds), Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Essential oils. Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, pp: 276-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.47278/book.CAM/2024.475</u>

INTRODUCTION

Essential oils have gained importance as alternatives for the management of several afflictions in both humans and animals (Koul, Walia, and Dhaliwal, 2008). Although the aromatic properties of these plant-derived oils have been used extensively, their prospects in medical applications, especially as alternative treatments for common parasitic infestations in animals, are becoming more and more interesting. Parasites can become serious health hazards in animals, affecting growth, behavior, and well-being. Most of the conventional approaches are based on the use of synthetic chemicals and hence have negative effects. Essential oils stand out as a natural approach that may reduce our dependence on synthetic compounds (Sarkic and Stappen, 2018).

The applied essential oils to the parasitic infections in animals are all extracted from different plants, all with specific characteristics. Some widely known ones are tea tree, eucalyptus, lavender, and peppermint (Ellse and Wall, 2014). These oils have been noticed as anti-parasitic, anti-inflammatory, and antiseptic properties, which have made them quite

attractive in comparison to traditional treatments (Upadhyay, 2010). The key point to their efficiency is in their active compounds, such as terpenes, which are known for their biological activities (Maimone and Baran, 2007).

The entire gamut of animal health problems is caused by different kinds of parasites (Smith, 1970). Classic chemical treatments are effective, but side effects and resistance make alternative, more natural solutions necessary. In this sense, evidence is also given for the potentials of essential oils, considering that many of them have antiparasitic properties that can be exploited for the treatment and prevention of the most common parasitic infections in the animal world (Ramdani, Yuniarti, Jayanegara, and Chaudhry, 2023).

Among the most researched anti-parasitic agents in the essential oils is neem oil (Etewa and Abaza, 2011). Neem oil is obtained from the tree of neem. It has been widely used through generations in the field of traditional medicine, especially in India and other parts of Asia, to carry out its insecticidal, anti-inflammatory, and antiseptic activities. Scientific research has indicated that this oil has the ability to fight off several parasites such as ticks, fleas, mites, and intestinal worms (Selles et al., 2021).

The active ingredient in neem oil is azadirachtin along with other limonoids, which is known to disturb the life cycle and reproduction of the parasite, acting as feeding and molting deterrents (Muhammad and Kashere, 2020). For instance, neem oil has killing and repelling effects on ticks, fleas, and mites. It holds the potential as an alternative method to conventional chemical acaricides or treatments administered against ectoparasites (Gupta, Doss, Srivastava, Lall, and Sinha, 2019).

Additionally, neem oil has been found to act against internal parasites, namely roundworms and hookworms (Sunita, Kumar, Khan, Husain, and Singh, 2017). Given orally or applied topically, neem oil kills these parasites inside the animal's body, thus reducing the likelihood of gastric parasites and other health-related problems associated with internal parasitic infestations. Another major essential oil that will be focused upon is that of the clove plant, Syzygium aromaticum, which is highly rich in eugenol, a compound of very strong antibacterial, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activity. These factors make the oil of the plant very interesting for treatment of parasitic infections in animals (Gurib-Fakim, 2006).

Other studies have reported clove oil to have proved as an effective acaricide in killing and repelling several ectoparasites, including ticks, fleas, and mites, on contact. Due to its strong smell and insecticidal characteristics, it has the potential to be an ideal natural repellent, and animals do not contract the parasites (Mele, 2020). Secondly, it has been shown effective against internal parasites, especially roundworms and hookworms, so it can be used against gastro parasitism treatment. The other very important essential oil is garlic oil, which is likely to harbor some potential benefits as an antiparasitic. Allium sativum, popularly known as garlic, is one of those plants that have been known to harbor several medicinal uses since time immemorial. In addition to its medicinal uses, its oil has several sulfur-containing compounds, such as allicin, that exerts strong antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory effects (Lemar, 2005).

The studies confirmed the effect of garlic oil on a vast spectrum of parasites, from ticks and fleas to mites and intestinal worms. Some components in the oil will interfere with the life cycle and the ability of the parasites to reproduce; hence, they shall not be able to survive in or on the host animal (Hrckova and Velebny, 2012). In addition, garlic oil may stimulate the animal's immune system in the fight against parasitic infection. Although essential oils have been reported as a potential natural alternative in the treatment of animals' parasitic infection, the effectiveness of essential oils may vary with the host species, dosage, method of administration, and individual host response. Therefore, it is important to consult with a veterinarian or animal health professional prior to the inclusion of any essential oil in a treatment protocol for parasites (Singh, Gupta, and Singh, 2004).

Essential oils should be applied correctly on animals, in the right dosage, and with the right procedure (Tisserand and Young, 2013). Many of the essential oils are highly concentrated and can cause irritation or be toxic in inappropriate dosages. Often, it is recommended to dilute them into carrier oils, such as coconut or almond oil, which further helps in reducing the risk for any adverse reactions. Also, there should be the consideration in the method of application as well as the specific invasion of the parasitic disease or the totality of health condition of an animal (Stevanović, Bošnjak-Neumüller, Pajić-Lijaković, Raj, and Vasiljević, 2018).

Of significant note is the possibility of the interaction of essential oils with other drugs or treatment. Some could interfere with the drugs or potentiate their action, leading to side effects or lack of effectiveness. The veterinary officer should be informed of all other drugs and treatments the animal is on before using essential oils in the management of the animal (Edris, 2007).

Moreover, reputable suppliers are there to be found, and they can always ensure high quality, pure essential oils. Poor extraction or even adulteration of the oils has the potential to create contaminants within the oil or to reduce the amount of available active ingredients, therefore reducing efficacy and potentially causing harm to the animal. However, their use to treat common parasitoses in animals should be approached with care and under the guidance of a veterinary professional. Suitable doses, methods of application, and the potentiality of the interactions and adverse effects must be considered before safe and effective application of any natural medicine (Tisserand and Young, 2013).

Research on the mechanisms of action and optimal application of these various essential oils in the treatment of parasitic infections of animals continues to provide revealed scientific evidence to support more practical application of essential oils within conventional treatment protocols and, most likely, further the health and well-being of animals while reducing the use of synthetic chemical treatments (Bassolé and Juliani, 2012). In addition to the anti-parasitic potential, most essential oils possess an antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and analgesic effect, adding value in relation to the

treatment of secondary problems to the parasitic infection, such as skin irritation, inflammation, and pain (Chouhan, Sharma, and Guleria, 2017).

For example, lavender oil is believed to be calming and also carries some extremely powerful properties in the case of anti-inflammatory and analgesic actions. Added to the therapies against parasites, it will aid in the reduction of pain and inflammation in the skin associated with these organisms, helping the affected animal heal more quickly and be less stressed (Grecu, Henea, Trifan, and Rimbu, 2021).

For instance, while tea tree oil has been studied extensively for its potent antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activity, it can possibly exert an anti-parasitic effect. This all-purpose oil can prevent secondary bacterial or fungal infection due to skin irritation or open wounds created by parasites and offer a fuller scope of treatment of these infections (Lam, Long, Griffin, Chen, and Doery, 2018).

For instance, thyme (Thymus vulgaris) essential oil contains many monoterpenes, thymol, and carvacrol, which have been highly efficacious against a wide range of parasites, including ticks, fleas, and intestinal worms (Gonçalves et al., 2017). Indeed, this can potentially interfere with membrane permeability, enzymatic activities, and energy production in the parasites, thus offering difficulty in developing resistance due to the multiplicity of action (Sardari, Mobaiend, Ghassemifard, Kamali, and Khavasi, 2021).

In the same way, oregano essential oil from Origanum vulgare has high amounts of phenolic compounds, mainly carvacrol and thymol, together with other terpenes such as p-cymene and γ -terpinene. These different compounds act in a synergistic way in the different aspects of the physiology and metabolism of the parasite, which can reduce the likelihood of resistance development (Štrbac et al., 2022).

The advantage of EO-based alternative treatments may rely on the possibility of synergistic interactions of EOs with other natural compounds or with conventional treatments. Therefore, the beneficial effects of the essential oil-based treatment, used in combination with other natural remedies and selective conventional treatments, might have an additive effect on the control of the parasite population with a low risk of resistance development (Ju et al., 2022).

For instance, synergistic effects regarding combinations of essential oils and plant extracts, or other natural molecules, have been studied. The combination of thyme essential oil with grapefruit seed extract has shown good results against a wide spectrum of parasites, including ticks and fleas. This combination may potentiate their anti-parasite activity at lower concentrations compared with the individual components (Yuk, 2021).

Moreover, they may be combined with conventional treatments so that the fight against resistance can be ascertained. Essential oil treatments, in rotation or in combination with synthetic chemical treatments, may target the parasites from different fronts, thus reducing selective pressure and extending the life of conventional treatments by lengthening the time until the development of resistance to them (Isman, Miresmailli, and Machial, 2011).

It is worth noting, however, that the use of essential oils as alternatives for treating parasitic infections in animals still remains at its infancy stage, and more research studies are needed to elucidate further the mechanisms of their action, to find the ideal formulations, and eventually establish their interaction with other treatments (Alviano and Alviano, 2009).

This consideration, therefore, brings to significance the role of standardization and quality control when using essential oils for therapeutic purposes. Essential oils may have varying composition and strength because of factors such as the species of the plant, the growing conditions, extraction procedures, and storage conditions among others. These variations might interfere with efficacy and safety hence the need for high-quality standardized products that were derived from reputable suppliers (Sachan, Sachan, Kumar, Sachan, and Gangwar, 2010).

Furthermore, care and caution are taken when applying and dosing the oils according to the veterinary officer's opinion. Essential oils are very concentrated; therefore, if applied incorrectly, they can lead to toxicities or even adverse reactions. Dilution, application methods, and calculations on the dosage follow to make sure the application of these natural remedies is safe and effective (Hanif, Nisar, Khan, Mushtaq, and Zubair, 2019).Consider also that there are some animals which are not compatible with treatments based on essential oils, and the efficacy depends on the type and degree of the parasitic infection.

The consultation of the pet and animal owner with qualified veterinarians or equally competent animal health professionals on the use of essential oils in their program of treatment in the animals concerned cannot be overemphasized. These said professionals shall also assist them in the selection, dosing, and proper utilization of the essential oil relevant to their needs (McCaskill, 2021).Likewise, more research should be done, along with the collaboration of veterinary experts, researchers, and other professionals who have knowledge in essential oils, to gather more information on potential application and limitations of EO products.

While there is great potential in the use of essential oils as alternative treatments in common parasitic infections in animals, caution in their use and professional guidance regarding scientific rigor is in order. Integrating traditional veterinary care with evidence-based practices of integrating essential oils and other natural remedies is going to help us advance overall health in animals and deal with the growing concern of resistance to conventional, pathetic chemical treatments (Bakkali, Averbeck, Averbeck, and Idaomar, 2008).

Since more and more research is being directed toward the anti-parasitic activity of essential oils, it becomes obligatory to take into account the parasite-destroying potential of natural compounds against specific parasites. Essential oils of different plants have been tested against different parasites and have been shown to possess variable potentials. The knowledge of such specificities becomes very important to help in developing targeted treatment strategies

(Azadbakht, Saeedi Akbarabadi, Motazedian, Monadi, and Akbari, 2020).

The most important group of parasites for which the treatments with EO have been widely studied is the ectoparasites, including ticks, fleas, lice, and mites. These parasites because considerable physical annoyance, skin irritation, and may, through this discomfort and irritation, be transmitting a disease to the host animal, therefore high priority is given to measures that control them (Selles et al., 2021).

Some of the essential oils with a potential role in the control of ectoparasites include neem, tea tree, and lavender essential oils (Gupta et al., 2019). They have evidenced strong potential for having insecticidal and repellent activities against ticks and fleas. Essential oils can interrupt the life cycle of these parasites and keep them from infesting animals, thus reducing the incidence of potential tick-borne diseases (Etewa and Abaza, 2011).

Other parasites that fall into this class, treatable by the same treatments, are the endoparasites in nature, which include the intestinal worms, such as roundworms, hookworms, and tapeworms. These internal parasites cause serious gastrointestinal disturbances, malnutrition, and in general, poor health if untreated (Braga de Oliveira et al., 2021). Other essential oils with good potential as anti-helminthics include garlic, wormwood, and clove. These contain active principles that suppress the survival and reproduction of intestinal worms (ND, DeGrandpre, and DeGrandpre, 2010).

It is worth noting that EO can also be effective in the treatment of some parasites, depending on the species, life stage, concentration, and application method. There is, therefore, a need for further targeted research and clinical evaluation to establish the optimal formulation of EOs and a treatment protocol for many types of parasitic infections (Ellse and Wall, 2014).

Another advantage of using essential oils for alternative treatments is that they can be blended for possible synergistic effects or possibly in combination with other natural compounds, or with conventional treatments. A few studies report synergistic anti-parasitic activity of combined blends of the oils; combined effects of a number of oils were much better compared to combined effects of their individual effects (Miller, 2020).

An example is the blend of thyme, oregano, and clove essential oils, which showed increased anti-parasitic activity against the activity of different ecto- and endoparasites compared to the single oils. The broad spectrum of active ingredients in these oils may act in a concerted way, thus increasing the overall effect in a synergistic manner on various pathways in the parasites (de Almeida et al., 2023).

However, in most cases, essential oils are combined with other bioactive natural compounds, for example, plant extracts or phytochemicals, to possibly increase their activity in anti-parasitic effects. For example, neem oil could be combined with the extracts from other plants, such as wormwood or black walnut, to multi-targetedly work on intestinal worms. Apart from their anti-parasitic property, their immunomodulatory effects could potentiate this therapeutic effect. Essential oils, including frankincense and myrrh, stimulate immune responses and promote normal immune health in animals (Diniz do Nascimento et al., 2020).

Thus the use of such essential oils in therapeutic regimens is probably useful not only directly against the parasites but also for potentiation of natural defense mechanisms of the animal, which would enhance the ability to resist and recover from parasitic infections (Edris, 2007).

However, it is cautious to use a mixture of essential oils or in combination with other natural compounds or conventional treatments. In the latter case, the possible interactions, contraindications, and the establishment of an appropriate dosing and administration protocol need to be adequately evaluated by the guidance of veterinary professionals to be safe and effective (Seow, Yeo, Chung, and Yuk, 2014).

As research in this area advances, the rigorous scientific studies, which should be conducted to validate the antiparasitic effects of essential oils and to develop evidence-based treatment protocols, should be conducted. Also, very important, to improve our knowledge about the possible applications and limitations of EO as a real treatment alternative to common parasitic infestations in animals, is that the collaborations of veterinary researchers with EO experts together with animal health professionals have to be enhanced. While the antiparasitic potentials of the essential oils bring hope to alternative treatments, their use might be met with some challenges and limitations. Understanding such challenges is a way for researchers and veterinary professionals to approach the development of more effective and safe applications of essential oils in combating parasitic infections in animals (Dawood et al., 2021).

This is one of the main problems with the use of essential oils in alternative treatments: there is variability in their composition and quality. Essential oils are complex mixtures of volatile compounds, and their chemical composition may greatly differ depending on the botanical source, geographical location, growing conditions, extraction methods, and storage conditions. This will result in variations in their potencies and effectiveness, which makes it hard to standardize any treatment protocol (Zuzarte and Salgueiro, 2015).

The two major considerations, during the synthesis of essential oils for therapeutic uses, include standardization and strict quality control. This may be achieved, for example, by the employment of analytical methods such as GC-MS to establish the chemical composition of the essential oil accurately in order to achieve batch-to-batch consistency. The employment of standardized extraction and processing methods could also minimize variability of the end product (Daferera, Ziogas, and Polissiou, 2000).

Other problems that can occur are possible adverse reactions and toxicity with the use of essential oils in animals. Most of the essential oils are generally recognized as safe in humans; however, the safe margins in animals may be different because of the variations in metabolism, absorption, and sensitivity. Some of these may be toxic with the application at high concentration topically, or in some species when ingested. Such potential risks can be offset through safety studies in their entirety, researching the potential toxicity and undesired effects of the oils in animals. Factors that need to be researched include lethal doses and organ-specific toxicity, in addition to interactions that could possibly be instigated from other medications or treatments. Safe dosing, dilution, and methods of application need to be put into place and advised appropriately by the veterinary professional (Lemmens-Gruber, 2020).

Another challenge is the administration and dosage of the essential oils, which is properly diluted since they are of a high concentration and potency. They cause ineffective treatment or even damage to the animal because of the wrong application or dosing. Proper calculation of dosages to be used, based on the weight and condition of the animal, is very important. Proper and safe veterinary application of essential oils in the treatment of parasitic infections in animals is assured when experts in essential oils are part of the team that determines appropriateness, dosage, and method of administration as well as considers the parasitic infection and the status of the animal. Such close collaboration between the essential oil expert and the veterinarian may be considered a bridge between traditional knowledge and modern scientific understanding to secure a responsible, evidence-based use of natural remedies (Tisserand and Young, 2013).

Besides, the risk of developing resistance to essential oils should not be underestimated. Although essential oils provide a very good alternative to the conventional treatments with chemicals, their massive, non-selective use could lead over time to the selection of parasites that develop resistance. Strategies to decrease the development of resistance, such as rotation or integration into more conventional treatments, should be researched and implemented (Woolf, 1999).

However, there may be limits to how scalable and accessible these treatments are, as the numbers of animals being produced or farmed are very large. However appropriate they are for an individual pet owner or small-scale operation, their cost-effectiveness and practical use at a higher level of implementation need to be scrutinized and optimized (Marincaş and Feher, 2018).

In conclusion, it is also important to remember that essential oils are not a total replacement for the conventional care and treatment through a vet. This means that complementary treatments and/or alternatives to be used with the traditional methods should be under the guideline of competent veterinary professionals. An integrative approach to holistic care could possibly combine the beneficial features of both the conventional and alternative therapies and offer the most effective strategy in the management of parasitic infections in animals (Tisserand and Young, 2013).

This will only be achieved if these challenges are looked at with lots of research, standardization efforts, and also collaboration of different stakeholders in the process. Essential oils will therefore be able to achieve their full potential as alternative treatments of common parasitic infections in animals, hence improving animal health and welfare.

REFERENCES

- Alviano, D., and Alviano, C. (2009). Plant extracts: search for new alternatives to treat microbial diseases. Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, 10(1), 106-121.
- Azadbakht, M., Saeedi Akbarabadi, A., Motazedian, M. H., Monadi, T., and Akbari, F. (2020). Anti-parasitic activity of some medicinal plants essential oils on Giardia lamblia and Entamoeba histolytica, in vitro. *Research Journal of Pharmacognosy*, 7(1), 41-47.
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., and Idaomar, M. (2008). Biological effects of essential oils-a review. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(2), 446-475.
- Bassolé, I. H. N., and Juliani, H. R. (2012). Essential oils in combination and their antimicrobial properties. *Molecules*, 17(4), 3989-4006.
- Braga de Oliveira, M. I., Rodrigues Brandao, F., Rocha da Silva, M. J., Carvalho Rosa, M., Santana Farias, C. F., Silva dos Santos, D., and Bizzo, H. R. (2021). In vitro anthelmintic efficacy of essential oils in the control of Neoechinorhynchus buttnerae, an endoparasite of Colossoma macropomum. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 33(5), 509-522.
- Chouhan, S., Sharma, K., and Guleria, S. (2017). Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils—present status and future perspectives. *Medicines*, 4(3), 58.
- Daferera, D. J., Ziogas, B. N., and Polissiou, M. G. (2000). GC-MS analysis of essential oils from some Greek aromatic plants and their fungitoxicity on Penicillium digitatum. *Journal of Agricultural and food Chemistry*, 48(6), 2576-2581.
- Dawood, M. A., El Basuini, M. F., Zaineldin, A. I., Yilmaz, S., Hasan, M. T., Ahmadifar, E., and Abu-Elala, N. M. (2021). Antiparasitic and antibacterial functionality of essential oils: An alternative approach for sustainable aquaculture. *Pathogens*, 10(2), 185.
- de Almeida, J. M., Crippa, B. L., de Souza, V. V. M. A., Alonso, V. P. P., Júnior, E. d. M. S., Picone, C. S. F., and Silva, N. C. C. (2023). Antimicrobial action of Oregano, Thyme, Clove, Cinnamon and Black pepper essential oils free and encapsulated against foodborne pathogens. *Food Control*, *144*, 109356.
- Diniz do Nascimento, L., Barbosa de Moraes, A. A., Santana da Costa, K., Pereira Galúcio, J. M., Taube, P. S., Leal Costa, C. M., and Guerreiro de Faria, L. J. (2020). Bioactive natural compounds and antioxidant activity of essential oils from spice plants: New findings and potential applications. *Biomolecules*, 10(7), 988.
- Edris, A. E. (2007). Pharmaceutical and therapeutic potentials of essential oils and their individual volatile constituents: a review. *Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 21*(4), 308-323.
- Ellse, L., and Wall, R. (2014). The use of essential oils in veterinary ectoparasite control: a review. *Medical and Veterinary* Entomology, 28(3), 233-243.
- Etewa, S. E., and Abaza, S. M. (2011). Herbal medicine and parasitic diseases. Parasitol United Journal, 4(1), 3-14.
- Gonçalves, N. D., de Lima Pena, F., Sartoratto, A., Derlamelina, C., Duarte, M. C. T., Antunes, A. E. C., and Prata, A. S. (2017). Encapsulated thyme (Thymus vulgaris) essential oil used as a natural preservative in bakery product. *Food Research International*, *96*, 154-160.
- Grecu, M., Henea, M. E., Trifan, M., and Rimbu, C. M. (2021). Benefits and uses of lavender essential oil as a complementary and alternative therapy-a short review. *Lucrari Stiintifice-seria Medicina Veterinara*, 64(3).
- Gupta, R. C., Doss, R. B., Srivastava, A., Lall, R., and Sinha, A. (2019). Nutraceuticals for control of ticks, fleas, and other ectoparasites. *Nutraceuticals in Veterinary Medicine*, 625-633.
- Gurib-Fakim, A. (2006). Medicinal plants: traditions of yesterday and drugs of tomorrow. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 27(1), 1-93.
- Hanif, M. A., Nisar, S., Khan, G. S., Mushtaq, Z., and Zubair, M. (2019). Essential oils. Essential oil research: trends in Biosynthesis, Analytics, Industrial Applications and Biotechnological Production, 3-17.
- Hrckova, G., and Velebny, S. (2012). *Pharmacological potential of selected natural compounds in the control of parasitic diseases*: Springer Science and Business Media.
- Isman, M. B., Miresmailli, S., and Machial, C. (2011). Commercial opportunities for pesticides based on plant essential oils in agriculture, industry and consumer products. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, *10*, 197-204.
- Ju, J., Xie, Y., Yu, H., Guo, Y., Cheng, Y., Qian, H., and Yao, W. (2022). Synergistic interactions of plant essential oils with antimicrobial agents: A new antimicrobial therapy. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *62*(7), 1740-1751.
- Koul, O., Walia, S., and Dhaliwal, G. (2008). Essential oils as green pesticides: potential and constraints. *Biopestic. International*, *4*(1), 63-84.
- Lam, N. S. K., Long, X. X., Griffin, R. C., Chen, M.-K., and Doery, J. C. (2018). Can the tea tree oil (Australian native plant: Melaleuca alternifolia Cheel) be an alternative treatment for human demodicosis on skin? *Parasitology*, 145(12), 1510-1520.
- Lemar, K. M. (2005). Cell death in the human pathogen Candida albicans: effects of garlic (Allium sativum), and garlic constituents allyl alcohol and diallyl disulphide: Cardiff University (United Kingdom).
- Lemmens-Gruber, R. (2020). Adverse Effects and Intoxication with Essential Oils. In *Handbook of Essential Oils* (pp. 517-541): CRC Press.
- Maimone, T. J., and Baran, P. S. (2007). Modern synthetic efforts toward biologically active terpenes. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *3*(7), 396-407.
- Marincaş, O., and Feher, I. (2018). A new cost-effective approach for lavender essential oils quality assessment. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 125, 241-247.
- McCaskill, L. D. (2021). The Use of Essential Oils in Traditional Chinese Veterinary Medicine: Small Animal Practice. *American Journal of Traditional Chinese Veterinary Medicine*, 67.
- Mele, E. (2020). Electrospinning of essential oils. Polymers, 12(4), 908.
- Miller, K. (2020). Exploring the Synergistic and Complementary Use of Fixed Oils in Aromatic Therapies. *International Journal of Professional Holistic Aromatherapy*, 9(2).
- Muhammad, A., and Kashere, M. (2020). Neem, Azadirachta indica L.(A. Juss): an eco-friendly botanical insecticide for managing farmersâ€[™] insects pest problems-a review. *FUDMA Journal of Sciences*, 4(4), 484-491.
- ND, Z., DeGrandpre, M., and DeGrandpre, Z. (2010). Botanical Therapeutics: Actions, Interactions and Indications: Lulu. com.
- Ramdani, D., Yuniarti, E., Jayanegara, A., and Chaudhry, A. S. (2023). Roles of essential oils, polyphenols, and saponins of medicinal plants as natural additives and anthelmintics in ruminant diets: A systematic review. *Animals*, *13*(4), 767.
- Sachan, A. K., Sachan, N. K., Kumar, S., Sachan, A., and Gangwar, S. S. (2010). Evaluation and standardization of essential oils for development of alternative dosage forms. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 46(2), 194-203.
- Sardari, S., Mobaiend, A., Ghassemifard, L., Kamali, K., and Khavasi, N. (2021). Therapeutic effect of thyme (Thymus vulgaris) essential oil on patients with covid19: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Advances in Medical and Biomedical Research*, 29(133), 83-91.
- Sarkic, A., and Stappen, I. (2018). Essential oils and their single compounds in cosmetics—A critical review. Cosmetics, 5(1), 11.
- Selles, S. M. A., Kouidri, M., González, M. G., González, J., Sánchez, M., González-Coloma, A., and Tercero, J. M. (2021). Acaricidal and repellent effects of essential oils against ticks: a review. *Pathogens*, *10*(11), 1379.
- Seow, Y. X., Yeo, C. R., Chung, H. L., and Yuk, H.-G. (2014). Plant essential oils as active antimicrobial agents. *Critical Reviews* in Food Science and Nutrition, 54(5), 625-644.
- Singh, P., Gupta, P., and Singh, R. (2004). Chemistry and Biology Interface. Synergestic New Frontiers, New Delhi, India.

Smith, C. G. (1970). Prospects for the control of infectious disease. In: SAGE Publications.

- Stevanović, Z. D., Bošnjak-Neumüller, J., Pajić-Lijaković, I., Raj, J., and Vasiljević, M. (2018). Essential oils as feed additives— Future perspectives. *Molecules*, 23(7), 1717.
- Štrbac, F., Krnjajić, S., Maurelli, M. P., Stojanović, D., Simin, N., Orčić, D., and Cringoli, G. (2022). A potential anthelmintic phytopharmacological source of Origanum vulgare (L.) essential oil against gastrointestinal nematodes of sheep.

Animals, 13(1), 45.

Sunita, K., Kumar, P., Khan, M. A., Husain, S. A., and Singh, D. (2017). Anthelminthic/larvicidal activity of some common medicinal plants. *European Journal of Biological Research*, 7(4), 324-336.

Tisserand, R., and Young, R. (2013). *Essential oil safety: a guide for health care professionals*: Elsevier Health Sciences.

Upadhyay, R. (2010). Essential oils: anti-microbial, antihelminthic, antiviral, anticancer and antiinsect properties. *Journal of Applied Biosciences*, *36*(1), 1-22.

Woolf, A. (1999). Essential oil poisoning. Journal of Toxicology: Clinical Toxicology, 37(6), 721-727.

Yuk, Y. S. (2021). Antibacterial activity of grapefruit seed extract and seven kinds of essential and blended essential oils. *Journal of Convergence for Information Technology*, 11(6), 198-205.

Zuzarte, M., and Salgueiro, L. (2015). Essential oils chemistry. Bioactive Essential Oils and Cancer, 19-61.